
 

AGENDA FOR 
 
CABINET 

 

 
Contact: Julie Gallagher 

Direct Line: 0161 253 6640 
E-mail: julie.gallagher@bury.gov.uk 
Web Site:  www.bury.gov.uk 

 
 

To: All Members of Cabinet 
 

Councillors : L Smith (Cabinet Member, Transport and 

Infrastructure), C Cummins (Cabinet Member, Housing 
Services), D Jones (Cabinet Member, Communities and 

Emergency Planning), A Simpson (First Deputy and 
Cabinet Member Health and Wellbeing), E O'Brien 

(Leader, Cabinet Member, Finance and Growth), A Quinn 
(Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change), 
T Tariq (Deputy Leader, Cabinet Member Children, Young 

People and Skills), J Black (Cabinet Member for Cultural 
Economy) and T Rafiq (Cabinet Member, Corporate 

Affairs and HR) 
 
 

Dear Member/Colleague 
 

Cabinet 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet which will be held 

as follows:- 
 

Date: Wednesday, 11 November 2020 

Place:  Microsoft Teams 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 

briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the 
related report should be contacted. 

Notes:  



AGENDA 
 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

Members of Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have an interest 
in any of the matters of the Agenda, and if so, to formally declare that 
interest. 

 

3   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

 
Questions are invited from members of the public about the work of the 
Council and the Council’s services. 

 
Approximately 30 minutes will be set aside for Public Question Time, if 

required. 
 

4   MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 12) 

 
Minutes from the meeting held on 14th October 2020 are attached. 

 

5   GM TRANSPORT 2040 VISION  (Pages 13 - 624) 
 

A report from Councillor Lucy Smith, Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure is attached.  

 

6   GMSF  (Pages 625 - 844) 
 

A report and supporting documentation from the Leader of the Council, 
Councillor O’Brien, is attached. 

Appendix 1 – Index of Documents 
Appendix 2A. GM1.1 Heywood Pilsworth Topic Paper October 2020  
Appendix 2B. GM1.2 Simister Bowlee Topic Paper October 2020  

Appendix 2C. GM7 Elton Reservoir Topic Paper October 2020 
Appendix 2D. GM 9 Walshaw Topic Paper October 2020 

Appendix 2E. GM8 Seedfield Topic Paper October 2020 
Appendix 3. Treatment of UDP Policies 
Appendix 4. Equality Analysis Form 

 
All documents can be found under the respective headings at: 
 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ 

 
 
 

7   BOUNDARY COMMISSION REVIEW  (Pages 845 - 914) 
 

A report from Councillor Eamonn O’Brien Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Growth and Councillor Tahir Rafiq, 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Resources and HR is attached. 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

8   FLETCHER FOLD PROGRESSION TO PLANNING AND TENDER - 
PART A REPORT  (Pages 915 - 920) 

 
 A report from Councillor O’Brien, Leader of the Council is attached. 

 

9   COVID-19 RESPONSE AND RECOVERY UPDATE  - URGENT 

BUSINESS  (Pages 921 - 932) 
 
Report from the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance 

and Growth;  
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing; and 

Cabinet Member for Communities and Emergency Planning attached. 
 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 

agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency. 
 

10   FOR INFORMATION ***MINUTES OF ASSOCIATION OF GREATER 
MANCHESTER AUTHORITIES / GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED 
AUTHORITY  (Pages 933 - 944) 

 
To consider the minutes of meetings of the Greater Manchester Combined 

Authority held on 25th September 2020. 
 

11   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

 
To consider passing the appropriate resolution under Section 100 (A)(4), 

Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the reason that the following 
business involves the disclosure of exempt information as detailed against 

the item. 
 

12   FLETCHER FOLD PROGRESSION TO PLANNING AND TENDER - 
PART B REPORT  (Pages 945 - 954) 
 

A report from Councillor O’Brien, Leader of the Council is attached. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



257 
 

  

 Minutes of: CABINET  

 

 Date of Meeting: 14 October 2020 

 

 Present: Councillor E O’Brien (in the Chair)  

   Councillors J Black, C Cummins, A Quinn, T Rafiq, L 

Smith A Simpson and T. Tariq 

  

 Also in Attendance Councillor N Jones, M Powell and J Mason 

 

 Apologies Councillor D Jones 

  

The meeting was streamed live on the Council Website. 

 

 

CA.XXX DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

  

Councillor Quinn declared a personal interest in respect of all matters under 

consideration, as both his son and daughter in law are employed by the NHS, his wife is 

employed by the Citizens Advice Bureau and he is a member of the trade union, Unite. 

 

 

CA.XXX PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

 

The following question was submitted by a member of the public, Charlotte Bradshaw in 

advance of the meeting: 

How can we continue to make huge decisions which affect the borough (such as building 

on Green Belt) when we have not been able to have a voice and elect councillors to 

represent us? 

Responding Councillor O’Brien, Leader of the Council reported that the Council needs to 

continue to take important decisions. These decisions cannot wait. It is likely that the 

Covid restrictions will continue for a further 6 months and whilst elections have not 

taken place this year, it is essential that elected Councillors remain accountable and 

continue to fulfil their roles during this period. 

 

A further supplementary question was submitted: 

Everything has been delayed because of COVID but this can’t be? Why not? 

 

Councillor O’Brien reported that a number of decisions have been taken since the 

commencement of lockdown, tonight’s agenda for Cabinet provides an example of the 

work ongoing in respect of Radcliffe Regeneration, the Bury 2030 Strategy and a number 

of other large projects, projects that will change how the Council operates in the future. 

 

CA.XXX MINUTES 

 

It was agreed: 

 

Minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2020 be approved as a correct record and 

signed by the Chair. 

 

 

CA.XXX MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF 

THE 2021/22 BUDGET 

 

Document Pack Page 5 Agenda Item 4



258 
 

The Leader, Councillor O’Brien presented the medium term financial strategy.  The 

Leader reported that at the start of the year, Bury was faced with a budget gap of circa 

£23m over the next 4 years. Since then, Covid has added a further £39.1m of one-off 

cost pressures on the council and £1m of ongoing costs. In addition, further demands on 

the council have seen the ongoing budget gap increase from circa £23m to circa £33m. 

For both the one-off cost pressures and the ongoing pressures there is higher proportion 

of savings that are needed in the first two years of the strategy. 

 

With a financial challenge of this scale, the Council needs to balance the need of 

delivering more savings on an ongoing basis and utilising its reserves to support the 

one-off costs. Financial resilience and sustainability however needs to be at the core of 

the financial strategy and reserves can only be spent once. As options that will deliver 

ongoing savings are developed those that can provide one-off savings are also needed in 

order to replenish and slow down the ‘run’ on reserves. 

 

The Leader reported that the report updates Cabinet on the work to date to align the 

financial and the corporate planning processes and provides framework for engagement 

with the Cabinet and sets the context on which options to manage the financial gap are 

currently being developed. Given the scale of the financial gap, options are now planned 

to be brought forward to Cabinet in November for discussion and consideration. 

  

Delegated decision: 

 

Cabinet agrees to: 

 

 Note the updated MTFS position; 

 Note the significant financial challenge faced by the Council and the context of 

financial uncertainty that is impacting on financial planning; 

 Note the proposed approach for managing the gap including the use of reserves, 

efficiencies through transformation and the identification of efficiency/budget 

options; 

 Approve the next steps and the proposed approach and that a detailed report will 

be presented to Cabinet in November. 

 

 Reasons for the decision: 

 

This report sets out the current anticipated position and the impact, in particular of Covid 

19. It identifies the current risks associated with the budget and required steps to 

manage the projected gap. This will assist Cabinet in formulating proposals to submit to 

Council before 8 February 2021, for the Council budget and council tax calculations for 

2021/22. 

 

 Other option considered and rejected: 

 

To reject recommendations contained within the report. 

 

CA.XXX COVID 19 UPDATE 

 

Before handing over to the Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing the Leader, 

Councillor O’Brien updated Members on the current position regarding the impact of 

COVID-19 in Bury and the ongoing discussions with other Leaders in Greater Manchester 

in respect of the Tier three restrictions.  The Leader reported that GM leaders are united 

in their position, a unified position, they firmly believe they should remain in tier two and 

are sceptical of the impact of moving to tier three.  They are concerned that this will not 

achieve the required reduction in cases or bring the virus under control.  Further 

financial help is needed to deal with any health or economic consequences that may 

arise if GM move into Tier three. 

Document Pack Page 6



259 
 

 

Following on from that update Councillor Simpson Cabinet Member for Health and 

Wellbeing, provided Members with an update in respect of the current Covid situation in 

the Borough.  From Friday 02 October to Thursday 08 October 2020 there were 631 

confirmed cases of COVID-19 in people living in Bury a rate of 331.9 cases per 100,000 

people per week, an increase of 115 cases per week compared to the week before.  

Cases are doubling roughly every two and a half weeks.  There are 5 testing sites up and 

running with plans for two more to open shortly, locally led walk in sites at Chesham 

Fold and the Mosses Centre, which are both open 5 days per week 10-3pm.  

The local test track and trace system has been allocated 754 cases since 8th September 

It is now being passed on average 20-30 cases per day to follow up. 

 

 

The Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing reported that Bury Council, together with 

all the key partners, are delivering as comprehensive a response to Covid-19 in Bury as 

possible within the resources available. This response will need to be maintained until at 

least spring 2021. 

 

 Delegated decision: 

 

Cabinet agrees to: 

 

Note the report. 

 

 

CA.XXX      BURY 2030 STRATEGY – PROPOSAL FOR CONSULTATION 
 

Councillor O’Brien, Leader of the Council, presented a report updating the Cabinet on the 

development of the Bury 2030 Strategy, proposal for consultation.   

 

The draft report represents all the thinking to date and proposes a framework branded 

as “Let’s do it”, drawn from some of Victoria Wood’s comedy and based on three 

components: 

Let’s: A call to collective action; a strategy which reflects that the Borough of Bury is 

the sum of its parts across the six distinct townships and individual communities of 

identity and experience. 

Do: The strategy proposes delivery through a local industrial strategy for Bury across 

the tenants of People; Place; Ideas; Infrastructure and Business Environment; a new 

delivery model on a neighbourhood footprint and four common principles which all public 

and community services and residents themselves will be called to demonstrate: 

inspiration; aspiration; participation and collaboration. 

It: Our definition of success will be equal life chances for all our residents across every 

township and, as a result, in ten years the life expectancy of all residents in our Borough 

will exceed the average for England as a whole. In order to secure the vision the 

strategy is structured around five policy commitments to carbon neutrality; digital-first 

delivery; economic recovery and growth; inclusion and healthy communities.  

 

Delegated decision: 

 

Cabinet agrees to: 
 

1. Endorse the strategy as a basis for public consultation, subject to similar agreement 

from other partners. 

2. Approve the process for consultation set out in the report 

3. Note that a further report will be produced with the final draft strategy that has taken 

into account the results and feedback from the consultation 

Document Pack Page 7



260 
 

4. Note that the final approved strategy will be submitted to full Council for approval and 

adoption.  

 

Reasons for the decision: 

Although there is no requirement for a community strategy, it is best practice and 

provides for consideration of associated duties such as homelessness provision. This 

report presents the new draft strategy, which ties into wider sub-regional strategies, 

including the Greater Manchester Strategy and is informed by local strategies, such as 

the emerging housing strategy. 

 

 Other option considered and rejected: 

 

To reject recommendations contained within the report. 

 

 

CA.XXX ADOPT THE REVISED STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 

 

The Leader, Councillor O’Brien presented a revised statement of Community 

Involvement for consideration by Members of the Cabinet. This report sets out how the 

community will be involved in preparing and revising all local planning documents and in 

making decisions on planning applications. 

 

The Government has been clear that everyone should adhere to various measures to 

help combat the spread of coronavirus (Covid-19). These measures have implications for 

planning-related consultation, including how the public are engaged in plan-making and 

the ability of local authorities to comply with arrangements set out in their existing SCIs 

– particularly those forms of engagement that involve public gatherings and/or face-to-

face contact whilst social distancing measures are in place. 

 

A decision was made under delegated powers by Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Growth on 27th July 2020 to approve a draft version of the revised SCI for a 4-week 

public consultation. A total of 10 representations have been received and approval is 

now sought for the adoption of the attached revised SCI. 

  

Delegated decision: 

  

Cabinet agrees to 

 

1. Members adopt the revised SCI attached at Appendix 1 of the report. 

2. Members delegate the subsequent removal of the temporary changes highlighted in 

the document once the current Covid-19 restrictions have been lifted by the Government 

to Cabinet Member for Finance and Growth.  

 

Reasons for the decision:  

 

Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended provides 

that the Council must prepare a Statement of Community Involvement, which is a 

statement of the authority’s policy as to the involvement in the exercise of its planning 

functions. It is important that the document is kept up to date to ensure effective 

community involvement at all stages of the planning process and it is particularly 

important the document is updated where necessary as a result of Covid-19 restrictions 

so that the planning service can continue to operate. 

 

Other option considered and rejected: 

 

To reject recommendations contained within the report. 

 

Document Pack Page 8



261 
 

CA.XXX PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON THE DRAFT HOUSING STRATEGY 

 

Councillor Cummins, Cabinet Member for Housing Services, presented the draft Housing 

Strategy, for public consultation. The draft strategy sets out the scale of the challenge 

facing the Borough on housing issues such as driving up quality, improving health and 

wellbeing, affordability, attracting and retaining skills, and climate change. 

 

The last full assessment of housing need and demand in the Borough was undertaken in 

2011. The changes within the housing market since then, together with the expected 

growth in population and household formation required an update to the housing profile; 

therefore in January 2020, Campbell Tickell in partnership with arc4, were appointed to 

support the Council to deliver a Housing Needs and Demand Assessment, which informs 

the new draft Housing Strategy. 

 

The final version of the Housing Strategy will include an implementation plan, which will 

be reviewed regularly to ensure that it is up to date in terms of available and committed 

resources. 

  

Delegated decision: 

 

Cabinet agrees to 

  

1. Acknowledge the work to date on developing the draft Housing Strategy. 

2. Approve the draft Housing Strategy at Appendix 1 of the report for public consultation 

for a period of six weeks. 

3. Note that a further report will be produced with the final draft Housing Strategy, that 

has taken into account the results and feedback from the consultation. 

  

Reasons for the decision:  

 

Although there is no requirement for a Housing Strategy, it is best practice and provides 

for consideration of associated duties such as homelessness provision. The Council has 

undertaken an assessment of housing need within the borough. This report presents the 

new housing strategy based upon that assessment, which ties into other strategies 

including the Council’s overarching 2030 Strategy. 

  

Other option considered and rejected: 

 

To reject the recommendations. 

 

CA.XXX AGILE WORKING MODEL PILOT IN BURY TOWN CENTRE SITES 

 

Councillor Rafiq, Cabinet Member Corporate Affairs and HR presented a report to Cabinet 

outlining proposals for a new agile working model pilot for the town centre sites.  The 

Cabinet member reported that there is a real opportunity to now build on this approach 

through new, agile ways of working for Council and CCG staff which drive the 

productivity of the workforce; further the ambition for carbon neutrality and will help 

manage the risk of the poor condition of much of the Council’s office estate. 

 

The pilot sites are proposed to mitigate immediate risks around the condition of the 

Town Hall site in particular. The new way of working is proposed as part of the emerging 

corporate transformation programme, with specific objectives to: 

improve staff wellbeing 

deliver cashable and non-cashable savings from estate costs 

contribute to wider strategy – this case digital and carbon neutrality strategies and 

enhance the Council’s profile as a flexible and attractive employer. 

Document Pack Page 9



262 
 

 

Delegated decision: 

 

Cabinet agrees to: 

 Note that the Town Hall will not be available for office use other than the ground 

and 50% of first floor 

 Agree the principle of the agile working model, as a basis for consultation with the 

Trades Unions 

 Agree the proposed pilot of an agile working model in the Town Hall and 

    3 Knowsley Place, at a maximum occupancy of 50%, to take place when infection 

levels allow a return to an office base 

 Agree that a team is appointed as part of the capital programme to deliver the 

pilot and establish the longer term business case  

 

Reasons for the decision: 

 

The Council has obligations as an employer to ensure the health safety and wellbeing of 

its staff, as well as others accessing its premises. This report focuses on those issue 

and makes proposals for a longer terms strategy to balance the interests of all whilst 

meeting those obligations. It is appropriate to consult with the union on the proposals as 

well as considering any contractual implication. These alongside the associated HR 

policies will require review and alignment. 

 

Other option considered and rejected: 

 

To reject the recommendations. 

 

CA.XXX TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE RADCLIFFE REGENERATION 

        DELIVERY BOARD 

 

The Leader, Councillor O’Brien updated members on the ongoing work to progress the 

Radcliffe Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF).  The Leader presented a report that 

outlines the terms of reference for the Radcliffe Regeneration Delivery Board, the body 

which will provide strategic direction, and oversight of the SRF’s proposals. 

 

Delegated decision: 

 

Cabinet is agrees to: 

 

Approve the Terms of Reference for the Radcliffe Regeneration Delivery Board as 

detailed in the report. 

 

Reasons for the decision: 

 

It is important that there are clear roles and responsibilities for oversight and 

delivery of the Radcliffe SRF. Each structure for governance including the RRDB 

needs clear terms of reference and division of responsibilities to enable the delivery 

of the SRF and other regeneration initiatives that may emerge over time.  

 

Other option considered and rejected: 

 

To reject the recommendations contained within the report. 

 

 

CA. XXX  FOR INFORMATION MINUTES OF GREATER MANCHESTER 
AUTHORITIES/GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY 

Document Pack Page 10



263 
 

Noted. 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 

COUNCILLOR E O’BRIEN 

Chair  

(Note:  The meeting started at 6pm and ended at 7.53pm) 

 

 

Document Pack Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting:  Cabinet 

Meeting date:  11 November 2020 

Title of report:  Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040, Our Five Year Delivery 
Plan (2020-2025) and Local Implementation Plans 

Report by:   
Councillor Lucy Smith, Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure 

Decision Type: Key Decision 

Ward(s) to 
which report 
relates 

All Wards 

  

Executive Summary:   

This report provide details of the content and publication arrangements for the refreshed Greater 

Manchester Transport Strategy 2040, Our Five Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025) and Local 

Implementation Plans. The report considers these documents alongside other planned strategic 

activities. 

Recommendation(s)  

That:  

Members are recommended to endorse the refreshed Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 
2040 and Our Five-Year Delivery Plan for approval by GMCA and publication in November 2020, 
alongside GMSF.   

Members are also recommended to approve the publication of the supporting Local 
Implementation Plan as an appendix to Our Five-Year Delivery Plan, acknowledging that these 
are “live” documents and will be subject to regular review and update as appropriate.   

Classification 
 
Open  

Item No. 

Document Pack Page 13 Agenda Item 5



 

Key considerations  

1 BACKGROUND  

1.1 Alongside work to prepare a refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) and the next 
version of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), Transport for Greater 
Manchester (TfGM) has been working with the GMCA, the ten Greater Manchester 
councils and the Greater Manchester Mayor to prepare new, and updated, transport 
strategy documents that cover our entire city-region.  

1.2 This work includes a refreshed version of our long-term, statutory local transport plan - 
the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 - and Our Five-Year Delivery Plan 
(2020-2025) which sets out the practical actions planned to deliver the Strategy over the 
next 5 years.  In addition, ten new Local Implementation Plans have also been prepared 
(one for each Greater Manchester council).  

1.3 There are no financial implications directly related to this decision as it sets out a 
strategic approach to addressing transport related matters across greater Manchester.  
All schemes within the Local Implementation Plan for Bury will be subject to funding 
opportunities presenting themselves from either existing/future initiatives and/or from 
developer contributions where linked to development. 

2 THE PROPOSAL 

2.1 The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040  

2.1.1 First published in February 2017, the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 
(hereafter referred to as the “2040 Transport Strategy”) is our city-region’s statutory 
transport plan. Over three years after the Strategy was first published, its 2040 Vision - 
for Greater Manchester to have ‘World class connections that support long-term, 
sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity for all’ – remains highly relevant. 
The steps that need to be taken to achieve this Vision have evolved significantly, 
however.  

2.1.2 The initial version of the 2040 Strategy made clear that we would ‘review our Strategy on 
a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new opportunities and priorities’.  The 
Strategy has therefore undergone a ‘light touch’ policy refresh to reflect work 
undertaken, and the changed context, since 2017.  

2.1.3 In particular, the refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy will include reference to: the “Right-
Mix” ambition for at least 50% of all journeys to be made by active travel and public 
transport by 2040; details of the GM Mayor’s ‘Our Network’ plan to create an integrated, 
modern and accessible transport network; an increased emphasis on the importance of 
cycling and walking; the climate emergency declared by GMCA and all ten councils; and 
the development of the GM Clean Air Plan.  

2.1.4 The document has also been updated to reflect the contemporary devolution agenda, 
including publication of the Bus Reform business case and GM Rail Prospectus; ongoing 
work to develop our 2040 sub-strategies including: Streets for All, City Centre Transport 
Strategy, Local Bus Strategy, Rapid Transit Strategy, Freight Strategy; and further 
development of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, including the growing 
emphasis placed on regenerating town centres. 

2.1.5 The refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy will be published in early November.  

Document Pack Page 14



 

2.2 Our Five-Year Delivery Plan 

2.2.1 The long-term approach to planning our transport network, set out in the 2040 Transport 
Strategy, is underpinned by a series of five-year Delivery Plans. The first Delivery Plan 
(2016-2017 to 2021-2022) was published in 2017, alongside the 2040 Transport 
Strategy.  

2.2.2 An updated, draft Delivery Plan was published for consultation – alongside the second 
consultation draft of the GMSF - in January 2019. A final version of this document has 
now been prepared. 

2.2.3 Our Five-Year Delivery Plan sets out the practical actions planned, over the next 5 
years, to deliver the 2040 Transport Strategy and achieve the transport ambitions of the 
GMCA and the Mayor, in parallel with the development of the GMSF. Together, these 
documents offer an integrated approach to transport and land use planning, by 
identifying the strategic transport interventions required to deliver the scale of growth set 
out in the GMSF.   

2.2.4 The Delivery Plan also helps to inform the continued development of the Greater 
Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP). It provides details of GM’s updated 
transport asks of government when it comes to funding, powers and functions.  

2.2.5 Our Five-Year Delivery Plan supports the implementation of “Our Network”, a ten-year 
plan to create an integrated, modern and accessible transport network for Greater 
Manchester.  It brings together different modes of public transport - bus, tram, rail, tram-
train - and cycling and walking, in an integrated, easy-to-use system with seamless 
connections, and simplified ticketing and fares. The Delivery Plan document also 
provides updates on Clean Air Plan proposals; Streets for All scheme delivery; the Bee 
Network and measures to support bus and rail reform.   

2.2.6 Our Five-Year Delivery Plan will be published in support of the GMSF consultation in 
early November.   

2.3 Local Implementation Plans  

2.3.1 Our Five-Year Delivery Plan is supported by ten Local Implementation Plans (LIPs) 
covering the period 2020 to 2025. Each of the ten councils that make up Greater 
Manchester has its own LIP. The LIPs are designed to:   

 Complement the 2040 Transport Strategy and Our Five Year Delivery Plan, providing 
details of how their outcomes will be achieved locally in each council area, focusing 
particularly on supporting local trips within neighbourhoods and to local centres;  

 Support wider GM and council strategy and policy documents (e.g. Local Plans, town 
centre masterplans, GM Clean Air Plan, GMSF);  

 Summarise key local transport issues and opportunities in each local authority, 
providing an added layer of local detail that is not provided in the 2040 Transport 
Strategy document.  

2.3.2 It is also hoped that the LIPs will enable us to better articulate the local transport and 
minor works interventions that need to be delivered or developed in the short term, to 
support Right-Mix and Carbon Reduction targets. They are also helpful when it comes to 
setting out a programme of priority local transport and minor works interventions for the 

Document Pack Page 15



 

next five years, and will help to provide a basis against which future local transport and 
minor works funding is allocated for local delivery.  

2.3.3 The LIPs will be included in an appendix to the final version of Our Five-Year Delivery 
Plan. They will be ‘live’ documents for a period of time, and will be updated as councils 
develop and publish transport plans and strategies, or as new schemes are developed or 
delivered. 

3 OTHER ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

3.1 An alternative options is for members to approve the documentation but with any 
amendments considered appropriate.  Details of any such amendments can then be 
forwarded on to Transport for Greater Manchester. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

Every individual has the right to free and unfettered access to the highway as set out in law.  

Consequently, no equality impact assessment is warranted. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Assessment of Risk:  

The following risks apply to the decision:  

  

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Future external funding of transport schemes 
(including public transport). 

Approval of the recommendations will assist 
in GM Council’s being able to access future 
funding and initiatives to help deliver the 
transport related schemes set out in the 
suite of transport documents referred to in 
this report. 

  

_____________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

Consultation: 

2040 Transport Strategy was consulted on and comments adopted in 2017. 

Draft Delivery Plan - consulted on at same time as GMSF in 2019.  The draft version is now being 

converted into a final document ready for the next GMSF consultation on w/c 02 November 2020. 

No formal consultation undertaken for the 10 Local Implementation Plans but they will be 

published with the Delivery Plan. 

_____________________________________________________________ 

Document Pack Page 16



 

Legal Implications: 

This report provides information regarding the current position as to the Greater Manchester 

Transport Strategy and the related ambitions that underpin it set out in the suite of local plans. 

TfGM lead on this and have provided legal advice and support as to the statutory requirements 

for the strategy, plans and other proposals, including consultation, publication and ongoing work 

around implementation. 

_____________________________________________________________ 

Financial Implications: 

This report does not commit the Council to any financial decisions but seeks to establish strategic 

transport intent at both a GM regional and local level.  Should any future scheme be put forward, 

it would be subject to its own set of approvals in accordance with the Council’s governance 

arrangements. 

_____________________________________________________________  

  

Report Author and Contact Details: 
 
David Giblin 
Head of Engineering 
d.r.giblin@bury.gov.uk 
 

Cris Logue 
Head of Strategic Planning & Economic Development 
c.logue@bury.gov.uk  

 

____________________________________________________________ 

 

Background papers:  

1. Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 

2. Our Five Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025)  

3. Bury’s Local Implementation Plan 

  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 17

mailto:d.r.giblin@bury.gov.uk
mailto:c.logue@bury.gov.uk


 

 
 
Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used 
in this report.  

  

Term  Meaning  

GMCA Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

GMSF Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

LIP Local Implementation Plan 

TfGM Transport for Greater Manchester 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 18



  

 

 

FINAL DRAFT – subject to final 

adoption by GMCA 

Document Pack Page 19



 

 

Contents 

Part 1: Introduction to our Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 
2040 

 

Overview                                       1 

Our Vision and the Right Mix for 2040    
       

4 

Critical Transport Challenges for Greater Manchester  
  

6 

Supporting Sustainable Economic Growth       6 

Improving the Quality of Life         8 

Protecting our Environment       10 

Developing an Innovative City-Region    
                   

12 

Building on Success          
  

14 

Scope of this Document       16 

Part 2: Supporting Travel in Greater Manchester: Our Strategic 
Principles and Policies 

19 

Introduction        
   

19 

A More Customer-Focused Transport System: Our Network Principles
                

20 

Integration at the Heart of the 2040 Transport Strategy                        21 

An Inclusive Network       
   

27 

Supporting a Healthier Greater Manchester                   
   

30 

Environmental Responsibility                      32 

 A Reliable Network        37 

A Well Maintained and Resilient Network      40 

A Safe and Secure Transport System 41 

 

Our Greater Manchester Modal Principles for 2040    
   

 

44 

Streets for All        45 

The Key Route Network 48 

Goods and Servicing       50     

Document Pack Page 20



 

 

Priorities for Highways Investment  

 Developing a Comprehensive Walking and Cycling Network 

 Public Transport Integration: Keeping Greater Manchester Moving in 
2040 

 Our Vision for Bus 

51 

59 

63 

 

66 

Part 3: Our 2040 Spatial Themes: Challenges and Interventions                                 78 

Introduction         78 

Global Connectivity        80 

 Manchester Airport and Enterprise Zone      80 

 Atlantic Gateway and Port Salford     
   

83 

Delivering Better City-to-City Links  86 

  Improving North-South Connectivity    
                 

87 

  Transforming Connectivity Across the North   
                 

90 

  City-City Freight Movement      
  

95 

  

Travel to and Within our Regional Centre     97 

  Transport for a 2040 Regional Centre Economy   
                

97 

  Connectivity Within a Rapidly Growing Regional Centre  
                 

103 

  A Liveable Regional Centre      
   

104 

  

Travel Across the Wider City-region      106 

  Supporting Vital and Vibrant Town Centres      107 

  Access to Employment, Services and Leisure   
                 

 

 Providing Attractive Alternatives to Car Travel 

 Delivering a More Reliable Highway Network   
                 

 111 

113 

 Supporting New Development     
                 

115 

  

Connected Neighbourhoods       119 

Document Pack Page 21



 

 

  Active Neighbourhoods                   120 

  Environmental Quality      
                

122 

  Improving Access  123 

  Inclusive Neighbourhoods                  126 

  

Part 4: Strategy Delivery        128 

Introduction        
             

128 

  Prioritisation                    129 

  New Investment                   130 

  Maintenance and Renewal                  131 

  Service Delivery                   132 

  Policies and Interventions      
            

134 

Policies 134 

  

Funding Mechanisms and New Ways of Working                           136 

Funding Mechanisms                  136 

New Ways of Working       137 

Measuring Performance      
            

138 

Final Conclusions: Next Steps  

 

Appendix - Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – ‘Right Mix’ 
Technical Note                                                                                                  

143 

 

 

  

Document Pack Page 22



 

 

Document Pack Page 23



Document Pack Page 24



 

1 

Part 1 
Introduction to our Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040  

Overview 

1. Greater Manchester is changing. Not only is our city-region growing - in terms of population 
and economy - but it is continuing to set the agenda on English devolution. We are leading 
the way in making use of the powers and funds devolved to us by national Government, and 
we are confident that our city-region is on a path towards more powers and funding, 
supported by our directly elected Mayor and ten council leaders. More local decision-making 
leads to greater benefits for our people and communities, including by enabling us to create 
better places and develop a London-style, integrated transport network. 

2. It is in this context that we are continuing to develop and deliver the Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 (hereafter referred to as the 2040 Transport Strategy), led by 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) on behalf of the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA) and the Greater Manchester Local Enterprise Partnership (GMLEP). The 
initial version of this 2040 Transport Strategy made clear that we would ‘review our Strategy 
on a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new opportunities and priorities’. This 
document has, therefore, undergone a ‘light touch’ policy refresh to reflect work undertaken, 
and the changed context, since 2017. 

3. Transport is crucial in supporting Greater Manchester’s ambitious plans, including those set 
out in the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) with its vision ‘to make Greater Manchester 
one of the best places in the world to grow up, get on and grow old’. This Transport Strategy 
supports Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs, and the Environment - the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) - and the Greater Manchester Local Industrial 
Strategy, as sustainable growth will both need, and be driven by, improved connectivity. This 
is true on both a local and pan-northern level; as Greater Manchester has a fundamental role 
to play in national efforts to ‘level up’ and re-balance the UK economy.  

4. Why 2040? The opportunities offered by devolution and greater local determination of 
policies, funding and delivery allow us to take a much bolder and longer-term view of our 
transport needs. This means we can identify an evidence-based, long-term vision for our 
transport network. This Right Mix vision is for 50% of trips to be made by sustainable modes, 
with no net increase in motor vehicle traffic, by 2040 (further details are set out in the 
Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 ‘Right Mix’ Technical Note – a copy of which can 
be found in the form of an appendix to this document). Our city-region also has a long-term 
environmental ambition for carbon neutrality by 2038. It is vital that we act to reduce the 
impact of transport on the environment.  At every stage, this Strategy takes into 
consideration the actions needed to protect people's health, reduce air pollution and tackle 
the Climate Emergency.  

Document Pack Page 25



 

2 

5. Our 2040 Vision for Transport, which we consulted on in 2015, set out our ambitions for a 
radical new approach to planning our transport system in support of long-term needs and 
aspirations. This 2040 Transport Strategy builds on that Vision, highlighting the priority 
interventions needed to achieve it.  The Strategy is, in turn, supported by a series of Five-Year 
Transport Delivery Plans which describe the progress made in delivering this Strategy and set 
out our short-term delivery priorities.  

6. Importantly, the 2040 Transport Strategy is not about simply predicting what the future might 
hold and responding accordingly. For example, the spread of Covid-19 throughout 2020 had a 
profound impact on people’s lives and wellbeing in a way that would have been impossible to 
predict. This Strategy is - instead - about helping to shape and create a successful, resilient 
city-region, ready to tackle the challenges, and opportunities, of the 21st century. By being 
clear on our priorities, we can realise them more effectively; we can develop funding 
mechanisms better linked to the benefits of improved connectivity; and we can develop a 
skills base to enable our residents to benefit from employment in the transport sector. 

7. Our priority interventions range from transformational investment in HS2 and new, fast east-
west rail connections across the North; to establishing Greater Manchester as a modern, 
pedestrian and cycle-friendly city-region, including through the Bee Network. There are plans 
to support town centre regeneration through new sustainable transport connections, 
interchanges and crucially, to build on the success of our commuter revolution, with the 
delivery of new and enhanced rapid transit links and a transformed local bus network. We 
also want to make our local road system more reliable and safer for all users, including freight 
and commercial traffic. 

8. Ultimately, all interventions will come together to offer flexible and customer-focused travel 
choices, supported by smart information, ticketing and payment systems, across a truly 
integrated Greater Manchester transport network.  

9. A vision for this integrated, modern and accessible transport system was set out by the 
Greater Manchester Mayor in 2019, through the launch of Our Network. Designed to align 
with the 2040 Transport Strategy, Our Network provides a passenger focused way of 
communicating what we want to achieve in the medium-term on our public transport and 
walking and cycling networks.  

10. Our travelling customers – residents, business and visitors – sit at the heart of this Strategy. 
An effective transport system supports a strong economy by enabling goods to reach 
customers, and businesses to access skills and talent. And it has a major bearing on people’s 
health and well-being by supporting social interaction, encouraging more active travel and 
reducing pollution.    

11. This Strategy focuses on the critical long-term challenges we are facing in Greater 
Manchester, such as global warming, a rapidly growing and ageing population; low 
productivity and the need to reduce poverty and social inequality.  This is supported by a 
more holistic approach to the needs of passengers and freight, with a strong focus on 
integration across different modes of transport, and with wider policy areas, such as spatial 
planning and health. Technology and innovation also have a key role to play.  

Document Pack Page 26



 

3 

12. We will take a consistent and long-term approach to tackling these major challenges, while 
also reviewing our Strategy on a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new 
opportunities and priorities. This approach is supported by plans that cover the short and 
medium term, including: a series of Five-Year Transport Delivery Plans; Local Implementation 
Plans (for each of the ten Greater Manchester local authorities) and the development of sub-
strategies including : Streets for All, the City Centre Transport Strategy, the Local Bus Strategy, 
the Rapid Transit Strategy and the Freight Strategy.  

13. Our 2040 Vision - and the Right Mix - will not be easy to deliver but, in preparing this long-
term Strategy, we believe we are putting in place the right framework to face up to the 
challenges of the next 20 years.      

  

Document Pack Page 27



 

4 

Our Vision and the Right Mix for 2040 

14. Our vision is for Greater Manchester to have ‘World class connections that support long-term, 
sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity for all’.  Our approach to achieving 
this was set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040: Our Vision.  

15. As well as meeting the requirements of our travelling customers, our transport system needs 
to help the local economy to flourish and prosper, and our residents to contribute to and 
benefit from that prosperity, as set out in the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy.  

16. Our transport system must connect people to opportunities and information, entrepreneurs 
with ideas and capital, and employers with talent and skills. It also needs to create better 
places: improving the environment, reducing the dominance of cars and goods vehicles and 
supporting new development and regeneration.   

17. Finally, the role of technology and innovation will be even more important in the period up to 
2040, enabling us to: improve quality of life, reduce costs and resource consumption, 
encourage sustainable travel, reduce overall journeys and support Mobility as a Service, the 
integration of transport services into an accessible on demand, single customer experience 
with simple payment. 

18. The four key elements of our Vision, which represent the goals of our Strategy, are set out 
below. 

 

Document Pack Page 28



 

5 

19. In 2019, we set out our ambition to improve our transport system so that - by 2040 - 50% of all 
journeys in Greater Manchester are made by public transport or active travel, supporting a 
reduction in car use to no more than 50% of daily trips. This will mean one million more 
sustainable journeys every day in Greater Manchester by 2040, enabling us to deliver a 
healthier, greener and more productive city-region.  We call this the transport ‘Right Mix’.  
Achieving the Right Mix is expected to lead to zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic in 
Greater Manchester between 2017 and 2040. 

The Right Mix for Greater Manchester 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 29



 

6 

  

Document Pack Page 30



 

7 

Critical Transport Challenges for Greater Manchester 

20. We face challenges in achieving our vision, and these are analysed in depth in our 2040 
Evidence Base, which should be read alongside this 2040 Transport Strategy. They are also 
summarised below. 

 

Supporting Sustainable Economic Growth 
21. Greater Manchester has ambitious growth plans over the coming 20 years, with major growth 

in employment (particularly in knowledge-based industries) leading to a rapidly increasing 
population and an urgent need to build 10, 500 new homes every year from 2020 until 2037.  

 

Document Pack Page 31



 

8 

22. Significant work has been undertaken to develop Greater Manchester's Plan for Homes, Jobs 
and the Environment - the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) - in a way that is 
closely aligned with this Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and Our Five-Year 
Transport Delivery Plan. This is vital, to ensure that we correctly identify the transport 
infrastructure needed to support movement across the city-region, taking into account 
current and future travel demands. 

23. Key challenges for our strategy in supporting sustainable economic growth are as follows: 

• Growth will lead to thousands more trips on our transport networks, which could result in 
significant highways congestion and overcrowding on our public transport networks, 
ultimately choking off investment and damaging prosperity. Preventing increased 
congestion will need more people to travel by public transport or to walk or cycle, and 
fewer goods vehicles on our roads during peak periods. This will require a significant 
improvement in the alternatives, providing more capacity and creating a flexible, 
integrated London-style transport network that meets customer needs. Additional 
transport links will be needed to unlock growth areas, particularly as the scale of growth 
means that sites on the edge of the urban area will need to be developed. 

• Access to skills and markets needs to be improved to allow people to take up the new jobs 
on offer, employers to recruit the best workers and businesses to deliver goods efficiently.  

• Journey time reliability on our roads and on public transport is essential, reducing the cost 
to business of delayed deliveries and employees arriving late. The cost of congestion in 
Greater Manchester has been estimated by TfGM to be £1.3 billion per year. 

• Networks need to be well maintained in order to function. We face an increasing challenge 
to keep networks open in the face of adverse weather (linked to climate change), ageing 
infrastructure and more intensive operation.  

• The perception of Greater Manchester as a good place to live, work, invest and visit is vital 
to the economy. We must deliver the sort of efficient, seamless, intelligent and easy-to-use 
public transport enjoyed by leading world cities, and create public spaces that offer a safe, 
attractive and clean environment for walking and cycling. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 32



 

9 

Improving the Quality of Life 

 

24. Economic success, particularly in the Regional Centre and southern parts of Greater 
Manchester, has not yet spread to all areas, and there are significant pockets of severe 
deprivation throughout the conurbation. Many of our residents do not have access to a car 
and therefore rely heavily on public transport.  We also have major challenges in terms of air 
pollution, physical inactivity and road collisions.  This Strategy can make a major contribution 
to improving the quality of life of all our residents by helping to address some of the critical 
challenges highlighted below: 

• Many people do not currently see sustainable modes as realistic alternatives to taking the 
car, and we must continue to work hard to improve the quality of our walking, cycling and 

Document Pack Page 33



 

10 

public transport and to provide people with the facilities and training to make them 
natural, easy choices. The design of new development also needs to make it easier for 
people to use sustainable modes. 

• Access to jobs and training needs to be improved so that transport is not a barrier to work, 
or moving to a better job. Where businesses operate 24/7 or have variable working hours 
it can be difficult to provide public transport, and the cost of travel is a serious issue for 
those in lower-paid jobs. 

• Good access to services such as education, healthcare, shopping and recreation is 
essential, particularly for disadvantaged groups and people living in isolated areas. Our 
town centres are threatened by changing retail trends and elsewhere many of our services, 
such as healthcare, are becoming more centralised and, in some cases, more difficult to 
reach.  

• Improving health is an area where transport can make a significant contribution by 
increasing levels of active travel and reducing pollution.  Much needs to be done to make 
this a real option by improving safety, providing better infrastructure and building 
confidence through training.  We must make walking and cycling the natural choice for 
everyday shorter trips, many of which are currently made by car.  

• Poor air quality damages everyone’s health, but it can have particularly significant effects 
on the most vulnerable in our communities.  Long-term exposure to elevated levels of 
particulates and nitrogen dioxide can contribute to the development of cardiovascular or 
respiratory diseases, and may reduce life expectancy.  It is estimated that approximately 
5% of deaths in GM are attributable to particulate pollution.  Currently GM is compliant 
with the legal limits of particulate matter, but because of its impact on health it is 
important to ensure that it is reduced as much as possible.   

• Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is a type of air pollution which is at levels above legal limits at 
numerous sites in Greater Manchester. The main source of NO2 is road vehicles (especially 
older, diesel ones). Reducing these emissions is vital, to clean up the air we breathe and 
prevent people contracting and suffering from serious health conditions.  

• Safety and security are fundamental. Good progress has been made in reducing the 
number of people killed or seriously injured on our roads, but all partners must work hard 
to deliver our vision of reducing deaths to close to zero by 2040. Public transport is a very 
safe way to travel, but some people are deterred from using it by the fear of crime and 
anti-social behaviour, which we must continue to tackle.  

• These quality of life challenges - from struggling to incorporate physical activity into daily 
lives; to poor air quality; to travel delays due to full-to-capacity public transport services 
and congested road networks - need to be addressed in a holistic manner. Greater 
Manchester is pioneering the Streets for All approach, which offers a people-centred way 
of taking decisions about how our streets are designed and managed. When it comes to 
quality of life, local neighbourhood trips offer the greatest potential for change as large 
numbers of short car journeys could be switched to walking or cycling.  

Document Pack Page 34



 

11 

Protecting our Environment  
25. Motorised transport has brought great benefits to society, giving easy access to a wide range 

of opportunities, but its impact on the environment is very damaging. At a global level, carbon 
dioxide (CO2) emissions are a major contributor to climate change.  

26. All ten Greater Manchester local authorities, and the GMCA, have declared a Climate 
Emergency, making clear that urgent action is needed to put Greater Manchester on a path to 
carbon neutrality by 2038, and for GM to make its fair contribution to a stable global climate 
and to the Paris Agreement of holding the increase in global temperatures to well below 2oC.  

27. Greater Manchester is taking action through the 5-Year Environment Plan (launched in 2019, 
at the second Greater Manchester Green Summit). The Plan includes priorities for improving 
our air quality and reducing emissions in relation to the way we travel, including reducing the 
distance we need to travel, increasing the use of public transport and active travel, phasing 
out fossil fuelled vehicles, establishing a zero-emissions bus fleet and decarbonising road 
freight.  

Document Pack Page 35



 

12 

 

Further challenges and opportunities when it comes to protecting our environment include:  

• Reducing transport emissions, including by implementing the measures required to meet 
carbon and air quality targets. This needs to be done in the context of economic and 
population growth, which will increase demand. Making the best use of existing 
infrastructure will help to reduce environmental impacts. Locating new development 
where there is good access to public transport and services will reduce car travel and 

Document Pack Page 36



 

13 

therefore emissions. Road and rail networks must also be used efficiently and be well 
maintained.   

• Protecting natural and built environments from the impacts of transport. Damage to, or 
loss of, habitats as a result of construction, disturbance from traffic noise or street lighting, 
and pollution due to run-off from highways must all be minimised. 

Developing an Innovative city-region 
28.  Without significant capital investment, existing transport solutions will not fully overcome 

obstacles to sustainable and equitable growth in Greater Manchester. A great deal of work is 
currently being undertaken in our city-region, to identify opportunities to develop, test and 
implement new mobility solutions.  

29. Transport innovation in Greater Manchester focuses on three main areas – Intelligent 
Mobility, Smart and Shared Mobility, Connected Infrastructure and Place – all of which are 
achieved through partnership and collaboration. Our city-region participates in many 
collaborative transport innovation projects with UK-based and international partners to 
ensure we remain at the forefront of this area.  

 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 37



 

14 

 

30. Following the completion of multiple successful projects and trials in recent years, several 
‘pathways to innovation’ have been identified using cross-sectoral working to ensure 
developments in Mobility as a Service, Connected and Autonomous Vehicles and shared 
mobility are customised to meet the needs of our residents and visitors. 
 

 

Document Pack Page 38



 

15 

 

31. We will exploit new technologies and innovative approaches where we believe they add real 
value to the delivery of our Strategy, and particularly in the five key areas shown in the graphic 
below:   

 

32. The development of connected infrastructure, shared services and placemaking has been at 
the forefront of the transport innovation agenda in Greater Manchester. Innovation projects 
are helping us better understand the impact of these services and new mobility solutions and 
overcome any technical, regulatory and commercial barriers. Projects such as eHUBS are 
creating community hubs with access to shared, electric, sustainable mobility solutions, while 
the legacy of the ground-breaking CityVerve project forms the foundation of our ambition to 
be a world-leading smart city.  

33. TfGM’s intention to be at the forefront of developing and implementing new technology can 
also be seen in its involvement in the 5G Create project, which is trialling the use of 5G 
technology and artificial intelligence to improve the efficiency of traffic signals.          

Building on Success 

34. We have already made significant progress when it comes to improving the capacity and 
resilience of our transport network. Details of work completed or progressed to date are 
included in this 2040 Transport Strategy, Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan and Our 
Network. 

• In 2019 the Greater Manchester Rail Prospectus set out the city-region’s priorities for its rail 

network. These include improving infrastructure and rolling stock; increasing passenger 

Document Pack Page 39



 

16 

numbers into the Regional Centre; working with rail and community partners to improve 

stations, increasing services to Manchester Airport and delivering local turn-up-and-go services 

that operate at least four trains an hour. The Prospectus also sets out the opportunities 

provided by rail reform and greater local control. 

• On our highways, we continue to develop our Greater Manchester-wide approach to 

managing, maintaining and improving our Key Route Network of major roads which play the 

biggest role in supporting our city-region economy, and we have been investing heavily in 

innovative real-time traffic management and information systems to improve their reliability.  

• Further expansion and upgrades to Greater Manchester’s Electric Vehicle Charging 

Infrastructure network (GMEV) are planned. Work started in 2020, and more opportunities for 

rapid charging are being rolled out.  As the uptake of Electric Vehicles increases, we will work 

in partnership with the private sector increasing investment to upgrade, expand, operate and 

maintain a re-branded EV charging infrastructure network to make Greater Manchester truly 

EV-friendly and support air quality and carbon reduction targets. Work is also underway to roll 

out Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach, which strikes a better balance between 

movement demands and place functions on our streets. 

• Greater Manchester is rolling out world-class walking and cycling infrastructure. This includes 
through the Mayor’s Challenge Fund for Cycling and Walking to deliver the Bee Network - a 
plan to connect every neighbourhood and community in Greater Manchester - and the long-
term Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Vision for Greater Manchester, which builds on the 
recommendations made by Greater Manchester’s first Cycling and Walking Commissioner in 
his 2017 Made to Move report.  

• Transport investment will be essential in regenerating Greater Manchester’s town centres. 
Local authorities are working on plans to improve access to, and within, town centres. The 
Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge and other initiatives will help regenerate town centres by 
creating more attractive places to live, with local retail and leisure, supported by transport and 
digital connections.  

• Greater Manchester has invested in modern, attractive interchanges in our town centres, 
supported by programmes of targeted bus priority and passenger facility improvements across 
our bus network. The Bus Services Act (2017) gave Greater Manchester the power to consider 
options to reform its bus market and potentially improve bus availability, reliability and 
affordability. Bus reform also offers opportunities for more integration between the bus 
network and other sustainable and active modes.  

35. The scale of the growth challenge we are facing, however, requires more investment and 
careful planning and management of our transport network, co-ordinated across the different 
elements of Greater Manchester’s sustainable growth and public service reform agenda.   

36. The policies and interventions set out in this document in Parts 2 and 3 have been developed 
to provide a comprehensive toolkit for addressing the challenges outlined above.  As we move 
from broad interventions to specific schemes and funding programmes set out in Our Five-Year 
Transport Delivery Plan, we will need to prioritise measures which best meet our long-term 
goals, with a particular focus on raising prosperity, while establishing sustainable growth.  

Document Pack Page 40



 

17 

Scope of this Document 

37. This document sets out Greater Manchester’s Transport Strategy for 2016 to 2040. It takes as 
its starting point the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy: Our Vision, which received 
widespread support through public and stakeholder consultation in the summer of 2015 (the 
results are reported at www.tfgm.com/2040).  The initial version of this Strategy was 
developed by TfGM, in consultation with the ten Greater Manchester local authorities (Bolton, 
Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Stockport, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan), the 
GMLEP, and approved by the GMCA and the then interim Greater Manchester Mayor in 2017. 
This version of the Strategy was updated in 2020. 

38. We recognise that the world is likely to change significantly over the next twenty years, in 
ways that we cannot always predict. For example, the spread of Covid-19 throughout 2020 had 
a profound impact on people’s lives and wellbeing in a way that would have been difficult to 
imagine. We will continue to refresh our Strategy on a regular basis to reflect new challenges 
and opportunities. In particular we will need to ensure we have the appropriate transport 
infrastructure and services to support future growth in Greater Manchester, while keeping in 
mind our long-term vision for the Right Mix of transport on our network: for 50% of trips to be 
made by sustainable modes  by 2040, supporting a reduction in car use to no more than 50% 
of daily trips.  

39. Greater Manchester has adopted an adaptive, vision-led approach to transport planning. This 
means that the steps needed to achieve our Right Mix vision will be continually monitored and 
adjusted to achieve our goals. This is important, given the potential for our plans to be 
knocked off course by external events. Changes in the way we achieve the Right Mix could lead 
to changes to the type of interventions set out in Greater Manchester’s transport plans. 

40. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment (the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework) which will identify new development locations, is still under development 
and so our transport strategy needs to be flexible to enable it to influence and support 
proposals as they are brought forward.  This flexibility can be achieved in a number of ways, 
including through a series of Five-Year Transport Delivery Plans, which accompany this 
Strategy. Each Delivery Plan is updated annually to describe the progress made in delivering 
the 2040 Transport Strategy and to reflect any changes needed. The Delivery Plans have 
appendixes in the form of a Local Implementation Plans for each of the ten local authorities. 
Local Implementation Plans build on the main Delivery Plan to set out further details of each 
local authorities’ transport ambitions, targets and priorities over each five-year period. Taken 
together, the Strategy and Delivery Plans constitute Greater Manchester’s Fourth Local 
Transport Plan, as shown overleaf.  

 
 

Document Pack Page 41



 

18 

 

41. This Strategy has been developed in line with current Local Transport Plan guidance and 
European best practice in creating Sustainable Urban Mobility Plans. It is based on a thorough 
analysis of supporting evidence, which is presented in more detail in our refreshed 2040 
Evidence Base report.  We have also undertaken an Integrated Assessment of the Strategy to 
ensure that it fully considers environmental, health, habitats and equalities impacts.   

42. Sitting alongside these documents, Our Network is a passenger-focused way of communicating 
of our vision for an integrated, modern, accessible and sustainable transport network. 
Launched by the GM Mayor in 2019, Our Network is designed to bring to life Greater 
Manchester’s planned transport projects and policies, and show how different modes of public 
transport – bus, tram, rail, tram-train – and cycling and walking  - could form a London-style, 
integrated transport network  with seamless connections, simplified ticketing and an 
aspiration for capped fares. 

43. The draft Strategy and first Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan were the subject of a 12-week 
consultation, beginning in July 2016, to which over 80 stakeholder groups and almost 1,690 
members of the public responded. The consultation included a dedicated webpage, an 
animation that distilled the strategy into a three-minute video, strong media coverage, a 
comprehensive social and mainstream media plan, and a well-attended stakeholder event. The 
documents themselves were available online and this included accessible versions: a British 
Sign Language video, Easy Read, Large Print and Audio versions.  

44. Responses to the online questionnaire showed that 72% of respondents either agreed or 
strongly agreed that the Strategy would help to deliver the vision. There was also strong 
support for the principles, priorities, spatial themes and the Delivery Plan. Respondents also 
had the opportunity to answer an open question on ‘What one thing would make travel in 
Greater Manchester easier for you?’ The responses to this question, along with stakeholder 
comments were used to amend the draft documents.  

Document Pack Page 42



 

19 

45. A report on the consultation outcomes was approved by GMCA in October 2016 and the Final 
Strategy and Delivery Plan were approved in December 2016. 

46. The second Five-year Transport Delivery Plan (setting out Greater Manchester’s transport 
plans for the period 2020 -2025) was published in draft form, for public consultation, in 
January 2019 alongside the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.  The decision was taken to 
revise the Spatial Framework, to allow for deeper engagement with local communities and 
other stakeholders. A refreshed draft Delivery Plan was published alongside the revised Spatial 
Framework – Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment – and a 
refreshed version of this document in November 2020. 

47. The remainder of this document is structured around three key parts: 

• Part 2 sets out our strategic principles and policies for delivering a more customer-focused 
Greater Manchester transport system.  These cover the principles we need to apply across 
our transport system as well as our strategic approach to planning and managing different 
modes of transport, including highways, walking and cycling, and public transport.   

• Part 3 focuses on the five spatial themes which we introduced in our 2040 Vision, 
highlighting challenges, ambitions and interventions for different types of travel in Greater 
Manchester.   

• Finally, our approach to delivery is set out in more detail in Part 4, including our approach 
to funding and prioritisation, and how we will measure performance.   

Document Pack Page 43



 

20 

Part 2                                                                                         
Supporting Travel in Greater Manchester in 2040: 
Strategic Principles and Policies 

Introduction 

48. Since we published our first Local Transport Plan in 2001, Greater Manchester’s transport 
strategy has had a consistent focus on sustainable transport and regeneration. We have long 
been working hard to tackle the environmental, economic and quality of life challenges 
described in Part 1.  

49. However, we will need to go much further in order to deliver the scale of ambition set out in 
our 2040 Vision document - and in other plans published since then - including the Greater 
Manchester Strategy, Greater Manchester Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment and 
Greater Manchester’s long-term environmental vision for carbon neutrality by 2038.   

50. Greater Manchester’s growth and reform agenda, secured through the ground-breaking 2014 
Greater Manchester Agreement, provided us with some of the tools needed to achieve our 
aspirations, through the devolution of powers and funding to a locally elected Greater 
Manchester Mayor. Subsequent devolution deals gave Greater Manchester more powers - 
including over additional elements of the transport system - and notably, in 2017, powers to 
manage the city-region’s health and social care budget.  

51. We will build on our existing successful transport strategy and continue to develop and apply 
consistently a series of strategic principles and policies across our transport system.  These are 
set out in more detail within this section and along with a framework within which we can 
bring forward measures to tackle issues in different parts of Greater Manchester, as described 
in Part 3. 

  

Document Pack Page 44



 

21 

A More Customer-Focused Transport System: Our 
Network Principles  

52. Meeting the transport needs of our residents, businesses and visitors is at the heart of our 
2040 Transport Strategy.  We are mindful that our transport system carries both people and 
goods, and we must consider the needs of both as we plan for the future.   

53. We have therefore established seven mutually reinforcing principles, set out below, which we 
will apply consistently as we improve Greater Manchester’s transport system to ensure that it 
meets the needs of all customers: 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 45



 

22 

 

Integration at the Heart of our GM Transport Strategy 2040  

54. A fundamental aspiration of the 2040 Transport Strategy is to provide Greater Manchester’s 
residents, visitors and businesses with real choice in their mode of travel and how goods are 
transported.  We must provide sustainable travel options that offer an attractive alternative to 
the private car and minimise the negative impacts of road freight on our city-region.  Tackling 
these issues will enable Greater Manchester to deliver its economic growth, environmental 
and quality of life goals without traffic congestion and pollution undermining its long-term 
success. 

55. A major barrier to enabling people and goods to travel more sustainably is the lack of 
integration across the different parts of the transport network.   This makes it difficult for 
customers to understand what travel options are available to them; how they access and pay 
for these; and how to move between different modes of transport for more complex journeys.  
Much of this is due to the complexity of different institutions and transport operators involved 
in planning and delivering our transport system.  This fragmented nature – which means 
passengers changing between Metrolink, train and bus have to buy multiple tickets from 
different companies, with no coordination between services – was a key reason for the 
development of Our Network, which sets out our ambition for a London-style integrated 
network with seamless connections between different modes of transport. Developing a more 
joined-up approach to planning and delivering transport is at the heart of Greater 
Manchester’s devolution and reform agenda.   

An Integrated Transport Network 

56. While the concept of integration is not new, the delivery of a truly integrated transport system 
has, in the last 30 years, been beyond our reach due to regulatory and institutional barriers.    

57. Through this Strategy, we will stop viewing different modes of transport as separate networks, 
with individual asset management, service planning, and fares and ticketing regimes, and 
instead plan our transport system as a single, highly-connected entity that all customers can 
move through seamlessly. This will allow us to prioritise transport improvements more 
effectively, based on the needs of different travel markets and to save resources by minimising 
duplication of expenditure and activity. 

58. A network approach will also enable us to meet a much wider variety of travel demands, 
facilitating easier interchange at key nodes on our transport network and, along with improved 
services, enabling people to make orbital, as well as radial, movements much more easily.   

59. We will enhance our public transport so that bus, rail and tram services and facilities are 
planned and delivered in a much more integrated way to minimise the time and cost of 
changing between services. It is hoped that steps taken by Greater Manchester to reform bus 
services in the city-region could drive the development of this more joined up public transport 

Our Ambition:  To enable people to move seamlessly between services and modes of 
transport on a single, high quality, easy-to-use network; maximising choice and supporting 
low-car lifestyles, made possible by integrated land use and transport planning.     

Document Pack Page 46



 

23 

network. A franchising scheme for the whole of Greater Manchester - for which there was a 
large amount of public support during the 2019 consultation - would enable decisions about 
routes, frequencies, timetables, quality standards and ticketing to be taken at a local level. 

60. We will develop comprehensive and easy to understand cycle and walking networks that 
access a range of destinations and integrate well with public transport, including Greater 
Manchester’s Bee Network and the emerging city-region-wide bicycle hire scheme. We will 
also continue to develop and roll out our Streets for All approach to planning and maintaining 
our strategic and local highways networks, to meet the sometimes conflicting needs of 
different users and considering the role - both positive and negative - of highways in shaping 
local places. 

61. Over the coming years, we will continue to focus on significantly improving people’s travel 
experience.  Our aim is to enable customers to make their journeys in the most flexible way, 
using multiple modes of transport, through innovative new ways of planning and paying for 
travel and through access to real-time information. The latter will enable customers to make 
informed choices about their travel, putting them in control and encouraging sustainable 
journeys.  We are also working towards transforming Greater Manchester’s rapid transit stops 
into Travel Hubs, including better pick up and drop off provision, cycle facilities and electric 
vehicle charging points.  

62. Technological developments open new opportunities for delivering an integrated and 
customer-focused transport system to meet future customer needs. Greater Manchester is 
working to deliver connected and autonomous vehicles (CAVs) projects that could move 
people around the city-region in a more efficient, inclusive and sustainable way.  

63. Such an approach also blurs the traditional boundaries between public and private transport, 
and TfGM’s role will have an increasing focus on enabling mobility and improving connectivity 
for everyone no matter how they choose to travel. 

64. We recognise that there are parts of the current transport offer in Greater Manchester that 
are under-developed, thereby making car use essential, rather than optional. Later in this 
document, we set out the types of improvement needed for different transport modes. 
However, there is also potential to exploit the increasingly popular sharing economy concept 
to enable people to access a car or a bike for occasional trips, even if they do not own one.  
Hence, we want to see a more comprehensive low-emission car club offer, as well as 
continuing to develop our bicycle hire scheme.  This will provide a more comprehensive travel 
offer to our residents and businesses, and has potential to reduce the number of cars on the 
roads and parking needed. 

65. We also recognise the importance of other supporting modes of transport, such as taxis, 
private hire and demand responsive services, which can fill gaps in our transport system. 
Specialist accessible transport is also essential for people who have mobility impairments and 
cannot easily use conventional public transport.   

66. Again, the development of new demand responsive technologies and applications will make it 
easier for people to plan, book and pay for journeys, potentially as part of longer multi-modal 
trips. We will continue to work with commercial and community transport operators to ensure 
that these supporting modes of transport are fully embedded into our Transport Strategy and 

Document Pack Page 47



 

24 

are seen as an integral part of a fully integrated, accessible transport system in Greater 
Manchester.  

Policy 1: We will work with partners to ensure that modes of transport such as taxis, private 
hire vehicles and other demand responsive services - as well as shared mobility solutions 
such as car clubs, cycle hire and other forms of shared transport - are available and fully 
integrated into the Greater Manchester transport network.  

 

Integrated Information, Fares and Ticketing 

67. Journey planning and wayfinding tools need to be available to customers 24/7 and they should 

provide customers with consistent, simple and straightforward information about their travel 

options.  TfGM will adopt a digital first approach, with technology increasingly enabling these 

apps and web-based tools to be tailored to the needs of individual customers. Where feasible, 

we will make our data available as Open Data to allow third parties to develop apps which will 

benefit our customers.  

68. TfGM and its partners will focus on developing travel planning tools to improve customer 

information, make this information available in more places and to enable us to respond more 

quickly to transport incidents.   Future developments could include adding data on roadworks, 

incidents/events, and a predictive function to warn customers of potential impacts on their 

journey, eg  adverse weather. Expansion of CCTV and other sensor coverage will allow better 

real-time monitoring and enable more accurate travel information.   

Fares and Ticketing Objectives  

• Simplicity: Customers can easily understand and choose options to pay for their journey, 

including for multi-modal travel 

Document Pack Page 48



 

25 

• Convenience: Transactions are easy for the customer; one payment allows multi-modal 

travel and delivers efficiencies to the operator 

• Value for Money: Passengers see fare as fair for the service they get. 

• Transparency and Trustworthiness: Customers have clear understanding of pricing and 

product 

• Inclusivity: Related to the affordability of travelling by public transport and informed by 

concessions policy 

• Balanced Funding: Fares should raise the revenue needed to balance costs with available 

subsidy 

69. We will continue to provide information in a range of formats, recognising that not everyone 
has access to digital devices. We will develop a much more consistent approach to transport 
information and payment systems to allow customers to search and pay for a range of 
different travel services, such as public transport, car clubs, cycle hire and parking.  This 
approach could involve the development of a multi-modal, account-based travel platform, 
sometimes referred to as Mobility as a Service (MaaS). MaaS could be delivered through a 
smartcard, credit/debit card, mobile phone or other cashless technology.  Such an approach 
could also support a more sophisticated and responsive approach to managing demand on 
our transport networks through nudging travel behaviour. 

70. We will develop a set of multi-modal principles to inform decisions relating to fares and 
ticketing. This will support the development of a much more consistent approach to pricing if 
and when we receive the necessary powers. Decisions relating to fares and the ticketing will 
be informed by customer feedback, surveys, sales data and the evaluation of schemes and 
interventions, as well as by the 2040 Transport Strategy and other GM policies. 

 

Integrated Sustainable Journeys 

71. To make effective use of our transport networks and obtain value from public investment, we 
need people to be able to make informed decisions about their travel and which mode best 
suits their needs.   

72. We will focus on measures that encourage people or freight to travel most efficiently on our 
transport network, making the best use of available capacity, particularly during peak periods. 
This will include a holistic look at travel behaviour, such as encouraging more home working 
rather than commuting. Future demand management will encourage people to make at least 
some of their journeys by public transport, walking and cycling, which has long been at the 
heart of Greater Manchester’s transport strategy. In addition to physical measures (bus 
priority, reallocating road space for pedestrian and cycling infrastructure, car share schemes, 
and constraints on long-stay parking), a range of supporting behaviour change measures will 
be needed.  

Policy 2: Working with partners, we will seek to deliver integrated pricing and 
payment systems across the transport network, including smart ticketing for public 
transport, to encourage use of public transport in line with the GM Transport Strategy 
2040.  

 

Document Pack Page 49



 

26 

73. A consistent, long-term approach to travel choices, promotions and marketing will provide 
people and businesses with the information, training and incentives to make better informed 
travel decisions and the impact of their choices.  It will also seek to improve travel horizons 
for those whose life and employment choices may be constrained by a lack of travel 
awareness. Greater Manchester already has a Sustainable Journeys programme which works 
with businesses to encourage their staff to travel sustainably; helps jobseekers travel to 
interviews and to their workplace during the initial period of employment; encourages 
individuals and communities to use public transport, cycling or walking infrastructure in their 
area; and promotes walking and cycling in schools. A continuing programme of broadening 
travel choices will be important in complementing the interventions described in Part 3 and 
we will seek partnership funding for this, including developer contributions, to focus on:  

• Reducing the carbon and environmental cost of journeys; 

• New ways of working which make the best use of the transport network; 

• Maximising the benefit of new, integrated transport infrastructure and services; 

• Delivering public health benefits through enabling more active travel;  

• Supporting town and city centre economic vitality and sustainability;  

• Improving access to key services and jobs; 

• Maximising sustainable travel in new developments; and 

• Becoming more resilient to disruption. 
 

74. Future programmes will be targeted at locations and population groups where progress to 
our Right Mix target can be maximised. For example, to make the best use of the existing 
transport network, target areas might include commuter corridors and economic centres, 
while target groups could comprise commuters, parents of school children, those with the 
potential to switch mode, or those who are at lifetime transition points such as moving house 
or starting a new job.  We will also target travel choices programmes at areas with poor air 
quality.    

75. 

We also need to reduce demand on road space from the road freight sector, particularly 
during peak periods, through measures such as freight consolidation, delivery and servicing 
plans, freight routing strategies and use of sustainable modes. This is discussed in more detail 
later in this document.  

 Integration with Spatial Planning 

76. Greater Manchester is a rapidly growing city-region and has a key role to play in a levelling up 
the national economy to help reduce the disparities in productivity and earnings across the 
UK. It is likely that Greater Manchester will have a population in excess of 3 million (currently 
2.7 million) by the mid-2030s.  Further devolution of transport and spatial planning powers to 
Greater Manchester provides an important opportunity to plan our development and 
transport in a more integrated way. 

Policy 3: We will maintain a conurbation-wide programme of interventions designed to 
encourage people to make sustainable journeys, supported by journey planning tools 
and information; to encourage travel behaviour change and mode shift, in order to make 
the most efficient use of available capacity, particularly during peak periods. 

 

Document Pack Page 50



 

27 

77. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment (the Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework) is currently in development, and will set the scale and distribution of 
housing and employment growth across Greater Manchester over the next twenty years.  It is 
clear that the challenges involved in achieving the expected growth are considerable.  

78. Accommodating this scale of growth without significant additional congestion - while 
supporting measures to reduce carbon and emissions on our already busy transport networks 
will be a huge challenge.  We will need to identify not only development locations that are 
well served by public transport, walking and cycling, but less accessible locations where a 
sufficient scale and density of development could support new public transport provision. 

79. A further fundamental aspect of this this will be minimising the need to travel. This will be 
achieved by creating local neighbourhoods where people can live, work and access services 
and shops, alongside behavioural change, such as mode shift and flexible and home working. 

80. Integration with spatial planning is critical in influencing people’s travel choices. 
Fundamentally, the transport network needs to connect the places people live with the places 
where they work, study, play, shop, visit, and access services like healthcare. Locating housing 
close to facilities and public transport tends to reduce car use. While most places in Greater 
Manchester are served by public transport, some developments have been designed around 
the car making them difficult to reach in any other way.   

81. The car will continue to play an important role in supporting economic growth and opening 
up opportunities for people to improve their quality of life. However, many of the negative 
impacts of transport, such as congestion, high emissions, noise and road traffic casualties, are 
a consequence of our over-reliance on cars, and the planning decisions that made car use the 
most convenient, or only choice for some journeys.  

The design of developments, eg the availability of parking, safe and direct walk/cycle routes, 
secure cycle parking and EV charging points, also influences travel choices. 

82. The draft GM Spatial Framework is also clear that, although connectivity has historically been 
about transport, digital connectivity is increasingly fundamental to our lives, enabling us to 
connect with people irrespective of location, and to access an unparalleled range of learning, 
employment and retail. 

83. TfGM and local planning authorities will continue to work with developers to better integrate 
transport and new development in accordance with the principles of: 

• Reducing the need to travel; 

• Reducing the need to travel by car, and the distance travelled; 

• Maximising accessibility by sustainable modes; 

• Making the best use of existing infrastructure, particularly through increasing the density of 
development close to public transport nodes; 

• Maximising opportunities to provide additional public transport; and 

• Designing to encourage active travel.  

Document Pack Page 51



 

28 

 

An Inclusive Network 

84. To meet the scale of ambition set out in the Greater Manchester Strategy, we must ensure 
that everyone in Greater Manchester is able to access a range of employment, training, health 
and leisure to enable them to lead productive, healthy and fulfilling lives.  In 2018, 4% of the 
GM population was claiming Disability Living Allowance, but the number of people with some 
form of mobility impairment will be much higher.  Therefore, we must make sure that our 
transport network is as inclusive and accessible as possible.  An accessible transport network 
will become even more critical as our elderly population continues to grow over the coming 
decades. Consistent standards of vehicles, facilities and customer care are also needed to give 
disabled people the confidence that they can make their journey on public transport. 

85. In line with our responsibilities under the Equality Act, 2010, we will continue to ensure that all 
new transport infrastructure, vehicles and information are designed to be as accessible as 
possible to all our customers, regardless of their age and mobility.  We will also continue to 
deliver accessibility improvements to our existing transport networks, targeting those parts of 
our transport system which most require improvement and cause most disadvantage to those 
with a mobility impairment. To help us do this most effectively, TfGM set up a Disability Design 
Reference Group (DDRG) in 2008. The DDRG is actively involved in transport-improvement 
projects. It has advised on a wide range of features to improve journeys, including strong 
colour-contrasting infrastructure, clear signage and audio information.  

 

86. The importance of good street design and management to support people who walk and cycle 
has gained greater prominence in recent years. In Greater Manchester, this includes design 
criteria set out in the GM Cycling and Walking Commissioner’s Made to Move guide, such as 
ensuring that all proposed pavement and public realm improvements pass the test of being 
accessible to all, especially pedestrians, the partially sighted and a parent with buggies. 
Alongside this guidance, Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach sets out a people-
centered way of thinking to how our streets are designed and managed so that people are 
encouraged to travel sustainably and spend more time on them. Engaging communities in 
scheme design is also at the core of the GM Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund.     

 

 Our Ambition: To develop a fully inclusive and affordable sustainable transport system for 
all. 

Policy 4: We will work with developers to ensure that new developments are 
accessible by sustainable modes, and to reduce transport emissions and impacts on the 
highway network.  

Policy 5:  We will work with public transport operators and Network Rail to ensure that 
all of transport infrastructure, vehicles and information are as accessible as possible for 
all our customers, regardless of their age and mobility.  

 

Document Pack Page 52



 

29 

 

87. Affordability of transport is also an important issue, particularly for residents on limited 

incomes, many of whom depend on public transport. Season tickets can offer good value to 

people who need to travel five days or more a week, but these do not benefit part-time 

workers, who have to pay higher daily fares.  We are now seeing increasing numbers of people 

working or studying on a part-time, flexible or short-term contract basis, or homeworking a 

few days a week. This means that flexible ticketing options are vitally important to support our 

rapidly changing economy.  In response to this, TfGM has introduced the Clipper Metrolink 

ticket, which provides 10 one-day travel cards that have to be used within 28 days. Clipper 

saves customers money if they are working flexibly or travelling less often than the 

conventional Monday to Friday working week.  

88. We must also ensure that our transport system is priced in a way that encourages sustainable 
travel and manages demand effectively on our constrained networks. More flexible fares and 
ticketing are a critical part of our Vision for Bus (see section 170). The GMCA’s proposed bus 
franchising scheme may help to provide greater value for money for customers, which could 
also enable investment to further improve bus services.  

89. Concessionary fares play an important role in meeting people’s travel needs. The national 
scheme provides free weekday bus travel after 9.30 am for those who have reached 
pensionable age or have a disability. In Greater Manchester, older people can also choose to 
pay £10 for a year’s unlimited off-peak travel on Metrolink and trains within the city-region.  
We also recognise the importance of public transport for young people. TfGM, on behalf of the 
GMCA, has supported a trial of Our Pass, launched by the GM Mayor, which enables 16-18 
year olds to travel by bus for free across Greater Manchester (for a one-off £10 administration 

Document Pack Page 53



 

30 

fee). TfGM also supports apprentices across the city-region with a free 28-day travel pass, valid 
on bus and Metrolink services. The Women’s Concessionary Travel Pass, launched by TfGM in 
2018, enables women affected by the change in the state pension age to free off-peak travel 
on bus, train and tram.  

90. For those without access to a car, the availability of public transport may determine whether 
they can access jobs or training or attend medical appointments without having to use more 
costly individual travel options. This can be a particular issue for people working in the night-
time economy. TfGM provides support for a network of socially necessary bus services, which 
would not otherwise be provided, but this is limited by budget. We will continue to work with 
bus, rail and Metrolink operators to ensure that the network meets peoples’ needs as far as 
possible. We will also work with partners to better co-ordinate the provision of door-to-door 
transport, to increase its availability to disabled customers.  

91. For those who can cycle, we will strongly promote cycling as a low-cost alternative for travel to 
work and education, including developing cycle links to key employment areas.  

 

Policy 6:  We will work with partners to better integrate accessible travel services across 
Greater Manchester, to increase availability and convenience for customers.  

 

Policy 7: As we plan our transport network, we will support the creation of a more 
inclusive economy for GM by considering how best to improve the prospects of people 
living in deprived communities - including by ensuring that more people can access jobs, 
education, skills training and childcare. 

Document Pack Page 54



 

31 

Supporting a Healthier Greater Manchester 

 
Our Ambition:  To develop a transport system that supports people in leading active, healthy 
lives.  

92. Transport can have a major impact on people’s health. It provides access to healthcare and 
other services, enables people to visit friends and family, and links them with green spaces. On 
the negative side, motorised transport can make people less active, leading to obesity; cause 
severe traffic accidents and produces damaging emissions which either affect health directly or 
through climate change. 

93. The huge potential of walking and cycling to reduce car mileage, improve access to key 
facilities, and improve public health, is now widely understood. While recognising the role of 
personal choice in travel, we will encourage people who are able to do so to travel actively in 
order to improve their health, as discussed in Part 1. This is particularly important in tackling 
childhood obesity - establishing active travel behaviour early in life for day-to-day journeys or 
for leisure can greatly improve health later in life.  

94. 

In recent years, reduced local authority budgets have made it increasingly difficult to provide 
socially necessary bus services, including door-to-door services provided for people with 
disabilities, which are not provided by commercial operators. We will continue to monitor the 
impact of this on social isolation and to safeguard against health problems such as depression 
or the inability to attend health appointments.  

95. The devolution of health and social care to Greater Manchester has enabled a much more 
joined-up approach to health by linking it to other aspects of life. People who are more active 
will enjoy better health and be less likely to need medical intervention and this will bring 
savings to health budgets.  

96. We know that air pollution is linked to a wide range of serious illnesses and health conditions. 
It contributes to the equivalent of 1,200 deaths a year in Greater Manchester. NO2 is a type of 
air pollution which is at levels above roadside legal limits at numerous sites in Greater 
Manchester. Government has instructed many local authorities across the UK, including those 
that make up Greater Manchester, to take quick action to reduce harmful NO2 levels. Here, the 
ten local authorities, the GMCA and TfGM have worked together to consider measures to 
tackle air pollution, alongside a charging Clean Air Zone. Together, these form the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan, which aims to bring NO2 emissions within legal limits as quickly as 
possible. 

97. Encouraging walking and cycling - especially for short, daily trips, is also key to improving 
people’s health and fitness. The Bee Network and the long-term Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan for Greater Manchester are vital to enable healthy lifestyles by making 
walking and cycling attractive, convenient and safe ways to travel. The Greater Manchester 
Cycling and Walking Commissioner’s Made to Move report (see section 159) sets out an 

Policy 8:  We will work with partners to deliver transport interventions that improve the 
health of Greater Manchester residents, including: mitigating against pollution from motor 
vehicles; increasing levels of physical activity; improving access to healthcare; and reducing 
social isolation. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 55



 

32 

ambitious vision for more active travel across the city-region.  The goals are to double and 
double again levels of cycling and to make walking the natural choice for as many short trips as 
possible. Working with the Mayor, TfGM, councils and other partners, the Commissioner aims 
to make Greater Manchester one of the world’s best places for cycling and walking.  

98. We have also been very successful in securing funding and establishing new partnership 
arrangements, for example with Sustrans, to deliver major improvements to our active travel 
infrastructure, such as significant expansion of our network of cycle routes and cycle parking, 
together with supporting activities such as cycle training and maintenance, and promoting 
walking for health. 

 

99. While cycling is increasing much more needs to be done to achieve the desired scale of change 
and more investment is essential to provide safe and convenient routes that connect people to 
jobs, services and recreation. In view of the serious health consequences of inactive lifestyles, 
and the significant numbers of very short trips which are currently being made by car (88% of 
trips within Greater Manchester are of five miles or less, and more than half of these are by 
car) we have forged strong partnerships to work across sectors in an attempt to further 
increase levels of walking and cycling.  

100. The focus of activity to drive much higher levels of active travel is influenced by available 
funding.  At present, the GM Mayor’s Challenge Fund (made possible through national 
Government’s Transforming Cities Fund) supports schemes set out in  Our Five-Year Transport 
Delivery Plan (2020-2025), the Made to Move report and the Bee Network infrastructure 
proposal. This fund has so far made £160 million available to deliver schemes across Greater 
Manchester until 2022.  

Document Pack Page 56



 

33 

  

Document Pack Page 57



 

34 

 

Made to Move 
 
Made to Move, published in 2018, is a a 15-step plan to transform how people travel in Greater 
Manchester.  
 
Its goal is to double and then double again cycling in Greater Manchester, and to make walking 
the natural choice for as many short trips as possible. We must do this by putting people first, 
creating 
world-class streets for walking, building one of the world’s best cycle networks, and creating a 
genuine culture of cycling and walking throughout the city-region.  

Made to Move sets out steps towards:  

• Encouraging the two thirds of people who currently use their car as their main mode of 

transport 

to walk and cycle more often; 

• The creation of a Greater Manchester Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Proposal (published 

in summer 2018); 

• Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Proposal plans, which have now been published online. 

TfGM and the ten local authorities are continuing to develop and refine these proposals, in 

collaboration with local residents.  

 

Environmental Responsibility  

Our Ambition:  For Greater Manchester to be known for the quality of its urban areas, 
natural environments with transport emissions reduced to near zero, and new transport 
schemes delivering environmental enhancements whenever possible.  

101. Local air pollution and carbon emissions cause significant harm to health and the environment. 
Evidence suggests that poor air quality harms everyone in the long-term and in the short-term 
impacts the most vulnerable, including children, older people, those with existing respiratory 
or cardiovascular disease and those living in areas of depravation. Greater Manchester’s air 
pollution mostly consists of NO2 (Nitrogen Dioxide) and particulates in the form of PM2.5 and 
PM10 (small particles which are harmful even in low concentrations). In Greater Manchester 
80% of roadside NO2  is caused by traffic. Long-term exposure to both of these may contribute 
to respiratory illness, as well as cardiovascular problems and cancer, leading to thousands of 
early deaths in Greater Manchester every year.   

102. Climate change - mainly caused by CO2 and other greenhouse gas emissions – is causing an 
increase in warm spells and heavy rain and a decrease in cold spells. More extreme weather 
patterns could potentially impact food and water supplies and lead to increased flooding. Road 
transport is a major source of all three emissions in the conurbation. 

Document Pack Page 58



 

35 

 

103. The GMCA, and ten local councils, have each declared a Climate Emergency and that urgent 
action is needed to put Greater Manchester on a path to carbon neutrality by 2038. Greater 
Manchester has demonstrated a clear commitment to achieving this target, including through 
the 5-Year Environment Plan, launched in March 2019 during the second Greater Manchester 
Green Summit. The Plan sets out Greater Manchester’s long-term environmental vision and 
the actions we all need to take, over the next few years, to achieve this. 

104. Greater Manchester is also working in collaboration with international partners, and is a 
signatory to three International commitments on climate change: The Integrated Covenant of 
Mayors, The Compact of Mayors, and the Under 2 Memorandum Of Understanding. 

105. At present (in 2020), the UK is in breach of EU air quality standard for NO2. A single Greater 
Manchester Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) was declared in May 2016 (replacing the 
previous ten District AQMAs), covering the areas where the legal level of NO2 are exceeded (or 
are at risk of being exceeded) and where there is risk of exposure to the general population.  
These are mainly areas close to the motorway network and the major roads converging on the 
Regional Centre and town centres, as shown on the map below. 

106. Government has instructed many local authorities across the UK, including those that make 
up Greater Manchester, to take quick action to reduce harmful NO2 levels.  The Greater 
Manchester local authorities, alongside GMCA and TfGM, have developed a Clean Air Plan 
that aims to meet nationally specified standards in the shortest time possible. The Clean Air 
Plan builds on the commitments in our existing Low Emission Strategy and Air Quality Action 
Plan (2016-21).  

Document Pack Page 59

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/news/mayor-sets-out-bold-ambition-for-greater-manchester-to-be-carbon-neutral-by-2038/


 

36 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER Air Quality Management Area 

 

107. Greater Manchester’s Outline Business Case (OBC) for its Clean Air Plan was submitted to 
Government in 2019, and proposed the introduction of a Greater Manchester-wide Clean Air 
Zone: a designated area within which the most polluting vehicles would pay a daily charge. It is 
hoped the Clean Air Zone will reduce the number of polluting vehicles in Greater Manchester 
and also encourage drivers to upgrade to cleaner vehicles. 

108. Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan also proposes: a funding package to support local 
businesses to upgrade to cleaner vehicles and trebling the number of electric vehicle public 
charging points to support people, businesses, and other organisations across Greater 
Manchester to play their part in reducing air pollution from transport.  

109. Following a public consultation - and if approved by Government - the Greater Manchester 
Clean Air Plan Full Business Case (FBC) proposals will be rolled out over the coming years.  

110. While our primary ambition is to encourage a shift to more sustainable modes of travel – 
particularly for shorter journeys - we recognise that some journeys will always need to be 
undertaken on the highway network.  In these instances, our priority is to reduce the harmful 
emissions and population exposure levels. Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach to 
network planning is underpinned by the need to ensure the right movement is happening on 
the right streets. For example, the M60 and other motorways within Greater Manchester 

Document Pack Page 60



 

37 

should be carrying larger vehicles on longer journeys to ensure pollution caused by motorised 
traffic on local, residential streets is minimised. 

111.  The ambition for smaller vehicles is a shift to a fully electric fleet.  Greater Manchester is 
already home to an extensive electric vehicle infrastructure network and we will expand this 
further as funding allows. For heavy vehicles, we will work with Government and other city-
regions to establish a consistent policy framework to encourage an accelerated uptake of 
alternatively fuelled vehicles. Within GM we will work with infrastructure providers and fleet 
operators to encourage a shift to alternatively fuelled vehicles, or a retrofit of existing vehicles.  

 

 

112. In addition to climate change and pollution, the noise from motorised traffic can impact on the 
quality of life in residential areas and deter people from walking and cycling. Defra has 
identified Noise Important Areas (NIA)  in all the major cities where noise is a problem. While 
electric vehicles will reduce this problem in the medium to long-term, we will take 
opportunities to reduce noise through design (including the use of noise-reducing surfacing) or 
traffic management where possible.  

113. Greater Manchester and its surrounding areas contain statutory nature conservation sites of 
European level importance. These include Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection 
Areas, Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Ramsar sites. In addition to these areas 
protected under the European Habitats Directive, there are many locally important sites and 
green spaces, which both support wildlife and contribute to people’s wellbeing. These 
locations are vulnerable to the effects of motorised traffic and the development of new 
infrastructure.  

114. A high-quality environment is increasingly seen as the key to attracting and retaining the best 
businesses and skilled workers, and ‘liveability’ is therefore an important issue. It is influenced, 
to some extent, by transport.  Urban areas with a rich cultural heritage and diverse green 
infrastructure, which are attractive and safe for people to walk and cycle in, and have access to 
efficient public transport, are generally more pleasant living environments. Creating attractive 
public realm to reduce the dominance of the car and create visual interest at street level can 
create safer neighbourhoods with more opportunity for social interaction and they can also 
attract economic investment.  

115. Reducing the impact of traffic, by increasing the use of public transport and through effective 
traffic management, will be essential if we are to achieve this. It will improve quality of life by 
reducing noise, severance and pollution. Transport is already contributing to regeneration, 
including through the expansion of Metrolink, which is stimulating investment in surrounding 
areas, and through transforming Greater Manchester’s rapid transit stops into Mobility Hubs, 

 Policy 9: We will work with partners and key stakeholders to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
levels on local roads within legal limits, and to reduce levels of particulate matter - both of 
which are emitted from internal combustion engines. 

 

 

Policy 10: We will play our part in delivering carbon neutrality, including by working 
towards: implementing measures that will mitigate against climate change, improving air 
quality, encouraging responsible consumerism, ensuring net environmental gain wherever 
possible and making sure our future built environment is resilient to the impacts of 
climate change.  

Document Pack Page 61



 

38 

to include better pick up and drop off provision, cycle facilities and electric vehicle charging 
points. 

116. Greater Manchester is fortunate in having great countryside, such as the Peak District National 
Park, within a relatively short distance. More needs to be done, however, to improve access to 
this countryside through better public transport or active travel provision so that everyone, no 
matter their means or mobility, can enjoy it.  

  

 

117. New transport infrastructure can negatively impact on natural spaces and habitats. This can be 
through construction on these sites; construction and operational disturbance (such as noise, 
light and vibration pollution) and emissions and other pollution (air, water, soil). They also 
provide opportunities to incorporate and support nature. We will look for opportunities to 
enhance biodiversity and green infrastructure through our transport schemes, for example, 
through planting. TfGM is a partner in the City of Trees1 project, which aims to plant a tree for 
every man, woman and child who lives in Greater Manchester within a generation. 

118. Transport can pose a risk to water quality eg through runoff from highways following gritting. 
Pollution of water bodies (including groundwater) and increased risk of flooding must be 
prevented, both during the construction and operation of transport projects. This could be 
through Sustainable Urban Drainage schemes, bio-remediation and use of tree pits. 

 

1 http://cityoftrees.org.uk/ 

Document Pack Page 62



 

39 

119. Transport infrastructure and traffic can have a significant effect on the built environment and 
through this be detrimental to people’s quality of life. New transport projects need to be 
designed sensitively to be sympathetic with the existing urban environment’s character and 
opportunities for improving their setting and share public spaces should be examined. 

120. Any development that would have an adverse impact on an important environmental site 
should be avoided as far as possible. If this cannot be achieved, the adverse impacts will be 
adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for.  In the case of European 
designated sites, a Habitat Regulations Appropriate Assessment is required for any proposal 
likely to have significant effects on the site.  

121. 

Our aim is to minimise the impact of transport on the built and natural environment. Large 
transport schemes will be subject to a statutory Environmental Assessment, as required by the 
planning process. We will also continue to apply our established principles for the design of 
new infrastructure projects, as described in the Delivery Plans that support this Strategy. 

A Reliable Network 

122. Reliable transport networks are essential to allow the economy to function and grow. Journey 
times by road need to be predictable, particularly when journeys are time critical. Public 
transport needs to be regular and dependable if people are going to have confidence in it and 
cycle network need to be well maintained. 

123. The cost of congestion on the highway network in Greater Manchester has been estimated at 
£1.3 billion a year2. In addition to frustration for motorists and delays for business, highway 
congestion can have a significant impact on bus journey times, making public transport less 
attractive. Reducing congestion can therefore help the planning and management of more 
fuel-efficient transport, particularly for freight. 

124. Road works are a major contributor to congestion and disruption. In 2013 the Greater 
Manchester Road Activities Permit Scheme was introduced to better co-ordinate the timing of 
road works and to monitor their impact. In the future there is the potential to make greater 
use of this data for journey planning, enabling people to change their route or mode of travel 
to avoid disruption. 

125. The existing traffic signal network is operated and controlled by Greater Manchester’s Urban 
Traffic Control team through TfGM’s Control Centre which uses technologies - including SCOOT 
(Split Cycle Offset Optimisation Technique) and MOVA (Microprocessor Optimised Vehicle 
Actuation) - to optimise traffic signal control and manage traffic congestion.  

 

2 Cost of Congestion in Greater Manchester, TfGM HFAS Report 1853, 2015 

Our Ambition: To develop a transport network that offers reliable journey times and gives 
people the confidence to use public transport.     

Policy 11: We will work with partners, including the Canals and Rivers Trust, to 
enhance green and blue infrastructure to provide a safe and attractive environment for 
walking and cycling.  
 

Document Pack Page 63



 

40 

126. We will continue to monitor the performance of the highway network and to identify 
improvements, such as changes to signal timings or redesign of junctions at hotspot locations. 
In a dense urban area, however, the solution to increasing demand will need to involve a shift 
to sustainable modes rather than the provision of additional highway capacity. This may 
include re-allocating road space to public transport and cyclists in order to maximise capacity. 

127. The Greater Manchester Congestion Deal followed a congestion ‘conversation’ between the 
Greater Manchester Mayor and people living in the city-region in 2017. Transport for Greater 
Manchester, the ten local authorities and a reference group of transport experts developed 
the Deal by assessing new ideas and identifying existing schemes that could be expanded or 
brought forward for implementation over three years (to 2021).  This included measures to 
improve the way the road network is managed and to provide better use of road space and 
non-traditional transport solutions, such as working with businesses and other employers to 
enable more flexible working so that fewer people have to travel at peak times. 

128. Interventions which form part of the Congestion Deal include a 24/7 control centre to 
monitor Greater Manchester’s roads, and new traffic cameras and technology that work 
smartly to ease road congestion. These have been trialled to keep buses running on time 
along some of Greater Manchester’s busiest corridors.  

129. On the public transport network, we will continue to monitor reliability and work with 
operators to improve it. On rail and Metrolink, reliability is closely linked to resilience (which is 
discussed in more detail later in this document).  

130. The GM Mayor’s Our Network vision has a strong focus on improving public transport 
reliability, and makes the case that, in order to achieve this, other public transport modes 
should be run based on the principles which underpin the Greater Manchester-owned 
Metrolink network: 

• Convenient: Reliable and regular services. 

• Affordable: Integrated fares and ticketing across bus, rail, tram and bike hire. 

• Sustainable: Zero emissions and powered by renewable energy. 

• Accessible: Fully accessible to all residents. 

• Accountable: Run for the people of GM and locally accountable. 

 

 

 

Policy 12:  We will aim to minimise the impact of transport on the built and natural 
environment - including townscape, the historic environment, cultural heritage, 
landscape, habitats and biodiversity, geodiversity, water quality, pollution, flood 
risk and use of resource - and will seek to deliver environmental enhancements and 
biodiversity net gain where possible. 

Document Pack Page 64



 

41 

 

A Well Maintained and Resilient Network 

131. The economic performance of the city-region depends on a functioning transport network. All 
assets, whether they are roads, rail lines, signals, interchanges, bus stops or cycle routes, need 
to be well maintained both to keep them in a safe and useable condition and to avoid the cost 
of replacing them unnecessarily. 

132. If a section of road, or a structure, is allowed to deteriorate, the impact on collisions (and 
therefore safety), vehicle damage, network resilience, travel comfort, network performance 
and the ‘liveability’ of an area, can be significant. Recent winter weather has caused severe 
and unpredictable damage, and exacerbated maintenance issues for roads and structures.  

133. On the rail network, a lack of spare capacity and alternative routes means that the impact of 
incidents is all the more disruptive. We will work to identify the locations where additional 
capacity could be beneficial in helping the network to recover from major incidents.  

134. Transport networks need to continue to provide a service even when planned or unplanned 
events intervene. When rail or tram services are unavailable due to a fault or engineering 
works, well publicised alternatives need to be available eg flexible ticketing allowing transfer to 
other modes/operators, or replacement services. When roads are closed (including closures 
due to flooding or snow) clearly signed diversionary routes are needed, along with information 
on the availability of alternative modes. Finally, when there are major visitor events the whole 
network needs to be managed (including provision of additional capacity where appropriate) 
to cope with much greater demand.   

135. In the winter, key roads have to be gritted and cleared of snow and gullies cleared, while rail 
and tram routes have to be de-iced. We will also need to adapt to different, or more extreme, 
weather, such as increased flooding, as a result of climate change.  Measures to reduce run-off 
from the highway will be important, eg planting trees, which have the potential to reduce run-
off by as much as 80% compared to asphalt. 

  

136. In addition, we recognise that oil is a finite resource and that there is a risk that future price 
volatility will impact on the cost of travel and hence the economy. Our proposals to encourage 
a shift to sustainable modes will reduce this risk. However, we also need to recognise that the 
increased electrification of transport, which brings environmental benefits, may place pressure 
on power supply in some areas and we need to work with the electricity industry to ensure 
that there is capacity. 

 

Our Ambition: To bring the transport network into a good state of repair, maintain it in that 
state and ensure that it is able to withstand unexpected events, exceptional demand and 
severe weather conditions. 

Policy 13: We will continue to deliver measures, and put in place appropriate 
management systems, to improve the reliability of the transport network. 
 

Document Pack Page 65



 

42 

A Safe and Secure Transport System 

Improving Safety 

137. Safety is a fundamental requirement of any transport system.  The immediate aim is to 
contribute to the achievement of national forecasts and targets, as appropriate for road safety, 
but our ultimate ambition must be to eliminate road deaths, as far as we can. We will also 
focus on preventing serious injuries to vulnerable groups, including addressing the dangers 
posed by motorised traffic.  

138.  
Working through the Safer Roads GM (SRGM) Partnership, which comprises the ten local 
authorities; TfGM; Greater Manchester Police (GMP); Highways England; the Greater 
Manchester Fire & Rescue Service; the North West Ambulance Service; and GM Health, we 
have been successful in reducing deaths and serious injuries to road users. The most 
vulnerable road users are pedestrians, cyclists, young drivers and their passengers, and 
motorcyclists. There is historic under-reporting of collisions involving pedestrians and cyclists, 
so the figures may be higher than we know.  

139. A key source of danger on our roads comes from motorised traffic.  Excessive speed is 
considered to one of the biggest problems in road safety.  Not only does it contribute towards 
the severity of injuries, but it also stops more people walking and cycling.  We will work 
closely with GMP to continuously improve data and intelligence to assist in the prioritisation 
of resources and interventions aimed at education and compliance.  We are also delivering 
education; training and/or engagement to audiences including motorcyclists; younger drivers 
and passengers; and older road users.  We also use geodemographic data to assist in the 
targeting safer roads marketing campaigns on careless driving; drink and drug driving; 
wearing a seatbelt; not using a mobile phone and speed. 

140. In 2020, we started work - alongside GMP - to conduct an in-depth study into the root cause 
of fatal traffic collisions, to develop an evidence base that will significantly improve our 
understanding and assist in the prioritisation of interventions and resources.  Work is also 
ongoing to develop an Outline Business Case (OBC) for a programme to upgrade the safety 
camera technology used to encourage compliance with speed limits.   

141. Safety must also be a fundamental consideration in the design of all new transport schemes 
and programmes. Where these involve the highway network, the needs of a range of 
different users need to be considered, making it particularly important to reduce conflicts 
between the most vulnerable road users and other traffic. TfGM’s Road Safety Audit 
procedure has been developed in collaboration with the ten local authorities, to ensure that 
Road Safety Audits are carried out in a consistent and systematic way across GM.  It sets out 

Our Ambition: To reduce deaths on our roads as close as possible to zero and ensure that 
poor perceptions of personal security are no longer a significant barrier to people using 
public transport or walking and cycling 

Policy 14: Working with partners, including through the Safer Roads GM 
Partnership, we will deliver initiatives aimed at improving safety on the highway 
network, with a particular focus on the most vulnerable road users. 

 

Document Pack Page 66



 

43 

the key principles for undertaking Road Safety Audits on Greater Manchester’s Key Route 
Network (KRN). The Road Safety Audit procedure ensures that operational road safety 
experience is applied during the design and construction process of new highway schemes on 
the KRN.  The procedure also applies to all relevant TfGM sponsored schemes such as 
Metrolink and transport interchanges. Maintenance also has safety implications, with 
potential for injury to pedestrians and cyclists from broken pavements or potholes. Safety 
must be a key consideration in our strategy to get more people walking and cycling. It is also 
vital in the design and operation of public transport services and waiting facilities, 
underpinning our mode shift ambitions. 

Improving personal security 

142. We recognise that security - and the perception of security - is an important element in 
persuading people to travel by public transport, or to walk or cycle. Personal security is also an 
important consideration in terms of the growth of jobs in the night-time economy, as people 
are travelling at a time when they may feel more vulnerable.   

143. We will continue to prevent and tackle crime and antisocial behaviour on Greater 
Manchester’s bus and tram network through partnership working between TfGM, local 
authorities, operators, Greater Manchester Police, Local Community Safety Partnerships, 
British Transport Police and Network Rail, to share information and safeguard the network. 
The pilot Travelsafe Partnership was launched in 2015, providing a dedicated team of police 
constables, police community support officers, special constables and security personnel to 
provide regular patrols.  Led by TfGM and GMP, the scheme uses data on crime and antisocial 
behaviour provided by contributing operators to target patrols in hotspot areas at key times 
and support front line staff. Where appropriate, legal powers are used to ban offenders from 
public transport and deliver restorative justice schemes following, or as an alternative to, 
prosecution. There is also a focus on preventative measures and youth education as to the 
dangers, impacts and consequences of crime and anti-social behaviour on public transport. 

144. Personal security is also an important element in the design of public transport vehicles and 
infrastructure. We will continue with programmes to upgrade interchanges through measures 
such as removal of blind spots, improved lighting, CCTV and customer help points, developing 
consistent standards across all our public transport networks. It is also important for 
pedestrians and cyclists, and personal security is therefore a key consideration in the design of 
new walking and cycling routes, eg in terms of lighting and natural surveillance. There is 
evidence that personal safety and security is a greater barrier to walking and cycling for certain 
age groups, such as teenagers. These concerns need to be addressed to increase levels of 
active travel.  

145. 

Security of property is also important and ensuring that car parks and cycle parking are secure, 
with good natural surveillance or CCTV, is essential for encouraging people to use them. 

  

Policy 15: Working through Safer Roads Greater Manchester (SRGM), we will 
facilitate the delivery of interventions to address road safety issues, with a focus on 
supporting those who are walking and cycling.  
 

 

Document Pack Page 67



 

44 

Our Greater Manchester Modal Principles for 2040 

146. Our GM Transport Strategy 2040 focuses principally on creating an integrated, well-co-
ordinated transport system which supports a wide range of different travel needs.  However, 
there are some modal principles which cut across the entire strategy and define our specific 
aspirations for bus, rail, Metrolink, active travel and highways. These are summarised in the 
graphic below, and explored further in the following sections. 

  

  

Document Pack Page 68



 

45 

Streets for All 
 

147. Streets for All provides an overarching framework for everything we do on streets in Greater 
Manchester. It is about making our streets easier to get around - and more pleasant to be in - 
for everyone who uses them, while achieving our ambition for 50% of all journeys in Greater 
Manchester to be made by walking, cycling and public transport by 2040. 

148. This people-centred approach to street design and road network management is needed to 
address the challenges that GM residents face: from not getting enough exercise - such as 
walking and cycling - to poor air quality and delays due to overcrowded public transport and 
congested roads.  

149. It is important to be aware that there is not a one size fits all solution to improving Greater 
Manchester’s streets, because they have different roles. Many of them also change in 
character throughout the day, across the week and along their length – at school drop off and 
pick up times, for example, or at times of the day when goods are being delivered to 
businesses.  

150. Some streets need to better fulfil their role as places, in which people come together to spend 
time: this means creating more opportunities for people to sit, relax, play and socialize; more 
plants and trees and less traffic dominated streets. Other roads – such as motorways, and 
other strategic roads – are much more about movement and need to carry vehicles on longer 
journeys to ensure that the impact of motorised traffic on local streets is minimised. The 
illustration below shows different types of streets in Greater Manchester.  

 

151. The biggest potential for change is for local neighbourhood trips (of 2km or less) where there 
are still large numbers of short car journeys which could reasonably be switched to walking or 
cycling. The commitments set out in Greater Manchester’s emerging Streets for All Strategy, 

Document Pack Page 69



 

46 

therefore, focus on enabling these types of journeys through good urban planning and 
measures to make streets safer and more welcoming, as follows:  

•  Our streets will provide a safe and connected cycling experience; 

• Our streets will enable people to benefit from an attractive and inclusive walking 
environment;  

• Goods will reach their destinations on time, with minimal impact on local communities;  

152. Our streets will facilitate a reliable, integrated and accessible public transport network, 
including reallocation of road space for bus priority, on-street tram routes, cycle lanes and 
wider footways.  Where we upgrade highways, we will include improvements for pedestrians, 
bus users and cyclists. We will also continue to support the introduction of 20mph speed limits 
in residential and other built-up areas where there is local support.  Such interventions will 
actively assist these modes by making them more reliable and safer and will help to make best 
use of available highways capacity by enabling more people to be moved more safely and 
more efficiently (see graphic below). It is important, however that the design of interventions 
is suitable for the function of the road, in terms of the amount of through traffic and whether 
it is a bus route. 

153. The shared use of highway space has the potential to cause conflicts between different users 
there is limited space available, for example crossing points. We will design schemes to 
reduce these conflicts as far as possible to protect the most vulnerable road users in 
particular. 

154. Such measures will, over time, change the look and feel of our local centres, encouraging more 
short trips that may be made on foot or by cycle rather than car.  The role of our roads in 
creating more attractive local places will increasingly be recognised rather than simply viewing 
them as transport links that allow the rapid movement of high volumes of vehicles.   Severance 
created by road traffic will also be reduced and the environment for local residents, businesses 
and their customers significantly improved. 

Future role of the car    

155. Greater Manchester’s population is expected to reach 3 million by 2030.  We need to plan for 
this population growth to ensure that it is not accompanied by a similar level of growth in the 
use of cars, which would have major negative impacts in terms of worsening congestion, road 
safety, air quality and carbon emissions. 

156. Over the coming years, Greater Manchester will invest in, and expand, its electric vehicle 
charging network to support the transition to electric vehicles. Work has been undertaken to 
guide the future expansion of a GM electric vehicle charging infrastructure network to 
support the promotion of sustainable travel, re-purposes existing public sector assets and 
avoids the risks with on-street charging, while also providing low cost charging and reduces 
maintenance costs. As part of Greater Manchester’s emerging Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure Strategy, we have set out some principles which are well aligned with this GM 
Transport Strategy 2040:  

Document Pack Page 70



 

47 

• Integrated 

• Environmentally Responsible 

• Inclusive and Customer Focused 

• Well Maintained and Resilient 

• Safe and Secure 

• Reliable 

• Healthy 

• Viable 

 

157. Even with a rapid move towards electric and low emission vehicles however, unconstrained 
growth in car use will not be an efficient use of our limited highways and will continue to cause 
congestion and conflict with vulnerable road users.  We must therefore design our urban areas 
around the needs of people and not traffic, requiring us to think differently about the long-
term role of our critical highways networks.   

158. At the same time as our population is growing, attitudes to owning and using a car are also 
evolving.  Many younger people no longer see car ownership (or indeed holding a driving 
licence) as essential. Growing, ageing and more affluent populations will also choose different 
ways to travel.  The growth of car clubs, the advent of online taxi dispatch companies, and the 
use of social media to arrange shared transport can provide transport on demand without the 
costs and responsibilities of car ownership and will help to shift attitudes over time.  This 
provides a great opportunity to develop a more integrated and flexible transport system which 
responds to the changing needs of Greater Manchester residents and businesses. 

 

159. Technological innovations in vehicle design will also change the way we use and operate our 
roads by 2040.  Smart vehicles equipped with technology that supplements the driver’s actions 
with autonomous safety features are already available. These can detect safety hazards and 
obstructions, maintain lane discipline and vehicle spacing, and override the driver’s control in 
certain situations such as when a possible collision is detected. There is potential to apply this 
technology to public transport. Companies are developing further stages of this technology 
that will take us towards fully autonomous vehicles connected to each other and to highway 
infrastructure, although this is some way off being proven in all road situations and there 
remain significant social, technological, legal and policy issues to resolve before it could be 
implemented.  We also need to be extremely cautious about the risks associated with fully 
autonomous vehicles, particularly if it results in higher levels of car ownership and use, as they 
may make modal shift much more challenging.  

160. By 2040, the widespread use of even semi-autonomous vehicles could significantly change the 
way in which we travel and the impacts of road transport.  If deployed carefully and based on 
long-term strategic objectives they have the potential to reduce road casualties, to make 
better use of limited road capacity, to smooth traffic flows, and to cut journey times and 
energy use.  Such benefits will only be achieved through partnership working between the 
public and private sector to ensure that vehicle technology development delivers Greater 

Document Pack Page 71



 

48 

Manchester’s wider objectives.  

 

161. Vehicle connectivity could be a significant future source of travel data enabling us to better 
manage demand and plan future needs.  The technology will also support changes to models 
of vehicle ownership and has the potential to extend access to opportunities for the young, the 
elderly and those with mobility difficulties. As the technology develops, it is also likely to bring 
significant changes to bus operations and to the freight and logistics sectors, improving levels 
of service and reducing costs.  We will work with partners to realise these benefits, which may 
be significant, but some caution will be required to ensure that this new technology is fully 
integrated into our transport system and does not undermine our multi-modal objectives. 

The Key Route Network  

162. Greater Manchester has a network of 9,000 kilometres of local highways and 180 kilometres 
of Highways England routes, which brings a particularly complex set of challenges, including 
managing demand for local, commuter and long-distance travel; balancing the needs of all 
users; in making sure our streets are as safe; and mitigating the environmental impact of 
traffic.  

 

163. The city-region’s road network is managed by a multiple agencies: ten local highway 
authorities, TfGM (who manage the traffic signals), and Highways England. Through the 2014 
Greater Manchester Growth Deal, the Greater Manchester highways authorities agreed to 
establish a Key Route Network (KRN) of local authority roads.  Since April 2015, TfGM has had 
responsibility for monitoring the performance of the KRN at a city-region level, under the 
oversight of GMCA. This monitoring will inform the development of consistent policies for 
network management and operation, and approaches to asset management and 
infrastructure investment and development for the roads most critical for the city-region’s 
economic development. The local authorities remain the Highway and Traffic Authorities for 
the KRN, however, with the associated duties and powers. They are also responsible for the 
other (non-KRN) local roads, which provide important links in, and between, neighbourhoods, 
centres and other destinations.  

164. The KRN comprises over 600km of highways, which represent about 7% of all local authority 
roads by route and 48% of A and B roads in Greater Manchester.  It carries around 64% of 
annual traffic using these A and B roads. The core of the KRN is provided by the Primary Route 
Network (marked in green on most road maps).  To this base have been added other sections 
of network considered of strategic importance to Greater Manchester, including:  

Policy 16: We will set out a clear strategy for the EV charging infrastructure network 
required to provide greater confidence to residents and businesses to invest in 
electric vehicles. 

Policy 17: We will provide a unified, Greater Manchester approach to managing the Key 
Route Network (KRN) of roads, in line with our Streets for All Strategy principles, and work 
with Highways England to co-ordinate this with the management of the Strategic Route 
Network (SRN). 

Document Pack Page 72



 

49 

• Significant road links to strategic employment sites and to adjacent areas outside the 

Greater Manchester boundary; 

• Bus priority corridors and high frequency bus routes;  

• All road links serving motorway junctions; and 

• Manchester Ship Canal crossings.  

 

165. TfGM, on behalf of GMCA, promotes the KRN, alongside the HE’s Strategic Road Network 
(SRN), to complement local rail, Metrolink and bus systems. This helps to improve network 
performance and supports economic growth. Consistent performance monitoring and 
reporting across the KRN will helps to shape integrated network management and 
maintenance policies that support strategic traffic movements across the KRN and SRN; 
safeguard the needs of adjacent communities; and promote GMCA’s modal shift policies.  

166. As part of the Greater Manchester Congestion Deal3, additional measures have been 
implemented to improve the way congestion is managed, including a 24/7 control centre to 
monitor Greater Manchester’s roads, investment in new traffic cameras and technology that 
work smartly to ease congestion and the implementation of specialist technology to keep 
buses running on time along the busiest corridors. 

167. An integrated approach to planning whole corridors, across local authority boundaries, will 
enable a coordinated approach to investment, so that highway improvements will be 
considered in a consistent way alongside public transport improvements. This will ensure that 

 

3 Details of the Greater Manchester Congestion Deal can be found at: tfgm.com/congestion 

Document Pack Page 73



 

50 

our highways investment and maintenance programmes are fully aligned in support of growth 
objectives.  

168. The non-KRN local roads will continue to be managed by the ten Local Highway Authorities to 
maintain and improve the efficiency, reliability and resilience of the network and balance the 
needs of all road users. This means ensuring communities have safe and easy access to work, 
healthcare, education and leisure and the impact of traffic on residential areas is minimised. 
The network needs to support the economies of town and district centres and accommodate 
the needs of new development. Our approach is based on making the best use of the existing 
network, and only building additional road capacity where it clearly supports economic 
growth. 

Goods and Servicing 

169. The economy depends on the efficient movement of freight - supplying goods for 
manufacturing, stock for retailers and other businesses, and home deliveries to residents.  

170. The industry is almost entirely owned and operated by the private sector and is highly 
competitive. It has a strong interest in achieving low cost, on-time deliveries, and initiatives 
and interventions will only be adopted if they do not impose disproportionate additional 
costs. Most freight is carried by road and these movements can cause congestion, carbon 
emissions, poor air quality and noise as well as leading to potential conflict with vulnerable 
road users such as cyclists. Road freight is a significant contributor to poor air quality due to 
the dominance of diesel fuelled vehicles. This is a problem in congested areas, as HGV 
emissions are markedly worse at lower speeds. The last mile of deliveries will, in many cases, 
need to be by road, but shifting more freight to sustainable modes would be desirable. 

171. However, Greater Manchester has very few rail or water-connected distribution sites and 
constraints on the rail network limit rail freight growth.  In the future, Northern Hub rail 
enhancements will increase freight capacity, enabling a tripling of freight trains to operate in 
Greater Manchester, should there be a demand for the available routes. In addition, the 
regeneration of the Manchester Ship Canal, to provide low cost access by water to Port of 
Liverpool (Liverpool 2), has the potential to take a proportion of freight traffic off the roads 
between the two cities. Port Salford incorporates a new railhead capable of handling 16 
container trains per day together with a new berth capable of handling existing barge traffic 
from the Port of Liverpool with short sea feeder ships.  

172. The structure of the Greater Manchester economy is changing towards a greater focus on high 
value-added manufacturing and service industries. Along with the rise of e-commerce, in 
particular for groceries and personal shopping, these changing trends in consumer markets 
have an impact on both the location of warehousing and goods handling facilities and the way 
goods are distributed, eg to homes and collection points as well as more traditional delivery to 
retail stores. The former trend has seen the rise of light commercial vehicles, rather than 
HGVs. 

Our Ambition: To enhance the role that freight plays in contributing to economic growth and 
ensure that it becomes increasingly sustainable, minimising its impact on the environment 
and on communities in Greater Manchester. 

Document Pack Page 74



 

51 

173. The challenge is particularly great in the Regional Centre where the very rapid growth in 
residents and workers will generate an increase in last-mile logistics. There will be a need to 
balance this demand for roadspace, with increasing demand from bus, Metrolink and active 
modes. A further issue is that increasing walking and cycling could increase the risk of collisions 
with freight vehicles. The timing of freight to minimise peak hour congestion needs to be 
balanced with the need to minimise the noise of deliveries on residents and the needs of 
businesses to receive goods at particular times.  

174. The expansion of logistics is as an opportunity for the Greater Manchester economy and the 
emerging Greater Manchester Spatial Framework has identified broad areas for future 
distribution and warehousing growth. This will increase the number of goods vehicle journeys, 
placing additional demand on the strategic road, KRN and local road networks, potentially 
increasing the need for additional maintenance and renewal. New logistics sites should ideally 
be accessible by rail and/or water, but some goods cannot be transported by these modes and 
for others it would not be practical due to timescales, routes and other issues. A further 
consideration is that any increase in rail freight will have an impact on demand for rail paths, 
potentially reducing capacity for growing passenger services. 

175. Through our Freight and Logistics Strategy we will aim to maximise freight’s contribution to 
economic growth and competitiveness.  In the period up to 2025 this will involve: improving 
journey times and reliability; keeping costs low; ensuring infrastructure is capable of meeting 
future growth and demand; increasing integration between modes and distribution centres 
and increasing Greater Manchester’s share of the logistics market. At the same time, the 
Strategy aims to minimise the social and environmental impacts of the industry by reducing 
emissions from road transport, reducing noise, traffic disruption and congestion for residents 
and improving safety for cyclists. Over the longer term we will seek to encourage modal shift. 

176. Better information is central to achieving our objectives. Our understanding of freight across 
Greater Manchester will be enhanced by working with partners such as Highways England and 
industry representatives. Meanwhile, we can assist the industry with operational planning 
through the sharing of live traffic data and encourage sustainable distribution through 
awareness campaigns, eg air quality, and driver training.  Our understanding of the needs of 
the industry will be improved through speaking to the sector though the logistics forums, both 
electronically and at events.  

177. A key intervention will be to maximise consolidation, whereby deliveries to the same location 
are bundled together or where goods are delivered to locations for onward distribution by 
smaller, low emission vehicles (including cycles or electric-assisted cycles in town and city 
centres) or for collection by individuals. This will reduce the numbers of large goods vehicles 
entering the city and town centres, reducing noise, congestion and air pollution. Supporting 
changes in procurement practices, such as in commercial waste collection and across the 
public sector will also have an effect. Proposals for freight and logistics are also discussed in 
Part 3 in relation to our spatial themes.  

 

Policy 18:  We will work, including through the GM logistics forums, to improve journey 
times and reliability for deliveries, and to reduce the environmental impact of logistics, 
including the promotion of modal shift. 

Document Pack Page 75

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/info/20018/greater_manchester_spatial_framework


 

52 

Priorities for highways investment 

178. Future investment in highways across Greater Manchester will reflect the vital role that the 
KRN plays in the economy and will ensure that that interventions required to maintain the 
reliability and safety of the network for all users – motorised and non-motorised - are brought 
to the fore.   

179. We will continue to explore investment in next generation technological in signalling and 
predictive traffic management, supported by real time operational intelligence across the 
network, and prepare for advances in vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-to infrastructure 
communications (eg autonomous vehicles).  We will also seek to invest in innovative junctions 
which support different modes in and around our local centres eg pedestrian count-down and 
pedestrian and cycle SCOOT4. 

180. Experience suggests that high growth in road traffic is not inevitable.  Between 1996 to 2013, 
traffic growth in Greater Manchester was only moderate at 10%, and off the motorway 
network there was a reduction in the distance travelled by motor vehicles. Improved provision 
for cycling, walking and public transport is required to make using active and sustainable 
modes a realistic alternative While building capacity in the existing highway network. New 
links and/or additional highway capacity will be needed in some locations, particularly to 
support new development. 

Role of Travel Demand Management in Reducing Highway 
Congestion 

181. We recognise that simply increasing highway capacity to meet an ever growing demand for car 
travel is not sustainable or, indeed, physically or financially practical. Instead we will 
increasingly need to apply travel demand management measures (TDM) to make better use of 
the capacity that is available, particularly during peak periods. Such demand management will 
also be vital to controlling demand for road trips and minimising congestion during periods of 
disruption, eg caused by roadworks or special events. 

182. We will continue to work with Highways England and with planning authorities to ensure that 
the impact of new development on the SRN, in terms of congestion, reliability and safety, is 
mitigated by ensuring appropriate measures are identified and delivered at an early stage. We 
will also work with partners, including operators, to identify measures which might contribute 
to managing demand, both short-term during planned events and works, and more 
permanently.  Short-term measures may encourage permanent changes in behaviour, so we 
will monitor the effectiveness of these measures. These may include marketing and 
communication behaviour change campaigns, engagement with businesses to encourage 

 

4 SCOOT – Split Cycle Offset Optimisation Technique; Pedestrian Scoot enables the adjustment of traffic signal timings 
automatically to extend the green pedestrian phase when large numbers of people are waiting, allowing more people 
to cross the road. ‘Cycle SCOOT’ detects the numbers of cyclists travelling along a route. This enables the traffic signal 
timings to be adjusted to give more green time when there are high numbers of cyclists at key junctions during peak 
times. Trials of this technology are underway in London. 

 

Document Pack Page 76



 

53 

retiming of journeys and car-pooling/car share; improved travel information; building facilities 
within new development to support public transport, walking and cycling; constraints on long-
stay parking in our key centres; and prioritising sustainable travel. 

 

183. We will continue to work with the Department for Transport and Highways England to 
maximise the potential to use Variable Message Signs to transmit messages about travel 
choices (eg stations with park and ride facilities), and to identify opportunities for improving 
access to public transport from the SRN.  We will also continue to work with partners to 
improve access to public transport, including enhanced park and ride provision and the 
evolution of park-and-ride towards multi-modal travel hubs that improve access and 
integration.  

Document Pack Page 77



 

54 

  

 

 

 

 

Policy 19: We will ensure our streets will be welcoming and safe spaces for all 
people, enabling more travel on foot, bike and public transport while creating better 
places that support local communities and business.  

 

Document Pack Page 78



 

55 

 

 

Bus priority and infrastructure 
184. As noted earlier, the bus has a very important role to play in the movement of people in 

Greater Manchester.  However, the potential value of buses can be reduced by traffic 
congestion. Providing the right conditions for buses While accommodating other demands on 
the road network is not straightforward. To support our aim of running a strong and reliable 
bus network, bus priority and infrastructure will continue to be a key focus. The movement of 
buses to, from and through town centres and into interchanges will be a priority as congested 
centres are often where buses are delayed the most. These centres also require a balancing of 
priorities with multiple competing demands such as parking, servicing, pedestrian- and cycle-
friendly facilities, public realm and landscaping.  

185. We will complete the delivery of the current programme of bus priority measures and we will 
continue to explore ways in which appropriate interventions such as bus lanes, adjustments to 
traffic signals, and changes to waiting and loading restrictions can help to free buses from 
congestion and improve their attractiveness to existing and new customers. We must also 
continue to improve our bus stops to improve the waiting environment for all passengers and 
to improve accessibility for those with mobility impairments.   

186. ‘Quality Bus Transit’ is a term used to describe whole-route upgrades of busy bus corridors, 
with an emphasis on quality, reliability, and integration into the urban realm.  In future, in 
Greater Manchester, it will offer similar quality of design to that of best-practice street-running 
light rail transit with bus priority to achieve reliable services, attractive stops and interchanges, 
and high-quality electric vehicles.  The high-specification double-deck vehicles used on the 
Vantage Leigh-Salford-Manchester bus rapid transit service have been very well-received by 
users, and vehicles of similar quality are likely to be appropriate for Quality Bus Transit 
services.    

Document Pack Page 79



 

56 

187. Quality Bus Transit is particularly suitable for busy bus corridors where a high proportion of 
trips are short, and it is therefore particularly relevant for routes connecting town centres. 
Since the orbital links between adjacent town centres need particular attention, Quality Bus 
Transit services are a high priority within the network improvements that we aim to deliver 
within the next decade.  These are shown in the Our Network vision launched by the Mayor of 
Greater Manchester in 2019. 

188. Following the introduction of the Bus Services Act (2017), the GMCA asked TfGM to carry out 
an assessment of a bus franchising scheme. After its completion and the conclusion of an 
independent audit the GMCA decided to proceed to with a consultation on a proposed scheme 
which ran from October 2019 to January 2020. Following consideration of responses from that 
consultation, the Mayor will be able to use the powers provided by the Act to make a decision 
on whether or not to introduce the proposed franchising scheme. 

189. Reforming the bus market could potentially improve bus availability, reliability and 
affordability. It also provides opportunities for more integration between the bus network and 
sustainable and active modes. This will be especially important as Greater Manchester 
recovers from the social and economic effects of Covid-19 and we move to rebuild a greener 
and more sustainable city-region. 

190. Work will also continue to investigate the detail of bus routeing around and through our major 
centres and to identify any interventions that can improve reliability. Supporting the 
movement of buses in and around these centres will complement the wider investment we 
will continue to make in transforming interchange and bus station facilities across Greater 
Manchester. 

 

Cycle infrastructure 
191. Our cycling strategy is to develop and deliver a Greater Manchester-wide network of 

dedicated, high quality, newly built or enhanced cycle routes. The Bee Network is the longest 
planned walking and cycling network in the UK and when complete, it will connect every 
neighbourhood of Greater Manchester with continuous, high-quality infrastructure for walking 
and cycling. It will provide a viable and attractive alternative to driving, enabling people to 
leave the car at home, visit friends on foot or ride to the shops.  The network is made up of 
three core components:  

i. Protected Space on main road corridors and town centre streets with protected links, 
junctions and public realm improvements;  

ii. Removing points of severance: crossings of busy roads or other points of severance to 
connect quieter streets; and 

iii. Filtered neighbourhoods, where walking and cycling is prioritised 

Policy 20:  Where feasible we will introduce appropriate bus priority measures on 
the highway network to improve bus reliability and will keep existing measures 
under review to ensure effectiveness.  This will include developing proposals for 
“Quality Bus Transit” corridors on key routes.   

 

Document Pack Page 80



 

57 

Powered two-wheel vehicles  

192. Powered two-wheel vehicles (PTW) - including power-assisted cycles, motorcycles, scooters 
and mopeds - have an important role as part of the overall transport mix. Their efficient use of 
road space means that they reduce congestion and they are also a lower cost form alternative 
to cars. They are particularly ideal for short journeys in urban areas. Small commuter scooters 
and motorcycles can provide better flexibility for longer journeys, and some e-bikes can be 
used for longer distance commuting. PTW users face many of the same issues as cyclists, 
however, particularly with safety, and accident rates are high.  

193. Micromobility vehicles – including as e-scooters and e-bikes – will increasingly form part of 
the solution to the congestion and air quality challenges our city-region faces. The use of e-
scooters, in particular, has become a more common sight on our streets, although using a 
private e-scooter vehicle on a public road remains illegal in the UK. In 2020, Government 
announced that rented e-scooters would be allowed on roads and cycle lanes for a trial 
period. Greater Manchester is supportive of this, subject to several conditions, including that 
the vehicles are safe, fulfil a useful function (modal shift away from private vehicles, for 
example) and are subject to appropriate regulation. 

194. We will continue to seek to improve the safety of PTW users through education initiatives such 
as Ridesafe Backsafe.  We will encourage adequate and secure parking for PTW in key 
locations, such as our town centres, and in new developments. Conditions for PTW using our 
main roads will be improved through our focus on investing in maintenance and on improving 
the resilience of the network.  

Maintenance and renewal 

195. With the development of the KRN, there is an increasing awareness of the economic value of 
our highways, and more importantly the future implications of neglecting it. If a section of 
road, or a structure deteriorates there can be a significant impact on collisions, vehicle 
damage, network resilience, travel comfort, performance and the ‘liveability’ of an area.  
Where this deterioration is on the economically vital KRN, the effects are magnified and start 
to have regional and national level impacts. 

196. We will work to improve and maintain the condition of our road network drawing on best 
practice, such as that set out within the Highways Maintenance Efficiency Programme 
(HMEP)5.  We will also continue to pursue a policy of Invest to Save.  Invest to Save is an 
approach to maintenance whereby capital investment funded through borrowing is used to 
renew highway infrastructure in order to overcome maintenance backlogs, arrest decline and 
bring the condition of the asset up to a high standard.  The renewed assets then require less 
maintenance work in the short/medium term thereby reducing future maintenance costs.  The 
objective is to reduce the total lifespan cost of the assets, and hence the overall unit cost per 
km of highway.  

 

5 HMEP is a £6 million, Department for Transport funded and sector led transformation programme which provides 
the tools and resources to generate ideas and help transform delivery of roads and services through greater 
efficiencies. 

Document Pack Page 81



 

58 

197. We will continue to explore opportunities to improve the efficiency of delivery in highways 
maintenance operations through collaborative working.  This will enable unit costs to be 
reduced, resulting in the delivery of more maintenance work on our roads than could have 
been achieved for a given budget under individual local highway authority management.  

 Resilience of the highway network 

198. A resilient network is one of our network principles. The highway network is highly sensitive to 
incidents and changes in demand; for example, peak hour flows can vary by 13% between 
summer holiday traffic and non-holiday levels. When combined with our growing economy 
and population, failure to make the road network resilient could result in the deterioration or 
failure of assets, increasing journey times and declining reliability, increased collisions and 
vehicle damage, and third-party costs.  

 

199. We will keep the vulnerability of our highway structures and road surfaces under constant 
review and ensure that new infrastructure is designed with in-built resilience.  In recognising 
that climate change will have an increasing impact over the period to 2040, we will work with 
partners to determine the key infrastructure assets (including roads) that might be at 
significant risk, identify and implement appropriate mitigation and agree service levels for 
various tiers of road infrastructure.  

200. We will continue to liaise with stakeholders to develop the highway works permit system 
(GMRAPS) to ensure effective coordination and to reduce the impact of works on the Highway 
Network. 

201. To ensure our customers are kept informed on the usability of our road network and the 
availability of alternatives, we will continue to develop our network management and travel 
information systems and provide real time open data to support development of travel 
planning by third parties.  These systems will be supported by a growing network of Variable 
Message Signs, passive detectors, traffic counters, ANPR6 and CCTV cameras, monitored and 
controlled through our Traffic Control Centre, and by our Roadwork Permit System (GMRAPS).  
These systems will also allow us to monitor our progress in meeting targets for the 
performance of the KRN in areas such as reliability, delay and network speed.  

 

6 Advanced Number Plate Recognition 

Policy 21: We will work to improve and maintain the condition and resilience of our 
road network, drawing on best practice. 

Document Pack Page 82



 

59 

  

Document Pack Page 83



 

60 

Developing a Comprehensive Walking and Cycling Network 

202. Throughout our 2040 Strategy, we place a strong emphasis on enabling people to travel more 
easily and safely on foot and by bike.  Achieving this will help to increase physical activity as 
well as reducing the significant numbers of very short car trips currently made in our towns 
and neighbourhoods, making them more attractive places to live, work and visit.  This will, in 
turn, reduce harmful emissions and traffic noise.  

203. This approach is strongly supported by national policy, as set out in the DfT’s Cycling and 
Walking Investment Strategy (CWIS)7. In 2017, that document set out ambitions to deliver:  

• Better Safety: ‘A safe and reliable way to travel for short journeys’; 

• Better Mobility: ‘More people cycling and walking- easy, normal and enjoyable’; and 

• Better Streets: ‘Civilised places where people come first’.  

204. In July 2020, DfT updated the CWIS by publishing ‘Gear Change: a bold vision for cycling and 
walking’8. The plan sets out actions required - to achieve its vision to ‘make England a great 
walking and cycling nation’ – under four broad themes:  

• Better streets for cycling and people; 

• Cycling and walking at the heart of decision-making; 

• Empowering and encouraging local authorities; 

• Enabling people to cycle and protecting them when they do.  

 
205. The Gear Change document is supported by the introduction of a comprehensive set of 

national guidance for cycling infrastructure: Local Transport Note 1/20, Cycle Infrastructure 
Design. This document breaks new ground in UK cycle planning by adopting a set of bold 
principles for cycle infrastructure design which bring UK design standards in line with those 
used in the Netherlands. 

206. National ambitions for walking and cycling are reflected in our Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040, with Part 3  showing the part that active travel needs to play in each of our five 
spatial themes: from access to public transport for longer distance journeys; to providing 
access to employment, education and other facilities; and, most importantly, becoming a 
mode of choice for short local journeys. Our Bee Network is already being constructed using a 

 

7 Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy, DfT: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-investment-strategy 
8 Gear change: a bold vision for cycling and walking, DfT: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycling-and-walking-plan-for-england 

Our Ambition: To  create a comprehensive network of on and off-road walking and cycling 
routes (known as the Bee Network) that make it easy and safe for people to walk and cycle 
to key local destinations, such as local centres, jobs, healthcare and education, for leisure 
purposes and to access public transport.   

Document Pack Page 84



 

61 

set of design standards which reflects, and even stretches further, the new national guidance 
contained in Local Transport Note 1/20. 

 

        

 

207. There has been significant investment in walking and cycling infrastructure in Greater 
Manchester in recent years, including transformational schemes such as those on the Oxford 
Rd/Wilmslow Rd corridor between central Manchester and Didsbury.  

208. In 2017, the Greater Manchester Mayor appointed the city-region’s first Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner, Chris Boardman. The Commissioner’s, Made to Move, report detailed fifteen 
essential steps required for Greater Manchester to see a step-change in walking and cycling. 

209. Following this, Greater Manchester’s local authorities used innovative planning techniques to 
develop the Bee Network: a bold plan to connect all communities in Greater Manchester by 
the UK’s first fully joined-up cycling and walking network. Importantly, the network was 
developed by the people who live, work and travel in Greater Manchester, with wide-ranging 
public consultation to refine and improve the plan.  

210. At 1,800 miles in length, the Bee Network will be the country’s largest walking and cycling 
network, taking 10 years to deliver at a total cost of £1.5 billion. When complete, it will 
connect every neighbourhood of Greater Manchester. With continuous, high-quality provision 
for walking and cycling, people will have a viable and attractive alternative to driving, enabling 
them to leave the car at home, visit friends on foot or ride to the shops.   

211. In 2019, the GMCA approved the allocation of £160 million from the Transforming Cities Fund 
to deliver walking and cycling infrastructure in line with the proposals in the Bee Network 
infrastructure plan and the emerging Streets for All strategy. Since then, a pipeline of c£500m 
of cycling and walking schemes has been developed, with a prioritised programme drawn 

Document Pack Page 85



 

62 

from this pipeline currently being developed for delivery by 2022. Continued efforts to secure 
further funding are needed, however, to to turn the bold vision of the Bee Network into 
reality. 

212. There is much more to do to create an environment which is truly pedestrian and cycle 
friendly.   In order to help deliver a higher proportion of journeys made by walking and 
cycling, Greater Manchester's authorities will support a range of measures, including:  

• Creating a cycling and walking network which is coherent, direct, safe, comfortable and 
attractive – the Bee Network – connecting every neighbourhood and community across 
Greater Manchester; 

• Ensuring routes are direct, easily navigable and integrated with the highway and public 
transport network;  

• Ensuring that pavements are easy to walk on and accessible to all, not blocked by parked cars 
and other obstructions; 

• Making our town and city centres pedestrian-focussed, where the impact of motor traffic on 
streets is reduced, creating attractive places to live, work and visit; 

• Creating, where needed, dedicated separate space for people cycling, with pedestrians and 
cyclists given priority at junctions using our new CYCLOPS (Cycle Optimised Protected Signal) 
junction. The first of these junctions was opened in summer 2020 in Hulme, and many more 
are prioritised for delivery by 2022; 

• Increasing the capacity of the walking and cycling network in locations where significant 
growth in the number of short journeys is anticipated, and where quality of place 
improvements are proposed;  

• Utilising and enhancing green infrastructure, including canals, parks and recreation grounds, 
to create opportunities for walking and cycling; and 

• Ensuring that new developments are fully integrated into the walking and cycling network, 
and are planned such that walking and cycling are the principal modes of access.  

213. The Bee Network will connect communities and key destinations with high-quality walking and 
cycling routes, suitable for use by an unsupervised competent 12-year-old cyclist, or a parent 
pushing a double buggy.  This can be achieved through:   

• Connecting existing quiet streets with new high-quality crossing points of busy roads and 
other sources of severance such as watercourses and railways. 

• Use of traffic-free routes, such as through parks or on former rail lines; 

•  Providing physically protection for cycle lanes on major roads using additional kerbs or 
other features  

• Creating low traffic active neighbourhoods through removal of through motor traffic by 
introducing modal filters 

214. Routes should not be shared by pedestrians and cyclists adjacent to motor traffic. Where 
routes are shared by pedestrians and cyclists away from motor traffic, for example on 

Document Pack Page 86



 

63 

bridleways or paths through parks, the safety of both sets of users must be considered in the 
design. This can be a particular issue for disabled people. In designing any new routes, we will 
also take opportunities to enhance public realm, and we will identify opportunities to provide 
new cycle facilities as part of new public transport routes. Principles for the development of 
the Bee Network, and all streets in Greater Manchester, are set out in our Streets for All 
guidance. The guidance will be periodically reviewed and updated to ensure it keeps pace with 
this rapidly developing area of highways infrastructure.   

215. Safety and security are of prime importance for pedestrians and cyclists. Our road safety 
programmes will continue to focus on reducing collisions involving the most vulnerable road 
users, which include these groups. We will also continue to introduce 20mph zones, where 
these have local support, including on Bee Network routes. Reduced traffic speeds will 
encourage more people to walk and cycle, and provide a safer catchment for the cycle 
network. However, 20mph speed limits alone may not be enough to reduce vehicle speed and 
we will seek to reduce motor vehicle volumes and speeds on residential streets through 
increased use of modal filters, which retain local access for all vehicles but allow only 
pedestrians and cyclists through access.  

216. Personal security is a key consideration in the design of new walking and cycling routes and 
cycle parking needs to be secure, well located close to key destinations, and with good natural 
surveillance. We will work to ensure that every cycling journey begins and ends with a 
convenient, secure and high-quality cycle parking facility. We also recognise that poor air 
quality can deter people from walking or cycling, and will work to reduce emissions as set out 
throughout this document. 

217. The school journey is one that can often be made on foot or by bike, and encouraging more 
active travel in this area is important in improving children’s health, as described in section 75. 
We will therefore work with secondary schools and Further Education colleges to improve 
cycle parking and access and promote a culture of cycling in the next generation. 

218. Almost all journeys involve an element of walking: to/from the station or stop or from the car 
park. Walking routes within our town centres need to be safe, secure and well signed. The 
legibility of our centres is important in making them attractive places to visit and in supporting 
the growing visitor economy and we will introduce wayfinding schemes accordingly.  

 

 

 

  

Policy 22: We will work with partners to improve walking and cycling facilities across Greater 
Manchester, including development of a strategic walking and cycling network (the “Bee Network”), 
wayfinding and cycle parking, and supporting “Streets for All” design guidance to ensure consistently 
high quality standards across the network. 
 

 

Document Pack Page 87



 

64 

Public Transport Integration: Keeping Greater Manchester 
Moving in 2040 

219. Improved public transport will need to play a major role in delivering Greater Manchester’s 
sustainable growth agenda up to 2040. An attractive, efficient and well-integrated London-
style public transport network is an essential element within the city-region’s infrastructure 
and at the heart of the Our Network vision.  Together with active travel, it can provide the 
significantly enhanced connectivity that our city-region requires for success.  It can encourage 
growing numbers of people out of their cars for more of their journeys (helping to reduce 
emissions and congestion), and it can provide access to employment, education and 
opportunities for the third of households without access to a car.  Crucially, however, our 
approach also opens the way for a future where car ownership is not considered to be 
essential, and residents can choose from a range of sustainable and efficient travel options – 
public transport, ride sharing, car sharing/hire, walking, cycling or taxi. 

220. 

Building on our recent investment, we will aim to deliver further transformational change in 
the quality, ease of use, coverage, accessibility and integration of our public transport 
networks to ensure we have a system fit for a modern, world-class city-region.  

Interchange 

221. In order to develop a more coherent access and interchange strategy for Greater Manchester, 
we have identified the most critical points of interchange on the public transport network, 
based not on transport mode but on the travel opportunities our interchanges facilitate.  Our 
approach builds on the principles of our five 2040 Spatial Themes (described in Part 3) to 
embed our transport interchanges far more into local places using the following tiered 
approach:  

Interchange 
Category 

Description 

1. Global 
Gateway 

Manchester Airport – provides the key entrance to Greater 
Manchester for international travellers, providing first and last 
impressions of our city-region.   

2. National 
Hubs 

Major interchange locations providing direct, mainline city-to-city 
rail connections. 

Our Ambition:  To develop a fully integrated, customer-focused, low-emission public 
transport network, with simple, integrated ticketing, that provides an attractive and 
accessible alternative to travelling by car to key Greater Manchester destinations.  

Policy 23: Working with partners, we will seek to establish and promote one integrated 
Greater Manchester public transport network (Our Network), making it easy for customers 
to plan, make and pay for their journeys using different modes and services. 

 

Document Pack Page 88



 

65 

3. Greater 
Manchester 
Hubs 

Our key town centres and other strategic employment locations, 
that provide opportunities for interchange to facilitate both radial 
and orbital public transport travel across Greater Manchester. 

4. Local Hubs Smaller local centres, and employment destinations, with 
potential for providing more local interchange  

5. Neighbourh
ood 
Gateways 

Local points of access to our Greater Manchester public transport 
network, such as local Metrolink stops, rail stations and key bus 
stops.  

222. The most strategic interchanges (Global Gateway, National Hubs and Greater Manchester 
Hubs) are highlighted on the map below.  This also shows key radial links and the orbital 
connections we need to improve in order to radically improve connectivity across Greater 
Manchester. There is significant potential for these interchanges to support far more orbital 
and radial travel if other barriers are addressed.  

 

223. We will build on the good work that has already been undertaken to ensure that our 
interchanges are of a consistent standard, with criteria developed for: walking and cycling 
(including wayfinding); parking (including drop-off for car and taxi passengers); passenger 
facilities; safety and security; information; and access for those with mobility impairments. Our 
approach will be tailored to local requirements, but will seek to provide a much more 
consistent and high-quality customer experience across Greater Manchester.   

Document Pack Page 89



 

66 

224. As we seek to improve the physical aspects of both local and strategic interchanges we will 
develop more detailed principles for each category of interchange, based on the following 
elements: 

• Excellent customer experience – making it easy and stress-free to access and move 
through an interchange, focusing on the design of entrance points, movement within an 
interchange, and opportunities for commercial or community use. 

• Reinforcing a sense of place – this means embedding the Greater Manchester transport 
network better within the local area by ensuring it is well connected and related to the 
surrounding area through high quality walking and cycling routes, appropriate car and cycle 
parking, and excellent wayfinding provision. 

• Inclusive and accessible – enabling everyone to use public transport equally, confidently 
and independently. 

• Minimising differentiation between modes, both physically, in terms of better integrating 
service patterns and information, and introducing a simple, integrated ticketing system, 
and in terms of perception, through consistent branding and communication.  

• Simplicity – through provision of easy-to-use information and easy-to-navigate design. 
Provision should be tailored to the unfamiliar customer, for the benefit of all users. 

• Tailored – to the needs of the customer and the local area.  

• Attractive – ensuring that customers feel safe, secure and confident in using the 
interchange and that there is a pleasant atmosphere.  

• Enhancing access through park and ride, or drop-off facilities - To be effective - and 
financially sustainable - park and ride needs to intercept cars before they reach congested 
urban roads and transfer their drivers to a fast and frequent public transport service. We 
will therefore identify additional park and ride and drop-off outside, or close to, the M60 
on existing or future rapid transit routes.  
 

 
225. The characteristics of the different public transport modes mean that each has strengths which 

make it best suited to particular travel markets. Bus, with its frequent stops, is best suited to 
serving shorter distances (up to around 6 kms), in dense urban areas. It provides direct travel 
into city and town centres and to major employment areas as well as access to rapid transit 
stations and stops, via interchanges. Sometimes it might be necessary to switch between 
modes to make a complete trip, and we want to make this as easy and integrated as possible. 
Over longer distances, (6-50kms) rapid transit offers significantly faster journey times than bus, 
while rail, with a limited number of stops, is the best option for long distance journeys. In 
planning new infrastructure and services, our aim is to make the best use of public funding by 
prioritising the modes which best serve each market. 

 

Policy 24: We will seek to ensure a consistent standard of facilities at transport hubs, 
appropriate for their size and function, and will work with partners to improve access to 
them by all modes. 

 

Document Pack Page 90



 

67 

Our Vision for Bus 

226. Bus travel currently accounts for four in every five public transport journeys in Greater 
Manchester. It plays a vital role in reducing congestion and improving accessibility for people 
who have no access to a car, but has the potential to contribute more effectively to our overall 
public transport strategy. In Greater Manchester, we have invested heavily in bus 
infrastructure and services. Modern, high quality interchanges have been built or are under 
construction in our main town centres, and this programme of renewal is almost complete. We 
have also provided extensive bus priority, through a network of Quality Bus Corridors and 
through the Bus Priority Package, which includes the Leigh to Ellenbrook Guided Busway.   

227. Working with bus operators, we have introduced smart ticketing for multi-operator tickets and 
to support this we have provided smart ticketing equipment to smaller bus operators. We have 
also provided support for a network of socially necessary services, which would not otherwise 
be provided by operators on a commercial basis, and provided concessionary fares in excess of 
the national statutory requirements. 

228. Despite considerable and long-term public investment in bus infrastructure, subsidy and 
service support - as well as investment by the major operators in new vehicles - patronage has 
dropped. This is despite significant population growth - and in sharp contrast with the growth 
experienced on rail and Metrolink.  

 

Our Ambition: To develop a modern low-emission accessible bus system, fully integrated 
with the wider Greater Manchester transport network on which everyone will be willing to 
travel regardless of their background or mobility level. 

Document Pack Page 91



 

68 

 

229. We need bus to attract more people out of their cars and to play a full role within an 
integrated public transport network to ensure that growth in locations like the Regional Centre 
is not undermined by congestion.  However, the multiplicity of operators means the bus 
network lacks a consistent identity and cannot be marketed either as a recognised brand, like 
Metrolink, or as part of a wider public transport network.  Moreover, a complex and ever-
changing ticketing offer, with higher fares charged for the tickets that allow passengers to use 
bus services provided by different operators, has done nothing to encourage passenger 
growth. This is in contrast with most other European cities where a simple and integrated 
ticketing offer is at the heart of their public transport.   

230. A review of secondary evidence on the barriers to bus travel, carried out for TfGM, shows that 
for people who have a choice in how they travel, the main reasons for not making more use of 
buses are as follows: 

Document Pack Page 92



 

69 

  

 

231. Since the introduction of bus deregulation, using its powers under the Transport Act 1985 and 
various instruments of partnership provided by the Transport Act 2000 and Local Transport 
Act 2008, TfGM has worked with bus operators to improve services, particularly with regard 
to bus priority, reliability and punctuality, vehicle standards and fares. 

232. Overcoming these barriers continues to be essential to enabling bus to fully play its part in 
realising the 2040 Transport Strategy. This means that it is vital to maintain investment in the 
bus network and improve public transport connectivity to employment and essential services, 
as well as improving the customer experience.  To do this, demand for public transport, 
including bus, must grow, facilitating modal shift from car to public transport, reducing 
congestion and harmful emissions.  To fully achieve these outcomes, evidence from other 
cities suggests that improved integration and investment can increase use of public transport 
and bring attendant benefits.  

233. Our vision for bus in Greater Manchester is based on four objectives. Our first objective is 
network integration – how physically integrated the services are between themselves and 
with other modes.  Our second objective is to deliver for passengers a simplified and 
integrated fares system, including transparency and operation across modes.  For passengers, 
our next objective is to offer a great customer experience. Finally, an efficient and growing 
network would achieve value for money, enabling investment to improve services.  These 
objectives define what is required of the bus network to enable it to fully play its part in the 
2040 Transport Strategy. They were endorsed by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
in 2018. Further detail is set out below. 

Network Integration 

• The bus network will be dynamic, developed in response to demand for travel, particularly 
to and from new areas of housing, employment, and education and training. It will include 
the provision of bus services where current or anticipated demand might not support 
commercially viable services, in order to achieve important social or economic objectives.  

• An integrated public transport network where services complement each other, will 
maximise connectivity opportunities. Buses acting as feeder services to rail and Metrolink 
services will extend commuting options and wider travel opportunities. This will create a 
clear and logical set of travel options for passengers. 

Document Pack Page 93



 

70 

• Appropriate levels of resource provided on routes will be aligned with levels of demand. 
Frequencies will be increased on some routes and at some times of day to better meet 
people’s needs, particularly for access to work and training. 

• Passenger convenience will be maximised, and journey times minimised, through the 
optimal location of interchanges, hubs and bus stops to ensure passengers can complete 
journeys requiring more than one trip or mode. 

• Network stability will be a key feature, giving customers the confidence to rely on their bus 
service. Changes to the network will be carefully considered, and their effects on the 
network as a whole understood before being made. 

 
234. Simplified and Integrated Fares 

• Bus passengers will benefit from a simple, integrated ticketing system that complements 
and enhances the integration of the transport network. It will be easy to understand for 
passengers, incorporating a simplified fare bands, and will allow flexible use of tickets 
across different bus services and other modes. This will enable longer and multi-modal 
journeys to be completed without excessive cost.  

• A ticketing strategy that allows the best possible demand management within and 
between modes will allow for best possible management of highway, rail and tram 
capacity. 

• Passengers will benefit from easy means of transaction, and swifter boarding, through 
more use of new technology, including their mobile devices and bank cards. It is important 
to ensure that ticketing adequately reflects changing travel patterns – eg Carnet products 
for those not working a five day week. 
 

Customer Experience 

• The bus network will be easy to navigate for all passengers, including visitors. It will also 
benefit from a unified brand within an overarching identity for the wider public transport 
network, making the system clearer for everyone.  

• The whole public transport network will be promoted effectively – travel choices will be 
simple to understand, and customers will be able to make informed choices, using the 
sophisticated travel information through digital as well as traditional methods. 

• A consistent and good journey experience will be achieved through high standards for on-
board facilities.  The journey experience will be further enhanced through passenger 
waiting stops and interchanges that are accessible, convenient, clean, comfortable and 
safe. 

• Passengers will feel confident that the bus will get them to where they want to be, on time, 
and that buses will turn up when they are scheduled to do so.  

• Bus performance will be improved through investment in bus priority on the highways. 
Management of the network in real time - through technology, to minimise service 
disruption and maintain an even service – will be rolled out further.  

• A modern, especially electric bus fleet to reduce harmful emissions to improve air quality 
and the customer experience. 

 
 

 

Document Pack Page 94



 

71 

Value for Money 

• The bus network will deliver optimal value for money both from the fares paid by 
passengers, and the different forms of subsidy.  

• By avoiding over-provision of buses on busy corridors, there will be more resources 
available for investment into the bus system, which could be used to deliver new services 
and passenger facilities. 
 

235. Following the introduction of the Bus Services Act (2017), the GMCA asked TfGM to carry out 
an assessment of a bus franchising scheme. After its completion and the conclusion of an 
independent audit the GMCA decided to proceed to consultation on a proposed franchising 
scheme which ran from 14 October 2019 to 8 January 2020.  

236. The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on Greater Manchester’s bus market, 
including timetables, revenues, passenger numbers and the public’s attitudes to public 
transport. Due to this, further work will be undertaken to assess the impact of coronavirus on 
the bus reform process. This work will involve further engagement and consultation with 
stakeholders. 

 

 
 

Policy 25: We will seek to make best use of powers included in the Bus Services Act, as 
well as our existing powers, to give effect to our vision for bus. 

Document Pack Page 95



 

72 

Coaches and Taxis 

237. Chartered coaches play a vital role in Greater Manchester’s visitor economy, bringing people in 
to visit shopping centres, leisure and cultural attractions and to attend events. Visitor numbers 
are growing, and we will work with operators and local authorities to ensure that coaches can 
set down and pick up close to their destinations and that accessible coach parking locations, 
with appropriate facilities and hours of operation, are provided and well signed.  

238. 

Scheduled coaches provide a lower cost alternative for longer distance journeys and have 
traditionally been popular with students and retired people. We believe, however, that there is 
scope for this role to grow in importance as we deliver our Vision for Bus. We will therefore 
explore the feasibility and scope for coaches or express buses to provide some of the medium 
to long distance journeys, to places like the Airport or the Regional Centre, on corridors where 
rail or Metrolink would not be feasible or affordable. This would probably entail bus services 
operating on a limited-stop basis. 

239. Taxis and private hire vehicles provide people with the flexibility of door-to-door transport on 
demand, without needing to use or own their own vehicle, and this role is likely to increase. 
They are therefore an essential component of the transport network: facilitating  journeys 
where there is no suitable bus service, supporting the night-time economy by allowing people 
to leave their cars at home; providing the final leg of a journey by rail or air; and acting as a 
backup when a change is needed to travel arrangements. As described in section 126, the 
growth of on demand companies is revolutionising private hire by providing customers with 
greater flexibility. Greater Manchester needs a vibrant and high-quality taxi/private hire 
service and we will explore with the industry how new booking systems might be included in 
our Travel Choices offer. 

240. In recognition of their role in supplementing the public transport network, hackney cabs are 
allowed to use ‘with-flow’ bus lanes in Greater Manchester (as they can be ‘hailed’ - so can 
pick up on the street). This freedom cannot be extended to private hire vehicles for a number 
of reasons. There is no limit on the number of PHVs that can be licensed (there are currently 
around 16,000 in Greater Manchester), and allowing a significant number of additional 
vehicles into bus lanes would erode the benefit to buses, which is their primary purpose, and 
create additional conflicts with pedestrians and cyclists. Also, if selective vehicle detection bus 
priority, such as at pre-signals, were to be introduced, the signal would turn green for buses, 
but a PHV in the bus lane would not activate the signal, leading to the danger of red light 
running.  

241. Hackney cab licenses are issued by each of the ten licencing authorities, who also determine 
the location of taxi ranks. Each authority sets its own standards; eg the number of licenses 
issued, the age of vehicles and the area in which they can operate. Our long-term aim is to 
achieve more consistency across the conurbation, in order to provide a better, more 
integrated service to the customer and to ensure that taxis entering the Regional Centre and 
main town centres meet the highest environmental standards. We will work with the ten 
licensing authorities and the taxi/private hire industry to develop more consistent standards, 
building on best practice from elsewhere in terms of policy/regulation and operation. There 

Policy 26: We will seek to ensure that accessible coach parking and set down/pick-up 
points are available at key locations. 

Document Pack Page 96



 

73 

will however be a need to ensure that higher standards are not undermined by vehicles 
registered in neighbouring authorities operating in Greater Manchester.  

 

242. Our network of canals provides traffic-free routes through the urban area and may have 
potential to add to the transport offer by enabling water taxi services, which can be attractive 
for leisure trips. Where private sector proposals of this type are developed, we will seek to 
ensure integration with the wider transport network. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our 2040 Rapid Transit strategy 

 

243. Rapid transit – which presently comprises Metrolink, suburban services on the National Rail 
network, and bus rapid transit – has been a critical in supporting economic growth and housing 
market renewal in Greater Manchester. Metrolink has proved highly popular carrying over 40 
million trips per year with services that are accessible, fast, and frequent with a high degree of 
segregation from other traffic.  

 

244. Building on the core Metrolink network, serving routes from Manchester City Centre to 
Altrincham, Bury, Eccles and MediaCityUK, further extensions have now been completed and a 
Second City Crossing through central Manchester opened in 2017. A further line to Trafford 

Our Ambition: To extend the benefits of rapid transit to more areas of Greater Manchester 
and provide the capacity and reliability needed to support growth in the economy.  

Policy 27:  We will work with the taxi and private hire industry to develop minimum 
standards for policy, regulation and operation across Greater Manchester, and work 
with Government to strengthen national legislation. 

What is Rapid Transit? 

We define rapid transit as a public transport service that is mainly focused- on middle-distance trips (of 
6km to 40km) and which therefore needs to be significantly faster than an all-stops bus service.   

Metro services are turn-up-and-go rail-based rapid transit services which provide excellent access to the 
network hubs that they serve. One example of this is Metrolink in Greater Manchester.  

  

Document Pack Page 97



 

74 

Park opened in 2020, and we are investigating whether this can be extended towards Port 
Salford, where future development is planned. 

245. The Metrolink Second City Crossing has helped to increase capacity at the heart of the 
Metrolink network.  The Second City Crossing has also improved system flexibility and 
resilience in the critical core area of the Metrolink network. The potential disruption caused by 
future maintenance and replacement works will be mitigated by having more than one route 
across the city centre. System reliability and resilience will be a recurring theme for Metrolink 
over the period of the 2040 Transport Strategy. Further interventions will be identified and 
developed where they represent value for money and have clear potential to enhance the 
performance of the network. We will manage our Metrolink systems and assets in accordance 
with sustainable development principles, including their long-term financial, societal and 
environmental impacts. The effectiveness of TfGM’s approach to delivering Metrolink services 
including stewardship of the assets will be measured and improvements identified. By 
reviewing and adjusting our approach to operations, maintenance and renewals we will ensure 
Metrolink network consistently delivers the required services.   

246. We will aim to expand the coverage and capacity of our rapid transit network to deliver 
improved access to employment and other opportunities within the city-region. This will 
support a transformational level of growth in the conurbation, for example by connecting 
residents of the north of Greater Manchester with jobs in the centre and south. Further rapid 
transit improvements will need to both shape and respond to future development.  The high 
cost of constructing and operating new rapid transit lines means that we must undertake 
detailed analysis of potential, based on future patronage and the scope for offering 
substantially faster journeys than could be achieved by an all-stops bus service.  We will also 
need to significantly improve rapid transit capacity within central Manchester, to ensure that 
current capacity constraints do not affect Metrolink’s ability to accommodate long-term 
growth on existing and future lines (see section 288). 

247. 

For rail-based rapid transit – whether Metrolink, suburban National Rail services, or other 
potential future types of metro - we will aim to deliver at least a 15-minute service frequency 
on all key corridors into the city centre throughout the day (Mondays to Saturdays, 0700-
2330).   We will consider the potential for converting appropriate suburban National Rail 
services to metro operation.  That could be achieved by operating tram-train services on the 
National Rail network, or the introduction of other types of metro service using new 
infrastructure in the Regional Centre, potentially including a metro tunnel.  Conventional heavy 
rail services on the National Rail network will remain very important, and improvements to 
both the capacity and connectivity of those services will be needed. 

 

248. Over the period up to 2040, we will be taking a much broader view of rapid transit, focusing on 
delivering the most appropriate, integrated public transport network to meet the needs of 
different parts of the city-region.  More detail on how rapid transit will be developed to create 
that network is set out in the Rapid Transit Strategy. 

Policy 28: We will seek to expand the coverage and capacity of our rapid transit network 
(Metrolink, Rail and Bus Rapid Transit), to deliver improved connectivity to employment and other 
opportunities within the city-region. 

Document Pack Page 98



 

75 

 

 

249. Changes in rapid transit technology and operating practices mean that the traditional 
boundaries between heavy and light rail and bus will become increasingly blurred.  That 
enables us to focus on providing the right rapid transit system to meet existing and future 
travel markets to support significant population and economic growth.  

250. In the medium term, tram-train offers the potential to deliver metro services to more areas 
without building new rail lines.  A tram-train approach can help to improve access to the core 
of the city centre at peak and off-peak times, while also releasing valuable capacity on the 
National Rail network.   

251. Where demand is not sufficiently high for rail-based rapid transit, bus rapid transit or express 
bus services - typically utilising a mix of segregated busways and other forms of bus priority - 
can offer many of the same benefits with much lower infrastructure costs. They may also serve 
to build up demand for rapid transit to a point where a Metrolink extension can be justified in 
the future.  

252. The Regional Centre will continue to be the major hub for rapid transit services due to its high 
concentration of trip attractors, and its role as the key interchange in Greater Manchester’s 
public transport network.  As new city-to-city rail services are introduced (eg HS2 and Northern 
Powerhouse Rail services), the Regional Centre’s role as a hub will become even more 
important.  A key objective of the Rapid Transit Strategy is to improve connectivity with 
network hubs, maximising the benefits of new inter-urban rail services to Greater Manchester 
by fully integrating them with our existing and future public transport network.   

253. In the longer-term, the growth of Manchester Airport and the Enterprise Zone means that the 
Airport has the potential to become a second rapid transit hub in Greater Manchester. Airport-
focused rapid transit services could provide more orbital travel for Greater Manchester’s 

Document Pack Page 99



 

76 

residents and visitors.  We will continue to explore opportunities for delivering more orbital 
rapid transit services via the Airport over the coming months and years.    

254. Our priorities for extending the capacity and coverage of the rapid transit network will include: 

• Providing additional cross-city capacity in the Regional Centre for existing and future rail-
based rapid transit services, potentially by means of tunnelling. 

• Converting those suburban rail lines serving the Regional Centre which have a relatively 
poor financial performance to metro-style services, where there is a good financial case 
and the potential to attract both peak and off-peak patronage, achieved by track-sharing 
between light and heavy rail services.    

• Providing additional capacity to accommodate growth on remaining suburban National Rail 
rail services to the Regional Centre.  Capacity on the National Rail network will be released 
by converting selected suburban rail lines to create new metro services that avoid the 
Northern Hub rail bottleneck, but other capacity enhancements on the National Rail 
network will also be needed. 

• Ensuring excellent local rapid transit connections with Northern Powerhouse and HS2 Rail 
services via a network hub at Piccadilly. 

• Building new sections of rapid transit route, but only where there are opportunities to 
provide substantially faster journeys to major population or employment centres than 
could be achieved by a stopping bus service.  

• Developing new bus-based rapid transit routes to serve major population and employment 
centres poorly served by existing rapid transit. 

 
• Developing Manchester Airport as a second Greater Manchester rapid transit hub in 

support of the Airport’s growth strategy, which will create opportunities for new orbital 
bus- or rail-based rapid transit services from other Greater Manchester network hubs, and 
support growth areas in GMSF.     
 

  

Document Pack Page 100



 

77 

National Rail services 

Our Ambition: To develop a rail network with the capacity, reliability, speed, resilience and 
quality to support growth in the Northern economy and extend the benefits of HS2 and 
Northern Powerhouse Rail throughout Greater Manchester. 

255. The National Rail network in Greater Manchester plays an important role in supporting 
economic growth, in particular providing quick access into the Regional Centre and main town 
centres and linking the conurbation to other major cities.  Suburban services on the National 
Rail network form an important part of Greater Manchester’s rapid transit network.  Greater 
Manchester is also served by an extensive network of rail inter-urban services – both for 
regional trips to nearby cities and long-distance services to destinations such as London, 
Glasgow, and Edinburgh.    

256. In recent years, there has been a significant growth in patronage, increasing by over 30% in the 

last decade. The rate of growth in the use of rail in the North, especially into major centres, has 

in fact outpaced that in the South East. Prior to Covid-19, this overall trend was continuing 

despite extended periods of poor performance and disruption. 

257. Improving reliability will be key in continuing this role, but there is a need to address the 
resilience of the network. The dis-investment in the UK rail network from the 1960s through to 
the 1990s saw spare capacity beyond that required to operate a limited service pattern 
removed from the network. The renaissance in rail use since then has meant that significantly 
more trains are running through the same network, so that disruption is magnified and there is 
limited scope to avoid major incidents or seek alternative routes. We will continue to assess 
the key vulnerable locations on the network where additional capability could bring a step 
change in network recovery from such incidents, ensuring much greater resilience. 

258. Lack of investment means that the capacity needed for both resilience and future growth is 

increasingly an issue. In addition, the quality of rolling stock and passenger facilities is 

inconsistent, often offering a poor experience to the public. While some of these issues have 

been addressed by the Northern and Transpennine rail franchises that began in April 2016 and 

as part of the Northern Hub package of work undertaken by Network Rail, there still exists 

significant opportunities to improve the network and services. 

259. In 2019 the Greater Manchester Rail Prospectus set out the city-region’s priorities for its rail 

network. These included improving infrastructure and rolling stock; increasing passenger 

numbers into the Regional Centre; working with rail and community partners to improve 

stations, increasing services to Manchester Airport and delivering local turn-up-and-go 

services that operate at least four trains an hour. The Prospectus also sets out the 

opportunities provided by rail reform and greater local control. 

260. While Greater Manchester has benefitted from recent major Network Rail investment in the 

Northern Hub, which included the construction of the Ordsall Chord and the electrification of 

the North West Triangle to Liverpool and Preston via Bolton, there are still a significant 

number of delayed or postponed infrastructure projects. These include the delivery of 

Document Pack Page 101



 

78 

enhancements to the Castlefield corridor between Manchester Piccadilly and Oxford Road and 

the Transpennine Route Upgrade between Manchester and York. 

261. The Northern Rail franchise, which commenced in 2016, represented a significant step towards 
achieving many of Greater Manchester’s strategic rail priorities.  It included commitments for 
major investment in new rolling stock for local services and a step-change in service levels on 
many local routes, especially during the inter-peak, evening, and weekend periods. While the 
franchise was terminated early in 2020 and replaced by a government run Operator of Last 
Resort (OLR), we will continue to lobby for these commitments to be delivered as planned. 

262. The long-term sustainability of the local heavy rail network is likely to depend on continuing 

recent progress in reducing its need for subsidy. Some of the lines that are likely to be the 

weakest financially may also offer some of the best prospects for attracting additional demand 

via light-rail metro-style operation. This can – as seen recently with the conversion of the 

Oldham Loop line to Metrolink where patronage has more than tripled – attract more demand 

and revenue outside the travel-to-work peak periods.  

 

263. The Government has recognised the need for faster journeys between the major northern 

cities. Local authorities and TfN are working together to agree what is needed to benefit that 

wider area, with the aim of developing a Northern Powerhouse Rail network. Improvements 

would be delivered progressively, through franchise specifications and input to ongoing 

railway planning processes and through supporting activities of local authorities. 

264. The fact that many of Greater Manchester’s rail stations offer poor customer facilities deters 

some users. Because rail franchises are relatively short-term, train operators have little 

incentive to invest and improve access as there is insufficient time to recoup that investment. 

We therefore believe that the interests of the customer would be best served by TfGM 

operating stations on a long lease instead. This would enable longer-term programmes to be 

developed to bring stations up to a consistent standard that align with the standard provided 

for other modes.   

 

 

 

  

Policy 29: We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail, train operators and with other local 
authorities across the North of England in order to secure our strategic priorities and to deliver 
greater local accountability for all rail-based services.  

 

Policy 30:  We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail and Transport for the North to secure 
greater local control of rail stations within Greater Manchester exploring the use of any opportunities 
which may arise from the Williams Review of the Rail industry. 
 

Document Pack Page 102



 

79 

Part 3                                                                                         
Our 2040 Spatial Themes: Challenges and Interventions 

Introduction 

265. This section builds on the Greater Manchester-wide strategic principles and policies set out in 
Part 2.  Part 3 is structured around five types of trip (called spatial themes - as introduced in 
our 2040 Vision) to enable an integrated set of interventions to be developed to address 
specific issues in different parts of the city-region and for different types of travel: 

Our 2040 Spatial Themes 

 

 

266. Besides local connectivity, Part 3 covers the need for better links to ports, airports and the 
Channel Tunnel to improve our overseas trade and tourism connectivity, alongside 
transformed links to other UK cities to deliver the crucial access to markets for labour and 
goods that our city-region needs. 

267.  Within Greater Manchester, the Regional Centre has a critical role as a major transport hub as 
well as being the largest centre for employment and a major focal point for long-term 
economic and residential growth, and it therefore has specific transport needs.  Also important 

Document Pack Page 103



 

80 

is access to the main town centres and other employment locations as well as to facilities like 
hospitals and colleges.  Within neighbourhoods, the short trips made from home to local 
centres and facilities are essential to quality of life.  Access to public transport – whether to rail 
stations, Metrolink stops, or bus stops – also requires attractive links, especially for walking, at 
a neighbourhood level.  The five journey-types shown in the diagram above, and the 
improvements we plan to make for each of them, are discussed in more detail in the following 
pages. 

268. To reflect their specific characteristics, it is intended to add a sixth spatial theme, comprising 
trips between and within major town centres in Greater Manchester.  That will require some 
further technical work. A common theme throughout Part 3 is the need to allocate roadspace 
efficiently on our transport networks and minimise the negative impacts of traffic on our 
communities, particularly as our city-region experiences economic growth over the coming 
decades.  This will need a concerted effort to improve the attractiveness of our sustainable 
transport networks by providing the right infrastructure to support our growth agenda and 
locating new development in locations that do not depend on cars, while also carefully 
managing demand across our transport system.     

 

  

Document Pack Page 104



 

81 

Global Connectivity 

Our Ambition is to support growth at the Airport and the adjacent Enterprise Zone by: 
bringing many more people within a 1hr and 2hr rail journey time; to improve the reliability 
of the highway network near the Airport; and to ensure that public transport services better 
meet the needs of Airport customers and employees. Fewer people will drive to work at the 
Airport, with transformed sustainable transport connectivity from across Greater 
Manchester and beyond.       

The Atlantic Gateway corridor will be developed to maximise the sustainable movement of 
goods by water and rail.  We support the development of the Port Salford area as a tri-modal 
(rail, water and road) logistics park and development zone to improve access to global 
markets via the Port of Liverpool.   

269. In our 2040 Vision for Transport, we highlighted the importance of Greater Manchester’s 
connectivity to global markets to enable our city-region to compete effectively on the world 
stage and to rebalance the UK’s economy.  The Greater Manchester brand is already strong 
around the world and we have a huge opportunity to capitalise on this by attracting further 
international inward investment and tourism.   

270. Greater Manchester is also an important strategic location for international freight through 
our excellent connectivity by air, sea, road and rail. Through further targeted investment in our 
transport infrastructure and services, we can build on this strategic advantage to the benefit of 
our residents and businesses.   The rest of this section focuses on how Greater Manchester can 
support improved global connectivity for freight and passengers via Manchester Airport and 
the Manchester Ship Canal. Improving access to global gateways will, of course, also depend 
on improved access from across Greater Manchester and to and from other city-regions, 
notably to London for the Channel Tunnel (see Delivering Better City-to-City Links) and to Hull 
and the North East Ports. 

Manchester Airport and Enterprise Zone 

271. Manchester Airport plays a pivotal role in providing access to international markets from 
Greater Manchester and across the North of England, and is therefore central in delivering a 
strong economy.  Before the Covid-19 pandemic, it employed more than 20,000 people on 
site, with an estimated further 45,000 supported jobs in the wider region and a GVA 
contribution to the UK economy in excess of £925m. As the third busiest airport in the UK, 
and with c.8.9 million people living within a one hour drive-time, and nearly 22 million within 
a two hour drive-time, Manchester Airport is also a major asset for the whole of the UK. 

272. The Airport already provides access to a range of international destinations: before the Covid-
19 pandemic, over 70 airlines operated to around 200 destinations worldwide. Direct flights 
are operating or planned to important growth economies around the world: North America, 
the Emirates, Singapore, Hong Kong and mainland China.  It also offers highly flexible, 
affordable short-haul access to European cities and attracts passengers from across the North, 
North Wales and parts of the Midlands.  The Airport plays an important freight role handling 
over 117,000 tonnes of air cargo annually, much of it high value or time sensitive.   

Document Pack Page 105



 

82 

273. Manchester Airports Group (MAG) has ambitious plans to grow its passenger market from 24 
million trips per annum in 2016 to 45 million, delivering over £2bn to the UK economy and 
providing up to 60,000 jobs in the wider region.  Unlike major UK airports in the south-east, 
Manchester Airport has spare runway capacity and therefore has enormous potential to 
rapidly expand its role without the need for major investment in potentially contentious new 
runway capacity.  MAG is delivering a transformational £1bn investment plan into its Airport 
facilities to maintain and enhance its world-class position and to secure further new airlines 
and routes into Manchester.   

274. However, the full potential of Manchester Airport will only be realised if local and regional 
access to the gateway matches the quality of the transformed Airport.  Although there has 
already been significant investment in connectivity to the Airport in recent years more will 
need to be done.  In particular, we will need to improve connectivity by public transport to 
enable both passengers and employees to travel easily and seamlessly to the Airport without a 
car, coupled with demand management, to ensure that congestion does not undermine the 
Airport’s long-term growth.  Connectivity improvements and demand management will also 
support sustainable economic growth at the Greater Manchester Enterprise Zone (GMEZ), and 
at Davenport Green (which has potential for office and residential development), both 
adjacent to the Airport.    

 

A Gateway to the North of England 

275. Global connectivity, particularly via Manchester Airport, is vital to supporting long-term 
economic growth in the North of England.   Better rail connectivity to Manchester Airport is 
particularly important to allow quick and easy access from throughout the North of England to 
a wide range of international destinations served by the Airport. 

276. HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail proposals will transform rail connectivity to the Airport 
from across the North of England and the UK, unlocking new jobs and productivity.  More 
frequent and faster rail services will help to increase the effective population catchment area 
of the Airport, supporting the case for introducing new inter-continental trade routes, and 
thereby boosting the economic potential of the North of England. 

277. Any new rail connections must be carefully planned to ensure that they integrate well with 
existing rail and road networks.  Committed electrification and infrastructure schemes in the 
North West provide enhanced links to Huddersfield, Leeds, and York using faster and longer 
trains, while completion of the committed Northern Hub capacity improvements will permit 
better cross-Manchester rail links to the Airport.  Supporting infrastructure improvements, 
such as platform lengthening at key rail stations in the North, will be necessary to maximize 
the benefits of these rail improvements.   

The Greater Manchester Enterprise Zone (GMEZ) 

The GMEZ comprises a number of sites, including Airport City North,; the World Logistics Hub (with 
potential for 1,500 jobs); an advanced Medipark to the south of Wythenshawe Hospital; and a string of 
other developments, which cover areas such as Roundthorn Industrial Estate, Wythenshawe Town 
Centre and Atlas Business Park.  Davenport Green, the proposed location of the Airport HS2 station, is 
another longstanding potential major development site to the west of the M56 which will require 
significant investment in sustainable transport.  

Document Pack Page 106



 

83 

 

 

278. TfGM, Transport for the North and other key transport agencies - such as Highways England 
and Network Rail - continue to work closely with MAG to identify opportunities to improve the 
quality of the entire door-to-door passenger travel experience, from providing excellent 
information on how to travel to the Airport (and on travel times and delays); through to 
seamless, integrated smart ticketing.  We must make it as easy as possible for people to plan 
their whole journey in advance and to encourage the use of more sustainable travel wherever 
possible. 

279. The strategic road network also plays a crucial role in accessing the airport.  Reliability of 
journey times to the airport is particularly important.   We will need to work closely with 
Highways England to maximise the benefits to connectivity and capacity from the A556 
improvement and M56 Junctions 6-8 Smart Motorway; and to develop strategic priorities for 
improving airport access, better managing demand for travel by car, and dealing with existing 
and potential bottlenecks on our motorways.   

Links to the Regional Centre 

280. Excellent connectivity from the Regional Centre to Manchester Airport is vital in order to 
maximise global trade with Greater Manchester.  Travel between the Regional Centre and the 
Airport must be as seamless and as customer oriented as possible to secure the greatest 
benefits.  This must include fast, high-quality rail links, with journey times competitive with the 
car, and seamless interchange both at the Airport and within the Regional Centre.  Public 
transport services should be tailored to integrate with flight times and with worker shift 
patterns as much as possible, which will require 24-hour a day operation on key services.    

Document Pack Page 107



 

84 

281. We will consider other potential travel options, such as express bus and coach services; new 
models of car club operation and car sharing; and taxi provision to provide alternatives for 
international travelers.  All travel options must be carefully designed and marketed to make 
them as easy to use as possible, particularly for those unfamiliar with Greater Manchester.   

Access to employment at Manchester Airport 

282. If Greater Manchester is to benefit fully from access to global trade and new jobs at the 
Airport and Enterprise Zone, the area must be accessible from across the city-region.  This will 
require improvements to both orbital and radial public transport, supported by appropriate 
ticketing and fares.  This will need investment sustainable transport to attract workers out of 
their cars.  Car sharing could also have a major role to play in improving access to employment 
at the Airport.  Use of public transport and car sharing can be further incentivised through 
carefully car parking management, which will be crucial as activity in the area increases and 
the local highways come under further pressure.    

283. Local connections from surrounding areas (such as Wythenshawe, Baguley and Benchill) are 
also very important to ensure good access from more deprived areas to jobs at the Airport.  
Improvements to walking and cycling will be high priorities.  

• Key Supporting Evidence 

• Manchester Airport Sustainable Development Plan forecasts significant long-term growth 
in demand for travel from Manchester Airport. 

• Data on time of travel for passengers arriving and departing the airport suggests a 
significant peak in demand before the morning peak period (eg between 6-7am) and early 
to mid-afternoon.  

• Vehicle flow data for M56 shows that airport traffic (staff and passenger car trips) do 
contribute to peak hour congestion and increasingly unpredictable journey times are 
forecast over the coming years on the SRN in the vicinity of the airport. 

• Journey to work data for the Airport and surrounding area highlights extremely high levels 
of car dependence for commuter trips.  

• If Manchester Airport reaches its goal of 45million passengers per year and achieves its 
mode share targets, there would be c.60% more car trips by airport workers than at 
present (the increase may be somewhat lower if airport worker productivity significantly 
increases).  This does not include additional traffic from Airport City, A556, A6MARR, 
Wythenshawe Hospital and HS2. 

• Public transport journey times from most of Greater Manchester (except Wythenshawe 
area, Manchester City Centre and Stockport Town Centre) are significantly greater than by 
car during off-peak periods, and from many areas are longer than most people would be 
prepared to spend travelling to work.    

 

Atlantic Gateway and Port Salford 

284. Port Salford is located on the western edge of Greater Manchester and is part of the Atlantic 
Gateway Economic Growth Corridor, which connects the Port of Liverpool with Greater 

Document Pack Page 108



 

85 

Manchester via the Manchester Ship Canal.   The location has been identified as the ideal 
location for a tri-modal freight interchange enabling waterborne, rail and road freight access to 
a large-scale logistics park. 

285. The development of the Liverpool 2 super container facility at the Port of Liverpool has 
enabled the Port to handle the much larger deeper water container vessels that operate on 
trans-Atlantic routes following the widening of the Panama Canal. This will enable Liverpool to 
establish itself as the UK’s leading transatlantic port and to deliver much stronger trade 
connections between the North West and overseas markets.  We must maximise the 
sustainable opportunities for onward movement of goods via the Manchester Ship Canal into 
Greater Manchester, to reduce the congestion and carbon impacts of freight on our highways.   

286. Port Salford is served by major transport routes including the Manchester Ship Canal, the 
Manchester-Liverpool (Chat Moss) railway, the M62 / M602 / M60 motorways, and the A57.   
Port Salford will play an important role in delivering improved global connectivity due to its 
role as part of the infrastructure of global supply chains, with particular potential for serving 
European container ships.   

287. Rail access improvements to the Atlantic Gateway are planned, including a link from Port 
Salford to the Chat Moss (Liverpool-Manchester via Newton-le-Willows) rail line. This would 
enable freight trains to serve regional and UK markets from Port Salford and support trans-
shipment activities there. 

288. The achievement of the potential of the Port Salford and the Atlantic Gateway growth area is 
being pursued through joint working, including developers/landowners, Salford City Council, 
Trafford Metropolitan Borough Council, TfGM and Highways England.   

 
 

Document Pack Page 109



 

86 

289. In addition to Port Salford, significant logistics and employment developments planned in 
Trafford Park, Carrington and around the M58/M6 area in Wigan will place increased pressure 
on already congested parts of Greater Manchester’s transport network including the M62, A57 
and western sections of the M60 motorway. Much more will need to be done to improve the 
reliability of our highways, through development of a holistic access strategy incorporating 
public transport, local walking and cycling and highways improvements.   

290. The completion by the developer of a future Metrolink-compatible local highway crossing of 
the Manchester Ship Canal as part of the Western Gateway Infrastructure Scheme has helped 
to mitigate the impacts of the first phase of Port Salford. Further interventions to improve 
access to, and the performance of, our highway network in the Atlantic Gateway area, 
particularly around the connection between the Key Route Network and the Strategic Road 
Network is required. It is hoped that the M60 Northwest Quadrant Strategic Study, led by the 
Department for Transport and with participation from Transport for the North and Greater 
Manchester partners will assist in identifying the interventions that may be required to 
support economic growth in the Atlantic Gateway.   

291. We will also need to ensure that workers can access the new jobs at Port Salford and in the 
Atlantic Gateway corridor without having to travel by car. We are exploring the potential to 
extend the completed Trafford Park Metrolink line towards the Atlantic Gateway.  

292. Providing improved cycling and walking connections from surrounding areas (such as Peel 
Green, Patricroft and Irlam) will also be a high priority to ensure good access from more 
deprived areas to jobs in the Port Salford and the Atlantic Gateway area. The Port Salford 
Greenway provides safe traffic-free connections, and further infrastructure to complement 
this scheme is proposed through Greater Manchester’s Bee Network. 

293. Proposed interventions supporting Global Connectivity are set out in Our Five-Year Transport 
Delivery Plan. 

 

  

Document Pack Page 110



 

87 

Delivering Better City-to-City Links 

294. The Greater Manchester city-region lies at the heart of the North, with the large conurbations 
of Liverpool, Leeds and Sheffield all within 45 miles of our Regional Centre.  Our connections to 
major city-regions across the North, and to other major cities, such as Birmingham, London, 
Glasgow and Edinburgh are also crucial to our long-term success, supporting the critical flow of 
goods, skills and information that will enable the UK to boost its long-term productivity.   The 
constrained capacity, speed and reliability of our existing city-to-city road and rail connections 
prevent Greater Manchester fulfilling its potential.   We will continue to work closely with 
partners to deliver the transformational improvements to our city-to-city links we need to 
achieve our 2040 Transport Vision and to play a key role in delivering a strong Northern 
economy. However, for the benefits of these improvements to be felt across Greater 
Manchester, we will also need to improve connections across the city-region to enable people 
to access motorways and National Hub interchanges.  

The Right Mix for City to City Links 

 

295. We are targeting a 5% reduction in car mode-share for City to City trips, achieved through 
improvements to inter-urban public transport.  Many City to City trips include journeys that 
neither start nor end in a city centre, and there is little potential for these to be made by public 
transport. However, we expect the major proposed improvements to inter-urban public 

Our ambition is to see an increasingly productive, inclusive and prosperous region, 
supported by transformed connectivity between the major cities of the North of England, 
and to the Midlands, London and Scotland. There will be a step-change in quality, speed and 
reliability of our city-to-city rail links, allowing travel to Liverpool, Leeds and Sheffield in 30 
minutes or less and to London in just over an hour.  The strategic highway network will offer 
more reliable journey times.  More freight will be moved by rail and water. Transformed 
infrastructure, smart ticketing and customer information will encourage more trans-
northern journeys to be made by public transport. 

Document Pack Page 111



 

88 

transport to substantially reduce car use for trips that do involve travel to and from a major 
city centre. 

Improving North-South Connectivity 

High Speed 2 

296. The West Coast Main Line (WCML) linking London to the North West and onwards to Scotland 
is the busiest mixed-use 125 mph railway in Europe.  The line is under considerable stress 
because there is more demand for train services than there are train paths available. This 
limits capacity and means there are trade-offs deciding which services can run. We expect 
demand for rail travel to continue to grow over the coming years (both for freight and 
passengers) and the need for new rail infrastructure will become ever more pressing as we 
move towards 2040.    

297. The pressure on the WCML underpins the strategic case for HS2.  The current proposal is to 
deliver HS2 in three phases: Phase 1 from London to Birmingham, Phase 2a from the West 
Midlands to Crewe and Phase 2b comprising a western leg from Crewe to Manchester with an 
intermediate station at Manchester Airport and an eastern leg from the West Midlands to 
Yorkshire.  

298. Alongside HS2, Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) - the east-west rail network across the North 
is also vital to boost our city-region’s economy. NPR will significantly improve capacity, 
frequency, speed and services between the North’s six main cities and Manchester Airport.  

299. In 2018, we launched our growth strategy for high-speed rail, The Stops are just the Start, 
which details how HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) can support new jobs, new 
homes and new opportunities for Greater Manchester. TfN has also set out its vision for the 
NPR network, in its Strategic Transport Plan for the North. Our 2019 Prospectus for Rail also 
makes the case for the full delivery of HS2 and NPR. It explains that if HS2 is not delivered, 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) alone will not be able to support the economic growth our 
city-region, the North and the country needs.  

300. Without HS2 and NPR to release capacity on our current network, we won’t be able to run 
more frequent local services. The delivery of high-speed rail and associated growth strategies 
at Manchester Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, Stockport and Wigan remains crucial to the 
successful delivery of our 2040 Transport Strategy. We are working collaboratively with 
Government to refine the plans for high speed rail and ensure they are funded in a way that is 
sustainable, equitable, and aligned with both local and national policy. 

301. The Greater Manchester authorities support HS2 and NPR, and want to ensure the proposals 
have no detrimental impact on local services. TfN is also investigating the potential for a 
Manchester Airport Western link; this would serve a strategic role beyond Greater 
Manchester and we would look to TfN to act as the promoter for any future proposals.  

302. Detailed plans for the Phase 2 route were released by HS2 Ltd in November 2016. The 
November 2016 plans no longer provide for a west to east link in the north west which would 
have allowed for trains between Manchester and Wigan and onwards to Scotland to run 
much faster via the HS2 route, and therefore will no longer offer the opportunity to relieve 

Document Pack Page 112



 

89 

capacity on the congested Manchester-Wigan/Bolton/Preston lines, which will instead need 
to be addressed by other means. A map of the current proposals is shown below. 

303. The opportunities for sustained growth offered by HS2 cannot be delivered by any other 
alternative.  However, the case for HS2 extends well beyond simple transport economics. HS2 
is a strategic economic game-changer that will uplift productivity through enhanced labour 
market and business-to-business connectivity; increased network capacity; and improved 
international connections through the HS2 station at Manchester Airport. It will stimulate 
regeneration in areas adjacent to HS2 stations, and also establish the basis for a renaissance 
in engineering skills development and act as a major stimulus for a domestic supply chain, 
with up to 350,000 jobs being directly related to the project at its peak. 

304. In February 2020, the Government announced that HS2 would proceed in full. The Oakervee 
rail review concluded that for Phase 2b of HS2 (the route from Birmingham to Manchester 
and Leeds) a Y-shaped network was the right strategic answer for the country. The review 
also concluded that Phase 2b needs to be considered as part of an Integrated Rail Plan (IRP) 
for the north and Midlands which also includes Northern Powerhouse Rail, Midlands Rail Hub, 
and other major Network Rail schemes to ensure these are scoped, designed, delivered, and 
can be operated as an integrated network.  

305. HS2 is vital in increasing the capacity and connectivity of Britain’s rail network. Manchester 
Piccadilly and Manchester Airport are the optimal locations for new HS2 stations, 
supplemented by a Hub location at the existing Wigan North Western station to the north of 
the conurbation. From Manchester, journey times to London are anticipated to be as low as 
68 minutes, with three trains per hour to London and two trains per hour to Birmingham. 
Journey times to Wigan would also be reduced, by almost a half. We wish to see the benefits 
of HS2 realised as soon as possible.  In the intervening years, however, we will continue to 
work hard to deliver improved north-south rail connectivity in and out of Greater 
Manchester, including identifying improvements to services on the existing WCML through 
future franchise specifications; and ensuring that Greater Manchester’s key stations are 
served by HS2 classic compatible services that can run on both HS2 lines and the WCML 
following delivery of Phase 1 of HS2 (from London to Birmingham). 

M6 Motorway 

306. North-south strategic road links are provided by the M6 motorway, which runs through the 
west of Wigan and just to the south of Trafford. The M6 is a critical strategic highway corridor 
for both people and freight, and we must maintain good access to this corridor from across 
Greater Manchester. The M6 - immediately to the south of Greater Manchester – has been 
converted to a Smart Motorway. The link into central Manchester and Manchester Airport, via 
the M56, is also being upgraded through improvements to Junction 19 and work will 
commence on the M56 Junction 6 to 8 Smart Motorway scheme shortly. In future, the M58 
link road will provide a direct link from the M58/M6 J26 to the A571. However, J25 currently 
has southbound access and northbound egress, and we want to make this an all movements 
junction, allowing the closure of J24, which would relieve congestion in Ashton-in-Makerfield.  

307. The South Manchester Highway and Transport Study will look at impacts of and mitigation for 
HS2/GMSF/Airport growth with a focus on the M56 from J5 to J6. This is intended to cover the 
Local Road Network and multi-modal solutions, as well as the Strategic Road Network. The 

Document Pack Page 113



 

90 

South East Manchester Junction Improvements Study is also looking at possible improvements 
to M60 junctions. 

 

.  

Key Supporting Evidence 

• The combined population of Northern England is 15 million (larger than London).  The 
current combined GVA9 of the North is £343bn, 19% of the UK total.  However, the 
GVA per person in the North is now 18% below the UK average. 

• UK Cities account for 9% of land use, but 54% of population, 59% of jobs and 61% of 
output.  (Centre for Cities). 

• 10 million people live within 40 miles of Greater Manchester (2 million of these are 
graduates) 

• With HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail network lies the potential to at least close 
the productivity gap between the North and South, which Treasury has estimated 
would equate to in excess of £40 billion additional GVA by 2030. 

• The Spatial Economics Research Centre found that commuting between the Greater 
Manchester and Leeds city-regions is about 40% lower than expected given the 
characteristics of the two cities and the physical distance between them. 

• By road, it takes 44 minutes to travel 34 miles to Liverpool from Manchester, but 1 
hour 12 minutes to travel 38 miles to Sheffield.  

 

 

10 Transport for the North’s Strategic Transport Plan: https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-
plan-2019.pdf 

Document Pack Page 114

https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf


 

91 

 Transforming Connectivity Across the North 

308. Through Transport for the North, Greater Manchester has worked in close partnership with 
other northern local authorities and with Department for Transport, Highways England and 
Network Rail, to develop the Strategic Transport Plan (STP) for the North, focused on the 
critical investments needed to transform city-to-city connectivity with a view to delivering a 
Northern Powerhouse economy which is equal to or exceeds the UK’s average growth rate.   

Transport for the North 

Transport for the North (TfN) brings together Local Authorities across the North of 
England to enable the North to speak with a single voice on the important transport 
projects needed to fully realise the region’s economic potential.  

In February 2019, TfN published its statutory Strategic Transport Plan (STP)10 for the 
North. The Plan makes a robust case for transformational transport investment across 
the entire North of England, to help rebalance the UK economy.  

The long-term strategic programme detailed in the Plan sets out proposals for rail, 
highways, freight, inter-city connectivity, and integrated transport services, designed 
to deliver significant benefits for commuters, businesses and the wider economy of 
the North.  

Within the Plan, TfN identifies seven Strategic Development Corridors for the North of 
England. Each represents an economic area where evidence suggests the most 
progress towards growth could be made by bringing forward major road and rail 
investment.  

The corridors are designed to encompass the needs of people, business, freight and 
logistics. 

 

Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) Network  

309. Excellent rail provision is essential to enable people to move quickly and easily to jobs and 
business destinations in our Northern city-regions, as well as supporting the efficient 
movement of goods by rail.  Transformational rail service improvements are a key part of 
vision, linking Greater Manchester with the major cities in the North of England through 
development of a Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR).    

Transpennine Route Upgrade and Manchester Rail Task Force 

The upgrade of the Trans-Pennine route to Leeds is a national priority, with up to £3bn of 
investment earmarked by the Secretary of State for medium-term delivery in advance of 
Northern Powerhouse Rail. Electrification from Manchester to Huddersfield and beyond, 

 

10 Transport for the North’s Strategic Transport Plan: https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-
plan-2019.pdf 

Document Pack Page 115

https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf
https://transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-final-strategic-transport-plan-2019.pdf


 

92 

coupled with improved local train service frequency, is a priority for Greater Manchester on 
this route. In 2020, the scheme was allocated additional funding by Government to ease 
congestion and improve reliability, with an ambition for full electrification, digital signalling 
and additional freight capacity.   

The rail network is extremely congested around central Manchester, leading to conflicts 
between services and unreliability both in Greater Manchester and the North of England. 
Previously, the solution to this problem was the full implementation of the Northern Hub 
proposals. Certain parts of these proposals have been constructed - such as the Ordsall 
Chord - but not the most critical element: the reconfiguration of Manchester Oxford Road 
station and new platforms 15 and 16 at Piccadilly station. The impact of this partial 
provision of Northern Hub planned infrastructure was evident with the implementation of 
the May 2018 timetable which saw an increase in trains along the Castleford Corridor (the 
line between Manchester Piccadilly, Oxford Road and Deansgate), but without the 
supporting infrastructure, and resulted in a major deterioration in train performance.  

In recognition of this poor performance, the cross industry Manchester Recovery Task 
Force (MRTF) was set up in 2019 with a remit to examine both short and long term 
solutions. TfGM is a stakeholder in the task force, and continues to provide technical 
direction and support to the process in order to achieve a much improved level of 
performance in the short term, and to press for the necessary investment in additional 
infrastructure in the longer term. 

310. Building on the Northern Hub schemes, the rolling stock and service improvements in the 
Northern and Trans-Pennine rail franchises, and HS2 proposals; the TfN Strategic Transport 
Plan envisages transformational improvements to the frequency of trains, passenger capacity 
and to journey times across the North. 

311. To deliver these ambitious journey times and aspirations for improved frequency, options are 
also being explored to deliver new lines or major rail bypasses as well as making use of 
proposed HS2 infrastructure.  It is anticipated that significant sections of new line would be 
needed on routes between Manchester and Leeds and Manchester and Sheffield, for example.  
Existing rail infrastructure would then be freed up on our current rail networks to provide 
express, semi-fast, local and freight services.   

312. Delivery of a seamless public transport network across the North of England is also to be 
supported by a smart Northern ticketing system that makes it simple and easy to travel across 
the North by any mode of public transport.  This will be enhanced by real-time travel 

Rail North 

Rail North is a partnership of 29 Local Transport Authorities who will, alongside DfT, 
manage the new Northern and TransPennine Express franchises from April 2016.  The Rail 
North partnership agreement includes important mechanisms to enable the local 
authorities to make decisions on changes to their local rail services and to make 
investments in these franchises to drive improvements.  Responsibilities for Rail North will 
also relate to concessionary travel, multi-modal ticketing schemes and smart transactions 
and to important performance management issues.   

Document Pack Page 116



 

93 

information and a simplified fare structure.  We will ensure that this emerging Northern smart 
ticketing system is compatible with our future Greater Manchester smart ticketing and fares. 

Future development of our national rail hubs 

313. In Part 2, we set out our approach to improving interchange on our public transport system, 
highlighting different categories of interchange which are needed to support a seamless 
Greater Manchester transport network.  Our Global Gateway at Manchester Airport, and 
Greater Manchester National Hubs, are critical in supporting excellent city-to-city links and we 
will develop proposals to improve interchanges at these locations to ensure that national rail 
services are well integrated into our city-region transport network.   

314. With the introduction of HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail services, Manchester Piccadilly 
will become the most intensive strategic transport interchange in the North. An integrated 
approach is needed, as set out in the HS2 and NPR growth strategy The Stops are just the 
Start11 - to ensure that these connectivity benefits are spread across the city-region and, 
critically, that the immediate area around the station delivers on its potential.  We want to see 
the stations and the surrounding area transformed in time for the start of HS2 Phase 1 
operations in 2026, so as to maximise early city-to-city connectivity benefits and accelerate 
regeneration. The adjacent Piccadilly and Mayfield areas have the potential for commercial 
development that could secure up to 30,000 additional jobs, alongside scope for more housing 
and regeneration. 

315. There are other interchanges in Greater Manchester that are vital for the successful 
implementation of improved city-to-city rail links, including Manchester Airport, Wigan and 
Stockport. Investment in high quality access and interchange at these hubs will be critical to 
ensure that travellers from across Greater Manchester have excellent access to city-to-city rail 
services, that are well integrated into our city-region transport system. 

City-to-city highways connectivity   

316. City-to-city links by road are provided primarily by the Strategic Road Network of motorways, 
supported by the nationally designated Major Roads Network and Greater Manchester’s Key 
Route Network of locally important roads. The Strategic Road Network is operated by 
Highways England and in Greater Manchester comprises some 180km of motorways and all-
purpose trunk roads.  

 

 

11 The Stops are Just the Start: https://tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy  

Document Pack Page 117

https://tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy


 

94 

Partnership with Highways England 

Highways England and TfGM have signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) which 
provides a unique opportunity to establish complementary network management and 
development arrangements.  The MOU aligns the management of the Greater Manchester 
Key Route Network with that of the Strategic Road Network to deliver the most efficient 
management of the highway network; and provides a partnership approach to investment 
to ensure it supports local and national economic growth priorities.   We are working closely 
with Highways England to develop strategic priorities, better manage demand for travel by 
car, more closely integrate the operation of the Strategic Road and Key Route Networks, and 
deal with existing and potential bottlenecks on key highway links. 

317. The Strategic Road Network that links Greater Manchester to other northern cities contains 
some of the busiest and least reliable roads in the country.  The M60, for example, which plays 
a vital part in the life of Greater Manchester, is ranked second only to the M25 in England with 
respect to congestion.   The strategic highway network around Greater Manchester is 
particularly critical to the delivery of a more reliable northern highways network that can 
support the future movement of people and goods across the North of England.   

318. There has been significant investment in Greater Manchester’s strategic road network in 
recent years, primarily through the Government’s first Road Investment Strategy (RIS1).  RIS1 
covered the period 2015 to 2020, and contained a number of improvements to the strategic 
road network to improve its performance and reliability.  This included rolling out Smart 
Motorways on key sections of the M60 and M62. The second Road Investment Strategy (RIS2, 
2020-2025) will continue this roll-out, with Smart Motorway schemes on the M6 and M56 and 
on the trans-Pennine section of the M62. RIS2 will also see delivery of improvements at 
Junction 18 of the M60 (Simister Island); and delivery of the Mottram Moor Link Road and the 
adjacent A57(T) to A57 Link.   

319. We will work with our partners to help develop the Government’s investment plans over the 
longer-term and define the content of future Road Investment Strategies, through continuing 
work on major strategic studies of the Northwest Quadrant of the M60 and the Trans-Pennine 
Tunnel  and the  South Manchester Highways and Transport Study and M60 South-East 
Junction studies (announced in RIS2), and through Route Strategies to inform RIS3. In doing so 
we will seek to ensure that SRN schemes do not impact adversely on the local road network. 
We will also work with partners to identify the potential of travel demand management , 
including park and ride, to reduce congestion on the motorway network and KRN.   

320. The Major Road Network (MRN) was designated by the Government following a consultation 
in 2018. It incorporates the country’s busiest and most economically important local authority 
A-Roads and forms a middle tier sitting between the SRN and the rest of the local road 
network. The MRN has five central objectives which build on the commitments made by 
Government in the Transport Investment Strategy. Those objectives are to reduce congestion; 
to support economic growth and rebalancing; to support housing delivery; to support all road 
users, including cyclists, pedestrians and disabled people; and to support the Strategic Road 
Network. For Greater Manchester, the MRN includes important A-roads connecting key 

Document Pack Page 118



 

95 

centres to the SRN and providing cross boundary links, including, for example, the A6, A34, 
A58, A580 and A666.  Substantial sections of the Inner Relief Route also form part of the 
MRN. 

321. A specific new funding stream was dedicated to improvements on MRN roads.  As with the 
RIS for the SRN, this is allocated in five year blocks and draws on the National Roads Fund. The 
schemes to be funded in the first five-years of the MRN (subject to completion of business 
cases) were announced in 2019, drawing on Regional Evidence Bases (REB) created by the 
sub-regional transport bodies such as Transport for the North. In Greater Manchester, two 
schemes were included in this first tranche – the A34 Cheadle-Handforth Improvement Plan 
Phase 1 in Stockport and the Wigan East-West Strategic Route, the latter being designated a 
Large Local Major (LLM).  We will work with our key partners to help bring these schemes to 
fruition and to shape and develop both the structure of the MRN and further schemes and 
investment plans over the longer-term. 

What are Smart Motorways? 

Smart Motorways use increasingly sophisticated technology-driven techniques to increase 
capacity and reduce delays on our motorway network by using variable speed limits, ‘all lane 
running’, and variable message signing to smooth traffic flows, provide more reliable 
journey times, provide better information to drivers, reduce collisions , and reduce noise 
and vehicle emissions.  These techniques enable us to get much more capacity out of our 
existing highways infrastructure and improve journeys for drivers.  

Document Pack Page 119



 

96 

City to City Freight Movement 

  

322. Freight and logistics have a significant role to play in the economic growth of the region and 
present an emerging Northern golden triangle of warehousing and logistics activity. Greater 
Manchester lies at the heart of this golden triangle, with the Manchester Ship Canal providing 
a strategic western gateway to Greater Manchester and the Northern Powerhouse.  Port 
Salford and other logistics developments in areas such as Trafford Park, Carrington and 
Heywood, will be a major asset in achieving the freight and logistics objectives of Transport 
for the North’s Strategic Transport Plan.  

323. The strategic resilience of the motorway network, with a major focus on delivering 
transformational improvements the M60, will be critical to supporting the reliable movement 
of goods.    Improvements to our city to city rail connectivity are also becoming increasingly 
urgent, not just to support movement of people, but to help transport more freight by rail 
rather than road.  

324. Furthermore, Airport City and the World Logistics Hub will create significant opportunities for 
freight and distribution linked to the Airport, and there is potential for other new and enlarged 
sites across Greater Manchester, as identified in the GMSF. 

325. Transport for Greater Manchester, alongside partners, will continue to cooperate on 
development and delivery of inter-urban freight strategies which look at all aspects of this 
complex sector and seek to deliver any interventions identified to improve connections between 
our city-regions for the sustainable movement of goods.  

Document Pack Page 120



 

97 

326. Proposed interventions supporting improved City-to-City links are set out in Our Five Year 
Transport Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

Document Pack Page 121



 

98 

Travel To and Within Our Regional Centre 

 

327. The Regional Centre (which comprises Manchester City Centre and the adjacent areas of The 
Quays to the west, the Oxford Road Corridor to the south, and the Etihad Campus/Manchester 
Life to the east) is, and will continue to be, a major driver of economic growth in Greater 
Manchester.  Over recent decades this area has been transformed from a prosperous core, 
surrounded by an area of poor urban quality and neglected former industrial areas, to a much 
larger and thriving focal point for knowledge-based and creative industries; retail and leisure; 
and education and healthcare.  The number of people living here has grown exponentially over 
the past two decades, transforming it into an important residential, as well as employment 
and leisure, location.  Further planned growth will mean that this area will increasingly 
function as a single major economic driver at the core of the conurbation, and our transport 
strategy needs to help support this. 

328. The City Centre is also the major hub for our Greater Manchester transport network, and many 
of our public transport networks converge there, providing excellent connectivity from across 
the city-region and beyond.   

329. The rapid growth in housing and employment experienced in recent years is set to continue 
over the period to 2040.  From a transport perspective, concentrating high levels of compact 
development in such an accessible and well-connected part of Greater Manchester is 
welcomed, but there are significant challenges ahead in terms of managing traffic congestion, 
ensuring excellent connectivity across our Regional Centre, and ensuring a high quality of life 
for residents, visitors and workers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our ambition is for a well-connected, zero-carbon Regional Centre at the heart of the North 
(served by HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail Services), offering residents, employees and 
visitors a great place to live, work and visit.  To support our Right Mix vision, we are aiming 
for 90% of morning peak trips into the city centre to be made on foot, by bicycle or public 
transport before 2040. This means fewer cars in the Regional Centre so we can give more 
space for people to walk and cycle and to create more liveable, cleaner and greener places.  
Freight and servicing will also be better managed to minimise the negative impacts of 
commercial vehicles on the Regional Centre.   

Document Pack Page 122



 

99 

 

The Right Mix for travel to and within our Regional Centre 

 

330. We are targeting a 35% increase in the number of Regional Centre trips, with an increase in the 
mode share of walk, cycle, and rail transport, including Metrolink.  Bus travel to the Regional 
Centre is also targeted to increase, despite a reduction in its mode share.  We expect to 
achieve that in part through more people living in the Regional Centre, many of whom will also 
work there, leading to more active travel, encouraged by a better environment for walking and 
cycling.   Also needed will be a step-change in the capacity and connectivity of rail-based rapid 
transit, potentially achieved by a Regional Centre metro tunnel.  Increased priority will be 
needed for buses, including new terminus facilities.  An increase in the number of cross-city 
bus services will improve bus access to the Regional Centre.  

Key Supporting Evidence 

• c.70,000 people live in Manchester City Centre.   

• There could be 50,000 more homes there by 2040 

• Over 200,000 people work in Manchester City Centre, with a total of 290,000 in the 

Regional Centre as a whole. 

• By 2040, more than 400,000 people are expected to be working in the Regional 

Centre 

• In 2019, 79% of morning peak inbound trips into the City Centre were by public 

transport, cycling or walking. This equated to nearly 100,000 inbound trips by these 

modes over a two hour period. 

• By 2040 Salford Quays could have 15,000 additional jobs and 15,000 more homes 

• The Right Mix target for the Regional Centre anticipates an increase in walk, cycle, 

and public transport trips from 560,000 per day in 2017 to 970,000 per day in 2040, 

with car trips reduced from 390,000 per day to 310,000 per day. 

 
 

Document Pack Page 123



 

100 

 

 
Regional Centre themes 

331. Our transport strategy for the Regional Centre is focused around three key themes (sustainable 
long-term economic growth, transformed connectivity and improved liveability), to ensure 
improvements are targeted towards meeting wider aspirations for the area, as set out below.   

Transport for a 2040 Regional Centre Economy 

Supporting a Northern Powerhouse Economy 
332. For Greater Manchester to play its full part in the levelling up agenda, and the delivery of a 

Northern Powerhouse economy over the period to 2040, improved connectivity between our 
northern city centres is critical.  The arrival of High Speed 2 (HS2) and Northern Powerhouse 
Rail services into the Piccadilly Hub will support transformational growth of our Greater 
Manchester economy and further boost the attractiveness of our Regional Centre as a focus 
for investment.  Improved city-to-city connectivity, particularly by rail, will support growth of 
the Regional Centre’s knowledge-based economy, enabling more rapid exchange of knowledge 
and ideas, improving access to skills and labour, and supporting greater levels of productivity 
and innovation in our great Northern towns and city-regions. 

333. We are already planning how we can fully integrate these transformational infrastructure 
improvements with our wider local and regional transport networks to maximise the benefits 
for Greater Manchester.  While Manchester City Centre is well connected, regionally, 
nationally and internationally (via its rail link to the Airport), there will be a need to ensure The 
Quays, home to the BBC and ITV, has the connections its businesses need. 

Transformation of Piccadilly Hub  

Piccadilly Station will be transformed into a world-class interchange, and gateway into the 
city centre. There is more work to do to assess the role that rail is likely to play in the future 
shape of the city centre, and work with the rail industry to improve the rail offering where it 

Document Pack Page 124



 

101 

does not currently meet the needs of the area. A major new transport hub at Piccadilly 
Station will encompass: 

• a new HS2 station and access arrangements for Northern Powerhouse Rail and other 
heavy rail services;  

• rapid transit access strategy, encompassing Metrolink, tram-train and potential rail 
tunnel proposals; 

• transformed public realm and walking and cycling connectivity; 

• improved bus and coach access; and 

• highways and vehicular access arrangements for servicing, taxis and cars.   

334. Our Regional Centre transport hubs will need to expand their role as key gateways to Greater 
Manchester, creating a crucial first impression of our city-region. They must be designed to 
meet rapidly evolving customer service and experience expectations.  Our transport hubs must 
also allow seamless interchange between transport services and be well integrated with 
surrounding areas, particularly through local pedestrian and cycling connections.   In addition 
to Piccadilly Hub; Victoria, Oxford Road Salford Central and Salford Crescent stations will all be 
important Regional Centre gateways, providing access to national, regional and local transport 
services, and will be major focal points for growth and regeneration in their own right over the 
period to 2040.   The sheer growth in passenger numbers flowing into, through and out of 
these interchanges will require a step-change improvement in capacity, quality and legibility of 
provision, for pedestrians in particular.   

Accommodating growth in commuter travel 
 

335. By 2040, the City Centre is expected to have an additional 50,000 homes over and above what 
exists today. There could also be 100,000 more jobs in the City Centre by this date. At The 
Quays, MediaCityUK will be double its current size. Our transport systems will therefore need 
to accommodate a dramatic increase in commuter trips into and across the Regional Centre.  
We must plan now for this growth to avoid the Regional Centre becoming more congested 
with traffic.   

336. In a constrained urban environment, there is only limited opportunity to provide significant 
additional transport capacity on our road and rail networks.  Hence, much of the additional 
capacity will need to be provided by making more efficient use of the transport networks we 
already have, to maximise the movement of people into and across the area.    

337. In the City Centre, our aim is to deliver the desired economic growth without any further 
growth in peak period car traffic.  We recognise that this is a major challenge, particularly as 
we estimate that we will need to accommodate around 68,000 additional commuter trips in 
the morning peak period by 2040.   Car commuting to The Quays is currently much higher than 
in the City Centre, reflecting the sparser public transport network. Here, our aim is to reduce 
significantly the proportion of trips made by car. Our focus is on improving the quality and 
capacity of our public transport and walking and cycling networks to encourage as many 
people as possible to travel to the Regional Centre by these modes. We must also ensure that 

Document Pack Page 125



 

102 

our streets can cope with the huge increase in public transport passengers who will be walking 
or cycling from interchanges to their final destination.   

338. We have undertaken a detailed review of the role of our Regional Centre highways network - 
with a particular focus on the relationship between our key orbital highways systems - 
Manchester and Salford Inner Relief Route (MSIRR), the intermediate ring road, and the M60 - 
to understand how we can make best use of the capacity that we already have and how we 
can minimise the negative impacts of roads and traffic on the quality of life within the Regional 
Centre.  The highway network around The Quays is congested at peak times, with Trafford 
Road the only north-south route across the Manchester Ship Canal and Regent Road the main 
link between the City Centre, The Quays and the M602. Tackling congestion on corridors into 
and across our Regional Centre will be a major priority through a range of demand 
management measures, and measures to encourage modal shift, including park and ride 
provision, better walking and cycling infrastructure, and bus priority.   

339. We have also undertaken detailed analysis of the role of our rapid transit networks (including 
heavy rail, Metrolink and bus rapid transit) in delivering the additional capacity we need, and 
to complement proposed improvements to HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail services.  The 
work we have done to-date has concluded that, by 2040, we will need significant additional 
cross-city capacity. This capacity may best be delivered through the construction of new rail 
tunnels beneath the city centre to enable us to deliver the excellent connectivity and faster 
journey times we need without taking up valuable land or creating further severance by 
building new lines at street level.   

340. We have identified a phased approach to enhancing our Regional Centre rapid transit 
networks to meet the long-term needs of our rapidly growing economy as follows: 

i. Short-term (to mid-2020s): Completion of Northern Hub works and introduction of 
enhanced, higher-capacity heavy rail services; and increased capacity on the busiest 
Metrolink lines by running more double-unit vehicles; 

ii. Medium-term (to 2030): Develop and deliver tram-train to improve rapid transit 
connectivity into and across the Regional Centre and develop potential cross-city metro 
proposals; develop proposals for our suburban rail network to complement Northern 
Powerhouse Rail network; and  

iii. Long-term (from mid-2030s): Implement cross-city rapid transit capacity enhancements, 
potentially through tunnelled metro services, and deliver suburban rail enhancements to 
complement Northern Powerhouse Rail.    

341. Buses will also need to play a much bigger role in accommodating the growth in trips into and 
across the Regional Centre. While bus is ideally suited to shorter journeys, it needs to play an 
increased role on corridors where there is no rapid transit, especially for journeys of up to 10 
km. We need to transform buses into a mode of transport that all travellers are happy to use 
(as is the case in London), through provision of high quality, reliable services and clean, 
comfortable vehicles, supported by simple, integrated, affordable and smart ticketing. At the 
same time, we need to ensure buses are providing the links between deprived communities 
close to, but currently poorly connected with, the new jobs. 

Document Pack Page 126



 

103 

342. Walking and cycling are both critical to the success of our Regional Centre.  Investment in 
quality provision for pedestrians and cyclists is relatively low-cost, enables the movement of 
high volumes of people in a constrained urban environment, and will help to create a healthier 
and cleaner city-region.  We will continue to invest in high-capacity and high-quality walking 
and cycle routes into and across the City Centre to enable higher proportions of trips to be 
made. Easy movement around the City Centre on foot is also important for those arriving by 
public transport or by car and this will bring economic benefits by improving access to key 
attractions and improving the image of the city. In the Quays, the Manchester Ship Canal acts 
as a barrier to pedestrian and cycle movement and better links across it will be needed, both 
to provide links with adjacent communities and to maximise the benefits of the Trafford Park 
Metrolink extension, which provides additional commuter capacity.      

343. We will also need to carefully manage demand for travel, to encourage people to think about 
how and when they travel into the Regional Centre.  Smart, tailored customer information will 
be a crucial part of this, as will managing the availability and cost of car parking.  We will also 
have to make difficult decisions on how we make best use of the limited highways capacity we 
have within the Regional Centre to maximise the efficiency of our transport networks.  
Without carefully targeted demand management (see section 133), we will simply not achieve 
the levels of growth that we aspire to, and the Regional Centre will become choked by 
congestion and pollution.  We are also developing detailed plans to determine when and how 
freight and servicing vehicles access the Regional Centre, to minimise negative impacts on 
congestion and quality of life. 

Supporting the night-time and weekend economy   
 

344. Our Regional Centre already has a vibrant 24/7 economy; and leisure, retail and tourism 
activities are critical to the future economic success of Greater Manchester. Different parts of 
the Regional Centre have their own unique characteristics from a leisure and tourism 
perspective.  The Etihad Campus area of East Manchester has established itself as a major 
sporting complex of international reputation.  The Quays is one of the main tourism 
destinations in Greater Manchester, with The Lowry theatre, galleries and shopping centre, 
Imperial War Museum North, MediaCityUK , and the adjacent Old Trafford stadium and 
museum attracting significant numbers of visitors.  The City Centre itself has a variety of major 
retail, entertainment and leisure attractions.   

 

Document Pack Page 127



 

104 

345. The transport network must be carefully designed to support this economy, focusing on the 
needs of different markets at different times of the day and the week, and ensuring that the 
transport offer is as integrated and easy to understand as possible, particularly for visitors who 
are less familiar with the Regional Centre.  As well as providing public transport services that 
operate for all or much of the night,  travel by all modes of transport must be safe and secure, 
and we must make the right provision, available, for example the allocation of pick up/drop off 
zones and  parking/waiting areas, for supporting transport services, such as chartered coaches, 
hackney cabs and private hire vehicles. A carefully designed car parking management strategy 
will also be critical to the success of our night-time and weekend economy.   

 
Embracing innovation  

346. In delivering our aspirations for the Regional Centre, there is a significant opportunity to 
embrace the latest thinking in transport innovation and technology to improve customer 
experience and to maximise the performance, resilience and safety of our transport networks.  
We want Greater Manchester to be recognised as a world leader in transport innovation, and 
the size of the Regional Centre provides the scope to use new technology to maximise the 
capacity, efficiency, resilience and safety of our transport networks and to deliver 
transformational change to customers through improvements to travel information, ticketing 
and payment and wayfinding.   We will also explore technologies that support more efficient 
use of kerbside space and improve the management of deliveries and servicing within the 
Regional Centre. 

347. In 2020, changes were made to the Road Traffic Act and other regulations to enable e-scooter 
hire trials. As Greater Manchester recovered from the Covid-19 pandemic, e-scooters were of 
particular interest because they provided a flexible means of travel while maintaining social-
distancing. E-scooters can also improve first/last mile and intermodal connectivity, and act as a 
catalyst to encourage active travel.  We will continue to explore the role of e-scooters in 
improving connectivity into and within the Regional Centre, through the implementation of 
trials and by carefully monitoring and evaluating their use over time.  

348. We also want to ensure that the use of digital communication is widely adopted and that we 
utilise live information and data to monitor and respond to periods of peak demand and 
feedback on network performance and reliability.  People will be able to access real-time 
information about their journeys so they can make informed choices on their travel options 
into and within the city centre. 

Connectivity within a rapidly growing Regional Centre 

349. High levels of well-designed new development will be accommodated in this highly accessible 
and sustainable location, prioritising the use of previously developed land. Raising the quality 
of these places will depend on tackling issues such as congestion and air quality, which are 
typically more severe than in many other parts of the city-region. 

350. We will continue to support the transformation of brownfield sites on the periphery of the City 
Centre, many of which are currently used for low-cost, informal car parks, into high-quality and 
high-density development. The loss of informal parking provision will be a major catalyst in 

Document Pack Page 128



 

105 

reducing the attractiveness of car travel to the Regional Centre, but will need to be supported 
by provision of alternative travel options.  

351. There are regeneration frameworks already in place for many of these sites, containing 
ambitious plans for a variety of mixed-use developments, including significant volumes of new 
housing.  As more peripheral Regional Centre sites are developed, we must ensure that they 
are carefully stitched into the fabric of the surrounding urban area and ensure excellent 
connectivity to our major city centre transport interchanges.  We will fully embed sustainable 
travel into new developments by ensuring that excellent walking and cycling facilities are 
provided; developing tailored parking and servicing management strategies; engaging with 
occupiers to encourage sustainable travel behaviour from the outset; and providing other 
supporting interventions, such as car clubs.     

352. We will also continue to focus on improving connectivity between the City Centre and both 
The Quays and the Etihad Campus area.  The relatively short distances involved provide an 
excellent opportunity to promote higher levels of walking and cycling, through ongoing 
investment in pedestrian and cycle networks, including exploiting the potential of our 
waterways by providing better facilities along the River Irwell and our extensive canal network.  
This investment will be supported by comprehensive and consistent on-street and digital 
wayfinding infrastructure.   

353. We are considering a range of potential improvements to rapid transit connections from our 
major city centre interchanges to key destinations across the Regional Centre, including Salford 
Quays, MediaCityUK and Old Trafford; and the Etihad Campus and Manchester Life areas of 
East Manchester. These will be further bolstered by increased bus coverage within the 
Regional Centre, which we will target towards areas with increasing residential populations 
such as the areas around Salford Central and Greengate.  

354. Streets leading to the city centre require significant improvement for people using public 
transport and cycling in particular. Greater Manchester’s emerging City Centre Transport 
Strategy, and Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan, set out plans to improve these radial 
routes.  
 

355. The rapidly expanding City Centre will quickly extend beyond the confines of our existing major 
transport infrastructure, and particularly the MSIRR, which comprises the Mancunian Way, 
Miller Street, Great Ancoats Street and Trinity Way and which in some areas creates a 
significant barrier to movement between the City Centre and the wider Regional Centre.  As 
this expansion occurs, we will continue to review the role and function of major highways, 
such as the MSIRR, and will seek to minimise the severance effects of such barriers for people 
moving into and out of the city centre on foot or by bike.  

 

A Liveable Regional Centre 

356. The economic success of our Regional Centre is closely linked to the quality of the urban 
environment.  If we want it to be an attractive place to live and invest in, we must ensure that 
the urban realm is attractive and clean; that the city is not choked with traffic; and that we 
offer a safe and secure environment at all times.  A Regional Centre which offers a high quality 
of life will enable us to attract and retain the skills and talent that our city-region needs to fulfil 

Document Pack Page 129



 

106 

its long-term potential.  It will also help to build on Greater Manchester’s existing role as a 
major visitor attraction, by creating a strong, positive first impression to those visiting the city 
for business or leisure. 

357. As well as an attractive built environment, we must provide the right supporting green and 
blue infrastructure and open spaces, which enable the city to breathe and provide a welcome 
escape from the hustle and bustle of urban living.  Such infrastructure will also provide active 
travel opportunities, enabling people to move easily and directly through the city on direct and 
traffic free corridors.  This urban environment must be as inclusive as possible, to enable those 
of all ages and with a range of mobility impairments to enjoy the opportunities and facilities 
offered within our Regional Centre.  All transport improvements must therefore be designed 
with inclusivity and accessibility in mind.      

358. Creating a more liveable Regional Centre will also require concerted action to tackle our 
existing Air Quality problems and, over time, we want all vehicles entering the city centre core 
to be ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs).   

359. Proposed interventions supporting travel to and within our Regional Centre are set out, in 
detail, in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan.  

Document Pack Page 130



 

107 

Travel Across the Wider City-region 

360. Beyond the Regional Centre, Greater Manchester is polycentric, with a diverse mix of town 
centres, employment areas, major hospitals, educational establishments and visitor 
attractions, which generate highly complex commuting, business, logistics and leisure travel 
patterns across the city-region and to and from neighbouring areas. 

The Right Mix for travel across the Wider City-region 

 

361. We are targeting an overall reduction in the number of trips across the Wider City-region, 
with rapid transit taking an 8% mode-share and cycling taking a 5% mode share.  An 
important driver of the overall reduction in wider city-region trips will be an increase in the 
number of neighbourhood trips, in part due to more people living in high-density locations 
such as town centres. At present, car is the dominant mode of travel for wider city-region trips, 
with car and taxi accounting for an estimated 83% of them in 2017.  We expect to achieve the 
targeted changes in mode of travel through transformational cycling policies and a step-
change in the capacity and connectivity of rapid transit, so that rapid transit modes are used 
for longer wider city-region trips that are at present made by car via the M60. 

362. In future, we expect to adopt different targets for wider city-region trips to and from town 
centres, to support the Mayor’s vision in Town Centre Challenge, that “We need to build a new 
future for those towns through higher density mixed and affordable housing, with local retail 

Our ambition is that our regenerated town centres are easy to get to, particularly by 
sustainable modes, and pleasant to walk around and spend time in.  Journeys across the 
area, between centres or to other major destinations will be made easier through improved 
orbital public transport and cycle connections and less congested roads. Road collisions will 
fall, year on year, moving towards our goal of reducing deaths and serious injuries as close as 
possible to zero. The significant new development expected in Greater Manchester will be 
accessible by sustainable modes of transport, so that the impact of the extra trips on the 
road network is minimised. 

Document Pack Page 131



 

108 

and leisure facilities and supported by transport and digital connectivity.”  Defining Right Mix 
targets for town centre trips will require further work. 

The patterns of movement across the Wider city-region 

363. There are specific and dense commuting flows to the centre of the conurbation, with 38% of 
employment located inside the M60. However, there are increasingly important local flows 
between adjacent local authority areas, with all parts of the conurbation becoming less self-
contained than in the past and more reliant on flows of people and goods to and from other 
parts of Greater Manchester. Specialisation in the provision of healthcare and 
education/training across the conurbation has further emphasised the importance of mobility 
across traditional municipal boundaries. The diagram below shows commuting flows between 
Greater Manchester local authority areas, and from neighbouring authorities into Greater 
Manchester, in 2011. 

364. The range of work and business opportunities in Greater Manchester means that there are 
significant further flows to and from neighbouring areas to the south, west and north in 
particular; flows into the east are more limited, with the Pennines reducing connectivity. 
Increasingly, business and commuter travel patterns will also be influenced by strategic 
developments: the growth potential of the Atlantic Gateway in the west; the growth of 
Manchester Airport and the arrival of HS2 in the south; the potential of the West Coast Main 
Line to boost the economy of the north west, via its link to HS2; and the potential for the east 
to develop in relation to Leeds and Sheffield as a result of Northern Powerhouse connectivity. 
Improving travel across the city-region is therefore an integral part of improving city-to-city 
links and links to global gateways. 

365. In addition, the leisure economy of Greater Manchester has continued to grow, establishing 
parts of the conurbation as major sporting, entertainment, heritage, retail and other event 
destinations with new patterns of leisure traffic both within and into the conurbation. This 
growth has started to blur distinctions between traditional peak and off-peak periods of 
demand for travel in some of the city-region’s most important corridors. 

366. Our 2040 Vision identified the need for effective connections to make it easier to reach key 
destinations by public transport, to improve journey times on the busiest local roads and to 
make walking and cycling more attractive for short trips. It also highlighted the importance of 
supporting the economies of town centres through high quality public transport links and 
attractive walk and cycle routes, since these centres play a vital role in providing local services 
as well as well as acting as transport hubs. 

Supporting Vital and Vibrant Town Centres 

367. The eight main town centres (Altrincham, Ashton-under-Lyne, Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Stockport and Wigan) provide a critical mass of facilities and services and are the hubs of local 
public transport networks, making them highly sustainable locations. Significant investment 
has been made, or is planned, in improved public transport infrastructure and services in the 
form of new interchanges and Metrolink extensions. They are now facing a fundamental 
challenge due to changes in the retail sector (particularly the growth of online shopping).      

Document Pack Page 132



 

109 

368. All the centres have regeneration strategies aimed at widening their appeal through a better 
quality offer, broadening the range of uses by including housing, recreational and community 
facilities and so increasing footfall to the retail areas. Transport has an important role to play in 
supporting this regeneration through provision of good quality public transport infrastructure 
and services, safe cycle and pedestrian routes, secure and convenient car parking, and access 
for servicing and deliveries. In addition, a more pleasant environment can be created for 
visitors by reducing the dominance of the car in and improving pedestrian routes. 

369. Each centre faces different challenges, and each is responding by creating a more distinct role. 
Oldham is investing in a comprehensive regeneration initiative, the ‘Creating a Better Place’ 
vision, to improve and diversify the town centre through investment in the leisure, retail and 
cultural offer, with housing as the catalyst. Major investment in the eastern gateway will bring 
new retail and residential development, and will need to be supported by an improved 
transport interchange. 

370. Rochdale has developed a riverside, heritage-based offer with tourism potential, along with 
major re-development, while Ashton-under-Lyne is delivering its ‘Vision Tameside’ strategy, 
focussing on serving its primary catchment area and providing a focus for shopping, access to 
transport, education and skills through the re-location of the college into the central area. 
There is a need to improve the public realm and unite different parts of the centres, making it 
easier for pedestrians to move between retail areas, car parks, public transport interchanges, 
cultural and educational facilities. 

  

Document Pack Page 133



 

110 

371. Bury has become a very successful retail centre, attracting visitors from across Greater 
Manchester but with a catchment extending into East Lancashire. Parts of the expanded retail 
area are not well linked to the Interchange, and there is an opportunity to regenerate the 
surrounding area as well as redeveloping the Interchange to provide the higher standard 
facilities now available in other centres, and to improve access to the Metrolink platforms. 
Improvements to connectivity across the centre are also needed to help maintain its 
competitive position.  In addition, pinch points at Bury Bridge and Rochdale Road/Heap Bridge 
lead to congestion on the approaches to the centre. 

372.  Bolton and Stockport both have potential to be the focus for office and commercial growth in 
the north and south of the conurbation respectively and this will need to be supported by an 
improved transport offer. Both require improved public transport interchange, and links from 
the interchanges into the town centre. Stockport also needs improved connectivity across the 
centre, principally by taking traffic off the A6 and giving more priority to pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport.  In Altrincham, the emphasis is on developing a role as a modern market 
town, and capitalising on the strong demand for town centre housing. For this there is a need 
to continue to improve access and movement around the town centre, linking new 
development to the existing retail core.  

373. Wigan has suffered less from competition, due to its more isolated position, and is considered 
to be less at risk from retail trends than other key centres. However, to maintain its position it 
needs to attract customers from adjacent parts of Lancashire and Merseyside. As well as 
better road links there is a need to improve integration between its two rail stations and to 
improve links across the centre to support regeneration.  

374.  

Document Pack Page 134



 

111 

 

 

Access to Employment, Services and Leisure 

375. Although Greater Manchester has an extensive public transport network, there are many 
locations where access to employment, services and leisure facilities is difficult without a car. 
Major out-of-town employment areas are often difficult to serve by bus, especially where shift 
working or 24/7 operation are prevalent, which makes the demand too dispersed for viable 
services. Affordability is also an issue for many people, as referenced in section 70. 

 

376. While major employment sites have good access from a local town centre, or from the 
Regional entre, they can be difficult to reach from many communities, particularly where 
orbital public transport links are unattractive. Jobs in the major employment concentrations 
of Trafford Park/Trafford Centre, Salford Quays, the Airport/Enterprise Zone and the future 
Port Salford are difficult to reach by non- car modes, particularly from the north and east of 

Key Supporting Evidence  

• The eight main town centres provide over 10% of jobs in Greater Manchester 

• Over 155,000 people travel into Greater Manchester each day to work, with around 130,000 
travelling outwards.  Greater Manchester is a net importer in terms of commuting 

• The largest cross boundary flows are with Cheshire East, with over 23,000 people commuting in, 

are around 16,000 travelling in the opposite direction. 

• The second largest cross boundary flows are with Warrington which sees 16,000 Greater 

Manchester residents travelling outbound, and 13,000 commuting in. 

 

Document Pack Page 135



 

112 

the conurbation, but also more locally where public transport may not easily connect 
disadvantaged communities to these locations. Other significant employment areas such as 
Logistics North in Bolton, Heywood Distribution Park and Kingsway Business Park in Rochdale, 
Ashton Moss in Tameside and Hollinwood in Oldham, as well as smaller sites across the 
conurbation, have similar problems. There is a need to improve access to existing and any 
future additional large scale out-of-centre employment areas by public transport, active travel 
links and measures such as car club /cycle hire as well as using behaviour change 
interventions to make people aware of their travel options.  

377. The re-organisation and centralisation of public services also presents people with access 
problems, leading to longer and more complex journeys to reach hospitals and colleges. 
Colleges too are consolidating and becoming more specialised, leading to more travel. There 
is significant cross- border travel by students, eg from Lancashire to Salford and Manchester 
Universities, or from the Wigan area to colleges such as Myerscough. 

378. The Peak District National Park, which extends into Oldham, is a natural and recreational 
resource of both local and national importance and a significant trip attractor. Chew Brook 
Vale (Robert Fletchers) in Greenfield has been identified as a location in the GMSF for mixed 
use development that will support tourism and leisure facilities connected to its gateway 
location to the Peak District National Park. Leisure trips add to localised congestion in 
communities on the eastern fringe of the conurbation, where the roads also form part of vital 
trans-Pennine routes. Pressure on the road network in this area is increasing as incidents on 
the motorway cause motorists to seek alternatives. There is also a need to improve access for 
leisure without causing damage to the environment, and improved evening  and weekend 
public transport services would be beneficial. 

Providing Attractive Alternatives to Car Travel 

379. Greater Manchester’s public transport network is effective in linking people with the main 
town and city centres, and has been enhanced by recent investment in Metrolink. However 
this is not the case for many of the more orbital movements: between centres, or to out-of-
town locations. Bus services may not exist, due to low demand, or may be unattractive: 
because congestion results in long or unreliable journeys; or because the lack of integration 
between public transport services and modes makes people unwilling to interchange. Cross-
border journeys can also be a problem because of differing ticketing and fares. This is a 
significant issue for communities living close to the Greater Manchester boundary, such as in 
the Pennine areas of Oldham, where people wish to access towns such as Huddersfield. Part 2 
has set out our vision for integrated ticketing and a bus network that supports our economy 
and communities, as well as our approach to improving facilities at five classes of interchange.  

380. As a result of these issues, travel to work at locations such as Trafford Park, the Airport and 
many smaller business parks and industrial estates, is dominated by the car and people who do 
not have access to one are often unable to consider working there. This contributes to high 
levels of car use and congestion as well as creating a barrier to opportunity. There is no single 
solution to the problem, and we will need to identify the best way to improve orbital journeys 
on a case-by-case basis. Where there is a high demand and a fast route can be identified 
linking to a very major trip attractor (ie Manchester city centre or, in the future, Manchester 
Airport) it may be possible to develop new rapid transit routes, using either Metrolink, tram-
train (see section 196) or bus rapid transit.  

Document Pack Page 136



 

113 

381. However, given the very high cost, rapid transit is most likely to be justified where it serves 
existing concentrations of middle-distance trips: in such cases, rapid transit may be able to 
support significant new development.  A number of routes have been identified as having 
potential for tram-train or other metro-type services, for example: Manchester to Marple; 
Manchester to Glossop; Manchester to Wigan via Atherton; and Stockport to Altrincham.  
Work has recently been carried out to identify the potential to provide rapid transit between 
Oldham/Ashton and Stockport, which is a national/regional transport hub. 

382. On corridors where there are high volumes of mostly short-distance trips, Quality Bus Transit 
can provide a step-change in the public transport offer, especially for travel between adjacent 
town centres and intermediate locations.  As described earlier in this document, Quality Bus 
Transit comprises whole-route upgrades of busy bus corridors, with the emphasis on quality, 
reliability, and integration into the urban realm.   It will offer similar quality of design to that of 
best-practice street-running light rail, with bus priority to achieve reliable services, attractive 
stops and interchanges, and high-quality vehicles. 

383.  We therefore need to make sure that bus priority and other bus infrastructure is in place 
throughout Greater Manchester to support existing and future jobs in the town centres and 
key employment areas and to give easier access to interchanges for onward travel.  Bus 
Corridor Upgrades – focused on achieving faster and more reliable bus services - are proposed 
on several sections of busy highway where Quality Bus Transit is not feasible due to the need 
to accommodate high volumes of general traffic.  In some places it may be possible to 
introduce short sections of segregated route to bypass congestion. Bus priority will also benefit 
middle- distance trips by bus to/from areas outside Greater Manchester such as East 
Lancashire, for which there is no viable rail alternative. 

384. We will also need to work with the rail industry to improve rail services for local journeys, 
bearing in mind the fact that limited capacity often means that a choice has to be made 
between improving local stopping services and long distance ones.  In the future, additional 
capacity may be released following the arrival of HS2.  Improvements to rail services have the 
potential to relieve the road network for middle- and long-distance journeys both within 
Greater Manchester and to neighbouring areas. Increased capacity and speed on the line to 
Warrington central would make rail more attractive for journeys to the Birchwood and Omega 
employment areas, while improvements to the Clitheroe-Manchester rail line would benefit 
both commuters and students. The Preston-Bolton-Manchester line will become increasingly 
important for commuters with the growth of the Buckshaw Village major mixed use 
development near Chorley, while the proposed Skelmersdale rail link and station will reduce 
car traffic in the west of Wigan.  Our Prospectus for Rail contains proposed interventions for 
improving the offer for rail-based transport, both on the National Rail network and the 
Metrolink network. 

385. Interchanges in the major town centres function as Greater Manchester Hubs, facilitating 
travel across the conurbation, and we will continue to make sure that these provide high 
quality facilities. We will also identify locations such as local towns and large employment or 
service sites (eg major hospitals) that can increase their role as Local Hubs, making interchange 
easier for a range of day-to-day journeys. Improvements to the rail stations and Metrolink 
stops that act as Neighbourhood Gateways are also vital in encouraging public transport use 
(see section 167). 

Document Pack Page 137



 

114 

386. Cycling can provide a healthy, low-cost alternative to car travel. However, cycle routes are 
often fragmented and while strategic routes have been developed inside the M60, investment 
elsewhere has been more piecemeal.  This is now being remedied through the Bee Network, 
which will deliver a Greater Manchester-wide network of dedicated, high quality, newly built 
or enhanced cycle routes. The Bee Network is the longest planned walking and cycling network 
in the UK and when complete, it will connect every neighbourhood of Greater Manchester.  

387. Improvements to infrastructure and services alone will not be enough to achieve a significant 
modal shift. Travel choices interventions will be needed, particularly to persuade people that 
journeys involving interchange have become easier. Our programmes will include: working 
with businesses and their employees to encourage them to use sustainable modes; informing 
jobseekers about how they could travel to jobs, and providing support; promoting the use of 
new transport infrastructure and services; working with key healthcare and education sites 
and tourism venues to promote sustainable travel; and promoting sustainable transport to 
major new developments. 

Delivering a More Reliable Highway Network 

388. The Strategic Road Network around Greater Manchester performs a vital role in supporting 
movement across the city-region as well as providing regional and national links. It is at 
capacity in peak periods in key areas and its use for many local journeys reduces its availability 
for longer distance trips. Problems are particularly acute in Salford, which is at the confluence 
of motorways approaching the Regional Centre. An increase in traffic volumes has had a 
disproportionate impact on journey times in Salford West, and this will be exacerbated by 
planned developments in the area.  Congestion is also a serious problem on the M60 through 
Stockport town centre and around Denton Interchange, around Sharston on the M56, and on 
the M66 past Bury town centre and Heywood Distribution Park to its intersection with the 
M60 and M62 at Simister Island. The limited number of crossings over the Manchester Ship 
Canal also has the effect of increasing traffic flows and congestion on the M60 around Barton 
High Level Bridge.  The resulting congestion in these areas reduces connectivity across the 
conurbation and with neighbouring areas including Warrington, Cheshire East and East 
Lancashire, and leads to overflow onto local roads, with adverse effects on local communities. 

389. There are also congestion hotspots and slow peak journey times on the local road network 
throughout the conurbation, particularly on the approaches to town centres, Manchester city 
centre and the Trafford Centre, and on routes leading to the motorway network. Traffic 
accessing motorway junctions results in congestion in adjacent communities eg Milnrow in 
relation to M62 junction 21. Commuter and through traffic is a major problem in some areas, 
particularly in the Longdendale area of Tameside where traffic from Glossop is added to longer 
distance traffic from the A57 Snake Pass route from Sheffield and A628 Woodhead Pass route 
from Barnsley, and on major routes through Stockport and Trafford, particularly the A34, 
which carry commuter traffic from Cheshire East and High Peak. The capacity issues across our 
road network give rise to issues of congestion, safety for vulnerable road users, poor air 
quality, high carbon emissions and unreliable bus journey times. 

Document Pack Page 138



 

115 

 

390.  In addition, the nature of the road network is an issue in some areas. In Wigan the major 
roads wind through many small centres, resulting in slow journey times, while in the Pennine 
foothills the roads become rural in nature and many are unsuited to the volume of traffic they 
are now carrying. The lack of good quality alternative routes puts additional pressure on the 
M62, adding to congestion on that road. However major improvements, or new infrastructure, 
could have a damaging impact on the environment of the National Park through which these 
routes run. A further issue is that of resilience, with adverse weather conditions leading to the 
closure of Pennine routes in the winter.  Roads in the Pennine fringe areas have particular 
maintenance problems due to the topography and the weather, with structures such as dry 
stone walls and gullies essential to keeping key arteries open. As climate change continues, 
adverse weather is likely to become a more frequent and widespread issue.  

391. The pressure to move increasing volumes of road traffic efficiently across the city-region as the 
population and economy grows must be balanced with protecting local communities and 
maintaining the viability and accessibility of local centres along key routes, ensuring that they 
are places for people and not just for traffic. Our priority is to make the best use of the existing 
road network through a combination of using technology to better manage traffic flows and 
travel demand management to encourage people to travel at different times, on different 
routes or to switch to public transport or cycling or walking. However, in some cases highway 
improvements will be needed to relieve congestion hotspots, improve safety on key freight 
routes, to facilitate new development or to mitigate the impact of traffic on local communities. 
We will need to ensure that environmental issues arising from new or improved highways are 
mitigated, particularly in terms of air quality and carbon emissions.  

392. As our economy expands, the growth in the logistics sector, through major new distribution 
sites across Greater Manchester and through growth in areas such as internet shopping, will 
potentially add to congestion on the network. We will work with businesses to develop re-
timing strategies to support freight deliveries outside of peak hours and also consider pilots for 

Document Pack Page 139



 

116 

different types of Urban Distribution Centre. Both measures will reduce congestion and 
improve air quality in town centres. 

Supporting New Development 

393. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment (2020) – The Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) – has set out a blueprint for the scale and distribution 
of housing and employment development through to 2037.  The GMSF Spatial Strategy sets 
out policies across the following areas: 

• Core Growth Area: central Manchester, south-east Salford, and north Trafford 

• Inner Area Regeneration: surrounding inner parts of Manchester, Salford and Trafford  

• Boost Northern Competitiveness: Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, Tameside, Wigan, and 
west Salford 

• Sustain Southern Competitiveness: Stockport, most of Trafford, and south Manchester 

394. A significant proportion of housing and employment growth is proposed within the Regional 
Centre combined with housing and employment development to boost competitiveness in 
northern areas of Greater Manchester and to sustain the competitiveness of the south.  

395. The provision of attractive public transport and active travel alternatives, supported by 
behaviour change measures, to reduce the need to travel by car, will be crucial if we are to 
fulfill Greater Manchester’s growth potential in a way that makes the conurbation a highly 
desirable place to live. In the case of employment development, it will also be vital to provide 
non-car access for workers, in order to spread the benefits of economic growth throughout 
the conurbation.  

396. Some major development areas could potentially be served by new rapid transit links 
(including bus rapid transit), subject to the development of a good business case.  In most 
cases, the key to improved public transport connectivity will be to improve access via 
interchange points, not only in the Regional Centre but increasingly through a network of 
Greater Manchester Hubs, served by better integrated services, including orbital services. 
Manchester Airport will have an increasingly important role in enabling improved public 
transport links across the south of the conurbation. Public transport, walking and cycling links 
to local stations close to development areas will also be important in extending the reach of 
the rail network.  

397. The provision of attractive cycle routes linking into existing networks will also have an 
important role to play in providing an alternative to car travel. As well as reducing car trips, 
cycling can offer a low-cost and flexible alternative for access to work, particularly where a 
low level of demand means that there is no public transport. 

398. While some additional road infrastructure, such as access roads or bypasses, will inevitably be 
required to serve very large-scale developments, improvements to the performance and 
resilience of our highways will not be achieved simply through road building.  Appropriate 

Document Pack Page 140



 

117 

demand management will also be needed to manage traffic flows, particularly during peak 
periods.   

399. The levels of development anticipated across Greater Manchester over the period to 2040 will 
inevitably generate significant amounts of construction traffic and could potentially impact on 
the operation of our transport networks.  For example, the levels and nature of road traffic 
generated could add to congestion and impact on the safety of vulnerable road users.  We will 
work with partners to minimise impacts and safeguard the operation of our networks during 
construction works through, for example, the creation of Construction Management Plans for 
new developments. 

400. The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) has identified development 
locations and corridors that are strategically significant in terms of their economic importance 
and role in meeting future development needs. Four of these: Manchester City Centre, The 
Quays, Port Salford, and Airport Gateway, have been discussed in previous chapters, however 
other areas have also been identified as strategic locations for development, as detailed 
below:  

The Main Town Centres 

401. The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) states that the role of the main 
town centres as local economic drivers will continue to be developed, providing the primary 
focus for office, retail, leisure and cultural activity in their surrounding areas and providing 
complementary residential development. Future transport investment to support the role of 
town centres will therefore focus not only on improving access to the centre, in terms of 
public transport, car parking, loading/unloading facilities, cycle routes and signage, but 
creating a high quality environment for visitors, workers and residents to enjoy. This may 
include urban realm enhancements to improve the quality of pedestrian links and public 
spaces, or traffic management measures to reduce the impact of motorised vehicles in key 
areas. 

North-East Growth Corridor 

402. The North-East Growth Corridor which extends eastwards from junction 18 of the M62 will 
deliver a nationally-significant area of economic activity and growth which will be supported 
by a significant increase in the residential offer in this location, including in terms of type, 
quality and mix, thereby delivering truly inclusive growth over the lifetime of the GMSF.  Its 
location on strategic transport corridors, east-west to Liverpool, Leeds and Hull and north to 
Lancashire, will make it an attractive location for new and growing employment sectors such 
as advanced manufacturing and logistics. Significant investment in the transport network will 
be needed to support the scale of development proposed: to improve the reliability of the 
M60/M62, improve the operation of Simister Island, improve access to/from motorway 
junctions (particularly at J3 of the M66, and J19 of the M60), and create new sustainable 
transport links to connect the area in to adjacent residential areas and town centres as well as 
to the wider public transport network.  

403. There is also considered to be a potential opportunity for further expansion of the economic 
offer in the eastern most part of this key gateway location where the GMSF Key Diagram 
identifies the High Crompton Broad Location which has the potential to diversify further the 

Document Pack Page 141



 

118 

employment and housing offer in Oldham by ensuring truly inclusive growth could be 
achieved which would help to reduce further the levels of deprivation and poverty. 

Wigan-Bolton Growth Corridor 

404. The Wigan – Bolton Growth Corridor will deliver a regionally-significant area of economic and 
residential development. The majority of new development in the corridor will be on 
previously-developed land, within the urban area. However, in order to meet the overall 
spatial strategy, the GMSF also allocates five sites within the area, and supports development 
at Royal Bolton Hospital.  

405. Proposed new highway infrastructure will connect junction 26 of the M6 and junction 5 and 
will improve public transport connections. Measures to improve the provision of bus services 
along the corridor and to increase the use of rail lines will be implemented, potentially 
including a Wigan to Bolton Quality Bus Transit corridor, conversion of the Atherton line to 
allow for metro/tram-train services, and the electrification of the Bolton to Wigan line. 

New Carrington 

406. New Carrington provides a significant opportunity to deliver a transformational mixed-use 
development. This location in the western part of Trafford enables the redevelopment of the 
extensive former Shell Carrington industrial estate, support the regeneration of neighbouring 
Partington and Sale West. The creation of a significant mixed-use development fully 
integrated with the existing communities of Carrington, Partington and Sale West will require 
major investment in active travel, public transport and highways infrastructure.  

407. The former railway line that runs through the site has considerable potential; offering the 
opportunity to deliver a sustainable transport corridor through the site to Timperley / 
Altrincham in the east and also extending through to Irlam / Cadishead in Salford to enable 
better movement across the Manchester Ship Canal. Major improvements in highway access 
will also be required, including the proposed Carrington Relief Road as well as upgrades to the 
Carrington Spur and Junction 8 of the M60 which connect into the development area.  

Other Locations  

408. In addition, there are other locations across Greater Manchester where new transport 
infrastructure will be required, either to open up the site or to provide sustainable transport 
alternatives to reduce the number of car trips generated. In some cases new infrastructure 
may also provide a benefit to the wider area. We will identify suitable measures and seek 
developer contributions as appropriate. 

Neighbouring Areas 

409. The Greater Manchester transport network will also be affected by planned growth in 
neighbouring areas. There are also major and growing employment centres just across the 
Greater Manchester boundary: in Cheshire East, where an additional 6,000 jobs are expected 
by 2030 (including in the North East Cheshire Science Corridor, encompassing Alderley Park 
and Daresbury), at Birchwood and Omega/Lingley Mere in Warrington; and around the M65 
in East Lancashire.  

Document Pack Page 142



 

119 

410. Existing commuter movements will be increased by major residential development in 
Cheshire East, in the Buxton and Chapel-en-le-Frith areas of High Peak, at Buckshaw Village in 
Lancashire and in Warrington. We are working with neighbouring authorities to provide high 
quality, high capacity sustainable transport alternatives in order to relieve pressure on the 
highway network.  

411. Proposed interventions supporting travel across the Wider City-region are set out, in detail, in 
Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan.  

 

  

Document Pack Page 143



 

120 

Connected Neighbourhoods 

 

 

412. The places we live have a major influence on our overall quality of life. Neighbourhoods need 
to be places where people can be safe, healthy, interact with their neighbours and have easy 
access to facilities like shops, schools, healthcare, recreation and a range of jobs. Perhaps 
most importantly they need to be inclusive, so that all residents can participate in community 
life and access the facilities they need. Attractive living environments also play a role in the 
economy, by attracting and retaining the diverse labour market that is needed to support 
economic growth.  

413. Neighbourhoods are also the starting point for many of our journeys, whether long or short, 
and local connectivity can have a major influence on our choice of mode. If local public 
transport is poor, or pedestrian/cycle routes are unattractive, longer journeys may well need 
to be made by car. 

Our ambition is for local neighbourhoods to be safer and more pleasant to walk and cycle 
around, with the impact of traffic on local roads reduced and a year-on-year reduction in 
collisions. To achieve our Right Mix vision, we want to make walking and cycling the natural 
choice for short journeys. 

Ensuring that our town centres are attractive and well connected - and that interchanges are 
easier to access - will increase the proportion of journeys made by public transport and 
encourage people to use local shops and other facilities. 

Document Pack Page 144



 

121 

The Right Mix for Connected Neighbourhoods 

 

414. We are targeting a 15% increase in the number of Neighbourhood trips, with walk and cycle 
taking a higher share of that larger total.  In 2040, we are targeting a 10% cycle mode-share of 
Neighbourhood trips, with a mode-share of more than 50% for walk.  We plan to achieve the 
increase in the number of Neighbourhood trips through more people living in high-density 
housing with excellent access to local facilities, such as in town centres.  Neighbourhood-
focused policies, including Streets for All and the Bee Network, will both increase the 
attractiveness of living in connected neighbourhoods, and increase the mode-share of active 
travel. 

415. While motorised transport will play a role in our future transport network, supporting people 
to make journeys that cannot be made by foot, bike or public transport, its impact on our 
local neighbourhoods needs to be carefully managed to improve safety and reduce noise, air 
pollution, CO2 emissions and severance. We know that that more active lifestyles lead to 
better health outcomes and day-to-day activities like walking or cycling to school or the 
station can be as effective as going to the gym. As well as improving physical health, 
moderate activity can help to combat depression, particularly if it takes place in a pleasant 
environment. Active travel can also provide a low-cost option for people on low incomes. 

416. The way transport is managed in our local neighbourhoods is therefore central to our quality 
of life. The challenges and opportunities described above have informed the development of 
Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach, which aims to make our streets easier to get 
around and more pleasant to be in, while achieving our ambition for 50% of all journeys in 
Greater Manchester to be made by walking, cycling and public transport by 2040. One of the 
areas with the biggest potential for change is people’s travel in local neighbourhoods.  

Active Neighbourhoods  

417. Areas that are easy for people to walk and cycle around also tend to be good places to live, 
with low traffic speeds, safe links to places like shopping centres, schools, parks, countryside 
and with interesting public spaces. Neighbourhoods that are designed to enable more active 

Document Pack Page 145



 

122 

travel provide more opportunities for social interaction and can improve a sense of security 
through the presence of other people.  

418. While bus or car are the best option for some people and some trips, if more journeys can be 
made on foot or by bike, the number of car journeys can be reduced, leading to fewer 
collisions, lower emissions and improved health. Most journeys are short, at five miles or less, 
a distance that can easily be walked or cycled by many people. Even the longer commuting 
journeys can start with a short walk, cycle or bus ride to a station or stop. However, for more 
journeys to be made in this way, we need to create the right environment for people to do this 
safely, conveniently and enjoyably through a combination of good urban planning, behaviour 
change campaigns and measures to make streets safer and more welcoming. 

419. First and foremost, people need to feel that it is safe to walk or cycle.  This is particularly 
important for parents deciding whether to allow a child to walk or cycle to school. Barriers to 
walking and cycling were clearly articulated by Greater Manchester’s first Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner in his Made to Move report and include road safety concerns, poor 
maintenance and unpleasant walking environments. People can also underestimate the time 
that a car journey will take, walking or cycling can often be quicker in urban areas.  

420. The Bee Network proposal for a joined-up cycling and walking network that connects all of 
the communities in Greater Manchester, and the long-term Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan have key roles to play in encouraging cycling and walking, especially for 
short, daily trips. They aim to enable healthy lifestyles, by making walking and cycling 
attractive, convenient and safe for everyone.   

421. The Bee Network proposes a Greater Manchester-wide network of local cycle networks that 
will use a combination of quiet streets, on-highway cycle lanes (segregated from traffic where 
required) and off-road routes, along with the provision of secure parking, will help to make 
cycling a natural choice. As well as parking at key destinations, space is needed in or close to 
homes for secure cycle storage.  

422. For pedestrians, an extensive network of footways and Rights of Way already exists, but safe 
crossings and improvement of footway space are essential, particularly in local centres and 
where residential areas are separated from local shops, schools and other facilities by busy 
roads. Our Streets for All approach, that focuses on how we design streets for people, rather 
than just vehicles, is important. More attractive streets, public spaces and parks, with good 
natural surveillance, will encourage more people to walk. For both pedestrians and cyclists, 
maintenance is important in ensuring that facilities are safe and remain useable in all 
weathers. 

423. Combining benefits for people who walk, cycle and live on our local streets, we will work to 
deliver a network of active neighbourhoods across Greater Manchester, that will create low 
traffic streets, that support and encourage people to spend more time in their streets and 
make journeys by foot and bike. This will be delivered through techniques such as closure of 
residential streets that have high flows of traffic, speed reduction interventions, and 
measures to make our neighbourhoods more attractive and enjoyable places to spend time 
in, such as introducing planting, artwork and seating. 

Document Pack Page 146



 

123 

424. Traffic speed is a major factor in whether people feel safe to walk or cycle and lower speeds 
reduce the severity of casualties. There is evidence that where 20 mph zones have been 
introduced there can be an increase in walking and cycling. On many roads in Greater 
Manchester 20mph speed limits have been implemented, and are legally enforceable by 
Greater Manchester Police. We will continue to implement speed reduction measures where 
these are supported by local residents, prioritising: residential areas; areas around schools; 
areas adjacent to the local or strategic cycle network, where this will help to create a wider 
network of safer routes; and areas identified as having a high collision risk for vulnerable road 
users.  

425. Where major roads border or pass through residential areas, the needs of through traffic 
clearly need to be accommodated but we will seek to mitigate the impact of that through 
traffic and ensure the safety of vulnerable road users, for example by providing safe crossings 
and segregated cycle lanes as well as trixi mirrors at key junctions to give HGV drivers greater 
visibility of cyclists, where appropriate and feasible.  

Environmental Quality 

426. In addition to safety concerns, the pollution and noise from motorised traffic can impact on 
the quality of life in residential areas and deter people from walking and cycling.  

427. The city-region is one of a several areas across the UK where mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
concentrations exceed statutory limits. Road transport is responsible for 80% of NO2 pollution 
at the roadside, where it is most damaging to health. The youngest, the oldest, those living in 
areas of deprivation, and those living with existing respiratory or cardiovascular disease are 
most likely to be affected by exposure to air pollution. Government has set out a strictly 
defined process with extremely challenging deadlines for such areas to reduce NO2 levels to 
safe limits, and the Greater Manchester local authorities, alongside GMCA and TfGM are now 
developing a Clean Air Plan that can meet nationally specified standards in the shortest time 
possible.  

428. The Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) has identified areas in all the 
major cities where noise is a problem, and although electric vehicles will reduce this problem 
in the medium term, we need to take opportunities to reduce noise through design (including 
the use of noise-reducing surfacing) or traffic management (smoothing traffic flow) where 
possible. 

429. ‘Green infrastructure’ such as parks and roadside trees not only help to create much more 
pleasant places to live, but bring important environmental benefits through reducing 
temperatures, noise and pollution as well as absorbing run-off. Blue infrastructure also 
contributes to our quality of life, and our canals and rivers can provide attractive, traffic-free 
routes for walking and cycling.  

Document Pack Page 147



 

124 

 

430. Most of our urban environments are already in existence, and improvements will need to be 
made over time as opportunities arise and as funding allows. However, new developments 
offer an opportunity to create environments where walking and cycling can become second 
nature for many people because the streets and public spaces have been designed with active 
travel in mind. Section 65 has described the principles that we believe should be followed for 
new development, and how we will work with developers to achieve this. 

Improving Access 

Access to local facilities 

431. While for many people the daily commute is the journey they are most concerned about, the 
majority of journeys in Greater Manchester are not to work but for shopping, education, 
leisure, or to local services like healthcare. Everyone needs easy access to these facilities to 
meet their day-to-day needs. 

432. Many of these needs are met within local town centres, which are also hubs of the public 
transport network. Travel across the wider city-region highlighted how transport can help the 
main centres to remain competitive by improving access to and around them, including for 
deliveries, while at the same time reducing the dominance of the car to provide a pleasant 
environment for visitors. The same principles apply to our smaller local centres and making 
them more attractive and easier for shoppers and visitors to get around on foot is vital. Our 
aim is to achieve centres that are walkable, with pedestrian-friendly spaces, which 
accommodate access by bike and by public transport but are still accessible by car and are 
viable for business. 

433. Reduced traffic volumes and speeds can greatly add to the vitality of centres, enabling people 
to walk in a leisurely way, or stop at pavement cafes. Despite the fears often expressed by 
retailers, studies in London show that the spending power of pedestrians, cyclists and public 

Document Pack Page 148



 

125 

transport users is at least as great as for car users and improvements in the quality of street 
design, including the reduction of clutter can also increase both retail rents and residential 
prices.  The benefits of traffic-free streets must be balanced with the need to maintain access 
for cars, buses and servicing. Many local centres are bisected by major roads, which create 
noise, pollution and severance as well as presenting a danger for cyclists and pedestrians, 
particularly children, disabled and older people. While the movement of traffic needs to be 
accommodated, greater emphasis must be given to the needs of ‘the place’, prioritising 
pedestrians, cyclists and bus passengers through crossing facilities, improved links and signage 
from interchanges and car parks, and improved parking for cycles and motorcycles.  Access is 
also needed for the servicing of shops and other businesses. This can add to congestion at 
peak times or in locations where there are no off-highway loading bays (as is often the case in 
older centres). We will promote the adoption of Delivery and Servicing Plans to mitigate these 
issues. 

434. The school journey can have a significant impact on local traffic and transporting children to 
school by car also contributes to reduced levels of fitness and increasing obesity. For journeys 
to primary school, a switch to more walking or cycling would both reduce traffic in residential 
areas and improve the health of our young people.  Journeys to secondary school are generally 
longer, but many could still be made on foot or by bike if safer routes and cycle parking were 
provided. To encourage more school pupils to walk or cycle to school we need to: work with 
the health sector to promote active travel to schools, including the development of school 
travel plans; continue to provide Bikeability training to primary school pupils, as funding 
allows; and work with secondary schools that are located close to local cycle networks to 
encourage cycling, including the provision of secure cycle parking. 

435. Many secondary school journeys are made by public transport, particularly bus. Local 
authorities have a statutory obligation to provide free school transport for journeys over a 
certain length but in addition, fare-paying, dedicated school bus services are also provided to 
some schools by TfGM. In view of the rising cost of this provision, these journeys should be 
integrated as much as possible into the local bus network, with shorter journeys made by 
cycling or walking where possible.  

Document Pack Page 149



 

126 

 

436. The location of services can affect people’s ability to reach them without a car. The 
reorganisation of healthcare has led to more services being provided at the local level – 
including at ‘super surgeries’ rather than traditional GP surgeries. Good access is vital, as 
missed appointments can lead to poorer health, and for the rising proportion of people in their 
eighties, regular check-ups may prevent the need for a hospital stay. 

437. For education, the recent growth in the under-fives population is feeding through into an 
increased demand for school places in some areas. In the past, falling school rolls resulted in 
school sites being re-developed, and there will now be a need to identify suitable 
replacements within easy reach of residential areas, either on foot/by bike, or with good public 
transport access. 

Access to public transport 

438. Access to public transport is vital to the quality of life for those who do not have access to a 
car. Various studies have shown that lack of transport can be a barrier to taking up work, while 
transport problems can lead to missed health appointments. At the same time, good access to 
public transport is also essential if we are to reduce traffic in neighbourhoods. 

439. Most people in Greater Manchester are within walking distance of public transport. However, 
in an ageing society, an increasing number of people may have difficulty in walking to a station 
or stop. This also applies to people of all ages with disabilities. The quality and safety of the 
route and the waiting environment also affect people’s willingness to use the services on offer. 
Many local stations are therefore not used to their full potential. We need to make them more 
appealing as waiting environments, with a consistent standard of facilities and information 
provision, including signing from the highway and locations such as town centres. In addition, 

Document Pack Page 150



 

127 

making them more effective as interchanges, through provision of cycle parking, bus links and, 
where appropriate, car parking will increase usage. However, our stations are so much more 
than a gateway to the transport network and offer significant potential to improve local areas. 
We will continue to explore how stations, as community assets, can generate wealth and 
wellbeing, learning from best practice internationally where many stations have been 
developed to support local economic and social development.  

440. The development of station travel plans can maximise access by sustainable modes and raise 
awareness of the station locally. The work of Community Rail Partnerships and Friends of 
Stations groups is also important in this respect and greatly valued.  

441. Park and ride facilities need to be carefully located, as they can lead to people driving further 
before they start their public transport journey. Small station car parks can, however, be 
important locally if on-street parking would cause a problem and can improve access for 
disabled people.   

442. Our policies for the bus network are described in Part 2. Given financial constraints, we must 
recognise that it will never be possible to provide all the services that people would like and 
will need to maximise the potential of local self-help and innovative solutions. In Greater 
Manchester, Local Link shared minibuses and Ring and Ride accessible transport services are 
available for people who find it difficult to use public transport. Some parts of Greater 
Manchester have more local community transport schemes offering group transport in 
communities where deprivation can limit access to transport. There are two broad types of 
operation: group mini-bus hire schemes aimed at charities, elderly or disabled groups, sports 
clubs etc. or; voluntary car schemes which use volunteers’ cars to transport people to hospital 
etc. These schemes are usually part funded locally although are reliant on volunteer drivers 
and office staff and charitable contributions. In the future, the growth of smart technology will 
make it easier for groups of people to come together to provide their own transport through 
crowdsourcing.  

Inclusive Neighbourhoods 

443. Truly connected neighbourhoods enable everyone to access work, local facilities and 
recreation and to interact with other people in a pleasant environment. Designing new 
infrastructure and services to improve accessibility for people with mobility problems will have 
the additional benefit of future-proofing the transport network to meet the needs of an ageing 
society. Our specific policies on improving accessibility are set out in Part 2, however we also 
need to make sure that other schemes do not disadvantage people with mobility problems and 
that they make the most of opportunities to improve accessibility. TfGM already works with 
the Disability Design Reference Group to do this in relation to public transport infrastructure. 
Measures that need to be considered as part of transport schemes include the provision of 
tactile paving and raised bus stop kerbs, extended crossing times at signals, provision of 
seating (including informal seating opportunities such as low walls), toilets and dementia-
friendly design such as clear signage and provision of distinctive landmarks to aid navigation. If 
‘shared space’ schemes are introduced to give greater pedestrian priority in centres, these 
must be made safe for visually impaired people to navigate safely, by including or retaining 
tactile features. 

Document Pack Page 151



 

128 

444. People living in rural areas also experience specific transport problems. They generally must 
travel further to reach key services and therefore may have less potential to walk or cycle. 
Public transport provision is limited due to the low demand, which means that these areas are 
more car dependent. At the same time, their importance as locations for recreation or their 
position on strategic routes can lead to high traffic volumes on unsuitable roads. To improve 
access in rural areas we need to: improve interchange between rail and bus at rural stations; 
maintain Rights of Way and Bridleways as funding allows; support proposals for speed 
reduction, including ‘quiet lanes’ where this will provide safer walking and cycling links to local 
facilities such as schools and stations; and infill gaps in long distance walking and cycling routes 
that improve access to the countryside. 

445. Our policies for achieving better connected neighbourhoods will make it easier for people to 
travel by sustainable modes, particularly walking and cycling. However, improvements in 
infrastructure and services need to be complemented by behaviour change measures that 
encourage people to choose active travel for short journeys, including journeys to school, 
encouraging the use of local stations, promoting sustainable travel in new developments and 
promoting the use of new transport infrastructure.  

446. Proposed interventions supporting better travel at local neighborhood level are set out, in 
detail, in Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan and in the ten Local Implementation Plans 
(LIPs) covering the period 2020 to 2025. Each of the ten councils that make up Greater 
Manchester has its own LIP. The LIPs are designed to complement the GM Transport Strategy 
2040 and Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan, providing details of how their outcomes will 
be achieved locally in each council area, focusing particularly on supporting local trips within 
neighbourhoods and to local centres. TfGM is also committed to supporting the development 
of Neighbourhood Plans when it comes to addressing transport challenges faced by 
communities. 

 

  

Document Pack Page 152



 

129 

Part 4  
Strategy Delivery  
 
Introduction  

447. Realising our ambitions for 2040 will involve a range of partners. TfGM, the ten Greater 
Manchester local authorities and the GMLEP will continue to work together with the 
Department for Transport, Highways England, Network Rail, train and bus operators, as well as 
private developers, to deliver the interventions needed. This will be particularly important in 
ensuring that the transport network can support the growth identified through the Greater 
Manchester's Plan for Homes, Jobs, and the Environment (the spatial framework).  

448. We recognise that the information and policies contained in this document are at a high level. 
In some cases, more detailed sub-strategies will be published to provide more detailed 
guidance. Ongoing strategy development of this kind will be reflected in the Delivery Plans that 
underpin this Strategy. 

449. An effective transport system for Greater Manchester will require: 

• the delivery of a strong pipeline of transport schemes, rigorously prioritised to support our 
local strategic objectives and delivered to the highest standard, building on our excellent 
capital programme track record; 

• the establishment of best-in-class maintenance and renewal standards that ensure 
maintenance failings- from potholes to public transport breakdowns- are managed down 
and eradicated in the interests of a reliable network and productive economy; and 

• world-class customer service standards across our entire transport system, offering 
effective and attractive travel choices that support modern lifestyles and businesses 
throughout the week.  

Document Pack Page 153



 

130 

450. These three aspects will be equally critical to our success and all require long term funding:

 

Prioritisation 
451. Greater Manchester has a strong track record in prioritising investment in those transport 

initiatives that can most directly support the city-region’s wider strategic objectives. Through 
our experience in co-designing transport and economic strategies, we have a clear 
understanding of the role of effective and reliable transport networks in connecting businesses 
with their supply chains, their customers, and their labour markets; and in controlling costs, 
promoting competition and spreading opportunity. 

452. This well-developed approach ensures that investment is prioritised in a manner that supports 
the economic performance of the city-region first and foremost, while also ensuring that at a 
programme level, we are able to address the city-region’s wider environmental and well-being 
issues. 

453. As the discussion of policy drivers, set out earlier in this document, demonstrates it will be 
critical for this clear and consistent approach to prioritisation to be maintained. This will 
enable Greater Manchester to achieve its objectives of raising prosperity for all, while 
establishing a sustainable growth path for the city-region.  

454. The Greater Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP) enables infrastructure to be 
developed in a comprehensive, placed-based manner, looking both at local schemes and the 
strategic programmes that support them at a city-region level. The aim is for full integration 
of the process that links planning, prioritisation and then funding and delivery. GMIP is based 
on the following key themes: 

Document Pack Page 154



 

131 

• A place-based approach: integration of transport, housing and regeneration to give place-
based investment packages/interventions; 

• GM-wide strategic investment packages: delivering at scale, supported by integrated 
procurement, and strong integration with national agencies, infrastructure providers and 
utilities; and 

• Strong governance: over ten years’ experience of robust governance and delivery, and an 
ability to manage and deliver investment with flexibility and hence more quickly. 

455. GMIP is accountable to an official-led Delivery Executive chaired by the GMCA Chief Executive 
and attended by external partners such as United Utilities and the Infrastructure and Projects 
Authority. This regularly reports to the Combined Authority, chaired by the Mayor. 

New Investment 

456. Significant new investment is either underway or planned. Current programmes include: the 
expansion of the Metrolink network; a bus priority programme; new transport interchanges; 
extensive walking and cycling programmes and several highway schemes to tackle critical 
bottlenecks and relieve communities and town centres from through traffic. The widespread 
use of mobile technology and broadband are transforming the way travellers search for and 
receive information as well as the management of our networks. At the same time, 
comprehensive travel choices programmes are encouraging higher levels of active and 
sustainable travel across Greater Manchester. 

 

Document Pack Page 155



 

132 

457. Notwithstanding the levels of committed investment, this strategy document has 
demonstrated that further interventions will be needed over the period to 2040 if we are to 
achieve our vision of ‘world class connections that support long-term, sustainable economic 
growth and access to opportunity for all’. We will work with partners to maximise the funding 
available to Greater Manchester and bring forward specific schemes in our five-year Delivery 
Plans accordingly. 

Maintenance and Renewal 

458. Maintenance and renewal are vital to the safe and efficient functioning of our highways and 
we recognise that the significant ongoing investment in new infrastructure also increases the 
requirement for spending on maintenance. We need to: 

• address a substantial maintenance backlog on the highway network; 

• renew key structures such as bridges, retaining walls and culverts; and 

• make all our networks more resilient to the effects of climate change.  

To achieve this, it is even more essential that we both increase the level of funding for 
maintenance and increase the efficiency of maintenance operations. 

459. This will require new funding arrangements, combining local and national funding sources to 
establish a consistent, long-term spending platform. In addition, it will require Greater 
Manchester to ensure that we manage the costs of maintenance and achieve economies of 
scale through collaborative working between the ten local authorities, TfGM and Highways 
England, at a city-region level. The highways reform measures in the Greater Manchester 
Devolution Agreement support this approach. We will also continue to develop our delivery 
systems to ensure that Greater Manchester is established as a national centre of best practice 
for highways network maintenance and resilience. 

460. Equally critical is a robust and resilient public transport network. We will establish a whole 
lifecycle planning and delivery process for the tram, train and bus networks that: 

• ensures that timely and funded track/infrastructure renewal plans are built into our 
investment plans; and 

• establishes a robust funding and delivery plan for vehicle renewal and fleet expansion 
across public transport to ensure that life-expired vehicles are replaced before they 
become a threat to the performance or attractiveness of our transport system. 

Document Pack Page 156



 

133 

 

Service Delivery 

461. We are committed to transforming customer quality across the transport system. The 
transport governance and delivery reforms within this strategy and the Greater Manchester 
Devolution Agreement, alongside our investment programmes, will better enable us to target 
that investment towards our policy priorities and achieve greater efficiency in the use of 
resources. GMCA is continuing to increase the integration of planning and funding across 
economic development, public health, health provision, land use planning and transport.  

462. The Greater Manchester Agreement in 2014 announced the first phase of significant 
devolution to Greater Manchester, including in-principle agreement on three areas of 
transport: highways, rail and bus. Collectively, supported by the long-term funding 
settlements, these reforms will allow GMCA to oversee the delivery of the integrated transport 
network at the heart of this strategy. 

463. On the highway network, the creation of GMCA meant that TfGM was granted initial co-
ordination functions to enable an efficient and co-ordinated approach in several areas, such as 
urban traffic control, cycling and road safety. Agreement has also been reached for TfGM to 
co-ordinate management of a Key Route Network of the strategically important local roads, 
which carry the critical mass of daily commuting and logistics movements. The aim of this is to: 
develop and promote one consistent highways investment pipeline; increase the reliability and 
consistency of service delivery and improve communication with, and information for, all road 
users. Building on this co-ordinated approach, a Memorandum of Understanding between 
TfGM and Highways England aims to ensure co-operation in terms of operational and tactical 
planning across the two networks as well as the development of future strategy. This reflects 

Document Pack Page 157



 

134 

not only the importance of the SRN to our economy, but the need to integrate the planning 
and management of the whole road network, given that conditions on the SRN affect the local 
network and vice versa. We will need to work closely with both Highways England and 
Transport for the North to identify future investment needs across the SRN and ensure that 
the opportunities for shared investment in infrastructure, to improve access to the SRN and 
between and across the northern city-regions, are fully realised.   

464. On the rail network, we believe that the existing stations in Greater Manchester represent a 
significant opportunity for customers, communities and the taxpayer. The lack of a guiding 
mind for stations and absence of evidence-based decision making has led to poor investment 
choices and stalled the potential to create meaningful step change in the quality of the 
experience at stations. The relatively short-term nature of rail franchises means that operators 
tend to focus on investments which provide a commercial return within these timescales 
rather than taking a longer-term view of the needs of customers and community served by 
that station. Work is now underway - with rail partners - to test working in partnership with 
operators and other industry stakeholders at many Greater Manchester rail stations. We are 
also exerting greater influence over the rail network by working with neighbouring regions 
through Transport for the North and Rail North. 

 

  

Document Pack Page 158



 

135 

Policies and Interventions 

Policies 

465. Our policies are set out in Part 2 and summarised below.  

Policy 1: We will work with partners to ensure that modes of transport such as taxis, 
private hire vehicles and other demand responsive services - as well as shared mobility 
solutions, including car clubs, cycle hire and other forms of shared transport - are 
available and fully integrated into the Greater Manchester transport network. 

Policy 2: Working with partners, we will seek to deliver integrated pricing and payment 
systems across the transport network, including smart ticketing for public transport, to 
encourage use of public transport in line with the GM Transport Strategy 2040.  

Policy 3: We will maintain a conurbation-wide programme of interventions designed to 
encourage people to make sustainable journeys, supported by journey planning tools and 
information; to encourage travel behaviour change and mode shift, in order to make the 
most efficient use of available capacity, particularly during peak periods. 

Policy 4: We will work with developers to ensure that new developments are 
accessible by sustainable modes, and to reduce transport emissions and impacts on the 
highway network.  

Policy 5:  We will work with public transport operators and Network Rail to ensure that all 
transport infrastructure, vehicles and information are as accessible as possible for all our 
customers, regardless of their age and mobility.  

Policy 6:  We will work with partners to better integrate accessible travel services across 
Greater Manchester, to increase availability and convenience for customers.  

Policy 7: As we plan our transport network, we will support the creation of a more 
inclusive economy for GM by considering how best to improve the prospects of people 
living in deprived communities - including by ensuring that more people can access jobs, 
education, skills training and childcare. 

Policy 8:  We will work with partners to deliver transport interventions that improve the 
health of Greater Manchester residents, including: mitigating against pollution from 
motor vehicles; increasing levels of physical activity; improving access to healthcare; and 
reducing social isolation 

Policy 9: We will work with partners and key stakeholders to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) 
levels on local roads within legal limits, and to reduce levels of particulate matter - both of 
which are emitted from internal combustion engines. 

Policy 10: We will play our part in delivering carbon neutrality, including by: implementing 
measures that will mitigate against climate change, improving air quality, encouraging 
responsible consumerism, ensuring net environmental gain wherever possible and making 
sure our future built environment is resilient to the impacts of climate change.  

Policy 11: We will work with partners, including the Canals and Rivers Trust, to enhance 
green and blue infrastructure to provide a safe and attractive environment for walking 
and cycling.  

Policy 12:  We will aim to minimise the impact of transport on the built and natural 
environment - including townscape, the historic environment, cultural heritage, 

Document Pack Page 159



 

136 

landscape, habitats and biodiversity, geodiversity, water quality, pollution, flood risk and 
use of resource - and will seek to deliver environmental enhancements and biodiversity 
net gain where possible. 

Policy 13: We will continue to deliver measures, and put in place appropriate 
management systems, to improve the reliability of the transport network. 

Policy 14: Working with partners; including through the Safer Roads Partnership, we will 
deliver initiatives aimed at improving safety on the highway network, with a particular 
focus on the most vulnerable road users. 

Policy 15: Working through Safer Roads Greater Manchester (SRGM), we will facilitate the 
delivery of interventions to address road safety issues, with a particular focus on 
supporting those who are walking and cycling.  

Policy 16: We will set out a clear strategy for the EV charging infrastructure network 
required to provide greater confidence to residents and businesses to invest in electric 
vehicles. 

Policy 17: We will provide a unified, Greater Manchester approach to managing the Key 
Route Network (KRN) of roads, in line with our Streets for All Strategy principles, and work 
with Highways England to co-ordinate this with the management of the Strategic Route 
Network (SRN). 

Policy 18:  We will work, including through the GM logistics forums, to improve journey 
times and reliability for deliveries, and to reduce the environmental impact of logistics, 
including the promotion of mode shift. 

Policy 19: We will ensure our streets will be welcoming and safe spaces for all 
people, enabling more travel on foot, bike and public transport while creating better 
places that support local communities and business.  

Policy 20:  Where feasible we will introduce appropriate bus priority measures on the 
highway network to improve bus reliability and will keep existing measures under review 
to ensure effectiveness.  This will include developing proposals for “Quality Bus Transit” 
corridors on key routes.   

Policy 21: We will work to improve and maintain the condition and resilience of our road 
network, drawing on best practice. 

Policy 22: We will work with partners to improve walking and cycling facilities across 
Greater Manchester, including development of a strategic walking and cycling network 
(the “Bee Network”), wayfinding and cycle parking, and supporting “Streets for All” design 
guidance to ensure consistently high quality standards across the network. 

Policy 23: Working with partners, we will seek to establish and promote one integrated 
Greater Manchester public transport network (“Our Network”), making it easy for 
customers to plan, make and pay for their journeys using different modes and services 

Policy 24: We will seek to ensure a consistent standard of facilities at transport hubs, 
appropriate for their size and function, and will work with partners to improve access to 
them by all modes. 

Policy 25: We will seek to make best use of powers included in the Bus Services Act, as 
well as our existing powers, to give effect to our Vision for Bus. 

Policy 26: We will seek to ensure that accessible coach parking and set down/pick-up 
points are available at key locations. 

Policy 27:  We will work with the taxi and private hire industry to develop minimum 
standards for policy/regulation and operation across Greater Manchester, and work with 
Government to strengthen national legislation. 

Document Pack Page 160



 

137 

Policy 28: We will seek to expand the coverage and capacity of our rapid transit network 
(Metrolink, Rail and Bus Rapid Transit), to deliver improved connectivity to employment 
and other opportunities within the city-region. 

Policy 29: We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail, train operators and with other 
local authorities across the North of England in order to secure our strategic priorities and 
to deliver greater local accountability for all rail-based services.  

Policy 30:  We will continue to work with DfT, Network Rail and Transport for the North to 
secure greater local control of rail stations within Greater Manchester exploring the use 
of any opportunities arising from the Williams Review of the Rail industry. 

 

Funding Mechanisms and New Ways of Working 

Funding Mechanisms 

466. The main source of funding for transport is from central government and in 2014 Greater 
Manchester was awarded funding from the Local Growth Fund (LGF) of £314 million for major 
schemes (costing more than £5 million) and £15.2 million for small schemes (costing less than 
£5 million) for the period 2015/16 to 2020/21.  With this funding assured, an initial investment 
programme was developed, covering several major schemes and a programme of minor works 
for 2015/16 and 2016/17. This is set out in the Greater Manchester Capital Programme 
2015/16-2020/21 (http://www.tfgm.com/ltp3/Pages/Capital-Programme.aspx). As part of the 
Greater Manchester Devolution Deal we have secured Government commitment to 
establishing a multi-year transport settlement for the medium-term that reflects the growth 
potential of the conurbation. This will enable us to plan ahead and use resources more 
effectively than is possible with short-term funding streams. 

401. A further source of Government funding is via funding competitions targeted at specific policy 
objectives. In the past we have been successful in obtaining funding from a number of these, 
eg Local Sustainable Transport Fund, Cycle City Ambition Grant, Pinch Points, the Green Bus 
Fund and the Pothole Fund. We will continue to put forward strong investment cases for this 
type of funding, alongside additional future Local Growth Fund resources. The Referendum 
decision for the UK to leave the European Union will clearly impact on funding, given that 
Greater Manchester has previously benefitted from several European programmes. We will 
work with the Government to identify alternative means of funding for strategically significant 
projects. 

In recognition of the contribution of transport to the wider Greater Manchester Strategy, 
particularly in terms of economic growth, urban regeneration and improved health, we have 
developed mechanisms to use local resources to lever in additional funding.  The Greater 
Manchester Transport Fund (GMTF), which was established in 2009, demonstrated this by 
committing almost £800 million of local borrowing as part of a £1.5 billion fund targeted at 
schemes that will contribute to economic growth. This is continuing to fund a bus priority 
programme, new town centre transport interchanges, additional park and ride facilities and 
targeted highway network enhancements.   

402. As part of the 2012 City Deal, GMCA agreed the principle of an Earn Back model with 
Government, which builds on the GMTF approach of increasing our self-sufficiency in 

Document Pack Page 161



 

138 

delivering infrastructure investment. The Earn Back model uses a formula to provide a long-
term revenue stream to support further long-term investment, subject to additional GVA being 
created as a result of our primary GMTF commitments.  This has funded the A6 to Manchester 
Airport Relief Road and Trafford Park Metrolink line. 

403. Funding for specific projects may also be sought from partners where they meet a shared 
objective – for example the health sector has contributed to the introduction of 20mph zones. 
Developer contributions will also be sought for access improvements or measures to mitigate 
the impact of traffic associated with new developments.  

404. The scale of growth envisaged for Greater Manchester means that major new development 
sites will be brought forward and we will work with Government to develop funding packages 
to bring forward the key infrastructure required. Private sector contributions will also be 
required, e.g. through the pooling of contributions from Community Infrastructure Levy or 
other planning obligations. 

New Ways of Working 

405. The Greater Manchester authorities have a long history of joint working, but the creation of 
GMCA in 2011 has provided a framework within which all ten local authorities can work 
together at the strategic level to achieve shared objectives, as set out in the Greater 
Manchester Strategy. This is leading to changes in the way we work. Increasingly authorities 
are working together to provide shared services, where this brings efficiency savings, and 
some functions are being delivered at the Greater Manchester level to ensure both efficiency 
and consistent standards. This approach also ensures that major investment is targeted where 
it will bring the greatest benefit, and new scheme proposals are rigorously assessed to ensure 
that they are helping to achieve shared objectives and providing good value for money. 

406. The first Greater Manchester mayoral election was held on 4 May 2017. Andy Burnham was 
elected as the inaugural Mayor of Greater Manchester and chairs the GMCA. This governance 
model will oversee the further development of this Transport Strategy, alongside the statutory 
spatial plan for the city-region, and the wider public sector reform programme.  

  

Document Pack Page 162

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2017_Greater_Manchester_mayoral_election
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Andy_Burnham


 

139 

Measuring Performance 

407. We need to know whether our policies and measures are having the desired effect and are 
helping to deliver our strategy.  

408. In Part 1 we identified several challenges that we face in achieving our vision and for each of 
these challenges there is a particular outcome that we would like to see. We will measure the 
extent to which we are achieving these outcomes through a number of key performance 
indicators. These challenges, outcomes and indicators are summarised in the table overleaf. 
More detail about these indicators, including the current values against which we will measure 
performance, can be found in the Delivery Plan. 

409. The information from these indicators will allow adjustments to be made to the strategy if it is 
not working as well as we hoped. Our progress in relation to each of these indicators will be 
reported in each annual update of our Delivery Plan. 

Document Pack Page 163



 

140 

 
 Performance Indicators 

Vision Challenge (from Part 1) Desired Outcome KPI 

Su
p

p
o

rt
in

g 
su

st
ai

n
ab

le
 e

co
n

o
m

ic
 g

ro
w

th
 

Growth could result in increased congestion Reduced congestion Journey speed by mode 

Growing economy requires access to wide pool of labour Better access to skills & 
markets 

Sustainable transport catchment 
population of the Regional Centre  & 
other major employment locations  

Businesses require reliable journey times for deliveries 
and workers 

More reliable journey 
times 

Journey reliability by mode 

Networks need to cope with adverse weather, ageing 
infrastructure and increased demand  

 

Resilient and well 
maintained network 

Satisfaction with road maintenance  

Developing a transport system that compares well to that 
of leading European cities 

People see GM as a good 
place to visit & invest 

Perceptions of GM as a place to live, 
visit, do business 

 

Im
p

ro
vi

n
g 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 

lif
e 

Good access is needed to jobs and training so that 
transport is not a barrier to opportunity. 

Better access to 
jobs/training  

Sustainable transport catchment 
population for key locations - 
employment / colleges] 

Centralisation of services and changes in retailing can 
make it harder for some people to access education, 
healthcare, shopping etc  

Better access to services Sustainable transport catchment 
population for key locations -town 
centres/hospitals] 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 164



 

141 

Vision Challenge (from Part 1) Desired Outcome KPI 

Encouraging people to improve their health through 
greater levels of activity  

More people travelling 
actively 

No. of walking & cycling trips 

Reducing the number of serious casualties on the roads 
and the amount of crime and anti-social behaviour on the 
transport network. 

Improved safety and  
personal security 

 

KSIs split by vulnerable groups,  

Perception of personal security by 
mode 

P
ro

te
ct

in
g 

th
e 

en
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 

Increasing the use of sustainable transport to reduce the 
negative impacts of car use.   

More people travelling by 
non- car modes 

Mode split 

Economic and population growth will increase the demand 
for travel, and increase harmful emissions 

Reduced emissions of 
CO2, NO2  

CO2 emissions,  NO2 emissions  

Making the best use of existing infrastructure to help 
reduce environmental impacts.  

Accessible locations 
prioritised for new 
development  

% of new homes having >level 4 
accessibility to the public transport 
network12 

Protecting the natural and built environment from the 
impacts of transport.  

Infrastructure designed 
and maintained to 
minimise environmental 
impact 

N/A – assurance is via approved Project 
Management Procedures 

 

 

 

12 Based on Greater Manchester Accessibility Levels (GMAL) in the AM Peak period.  See 
http://www.gmtu.gov.uk/gmbusroute/GMAL%20Calculation%20Guide.pdf for further information.   

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 165

http://www.gmtu.gov.uk/gmbusroute/GMAL%20Calculation%20Guide.pdf


 

 
 

Final Conclusions and Next Steps 

410. This strategy document sets out how investment in new transport infrastructure, delivery of 
services and maintenance of existing assets will be focussed to support growth in the widest 
sense, recognising that improving access to jobs and training and improving the health of the 
population are essential aspects of improving productivity, while improving the quality of 
many of our urban areas will be a pre-requisite for attracting investment. The innovative focus 
of the strategy on the requirements of different types of journey, rather than the needs of 
different modes, means that we have been able to take an holistic view of the investment 
needed: to improve connectivity to global markets; transform journey times to other major 
cities; capitalise on the potential of a rapidly growing  Regional Centre, create better linkage 
between jobs and homes across the wider city-region and provide ‘first and last mile’ 
connections within neighbourhoods that will make sustainable travel an attractive option.  

411. Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan, which sits alongside this document, provides the detail 
of the schemes to be delivered in the period 2020-2025. As additional funding is secured in the 
future, subsequent updates of the Delivery Plan will identify the schemes that provide the 
detail for the interventions identified in this Strategy document.  

Document Pack Page 166



 

143 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Appendix - 
GMSF Transport 
Study Technical 
Note 

 

GM Transport 
Strategy 2040 Right 
Mix 

GMSF Publication Version 1: 
October 2020 

Transport Strategy 

Document Pack Page 167



 

144 

 

Version Author Description Issued Reviewer 

0 JL  Base report in the 2019 Draft 
Transport Strategy Evidence. 

  

1 JL GMSF evidence version 05/10/20 JP/NK 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Document Pack Page 168



 

145 

 

Contents 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – ‘Right Mix’ Technical Note 146 

Introduction 146 

Background 147 

Relationship to Other GMSF Evidence 147 

Our transport vision for 2040 149 

A pathway for achieving the “Right Mix” 150 

Spatial themes 151 

The steps to achieve the “Right Mix” 155 

Conclusion: the achievability of the 2040 Right Mix 175 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 169



 

146 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – ‘Right Mix’ 
Technical Note 

Introduction 

1. The GMSF is a joint plan of all ten local authorities in Greater Manchester, providing a 

spatial interpretation of the Greater Manchester Strategy which will set out how Greater 

Manchester should develop over the next two decades up to the year 2037. It will: 

• identify the amount of new development that will come forward across the ten Local 

Authorities, in terms of housing, offices, and industry and warehousing, and the main 

areas in which this will be focused; 

• ensure we have an appropriate supply of land to meet this need; 

• protect the important environmental assets across the conurbation; 

• allocate sites for employment and housing outside of the urban area; 

• support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities; 

• define a new Green Belt boundary for Greater Manchester. 

2. The Plan focuses on making the most of Greater Manchester’s brownfield sites, prioritising 

redevelopment of town centres and other sustainable locations. The Plan is required to 

demonstrate that Greater Manchester has enough land to deliver the homes and jobs 

people require up until 2037, and whilst there is an expectation that the focus of 

development will be on brownfield sites in the early years, it is recognised that some land 

will need to be released from the green belt to fully meet Greater Manchester’s housing 

and employment requirement.  

3. The comments from the Draft GMSF 2019, highlighted respondents’ concerns about the 

ability of the transport network to accommodate growth in Greater Manchester. This note 

explains Greater Manchester’s current pathway to achieving the ‘Right Mix’ transport 

vision to reduce car’s share of trips to no more than 50%, with the remaining 50% made by 

public transport, walking and cycling. This will mean approximately one million more trips 

each day using sustainable transport modes in Greater Manchester by 2040. 

Document Pack Page 170



 

147 

Background 

4. We recognise that the world around us is likely to change significantly over the next twenty 

years, in ways that we cannot always predict. For example, the spread of COVID-19 

throughout 2020 has had a profound impact on people’s lives and wellbeing in a way that 

would have been difficult to imagine previously. While it is rare for an external event to 

have such a huge impact on people’s everyday lives - and travel behaviours (people 

stopped travelling or changed the way they get around) - there is always the potential for 

our plans to be knocked off course by external events.  

5. That is one of the reasons why Greater Manchester has adopted an adaptive, vision-led 

approach to transport planning. This means that the steps needed to achieve our ‘Right 

Mix’ transport vision will be continually monitored, and adjusted if needed, to achieve our 

goals. The ‘Right Mix’ transport vision involves creating a better transport system for 

Greater Manchester, so that we can reduce car’s share of trips to no more than 50%, with 

the remaining 50% made by public transport, walking and cycling.  

6. Although it is intended that this overall Right Mix vision will remain the same, changes in 

the way we achieve the Right Mix - necessitated by external events such as COVID-19, but 

also factors such as population growth – will lead to changes to the type of interventions 

set out in Greater Manchester’s transport plans. This is one of the reasons we update our 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 suite of documents on a regular basis.  

7. This Right Mix Technical Note sets out adjustable steps – a ‘pathway’ – to achieving the 

Right Mix transport vision, in a way that supports existing worldwide trends that are being 

seen in Greater Manchester, including: the increased preference for high-density urban 

living, the growth of major city centres and the increased popularity of travelling by bike, 

rapid transit and inter-urban rail.  

 

Relationship to Other GMSF Evidence 

8. This document is a supporting document for both the Greater Manchester Transport 

Strategy 2040 and the GMSF. For the GMSF it is part of a suite of documents that examine 

the implications of the GMSF on transport in GM. The other documents include: 

• GM Transport Strategy 2040 and supporting 5 Year Delivery Plan. These documents 

together set out our strategic aspirations for transport in GM and articulate our plan 

for delivery.   

• An Existing Land Supply and Transport Technical Note: This note examines the spatial 

distribution of the Existing Land Supply and the transport interventions highlighted in 

the 5-Year Delivery Plan that will support key clusters of growth. 

Document Pack Page 171



 

148 

• A series of Allocation Locality Assessments. These assessments examine the likely local 

impact of Allocations development on the transport network and identifies where 

mitigation may be needed. 

• GMSF Allocations Strategic Modelling Technical Note. This provides analysis of the 

potential strategic impact of growth on our transport network in a “policy-off” 

scenario. 

9. Together these documents examine the local and strategic implications of growth. This 

Right Mix technical note underpins the GM Transport Strategy 2040 by outlining our 

adaptive vision-led approach to transport planning.  

10. The Locality Assessments focus on identifying the local and strategic interventions 

necessary to deliver each of the individual allocations, while the Existing Land Supply note 

highlights the transport interventions needed to support the delivery of the Existing Land 

Supply.  

11. Finally, we test a worse-case “policy-off” forecast in the Strategic Modelling Technical Note 

so that we can understand the degree to which the GMSF allocations affect the network if 

we were to take no further steps to achieving the ‘Right Mix’. The strategic modelling 

forecast assumes that only committed / funded schemes and those schemes directly 

associated with the allocations proceed – but policy changes such as bus reform, 

integrated ticketing or behavioural change initiatives, and longer-term interventions such 

as Quality Bus Transit, Tram-train, or Metrolink extensions are omitted.  

12. For the avoidance of doubt, the Right Mix vision is not in any sense a ‘rival’ to that forecast. 

The Right Mix is a transport vision for achieving policy objectives, not a forecast. Unlike the 

“policy-off” forecast for the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, there is no prediction 

that a specific set of interventions will lead to a specific set of outcomes in the future. 

Instead, there is a pathway comprising a set of targets for changes in travel behaviour that 

will be modified in the light of monitoring of progress to achieving the vision for 2040. 

 

Document Pack Page 172



 

149 

Our transport vision for 2040 

13. Our ‘Right Mix’ vision for 2040 was first set out in January 2019 in the draft Greater 

Manchester Transport Strategy 2040: Delivery Plan (2020-2025).  The proposed pathway to 

the Right Mix was published at the same time in the Evidence-Base Update of the 2040 

Transport Strategy. 

14. It was noted at the time that the steps in the pathway will be reviewed in the light of 

monitoring progress towards achieving the Right Mix.  It is too soon to get any results from 

monitoring, but some changes to the pathway have already been made.  These result from: 

• Changes to population projections for Greater Manchester 

• Improvements and adjustments to baseline data which forms our understanding of 

the present situation 

• Changes and additions to some of the steps to better reflect the potential for 

achieving changes in mode share.  

15. The Right Mix vision itself is unchanged - to improve our transport system so that we can 

reduce car use to no more than 50% of daily trips, with the remaining 50% made by public 

transport, walking and cycling. This will mean approximately one million more trips each 

day using sustainable transport modes in Greater Manchester by 2040 – see  Figure V1, 

which contains some changes to the numbers that underlie the vision compared with the 

2019 version. 

16. Our analysis suggests that achieving this vision will enable us to deliver our economic 

growth ambitions reflected in GMSF without increasing overall motor-vehicle traffic in 

Greater Manchester. 

17. The vision of no net increase in motor-vehicle traffic includes trips by Greater Manchester 

residents, as well as trips by non-residents and goods vehicle movements, which will also 

be influenced by our transport and land-use interventions - but less so. We expect no net 

increase in motor-vehicle traffic to be achieved by a net reduction in residents’ traffic (the 

great majority of motor vehicle-km in Greater Manchester); an increase in light goods 

vehicle movements; and – potentially, but not necessarily – some net increase in car-travel 

by non-residents. 

18. The analysis is based on “TRADS” data which is Greater Manchester’s household travel 

diary survey, in which a representative sample of Greater Manchester residents are 

interviewed about their recent trips.  It is the Greater Manchester equivalent to the DfT’s 

National Travel Survey, although there are some differences in survey methodology. 

  

Document Pack Page 173



 

150 

 

Figure V1: The Right Mix vision for 2040:  

 

 

A pathway for achieving the “Right Mix” 

19. In this section of the report, a proposed pathway is set out for achieving the Right Mix.  The 

pathway is set out as a series of steps, which would in reality be made at the same time, 

but which are described as separate steps to assist explanation.  It incorporates the 

changes referred to above. 

Document Pack Page 174



 

151 

20. The steps in the pathway will be reviewed in the light of monitoring progress towards 

achieving the Right Mix.  It is expected that the pathway will change in response to the 

results of monitoring.  The changes could comprise changes in the interventions needed to 

achieve particular steps within the pathway, or changes to the steps themselves.   To take 

one example of how this “adaptive planning” approach will work, there is presently little 

understanding of how “Future Mobility” – which can be broadly defined as disruptive 

technological and social change facilitating new and improved transport services – will 

affect travel behaviour.  There is also much uncertainty about any longer-term effects on 

travel behaviour of the Covid-19 pandemic of 2020.  As those effects become apparent, 

changes will be made to the proposed pathway to the Right Mix. 

Spatial themes 

21. The steps in the pathway to the Right Mix are defined using the framework of the spatial 

themes in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.  Trips by Greater Manchester 

residents have been categorised into the spatial themes. 

22. The spatial themes have been represented within the Greater Manchester TRADS Years 3-5 

(2014-2016) person-trip dataset through the application of the following criteria (Table 

V1). 

23. Note: The spatial theme, ‘A Globally Connected City’ (i.e. non-work trips to Manchester 

Airport) has been excluded from the analysis. TRADS surveys cannot accurately pick up 

these trips since residents making trips to Manchester Airport will likely be outside Greater 

Manchester (e.g. on holiday abroad) at the time at which surveys would be carried out. The 

number of ‘A Globally Connected City’ trips is likely to be very small compared to the other 

spatial themes, so this is not considered to have a material impact on the results.  

Document Pack Page 175



 

152 

24. Figure V2 and V3 show the change in volume of trips by mode for ‘Now’ and ‘2040’ within 

each spatial theme in the Right Mix vision. 

  

Document Pack Page 176



 

153 

 

Table V1: Allocation of trips to the spatial themes defined in the 2040 Transport Strategy 

Spatial Theme Includes Except 

Neighbourhood Trips less than 2km (straight line) 

with at least one end within 

Greater Manchester 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

• Trips with an end within the Regional Centre 

Wider City 

Region 

Trips with at least one end in 

Greater Manchester, and both ends 

no more than 10km outside the 

Greater Manchester boundary 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

• Trips with an end within the Regional Centre 

• Trips under 2km  

Regional Centre  Trips with an end in the Regional 

Centre 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

• Trips with an end more than 10km outside the 

Greater Manchester boundary 

City to City Trips with one end in Greater 

Manchester, and the other more 

than 10km outside the Greater 

Manchester boundary 

• Trips with a non-work attraction end at Manchester 

Airport and surrounding developments 

 
25. Note: The spatial theme, ‘A Globally Connected City’ (i.e. non-work trips to Manchester 

Airport) has been excluded from the analysis. TRADS surveys cannot accurately pick up 

these trips since residents making trips to Manchester Airport will likely be outside Greater 

Manchester (e.g. on holiday abroad) at the time at which surveys would be carried out. The 

number of ‘A Globally Connected City’ trips is likely to be very small compared to the other 

spatial themes, so this is not considered to have a material impact on the results.  

Document Pack Page 177



 

154 

Figure V2: “Right Mix Vision” change in volume of trips by mode for ‘Now’ and ‘2040’, by spatial 
theme 

 

 

Figure V3: “Right Mix Vision” change in volume of trips by mode for ‘Now’ and ‘2040’, by spatial 
theme, with Neighbourhood and Wider city-region trips combined 

Comparing Table V2 with Table V3, it can be seen that, outside the Regional Centre, a reduction in 
Wider city-region trips is expected to be outweighed by an increase in Neighbourhood trips. 

Document Pack Page 178



 

155 

The steps to achieve the “Right Mix” 

26. The steps in the pathway to achieve the Right Mix are as follows.  Steps that have changed 

– or been added - since January 2019 are preceded by a ‘*’. 

• *Step 1: 10% population growth leads to 10% growth in trips (and trip-kilometrage) by 

all modes. 

• Step 2: Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to 

a redistribution of 5% of trips from Wider City Region to Neighbourhood. 

• Step 3: Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to 

a redistribution of 10% of Wider City Region trips to Regional Centre. 

• Step 4: Land use change and transport interventions lead to a higher mode share for 

walking for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips. 

• Step 5: Transformational cycling policies lead to a switch to cycle from other modes – 

reaching a 10% mode share for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips and a 5% 

mode share for Wider City Region trips by 2040. 

• *Step 6: Improved metro, suburban rail, and bus rapid transit services, plus 

complementary policies, cause these rapid transit modes to increase their mode-share, 

taking 8% of Wider City Region trips.  

• Step 7: Transport policies (including travel demand management) lead to a 5% 

reduction in trip-length of Wider City Region car-trips. 

• *Step 8: Improved inter-urban public transport leads to a 5% reduction in car mode-

share for city-to-city trips. 

27. Each of the steps in the pathway to the Right Mix is described below, together with the 

evidence behind them.  The changes in travel behaviour that they represent comprise a set 

of adjustable targets which will be reviewed and modified within the adaptive planning 

approach outlined in paragraph 6 above. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 179



 

156 

Step 1: 10% population growth leads to 10% growth in trips (and trip-kilometrage) by all 
modes 

28. Step 1 assumes that the expected 10% growth in Greater Manchester population between 

2017 and 2040 leads to a 10% increase in the number of trips – i.e. that trip-rate per 

person remains constant.  In the early years of this century, trip-rates per person – both 

across England (see Figure V3) and in Greater Manchester (see Figure V4) - declined 

sharply, possibly as a result of the growth of the digital economy.  There are some signs 

that the decline has levelled-off in recent years. 

29. It is not expected that Greater Manchester’s transport and land-use interventions will have 

much effect on trip-rates per person, and that factors outside Greater Manchester’s 

influence will be the main driver of any changes in trip-rates. 

30. Note that in the January 2019 version of the Right Mix, population growth to 2040 was 

expected to be 15%: the change reflects revised population projections. 

 
Figure V3: Trend in trip rates, miles travelled per person and hours per person spent travelling: 
England 1972/73-2017, National Travel Survey (NTS0101) 

 

Document Pack Page 180



 

157 

Figure V4: Trips per person per year 2005 – 2016 Greater Manchester  

 

31. The table above is based on TfGM analysis of the Department for Transport National Travel 

Survey (2005 – 2016) and TfGM Travel Diary Surveys (2011 – 2016).  N.B. DfT have recently 

changed the method for recording short walks – amended values for the trend for trips in 

England excluding short walks are reported in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 

2040 Evidence Base - Travel in Greater Manchester section. 

32. In recent years, the effect of falling trip-rates on motor-vehicle traffic has been at least 

partly offset by an increase in light-van movements, with an important cause being the 

growth of the digital economy leading to replacement of shopping-trips by movements of 

delivery vehicles.  The growth of light-van movements has not been explicitly allowed for in 

this analysis, and the assumption that trip-rates will not continue their recent decline 

provides a balancing element of caution in estimating how externally-driven factors will 

affect volumes of motor-vehicle traffic in 2040. 

33. Figure V5 shows that between 1993 and 2016 traffic in Greater Manchester increased by 

around 21% whereas LGV kilometrage on Greater Manchester roads increased by around 

68% in the same period.  LGVs now account for c. 1.7 billion kilometres on Greater 

Manchester roads, representing 13% of all traffic (up from 9% in 1993).   

34. It is important to note that the majority of this growth in LGV traffic has taken place on 

motorways, where the total distance travelled by LGVs has more than doubled between 

1993 and 2016.  In comparison, A roads have seen a 27% increase, and B roads a 21% 

increase over the same period.   In 2016, motorways accounted for 56% of total Greater 

Manchester LGV kilometres travelled, up from 41% in 1993. 

Document Pack Page 181



 

158 

Figure V5: Growth in Light Goods Vehicle traffic on Greater Manchester roads 

Source: TfGM Highways Forecasting and Analytical Services: Report 1912 Transport Statistics 2016 

Road Traffic Section.

 
 

 

 

Document Pack Page 182



 

159 

Step 2:  Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to a 
redistribution of 5% of trips from Wider City Region to Neighbourhood 

35. There is a growing body of evidence that highly skilled young professionals want to live in 

attractive walkable urban environments.  For example, in a recent survey of millennials 

aged 18-34 in ten major US cities, three in four said it is likely they will live in a place where 

they do not need a car to get around (Source: Transportation for America (2014), Survey: 

To recruit and keep millennials, give them walkable places with good transit and other 

options. Available from: http://t4america.org/2014/04/22/survey-to-recruit-and-keep-

millennials-give-them-walkable-places-with-good-transit-and-other-options/ 

36. We anticipate that these preferences will translate into more Neighbourhood trips.  

Processes by which that might occur include (as reflected further by Figure V6): 

• Trips to the supermarket being replaced by online delivery plus trips to the local 

convenience stores for top-up shopping. 

• More walk-friendly neighbourhoods causing travel to local restaurants to replace travel 

to more distant eating venues. 

• Reduced car-ownership among younger age-cohorts leading to a switch to 

neighbourhood trips that are more suitable for other modes of transport.  

Figure V6: Evidence from ‘All Change?’ (Commission on Travel Demand) 

 

Document Pack Page 183

http://t4america.org/2014/04/22/survey-to-recruit-and-keep-millennials-give-them-walkable-places-with-good-transit-and-other-options/
http://t4america.org/2014/04/22/survey-to-recruit-and-keep-millennials-give-them-walkable-places-with-good-transit-and-other-options/


 

160 

Source: Commission on Travel Demand (2018), All Change? The future of travel demand 

and the implications for policy and planning. Available from: 

http://www.demand.ac.uk/commission-on-travel-demand/ 

37. The targeted regeneration of town centres (including - but not confined to - the eight 

largest town centres in Greater Manchester – Altrincham, Stockport, Ashton-under-Lyne, 

Oldham, Rochdale, Bury, Bolton and Wigan.) will reinforce this preference and increase the 

potential for Neighbourhood trips.  More residents in town centres will lead to more 

demand for local services, which will result in more people being employed to provide 

those services. 

38. Many of these local trips will be made by walking.  Figure V7 shows that the vast majority 

of walking trips made by Greater Manchester residents are under 2km in length. 

Figure V7: Main mode and distance travelled, Greater Manchester TRADS Years 3-5 (2014-2016) 

 

39. The Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge will provide a new and concerted effort to support 

Greater Manchester’s local authorities to realise the potential in town centres, with a 

particular emphasis on achieving sustainable communities featuring thriving housing 

markets.  These sustainable communities will provide their residents with greater scope to 

adopt non-car lifestyles by increasing the likelihood of being able to access the majority of 

what they need (across the full spectrum of journey purposes) without needing to travel 

further than 2km.   

Document Pack Page 184

http://www.demand.ac.uk/commission-on-travel-demand/


 

161 

40. Figure V8 highlights the existing potential of the eight largest town centres and the urban 

area within the M60 for delivering beneficial travel outcomes by showing that residents 

within these areas tend to travel less distance (measured by car-driver-km per head) to 

travel to work (when compared to areas on the periphery of Greater Manchester). 

Figure V8: Average distance travelled to work (km) as car-driver per resident worker, Census 
2011 

 

41. Note that this map shows average car-driver-km to work across all workers in each zone, 

including those who don’t travel by car 

42. To support the 2040 Transport Strategy, Greater Manchester is planning to implement 

“Streets for All”. Streets for All is Greater Manchester’s new way of thinking about the role 

of streets in creating sustainable, healthy and resilient places. It focuses on balancing the 

movement of people and goods alongside the creation of more people-friendly and less 

polluted streets and places. Specific Streets for All investments will depend on the specific 

needs of each locality, but they are likely to reflect a greater emphasis on “place” in 

densely populated residential areas, thereby encouraging the development of walkable 

communities which generate Neighbourhood trips. 

43. Figure V9 shows the tendency within Greater Manchester for densely-populated areas to 

hold above-average (in comparison to Greater Manchester as a whole) concentrations of 

no-car households. This is complemented by Figure V10 which shows how these densely-

populated areas are also generally characterised as having above-average (in comparison 

to Greater Manchester as a whole) levels of public transport accessibility.   

Document Pack Page 185



 

162 

44. In Figure V10, public transport accessibility is measured by GMAL (Greater Manchester 

Accessibility Levels), which is a detailed and accurate measure of the accessibility of a point 

to both the conventional public transport network (i.e. bus, Metrolink and rail) and Greater 

Manchester’s Local Link (flexible transport service), taking into account walk access time 

and service availability.  GMAL gives particular emphasis to bus accessibility and are not 

affected by the higher speeds offered by National Rail or Metrolink services. 

Figure V9: Total Cars & Vans per head and Resident Population Density, Census 2011 

 

Document Pack Page 186



 

163 

Figure V10: GMAL (October 2017) and Resident Population Density, Census 2011 

 

45. Together, Figure V9 and Figure V10 highlight the importance of attractive and frequent bus 

services in facilitating non-car-dependent lifestyles. Investment in bus priority will be 

important in facilitating those attractive and frequent bus services.  Figure V11 shows that 

people who don’t own cars are likely to make more Neighbourhood trips.   

Document Pack Page 187



 

164 

Figure V11: Daily Trips by Spatial Theme: No car households vs. Car available households, 
Greater Manchester TRADS Years 3-5 (2014-2016) 

 

46. Figure V12 shows journey purpose by spatial theme.  This analysis highlights the dominant 

role of education and shopping within the Neighbourhood spatial theme, when compared 

to the Wider City Region and Regional Centre spatial themes where there is a much greater 

emphasis on commuting. 

Document Pack Page 188



 

165 

Figure V12: Journey Purpose by Spatial Theme (Daily Trips by GM residents, GM TRADS 2014-16) 

 

47. There are some counteracting forces against a move to more Neighbourhood trips: for 

example, increased choice for both primary and secondary education and increased 

centralisation of healthcare facilities.  There are also major employment growth areas in 

locations such as Manchester Airport and M62 North-East Corridor, which will attract most 

of their workers from outside the immediate neighbourhood.  Interventions to minimise 

any growth in motor-vehicle traffic resulting from developments such as these are detailed 

in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan  

48. In sum, with land-use and transport policies which reinforce strong changes in individual 

preferences, we consider a net redistribution of 5% of Wider City-Region trips to 

Neighbourhood trips by 2040 to be a realistic target. 

 

Step 3:  Land-use and transport policies (plus changes in individual preferences) lead to a 
redistribution of 10% of Wider City Region trips to Regional Centre 

49. Step 2 represented how land-use and transport policies will combine to promote 

sustainable travel outcomes that will be focused upon the regeneration of existing urban 

areas outside of the Regional Centre.  Step 3 accounts for the opportunities provided by 

the intensification of both the residential and employment markets within the Regional 

Centre. 

 

Document Pack Page 189



 

166 

50. The draft Greater Manchester Spatial Framework anticipates a major growth in jobs in the 

Regional Centre.  For example, the GMSF, ‘Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs, and 

the Environment’, notes that baseline economic trends suggest the majority of 

employment growth would be in Salford, Manchester, and Trafford.  

51. It is expected that more jobs in the Regional Centre will lead to more Regional Centre trips, 

not just for work, but for other purposes, for reasons that include: 

• Regional Centre workers will take trip-chaining opportunities to visit Regional Centre 

shopping and leisure attractions (i.e. combining several activities through linked trips – 

e.g. city-centre shopping on the way home from work). 

• More jobs in the Regional Centre will cause an increase in population density in 

locations well-located for travel to the Regional Centre, which will have a relatively high 

propensity to travel to the Regional Centre for other purposes.  This will be an 

additional effect to the increase in Regional Centre walk-trips resulting from more 

residents within the Regional Centre considered in Section 4 below. 

• The developments that create the additional jobs in the Regional Centre will 

themselves attract trips for other purposes. 

52. As will be seen from Figure V3, the net result of the Right Mix trip targets is that Greater 

Manchester area trips wholly outside the Regional Centre are expected to increase, but by 

less than Regional Centre trips. 

53. The growth of Regional Centre trips is expected to take place without any net growth in car 

trips, reflecting the constraints on the highway network and an increased focus on “place” 

in allocating highway space.   Annual counts of movements crossing the MSIRR inbound 

show that car volumes crossing the MSIRR cordon inbound have fallen substantially over 

the past fifteen years, both in the AM peak (see Figure V14) and inter-peak periods. 

54. The growth of Regional Centre trips will place substantial demands on the public transport 

network.  More details of public transport capacity requirements are given under Step 6 

below. 

 

Document Pack Page 190



 

167 

Step 4:  Land use change and transport interventions lead to a higher mode share for 
walking for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips 

55. The population of the Regional Centre is expected to roughly double by 2040, which is 

expected to lead to an increase in the proportion of Regional Centre trips made by walking.  

A cautious allowance has been made for this by increasing the walk mode share of 

Regional Centre trips from 30% in 2017 to 38% in 2040 (an increase of approximately 25%) 

and reducing the mode share of other Regional Centre trips by the same proportion.  Note 

that in the January 2019 pathway to the Right Mix, the share of walking for Regional Centre 

trips in 2017 was only 24%.  That has now been revised upwards after adjusting for under-

recording of trips by residents of Regional Centre apartments.  

56. Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach will reflect a greater emphasis on “place” at 

the local street level, thereby encouraging the development of walkable communities. This 

is estimated, at a high level, to support an increase in walk mode-share for Neighbourhood 

trips from 50% to 55% (the effect of interventions to improve cycling is allowed for under 

Step 5, “Transformational Cycling Policies” below).  As noted under Step 2, attractive bus 

services – and hence investment in bus priority – will be important in increasing walk-trips. 

57. Figure V13 and Figure V14 indicate how the increase in dwelling density in the vicinity of 

the MSIRR (located in close proximity to the extensive range of facilities offered within the 

city centre) between 2001 and 2011, coincided with a rapid increase in the volume of 

inbound walk movements across the City Centre cordon during the AM Peak.  In 

interpreting Figure V14, it is important to note that the walk movements across the MSIRR 

include walk-egress legs of car trips, by which motorists park outside the MSIRR and walk 

across it to their city-centre destinations.  It is believed that the number of such walk-

egress legs of car trips has reduced over time, and so the increase in walk trips across the 

MSIRR by local residents is probably greater than the overall observed increase in walk 

movements.  

Document Pack Page 191



 

168 

Figure V13: Residential dwelling density around the MSIRR 

 

Source: TfGM analysis of Census 2001 and 2011 data 

 

Figure V14: Inbound Trips by Mode across the City Centre cordon (AM Peak) 

 

Source: TfGM Highways Forecasting and Analytical Services 

Document Pack Page 192



 

169 

 

Step 5:  Transformational cycling policies lead to a switch to cycle from other modes – 
reaching a 10% mode share for Regional Centre and Neighbourhood trips and a 5% mode 
share for Wider City Region trips by 2040 

58. The adjustable targets for cycle mode shares for Greater Manchester in 2040 are set out 

below. 

• Neighbourhood: 10% 

• Wider City Region: 5% 

• Regional Centre: 10%. 

59. These cycle mode shares targeted in Step 5 represent Greater Manchester’s ambitious 

aims for growing levels of cycling, in line with current policies. 

Greater Manchester’s current ambitions for cycling 

60. Greater Manchester’s ambitious vision for cycling is set out in the ‘Made to Move’ report, 

by Greater Manchester Cycling and Walking Commissioner Chris Boardman. Among other 

actions, it calls for a ring-fenced, 10 year, £1.5 billion infrastructure fund, starting with a 

short-term Mayor’s Challenge Fund to kick-start delivery for walking and cycling (now 

committed through the Transforming Cities Fund, totalling £160m). The goal of the Made 

to Move report is described as follows: 

“To double and then double again cycling in Greater Manchester and make walking 

the natural choice for as many short trips as possible.” 

61. If this goal is aligned with the suggested 10-year fund, that would mean a 300% increase in 

cycling levels by 2028. Based on the current Greater Manchester cycling mode share (from 

TRADS) of 1.7%, a 300% increase (equivalent to doubling and then doubling again) would 

equal a 6.8% mode share across all spatial themes. This suggests that the adjustable 

targets for mode shares above should be achievable by 2040, if current policies are fully 

delivered. 

62. Interventions needed to achieve these adjustable targets for cycle mode share in Greater 

Manchester will include: 

• Reallocation of road space towards cycling in appropriate locations as part of Greater 

Manchester’s Streets for All approach. 

• Implementation of the Cycling and Walking Commissioner’s proposed Bee Network. 

• Increases in capacity of the cycle network, especially in and around the Regional Centre 

and areas of high cycle demand elsewhere in Greater Manchester. 

• Provision of cycle parking. 

Document Pack Page 193



 

170 

Evidence from other city regions 

63. Benchmark evidence from other city regions also suggests that rapid growth in cycling 

levels is possible. For example: 

• The central aim of the Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy is to achieve an 80% mode 

share for sustainable (non-car) modes by 2041. Cycle mode share in London was 

approximately 3% in 2018. Current projections prepared by TfL to support the Strategy 

range from a 6% mode share for cycling in the 2041 ‘Core reference case’, through to a 

15% mode share by 2041 in the most aspirational scenario. The Greater London 

Authority (2018), Mayor’s Transport Strategy 2018 is available from: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-

transport-strategy-2018 

• In Seville, cycle mode shares were negligible in 2006 but rose to 5.6% by 2011 following 

the implementation of a cycle investment programme.. Research by Marques, R., 

Hernandez-Herrador, V. and Calvo-Salazar, M. (2014) entitled “Seville: a successful 

experience of bicycle promotion in a Mediterranean context” within The Sustainable 

City, Volume 1, pages 769-781. Available at: 

https://www.witpress.com/Secure/elibrary/papers/SC14/SC14065FU1.pdf?_sm_nck=1 

• In Dublin, less than 2.3% of people travelled into the city centre by bike, in 2006, but by 

2015 this figure had more than doubled to 5.4%. Research from Dublin City Council. 

(2016). Dublin City Council Transport Study. Available at: 

https://consultation.dublincity.ie/traffic...transport/traffic.../Dublin%20City%20Centre 

Abstraction of trips from other modes 

64. DfT’s meta-analysis of studies of abstraction, which has informed DfT’s Active Mode 

Appraisal toolkit (Department for Transport (2018), TAG data book table A.5.4.7. Available 

from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tag-data-book) – has been used as 

the basis for estimating how cycle trips are abstracted from other modes.  It has however 

been necessary to substantially modify the source-mode shares reported in that analysis in 

order to allow for variations in baseline mode shares by spatial theme.   

65. The abstraction from rail-based modes is very high in the DfT meta-analysis, which suggests 

that it is based on metropolitan areas with higher shares for rail-based modes than Greater 

Manchester.  Since (developed-world) cities with high rail-based mode shares typically 

have relatively low car mode-shares, there is reason to believe that the use of the DfT’s 

values without adjustment would understate the reduction in car trips resulting from 

transformational cycling policies. 

  

Document Pack Page 194

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-transport-strategy-2018
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-transport-strategy-2018
https://www.witpress.com/Secure/elibrary/papers/SC14/SC14065FU1.pdf?_sm_nck=1
https://consultation.dublincity.ie/traffic...transport/traffic.../Dublin%20City%20Centre
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tag-data-book


 

171 

 

Table V2: Estimated breakdown of additional cycle trips by mode 

 

 

66. The values in Table V2 – which represent a change from the January 2019 pathway to the 

Right Mix – assume that improved cycling facilities do not affect the overall trip-rate.  The 

changes in mode of travel resulting from improved cycling facilities will partly take place 

through redistribution of trips towards those more suited to cycling.  That will lead to a 

reduction in total person-kilometrage because cycle trips within most of the spatial themes 

(although not Neighbourhood) are shorter than average.  

Step 6:  Improved metro, suburban rail, and bus rapid transit services, plus 
complementary policies, cause these rapid transit modes to increase their mode-share, 
with their share of Wider City Region trips increasing to 8% 

67. At present in Greater Manchester, approximately 60% of metro and suburban rail trips 

have an end in the Regional Centre.  Although the Regional Centre will always be a very 

important trip attractor for rapid transit, Greater Manchester aims that rail-based rapid 

transit (meaning metro and suburban rail) should in the future serve a wider range of trip-

origins and destinations, thus greatly extending the benefits of these rapid transit modes.  

For example, there is a need to provide better rapid transit connections for residents of the 

north of Greater Manchester to reach job opportunities in the southern half of the city-

region, in locations that include Manchester Airport and Trafford Park.  Traffic congestion 

on the highway network and slow public transport links mean that many of these trips are 

at present difficult, especially at peak times. 

Mode 
Wider City-Region: % 
breakdown of cycle trips 
abstracted 

Neighbourhood: % 
breakdown of cycle 
trips abstracted 

Regional Centre: % 
breakdown of cycle trips 
abstracted 

Bus 25 5 23 

Car/taxi 56 41 23 

Rail 7 0 17 

Metro 8 3 14 

Walk  4 51 24 

Total 100 100 100 

Document Pack Page 195



 

172 

68. The present limited focus of metro and suburban rail on the Regional Centre reflects: 

• Limited peak capacity has in the past prevented offering attractive metro fares to cross-

city trips serving a wider range of trip-origins and destinations.  These trips will be more 

fare-sensitive because alternative modes to metro are typically more attractive than for 

travel to Manchester City Centre – e.g. car-parking is much cheaper outside 

Manchester City Centre. 

• Journey-times through the city centre are slow on the street-running section of 

Metrolink, and cross-city connections for suburban rail are often difficult. 

• Fares for mixed-mode trips are high: many non-Regional-Centre trips require travel on 

more than one mode if made by public transport. 

69. At present, Greater Manchester TRADS data shows that about 2% of Wider City Region 

trips use metro or National Rail services, a majority of which will comprise short trips 

within corridors.  To attract as many as 8% of Wider City Region trips to rapid transit 

modes, it would be necessary to attract demand from a much wider base than just intra-

corridor trips served by metro, bus rapid transit, or National Rail lines.  Instead it would 

need to attract the middle-distance trips – especially longer middle-distance trips – for 

which rapid transit can compete with car.  These are mostly trips that would route via the 

M60 if using car, and would route via the Regional Centre if using rapid transit.   

70. Therefore Step 6, together with Step 3 above (redistribution of 10% of Wider City Region 

trips to Regional Centre without any increase in Regional Centre car trips) will have 

substantial implications for public transport capacity and service-levels on rapid transit 

services to and through Manchester City Centre.  Several considerations indicate that only 

a major increase in metro capacity in the city centre - probably through a Regional Centre 

metro tunnel - would create a sufficient step-change to achieve these adjustable targets.  

This was the rationale in the January 2019 pathway to the Right Mix of focusing the target 

specifically on metro services.  However, reflecting the potential to increase usage of 

National Rail and bus rapid transit services, Step 6 now applies also to these forms of rapid 

transit. 

71. A step-change in metro capacity in Manchester City Centre would enable shorter-distance-

focused suburban rail services to be converted to metro, releasing capacity on the National 

Rail network to accommodate demand growth on remaining National Rail services, which 

would remain a very important part of the overall rapid transit service-offer. 

72.  Besides providing a step-change in metro capacity, a Regional Centre metro tunnel would 

also reduce the journey-times of cross-city trips by avoiding the city-centre street-running 

of the existing Metrolink system, whilst retaining its high service-frequencies.  That will be 

very important in achieving the target of 8% of Wider City-Region trips using metro or 

National Rail. 

Document Pack Page 196



 

173 

73. To achieve 8% Wider City-Region trips using metro or National Rail, these networks would 

need to be supported by better access to stops and stations, since many Wider City-Region 

trips have at least one end located outside easy walking-distance to a rapid transit service.  

Future Mobility has great potential to improve access to the “first and last mile” of rapid 

transit journeys.  Finally, integrated fares between public transport modes will be 

important in increasing the use of rapid transit, and especially for Wider City-Region trips. 

74. The greatest capacity requirements in achieving the targets in Step 3 and Step 6 will be 

placed on metro.   Initial analysis by TfGM suggests that a Regional Centre metro tunnel 

accommodating 24 trains per hour in each direction using trains of 150m length would be 

sufficient to meet the adjustable targets in Step 3 and Step 6.  That would mean using 

trains that are more than twice as long as a present Metrolink double unit (two vehicles 

coupled together).  

75. National Rail services would also need to accommodate substantial demand growth.  As 

noted above, a step-change in metro capacity in Manchester City Centre would release 

capacity on the National Rail network to accommodate demand growth.   There is also 

considerable scope for increasing National Rail network capacity in Greater Manchester by 

running longer trains. 

76. Buses are expected to make a substantial contribution to accommodating the growth of 

travel demand to the Regional Centre. However, the growth in the metro network – as 

discussed above – would abstract demand from bus. Integrated fares between bus and 

metro would also reduce bus travel into the city centre by increasing use of buses as 

feeders to metro, rather than as a mode for travelling all the way into the city centre.  

77. Despite the above negative factors, a net increase in bus travel to the city centre is 

nonetheless expected to be necessary to achieve the targets in the Right Mix.  

78. Bus capacity constraints are more flexible than for rail-based transport, in that they can be 

overcome by allocating more roadspace to bus, and there is potential to introduce such 

measures in response to demand growth.  Bus terminus capacity in Manchester City Centre 

is another constraint which will need to be resolved: plans for accommodating buses in the 

city centre are contained within the City Centre Transport Strategy. 

 

Document Pack Page 197



 

174 

Step 7:  Transport policies (including travel demand management) lead to a 5% reduction 
in trip-length of Wider City Region car-trips 

79. Trip redistribution – leading to either longer or shorter trips – is the main driver of long-

term change in travel behaviour.   For example, the roughly ten-fold increase in car travel 

in the UK since 1950 is almost entirely due to trip redistribution, with short trips by walk 

and bus being replaced by much longer car trips.  Trip redistribution also caused average 

car trip-length to increase during the second half of the twentieth century. 

80. Trip redistribution effects are allowed for in Steps 2 to 5 above, represented by Wider City 

Region trips redistributing to Neighbourhood (Step 2) and Regional Centre (Step 3).  Steps 

4 and 5 allow for a shortening of Neighbourhood and Regional Centre trips due to greater 

use of active modes.  

81. Step 7 allows for a shortening of average car trip-length in the Wider City-Region category, 

due to roadspace reallocation to improve “place” and prioritisation of modes that make 

most efficient use of limited roadspace through Greater Manchester’s Streets for All 

approach. 

 

Step 8:  Improved inter-urban public transport leads to a 5% reduction in car mode-share 
for city-to-city trips  

82. City-to-city trips (see Figure V2) show a very high car mode-share, which reflects the fact 

that most of these trips are not between city centres, for which the public transport mode 

share is much higher than the average for this spatial theme (see the definition of “City to 

City” under “Spatial Themes” at the start of this chapter). 

83. Major rail projects – notably HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail – can be expected to 

increase already-high rail mode share for travel between city centres.  They can also be 

expected to redistribute trips, leading to an increase in the proportion of city-centre-to-

city-centre trips within city-to-city trips.  The land-use changes and other policies and 

interventions referred to in Step 3 can also be expected to increase rail mode-share to the 

Regional Centre for longer-distance commuting trips – from locations such as Blackpool 

and Chester, which are included within the city-to-city spatial theme. 

84. A reduction in car mode-share by five percentage points has therefore been targeted: this 

spatial theme is expected to remain dominated by long car trips dispersed across a very 

wide range of trip origin-destination combinations.  The targeted public transport mode-

share represents an increase of approximately 50% in trip-volumes from the present. 

 

Document Pack Page 198



 

175 

Conclusion: the achievability of the 2040 Right Mix 

85. Greater Manchester has many possible pathways available to achieving its Right Mix vision 

for 2040.  Following an adaptive approach facilitates changes in policies and interventions 

to respond to the many uncertainties that lie ahead, avoiding the risks inherent in an 

inflexible plan.  The pathway set out in this report aims to enhance existing trends that 

support the achievement of the Right Mix, including the increased preference for high-

density urban living (Steps 2 and 4, facilitated by interventions that will support Step 7); 

the growth of major city centres (Step 3); and the increased popularity of travelling by 

cycle, rapid transit, and inter-urban rail (Steps 5, 6, and 8).  

 

 

  

Document Pack Page 199



 

176 

 

Document Pack Page 200



 

   

 

FINAL DRAFT – 

subject to final 

adoption by GMCA 
October 2020 – Version 2.1 

Document Pack Page 201



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 1 

Contents 
Introduction by the  Greater Manchester Mayor ..................................................................... 2 

Purpose of this Delivery Plan ..................................................................................................... 5 

2040 Strategy Overview and Our Right Mix Vision ................................................................... 8 

Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment ........................................ 15 

Delivery .................................................................................................................................... 17 

Our focus for the next five years ................................................................................. 17 

Developing future transport interventions .................................................................. 18 

Supporting the GMSF .................................................................................................. 18 

Structure of the Delivery sections ................................................................................ 18 

Our Metrolink ............................................................................................................. 31 

Our Rail ...................................................................................................................... 35 

Our Streets ................................................................................................................. 42 

Our Integrated Network .............................................................................................. 55 

Funding .................................................................................................................................... 63 

Current funding........................................................................................................... 63 

Scheme Prioritisation and Delivery .............................................................................. 67 

Future Capital Funding – Greater Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP) ......... 68 

Further Transport Devolution ...................................................................................... 70 

Measuring Success................................................................................................................... 72 

Next steps ................................................................................................................................ 72 

Glossary ................................................................................................................................... 73 

APPENDIX A: List of Interventions ........................................................................................... 78 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) .................................... 78 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early delivery of… (Map 2) 94 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3) ......................................... 122 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate… .............................................. 138 

APPENDIX B: Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 – Local Implementation Plans 141 

APPENDIX C: GMSF allocations and their transport interventions ....................................... 142 

APPENDIX D: 2040 Transport Strategy KPIs .......................................................................... 162 

 

Document Pack Page 202



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 2 

Introduction by the  
Greater Manchester Mayor 

 

 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a profound impact on the journeys we make and the way 
that we travel. It is unclear how long it will be before travel returns to previous levels, and 
the long-term impacts of Covid-19 on the economy, on the environment and on the way that 
we all live remain to be seen. However, now is not a time to pause. If Greater Manchester is 
to recover then we must press on and work harder than ever to realise the ambitious plans 
we have for our city region. 

Transport is absolutely essential to that recovery and that is why it remains one of my top 
priorities. In 2019 I launched Our Network, a vision to create an integrated, modern and 
reliable London-style transport system.  

Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan outlines the key challenges on our transport network 
– poor air quality, congestion, radically improving our buses, greater local say on our rail 
services and stations and boosting cycling and walking – and sets out the shorter-term 
measures and schemes needed to achieve the Our Network vision. Importantly, I want this 
plan to deliver real and tangible improvements to people’s everyday journeys.  

 

Document Pack Page 203



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 3 

 

As is the Greater Manchester way, this plan has been developed in close co-operation with 
TfGM, GMCA and the local authorities to ensure our transport investments support and are 
supported by the new housing and commercial development sites in our Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework.  

The plan also has at its heart Greater Manchester’s commitments to tackle poor air quality 
and to be a carbon neutral city-region by 2038. There are key measures, therefore, to 
reduce the dangerous transport emissions that are a blight on communities and people’s 
health. There are also measures to reduce transport’s carbon footprint, but tackling climate 
change is a national problem and we will need Government action and funding to support 
this. 

In addition to publishing Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan we have also refreshed the 
GM Transport Strategy 2040, GM’s Local Transport Plan. This too has been updated to 
reflect our renewed focus on tackling climate change and clean air commitments along with 
key aspects of Our Network. 

To deliver the ambitions set out in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan we will need 
further investment and reform, and we have made a strong argument for both to inform the 
Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review and Devolution White Paper. The case is 
now irrefutable that greater investment and devolution in the North, including in Greater 
Manchester, should be a national priority.  

The creation of the Northern Transport Acceleration Council is a statement of intent from 
the Government with Ministers and Northern leaders working together to bring forward the 

Document Pack Page 204



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 4 

modern transport network the North has lacked for too long. This must now be matched 
with significant investment from Government if it is serious about levelling up and 
rebalancing the UK economy. 

Aside from much needed capital investment, the plan also sets out the importance of reform 
to key parts of the transport system itself. Devolution is starting to see Greater Manchester 
gaining some of the powers, if not all the resources, it needs. No city-region is in a better 
position to take advantage of the powers now available to improve and better integrate our 
transport. We continue to lead the way in this area, including exploration of the powers 
made available by the Bus Service Act, but there are further powers I want to see devolved 
to Greater Manchester and to local authorities, so we are genuinely able to provide the 
efficient transport network that businesses and residents need.  

This plan builds on the unprecedented levels of local investment seen over the past decade 
including the expansion of the Metrolink network and contactless ticketing, the ground-
breaking Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway, the development of new interchanges, 
major new highways schemes and the launch of the Bee Network - the UK’s most ambitious 
cycling and walking investment programme. 

All of this investment has delivered real benefits, now we must look to the future and what 
needs to be done in the years ahead to ensure Greater Manchester has the transport 
network it so sorely requires to recover, to grow and to prosper. 

That is why the Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is critical - it is by no means the last 
word on our transport ambitions, and I will continue to push for greater investment and 
reform - but it does represent a significant step on the way to ‘building back better’ to a 
better connected, cleaner and greener Greater Manchester. 

Andy Burnham 
Mayor of Greater Manchester 

 

 

Document Pack Page 205



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 5 

Purpose of this Delivery Plan 

1. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan (2020–2025) details what Greater Manchester 
wants to achieve in the next five years as the first steps towards delivering our vision for 
transport. It sets out the practical actions planned to deliver the Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 and achieve the ambitions of the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA) and the Mayor, providing a coordinated approach to transport 
investment. It is also intended to inform the development of the Greater Manchester 
Infrastructure Programme (GMIP). 

2. Covid-19 has had a massive health and economic impact on our city-region, affecting 
every person and business.  The impact from the pandemic has not been equal or fair, 
highlighting inequalities across Greater Manchester.  Travel demand remains well below 
levels prior to the pandemic and although they are increasing, we know our plans for 
transport and other policy areas will need to be adapt as we continue with the recovery.   

3. Even though Covid-19 has been harmful to both our health and our economy, it has 
brought some benefits. Neighbourhoods, communities and towns across Greater 
Manchester has experienced lower traffic and cleaner air, and some workers have been 
able to embrace flexible working and accessing high-quality digital services. We want a 
future where walking and cycling are the obvious choice for shorter journeys and where 
the past dependency on the car is superseded by reliable and responsive public 
transport, a London-style transport system.  Our Delivery Plan sets out those first steps 
from a transport and placemaking perspective so that we can support the recovery and 
create a stronger, sustainable and resilient Greater Manchester.  

4. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan sits alongside the Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040 (hereafter referred to as the 2040 Transport Strategy).  The two 
documents form the Greater Manchester Local Transport Plan.  It is recommended that 
this Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is read alongside the full 2040 Transport Strategy, 
which provides the long-term policy framework for transport in Greater Manchester.  
Further details on the 2040 Transport Strategy is provided in the section below and at 
www.tfgm.com/2040.  

5. A significant amount of ongoing work is required to develop, appraise and prioritise the 
interventions in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan – in other words to make tough 
choices about where limited funds can make the biggest difference. This work will be 
overseen by those responsible for transport in the region, including the GMCA and the 
GM Transport Committee. 

6. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan supports the implementation of Our Network, a 
ten-year plan to create an integrated, modern and reliable London-style transport 
system for Greater Manchester.  It brings together different modes of public transport –- 
bus, tram, rail, tram-train and cycling and walking - in an integrated, easy-to-use system 
with seamless connections, and simplified ticketing and fares. 

Document Pack Page 206

http://www.tfgm.com/2040


PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 6 

 

7. Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), on behalf of GMCA, has coordinated the 
preparation of Our Five Year Transport  Delivery Plan.  It has been developed in 
conjunction with, and reflects the priorities of, our key partners, each of whom have 
their own part to play in delivering the commitments set out in this document. They 
include: 

• The elected Mayor of Greater Manchester – responsible for the transport budget 
our city-region receives from Government and for setting priorities for transport;  

• The Greater Manchester Combined Authority – the GMCA is made up of the ten 
Leaders of the Greater Manchester Local Authorities and is chaired by the Mayor.  
It is responsible for delivery of a range of devolved functions including Fire, 
Waste, Police and Crime, Planning, Transport, Health and Economic Growth; 

• The ten Greater Manchester Local Authorities – as the highways and planning 
authorities, the local authorities are responsible for ensuring that roads are safe 
and usable, for producing Local Plans and considering all planning applications. 
They are also responsible for neighbourhood planning, licensing taxis and private 
hire vehicles and for leading on the delivery of services in their area; and 

• Wider Stakeholders – including Highways England, Network Rail, Transport for 
the North, neighbouring authorities, transport operators, emergency services, 
Manchester Airport and High Speed Two (HS2) Limited.  

8. In the document when we refer to “we” it includes the aforementioned organisations.  

Document Pack Page 207



PURPOSE OF THIS DELIVERY PLAN  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 7 

9. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan has been prepared to respond to the transport 
opportunities and challenges facing Greater Manchester, in parallel with the 
development of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). Together, these 
documents provide an integrated approach to transport and land use planning by 
identifying the strategic transport interventions required to deliver the scale of growth 
set out in the GMSF. It also supports the priorities of the Greater Manchester Strategy 
(2018).   

10. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is supported by Local Implementation Plans (LIPs) 
for 2020 to 2025 for each of the 10 GM Local Authorities. These Local Implementation 
Plans will: 

• Complement the 2040 Transport Strategy and Our Five Year Transport Delivery 
Plan, providing detail on how the local outcomes will be achieved in each local 
authority; 

• Support wider GM and local authority strategy and policy documents (e.g. Local 
Plans, town centre masterplans, GM Clean Air Plan, GM Spatial Framework); 

• Summarise key local transport issues and opportunities in each local authority, 
providing an added layer of local detail that is not provided in the 2040 Transport 
Strategy; 

• Focus on neighbourhood and town centre spatial themes, to complement the 
strategic focus of the 2040 Transport Strategy;  

• Set out a programme of priority local transport / minor works interventions for 
the next five years (including infrastructure, services and behaviour change work); 

• Provide the basis against which future local transport / minor works funding can 
be allocated to local authorities for local delivery. 

11. The LIPs are included in Appendix B.  It is intended that each Local Implementation Plan 
is kept as a ‘live’ document for a period of time and will be updated as local authorities 
develop and publish transport plans and strategy (for example, Local Plan documents), or 
as new schemes are developed or delivered.  

12. Further information on TfGM’s business priorities can be found in its Business Plan, 
which highlights how TfGM works with and supports the local authorities to deliver on 
improving and integrating transport operations. 

13. We are committed to reviewing and reporting progress on a regular basis to ensure we 
deliver our 2040 vision and will publish regular progress reports to update on the 
development and delivery of our transport policies and interventions, and to track 
progress against the key performance indicators. 

14. A glossary of the key terms in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan is included on page 
7372. 

 

Document Pack Page 208



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 8 

2040 Strategy Overview and Our Right 
Mix Vision 

15. The Mayor’s and GMCA’s priorities are set out in the refreshed Greater Manchester 
Strategy (launched in autumn 2017) with a vision ‘to make Greater Manchester one of 
the best places in the world to grow up, get on and grow old’1. Key priorities include 
tackling climate change, creating a thriving economy, and supporting ‘world-class 
connectivity that keeps Greater Manchester moving’.  

16. The Greater Manchester Strategy is supported by the 2040 Transport Strategy and 
accompanying Five Year Delivery Plans.  The 2040 Transport Strategy was first published 
in February 2017, is our city-region’s statutory local transport plan. Over three years 
after the Strategy was first published, its 2040 Vision - for Greater Manchester to have 
‘World class connections that support long-term, sustainable economic growth and 
access to opportunity for all’ – remains highly relevant.  

Figure 1: Greater Manchester transport vision, 2040 Transport Strategy 

 

 
1 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ourpeopleourplace  

Document Pack Page 209

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ourpeopleourplace


2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 9 

17. The initial version of the 2040 Strategy made clear that we would ‘review our Strategy on 
a regular basis to respond to changing trends and new opportunities and priorities’.  The 
Strategy has therefore undergone a ‘light touch’ policy refresh to reflect work 
undertaken, and the changed context, since 2017.  

18. In particular, the refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy includes the Right-Mix ambition for 
at least 50% of all journeys to be made by active travel and public transport by 2040; 
details of the GM Mayor’s Our Network plan to create an integrated, modern and 
reliable London-style transport system; an increased emphasis on the importance of 
cycling and walking; the climate emergency declared by GMCA and all ten councils; and 
the development of the GM Clean Air Plan.  

19. The document has also been updated to reflect the contemporary devolution agenda, 
including publication of the Bus Reform business case and GM Rail Prospectus; ongoing 
work to develop our 2040 sub-strategies including: Streets for All, City Centre Transport 
Strategy, Local Bus Strategy, Rapid Transit Strategy, Freight Strategy; and further 
development of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, including the growing 
emphasis placed on regenerating town centres.  The refreshed 2040 Transport Strategy 
has been published alongside this Five Year Delivery Plan.  

20. In the 2040 Transport Strategy and Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan we set out a 
strong commitment to provide a transport system which: supports sustainable economic 
growth and tackles congestion; improves the quality of life for all by being integrated, 
affordable and reliable; protects our environment and improves air quality; and 
capitalises on new technology and innovation. 

Our Customer Focus 

21. Our customers are at the heart of our 2040 Transport Strategy, whether they are 
residents, businesses or visitors to Greater Manchester. We have identified some key 
principles that will be applied consistently across our networks over the period to 2040 
to ensure that our entire transport system is more customer-focused and able to 
respond effectively to the challenges that lie ahead. 

22. These network principles will be applied to all transport interventions to ensure that the 
transport system meets the needs of our residents, businesses and visitors. They are set 
out in the diagram below. 

  

Document Pack Page 210



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 10 

Figure 2: 2040 Transport Strategy Network Principles 

 

  

Document Pack Page 211



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 11 

Our Spatial Themes 

23. Our 2040 Transport Strategy was developed around spatial themes so that we can 
implement the most appropriate interventions for different parts of the city-region and 
for different journeys.  These interventions could range from transport improvements 
which improve global connectivity to support overseas trade, right down to local 
neighbourhood improvements to support trips that people make on a daily basis. 

Figure 3: Our Spatial Themes 

  

 

  

Document Pack Page 212



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 12 

Our Right Mix vision for 2040 

24. In the Draft Delivery Plan published in 2019 we set out our ambition to improve our 
transport system so that by 2040 50% of all journeys in Greater Manchester are made by 
public transport or active travel. This would mean a corresponding reduction in car use 
to no more than 50% of daily trips. This target would create one million more sustainable 
journeys every day in Greater Manchester by 2040, enabling us to deliver a healthier, 
greener and more productive city-region.  We call this the Right Mix.  Achieving the Right 
Mix is expected to lead to zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic in Greater Manchester 
between 2017 and 2040. 

25. Through the Right Mix, Greater Manchester has adopted an adaptive, vision-led 
approach to transport planning. This means that the steps needed to achieve our vision 
will be continually monitored and adjusted if needed to achieve our goal. This is 
important, given the potential for our plans to be affected by external events, such as 
Covid-19.  

Figure 4: The Right Mix vision for travel in 2040 

 

Document Pack Page 213



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 13 

Climate Emergency and Meeting our Carbon Targets  

26. Since the Right Mix vision was agreed by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority in 
2019, we have been reviewing the pathway to achieve it, particularly in the context of 
the climate emergency and Greater Manchester’s aim to be a carbon neutral city region 
by 2038.  We are currently undertaking additional work to identify how the Right Mix 
contributes towards achieving Greater Manchester’s carbon target and, importantly, our 
carbon budgets, alongside other measures to decarbonise the transport network, such as 
electric vehicles.  Decisive action will be needed in the next five years to make 
meaningful progress towards meeting our carbon targets.   

27. Recent evidence suggests that, to meet our carbon targets, we will need to significantly 
reduce motor vehicle traffic in GM, as well as decarbonising a large part of our transport 
system. This will be a huge challenge and will need co-ordinated action at both a national 
and a local level to invest in and incentivise sustainable travel, and to reduce incentives 
to travel by car.  Land use planning will also play an important role, as key facilities, such 
as shops, offices and services, will need to be built in accessible locations close to where 
people live, thereby reducing the need to travel by car. Further detail on this will be 
published soon.  

The outcomes we will aim for by 2025 

28. As noted above, our Right Mix vision wants to achieve an increase in the mode share for 
non-car travel from 39% to 50%. We estimate that accomplishing this will enable us to 
deliver Greater Manchester’s planned growth without an overall increase in motor 
vehicle traffic, despite an overall 10% increase in trips driven by a growing population. 
Achieving this target will be influenced by: 

• The quality of the transport offer, including the integration between modes; 

• Trends in travel behaviour, such as fewer young people choosing to get driving 
licences or more people travelling outside peak hours; 

• The spatial distribution of economic activity, with more concentrated 
development being easier to serve by sustainable modes; and 

• Trends in society such as increased remote working and online shopping. 

29. The interventions within Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan will influence the first two 
of these factors: developing the quality of the transport offer and influencing travel 
behaviour. Public policy such as spatial planning and where we locate public services, 
such as health facilities, will have some affect on the third factor by 2025, but we are 
unlikely to be able to influence or predict wider changes in society. 

30. Figure 5 sets out the targets for the Right Mix vision for the year 2030 for the main 
spatial themes, based on following the pathway to the 2040.  It shows we are aiming for 
increases in Neighbourhood and Regional Centre trips.  At the Neighbourhood level we 
want to see an increase in walking and cycling.  For the Regional Centre, both public 
transport and active travel mode share needs to increase. 

Document Pack Page 214



2040 STRATEGY OVERVIEW 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 14 

31. Our targeted pathway position for 2030 is presented as a mid-way point to 2040.  It is 
also a point where we expect that many of the interventions set out in Our Five Year 
Transport Delivery Plan will have been implemented and influenced travel behaviour.  

Figure 5: The Right Mix vision for travel in 2030  

 

32. These 2030 targets will be reviewed in the light of evidence on the longer-term effects 
on travel of the Covid-19 pandemic. At present these are uncertain.  The uncertainty 
created by the pandemic illustrates the value of our adaptive approach to achieving the 
Right Mix, which involves reviewing progress and modifying our actions accordingly so 
that we remain on-track for achieving the 2040 vision. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 215



GREATER MANCHESTER’S PLAN FOR HOMES, JOBS AND THE ENVIRONMENT  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 15 

Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, 
Jobs and the Environment  

33. Greater Manchester is already growing rapidly, and this growth is set to continue over 
the next twenty years. Greater Manchester’s ambition is to deliver that growth in a 
sustainable and inclusive way so that everyone benefits, and the quality of our 
environment is improved.    

34. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan has been prepared alongside the Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework, following feedback from consultations on both the Draft 
GMSF and Draft 2040 Five Year Transport Delivery Plan. Further detail on supporting 
infrastructure for new allocations is contained within the GMSF transport evidence base.  

35. Greater Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment – The Greater 
Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) – sets out a blueprint for the scale and 
distribution of housing and employment development over the next two decades. The 
majority of housing and employment growth is proposed within the core of the 
conurbation (Manchester, Salford and Trafford core areas), combined with housing and 
employment development to boost competitiveness in northern areas of Greater 
Manchester. There will be continued development around Manchester Airport, as the 
global gateway to Greater Manchester, and within a few key new allocations to sustain 
southern competitiveness. The southern part of Greater Manchester will see lower levels 
of housing growth than the northern area, with a redistribution of housing growth 
mainly to the core.  

36. The diagram below illustrates how the GMSF aims to create a settlement structure that 
can be serviced by public transport. This settlement structure aligns with the aspirations 
of the 2040 Transport Strategy, and our Right Mix vision to accommodate growth with 
no net increase in private motor-vehicle traffic by 2040.  

Figure 6: Greater Manchester Spatial Framework Key Diagram 

 

Document Pack Page 216



GREATER MANCHESTER’S PLAN FOR HOMES, JOBS AND THE ENVIRONMENT  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 16 

37. Connectivity to public transport and active travel are key factors in the selection process 
that underpins the allocations within the GMSF and alongside other criteria, sites have 
been selected to maximise the potential for public transport access.   

38. To support the scale of housing and employment growth envisaged by the GMSF, the 
Greater Manchester local authorities and TfGM have examined the implications of the 
planned growth on the wider transport network. This work has been used to identify the 
portfolio of strategic transport interventions that may be brought forward to support the 
proposed housing and employment growth. The resultant interventions are included in 
Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan and summarised in Appendix C.  

39. The GMSF will also be supported by a Greater Manchester Infrastructure Framework. 
The Infrastructure Framework provides a blueprint for the future of Greater 
Manchester’s wider infrastructure and is aligned with Our Five Year Transport Delivery 
Plan. For example, the Infrastructure Framework will help ensure that Greater 
Manchester has the electricity needed to power electric vehicles.  

40. In addition, there will also be the need for more local interventions that will enable 
access to, or will mitigate the impact of, new GMSF allocations. Recommended local 
interventions are defined by each GM allocation policy, discussed within the GMSF 
Transport Locality Assessments and highlighted in the Local Implementation Plans in 
Appendix B. These are not included in Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan unless they 
have strategic significance. Local authorities and developers will work together through 
the planning applications process to deliver appropriate local interventions for specific 
allocations.   

41. There will also be continuing work with neighbouring authorities outside the Greater 
Manchester boundary to understand and mitigate the implications of their local plans on 
Greater Manchester’s transport network.   

 

Document Pack Page 217



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 17 

Delivery  

Our focus for the next five years 

42. Over the next five years we need to focus on tackling climate change, improving air 
quality, supporting recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic, tackling social exclusion and 
helping to deliver expected housing and employment growth. Our focus will therefore be 
on investing in walking, cycling and public transport networks; better integrating our 
existing transport system; and developing major sustainable transport schemes for 
delivery in the medium and long term. This will deliver the Our Network plan to create an 
integrated, modern and reliable London-style transport system.  In summary, our main 
programme includes: 

Programme Area 

Our Bus  

   Bus priority measures 

   Bus Rapid Transit 

   Introduction of Quality Bus Transit corridors 

   Town centre interchange development in Bury 

   Upgrades / renewals 

Our Metrolink  

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stops  

   New stops to support spatial growth priorities  

   Network capacity and resilience  

   Major schemes 

   Tram train early development  

   Upgrades / renewals 

Our Rail  

   Completing up to 4 Access for All rail station upgrades 

   Delivery of up to 2 new rail stations 

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stations  

   Port Salford Rail Link 

Our Streets  

   Next tranche of £1.5bn Bee Network beyond the £160m TCF allocation  

   Town Centre & Streets schemes  

   Pinchpoint schemes  

   Schemes that unlock delivery of the Existing Land Supply and GMSF sites  

   Major schemes, e.g. Wigan-Bolton HIF and Stockport A34 

   Upgrades / Renewals 

Our Integrated Network  

   Electric bus fleet and associated depot investment  

   Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 

   ITS applications for Covid-19 recovery 

   Future Mobility Zone 

Document Pack Page 218



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 18 

Developing future transport interventions 

43. If our vision for Greater Manchester is to be realised, a long-term investment plan is 
needed to support sustainable growth across the city-region.  A range of large transport 
investments in Greater Manchester are already underway or are in advanced stages of 
development. There is still much to do, however, and we have identified studies and 
early concepts that need to be developed further in order to achieve our vision for 
transport. 

44. Our delivery programme, set out in the next sections, includes transport interventions 
that are at various stages of development. Transport schemes take time to develop and 
deliver, so it is crucial that we start work on our long-term delivery programme now. 

45. Generally, transport interventions will emerge from one of our transport studies, before 
work is undertaken to develop a detailed business case (or ‘investment case’) for them. A 
business case sets out the strategic, economic, financial, commercial, and management 
justification for the intervention – in short, whether the intervention is the right thing to 
do and delivers good value for money. In most circumstances, a successful business case 
will be a condition for the award of funding. In all cases, there needs to be a strong 
rationale and justification for each intervention before it can proceed. 

46. There will also be a process of prioritisation that we need to follow to align the available 
funding with the highest priority interventions. Future versions of the Delivery Plan will 
refine the programme of interventions – some may become priorities for delivery while 
others may prove to be unfeasible and won’t be progressed. This is discussed in more 
detail in the Funding section of this Delivery Plan. 

Supporting the GMSF 

47. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan fully aligns with the new GMSF. In particular, it 
demonstrates a clear plan for delivering strategic transport interventions for the first five 
years of the GMSF plan period. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan also lays the 
foundations in order to achieve the goals of the remainder of the GMSF period. 

Structure of the Delivery sections 

48. The following sections of this document present the delivery programme for achieving 
our long-term ambitions and Right Mix vision, with a focus on what is required in the 
next five years. 

49. Our activities are grouped under the thematic headings set out in Figure 7.  Delivery 
across these themes will need to be highly integrated and carefully co-ordinated to 
maximise the effectiveness and impact of future investment. 

Document Pack Page 219



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 19 

Figure 7: Structure of the Delivery sections 

 

50. Each section includes some explanatory text on the theme and provides a summary of 
the interventions and their stage in the development and delivery process.  These 
include committed, unfunded priorities for the next five years and our longer-term 
development priorities: 

• The interventions that are committed for delivery in the next five years – see Map 
1 and Appendix A  

These interventions have significant funding allocated and the case for change 
has already been demonstrated, although final funding arrangements and 
approval of the business case may still be needed. They also include some 
interventions with a degree of commitment in Network Rail or Highways England 
industry processes. 

• The interventions for which we aim to complete the business case in the next five 
years, in most cases to secure funding – see Map 2 and Appendix A  

These interventions are those with potential to be delivered by 2025 subject to 
scheme development funding, prioritisation, capital and revenue funding for 
construction or implementation and approval of a business case which 
demonstrates value for money. 

• Our longer term priorities that we will develop options for in the next five years – 
see Map 3 and Appendix A  

These are the interventions which need further investigation or development in 
order to identify future options and determine feasibility. This work may identify 
interventions that could be delivered by 2025, and we will aim to achieve that 
wherever possible, but most are longer term projects that could be delivered in 
later years.  

Future versions of this Delivery Plan will explain the evolution of these 
interventions – some may become priorities for delivery while others may be 
unfeasible and won’t be progressed.  

• And the interventions due to be investigated beyond this Five Year Delivery Plan – 
see Appendix A  

Our Bus

• Local Bus

• Quality Bus Transit

• Bus Rapid Transit

Our Metrolink

• Metrolink

• New Stops and 
Upgrades

• Tram-Train

Our Rail

• Rail

• High Speed Rail

• Stations

Our Streets 

• Walking and 
Cycling

• Local Highways

• Strategic Roads 
and Motorways

• Freight and 
Logistics

• Maintenance

• Town Centres 

Our Integrated 
Network

• Clean Air and 
Carbon

• Future Mobility 
and Innovation

• Interchnages

• Travel Hubs / Park 
& Ride

• Fares and 
Ticketing

• Behaviour change

• Safety and security

Document Pack Page 220



DELIVERY  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 20 

51. We recognise that there are proposals that we would like to investigate, but which are 
unlikely to start in this Delivery Plan period. These may ultimately be needed to achieve 
our long-term vision for transport, but there are currently no plans to start investigation 
work before 2025. 

52. The three maps on the following pages illustrate our delivery programme.  

 

 

Document Pack Page 221



M62

M
60

M60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIDNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Stockport

Oldham

Altrincham

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE
SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

TRAFFORD

BURY

OLDHAM

Exist
ing S

m
art 

Motorway

City centre

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering...

• Mayor’s Challenge Fund Cycling and Walking Schemes (see Map 4) including
   crossing points, junction upgrades, bike hire and Emergency Active Travel schemes 
• Development of a Clean Air Plan
• Implementation of the Congestion Deal
• Additional Metrolink vehicles (27 new trams) and associated infrastructure
• Metrolink service and ticketing enhancements
• Station accessibility improvements
• Implementation of the GM Freight and Logistics Strategy
• Electric vehicle charging network
• Behaviour change programmes
• Bus Stop Enhancements Programme
• Metrolink Renewals Programme

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:

These interventions have significant funding allocated and the case for change has been demonstrated,
although final business case approval may still be needed.

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020

Metrolink

Quality Bus Transit and bus network improvements

Rail infrastructure improvements

Rail service improvements

Motorway improvements

New highway links associated with new developments

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Town centre improvements, including interchanges and public realm

Asset Management and Maintenance Programmes

Existing land supply growth areas

MAP 1

GMSF site allocation

Subject to business case approval

16 October 2020

South Heywood
Link Road

M58
Link Road

M6 J21A–J26
Smart Motorway

M62 J20–J25
Smart Motorway

M60 J13/A572
improvements

M56 J6–J8
Smart Motorway

Carrington
Relief Road

Central Manchester/Castlefield
rail corridor improvements

Hope Valley Line
upgrade

Oldham Town Centre:
Accessible Oldham
Connectivity Package
(Phase 1)

Stockport
Interchange
redevelopment

A560 Cheadle and
Cheadle Heath
resilience and
reliability package

Drainage remediation work
along Wigan’s section of
GM’s Key Route Network    

KRN maintenance
A635 Ashton Old Road

Princess Road Roundabout
Improvement Scheme

A57 Hyde Road
Localised Widening

Oldham Way
KRN Structures
Refurbishment

MSIRR: Great
Ancoats Street
improvements

Trafford Road
junction
improvements

Stockport
Town Centre
Access Plan

Stockport Town Centre
Structure Enhancements

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Network-wide
rail service
improvements

Trans-Pennine Route
upgrade electrification
to Stalybridge

Mills Hill station
upgrade and
Park & Ride

Mottram Moor
and A57(T) to A57
Link Roads

Salford Bolton
Network
Improvements

City Centre
North West:
New Bailey

Improved wayfinding,
pedestrian links and public
realm in the city centre

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

Park & Ride
upgrades at
Radcliffe and
Whitefield

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Shaw and Crompton –
East Didsbury)

Metrolink capacity
improvements
(Bury – Altrincham)

Withington
Park & Ride

Parkway
Park & Ride

M58/M6
interchange
upgrade

Daisy Hill access for all
improvements and
bridge deck replacement

Irlam access for all
improvements

Walkden access for all
improvements and
Park & Ride

Simister Island
improvements

Salford Central
station upgrade

Poynton
Relief Road

Kingsway Business Park
Northern Loop

M60 J21
improvements

Manchester
Airport

to Leeds

M602

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 222

marshj
Draft



M62

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M
60

M
66

M62

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal
Poynton

CHORLEY

ST HELENS

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIDNES

Handforth

Wigan

Bolton

Rochdale

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Bury

Oldham

Royton

Stretford

Stalybridge

Hyde

Hattersley

Farnworth

Little Hulton Prestwich

Radcliffe

Leigh

Hindley

Swinton

Stockport

Altrincham

WIGAN

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

TAMESIDE

SALFORD

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

BURY

TRAFFORD

OLDHAM

City centre

In the next five years, we aim to complete
business cases for early delivery of...

Subject to funding and business case approval

• Implementation of the Congestion Deal
• Smart, integrated ticketing
• Reform of the bus market
• Electric Bus Fleet Investment
• Metrolink reliability, capacity and
   service improvements, and stop upgrades
• Further investment in
   the Bee Network (see map 4)
• Clean Air Plan measures
• Streets for All network improvements
• Travel Hubs/Park & Ride upgrades
• Highways maintenance and renewal programmes
• Partnership options for management
   and improvement of local rail stations
• Station accessibility improvements
• Support for new technologies,
   e.g. Mobility as a Service
• Bus Stop Enhancements, Bus Marginal Gains
   and Bus Pinch Point Programmes
• Implementation of the GM Freight
   and Logistics Strategy 

Other strategic interventions
not shown on the map:

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020  
16 October 2020

Metrolink and
Metro/Tram-Train services

Streets for All & Quality Bus Transit and
bus network improvements

Town and city centre improvements,
including interchanges and public realm

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

Streets for All & bus corridor upgrade
and new bus corridors

High speed rail

New highway links associated
with new developments

Motorway improvements

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Asset Management and
Maintenance Programmes

Rail service improvements

These interventions are those with potential to be delivered by 2025.

MAP 2

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Potential new or
replacement stations

Potential new Metrolink stops
Manchester

Airport

Additional buses
on LSM Busway

Tram-Train
Pathfinder project:
Manchester–Hale

Tram-Train Pathfinder project:
Manchester Airport–Wilmslow

Metrolink
extension
to Terminal 2

Wigan East-West
road infrastructure

Beal Valley/
Broadbent Moss
Spine Road

Further phases of
Western Gateway
Infrastructure Scheme
(WGIS)

Implementation of
Stockport Station
Masterplan Stockport Town Centre West

Accessibility Package

Stockport Town Centre East
Accessibility Package

South Stockport
rail infrastructure
improvements 

Greenfield station
disabled access
improved

Trans-Pennine
route upgrade

Godley Green
and Hattersley
pedestrian/cycle
bridge connection

Manchester Airport
station upgrade

M60 J24–J4
Motorway improvements

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

Manchester Piccadilly HS2
Growth Strategy (early
interventions and powers)

City Centre Transport
Strategy interventions

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy
(early interventions)

M60 J19
improvements

Oldham Town Centre:
Accessible Oldham
Connectivity Package
(Phase 2)

Improve Piccadilly–
Victoria Metrolink
frequency

Denton Island
improvements

Manchester
Northern Gateway
bus corridor

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
local bus network

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
express bus corridor

Sale West
bus corridor

New Carrington
bus corridor

A57 Regent Road
KRN Carriageway
resurfacing   

Elton Reservoir
Link Road

Elton Reservoir
Metrolink stop
and Travel Hub/
Park & Ride

S4A & QBT
(Bolton–Bury
Rochdale)

S4A & bus corridor upgrade
(A57 Manchester–Hattersley)

A6 Stockport to High Lane
Streets for All and Bus Route
Improvement Package

S4A & QBT
(Wigan–Bolton)

S4A
(Farnworth)

S4A (Stretford)

S4A & QBT
(MediaCityUK–
Salford Crescent)

S4A & QBT
(A6 Manchester–
Little Hulton)

S4A & QBT
(Wigan–
Hindley–Leigh)

S4A & QBT
(Rochdale–
Oldham–Ashton)

Cop Road Metrolink stop
and Travel Hub/Park & Ride

Rochdale Station Travel Hub/
Park & Ride upgrade

Bus Rapid Transit
(Airport to the east)

M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway)
Distributor Road

Bredbury Economic Corridor
Improvement Package A560 Stockport Rd/

Mottram Old Rd
Travel Corridor 

Oldham Mumps
area and access
to Southlink
development site

Mancunian Way
Resurfacing and
Refurbishment
Scheme

Timperley Wedge/
Roundthorn Medipark
proposals

Heywood
Queens Park Bridge
major structure
enhancements

Manchester Street
Viaduct refurbishment,
Oldham

Bolton Town Centre
junction improvements

Bolton KRN Structures
refurbishment

Radcliffe
Town Centre
improvements

A58 St Marys Gate/
Manchester Road
Streets for All Package 

Salford Quays
Northern Access

City of Salford
Community Stadium
Access Enhancements

A34 Area Access
Package

Metrolink extension
towards Davenport Green

(including Metrolink
stop upgrade)

Bury Interchange
redevelopment

Rochdale Station
Gateway improvements

Streets for All
improvements:
St Mary’s Way

Bury Town Centre
Streets for All

S4A
(Deansgate)

New Guided Busway
stop north of
Mosley Common

Streets for All
improvements:
Hyde Town Centre

Streets for All
improvements: Wharfside

Streets for All
improvements:
Trafford Civic Quarter

Warrington line
improvements

M6 J23
improvements

Eccles New Road/
South Langworthy Rd
refurbishment 

Structures Improvement
Package – Stockport   

A58 Angouleme Way
and Peel Way major
maintenance/renewal   

Rochdale line electrification

Tram-Train Pathfinder project:
Oldham to Heywood via Rochdale

Sandhills
Metrolink stop

Electrification from
Bolton to Wigan

M602

Manchester Airport
highway improvements

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 223

marshj_1
Draft



M62

M602

Whitworth

Marsden

New Mills

Whaley
Bridge

Styal

Handforth
Poynton

CHORLEY

WILMSLOW

WARRINGTON

Wigan

Stockport

Culcheth

Lymm

Billinge

Haydock

Adlington

Skelmersdale

Newton-le-
Willows

RUNCORN

WIDNES

Rochdale

Bury

Altrincham

Bolton

Ashton-
under-Lyne

Oldham

Stalybridge

Heywood

Middleton

BOLTON

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDEMANCHESTER

HALTON

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE
EAST

WEST
YORKSHIRE

DERBYSHIRE

WARRINGTON

BLACKBURN
WITH DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

STOCKPORT

WIGAN

SALFORD

TRAFFORD

BURY

M
60

M61

M
61

M58

M6

M
6

M6

M62

M56

M67

M
56

M60

M60

M60

M
66

M62

SEJS

SEJS

SEJS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

NWQS

City centre

NWQS

SEJS

TPTS Trans-Pennine Tunnel Study

M60 South East Junction Study

North West Quadrant Study

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2020

SEMMMS South East Manchester Multi-Modal
Study (SEMMMS) Refresh

Metrolink and
Metro/Tram-Train services

Rapid Transit

Rail infrastructure improvements

High speed rail

Streets for All & Quality Bus Transit and
bus network improvements
Streets for All & bus corridor upgrade
and new bus corridors

Motorway improvements

New highway links associated
with new developments

Other new highway links

Local road network improvements

Town centre improvements,
including interchanges and
public realm

In the next five years, we will develop options for...

Looking beyond this five year development
programme, we will investigate potential
rapid transit corridors:
• Airport – Carrington – Irlam
• Ashton – Oldham
• Bolton – Bury / Bolton – Radcliffe
• Marple – Stockport
• Oldham – Grotton – Greenfield
• Oldham – Royton
• Tyldesley – Hindley Green – Wigan  

MAP 3

These are the interventions which need further investigation or development
in order to identify future options and determine feasibility. This work may
identify interventions that could be delivered by 2025, and we will aim to
achieve that wherever possible, but most are longer term projects that would
be delivered in later years.

Existing land supply growth areas

GMSF site allocation

Subject to funding and business case approval

16 October 2020

Station Alliance stations

Other strategic interventions not shown on the map:
• Further investment in the Bee Network (see Map 4)
• Streets for All network improvements
• Further Travel Hubs/Park & Ride proposals
• Further electrification of rail lines
• New stations
• Platform lengthening
• Station accessibility improvements
• Metrolink reliability, capacity and service improvements,
   and stop upgrades
• Support for new technologies, e.g. Mobility as a Service
• Further Freight & Logistics programmes
• Integrated Rail Plan interventions
• Further metro/tram-train routes
   linked to the Regional Centre metro tunnel

Manchester
Airport SEMMMS

SEMMMS

SEMMMS

Tintwistle and
Hollingworth:
further interventions

A6 to M60
Relief Road

Regional centre
Metro tunnel

HS2 Tunnel

High Speed 2

High Speed 2

North West Manchester
Rail Study improvements

North West
Manchester
Rail Study
improvements

Manchester Airport:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Manchester Piccadilly:
HS2 and NPR station
and Growth Strategy

Chat Moss and West Coast
Rail Study improvements

Port Salford
rail freight link 

Improved links between
Eccles rail & Metrolink

North East Manchester
Rail Study improvements

South Manchester
Rail Study improvements

South East Manchester
Rail Study improvements

Stockport –
Station Alliance
Enhancement
Program

Mossley station
accessibility
improvements

South Manchester
Highway and 
Transport Study

M60 J9–J14
improvements

M60 J21–J24
Smart Motorway

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Atherton line

Metrolink extension
towards Port Salford/
Salford Stadium

Metrolink connection
MediaCity–Salford Crescent

Further new Metrolink
connections between
Salford Crescent,
Inner Salford
and the City Centre

Metrolink extension
to Stalybridge

Metro/rail/Tram-Train
Stockport to Tameside
via Denton and Reddish

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Glossop line

Wigan HS2
Growth Strategy

Northern
Powerhouse
Rail to Sheffield

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Liverpool

Northern Powerhouse
Rail to Leeds

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Marple line

Metro/Tram-Train
Stockport to
Manchester Airport

Metro/Tram-Train
Cornbrook to Manchester
Airport via Timperley

Bus Rapid Transit
(Manchester Airport
to Altrincham)

Metro/Tram-Train
East Didsbury to
Stockport/Hazel Grove

Manchester Airport
Metrolink Western Leg

The Quays further
connectivity
improvements

Oldham Mumps
Interchange
redevelopment

M60 J8 link road
improvements

Metro/Tram-Train
on the Warrington line

Bus Rapid Transit extension
to Lowton and Golborne

Metrolink
connection
to Middleton

Metrolink connection
Middleton to Oldham

M61 J6
Link Road

Ashton-in-Makerfield
Interchange upgrades

Metro/Tram-Train
Rochdale–Heywood–Bury

Bredbury area
highway
improvements

A49 Standish
Link Road

Lane Head
improvements

M66 improvements
including J3

Stalybridge Town Centre
transport interchange

M66 J2
improvements M62 J19

improvements

Streets for All
improvements:
Heywood Town Centre

Streets for All
improvements:
Middleton
Town Centre

S4A & bus corridor upgrade
(A56 Bury–Ramsbottom)

S4A bus corridor
upgrade (A56
Manchester–Bury)

S4A & bus corridor upgrade
(A56 Manchester–Altrincham)

S4A & QBT
(Ashton–
Stockport)

S4A & QBT (A6 Manchester–
Stockport College)

A57–M62
link road

Westhoughton
Multi-Modal
Package

Salford Crescent
masterplan
access package

Stockport HS2
Growth Strategy

Manchester Airport
Western Link

Metro/Tram-Train
Manchester Airport to
the west and southwest
(Mid Cheshire)

M6 J25
all-movements
junction

Bus Rapid Transit from
M62 North-East Corridor
(Northern Gateway) and
surrounding towns to the
Regional Centre

TPTS

TPTS

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 224

marshj_2
Draft



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 26 

Our Bus 

Summary 

53. Local bus, Quality Bus Transit and bus rapid transit are integral to the delivery of the Our 
Network concept set out by the Mayor of Greater Manchester in June 2019 and in our 
2040 Transport Strategy.  

54. Over the next five years we aim to develop an ambitious investment programme to 
ensure that buses play their full role in delivering a more integrated and sustainable 
transport system. This will include: 

• Developing detailed proposals for a 95-mile network of Quality Bus Transit 
corridors across Greater Manchester which will improve the whole-journey 
experience for local bus trips;  

• Developing detailed proposals for bus rapid transit services that build on the 
success of the Guided Busway service on the Leigh - Salford - Manchester bus route; 
and 

• Measures to tackle bus pinch points on the highway network to improve the 
reliability of bus journeys.   

55. Alongside physical improvements to the highway network, bus waiting facilities and 
interchanges, we will aim to deliver a range of complementary measures to increase the 
number of sustainable journeys made in Greater Manchester. In the next five years these 
will include: 

• Delivery of measures that support Our Network for bus by making services 
integrated, accessible and affordable, including continued consideration of Bus 
Reform and trial of Our Pass, allowing free bus travel for the city-region’s 16-to-18-
year olds; 

• Development of cleaner and improved bus services to serve new housing and 
employment sites. 

56. Committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and longer-term 
development priorities for bus are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and in 
Appendix A. 

57. Bus interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are summarised in Appendix C.   

 

  

Document Pack Page 225



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 27 

Introduction to Our Bus 
58. This section summarises the local bus, Quality Bus Transit and bus rapid transit delivery 

programme. Buses plays a vital role in tackling congestion and providing access to work, 
leisure and other destinations. Increasing bus patronage through improved services and 
infrastructure is key to achieving our Right Mix 2040 vision of zero net growth in motor 
vehicle traffic.   

 

Local Bus  

59. Bus is by far our most dominant public transport mode, accounting for four in every five 
public transport journeys in Greater Manchester, and it plays a vital role in reducing 
congestion and improving accessibility for people who have no access to a car. However, 
there is the potential for bus to contribute even more effectively to our overall public 
transport strategy, with 58% of our residents either using the bus occasionally, or would 
consider using the bus if a good service was provided. 

60. A number of barriers prevent the bus reaching its potential in Greater Manchester. These 
include a fragmented bus market with multiple operators, a complex and ever-changing 
ticketing offer, lack of confidence that buses will turn up or arrive at destinations on 
time, and the perception that the bus is slow compared to other modes. Commercial and 
subsidised bus mileage also continues to decline (reducing by 21% and 33% respectively 
between 2010 and 2018), impacting residents who rely on buses to access work, school, 
essential services and leisure. Combined with changes such as the introduction of 
Metrolink, these challenges have contributed to a reduction in bus use, with patronage 
declining by 17% between 2008-09 and 2017-18. 

Document Pack Page 226



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 28 

61. Overcoming these barriers is essential to enabling bus to play its part in realising our aim 
for a fully integrated transport system that encourages people out of their cars. To 
achieve this, over the next five years we will need to invest in our bus network to better 
integrate services with other modes, such as rail, Metrolink, walking and cycling, deliver 
a simple and integrated fares system, improve the customer experience on the bus, and 
continue to grow our network. As with other public transport modes Covid-19 has 
resulted in a reduction in bus patronage.  We will continue to review patronage levels 
following recovery from the pandemic and any potential medium to longer term 
influences on bus travel that may affect Greater Manchester’s investment decisions. The 
following outlines key steps in our bus investment plans to achieve this up to 2025.   

62. Bus Reform: Following the introduction of the Bus Services Act (2017), the GMCA asked 
TfGM to carry out an assessment of a bus franchising scheme. After its completion and 
the conclusion of an independent audit the GMCA decided to proceed to consultation on 
a proposed franchising scheme which ran from 14 October 2019 to 8 January 2020. The 
Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on Greater Manchester’s bus market, 
including timetables, revenues, passenger numbers and the public’s attitudes to public 
transport. Due to this, further work will be undertaken to assess the impact of 
coronavirus on the bus reform process.  

63. Concessionary support: TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, will continue to provide access to 
government funded concessionary fares for  elderly and disabled people. It also funds 
concessionary fares for children and for some women affected by changes in the state 
pension age In September 2019, Our Pass was launched as a 2-year pilot providing young 
people aged 16-18 free travel on local bus services. Please see the Fares and Ticketing 
section (page 58) for more information. 

64. Supported services: The majority of Greater Manchester bus services are run by 
operators on a commercial basis. TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, will continue to provide 
funding for parts of the bus network that operators consider not commercially viable but 
which are essential to connect people with work and local services such as education, 
healthcare, shopping and leisure.  With a continuing reduction in commercial mileage 
there remains pressure on the supported network to maintain service provision with no 
additional funding available. In order to maximise the benefit to passengers obtained 
from limited funds, there will be a continued process of refining the criteria used to 
decide which services to support.  Challenges include how to develop a sustainable 
network that supports the night-time economy and meets the needs of night-time 
workers as well as other passengers. TfGM will work with bus operators and major 
employers such as the Airport to achieve this.  

65. Accessible Transport: TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, funds and manages the delivery of 
the Ring and Ride service, which provides door-to-door, demand responsive transport to 
Greater Manchester residents who find it difficult to use conventional public transport 
due to disability or limited mobility.  TfGM will ensure key service performance standards 
are maintained in order to meet the service’s social inclusion objectives.  Commitment to 
this service is highlighted by the support of the Combined Authority to procure twenty 
new vehicles for the fleet.   

66. TfGM also funds flexible transport services under the Local Link brand for local journeys 
in areas where fixed-route public transport services are limited. TfGM is currently 

Document Pack Page 227



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 29 

reviewing Accessible Transport across the region to ensure that it is delivered in the most 
cost-effective manner: that includes exploring the introduction of new flexible bus 
services serving rail stations and Metrolink stops.  Mobility as a Service is also an 
important concept in how Demand Responsive Transport evolves (see the Future 
Mobility section for more detail).  

67. School Travel: As of November 2020, TfGM, on behalf of the GMCA, provides dedicated 
school bus services to 119 education establishments: one primary school, 114 secondary 
schools and four further education colleges.  The provision of these services is 
undertaken through around 300 contracts which provide nearly 700 daily school 
journeys and carry approximately 30,000 passengers per day. TfGM also owns a fleet of 
78 Yellow School Buses. These services promote modal shift and help to reduce 
congestion by providing dedicated transport to schools. TfGM is currently reviewing 
school services across the city-region to maximise their potential to reduce congestion 
and to ensure they deliver benefits to students and schools as cost-effectively as 
possible. 

68. Draft GMSF new allocations: The draft GMSF includes a number of large new allocations 
of land to accommodate economic and population growth.  These have the potential to 
support new or improved bus services – for example, New Carrington and the M62 
North-East Corridor.  The Locality Assessments carried out for the GMSF allocations have 
developed potential investments required to support good public transport accessibility 
to the sites.  These interventions are summarised in Appendix C.  Further studies will be 
required to test the detailed feasibility, potential routing, operating costs and funding 
mechanisms for new or improved bus services to these locations.  

Quality Bus Transit 

69. Quality Bus Transit Corridors and Bus Corridor Upgrades: TfGM is undertaking a study 
of potential Quality Bus Transit Corridors that create a step-change in the experience of 
taking the bus for local journeys, and for access to the rapid transit network and town 
centres. These corridors will be delivered through whole-route upgrades of key bus 
routes, transforming orbital and radial connections between local centres across Greater 
Manchester.  There will be a strong focus on journey quality, reliability and integration of 
bus into an attractive urban realm.  

70. Quality Bus Transit will include bus priority measures, attractive and comfortable waiting 
areas, and creation of a more attractive urban realm that will encourage the high-density 
land-uses that bus travel facilitates.  Attention will also be paid to improving access to 
bus stops from homes and destinations, through enhancements to the surrounding 
walking and cycling networks.  Quality Bus Transit will be particularly important to 
support the regeneration of our town centres and for travel across the wider city-region. 

71. Quality Bus Transit is initially being investigated for the Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton 
corridor, with additional corridors being developed over the next five years: 

• Wigan-Bolton 

• Bolton-Bury-Rochdale 

• MediaCityUK-Salford Crescent 

Document Pack Page 228



DELIVERY | OUR BUS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 30 

• A6 Manchester City Centre-Little Hulton  

• Wigan-Hindley – Leigh 

72. Alongside Quality Bus Transit, a number of bus corridor upgrade routes have been 
identified for development in Greater Manchester. Typically corridors that have less 
interaction with town centres and residential neighbourhoods, these routes will focus on 
delivering improvements to bus journey time and reliability, through bus priority 
measures. Figure 8 below shows the proposed network of Quality Bus Transit and bus 
corridor upgrades to be developed over the next five years. 

Bus Rapid Transit: 

73. Following the success of the guided busway service on the Leigh-Salford-Manchester 
corridor we are exploring options for new bus rapid transit links for longer and middle-
distance journeys.  Potential services include a network of routes from the Airport to the 
east (towards southern areas of the borough of Stockport) and a service to the west 
(from the Airport HS2 station towards Altrincham and Carrington) and also new links to 
the M62 North-East Corridor development area. There could be potential to extend the 
Leigh-Salford-Manchester Guided Busway service further west, for example towards 
Wigan.  

74. Further studies will be required to test the detailed feasibility, potential routing, and 
operating costs of new bus rapid transit links to these locations. Increasing the reach, 
reliability and capacity of our bus rapid transit network will also help us to reduce 
congestion, air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions by providing a fast and reliable 
alternative to the car. This will include exploring options to better connect bus rapid 
transit stops through travel hubs that support journeys by cycling, walking and emerging 
options, such as e-scooters or hire bikes, alongside park and ride facilities. 

Figure 8: Greater Manchester’s Future Quality Bus Transit and Bus Corridor Upgrade 
Routes 

  

Document Pack Page 229



DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 31 

Our Metrolink 
Summary 

75. Metrolink, and its evolution through the use of tram-train technology, is a key element in 
the delivery of Our Network.   

76. Our Prospectus for Rail (published in 2019) sets out what is needed for a 
transformational change in Metrolink light rail services – alongside National Rail services 
– so that all rail-based travel can play a full part in the future prosperity of Greater 
Manchester. Greater Manchester’s record of success with Metrolink shows that you can 
deliver high quality rail-based services when those who design and deliver them 
understand and are accountable to the local customers they serve.  

77. Over the next five years we plan to improve reliability, capacity, and customer 
experience on Metrolink. We aim to achieve this through: 

• Investing and renewing our Metrolink fleet assets through 27 new trams and 
associated infrastructure; 

• Improving the Tram Management System and communications network, and 
providing turnback facility enhancements to increase capacity and resilience across 
the network; 

• Developing and introducing new stops to support new developments, enhancing 
passenger facilities at existing stops and providing better access to stops; and 

• Exploring opportunities for new Metrolink connections, including testing the 
feasibility of tram-train on existing rail lines. 

78. These activities represent a significant investment in the quality, capacity and reach of 
public transport in Greater Manchester, providing an attractive alternative to the private 
car and supporting our 2040 Transport Strategy vision.  

79. Our Metrolink committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and 
longer-term development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and 
in Appendix A. 

80. Our Metrolink interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and 
developer contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are summarised in 
Appendix C.   

  

Document Pack Page 230



DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 32 

Introduction to Our Metrolink 

81. Our public transport network plays a vital role in tackling congestion and providing 
access to work, leisure and other destinations. Increasing the use of public transport is 
key to achieving our Right Mix objectives of a non-car mode share of at least 50% of trips 
in Greater Manchester by 2040, and zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic in Greater 
Manchester.  

 

Metrolink 

82. Fixed-track rail (including Metrolink and tram-train) and bus rapid transit (which in this 
Delivery Plan means using bus technology to create services with some of the same 
characteristics as rail-based rapid transit) services are popular alternatives to car for 
longer journeys.  They form an important element of our integrated and comprehensive 
network. Greater Manchester has invested heavily in its rapid transit network in recent 
years, as demonstrated by the recent opening of the Metrolink Trafford Park line and the 
Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway service. 

83. Our Network Phase 1: Metrolink introduced contactless payment in July 2019, enabling 
a daily fare-cap for journeys on the network; the Trafford Park Line opened in early 2020; 
an additional 27 new trams have been ordered, adding 15% more capacity to the 
network; further Metrolink extensions are being explored, including an extension of the 
Airport line to Terminal 2 and Airport City, completion of the ‘Western Leg’ of the Airport 
line, and longer-term proposals to consider new connections to Port Salford, Middleton, 
Stalybridge and Stockport; the travel hub concept – including expanded park and ride 

Document Pack Page 231



DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 33 

provision – is being developed; and three tram-train Pathfinder development projects 
are underway (see below). A draft feasibility study of tram-train services on the Atherton 
line has also been completed. 

84. Building on Metrolink’s success: Following a decade of expansion and associated 
patronage growth, the Metrolink operation is now focused on improving reliability, 
capacity and the customer experience of the existing network in order to further grow 
ridership and revenue. The renewals programme will invest in timely asset renewal. 
Particularly high standards will be applied to the maintenance and renewal of ‘golden 
assets’ - those that are critical to the operation of the system, such as signals or 
overhead lines. The Tram Management System project will be completed: this provides 
capacity improvements and real time passenger information. Other interventions will be 
implemented to improve customer experience at existing Metrolink stops.  

85. More trams: Service frequency has increased on services to Ashton-under-Lyne, and the 
network will also benefit from the 27 additional trams and associated infrastructure to 
be delivered through the Transforming Cities Fund during 2020 and 2021. These will be 
used to increase the number of double units on the busiest services.  

86. New Metrolink connections: The Metrolink network has recently successfully opened a 
further expansion, through the completion of the new £350m Trafford Park Line in early 
2020. A bid was submitted to Government in December 2017 to extend Metrolink to an 
expanded Terminal 2 and the Airport City development at Manchester Airport, as the 
first phase of completing the Western Leg of the Airport Line. When complete, the 
Western Leg could serve Wythenshawe Hospital, the MediPark development, existing 
and proposed housing at Newall Green and Timperley Wedge, the proposed HS2/NPR 
Airport Station and surrounding development, Terminal 2, Airport City and the existing 
Interchange at Manchester Airport. The Western Leg is envisaged as a core component 
of unlocking a network of future services to the Airport zone using tram-train 
technology.  A number of other potential new Metrolink connections have been 
proposed (see Map 3). These require further prioritisation to determine the sequencing 
of scheme development activity.  The emerging Rapid Transit sub-strategy, which we 
intend to publish in the coming months, will play a prominent role in that prioritisation.  
This will allow us to focus our finite scheme development resources on those 
interventions that most effectively deliver our Right Mix targets. 

87. Improved Metrolink Connections: There is also an intention to provide increased 
Metrolink frequency between Piccadilly and Victoria stations. In the HS2 and NPR 
Growth Strategy2, we set out a plan to reposition Metrolink in a new integrated Piccadilly 
Station which will allow for significant future growth – this will enable additional 
metro/tram-train service development and further the GMCA’s intention to provide 
direct services from Rochdale and Oldham into Piccadilly. 

New Stops and Upgrades 

88. Upgrades have already been made at Cornbrook and Shudehill, and further Metrolink 
stop improvements are planned. With an initial focus on the Bury line, improvements at 
some stops will include measures such as new track crossings and access routes to stops, 
better lighting and CCTV, shelter renewals and carbon reduction measures. The 

 
2 https://www.tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy 

Document Pack Page 232

https://www.tfgm.com/press-release/hs2-npr-growth-strategy


DELIVERY | OUR METROLINK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 34 

interventions listed in the Fares and Ticketing section of this document (see page 58) will 
also help us to build on Metrolink’s success.  Expansion of the Cornbrook stop will be 
investigated in association with additional track to enhance the operational flexibility 
and capacity of this major junction on the Metrolink System. 

89. Business cases are being developed for new Metrolink stops to serve existing 
populations and potential new developments at Cop Road on the Oldham-Rochdale line 
and at Elton Reservoir on the Bury Line.  

Tram-Train  

90. We are currently studying the feasibility of testing tram-train technology in Greater 
Manchester, enabling new light rail vehicles to run on the same rail lines as trains. Tram-
train technology and operations are common in other countries and will initially be 
tested through pilot Pathfinder projects on the Oldham to Heywood via Rochdale, 
Manchester to Hale via Timperley and Manchester Airport to Wilmslow via Styal sections 
of the network. A vehicle manufacturer market engagement exercise will take place to 
understand what technologies and suppliers could be available to help deliver a tram-
train vehicle in the future as part of a wider rapid transit network. If successful, this could 
pave the way for a further expansion of the Metrolink network to make much better use 
of and create direct connections with our existing, extensive rail network, by the 2020s 
and 2030s.  

91. Whilst it is a potentially transformational solution to increase the reach of our rapid 
transit network, there are significant hurdles to be overcome before tram-train 
technology can be implemented. We will need to consider the integration with long-
distance rail passenger and freight services; the impact on existing rail and Metrolink 
contracts; and the financial and operational management of the new services. As such, 
we are working closely with Network Rail to progress this and embed the concept into 
the existing network. 

92. Regional Centre Metro Tunnel: Increasing demand on the rapid transit network will in 
the long-term need to be accommodated by a major increase in rapid transit capacity in 
the city centre. Besides providing a step-change in capacity, a Regional Centre metro 
tunnel would improve rapid transit services between locations throughout Greater 
Manchester through conversion of shorter-distance-focused suburban rail lines to create 
a network of high-capacity metro services. It should however be noted that a Regional 
Centre metro tunnel is a major undertaking and would take a long time to develop and 
years to deliver from the start of construction.  

93. A high-capacity metro system for Greater Manchester would provide fast and frequent 
rail-based services with excellent access to network hubs including Manchester City 
Centre.  New sections of segregated infrastructure – probably involving tunnelling – 
would deliver a step-change in capacity through permitting longer vehicles than are 
feasible on the Metrolink system at present. 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 233



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 35 

Our Rail 
Summary 

94. Rail is the third key element in the delivery of the public transport aspirations of Our 
Network. The following activities represent a significant long-term investment in the 
capacity and connectivity of public transport in Greater Manchester.  

95. Whilst HS2 and NPR are potentially transformational in terms of increased capacity and 
economic growth, further investment is needed in advance of these interventions to 
meet passenger needs.  Greater Manchester believes that if rail is to offer more 
convenient journeys and higher capacity in the long term, a step-change in ‘metro’ 
capacity is needed, namely turn-up-and-go services offering excellent access to network 
hubs. A higher-capacity metro network would boost the growth of the city-region and 
provide capacity in Manchester City Centre to operate most or all of the metro services. 

96. Metro conversion of suburban rail lines would release capacity on the National Rail 
network for improved services on other routes, including inter-urban services. Access to 
HS2/NPR at Manchester Piccadilly would be much-improved and would not be impaired 
by the capacity constraints that will otherwise adversely affect rail access to Manchester 
City Centre by 2040.  However, metro conversion is a long-term project, and there are 
urgently-needed improvements to the National Rail network in Greater Manchester in 
the short to medium term.  Many National Rail services will not be suitable for metro 
conversion, and long-term investment will be needed in the infrastructure used by these 
services 

97. Over the next five years, working with rail industry partners, we plan to progress a 
number of key priorities for GM and continue to develop long-term, large-scale projects 
that will improve the reliability, capacity and customer experience of rail travel through: 

• Central Manchester Rail Network (including Castlefield corridor) enhancements; 

• Stockport area rail infrastructure improvements; 

• A programme of rail improvements on key rail corridors such as the Warrington rail 
(CLC) line;  

• Station enhancements including access for all improvements and platform 
lengthening; 

• Train lengthening and introduction of new rolling stock; 

• Development of new stations proposals; and 

• HS2 / NPR (Northern Powerhouse Rail) including growth strategies at Piccadilly, the 
Airport, Stockport and Wigan, as well as Northern Chord and Golborne Link. 

Document Pack Page 234



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 36 

98. Rail committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and longer-term 
development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and in Appendix 
A. 

99. Rail interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations, are summarised in Appendix C.   

Introduction to Our Rail 

100. The National Rail network in GM has seen sustained growth in passenger and freight 
volumes over the last 20 years, as a result of the growth of the city-region and in 
particular the Regional Centre.  Passengers are dependent on rail to access jobs, 
education, leisure and other opportunities available across the area. The current rail 
offering includes local services for commuters, regional services between core cities and 
to the city- region’s airport, and long-distance services that connect GM with the rest of 
the country. 

101. The network doesn’t always meet passenger expectations, however, and customer 
satisfaction is low.  GM launched its Our Prospectus for Rail in 2019, a masterplan to 
transform rail-based transport and deliver a doubling of the number of rail-based 
journeys in the city-region by 2040.  In support of Our Prospectus for Rail, this section (as 
well as many of the improvements outlined in the previous Our Metrolink chapter) 
outlines the committed, planned investments and longer-term priorities for rail in 
Greater Manchester, including improvements to the classic rail network, new rail 
stations, and looking ahead to High Speed Rail.  

 

Document Pack Page 235



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 37 

Our Prospectus for Rail 

102. In September 2019, the Mayor (on behalf of the GMCA) launched Our Prospectus for 
Rail, which sets out Greater Manchester’s requirements for a transformational change in 
rail-based modes in the city region. 

103. It made the case for greater devolution, and an alignment of governance procedures 
across TfGM, Transport for the North, HS2 Ltd and the Department for Transport. It also 
outlined a delivery plan and time frame for integrating fares and ticketing across all 
modes, reshaping rail franchises, introducing additional rolling stock, longer and more 
frequent trains, and for testing tram-train operation in Greater Manchester.  

104. The Rail Prospectus makes clear Greater Manchester’s ambition for a world-class metro 
system - similar to those found in other successful city-regions - which is high-capacity, 
high-quality, fast, frequent, reliable, accessible, and fully integrated with the wider 
transport network.   

105. In addition to these interventions, we also view the delivery of High Speed 2 – including 
to Manchester Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, Stockport and Wigan – as a committed 
intervention. High Speed 2 will be delivered beyond the timescales of this Delivery Plan, 
with Phase 1 now due to be complete between 2028-2031, and Phase 2 complete 
between 2035-2040. HS2 is illustrated on Map 3.  

106. The most recent Northern and TransPennine Express rail franchises - which commenced 
in 2016 - were contracted to deliver an additional 40,000 seats on services every day 
across the North by December 2019. This commitment - and other franchise 
commitments, such as major investment in new rolling stock for local services, and a 
‘step-change’ in service levels on many local routes - represented a significant step 
towards achieving many of Greater Manchester’s strategic rail priorities.  Whilst these 
operators have faced many well-publicised challenges – culminating in Northern’s 
franchise being terminated early, and replaced by a government-run Operator of Last 
Resort (OLR) - Greater Manchester’s position is that we will continue to work with the 
Government, the Rail North Partnership and Transport for the North to ensure these 
substantial improvements are delivered for the benefit of Greater Manchester’s 
residents.  

107. In future, it is hoped that the rail operations can be shaped so that they are better 
aligned with Greater Manchester’s wider objectives. Taking the opportunity of reform in 
the railway industry being brought about by the Williams Review, we are pursuing 
greater devolution for rail – as set out in the Prospectus.  This work will be aligned and 
consistent with progress being made by TfN for further devolution of powers from 
central Government, which would enable the North of England and potentially TfGM to 
shape future rail arrangements around our specific requirements, make better use of 
funding, and take firmer control over the management of rail service delivery. 

108. Rail Capacity Studies: We are conducting a number of studies to understand where 
improvements are needed on our rail network and where we can work with Network Rail 
and train operators to provide more seats and more journeys. These include routes in 
Greater Manchester but also look at how we better connect with our neighbours in 
Merseyside, Lancashire, Cheshire, Yorkshire and across the North. These studies are 
crucial to building a strong evidence base to explore options for meeting future demand 

Document Pack Page 236



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 38 

and will help make the case for rail investment for the future. In addition, Rossendale 
Borough Council has undertaken a study to investigate options to introduce rail 
passenger services between Greater Manchester and Rossendale. Greater Manchester 
may offer its support in the future, should a sound business case be demonstrated.  

109. Rail Infrastructure: TfGM will continue to work with the rail industry to develop options 
for further electrification to address capacity and crowding issues as well as in reducing 
the carbon footprint and air-quality impact of rail operations.  Greater Manchester 
supported the development of the 2015 ‘Northern Sparks’ report which identified a 
prioritised list of electrification projects and will continue to press the case for cost-
effective electrification on routes which would offer the greatest benefits for the city-
region. We will also continue to work with Network Rail and operators to deliver the 
Salford Central station upgrade. Investing now to deliver a fit-for-purpose station for the 
needs of the future is a key short-term delivery objective. 

110. The upgrade of the Trans-Pennine route to Leeds is a national priority, with up to £3bn of 
investment earmarked by the Secretary of State for medium-term delivery in advance of 
Northern Powerhouse Rail. Electrification from Manchester to Stalybridge is committed.  
In Greater Manchester we would like to see this extended to Huddersfield / Leeds 
coupled with enhanced local train service frequency from Manchester on this route. In 
July 2020, the scheme was allocated an additional £600m by Government to ease 
congestion and improve reliability along the route, with an ambition for full 
electrification, digital signalling and additional freight capacity.   

111. The rail network is extremely congested around central Manchester, leading to conflicts 
between services and unreliability both in Greater Manchester and the North of England.  
Previously, the solution to this problem was the full implementation of the ‘Northern 
Hub’ proposals. Certain parts of these proposals have been constructed - such as the 
Ordsall Chord - but not the most critical element: the reconfiguration of Manchester 
Oxford Road station and new platforms 15 and 16 at Piccadilly station. The impact of this 
partial provision of Northern Hub planned infrastructure was evident with the 
implementation of the May 2018 timetable which saw an increase in trains along the 
Castleford Corridor (the line between Manchester Piccadilly, Oxford Road and 
Deansgate), but without the supporting infrastructure, and resulted in a major 
deterioration in train performance. 

112. In recognition of this poor performance, the cross-industry Manchester Recovery Task 
Force (MRTF) was set up late 2019 with a remit to examine both short and long-term 
solutions. TfGM is a key stakeholder in the task force and continues to provide technical 
direction and support to the process in order to achieve improved levels of train 
performance in the short term, and to press for the necessary investment in additional 
infrastructure in the longer term. 

  

Document Pack Page 237



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 39 

113. The case for intervention to improve the situation is already made and we will support 
industry and government in making these interventions at the earliest opportunity; 
including the case for expanding/redesigning Manchester Piccadilly so that it is fit for 
purpose for generations to come. There are still significant operational challenges which 
make it difficult to run the Castlefield Corridor reliably.  Planned frequency 
enhancements are undeliverable, and to address this, and to get better, more reliable 
use from the corridor, the following changes are needed:  

• Improved day to day operational fixes; 

• A comprehensive review of services operating along the corridor; 

• Tactical infrastructure interventions to support and optimise a revised effective, 
reliable service pattern; and 

• Long-term investment in the Castlefield Corridor.  

114. A Transport and Works Act Order for new platforms 15 and 16 at Piccadilly was 
submitted for consideration by the Secretary of State in 2015. We are yet to hear a 
conclusion from this process, pending further options analysis by Network Rail at the 
request of the Secretary of State. Greater Manchester is a key stakeholder in this analysis 
and will continue to apply pressure for the original solution proposed. 

115. Restore Your Railways: At the start of 2020 the Department for Transport launched the 
Restoring Your Railway Fund. This is an invitation for MPs, local councils and community 
groups across England and Wales to propose how they could use funding to reinstate 
axed local services and restore closed stations.  Through this programme, a study is 
underway to investigate reinstating passenger services on the Bury-Heywood-Rochdale 
lines.  Greater Manchester is awaiting the outcome of bids associated with other rail 
corridors in the city-region.  

116. Stations Alliance: TfGM has developed alternative proposals to test working in 
partnership with operators and other industry stakeholders at many Greater Manchester 
rail stations. The key benefits set out in the GMCA Case for Change for these proposals 
include the ability to undertake station improvement and community developments; 
strategic development and regeneration; targeted accessibility improvements; and 
improved station operations and multi-modal staffing. In parallel, TfGM is exploring the 
option of gaining a station licence at Horwich Parkway which will allow us to take over 
responsibility for the management and operation of the station, improving customer 
service, strengthening our management capabilities, creating efficiencies and enabling 
more multi-modal working. 

HS2 & Northern Powerhouse Rail:  

117. Development work is underway to ensure that the phased arrival of HS2 from 2028 to 
2040 brings the maximum possible benefits to Greater Manchester. This includes the 
preparation of Growth Strategies to capitalise on the benefits of HS2 at Manchester 
Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, Wigan and Stockport, and working with Transport for the 
North to develop a compelling case for investment in east-west rail connections through 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR). Greater Manchester’s aspirations for high-speed rail 
are summarised in our recent HS2 and NPR Growth Strategy. The Greater Manchester 

Document Pack Page 238



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 40 

authorities support HS2 and NPR and want to ensure that the proposals have no 
detrimental impact on local services. TfN is also investigating the potential for a 
Manchester Airport Western Rail Link from the rail station at Manchester Airport to the 
Mid-Cheshire line near Knutsford; this would likely serve a strategic role beyond Greater 
Manchester – for example facilitating faster services from Manchester to Chester and 
North Wales. 

118. The anticipated arrival of HS2 will put pressure on capacity on the conventional rail 
network at Stockport and more widely in South Manchester.  The capacity pressure will 
be most significant during the period in which HS2 utilises the conventional rail network 
between Crewe and Manchester, before the opening of the new route via Manchester 
Airport.  The network is already operating at capacity in the area, with it proving difficult 
for the railway to accommodate additional planned train services.  We will continue to 
press for complementary interventions in the conventional network that will allow the 
full benefits of the major projects to be achieved, as well as providing additional capacity 
to improve local and regional services in the longer term. 

New stations and stops 

119. New stops and stations may be required to serve major new developments proposed in 
the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). There is also potential for adding 
new stops and stations to serve large towns that are presently not served by rail-based 
transport.   

120. Following on from earlier work, we are further exploring the location of potential new 
stations in Greater Manchester. The ultimate purpose of this work is to provide new 
public transport options for people who live and work in the city region, contributing to 
modal shift and reducing pressure on the highway network where this can be shown to 
be viable. Findings from this work continue to emerge, but the intention is to progress 
sites with a positive economic and strategic case over the next five year period.  

121. Over the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for the early delivery of 
stations in the areas of Leigh, Lostock Parkway, Little Hulton, Golborne, Slattocks, 
Dewsnap, Gamesley, Stanley Green and Cheadle. Continued engagement with rail 
industry partners and central government is a crucial element of this ongoing process, in 
order to identify opportunities to deliver and fund these new stations. It should be noted 
that only a small number of them could feasibly be delivered between now and 2040 due 
to operational constraints, including the need to maintain a reliable and workable 
timetable. Greater Manchester will have to ensure all issues are considered before 
determining which are to be taken forward to delivery. 

122. In the next five years, we will also develop options to enhance station facilities across 
Greater Manchester. This work will be focussed on access to and from stations, and will 
support efforts to provide residential, commercial and community facilities (including 
those proposed in the GMSF). It is proposed that - subject to planning approvals and 
developer contributions - existing stations will undergo major redevelopment, and in 
some cases, there is the potential for a new station to support development. Work 
across Greater Manchester is being undertaken in collaboration between the Greater 
Manchester Station Alliance, individual local authorities, Network Rail, Northern Rail, 
TfGM, the GMCA and transport regeneration body LCR.  

Document Pack Page 239



DELIVERY |OUR RAIL 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 41 

123. Beyond the five year time period covered by this Delivery Plan, we will investigate 
opportunities for new stations where demand for rail travel has increased - and where 
investment in the network makes this possible - in locations such as Diggle, White City 
and Timperley East.  

124. Station Accessibility: In April 2019, Department for Transport announced 73 stations to 
be awarded funding through the Access for All programme. In Greater Manchester, two 
stations were successful: Daisy Hill and Irlam. In March 2020 Government announced 
funding to create step-free access at Walkden station. TfGM will be working closely with 
Department for Transport, Network Rail and the train operator to progress these 
important projects. All work at successful stations is to be completed by the end of 
March 2024. 

125. In addition to these significant improvements, in October 2019, TfGM (in partnership 
with Northern Rail) applied for Department for Transport Access for All Mid-Tier 
programme funding. The £20m programme was focussed on stations where accessibility 
improvements (such as the introduction of handrails) could be delivered with up to £1 
million of Government support. TfGM and Northern were successful in their nomination 
of small-scale improvements at 22 stations in GM. It is anticipated that all interventions 
that make up that programme will be delivered by April 2024.  

 

Document Pack Page 240



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 42 

Our Streets  
Summary 

126. Transforming Greater Manchester’s streets will be an essential component of achieving 
our Right Mix target and the network principles of our 2040 Transport Strategy. We will 
apply our Streets for All framework for everything we do on our streets.  This approach 
will deliver changes across all types of street in Greater Manchester, including 
neighbourhood streets, high streets, connector streets and strategic roads and 
motorways.  The ambition is to enable more people to walk, cycle and use public 
transport, and improve reliability for, in particular, buses and freight vehicles on the key 
route network serving our towns and Regional Centre. 

127. Over the next five years we aim to invest in the GM highway network to deliver change 
that meets the aims of Streets for All. This will include: 

• Opening 420 miles of the Bee Network through construction of £275 million of 
high-quality walking and cycling schemes, and development of an additional £215 
million of schemes proposed by the 10 local authorities; 

• Implementation of town centre Streets for All schemes that unlock regeneration, 
make streets accessible to all, and support journeys by sustainable modes at 
Farnworth and Stretford, and development of 15 further town centre schemes 
across Greater Manchester; 

• Realisation of the City Centre Transport Strategy through delivery of proposals 
including Streets for All schemes on Deansgate, Whitworth St as well as public 
realm improvements in key city centre squares such as Albert Square and Piccadilly 
Gardens;  

• Developing Quality Bus Transit Corridors that will provide reliable, attractive bus 
facilities on bus routes across Greater Manchester, prioritising connections 
between Rochdale, Oldham and Ashton – See Our Bus section; 

• Delivery of 55 miles of new routes and 140 new crossings across Greater 
Manchester by December 2021; 

• Implementation of a Greater Manchester Bike Hire scheme, the first phase in the 
regional centre, will aim to provide access to public bikes within 500 metres of 
100,000 households; and 

• Delivery of £17m of Emergency Active Travel Measures across Greater Manchester, 
including over 60km of high quality cycling and walking routes enabled (subject to a 
successful funding bid).  

Document Pack Page 241



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 43 

128. Our Streets committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) and longer-
term development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively and in 
Appendix A. 

129. Our Streets interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and 
developer contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are summarised in 
Appendix C.   

Introduction to Our Streets  

130. We need to plan and manage how we use our roads and streets to enable more people 
to travel by public transport, walking and cycling. Growth in motorised vehicle use has 
resulted in congestion, air and noise pollution, road traffic injuries and increased 
severance between communities due to high traffic levels and speeds. We cannot build 
our way out of congestion; we have to tackle it by delivering a reliable bus network that 
competes with private car travel in terms of journey times and comfort, and a walking 
and cycling network that enables people to leave the car at home for short trips. 

131. Delivery of the 2040 vision will require developing new approaches to designing and 
managing streets across Greater Manchester. To establish this, TfGM and local 
authorities have been working to deliver pilot schemes that support the Streets for All 
objectives detailed in the 2040 Transport Strategy. These include development of the 
Bee Network, undertaking Streets for All Corridor Studies on some of the busiest roads 
in Greater Manchester, establishing new ways of managing freight and deliveries, and 
applying Streets for All principles within town centre regeneration projects.  

132. New approaches to appraising and developing new highways schemes will be required to 
support our Right Mix and zero-carbon objectives, to ensure new developments 
prioritise sustainable trips, and to make best use of our assets. Importantly, where 
schemes provide capacity for motor traffic, improvements will be delivered for walking, 
cycling and public transport by integrating new facilities, and where communities are 
bypassed, ‘locking-in’ benefits through measures to reallocate provide more space to 
active travel and public transport to ensure that traffic does not return to these streets. 

133. To support this new approach, GM will be publishing a Streets for All Strategy. This 
strategy will set out why a change in how Greater Manchester’s streets are designed and 
used is needed, the aims and objectives of Streets for All, and TfGM’s approach to 
delivery. This strategy will be complemented by a Streets for All Design Guide, which will 
support the application of this new approach. This will establish key principles for new 
infrastructure on our streets based on street type and local needs, identify best practice 
to support scheme design, delivery and maintenance, and provide an audit tool to 
ensure proposals meet the needs of all people who use our streets.  Key street types to 
Greater Manchester are shown in Figure 9 and sections below. 

  

Document Pack Page 242



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 44 

Figure 9: Our Types of Street in Greater Manchester  

 

134. Building on this work, as part of the Congestion Deal, TfGM is updating our Sustainable 
Communities Guidance that seeks to guide delivery of sustainable transport measures 
within new development. This will form an essential tool in realising the growth set out 
in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, ensuring new development in the city-
region enables and prioritises healthy, sustainable journeys through the delivery of well-
connected places that support the Streets for All aims. 

135. The following sections provide an overview of how we will deliver Streets for All through 
our ambitious walking and cycling programme, activities to transform journeys across 
our multiple street types, and our approach to managing our streets, including freight 
and maintenance. Details on individual schemes are provided in the supporting 
information for Maps 1: committed schemes to be delivered in the next five years, Map 2 
- schemes for business case development and Map 3 – schemes for option development. 

Cycling and Walking 

136. The provision of world-class walking and cycling infrastructure, supported by strong 
community engagement, will enable active travel to become the natural choice for short 
journeys and, in turn, will make Greater Manchester a healthier, cleaner and safer place 
to live.  The interventions in this section will primarily target shorter distance journeys of 
5km or less and will contribute to achieving our Right Mix vision of 50% of trips to be 
undertaken by walking, cycling or public transport by 2040, as well as the objectives of 
Streets for All. 

 

Document Pack Page 243



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 45 

 

137. Greater Manchester’s Walking and Cycling Investment Plan sets out bold plans to 
enable the majority of the 1 million more sustainable journeys needed each day to meet 
the Right Mix target to be made by foot and bike. This document set out the vision for 
the Bee Network, Greater Manchester’s masterplan to transform travel on foot and by 
bike. The network is the longest planned walking and cycling network in the UK and, 
when complete, it will connect every neighbourhood of Greater Manchester. Developed 
through extensive consultation in 2018, the network will cost an estimated £1.5bn to 
deliver, and is made up of three core components:  

• Protected Space: 435 miles of main road corridors and town centre streets with 
protected links, junctions and public realm improvements  

• Removing points of severance: 2,400 crossings of busy roads or other points of 
severance (including rivers, canals and railway infrastructure) to connect quieter 
streets, providing 1,397 miles of the Network  

• Filtered neighbourhoods: 17 identified to date where walking and cycling is 
prioritised. 

138. Adhering to extremely high design standards, adopting and indeed going beyond those 
required in the Government's recently published on Cycle Infrastructure Design 
Guidance, and alongside a comprehensive wayfinding system, these elements will deliver 
a network that removes many of the barriers currently preventing Greater Manchester 
residents from walking and cycling for short, everyday journeys. 

139. An updated Bee Network was published in June 2019 (see below). The network will 
ultimately connect all neighbourhoods, but early priority is intended for routes to key 
destinations such as town centres and major employment areas. The network will be 
regularly reviewed and updated in consultation with local people.  

140. Mayor’s Challenge Fund (MCF): The GMCA has allocated £160m from 2018-2022 to fund 
the first phase of delivery of the Bee Network through the Transforming Cities Fund. At 

Document Pack Page 244



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 46 

the time of writing, six rounds of scheme applications have been approved for 
programme entry by the GMCA, totalling 82 schemes with a total value of around 
£493m. With the existing available funds, Transforming Cities funding, combined with a 
total of £135m in local contributions, there is a funding gap of around £200m. 

141. The current funding package will deliver approximately 10% of the Bee Network and the 
ambition is to deliver 10% of the network per year so it is complete within 10 years, 
estimated to require a further £1.3 billion in funding to deliver.  

142. Map 4 presents the specific major schemes that have been given programme entry 
through MCF. A range of other specific walking and cycling interventions to deliver the 
full Bee Network will be identified, funded and delivered throughout the life of this 
Delivery Plan. 

 

143. Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF): Two Tranches of Emergency Active Travel 
measures with a value of £17m will be committed for delivery before March 2021, 
subject to a successful Tranche 2 funding bid. These will enable over 60km of walking 
and cycling routes, schemes in seven town/city centres across GM, and over 50 modal 
filters restricting through motor traffic on local streets that will help address immediate 
challenges presented by Covid-19. These proposals will support town and city centres 
and access to employment and services, in particular for the most deprived 
communities. The measures will also help tackle longer-term critical public health 
challenges associated with physical inactivity and road safety, the climate emergency and 
the impact of congestion on the city-region’s economy. 

144. Bike Hire: Alongside the Bee Network, the GMCA is committed to delivering a network of 
easy access hire bikes. 74% of households in Greater Manchester do not have access to a 

Document Pack Page 245



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 47 

bicycle, limiting their travel options. Greater Manchester Bike Hire seeks to address this 
issue and make accessing a bicycle more convenient. The first phase is planned to 
provide public bikes within 500 metres of 100,000 households. The scheme will be an 
important element of Our Network, with a phased approach to delivery. Phase 1 will 
focus on the regional centre which will help to develop the right model for a Greater 
Manchester-wide approach. 

145. Highways England Designated Funds: There is also potential to secure additional funding 
from Highways England’s Designated Funds for walking and cycling improvements. This is 
particularly the case where opportunities are identified to overcome barriers caused by 
heavily trafficked strategic roads, or where there are opportunities for people to switch 
to walking or cycling from existing short car journeys on the Strategic Road Network. 
Please refer to the Motorways and Trunk Roads section for further details. 

Local Highways 

146. To realise the aims of the Streets for All and 2040 Transport Strategy, we need to 
transform how Greater Manchester’s local highways perform for people who travel 
along or spend time on them. This includes improving the way in which roads move 
people and goods across the city, but also their functionality as High Streets, 
neighbourhoods and local destinations where people live, shop, work and spend time.  

147. To achieve this change, Greater Manchester is working to develop a more holistic 
approach to the delivery of street infrastructure that improves journeys for all users, 
alongside wider measures to better manage traffic and road safety. To support this 
change, a street typology approach is being developed through Streets for All that will 
seek to ensure that infrastructure we deliver meets the needs of all people, communities 
and businesses that live on and use our streets. 

Active Neighbourhoods 

148. Neighbourhood journeys are the most numerous type of trip identified under the four 
2040 Transport Strategy spatial themes. These currently account for around 2.5 million 
journeys every day made in Greater Manchester, and it is expected that these and will 
need to increase by 20% by 2040 to meet our spatial theme targets.  

149. Defined as local trips under 2km in length, these neighbourhood trips have highest 
potential to be made by foot and bike. However, 45% of these journeys are currently 
made by private car. To meet Right Mix targets, by 2040, we want many long trips to be 
replaced by short trips in Greater Manchester, with people having better access to local 
services close to where they live, and for at least 64% of these short journeys to be made 
by active travel.  We will focus on delivering a significant shift to walking and cycling for 
these journeys from private car over the next five years. 

150. To achieve Active Neighbourhoods, local streets need to be pleasant places to live and 
provide a safe and attractive environment for people to make every day local journeys by 
foot and bike: neighbourhoods where it comes naturally to travel actively as it is simply 
easier than getting the car out. In the next five years we will deliver Active 
Neighbourhoods projects across all 10 local authorities, alongside wider measures such 
as School Streets, and local road safety schemes. 

Document Pack Page 246



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 48 

151. More detail on our GM-wide approach to enabling this change is provided in the Walking 
and Cycling section of this document, with locally specific approaches and schemes 
presented in the appended Implementation Plans for each of 10 GM local authorities.  

Town Centres  

152. Greater Manchester’s town centres contain many of our Destination Places and High 
Streets, which are essential to supporting our local economies and the quality of life of 
our residents. Transforming these places will be essential to enabling economic growth 
across Greater Manchester, as well as increasing the number of people travelling to 
them on foot, by bike and by public transport. 

153. A renewed focus on town centre vitality and regeneration will result in more people 
living in and around our town centres and high streets.  This will help to support local 
shopping, health, education and leisure facilities. Regeneration initiatives need to be 
underpinned by Streets for All principles, with a strong focus on improving the 
experience of walking, cycling, using public transport and spending time on streets, while 
ensuring other essential functions, such as deliveries, can happen efficiently and reliably.  

154. Achieving this will require measures to improve walking, cycling and public transport 
infrastructure, minimise the impact of motorised traffic on people and public spaces, and 
improvements to the public realm. Significant investment in access to town centres is 
committed through the Mayor’s Challenge Fund for cycling and walking improvements, 
Growth Deal for public space and accessibility improvements, and new public transport 
interchange facilities such as in Stockport. 

155. Work has also been undertaken as part of Streets for All Corridor Studies to develop 
opportunities to improve access by foot, bike and public transport at town centres and 
high streets located along some of the most heavily used roads in Greater Manchester. 
Following these studies, proposals to transform streets at Farnworth and Stretford have 
been submitted as part of Future High Street Fund bids to secure additional investment 
in the vitality, accessibility and attractiveness of these town centres. Further transport 
interventions to support the Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge towns will be developed 
alongside regeneration proposals at Prestwich, Swinton, Stockport, Stalybridge, 
Stretford, Rochdale, Leigh and Royton. 

156. More information on plans to integrate town centres with our public transport network 
can be found in the Our Rail, Our Metrolink, and Our Bus sections of this document. 
Quality Bus Transit will play a particularly important role in connecting our town centres, 
providing an accelerated programme that will strengthen links between bus and local 
centres through reliable, attractive services, integrated within wider public realm and 
active travel networks. 

157. Details on challenges and future plans for key of town centres across Greater 
Manchester are provided in more detail within the appended Implementation Plans for 
each of 10 GM districts. 

City Centre Streets  

158. Formed of streets across the Greater Manchester street typology, from Destination 
Places to Strategic Roads, streets within the city centre are the most used in GM. To 

Document Pack Page 247



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 49 

transform streets within the city centre, a new City Centre Transport Strategy is being 
prepared to set out a masterplan to provide the city centre with a world-class transport 
system, and make it a better place to live, work, invest and relax.  

159. The measures within the Draft City Centre Transport Strategy include an action plan for 
infrastructure investment to support the vision for “a well-connected, zero carbon city 
centre at the heart of the North, offering our residents, employees and visitors a great 
place to work, live and visit.”  This will deliver on the central aim for at least 90% of all 
trips to the city centre to be made by walking, cycling or using public transport before 
2040, and for walking to become the main mode of travel within the city centre.  

160. Key investment priorities for city centre streets within the strategy include 
redevelopment of Albert Square as one of the finest civic spaces in Europe, formalise the 
temporary arrangement that has removed traffic along Deansgate to make it a more 
attractive street for people on foot, and new and enhanced city centre cycle routes, 
including the Northern Quarter Cycle Route and Chapel Street. More information on 
schemes planned on city centre streets is available within the Draft City Centre Transport 
Strategy. 

Connector Roads (including the Key Route Network and Major Route 
Network) 

161. Connector Roads perform the widest number of roles across Greater Manchester. These 
roads support the movement of people across the city-region and beyond by bus, bike, 
foot, taxi and private cars, enable freight and goods to be delivered, while also providing 
place functions when they pass through local centres and residential neighbourhoods. 
Change in how these roads function will be essential to enabling people to travel by 
active and sustainable modes, while also reducing the impacts of congestion and 
supporting new residential and commercial development. 

162. Key Route Network: A significant proportion of connector roads in Greater Manchester 
are part of the 600km Key Route Network. TfGM are responsible for monitoring and 
evaluating performance of this network and working with our local Highway and Traffic 
authorities to develop shared approaches to management and investment. Work to 
enhance this network include a continued programme of maintenance, incorporation of 
Streets for All principles within new infrastructure, and measures to support new 
development. More information on these approaches are in sections below. 

163. Streets for All Corridors: Applying the Streets for All approach across Greater 
Manchester’s highways network will be essential to increasing the number of sustainable 
journeys made by foot, bike and public transport. TfGM has undertaken seven Streets for 
All Corridor studies across 72 miles of the Key Route Network and highways in Greater 
Manchester. These studies have identified opportunities to improve these streets for all 
users, enhancing integration and quality of public transport on our roads, access to town 
centres and rapid transit hubs, and connectivity to and within local neighbourhoods.  We 
will look for opportunities to develop and deliver these ideas and to study opportunities 
on other parts of the Key Route Network.   

164. Road improvements to support new development: There are currently nine major 
street schemes, programmed for delivery within this plan that benefit from Growth Deal 
funding from Government. Each is linked to specific growth areas within Greater 

Document Pack Page 248



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 50 

Manchester or to address specific congestion bottlenecks. These schemes willl apply the 
principles of Streets for All in design, and will deliver facilities to manage severance, 
support people travelling by foot or by bike, and improve public transport reliability and 
comfort.  

165. Proposed new routes include new east-west connections in Wigan and Bolton; 
Carrington Relief Road, to enable the development of the Carrington growth area; and 
further phases of the Western Gateway Infrastructure Scheme (WGIS) to facilitate 
development at Trafford Waters and the tri-modal freight terminal at Port Salford. 
Integration of Streets for All principles will be essential to these schemes, and facilities to 
improve walking, cycling, and public transport journeys will be required on both new and 
bypassed routes.  

166. These proposals will only be taken forward when there is an evidence base that shows 
the development proposals would not be deliverable without them, even with other on- 
and off-site mitigations. Where new roads are built to remove traffic from heavily 
congested local communities, projects will reallocate space on existing streets from 
motor vehicles to walking, cycling and public transport as well as providing new and 
improved public spaces, to ‘lock in’ the benefits for local communities. 

167. Major Road Network: The Government has established a Major Road Network (MRN) for 
England. This consists of the busiest and most economically important local authority 
roads across the country and is intended to complement the SRN. The MRN is supported 
by dedicated funding provided through the National Roads Fund, which utilises money 
raised through Vehicle Excise Duty.  We have worked with Transport for the North to 
advise Government on priorities for investment in the first five years of the MRN (2020-
2025). We will continue to work with Government and TfN to ensure that the MRN in 
Greater Manchester meets the requirements of our economy and residents, and to 
identify potential interventions for funding that apply the Streets for All principles (for 
example supporting buses on key corridors and overcoming severance by foot and bike). 

168. Congestion Deal: The Mayor’s Congestion Deal (2018) identified five clear causes of 
congestion: too many people travelling at the same time; too many short journeys by 
car; roadworks; poorly timed traffic signals; and people having no alternative to driving.  
The actions identified in the Congestion Deal embedded in this Delivery Plan will 
continue to  be implemented over the next few years, including further investment in 
smart traffic signals, improvements to sustainable alternatives to cars and road freight, 
and working with businesses and communities to support people to make changes to 
when, how and where they travel so that they are less affected by congestion. 

Strategic Roads & Motorways 

169. Greater Manchester’s network of motorways and trunk roads (forming part of the 
national Strategic Road Network) is managed by Highways England. Over the next five 
years, we will continue to work with Highways England to tackle congestion and deliver 
improvements to the network, particularly where such improvements can help directly 
to unlock new development. We will also work with Highways England through its Route 
Strategy process to identify the requirements for the SRN in Greater Manchester in the 
next Road Period (2025-30). 

Document Pack Page 249



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 51 

170. Smart Motorways: Highways England has delivered Smart Motorway projects on the 
M60 through the north and west of Greater Manchester (junctions 8 to 18) and M62 
over Chat Moss (junctions 10 to 12) and is planning to convert further stretches of 
motorway to Smart Motorway in Greater Manchester, including on the M6, M56, and 
the M62 over the Pennines. Smart motorway projects increase road capacity and 
reliability faster and at less cost than traditional road widening schemes. They do this by 
using the space within the current motorway boundaries. Highways England, working 
with the Department for Transport, will also deliver actions emerging from the recent 
stocktake of safety on Smart motorways, including stopped vehicle detection and other 
technology enhancements. These actions focus on making smart motorways even safer 
and increasing public confidence in their operation. Smart Motorways will not fully 
address congestion issues, however, so a wider series of interventions across all modes 
are set out in this Delivery Plan. 

171. M60 North West Quadrant: The next five years will see the completion of the M60 North 
West Quadrant Strategic Study which will produce proposals for action on and off the 
strategic road network. The next phase will focus on identifying packages of small 
schemes that can be developed to support the M60. Delivery of these interventions is 
likely to start in the late 2020s. Within this study area Highways England is already 
committed to delivery of an improvement scheme at Simister Island (the junction of the 
M60, M62 and M66), work on which will commence in the next five years. 

172. Trans-Pennine Road Connections: Highways England will shortly be delivering the 
Mottram Moor and A57(T) to A57 Link Roads, as part of a package to improve Trans-
Pennine road connectivity between Greater Manchester and South Yorkshire. Options 
for the longer term are currently being considered as part of the Trans-Pennine Tunnel 
Strategic Study. 

173. Airport Growth: Improvements to access Manchester Airport by road are planned to 
support its future growth. In addition to the implementation of Smart Motorway on the 
M56 between Junctions 6 and 8, Manchester Airport have planning obligations to 
upgrade the road network serving the Airport from the west via Junction 6 of the M56. 
The timing of this project is dependent on passenger growth, which will be influenced by 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on air travel. Their design and implementation will 
need to be coordinated with highway access for the proposed HS2 station.  It is likely 
that in the longer term, an increase in motorway capacity will also be required to 
accommodate the growth of the Airport. Highways England is leading a study to 
determine the interventions required to address demands in the airport area. We will 
continue to work closely with Highways England on this and future studies to determine 
the interventions required and to ensure that the role of and impact on local roads and 
sustainable travel are fully understood. 

174. Designated Funds: Department for Transport has allocated £900m to Highways England 
over the six-year period from 2015 to 2021 to support a set of national Designated Fund’.  
These currently cover air quality; cycling, safety and integration; environment; 
innovation; and growth and housing. Greater Manchester has already benefited from 
these funds, especially for projects to reduce the severance impacts of the motorway 
network for people walking and cycling. Highways England’s business plan for 2020-25 
confirms that £936m will be allocated to a restructured set of Designated Funds covering 
safety and congestion; users and communities; environment and well-being; and 

Document Pack Page 250



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 52 

innovation and modernisation. Confirmation is awaited of the exact criteria for allocating 
these funds. 

175. Environment: Highways England is starting a speed limit trial to improve air quality at 
four locations on the motorway network in England, including on the M602 in Salford. 
The new reduced 60mph speed limit on the M602 between Junctions 1 and 3. We will 
continue to cooperate with Highways England to understand the environmental impacts 
of the SRN in Greater Manchester and the scope for and impacts of mitigation such as 
this speed limit restriction. 

Managing Our Streets 

176. Moving traffic offences: Moving traffic offences such as blocking yellow box junctions 
can contribute to congestion but currently need to be enforced by police officers. We 
will continue to promote the need to secure the powers from government for local 
Highway Authorities to enforce moving traffic offences that contribute to congestion 
because it would be a more cost-effective way of policing. 

177. Road Safety: To achieve our ambition of Streets for All, we need to tackle the dangers 
that result in road collisions with the consequential loss of lives, serious injuries and the 
perception of these dangers that discourage cycling and walking. The 2040 Transport 
Strategy has set out our ambition to reduce deaths on our roads as close as possible to 
zero. Please refer to the Safety and Security section (page 62) for further details. 

178. Network Management: Congestion can represent a significant barrier to economic 
growth, or blight surrounding communities. We need to increase the reliability of our 
existing network to ensure future growth is not constrained, with a particular focus on 
better managing the use of available road space and providing information to road users.  
Encouraging more sustainable and space-efficient modes of travel, as well as improving 
the connections between locations are other key elements.  

179. The ten Greater Manchester local authorities, TfGM and Highways England will continue 
to work together to create a more integrated approach to the management of the 
highways network to minimise the impact of congestion on local communities, including 
managing longer routes that cross districts, a 24/7 control centre to manage the traffic 
lights, and better management of roadworks. 

180. Maintenance: Each of the ten local authorities, in their capacity as Highways Authorities, 
has a statutory duty to maintain their highway, with TfGM coordinating strategic asset 
management of the Key Route Network through a KRN Asset Management Strategy 
developed in collaboration with the ten local Highway Authorities.  

181. An indicative five year maintenance investment programme to 2022/23 has been 
developed for the main assets on the Key Route Network. Asset management 
investments for the maintenance of the key route network will focus on increasing 
preventative and planned maintenance, while reducing long-term reactive maintenance. 
A common scheme prioritisation framework will help determine future priorities, 
including a shared approach to bridge maintenance. 

Document Pack Page 251



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 53 

182. It is important to continuously monitor and manage key components.  The performance 
of the key highway assets on the KRN will be reported and benchmarked wherever 
possible against similar regional KRNs.  This involves regular reviews and checks to 
implement improvements quickly.  Success is monitored through: 

• Assessing annual condition survey results of key assets; 

• Ensuring accurate and up to date data; 

• Evaluating performance targets and service levels for key assets; 

• Evaluating claims for compensation through injury or vehicle damage; and, 

• Evaluating the results of the National Highway and Transport customer 
satisfaction surveys. 

183. Asset Management: Ensuring that the transport system is in good condition is essential 
to supporting people to walk, cycle and use public transport more and continue to travel 
safely by car. TfGM is directly responsible for the maintenance and renewal of a range of 
transport assets, including: the Metrolink fleet and stops, bus stations, interchanges, 
offices, commercial estates, cycle hubs and car parks. TfGM continues ensure that we are 
making the best use of capital investment, and operating budgets are efficiently applied 
to extend asset life and sustain long-term performance. 

184. Electronic Traffic Equipment Asset Management Strategy: TfGM also act, on behalf of 
the GMCA, as owners and maintainers of electronic traffic equipment across the region. 
TfGM has deployed an Electronic Traffic Equipment Asset Management Strategy for 
2018, to further embed integrated management for the long-term maintenance of these 
assets. Lifecycle plans and renewal strategies will now be developed through scheduled 
asset condition surveys to ensure we undertake the right treatment/renewal at the right 
time. 

Freight and Logistics  

185. Changes in consumer behaviour and the rise of omni-channel retailing - where customers 
engage with brands using a combination of different platforms, including physically, 
using a laptop and via smartphone - has a significant impact on the movement of goods. 
Balancing the needs of freight and passenger demand on our transport network will be 
increasingly important as freight continues to grow. A key challenge over the next five 
years will be how to deal with the growing demand for deliveries into Manchester city 
centre as it expands as a location for both retail, employment and residential 
development. 

186. Influencing the movement of heavy and light goods vehicles on our roads is a key focus 
of this Delivery Plan. We will need to maximise the benefit to the economy while also 
managing the negative impacts on our local road networks and communities. In 
particular, enabling freight deliveries to be made more efficiently in urban areas could 
help us achieve major air quality benefits (see the Clean Air and Carbon section on page 
56).  

187. Working with partners: Giving practical assistance to developers and other organisations 
to minimise, re-mode or re-time freight, or to use more environmentally friendly and 

Document Pack Page 252



DELIVERY | OUR STREETS 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 54 

safer vehicles, will continue to be an important project over the next few years. For 
example, we will work with retailers to reduce the number of delivery vehicles serving 
premises at peak times, and with town and city businesses with the aim of reducing the 
number of waste collection trips. Given the levels of growth in housing and jobs planned 
over the coming years, it will also be important to work with developers to carefully 
manage the impact of major construction sites on our roads and local communities, 
through the implementation of construction logistics plans.   

188. Consolidation: TfGM and the 10 local authorities will also work with the freight and 
logistics industry and large public sector organisations such as the NHS to introduce 
sustainable distribution where possible, including consolidation in urban areas and for 
public sector organisations. We will work with couriers and other delivery companies to 
support micro-consolidation and ‘last mile’ using greener vehicles. 

189. Rail freight: The movement of freight is a national and international issue, and the 
growth of the sector will have implications across Greater Manchester boundaries. A 
TfGM commissioned rail freight study showed significant opportunity for future rail 
freight growth in Greater Manchester if additional capacity on the network could be 
secured. TfGM will work with both private and private sector stakeholders, such as TfN, 
to adopt a pan-Northern approach to grow the market for rail freight. 

190. We will also support activities to increase the amount of freight using the Manchester 
Ship Canal from the Port of Liverpool in order to minimise road miles. The opportunity to 
introduce rail and waterborne freight into Port Salford will be key to facilitate the 
delivery of Port Salford as a tri-modal logistics hub. This is included in the Rail section. 
We will also support the development of rail connections at other proposed and existing 
freight terminals which are brought forward by the private sector. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 253



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 55 

Our Integrated 
Network  
Summary 

191. This section sets out the work in Greater Manchester that is progressing across a wide 
range of wider initiatives, in addition to the Our Bus, Metrolink, Rail and Streets 
interventions, to ensure that the transport system as a whole works more effectively; to 
reduce carbon and create cleaner air as well as to eliminate barriers to travel; and to 
proactively respond to changing transport innovations.  

192. Over the next five years we aim to invest in developing and delivering interventions in 
the following key areas: 

• Clean Air - a package of interventions forming the Clean Air Plan that are 
reasonably expected to reduce NO2 concentrations to legal levels and have wider 
air quality benefits; 

• Carbon Reduction – measures that support the 2040 Right Mix, Five Year 
Environment Plan and the long-term aim for carbon neutrality by 2038; 

• Innovation - Roll-out and mainstreaming of future mobility technologies that 
support the  2040 Transport Strategy Network Principles; 

• Fares & Ticketing - Further phases of Greater Manchester’s smart ticketing; 

• Behaviour Change – targeted behaviour change activities through established 
programmes;   

• Safety and security – road safety measures and programmes to make our transport 
network safe and secure for all users; and  

• New multi-modal interchange facilities and travel hubs, including in Bury.  

193. Our Integrated Network committed schemes, unfunded priorities (for the next five years) 
and longer term development priorities are summarised on Maps 1, 2 and 3, respectively 
and in Appendix A. 

194. Our Integrated Network interventions that will be subject to appropriate planning 
approvals and developer contributions, associated with the GMSF allocations are 
summarised in Appendix C.    

Document Pack Page 254



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 56 

Introduction to Our Integrated Network  

195. Previous sections of this Delivery Plan have focused on projects specific to key modes of 
transport or enhancing infrastructure on our streets to improve the quality of places.  
The Our Bus, Metrolink, Rail and Streets interventions are proposed as they will also 
contribute to reducing carbon and creating cleaner air.  We are also progressing a wide 
range of wider initiatives intended to ensure that the transport system as a whole works 
more effectively, to reduce carbon and create cleaner air as well as to eliminate barriers 
to travel and proactively exploring transport innovations. These activities are all in 
support of achieving the seven Network Principles set out in out 2040 Transport Strategy 
(see Page 10).  

196. Motorised transport has brought great benefits to society, giving wide access to a range 
of employment, leisure and other activities, but its impact on the environment is 
damaging. Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK and 
the evidence suggests that long-term exposure to air pollution contributes to the deaths 
of many people. The health impacts of air pollution impair residents’ quality of life, 
reduce productivity and increase demand on public services. Cleaning up Greater 
Manchester’s air is therefore a key priority for the Mayor, the local authorities and 
TfGM.  

197. In the next five years, across the Our Integrated Network programme, we are committed 
to delivering a range of schemes including a number of clean air schemes (such as 
working with operators to retrofit buses) and customer-facing schemes (such as the 
smart ticketing programme and Mobility as a Service (MaaS) trials). Beyond the next five 
years, we will also be delivering a TravelSafe partnership and continuing our work to 
provide travel information and delivering innovation projects. 

Clean Air and Carbon 

198. Our proposals for a Clean Air Plan and reducing greenhouse gas emissions (including 
carbon dioxide) are crucial to improving the air we breathe and to protecting our planet 
for future generations.  

199. Greater Manchester is currently developing a Clear Air Plan to tackle roadside nitrogen 
dioxide (NO2) concentrations and to bring them down to legal levels.  Our proposal, 
submitted to Government in March 2019, identified a package of interventions that are 
reasonably expected to reduce NO2 concentrations in the ‘shortest possible time’, as 
required by Government. These measures, which propose a Class C Clean Air Zone with a 
daily penalty for non-compliant buses, taxis/PHV and HGVs from 2022 will extend to non-
complaint LGVs from 2023. Further details on the policy behind the Clean Air Plan can be 
found on the GMcleanair.com website. Support for people who drive non-compliant 
vehicles will be provided in the form of Vehicle Renewal Schemes supported by a Clean 
Freight Fund, Clean Taxi Fund, Clean Bus Fund and Loan Finance. This will be assisted by 
ongoing activity, as summarised in previous sections, to improve Greater Manchester’s 
active travel and public transport networks.   

200. It should be noted that the Greater Manchester local authorities have been directed to 
identify measures for reducing NO2 concentrations within the ’shortest possible time’. 
Therefore, although the interventions below are included in this Five Year Delivery Plan, 

Document Pack Page 255



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 57 

the ‘shortest possible time’ is likely to be well before 2025 and the interventions below 
are likely to be delivered much earlier than this. 

201. Greater Manchester is committed to playing its part in delivering the international Paris 
Agreement target of containing rising global temperatures to well below 20C. Many 
interventions in this Delivery Plan contribute towards achieving our vision of creating a 
carbon efficient, climate resilient city-region with a thriving natural environment.  

202. One of the ways Greater Manchester is acting is through the 5-Year Environment Plan 
(launched in 2019, at the second Greater Manchester Green Summit). The Environment 
Plan includes key priorities for improving our air quality and reducing emissions caused 
by travel, including reducing the distance we need to travel, increasing the use of public 
transport and active travel, phasing out fossil fuelled vehicles, establishing a zero-
emissions bus fleet and decarbonising road freight transport.  

203. Greater Manchester has also demonstrated clear commitment, alongside global cities, to 
tackling climate change by becoming a signatory to three international commitments on 
climate change: The Integrated Covenant of Mayors, The Compact of Mayors, and the 
Under 2 Memorandum of Understanding. 

204. In summary our commitments include: 

• Investment in and expansion of the electric vehicle charging network: to support 
the transition to electric vehicles in Greater Manchester; 

• Assessing and developing a roadmap to deliver a zero-emission bus fleet from 
2025: electrification of the bus fleets will deliver significant emissions savings. 
Public transport is also far more carbon efficient on a per person basis; 

• Transformation of cycling and walking infrastructure in Greater Manchester: 
Encouraging walking and cycling could significantly reduce fossil fuel use for short 
local journeys (see interventions in the Walking and Cycling section on page 
44Error! No bookmark name given.); and 

• Reducing freight emissions: Assessing and developing a roadmap to reduce 
freight emissions through modal shift, increased efficiency and alternative fuels 
for heavy vehicles: goods vehicles are essential to our city-region but have limited 
zero emission alternatives. Low emission fuels and changes to logistics 
infrastructure could significantly reduce emissions output (see interventions in 
the Freight and Logistics section on page 53) 

Future Mobility  

205. Greater Manchester has a strong record in supporting and testing innovative transport 
solutions.  We developed a Future Transport Zone bid in 2019 and although not 
successful in securing funding we plan to take forward many of the planned initiatives if 
funding can be secured.  Our Future Mobility work would aim to test and trial transport 
innovations where they support our 2040 Transport Strategy ambitions such as: dynamic 
demand responsive public transport, e-mobility solutions (including e-bikes and e-
scooters), first/last mile mobility hubs, autonomous transport services, dynamic kerbside 
management, e-freight consolidation, car clubs and a mobility platform that integrates 

Document Pack Page 256



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 58 

existing and new services bringing together customers and providers in new ways. We 
intend to pilot a new mobility platform, with the potential to bring together all mobility 
services from public and private transport providers, allowing people that live and work 
in GM to make end to end trips using different modes, charged against a personal 
mobility account.  

206. In addition, we are involved in ongoing trial projects which explore how transport 
infrastructure, including smart bus stops, lighting and air quality monitoring can be 
connected to the ‘Internet of Things’.  Digital connectivity and technology are vital to 
enabling people to choose the best option for their journey. TfGM, working jointly with 
GMCA, will build on GM’s strong digital industry to deliver a clear strategic vision on 5G, 
super-fast fibre optic, and commercial opportunities to maximise the value of GM assets.  

Interchanges 

207. In recent years Greater Manchester has invested in interchanges in a number of our 
town centres.  There are projects in construction, committed schemes and those in 
development.  Investing in key interchanges not only facilitates the integration of 
different modes of transport but also supports wider regeneration of key centres in 
Greater Manchester.  The development of new interchanges, including in Stockport and 
Bury, is in our programme for the next five years.  

Travel Hubs / Park and Ride 

208. Future work in Greater Manchester will develop the concept of travel hubs – an 
evolution of the existing approach to park and ride. Travel hubs intend to take a more 
rounded view of improving the access to rapid transit stops and stations. The aim is to 
increase rapid transit customer numbers and support the Right Mix vision, while de-
carbonising the access to our rapid transit stops and stations. 

209. Subject to feasibility and business case, the travel hubs ambition extends beyond 
traditional park and ride to include integration of active travel, public transport, demand-
responsive transport, such as Local Link, shared mobility, such as bike hire, and pick-
up/drop-off provision. Features to be investigated include parking, storage and electric 
charging infrastructure for both private and shared vehicles. Facilities that benefit our 
customers and could generate net revenue for TfGM such as commercial businesses and 
logistics will also be investigated. 

210. Parkway on the Trafford Park Metrolink Line is an example of a park and ride that is 
currently under construction, while Rochdale station is a candidate for developing the 
travel hubs approach. 

Fares and Ticketing 

211. TfGM has developed its get me there smartcard and Metrolink zonal fare structure to 
better integrate travel across Greater Manchester. Over the next few years, we will also 
be continuing work with Transport for the North to collaborate on ticketing initiatives 
that make travel by public transport across the North. 

212. Further phases of Greater Manchester’s smart ticketing initiative: TfGM are 
undertaking further work to  explore wider ticketing & payment opportunities within 

Document Pack Page 257



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 59 

Greater Manchester. In particular, and in line with the principles of the 2040 Transport 
Strategy, there may be a strong strategic case for expanding contactless, pay-as-you-go 
on Metrolink  including to other modes of transport which would result in a multi-modal 
ticketing customer offering across Greater Manchester. At present, the powers of the 
Mayor and the GMCA to introduce such a system are limited and may depend on the 
preferred option for the potential reform of bus in Greater Manchester. With that in 
mind, TfGM will continue to develop new opportunities for modern payment methods 
which travelling customers will increasingly want and expect for all modes 

213. On behalf of the Mayor and the ten local authorities, TfGM provides funding for young, 
old and disabled people to travel at reduced fares or for free. Recently launched 
initiatives include: 

• Our Pass: Launched as a two-year pilot in 2019, the pass entitles young people 
aged 16-18 to free travel on local bus services, as well as access to a range of 
exclusive opportunities.  

• The Women’s Concessionary Travel Pass: Launched in 2018, the pass entitles 
thousands of women affected by the change in the state pension age to free off-
peak travel on bus, train and tram. 

• Access to Apprenticeships: TfGM is supporting apprentices across the region with 
a free 28-day travel pass valid on bus and tram services. 

214. In 2017, TfGM launched the get me there smartcard, which complements the get me 
there Metrolink app launched in 2016. This enables passengers to make integrated 
journeys by purchasing multi-operator and multi-modal products which are loaded on to 
the get me there smartcard. In July 2018, the GMCA approved a new zonal fare structure 
for Metrolink. This reduced the number of different types of fares available from 8,556 
to just 10. This simplified the offer to customers, and also helps to achieve the full 
benefits of contactless pay-as-you-go ticketing by replacing return tickets with zonal daily 
capping. The zonal fare structure was introduced on Metrolink in January 2019 and was 
followed up later that year with Contactless pay-as-you-go on Metrolink, which provides 
a convenient and simple way to pay for travel, enabling customers to simply ‘touch in’ 
and ‘touch out’ with their debit/credit cards. The daily price is capped, and customers 
don’t need to carry a separate travel card or ticket. 

215. We are now seeing increasing numbers of people working or studying on a part-time, 
flexible or short-term contract basis, or home-working on some days. This means that 
flexible ticketing options are vitally important to support our rapidly changing economy.  
In response to this, TfGM has introduced the Clipper Metrolink ticket to enable 
customers to save money if they are working more flexibly or travelling less often than 
the conventional Monday to Friday working week. Clipper tickets can be purchased for 
use with get me there smart cards. Customers can touch-in before boarding and touch-
out at their destinations, using the smart readers at Metrolink stops. It is hoped that this 
will make public transport more affordable, and easier to use, for flexible workers, part-
time workers or anyone who travels regularly but not every day. 

  

Document Pack Page 258



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 60 

Customer Information  

216. We have a vision to enable the provision of accurate, reliable and easy to understand 
travel information to residents, businesses and visitors of Greater Manchester when and 
how they choose – so they can make informed choices and get the most out of our 
transport networks. This supports TfGM’s objective to make travel easier as well as 
meeting TfGM’s legal requirements around information provision.  

217. As part of this, we aim to provide consistent information to customers, engage with 
owners of external communication channels, make use of technology, and apply a 
dynamic approach to responding to the changing needs and expectations of our 
customers.   

218. In recent years, TfGM has made significant steps towards meeting these goals. This 
includes:  

• Enabling Metrolink accessibility information to be available on Google Maps; 

• Releasing Metrolink fares as Open Data; 

• Increasing the number of bus operators with real time data available on TfGM 
channels; and 

• Building relationships with our external partners. 

219. We have an established roadmap of improvements that follow the Customer Travel 
Information vision and principles which are wholly aligned to the organisational vision for 
the future.  

220. The way customers access travel information continues to change, increasingly moving 
away from paper information to digital platforms – especially journey planners such as 
Google. Therefore greater emphasis is being placed on providing data to 3rd party 
developers so that more of our customers may access our travel information.  We 
continue to develop our Open Data offering which will include a broader range of data 
on an updated Open Data Portal.  

221. In addition, we are reacting to the impact of Covid-19 in recognising and developing new 
solutions to important customer requirements which aim to build confidence in 
travelling on Public Transport including: 

• Providing tailored customer travel advice; 

• Maintaining the regularly changing provision of timetable data for internal and 
3rd party use; 

• Greater visibility of cleaning routines across the different modes of transport  

• Information regarding patronage and how busy the different modes of public 
transport are expected to be; and  

• Increased information around the availability of cycling and walking schemes. 

Document Pack Page 259



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 61 

Behaviour Change 

222. TfGM’s offers a free business travel advice service which encourages business, school 
and community engagement, and supports organisations that promote walking, cycling, 
public transport, flexible working and car sharing to employees. Benefits for 
organisations include sustainable travel grants (e.g. to pay for facilities or equipment), 
Personal Travel Planning for employees, and public transport ticket offers.  Our 
Sustainable Journeys Team are developing and testing different approaches to 
supporting sustainable travel to schools to inform the best long term approach and have 
worked with a number of primary schools across Greater Manchester. The team is also 
implementing a programme of support for communities, especially those close to Bee 
Network infrastructure, including bespoke work with community groups and an Open 
Streets programme enabling residents to experience what their street would be like with 
less traffic. 

223. Embedding Behaviour Change: In addition to the specific behaviour change 
interventions and engagement with school, business and community groups, we will also 
embed behaviour change and road safety elements into the delivery of other 
programmes (shown in other sections), such as: 

• Major town centre improvement packages, including in Stockport; 

• Implementation of a Clean Air Plan; 

• Delivery of new public transport and walking and cycling infrastructure; 

• Delivery of the Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge; 

• Cycle parking provision at public transport interchanges; 

• Further phases of Greater Manchester’s smart ticketing initiative; 

• Assisting planning authorities with an online toolkit to improve the process and 
quality of travel plans associated with new developments; and 

• Developing ways to better integrate with other third sector cycling and walking 
delivery partners 

224. Behaviour change activities are targeted in the areas where they will have the biggest 
impact in reducing congestion, reducing roadside air pollution and increasing levels of 
physical activity. TfGM focuses on providing support and advice to encourage more 
sustainable ways of travelling or to reduce the number of trips (for example by 
homeworking); travel at different times to avoid travel in peak periods; or choosing a less 
busy or less polluted route. 

225. Best practice and behavioural change theory have informed our priorities and helped to 
define the most appropriate audiences, locations and times for attention. These include: 

• People commuting to work or travelling on business using our most congested 
roads who may be open to alternative, less congested options; 

Document Pack Page 260



DELIVERY | OUR INTEGRATED NETWORK 
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 62 

• People who are undertaking a life change, such as changing job location, starting 
a new school, or moving house and therefore are open to thinking about new 
daily journey; and 

• People who live or work close to sustainable transport infrastructure or services 
who may not yet have considered how they can use it. 

Safety and security  

226. The 2040 Transport Strategy sets out our ambition to improve road safety and reduce 
deaths on our roads as close as possible to zero. Reducing road danger is a fundamental 
requirement for delivering Streets for All, and we are committed to working hard to 
achieve this ambition. TfGM is seeking to develop proposals for a new framework to 
eliminate road deaths and serious injuries. This new framework would be part of our 
overall Streets for All agenda, plans to improve walking and cycling infrastructure and 
our strategy to improve the bus offer and clean up the city-region’s air.  

227. TfGM is already supporting Safer Roads Greater Manchester (SRGM) by working with 
Greater Manchester partners to reduce road danger. We continue to work in partnership 
with the local authorities, Greater Manchester Police, Greater Manchester Fire and 
Rescue Service and other safer roads stakeholders to deliver road safety campaigns and 
physical measures to improve the safety of the Greater Manchester’s road network. 
Examples of recent areas of work include campaigns and interventions such as BikeSafe 
and motorcycling assessments; younger and older driver events; awareness of excess or 
inappropriate speed; people sharing road space; driver distraction & impairment etc. 
using geodemographic segmentation to prioritise resources where appropriate. 

228. In Greater Manchester people are at the highest risk of being Killed or Seriously Injured 
(KSI) in a road collision (relative to the proportion of journeys travelling by that mode) 
when riding a motorcycle. In order, they are followed by people cycling, walking, young 
car drivers and car passenger. Safer Roads Greater Manchester are taking a road danger 
reduction approach which tackles danger at source with a focus on ensuring vehicles are 
being driven safely, at safe speeds which, in turn, makes cycling and walking feel safer. 

229. Public transport is a safe way to travel, but some people are deterred from using it by 
the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour.  We will continue to tackle this issue through 
the TravelSafe Partnership.  In addition, TfGM continues to work closely with KeolisAmey 
Metrolink, the operator of Metrolink, to respond to industry recommendations from the 
Rail Accident Investigation Branch, including those from the investigation in to the 
overturning of a tram in Croydon in 2016, as well as implementing and ensuring 
compliance with a range of regulatory security requirements as determined by the 
Department for Transport. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 261



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 63 

Funding 

230. This section sets out how Greater Manchester is developing its future transport 
programmes in terms of strategic planning, funding and delivery. 

Current funding 

231. Delivery of Greater Manchester’s aspirations set out in this plan will require long-term 
funding.  This funding will need to be made up of: 

• Revenue funding to carry on planning and developing proposals, running and 
maintaining services and providing direct revenue support for transport services; 
and 

• Long-term capital funding to invest in new transport infrastructure and make 
improvements to our current networks. 

Revenue Funding 

232. Greater Manchester’s revenue funding for transport comes from a number of sources, 
including: 

• From the ten Greater Manchester local authorities in the form of a Transport Levy 
and a precept that the Greater Manchester Mayor sets on the local authorities for 
undertaking statutory transport planning duties on their behalf. 

• Net revenues from transport operations owned by TfGM, after allowing for 
operating costs from Metrolink and some bus services. 

• Revenue grants from Government as part of the Earn Back arrangement, and 
grants for work on the rail network and for specific projects like HS2 
development. 

• From GMCA reserves for specific initiatives. 

• Local Authorities utilise their own revenue funding to maintain the highway 
network, to provide street lighting, cleaning and winter gritting. 

233. This funding is agreed on an annual basis with GMCA and set against specific priorities. 
These priorities include: 

• Concessionary travel schemes for the young, the disabled and the elderly. 

• Provision of socially necessary bus services in the form of the tendered network, 
accessible transport and school services. 

• Operational costs of providing the services we deliver, covering staff costs; 
operating and maintaining infrastructure; safety and security; the traffic signal 
network; and passenger information. 

• Financing costs related to the loans GMCA has taken out to fund improvements, 
e.g. Metrolink. 

Document Pack Page 262



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 64 

• Work to develop the next set of ideas and interventions for improving the 
transport network and on devolution related activities. 

• Local Authority capital funding to support highway maintenance and 
improvement.  

234. Further information on the TfGM’s budget for 2020/21 is given on the GMCA website3.  

235. GMCA and TfGM budgets are, as is standard practice for Greater Manchester’s public 
sector, agreed on a year-by-year basis and so future budgets beyond 20/21 have yet to 
be set. 

236. TfGM and partners are continuing to incur significant revenue costs funded from GMCA 
reserves to support scheme development and feasibility work on known GMCA priorities, 
including the development of potential transport solutions that will support the city-
region’s growth agenda and the development of the Greater Manchester Infrastructure 
Programme (see below). 

Impact of Covid-19 on Public Transport Revenue Funding 

237. As with other public transport modes, the onset of Covid-19 in March 2020 resulted in a 
dramatic reduction in bus patronage, falling to below 10% of normal levels in April.  
Some relaxing of the social distancing restrictions on buses during Summer 2020 allowed 
capacity to increase to c.50% of seating.  Bus is now showing the largest growth out of 
public transport modes, though increasing at a slower rate than road traffic. 

238. Central government initially put in place the Covid-19 Bus Services Support Grant 
(CBSSG) to provide temporary funding for the industry to cover the deficit caused by 
running close to normal operations, while experiencing significantly reduced revenues.  
Based upon CBSSG returns, TfGM estimates that public funding in Greater Manchester in 
August 2020 accounted for in excess of 50% of total costs.  There is currently a rolling 
CBSSG funding deal in place with eight weeks’ notice of any termination, but it is unclear 
how long this support will be in place. 

239. Therefore, planning for the future is still severely limited.  Along with other urban 
transport authorities, GMCA proposes a more sustainable package of government 
support to allow the bus network to get back to a position of stability to ensure Covid-19 
recovery, and has co-signed a letter to the Secretary of State from the Urban Transport 
Group (UTG) members. TfGM and UTG propose the establishment of new arrangements 
that would route all public funding / subsidy for bus via city-region transport authorities, 
such as TfGM.  This would allow such authorities to use that funding to buy those 
services from private operators that best deliver on the needs of the places they serve on 
the condition that fares are simple and more affordable.  

240. A similar situation exists on Metrolink.  During the outset of Covid-19 demand reduced to 
5% to 10% of normal levels. During September 2020, patronage returned to up to 50% of 
pre-Covid-19 levels, and available capacity is limited by ongoing social distancing 
requirements.  

 
3 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/who-we-are/accounts-transparency-and-governance/council-tax/council-tax-
transport-funding/ 

Document Pack Page 263



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 65 

241. Therefore, due to the impact of Covid-19, Metrolink has suffered a significant reduction 
in farebox revenues.  For financial planning purposes, GMCA is assuming that the 
projected ongoing reductions in net revenues for Metrolink will be met from further 
government funding for the remainder of this financial year, with the risk of any overall 
shortfall net of Government grants being mitigated from reserves earmarked for the 
capital financing of Metrolink over the medium to long term.  This use of reserves would 
not be a sustainable source of funding in subsequent years if Government do not 
continue to provide funding to cover ongoing shortfalls in Metrolink net revenues.  TfGM 
proposes a more stable three-year package of government support for Metrolink to 
allow the network to get back to a position of financially sustainability, over the medium 
term. 

Capital Funding 

242. Transport improvements for Greater Manchester’s local networks are funded via the 
GMCA capital programme, which is in turn funded by a combination of grants and 
borrowings. This capital programme excludes improvements on the national rail and 
motorway networks, which are funded by Network Rail and Highways England 
respectively.   

243. The current GMCA capital programme is made up of a series of different funding sources, 
some local, some national, the spending of which has been prioritised locally. Table 1 
below shows the current capital programme through to March 2021. The Greater 
Manchester capital programme up to 2020/21 is funded by: 

• The Greater Manchester Transport Fund 1, including Earn Back4, which has 
funded the A6 to Manchester Airport Relief Road and Trafford Park Metrolink 
line. 

• The Growth Deal, which is delivering c.£400m of improvements through schemes 
such as Stockport Town Centre Accessibility Improvements, Salford Bolton 
Network Improvements and Tameside interchange. 

• Transforming Cities Fund, Cycle City Ambition Grant and the Emergency Active 
Travel Fund, which are together delivering over £200m of major walking and 
cycling improvements across Greater Manchester. 

• Transforming Cities Fund is also funding £83m towards 27 new Metrolink trams 
and supporting infrastructure, which will come into service between 2020 and 
2021. 

• The Government’s Clean Air Early Measures Fund, from which Greater 
Manchester has secured c.£3m to deliver additional electric vehicle charging 
points. 

• In February 2018, Greater Manchester, was awarded £3m from the national 
Clean Bus Technology Fund to help reduce harmful emissions from the region’s 
bus fleet. 

 
4 The Greater Manchester Transport Fund 1 allowed Greater Manchester to ‘earn back’ a portion of additional tax revenue 
from GVA increases resulting from local investment in infrastructure. Earn Back provides an incentive for Greater 
Manchester to prioritise local government spending to maximise GVA growth. 

Document Pack Page 264



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 66 

• Highways Maintenance capital improvements, with the ten local authorities 
spending approximately £90m between them over the next three years. 

• The Greater Manchester Housing Package included commitment from 
Government to progress key Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) bids through to 
co-development stage. Initial funding is being used to develop infrastructure 
schemes that will aid the delivery of housing in Wigan/Bolton, 
Salford/Manchester, and Stockport/Cheshire East. 

244. In March 2018 GMCA successfully secured £23.8m from the Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) to deliver full fibre broadband to 1,500 public sector 
sites across Greater Manchester.  Table 1 below shows the work that is left to do on 
delivering these programmes. 

Table 1: GMCA Transport Capital Programme  

 

245. Funding for the Highways England projects in this Delivery Plan is agreed with 
Government and is set out in the Road Investment Strategy (RIS) which covers five year 
periods.  RIS2, which covers the period from 2020 to 2025, is supported by funding of 
£27.4 bn.  This is drawn from the new National Roads Fund (NRF) created from receipts 
from Vehicle Excise Duty and which also funds improvements to the Major Road 
Network. 

246. Within this funding settlement, and in addition to major committed schemes such as the 
Smart Motorways and Simister Island Improvement, Highways England has discretion to 
fund a range of smaller projects through its Designated Funds, for which £936m has been 
allocated in the next five years. We will work with Highways England to identify 
opportunities in Greater Manchester where use of Designated Funds may be appropriate 

Sum of Value (£k) Column Labels

Row Labels 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Grand Total

Our Bus Network £15,671 £8,075 £3,447 £3,461 £13,171 £43,825

Bus Priority £12,140 £5,923 £3,248 £3,461 £13,046 £37,817

Bus Rapid Transit £3,531 £2,152 £199 £125 £6,007

Our Metrolink Network £79,558 £92,821 £113,890 £104,935 £47,708 £438,912

Metrolink Enhancements £5,449 £2,362 £23,609 £19,743 £25,836 £76,999

Metrolink Extensions £69,574 £88,310 £89,220 £82,962 £15,079 £345,145

Metrolink Resilience £4,535 £2,149 £1,061 £2,230 £6,793 £16,768

Our Rail Network £1,137 £10 £202 £420 £2,981 £4,750

Park & Ride £435 £435

Rail Stations Improvements £1,137 £10 £202 £420 £2,546 £4,315

Our Streets £80,088 £77,678 £70,259 £52,135 £70,396 £350,555

Active Travel £3,952 £2,958 £8,306 £5,608 £28,355 £49,179

Growth Deal 3 Local Authorities £1,369 £1,369

Highway Improvements £955 £1,571 £4,362 £9,843 £14,824 £31,555

Highway New Links £52,536 £49,967 £29,907 £13,149 £11,841 £157,399

Highway Resilience £1,433 £1,433

Minor Works £6,357 £8,980 £12,316 £16,349 £8,062 £52,064

Town Centre Streets for All £16,288 £14,202 £15,368 £7,186 £4,512 £57,556

Our Integrated Network £19,875 £14,822 £16,172 £18,436 £15,199 £84,505

Decarbonisation of the Fleet £121 -£7 £351 £1,113 £5,206 £6,784

Interchange Programme £16,377 £13,756 £15,202 £14,788 £9,949 £70,072

Smart Ticketing £2,477 £1,073 £620 £2,535 £44 £6,749

Information Systems £900 £900

Grand Total £196,329 £193,406 £203,970 £179,387 £149,455 £922,547

Document Pack Page 265



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 67 

to deliver infrastructure.  We will also work closely with Highways England on their Route 
Strategy process which is expected to commence in 2021 and which will inform the 
determination of funding needs and priorities for the next RIS which will commence in 
2025. 

Scheme Prioritisation and Delivery 

247. This Delivery Plan includes a range of potential transport investments: from projects 
already being delivered and submitted to Government; through to initial ideas and 
concepts that still need further study. A large amount of work is required to develop, 
appraise and prioritise the transport interventions in this Delivery Plan – in other words, 
to make tough choices about where the limited funds available can make the biggest 
difference. This work will be overseen by senior transport leaders in the region, including 
the GMCA, the TfGM Committee and the TfGM Board. 

248. The further work to develop the emerging investment programme will be guided, at the 
highest level, by Greater Manchester’s 2040 Transport Strategy. Although the 2040 
Transport Strategy provides the guiding principles to help Greater Manchester develop, 
appraise and prioritise transport investment, it is necessarily high-level. More detailed 
sub-strategies are therefore being prepared by TfGM, the Greater Manchester local 
authorities and other key stakeholders for specific modes or geographical areas. For 
example, the Airport and Piccadilly HS2 Growth Strategy5 was published in 2018.  Other 
sub-strategies, such as the City Centre Transport Strategy, Streets for All Strategy and 
Rapid Transit Strategy are in development. Each sub-strategy will identify specific 
ambitions that support the delivery of the 2040 Transport Strategy.  

249. It will also be important to ensure that the development, appraisal and prioritisation 
process for the investment programme runs in parallel with the planning processes and 
ongoing studies of Greater Manchester’s partners, including Highways England’s Road 
Investment Strategy (RIS) periods, Network Rail’s rail improvements pipeline, and the 
Strategic Development Corridor (SDC) studies currently being led by Transport for the 
North. 

250. In pursuit of GM’s 2038 aim of becoming a carbon neutral city-region, TfGM, on behalf of 
the GMCA in delivering this plan and the associated infrastructure, will work 
collaboratively with all those involved in creating and managing infrastructure assets to 
reduce carbon throughout the value chain (whole life carbon management).  

251. Through initially determining if there is a need for new infrastructure, evaluating the 
potential for re-use of current assets and developing digital solutions, only building when 
necessary and ensuring that low carbon solutions are considered at all stages of the 
development, including future energy needed to operate the development, GM will lead 
by example and be on a pathway toward meeting the 2038 carbon neutral target.  

  

 
5 https://assets.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4sSHKQVxGMQuM488IMsWqG/cdc77581d9f6ce8d407b07976a2417e0/17-
1060_HS2_Growth_Strategy.pdf 

Document Pack Page 266



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 68 

Future Capital Funding – Greater Manchester Infrastructure 
Programme (GMIP) 

252. The Independent Prosperity Review6, published in March 2019, undertook a detailed and 
rigorous assessment of the current state, and future potential, of Greater Manchester’s 
economy. It identified GM’s: 

i. Key strengths (health innovation, advanced materials/manufacturing, 
digital/creative/ media and clean growth); and  

ii. Barriers to prosperity (skills, infrastructure, leadership & management, 
innovation adoption and health inequality). 

253. In particular, the IPR identified that infrastructure investment can boost productivity and 
employment, creating prosperous towns linked to a strong economy – with GM’s towns 
and cities mutually reinforcing each other.  

254. To achieve this, GM needs the right integrated infrastructure to alleviate transport 
bottlenecks, support 200,000 new homes and meet future carbon targets, and five 
million square metres of new employment land via an integrated Infrastructure Plan. 
Without this infrastructure, we cannot deliver the homes or economic growth we need, 
and/or risk massive greenbelt development.  The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 
will set the blueprint for this activity.  

255. The Greater Manchester Infrastructure Programme (GMIP) enables infrastructure to be 
developed in a comprehensive, placed-based manner, looking both at local schemes and 
the strategic programmes that support them at a city-region level.  

256. The aim is for full integration of the process that links planning, prioritisation and then 
funding and delivery.  

257. GMIP is based on the following key themes: 

• A Place-based approach: integration of transport, housing and regeneration to 
give place-based investment packages/interventions; 

• GM-wide strategic investment packages: delivering at scale, supported by 
integrated procurement, and strong integration with national agencies, 
infrastructure providers and utilities; and 

• Strong governance: over 10 years experience of robust governance and delivery, 
and an ability to manage and deliver investment with flexibility and hence more 
quickly. 

258. GMIP is accountable to an official-led Delivery Executive chaired by the GMCA Chief 
Executive and attended by external partners such as United Utilities and the 
Infrastructure and Projects Authority. This regularly reports to the Combined Authority, 
chaired by the Mayor. 

 
6 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/ 

Document Pack Page 267



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 69 

259. Greater Manchester’s overall ambitions are summarised on the map below, which brings 
together GM’s plans for: 

• Growth through the Spatial Framework; 

• Connectivity through the 2040 Transport Plan; 

• Innovation assets through Innovation GM; and 

• World-class connectivity through our Full Fibre programme. 

 

 

260. Greater Manchester is also asking Government to adopt of the National Infrastructure 
Commission's (NIC) recommendation for multi-year infrastructure funding settlements to 
city regions who have developed the necessary strategic planning capability and 
governance. The NIC noted that the efficient planning and delivery of infrastructure is 
badly affected by uncertainty of funding. Through the publication of plans, such as this 
five year transport Delivery Plan, GM has put in place the strategic planning and 
governance required for an ambitious infrastructure programme that would unlock 
pipelines of future housing and connectivity. 

  

Document Pack Page 268



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 70 

Table 2: GMIP Funding Programme  

 

Further Transport Devolution 

261. Further devolution of transport functions from central Government is required, to equip 
Greater Manchester with the ability to create and efficiently manage a cleaner, more 
efficient and integrated transport network.  Greater Manchester’s ambition is to deliver 
a truly London-style transport system within four years, with radically improved bus 
services, investment to support the Clean Air Plan and a rapid reduction in carbon 
emissions, and local control of rail stations.  This will reduce car dependency, clean up 
our air, and give our residents real choice about how they travel within an increasingly 
'mode blind' transport system.   

262. To deliver on this GM needs to work with government on areas including: 

• More influence over the rail system, including control over stations; 

• Powers to deliver a consistent, clean and welcoming taxi and private hire fleet; 

Programme Area

Phase 1

21/22 to 

22/23

£m

Phase 2

23/24 to 

25/26

£m

Total

£m

Our Bus 129          367             497             

   Bus priority measures 32.6         47.4            80.0            

   Bus Rapid Transit 6.5            5.0              11.5            

   Introduction of Quality Bus Transit corridors 60.0         140.0         200.0         

   Town centre interchange development in Bury 20.0         160.0         180.0         

   Upgrades / renewals 10.0         15.0            25.0            

Our Metrolink 185          625             810             

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stops 35.0         55.0            90.0            

   New stops to support spatial growth priorities -           40.0            40.0            

   Network capacity and resilience 20.0         75.0            95.0            

   Major schemes 70.0         300.0         370.0         

   Tram train early development 23.0         132.0         155.0         

   Upgrades / renewals 37.0         23.0            60.0            

Our Rail 14             69               83               

   Completing up to 4 Access for All  rail station upgrades 3.0            10.0            13.0            

   Delivery of up to 2 new rail stations 1.0            39.0            40.0            

   Enhanced passenger facilities and access to stations 10.0         10.0            20.0            

   Port Salford Rail Link -           10.0            10.0            

Our Streets 385          767             1,152         

   Next tranche of £1.5bn Bee Network beyond the £160m TCF allocation 63.0         272.0         335.0         

   Town Centre & Streets schemes 26.5         30.0            56.5            

   Pinchpoint schemes 26.4         25.0            51.4            

   Schemes that unlock delivery of the Existing Land Supply and GMSF sites 11.3         42.6            53.9            

   Major schemes, e.g. Wigan-Bolton HIF and Stockport A34 87.3         92.7            180.0         

   Upgrades / Renewals 170.0       305.0         475.0         

Our Integrated Network 152          180             332             

   Electric bus fleet and associated depot investment 100.0       150.0         250.0         

   Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 23.0         -              23.0            

   ITS applications for Covid-19 recovery 9.0            -              9.0              

   Future Mobility Zone 20.0         30.0            50.0            

Total Capital Ask £m 865          2,009         2,873         

Document Pack Page 269



FUNDING  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 71 

• New powers to manage our road network; and 

• A reformed and electrified bus system. 

 

Document Pack Page 270



MEASURING SUCCESS | NEXT STEPS  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 72 

Measuring Success  

263. As we make Our Delivery Plan a reality, we will need to assess whether the measures and 
policies we develop are ultimately helping to deliver our 2040 Transport Strategy. In 
order to do this, we are measuring performance through a series of key performance 
indicators (KPIs). These represent progress towards ‘desired outcomes’ and our 
adherence to the seven network principles outlined in the 2040 Transport Strategy. 

264. In the tables in Appendix D are two types of indicators:  

1. Customer Responses or ‘demand-side’ indicators that tell us what’s happening in the 
travel market: patronage, mode split, satisfaction, propensity to use etc.  

2. Operational or ’supply-side’ is about how much we do (and how well we do it) to 
affect customer choices and perceptions.  

265. Both need to be considered together because although customer data shows what 
works, the results lag behind our actions, so we need to know that those actions are 
happening according to plan in real time.  Ultimately, our key goal is to make real 
progress towards our “Right Mix” ambitions, with far more trips being made by active 
travel and public transport.      

 

Next steps 

266. Our Five Year Transport Delivery Plan shows how, over the next five years, we will make 
real progress towards the vision we set out in our 2040 Transport Strategy and delivering 
the ambition set out in Our Network.  This Delivery Plan sets out concrete proposals for 
this large investment programme, to support driving this change across Greater 
Manchester. It shows, in detail, the investment Greater Manchester needs to achieve 
better, cleaner and more connected transport for all. 

267. The investment programme set out in this Delivery Plan will also directly support the 
Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, our Clean Air Plan and meeting our carbon 
targets. 

268. TfGM, the GMCA and the ten local authorities are therefore united in their call to 
Government to take action and agree a new funding and devolution deal for Greater 
Manchester to make this Delivery Plan a reality. 

 

Document Pack Page 271



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 73 

Glossary 

Term Definition  

2040 Transport 
Strategy 

See Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040. 

Bee Network Greater Manchester’s vision for the first fully joined up network of 
cycling and walking routes. The Bee Network comprises 1800 miles of 
planned routes which will connect every community in GM with a 
guaranteed high quality route to walk or cycle.  

Bus Rapid Transit  A bus service that is mainly focussed on middle distance trips of 6km 
to 40km and is significantly faster than the usual, all-stops bus 
service. The Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway is an example 
of Bus Rapid Transit in Greater Manchester. 

City Centre The economic core of the city-region, which includes the area within 
the Manchester and Salford Inner Relief Route (MSIRR), the Oxford 
Road Corridor and the University of Salford area. The City Centre 
forms part of the Regional Centre, which is a larger area (see map 
below this table). 

Cycle City 
Ambition Grant 
(CCAG) 
programme  

A £262m national investment programme to make cycling easier and 
safer and give more people the confidence to take up cycling. Greater 
Manchester secured £42m of CCAG funding, which has delivered 
improvements such as the new-look Oxford Road corridor. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Combined 
Authority 
(GMCA) 

Greater Manchester’s sub-regional political authority, made up of the 
ten Greater Manchester local authorities and Mayor. The GMCA is 
run jointly by the leaders of the ten authorities and the Mayor of 
Greater Manchester. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Spatial 
Framework 
(GMSF) 

The joint spatial development plan for Greater Manchester, which 
will set out the spatial strategy for providing the land for jobs and 
homes across the city-region. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Strategy (GMS) 

The new plan for Greater Manchester, written by all ten local 
authorities, the Mayor, the NHS, transport, the police, and the fire 
service. It covers health, wellbeing, work and jobs, housing, transport, 
skills, training and economic growth. 

Greater 
Manchester 
Transport 
Strategy 2040 
(GMTS2040) 

Greater Manchester’s long-term transport strategy, developed by 
TfGM on behalf of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority. Its 
vision for Greater Manchester is to have ‘world-class connections 
that support long-term, sustainable economic growth and access to 
opportunity for all’. 

High Speed 2 
(HS2) 

The planned new high-speed railway line which will connect London 
to the North of England. Phase 2, which will connect London and the 
West Midlands to the north, has been split into: 

• Phase 2a: (West Midlands to Crewe): to be completed by 
2027 

Document Pack Page 272



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 74 

• Phase 2b (full network to Manchester and Leeds): to be 
completed by 2033 

Key town centres Greater Manchester’s principal urban centres outside the Regional 
Centre. The eight key town centres are Altrincham, Ashton-under-
Lyne, Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, Stockport and Wigan. 

Key Route 
Network (KRN) 

Greater Manchester’s local authorities have defined a Key Route 
Network making up nearly 400 miles of Greater Manchester’s busiest 
roads. While this is just seven per cent of the total length of the 
highways network, it carries some two-thirds of peak-time traffic. 
TfGM have strategic oversight and management responsibility for the 
Key Route Network, which includes monitoring and reporting on 
performance, and developing policies that will keep traffic moving. 
For a plan of the current network see Figure 10. 

Manchester 
North West 
Quadrant (NWQ) 

The stretch of the M60 between Junctions 8 to 18, which experiences 
high levels of congestion at present. A strategic study to develop 
solutions for the North West Quadrant, sponsored by the 
Department for Transport, is currently being undertaken by Highways 
England, Transport for the North and TfGM. 

Metro Turn-up-and-go electrically-powered rail-based rapid transit 
providing excellent access to the rapid transit hubs that it serves.  

Mobility as a 
Service (MaaS)  

The integration of various forms of transport services into a single 
mobility service, accessible on demand. To meet a customer’s 
request, a MaaS operator offers a range of transport options, such as 
public transport, ride-, car- or bike-sharing, taxi or car rental/lease, or 
a combination thereof. The MaaS user is offered a single application 
with a single payment channel to access these mobility services. 

Manchester and 
Salford Inner 
Relief Route 
(MSIRR) 

The inner relief route around the City Centre, comprising the A57(M) 
Mancunian Way, A6042 Trinity Way, A665 Great Ancoats Street and 
A635 Ring Road. 

Major Road 
Network (MRN) 

The middle tier of England’s busiest and most economically important 
local authority ‘A’ roads. The Department for Transport has dedicated 
a specific funding stream to improvements on MRN roads as part of 
the National Roads Fund.   

Northern 
Powerhouse Rail 
(NPR) 

A major strategic rail programme being developed by Transport for 
the North, designed to transform connectivity between the key 
economic centres of the North. NPR will include a combination of 
new routes with upgrades of existing infrastructure, over and above 
short and medium-term proposals for network upgrades. 

Quality Bus 
Transit  

Whole-route upgrades of key bus corridors, with a strong focus on 
quality, reliability, and integration into the urban realm.  

Rapid transit Any public transport service that offers significantly faster journeys 
than a stopping bus service for middle-distance trips. Examples in 
Greater Manchester to date include the Metrolink network and the 
Leigh-Salford-Manchester guided busway. 

Regional Centre Greater Manchester’s primary economic centre. It includes the City 
Centre, The Quays to the west and the Etihad Campus / Central Park 
area to the east (see Figure 11). 

Document Pack Page 273



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 75 

 

 

Right Mix   

Road Investment 
Strategy (RIS) 

A long-term approach to improve the Strategic Road Network. The 
first RIS (RIS1) covers the period 2015-2020. Highways England is 
currently carrying out studies to prepare for the second RIS (RIS2), 
which will cover the period post 2020. 

Strategic Road 
Network (SRN) 

The national network of motorways and trunk roads managed by 
Highways England. 

Streets for All Streets for All is Greater Manchester’s new approach for delivering 

the 2040 Strategy vision, through a people-centred approach to 

decisions we make about how our streets are designed and managed. 

Our ambition to shift more travel to walking, cycling and public 

transport is essential to ensuring the prosperity of GM. We can only 

achieve this change in how people travel by creating streets in which 

people feel welcome to move through and spend time.   

 

Town Centre 
Challenge  

The Town Centre Challenge is a brand new proactive approach to 
urban development, with the Mayor pledging to bring together public 
and private landowners, developers, investors, housing providers, 
community groups and other key stakeholders. 

Tram-train Tram-train is a light-rail public transport technology enabling light rail 
vehicles with street-running capability to run onto main-line railway 
lines, which are shared with conventional trains. Tram-train 
technology is relatively common in countries such as Germany and 
France, but is novel in the UK; the first tram-train in the UK, between 
Sheffield and Rotherham, started operations in October 2018. 

Transport for the 
North (TfN) 

England’s first Sub-National Statutory Transport Body formed to 
transform the transport system across the North of England. TfN 
brings together the North’s nineteen bodies which are responsible for 
co-ordinating transport services – one of these is Greater 
Manchester. 

Document Pack Page 274



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 76 

Figure 10: Motorway, Trunk Road and Key Route Network 

 

 

  

Document Pack Page 275



  
 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 77 

Figure 11: Definition of the City Centre and the Regional Centre 

 

 

Document Pack Page 276



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 78 

APPENDIX A: List of Interventions  

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus 

Local Bus 

Bus Reform: assessment 
and implementation (if 
approved) 

To consider realistic options for 
reforming the bus market in Greater 
Manchester as a potential mechanism 
to help achieve the vision for bus from 
the 2040 Strategy. 
 

GM Wide  

Salford Bolton Network 
Improvements 

To create shorter, more reliable 
journey times for all road users and 
deliver better access to employment 
and local facilities for bus passengers 
as well as active travel measures. 
 

Bolton/ 
Salford 

 

Bus stop enhancements 
programme to improve 
waiting facilities at stops 

Improve accessibility to encourage 
mode shift by increasing the 
attractiveness of bus networks. 
 

GM Wide  

Concessionary fares 
scheme 

To provide free or reduced cost travel 
for specific groups including the 
elderly, young and disabled people. 
This will also encourage mode shift in 
Greater Manchester. 
 

GM Wide  

Socially necessary bus 
transport services delivery 
and review (including 
supported bus services, 
Ring & Ride and Local 
Link) 

To provide socially necessary public 
transport services which are not 
commercially viable, using where 
possible zero tailpipe Emission 
Capable (ZEtC) vehicles. 
 

GM Wide  

School transport services 
delivery and review 

To deliver opportunities for more 
efficient school transport across 
Greater Manchester, using where 
possible zero tailpipe Emission 
Capable (ZEtC) vehicles. 
 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 277



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 79 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

City Centre North West: 
Deansgate – New Bailey – 
Chapel St Area 

To improve the streets in the area for 
walking, cycling and placemaking, 
along with the reliability of bus 
journey times.  Improvements include 
public realm enhancements, 
temporary measures and bus gate 
improvements. 
 

Manchester  

Our Metrolink 

Metrolink 

Additional Metrolink 
vehicles (27 new trams) 
and associated 
infrastructure – enabling 
the use of more double 
unit vehicles between 
Bury and Altrincham, and 
Shaw and East Didsbury 

To increase Metrolink capacity into 
and through the Regional Centre, in 
order to facilitate continuing 
economic growth and access to 
services and encourage mode shift. 

GM Wide Other 

Tram Management 
System 

To provide capacity improvements 
through the city centre and real time 
passenger information. 

GM Wide Other 

Metrolink Renewals 
Programme 

To intelligently invest in timely asset 
replacement. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

New Stops and Upgrades 

Shelter and Lift Renewals To provide Metrolink shelter upgrades 
and lift renewals across Greater 
Manchester. 

GM Wide  

Our Rail 
Rail 

Hope Valley Line 
improvements (to 
Sheffield) including new 
passing facilities  

To increase capacity so that the line 
can continue to carry mixed traffic 
and complement NPR services. Line 
improvements will improve reliability 
of services between Manchester and 
Sheffield. 

Manchester  

Central Manchester Rail 
Network (including 
Castlefield corridor) 
enhancements- early 
interventions 

To begin to address the critical 
capacity constraints on the rail 
network in the Regional Centre, which 
will need to grow further to 
accommodate the forecast levels of 
employment growth. 

Manchester  

Document Pack Page 278



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 80 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Salford Central station 
upgrade  

To provide additional capacity by re-
opening disused platforms (3, 4 and 
5). This will improve access to this 
part of the City Centre by rail, 
reducing pressure on neighbouring 
stations/ corridors. 

Salford Phase 1 
& 2 

Daisy Hill Station Access 
for all Improvements 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. 

Bolton  

Irlam Station Access for all 
Improvements 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. 

Trafford  

Walkden Station Access 
for all Improvements 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. 

Manchester  

Rail Station Accessibility 
Programme to delivery 
accessibility 
improvements at Mills Hill 
Station 

To maximise existing rail assets to 
provide better facilities, improve 
transport integration and delivery 
community benefits. 

Rochdale/ 
Oldham  

Phase 1 
& 2 

Daisy Hill Station bridge 
deck replacement 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

Bolton  

Our Streets 

Walking and Cycling 

GM Emergency Active 
Travel Schemes 
Programme 

To support creating a safe 
environment for walking and cycling 
that supports social distancing.  

GM Wide Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: B6226 Chorley 
New Road 

Bee Network delivery into the 
northwest of Bolton town centre 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Bolton Town 
Centre Phase One (East) 

Bee Network delivery in Bolton town 
centre 

Bolton Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Westhoughton 
Bee Network Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in 
Westhoughton 

Bolton Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 279



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 81 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Astley Bridge-
Crompton Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in Astley Bridge 
and Crompton 

Bolton Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Oldhams 
Estate 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
North Bolton. 

Bolton Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: New and 
Upgraded Crossing Points 
and Junctions, Bury 

Targeted Bee Network junctions and 
crossings in Bury 

Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Fishpool 
Neighbourhood Bee 
Network 

Bee Network delivery in Fishpool Bury Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: 
Prestwich 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Prestwich. 

Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Elton 

Bee Network delivery in Elton Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Pimhole 

Bee Network delivery in Pimhole Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Radcliffe 
Central 

Bee Network delivery in Radcliffe Bury Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Manchester to 
Chorlton 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Chorlton-cum-Hardy and Manchester 
City Centre. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Levenshulme: 
Our Active Streets 

Active Neighbourhood in 
Levenshulme. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Mancunian 
Way - Princess Way 
Junction 

Major junction improvement, 
including transformational cycling and 
walking facilities at Mancunian 
Way/Princess Rd. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Rochdale Canal 
Bridge 88-80a 

Bee Network delivery through canal 
towpath upgrade in East Manchester. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 280



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 82 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: 
Route86(Northern 
Quarter Piccadilly-
Victoria) 

Bee Network delivery in Manchester 
city centre. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Northern and 
Eastern Gateway  

Bee Network delivery in Ancoats/New 
Islington.  

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Beswick 
Filtered Neighbourhood  

Active Neighbourhood in Beswick. Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Manchester 
Cycleway 

Upgrade of Fallowfield Loop to Bee 
Network standard. 

Manchester Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: King Street 
foot/cycle bridge 
refurbishment, Oldham 

Key Bee Network connection into 
Oldham town centre through bridge 
refurbishment. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Union Street 
West foot/cycle bridge 
refurbishment, Oldham 

Key Bee Network connection into 
Oldham town centre through bridge 
refurbishment. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Busk 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Busk 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Oldham Town 
Centre Improvements 

Bee Network delivery in Oldham town 
centre. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Chadderton 
Improvements 

Bee Network delivery in Chadderton. Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Royton Town 
Centre Connection 

Bee Network delivery in Royton. Oldham Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Castleton Local 
Centre Corridor 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Castleton and Rochdale 

Rochdale Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Castleton 
Rochdale Town Centre 
Phase 2 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Castleton and Rochdale 

Rochdale Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 281



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 83 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: 
Milkstone and Deeplish 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Milkstone and Deeplish 

Rochdale Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Chapel Street 
East Phase 1 
Demonstrator Project 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford city 
centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: SBNI - A6 
Broad Street / B6186 
Frederick Road 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections in the Salford 
University area. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Swinton 
Greenway 

Busy Bee route delivery in Swinton 
through upgrade of former rail 
alignment. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
for walking and cycling 
Tranche 2: Trinity 
Way/Springfield Lane 
Junction Upgrade 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 3: Trafford Road 

Busy Bee route on Trafford Road, 
Salford Quays. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Barton 
Aqueduct 

Reinstatement of towpath on historic 
Aqueduct, providing a key Bee 
Network connection between 
Trafford Park and Eccles/Barton-
upon-Irwell. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
for walking and cycling 
Tranche 4: Liverpool 
Street Corridor 

Busy Beeway delivery on Liverpool St 
to facilitate a major cycling and 
walking connection to the city centre 
from the west. 

Salford  Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Broughton 
Cycleway Enhancements 

Busy Bee route delivery through 
upgrade of existing light segregation 
on Great Clowes St/Blackfriars Rd 
corridor. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Chapel Street 
East Phase 2 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Chapel 
Street/Trinity Way 

Junction improvement for cycling and 
walking to facilitate Bee Network 
connections. 

Salford Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 282



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 84 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Gore Street 
Connection 

Bee Network delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Oldfield Road 
Corridor 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Ordsall Chord 
Riverside Connection 

Bee Network delivery in Salford City 
Centre. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: RHS Links 

Bee Network connections to new RHS 
Bridgewater site in Worsley. 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: St. Johns to 
New Bailey Bridge 

New pedestrian and cycle bridge 
across the Irwell providing a new Bee 
Network connection between Salford 
and Manchester city centres 

Salford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Gillbent Road - 
Crossing Upgrade, 
Stockport 

Upgraded Bee Network crossing 
delivery in Bramhall/Cheadle Hulme. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Hazel Grove 
Bee Network Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in Hazel Grove. Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: A6 MARR Links 
Phase 1 

Bee Network links connecting 
communities to the cycle/walking 
route alongside the A555 in Bramhall, 
Cheadle Hulme and Hazel Grove.  

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Bramhall Park 
to A6 

Busy Beeway delivery on the A5143 
corridor between Bramhall and Hazel 
Grove. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Stockport 
crossings package 

Bee Network crossings delivery in 
Stockport. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Heatons Link 
Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in the Heatons. Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Ladybrook 
Valley 

Bee Network delivery in the 
Ladybrook Valley, Cheadle Hulme. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 283



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 85 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Stockport 
Interchange 

Delivery of Bee Network connections 
as part of the Stockport Interchange 
project, including linking Stockport 
station to Stockport town centre.  

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Stockport to 
Offerton 

Bee Network Delivery between 
Offerton and Stockport to provide a 
route into the town centre from the 
south east.  

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Romiley 
Neighbourhoods & Links 
Phase 1 

Active neighbourhood delivery in 
Romiley. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Thomson 
Street Bridge Phase 1 

Bee Network connections to Thomson 
Street Bridge in Edgeley and Stockport 
town centre. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Cheadle 
Heath 

Active Neighbourhood Delivery in 
Cheadle Heath 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Tameside 
Active Neighbourhoods 

Active Neighbourhoods delivery in 
Tameside. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Crown Point 

Major junction improvement for 
cycling and walking to facilitate Bee 
Network connections in Denton. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Ashton South 

Bee Network delivery in Ashton town 
centre. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Ashton 
Streetscape Scheme 

Bee Network delivery in Ashton town 
centre. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: A57 Denton to 
Hyde 

Busy Beeway delivery on the A57 
corridor between Denton and Hyde. 

Tameside Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: A5014 Talbot 
Road 

Busy Beeway delivery through 
upgrade of the existing light 
segregation provision on the A5014 in 
Talbot Road in Old Trafford 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Talbot Road 
Junction Upgrades 

Busy Beeway delivery through 
upgrade of the existing light 
segregation provision on the A5014 in 
Talbot Road in Old Trafford 

Trafford Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 284



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 86 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Wharfside Way 
- Moss Road 

Busy Beeway delivery on Wharfside 
Way and Moss Rd in Trafford Park.  

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Urmston Area 
Active Neighbourhood 

Active Neighbourhoods delivery in 
Urmston 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Seymour Grove 
Phase 1 

Busy Beeway delivery on Seymour 
Grove in Old Trafford/Firswood 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: North 
Altrincham Bee Network 

Bee network delivery in North 
Altrincham, including connecting 
Altrincham town centre to the 
Bridgewater Way 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: Sale 

Active Neighbourhood Delivery in Sale Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Victoria 
Street/Warrington Road 
Junction Improvements, 
Wigan 

Junction improvement for cycling and 
walking to facilitate Bee Network 
connections to the west of Wigan 
town centre. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 2: Standish 
Mineral Line 
Enhancements 

Bee network delivery through 
connections and upgrades to the 
existing Standish Mineral Line facility 
between Standish and Wigan. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 3: Toucan 
Crossings - Wigan Central 

Bee Network crossing delivery in 
Wigan town centre. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: Leigh Atherton 
Tyldesley 

Bee Network delivery in the Leigh, 
Atherton and Tyldesley area. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Standish to 
Ashton  

Busy Beeway delivery linking Standish, 
Wigan and Ashton-in-Makerfield. 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5 Active 
Neighbourhoods: 
Golborne and Lowton 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Golborne and Lowton 

Wigan Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 4: GM Bike hire 
phase 1 

Public bike hire scheme to increase 
access to bikes, starting in the 
regional centre and surrounding area. 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 285



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 87 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: GM Active 
Neighbourhoods Support 

Delivery of ten further active 
neighbourhoods across Greater 
Manchester  

GM Wide Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: GM Safety 
Camera Digitisation and 
Upgrade 

Digitisation of safety cameras and 
introduction of new camera locations 
targeted at the Bee Network to make 
streets safer for walking and cycling 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Bee Network 
Crossings 

Bee Network delivery through 
targeted clusters of new or upgraded 
crossings of major roads across 
Greater Manchester. 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Local Highways 

Trafford Road junction 
improvements 

To support the continued growth of 
Salford Quays by improving traffic 
flow through junction and enhancing 
walking and cycling facilities on 
Trafford Road 

Trafford  

Carrington Relief Road To support growth in the Carrington 
area by improving accessibility to new 
developments. To support creating a 
safe environment for walking, cycling 
and public transport. 

Trafford  

A560 Cheadle and Cheadle 
Heath Corridor resilience 
and reliability package.   

To address capacity and resilience 
issues on the A560 corridor through 
Cheadle. 

Stockport  

Poynton Relief Road To address capacity and resilience 
issues on Cheshire East border 

Stockport  
 

Traffic control 
enhancements, including 
continued roll-out of 
smart signalling 
technology at traffic 
signals 

To reduce delays and minimise 
congestion at junctions, and improve 
reliability, thereby supporting 
economic growth and reducing 
impacts of traffic on communities 
through, for example, emissions. 

GM Wide  

Network management 
improvements, including 
corridor management, a 
24/7 control centre, and 
better management of 
roadworks 

To reduce delays and minimise 
congestion at junctions, and improve 
reliability, thereby supporting 
economic growth and reducing 
impacts of traffic on communities 
through, for example, emissions. 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 286



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 88 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Better management of 
transport arrangements 
for major events, such as 
mid-week football match 
nights  

To reduce congestion and minimise 
disruption on the road network. 

GM Wide  

Minor Works programme 
(see GM Local 
Implementation Plans in 
Appendix B for more 
information) 

To improve town centre connectivity, 
local access to public transport, access 
to development sites and active travel 
schemes through small-scale 
interventions 

GM Wide  

Review of all non-essential 
roadworks to explore 
ways of working to 
minimise disruption 

To complete works as quickly as 
possible and make travel as easy as 
possible for affected commuters.  

GM Wide  

Enhanced roadworks 
permit scheme for greater 
coordination and control 
to limit disruption 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide  

Drainage remediation 
work along Wigan’s 
section of GM’s Key Route 
Network    

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide  

Kingsway Loop Road The completion of Michael Faraday 
Avenue to release land for 30,000m2 
of employment space, 60 homes and 
improve access to Kingsway Metrolink 
stop 

Rochdale  

Oldham Way KRN 
Structures Refurbishment: 
Waterloo Street and 
Wellington Street Bridge 
works 
 
 
 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

Oldham  

Strategic Roads and Motorways  

M60 J13/A572 
improvement to support 
the RHS Bridgewater 
growth site 

To support the RHS Bridgewater 
growth site and improve the 
operation of this congested junction. 

Salford  

Document Pack Page 287



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 89 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

A57 Hyde Road Localised 
Widening 

To address a highways “pinchpoint” 
on the Hyde Road. 

Manchester  

M58 Link Road To provide better east-west 
connectivity between the M6, Wigan 
town centre and growth areas further 
east. 

Wigan  

South Heywood M62 J19 
Link Road  

To relieve congestion and support 
long-term development proposals in 
Heywood, including 1,000 new homes 
off Pilsworth Road. 

Rochdale  

M58/M6 junction upgrade 
(short term) 

To increase the capacity of the 
M58/M6 interchange, providing 
better connectivity into Wigan and to 
the Port of Liverpool and support 
delivery of the M58 Link Road. 

Wigan  

M56 Junctions 6-8 Smart 
Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

GM Wide  

M6 Junctions 21A-26 
Smart Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

GM Wide  

Mottram Moor and A57(T) 
to A57 Link Roads 

As part of the wider Trans-Pennine 
Upgrade, to reduce journey times and 
improve reliability between the 
Greater Manchester and Sheffield 
City-Regions, reduce traffic impacts 
on local communities and improve 
safety. 

Tameside / 
GM Wide 

 

M62 Junctions 20-25 
Smart Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 288



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 90 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Simister Island 
Improvements 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide capacity for future growth  

Manchester  

A663 Broadway/M60 J21 
junction upgrade 

To reduce congestion and improve 
safety on the Strategic Route 
Network. 

Oldham  

Freight and Logistics 

Develop and implement 
Delivery and Servicing 
Plans for large 
organisations and retailers 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air quality. 

GM Wide  

Freight accreditation 
schemes e.g. Construction 
Logistics and Community 
Safety (CLOCS) and Fleet 
Operator Recognition 
Scheme (FORS) 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Influence Procurement 
practices such as waste 
collection 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air quality. 

GM Wide  

Support micro-
consolidation in regional 
and town centres 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air quality. 

GM Wide  

Town Centres 

Manchester and Salford 
Inner Relief Route: Great 
Ancoats Street 
improvements 

To minimise the severance impacts of 
the MSIRR for pedestrians and cyclists 
and enable the expansion of the 
regional centre outside of the MSIRR. 

Manchester  

Princess Road Roundabout 
Improvement Scheme  

To improve the Princess Road / 
Medlock Street roundabout beneath 
the Mancunian Way for all road users.  

Manchester  

Stockport Town Centre 
Structure Enhancements  

To tackle congestion in and around 
Stockport town centre and remove 
barriers to movement for all modes. 

Stockport  

Stockport Town Centre 
Access Plan 

To tackle congestion in and around 
Stockport town centre and remove 
barriers to movement for all modes. 

Stockport  

Document Pack Page 289



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 91 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Oldham Town Centre 
Accessible Oldham 
Connectivity Package 
(Phase 1) 

To facilitate development and 
regeneration in Oldham Town Centre 
and to improve the attractiveness of 
Oldham Town Centre for pedestrians, 
cyclists and public transport users, 
and maintain the integrity of the 
highway network within and around 
Oldham Town Centre. 

Oldham  

St. Mary's Way Streets for All scheme on St Mary’s 
Way, Oldham. 

Oldham Phase 1 

Other minor works 
programmes (e.g. from 
the Greater Manchester 
Growth Deal) that support 
town centre regeneration 

To support future facilitation of 
development and regeneration in 
town centres in Greater Manchester 
and improve the attractiveness of 
town centres for pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport users.  

GM Wide  

Maintenance 

Enhanced maintenance 
programme through 
successful bids to Pothole 
Fund and other initiatives   

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide  

Committed long-term 
highway maintenance 
programme for Key Route 
Assets, to be delivered by 
the local authorities    

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

KRN Network 
Maintenance along the 
A635 Ashton Old Road 
and A5145 Barlow Moor 
Road. 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition.  

GM Wide  

Our Integrated Network 

Clean Air and Carbon 

Early expansion of electric 
vehicles network charging 
points, including for use 
by private hire vehicles 
and taxis  

To improve air quality in the regional 
Centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 290



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 92 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Retrofitting or renewing 
buses to comply with 
more stringent emissions 
standards and/or zero 
emission standards 

To improve air quality in the Regional 
Centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Community clean air and 
electric vehicle awareness 
campaigns  

To improve air quality in the Regional 
Centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Future Mobility and Innovation 

Mobility as a Service 
(Maas) projects, including 
the delivery of MaaS trials 
in Greater Manchester 

To support the integration of various 
forms of transport services (e.g. taxi, 
public transport and cycle hire) into a 
single customer experience, which is 
accessible on demand and uses a 
single payment application.  

GM Wide  

Connected and 
Autonomous Vehicles 
(CAVs) projects, including 
pilot projects  

To support the development of new 
technologies to support improvement 
of the transport network in Greater 
Manchester.  

GM Wide  

A series of collaborative 
projects with UK and 
international cities to 
ensure Greater 
Manchester remains at 
the forefront of transport 
innovation 

To support the development of new a 
transport network that is at the 
forefront of technological advances 
and innovative thinking. 

GM Wide  

Interchanges 

Pendleton town centre 
bus passenger facilities 
improvement (part of the 
Salford Bolton Network 
Improvements 
programme) 

To make bus travel earlier and more 
attractive for local residents in the 
Pendleton area.  

Bolton/ 
Salford 

 

Stockport Interchange 
redevelopment 

To increase the accessibility of bus 
and rail from nearby destinations and 
increase the attractiveness of the 
Interchange as the focal point for 
intra-urban growth in Stockport town 
centre. 
 

Stockport  

Document Pack Page 291



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 93 

In the next five years, we are committed to delivering… (Map 1) 
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Travel Hubs/ Park and Ride 

Travel Hubs/Park & Ride 
upgrades e.g. Mills Hill, 
Parkway, Radcliffe, 
Walkden, Whitefield and 
Withington 

To provide better access to public 
transport through Travel Hub / Park 
and Ride facilities. This in turn will 
encourage modal shift in Greater 
Manchester.  

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

Fares and Ticketing 

Provision of integrated 
travel information services 

To provide integrated travel 
information to the travelling public. 
This in turn will encourage a modal 
shift in Greater Manchester. 

GM Wide  

Behaviour Change 

Business and community 
engagement programme 

To reduce, re-mode, re-time or re-
route journeys away from peak-hour 
congestion where possible, and to 
improve health. 

GM Wide  

Travel information and 
travel planning support 
programme 

To reduce, re-mode, re-time or re-
route journeys away from peak-hour 
congestion where possible, and to 
improve health. 

GM Wide  

Development of behaviour 
change support packages 
for major infrastructure 
schemes 

To reduce, re-mode, re-time or re-
route journeys away from peak-hour 
congestion where possible, and to 
improve health. 

GM Wide  

Safety and Security 

TravelSafe Partnership, 
including on-going 
security initiatives and the 
introduction of civil 
injunctions 

To improve personal safety and 
security for the travelling public, and 
tackle crime and anti-social 
behaviour.  

GM Wide  

Partnership working 
through Safer Roads 
Greater Manchester 
(SRGM) 

To improve safety on the highways 
network 

GM Wide  

Renewal of gullies and 
drainage assets - 
combined scheme for 
Wigan & Bolton 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and liveability 
of the city-region by maintaining the 
network in good condition. 

Wigan/ 
Bolton 

 

 

  

Document Pack Page 292



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 94 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus 

Local Bus 

Streets for All and Bus Corridor 
upgrade: A57 Manchester - 
Hattersley 

To improve reliability and speed 
of buses between Manchester 
City Centre – Hattersley 
corridor, which forms part of 
one of the radial Streets for All 
corridors. 

Manchester 
/ Tameside 

Phase 1 
& 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

A6 Stockport to High Lane 
Streets for All and Bus Route 
Improvement Package 

“To improve reliability and 
resilience of A6 corridor and to 
support new residential 
development at High Lane and 
in Derbyshire by: improving 
reliability and speed of buses 
between Manchester City 
Centre and High Lane; 
improving walking and cycling 
provision to and along the A6; 
formalising on-street parking 
provision; and providing 
localised junction 
improvements for all modes”.   
 

Stockport Phase 1 
& 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Further programme of bus 
stop enhancements to 
improve waiting facilities at 
stops  

Improve accessibility to 
encourage mode shift by 
increasing the attractiveness of 
bus networks. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 
(Bus 
Stop 

Enhanc
ement 
Progra
mme) 

Bus Marginal Gains  A programme of small measures 
to mitigate highway operational 
issues on the bus network 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

 

Document Pack Page 293



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 95 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

across Greater Manchester to 
avoid delays to bus services.  

Bus Pinch Point  To tackle known barriers on the 
local highway network that are 
restricting the movement of 
buses, facilitating enhanced bus 
journey reliability and easing 
congestion.  To encourage 
greater use of bus on key 
corridors across the city region 
where demand is high, ensuring 
available road space is used 
efficiently. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

 

Electric bus fleet investment 
 

To support the bus fleet in GM 
and contribute to carbon 
reduction and improving air 
quality.  

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

 

Bus Corridor Upgrade: 
Altrincham – Carrington 

To serve new development at 
Carrington with improved public 
transport links. 

Trafford Phase 1 
– 

Altrinch
am – 

Carring
ton bus 
priority 

Sale West Improved Bus 
Services (Altrincham-Sale 
West-Sale) 

A new busway enabling buses to 
get from Sale West to West 
Timperley avoiding traffic 
congestion on the A56. 

Trafford Phase 1 
– Sale 

West to 
Broadh

eath 
Bus 
way 

Northern Gateway express bus 
corridor between Manchester 
and Heywood/Langley 
including new bus services 
connecting Bury/Rochdale 
Northern Gateway to its local 

To support the GMA1 allocation 
by providing good public 
transport access, as well as 
improving wider public 
transport connectivity in the 
north of Greater Manchester. 

Manchester
/  Bury/ 

Rochdale 

 

Document Pack Page 294



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 96 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

area and nearby key centres 
e.g. Oldham 

Manchester Northern 
Gateway bus corridor 

To provide a high-quality public 
transport corridor connecting 
the Manchester Northern 
Gateway development to the 
Regional Centre. 

Manchester  

New Guided Busway stop to 
serve North of Mosley 
Common 

To support the North of Mosley 
Common land allocation, 
providing dedicated access to 
the Guided Busway. 

Wigan Phase 2 

Extension of bus services to 
GMSF sites – See LIP 

 GM Wide  

Package of measures to 
support the Timperley Wedge 
/ Roundthorn Medipark 
allocation, including busway 
alongside spine road through 
allocation 

To provide high quality public 
transport facilities to the 
Timperley Wedge allocation and 
also to provide a BRT 
connection between Altrincham 
and Manchester Airport.  

Trafford  

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
bus routing, services and 
interchange improvements, 
Phase 1 

To ensure the regional centre 
has the right balance between 
terminating and through bus 
services, minimise the negative 
impacts of bus movements on 
pedestrian and cycle 
movements, and better 
integrate the bus network with 
the Metrolink and rail network. 

Manchester Phase 1 
- City 

Centre 
Bus 

Strateg
y 

Quality Bus Transit 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Wigan-Bolton 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Wigan - Westhoughton - Bolton 
bus corridor, with the emphasis 
on quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm.   QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 

Wigan/ 
Bolton 

Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 

Document Pack Page 295



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 97 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
The Westhoughton section to 
be implemented as part of 
Westhoughton Multi-modal 
Package.   Subject to DfT 
approval, the Wigan - Hindley 
section to be implemented as 
part of Wigan east - west road 
infrastructure. 

corrido
rs) 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Bolton-Bury-
Rochdale 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Bolton – Bury - Rochdale bus 
corridor, with the emphasis on 
quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm. QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
To provide an attractive 
alternative to orbital car 
journeys on the Bolton - Bury – 
Rochdale corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town 
centres, and the cycling and 
walking environment. 

Bolton/ 
Bury/ 

Rochdale 

Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Document Pack Page 296



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 98 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Rochdale-Oldham-
Ashton 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Rochdale – Oldham - Ashton 
bus corridor, with the emphasis 
on quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm.   QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
To provide an attractive 
alternative to orbital car 
journeys on the Rochdale - 
Oldham - Ashton corridor, by 
delivering improvements to 
quality and reliability of local 
bus journeys, public realm 
within town centres, and the 
cycling and walking 
environment. 
 
To include delivery of works in 
Oldham and Royton town 
centres to support masterplan 
and regeneration projects. This 
will deliver a high-quality urban 
realm environment that 
encourages people to visit and 
spend time in Oldham and 
Royton Town Centres. 

Rochdale/ 
Oldham/ 
Tameside 

Phase 1 
& 2 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: MediaCityUK-Salford 
Crescent 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Media City – Salford Crescent 
bus corridor, with the emphasis 
on quality, reliability, and 

Salford Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

Document Pack Page 297



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 99 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

integration into the urban 
realm. QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  
 
A substantially higher non-car 
mode share is needed to sustain 
the growth of Salford Quays / 
MediaCityUK. The intervention 
will link Salford Quays/ Media 
CityUK with the National Rail 
Network on the north side of 
Greater Manchester by 
frequent and reliable Quality 
Bus Transit services to Salford 
Crescent Station, plus 
improvements to walking and 
cycling. This could then be 
transformed into a Metrolink 
connection in the longer term. 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Quality Bus Transit on key 
corridors: A6 Manchester City 
Centre-Little Hulton  

Whole-route upgrade of the A6 
Manchester City Centre – Little 
Hulton bus corridor, with the 
emphasis on quality, reliability, 
and integration into the urban 
realm. QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles. To provide an 
attractive alternative to car 

Manchester
/ Salford 

Phase 1 
& 2 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Document Pack Page 298



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 100 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

journeys on the Manchester 
City Centre - Little Hulton 
corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town 
centres, and the cycling and 
walking environment. 

Quality Bus Transit on key bus 
corridors: Wigan-Hindley – 
Leigh 
 

Whole-route upgrade of the 
Wigan - Hindley - Leigh bus 
corridor, with the emphasis on 
quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban 
realm.   QBT will offer similar 
quality of design to that of best-
practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve 
reliable services, attractive 
waiting environments, and high-
quality vehicles.  Subject to DfT 
approval, to be implemented as 
part of Wigan east - west road 
infrastructure. 

Wigan  

Bus Rapid Transit 

Additional buses on the Leigh-
Salford-Manchester guided 
busway 

To accommodate growing 
demand and offer more 
frequent services into the city 
centre and beyond. 

Salford/ 
Manchester 

Phase 1 

Bus Rapid Transit network to 
connect Manchester Airport to 
housing developments in the 
east 

To provide better public 
transport access to proposed 
GMSF developments and 
existing residential areas, and to 
help achieve the step-change in 
non-car mode share needed to 
support the growth of the 
Airport area.  
 

Trafford  

Document Pack Page 299



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 101 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Metrolink 

Metrolink 

Extension of the Airport 
Metrolink line to Terminal 2 

To sustain the Airport and 
facilitate its continued growth, 
including Airport City – by 
connecting passengers and staff 
more effectively to the rail and 
metro networks, and helping to 
increase the effective 
population catchment area of 
the Airport. 

Manchester Phase 1  

Interventions to improve 
Metrolink capacity and 
reliability e.g. 
- Velopark Turnback Upgrade 
- Victoria Turnback Upgrade  
- Sheffield St. Turnback 
Upgrade 
- Shudehill Crossing Upgrade 
- Highway Junctions Upgrades 
- Eccles Line Power Upgrades 
- Signalling Reliability 
Upgrades 
- Journey Time Upgrades 
- Depot Capacity Upgrades 
- Depot Control System 
Upgrades 
- Twin-Tracking Upgrades 

To increase Metrolink capacity 
and reliability for the whole of 
Greater Manchester through a 
series of interventions. 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

Improved Metrolink frequency 
between Piccadilly and 
Victoria stations, including to 
address the GMCA’s intention 
to provide direct services from 
Rochdale and Oldham into 
Piccadilly  

To increase service-frequency 
and provide a key link from the 
north of Greater Manchester 
(Oldham and Rochdale) to 
Piccadilly Station 

GM Wide  

Extension of the Airport 
Metrolink line from 

To provide a rapid transit 
service that better connects the 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

Phase 2 

Document Pack Page 300



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 102 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Roundthorn towards 
Davenport Green (Western 
Leg Phase 2) 

Regional Centre, existing 
residents on the west side of 
Wythenshawe, key employment 
centres near Wythenshawe 
Hospital, and future 
developments in the area as 
part of the Timperley Wedge 
and the Manchester Enterprise 
Zone. 

New Stops and Upgrades 

Metrolink Stop Improvements 
Package 

Package of stop improvements 
to improve the customer 
experience 
 

GM Wide Phase 1 
& 2 

Cop Road Metrolink stop and 
Park & Ride/ Travel Hub 

To support the Beal Valley and 
Broadbent Moss land 
allocations, providing a fast and 
frequent rapid transit option 
into the Regional Centre. 

Oldham Phase 2 

Elton Reservoir Metrolink stop 
and Park & Ride / Travel Hub 

To support the Elton Reservoir 
land allocation, providing a fast 
and frequent rapid transit 
option into the city centre.  
 

Bury Phase 2 

Sandhills Metrolink stop to 
serve the Manchester 
Northern Gateway growth 
area 

To support the Manchester 
Northern Gateway growth 
location, providing a fast and 
frequent rapid transit option 
into the Regional Centre. 

Manchester  

Tram-Train 

Tram-Train Pathfinder North: 
Oldham to Heywood via 
Rochdale 

A pilot scheme to maximise 
utilisation of the existing 
Metrolink network in order to 
accommodate rapid transit 
demand growth. Will also 
facilitate testing of the tram-
train concept for wider 

Oldham/ 
Rochdale 

Phase 2 

Document Pack Page 301



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 103 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

application in Greater 
Manchester. Includes Restore 
Your Railways study to 
investigate reinstating 
passenger services on the Bury-
Heywood-Rochdale lines. 

Tram-Train Pathfinder South: 
South Manchester to Hale via 
Altrincham 

A pilot scheme to maximise the 
utilisation of the existing 
Metrolink capacity in order to 
accommodate rapid transit 
demand growth to and through 
the Regional Centre.  Will also 
facilitate testing of the tram-
train concept for wider 
application in Greater 
Manchester. 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

Phase 3 

Tram-Train 'Pathfinder' 
Airport: Manchester Airport to 
Wilmslow via Styal 

A pilot scheme to maximise 
utilisation of the existing 
Metrolink network in order to 
accommodate rapid transit 
demand growth.  Will also 
facilitate testing of the tram-
train concept for wider 
application in Greater 
Manchester. 
 

Manchester 
/ Cheshire 

Phase 3 

Our Rail 
Rail 

Partnership options for 
management and 
improvement of local rail 
stations 

To maximise existing rail assets 
to provide better facilities, 
improve transport integration 
and deliver community benefits. 
 
 

GM Wide  

Capacity, connectivity and 
journey time improvements: 
Warrington rail (CLC) line  

The Warrington rail line also 
known as the Cheshire Lines 
Committee (CLC) line study 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 302



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 104 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

recommended investments 
such as resignalling. Such 
improvements will improve 
connectivity, increase service 
frequencies at many stations 
and improve reliability. 
 

Accessibility Improvements at 
Greenfield Station  

To improve access for disabled 
people at Greenfield Station – 
the expectation is that this will 
be delivered as part of the 
TransPennine Route Upgrade 
but if electrification of the line 
between Greenfield and 
Huddersfield does not form part 
of TPRU, alternative options are 
being explored. 

Oldham  

Manchester Airport Classic 
Station Capacity 
Increase/Upgrade 

To allow for longer/ additional 
trains at Manchester Airport, 
maintaining present rail 
connectivity and 
accommodating future demand 
growth to/ from the Regional 
Centre of Greater Manchester. 
 

Manchester  

Rochdale Station Gateway 
Improvements 

To improve Rochdale Station as 
a key multimodal gateway to 
the town centre 

Rochdale  

Rochdale Line Electrification Electrification of the route 
between Manchester Victoria 
and Rochdale to support 
increased operational flexibility 
and reduced emissions 

Rochdale  

Central Manchester rail 
network enhancements-
Further Works 

To further expand the capacity, 
capability and reliability of the 
rail network to and through 
Central Manchester. 

Manchester  

Document Pack Page 303



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 105 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Godley Green and Hattersley 
pedestrian/cycle bridge 
connection (potentially 
including Hattersley station 
south-facing access). 

To support the development of 
the Godley Green allocation. 

Tameside  

Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade 
to Leeds (pre-Northern 
Powerhouse Rail) 

To address medium-term 
capacity constraints and speed 
up journeys between 
Manchester and Leeds, through 
potential electrification of the 
full route, delivering wider 
economic benefits in both 
conurbations. 

GM Wide  

Electrification between Bolton 
and Wigan  

This intervention will improve 
connectivity and capacity on a 
key rail corridor in Greater 
Manchester. It will also improve 
access to HS2/NPR services 
connecting GM residents to the 
rest of the UK. 

Bolton/ 
Wigan 

 

High Speed Rail 

Delivery of High Speed 2, 
including to Manchester 
Piccadilly, Manchester Airport, 
Stockport and Wigan. 

To deliver transformational 
change to Greater Manchester’s 
city-to-city rail offer, resulting in 
wider benefits for the city 
region as a result of the 
improved connectivity. 

GM Wide  

Initial Stockport area rail 
infrastructure improvements 

To undertake essential renewals 
and use the opportunity to 
upgrade the rail corridor for 
National Rail/HS2/potential 
Metro/tram-train services. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Wigan HS2 Growth Strategy 
(early interventions) 

 Wigan  

Manchester Piccadilly HS2 
Growth strategy (early 
interventions) 

 Manchester  

Document Pack Page 304



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 106 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Stockport HS2 Growth 
Strategy (early interventions) 

 Stockport  

Stations 

New stations (tranche 1)  Potential early delivery of 
stations in the areas of Leigh, 
Lostock Parkway, Little Hulton, 
Golborne, Slattocks, Dewsnap, 
Gamesley, Stanley Green and 
Cheadle to provide a new public 
transport option, contributing 
to modal shift and reducing 
pressure on the highway 
network where this can be 
shown to be viable. 
 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Our Streets 

Walking and Cycling 

A long-term Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP) for Greater 
Manchester 

To increase the number and 
proportion of short journeys 
made on foot and by bicycle, 
thereby reducing the impacts of 
traffic on local roads.  

GM Wide Phase 2 

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
Pedestrian Improvements – 
pedestrian priority areas, 
crossing improvements and 
enhanced public space 

To create improved and more 
space for people walking and 
spending time in the city centre.  

GM Wide Phase 2 

Bromley Cross to Bolton Town 
Centre 

Bee Network delivery between 
Bromley Cross and Bolton Town 
Centre 

Bolton Phase 2 

Astley Bridge and Crompton 
Phase 2 

Active Neighbourhood Bolton Phase 2 

Westhoughton Phase 2 Active Neighbourhood Bolton Phase 2 

Logistics North Connections  Links to Logistics North 
including a Busy Beeway 
through Four Lane Ends and 

Salford/ 
Wigan 

Phase 2 

Document Pack Page 305



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 107 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

potentially a new bridge over 
the M60. 

Westhoughton to Bolton M61 
Bridge 

New cycling and walking bridge 
over the M61 to complete the 
missing link between 
Westhoughton and Bolton.  

Bolton Phase 2 

Pilsworth Delivery of Bee Network in 
Pilsworth area through Active 
Neighbourhood interventions 

Bury Phase 2 

Bury Bridges Upgrades to Milltown St and 
Nuttall Hall bridges 

Bury Phase 2 

GM Public Rights of Way 
upgrades 

Upgrades to various PROW in 
GM 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Oldham Road 
(Inner Radial) 

Busy Beeway delivery on 
Oldham Road in Miles Platting.  

Manchester Phase 2 

North Manchester Primary 
Schools Access 

Bee Network and school access 
measures in north Manchester. 

Manchester Phase 2 

North Manchester Secondary 
Schools Access 

Bee Network and school access 
measures in north Manchester. 

Manchester Phase 2 

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
Cycle Measures – Deansgate & 
Whitworth St (see Streets for 
All corridor improvements) 

To support safe cycling in the 
city centre and delivery of the 
Bee Network  

Manchester Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Park Bridge - NCN 
626 - Ashton under Lyne 

New cycling and walking bridge 
to deliver an improved traffic 
free Bee Network connection 
between Oldham and Ashton 
town centres.  

Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Higginshaw Link to 
Royton 

Bee network delivery in Royton. Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Chadderton - 
Broadway Canal Link 

Bee network delivery in 
Chadderton. 

Oldham Phase 2 

Document Pack Page 306



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 108 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Active Neighbourhoods in 
Oldham 

Active Neighbourhoods planned 
for communities in the Borough 
of Oldham.  

Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: 
Rochdale/Manchester/Oldham 

Busy Beeway delivery on the 
Oldham Road and Lightbowne 
Road corridors delivering a 
major Bee Network connection 
to the city centre from the 
northeast 

Oldham Phase 2 

Spotland Masterplan Bee Network in the Spotland 
area  

Rochdale Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund for 
walking and cycling Tranche 2: 
Monton 

Bee Network delivery in 
Monton. 

Rochdale Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund for 
walking and cycling Tranche 4: 
Ordsall Neighbourhood 

Active Neighbourhood delivery 
in Ordsall. 

Salford Phase 2 

Swinton Neighbourhood Active Neighbourhood scheme 
in Swinton 

Salford Phase 2 

Innovation Triangle Bee Network delivery in 
University/Eccles/Salford Quays 
area 

Salford Phase 2 

Walkden Crossings Bee Network delivery in 
Walkden area 

Salford Phase 2 

Trafford Greenway New Bee Network connection 
linking Irlam to Altrincham 
along the former Cheshire Lines 
rail alignment. 

Trafford Phase 2 

A34 Parallel Route Potential Bee Network delivery 
parallel to the A34 in 
Cheadle/Gatley 

Stockport Phase 2 

Cheadle Corridor 
Improvements 

Bee Network delivery in 
Cheadle Heath 

Stockport Phase 2 

Middlewood Way 
Improvements 

Upgrade to surfacing and 
lighting from Rose Hill to 
Middlewood Station  

Stockport Phase 2 

Document Pack Page 307



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 109 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Heatons Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Active Neighbourhood delivery 
in the Heatons 

Stockport  Phase 2 

Mottram Road, Stalybridge Bee Network delivery in 
Stalybridge 

Tameside Phase 2 

Manchester Road Link Bridge New cycling and walking bridge 
over Manchester Road and 
Metrolink in Audenshaw 

Tameside Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: National Cycle 
Network Upgrades  

Upgrades to various sections of 
National Cycle Network in 
Greater Manchester to achieve 
Bee Network standards 

Wigan Phase 2 

Active Neighbourhood: 
Hindley and Hindley Green 

To include new active-only links 
between South Hindley and 
A577.  Subject to DfT approval, 
to be implemented as part of 
Wigan east - west road 
infrastructure. 

Wigan  

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Park Road - NCN 
626 - Town Centre Connection 

Bee Network delivery 
connecting Oldham Town 
Centre to National Cycle 
Network Route 626 to Ashton 
under Lyne. 

Oldham Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Sale to Sale Moor 
to Sale Water Park 

Busy Beeway delivery between 
Sale town centre and Sale 
Water Park 

Trafford Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: Seymour Grove 
Phase 2 

Busy Beeway delivery on 
Seymour Grove in Old 
Trafford/Firswood 

Trafford Phase 2 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 1: Welkin Road - Town 
Centre Severance Package, 
Stockport Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in 
Brinnington/Portwood. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 5: Heaton Norris Park 
Bridge Phase 1 

Bee Network delivery in Heaton 
Norris. 

Stockport Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 308



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 110 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Mayor's Challenge Fund 
Tranche 6: WR Heatons 
Neighbourhoods & Links Phase 
1 

Active neighbourhood delivery 
in the Heatons. 

Stockport Phase 2 

GMSF Allocations walking and 
cycling improvements – See 
LIPs 

 GM Wide  

Local Highways 

Wigan east-west road 
infrastructure  

To provide an alternative route 
for traffic to cross Wigan, 
providing existing communities 
with relief from congestion and 
noise pollution and improving 
air quality; support future 
growth and housing delivery; 
enhance active travel; and 
facilitate improvements to bus 
services. 
 
Subject to DfT approval, the 
scheme could include the 
following: 
- Wigan - Hindley section of 
Wigan - Bolton Quality Bus 
Transit 
- Wigan - Hindley - Leigh Quality 
Bus Transit 
- Hindley and Hindley Green 
Active Neighbourhood 

Wigan Phase 1 

Oldham Mumps Area & Access 
to Southlink Development Site 

To improve network 
performance and resilience, 
road safety, air quality and 
support new development.  

Oldham Phase 1 

Quays Northern Access 
(Broadway Street/ Langworthy 
Road), The Quays 
 

To upgrade the junction of 
Broadway with S Langworthy 
Road to reduce delays 
(including delays to trams), 

Salford Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 309



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 111 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

improve conditions for 
sustainable modes and support 
development in The Quays. 
Passive provision will be made 
for delivery of MediaCityUK-
Salford Crescent Quality Bus 
Transit. 
 

Liverpool Road/ Stadium Way, 
Peel Green 
 

To remodel the A57 / Stadium 
Way junction, widen the 
existing bridge on Stadium Way 
south of the A57 junction and 
provide a stadium internal 
access road, reducing delays on 
the A57 and supporting further 
development in the local area. 
 

Salford Phase 1 

Bolton KRN Structures 
refurbishment 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Bolton  

Manchester Street Viaduct 
Refurbishment, Oldham  

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Oldham  

Heywood Queens Park Bridge 
Major Structure 
Enhancements 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Rochdale  

Highway Trees Improvement 
Programme 

To support improved air quality 
and local environmental quality 
across the borough.  

GM Wide  

Street Lighting Column 
Replacement Programme 

To improve resilience of the 
street lighting network and 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 310



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 112 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

increase opportunities for 
‘smart uses’ 

Manchester Airport expansion 
highway improvements 

To improve the reliability of 
journey times to the Airport, 
enhancing its function as the 
primary global gateway for the 
North of England, to be 
coordinated with longer term 
highway improvements 
required to support HS2 and 
NPR Growth Strategy at 
Manchester Airport.  

Manchester  

A58 St Marys 
Gate/Manchester Road Streets 
for All Package 

Package of measures to 
improve cycle facilities and 
reduce pedestrian severance 
along the A58 dual carriageway 
to the west and north of 
Rochdale Town Centre 

Rochdale  

A34 Area Access Package To improve multi-modal access 
to existing and planned 
residential, employment and 
education locations along the 
A34 corridor between 
Handforth, Cheadle and Heald 
Green.  Focus is on improving 
cycling and walking connectivity 
and reducing severance impact 
of the A34, plus junction 
improvements to provide access 
to GMSF development sites for 
all modes and potential new 
public transport hub at Stanley 
Green 

Stockport Phase 1 

A560 Stockport Road / 
Mottram Old Road Travel 
Corridor, Hattersley Phase 1 

Reducing former trunk road to 
single carriageway, with 
improvements to walk, cycle, 

Tameside  

Document Pack Page 311



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 113 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and public realm, reducing 
severance in Hattersley 

A560 Stockport Road / 
Mottram Old Road Travel 
Corridor, Hattersley Phase 2a 
and 2b 

Creating walk and cycle route 
alongside A560 at Godley Green 
Garden Village, junction 
improvements to facilitate that 
development, and replacement 
of life-expired bridge over 
railway line to facilitate 
separate carriageways for active 
travel and general traffic. 

Tameside  

Elton Reservoir Link Road (to 
support development and 
relieve town centre 
congestion) 

To support the Elton Reservoir 
allocation and significantly 
improving network resilience in 
Bury. 

Bury  

Northern Gateway Distributor 
Road (enabling highway 
access) 

To support the Northern 
Gateway allocation, facilitating 
access into and through the 
development from the M62 and 
M66.  

Manchester  

Beal Valley / Broadbent Moss 
Spine Road 

To support delivery of the Beal 
Valley and Broadbent Moss 
allocations GM14 and GM15. 

Oldham  

Strategic Roads and Motorways  

Bredbury Economic Corridor 
Improvement (BECI) Package 

To support delivery of new 
industrial development and 
GMSF housing growth by 
providing a new link between 
the M60 and Bredbury 
Gateway, J25 signalisation, 
widening of railway bridge to 
improve access for freight 
vehicles, pedestrians and 
cyclists, better linkages from 
residential areas of Bredbury, 
Romiley and Woodley to the 
M60 and Bredbury Gateway, 

Stockport Phase 1 
& 2 

Document Pack Page 312



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 114 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

upgrading of cycling and 
walking networks across the 
area, and passive provision to 
enable delivery of Ashton-
Stockport Quality Bus Transit. 

Denton Island improvements To address congestion and 
resilience issues on this key part 
of the SRN and accommodate 
anticipated growth. 

Manchester
/ Tameside 

 

M6 J23 improvement To address existing congestion 
and reliability issues on the SRN 
and adjoining LRN and provide 
the capacity for the anticipated 
scale of growth both within the 
city-region and in neighbouring 
authorities. 

Manchester
/ Wigan 

 

A555 Electronic Signs and 
Information System 

To improve signage and traffic 
management along the A555 
and surrounding routes.  

Manchester  

Improvements to local 
junctions to mitigate traffic 
associated with potential 
GMSF developments – see LIPs 

 GM Wide  

Further phases of Western 
Gateway Infrastructure 
Scheme (WGIS) 

To facilitate future growth in 
the Western Gateway including 
Port Salford and Trafford 
Waters; provide relief to the 
M60 J10 and J11; relieve 
residential areas such as Peel 
Green; and improve network 
connectivity and resilience. 
 
New highway links to facilitate 
future growth in the Western 
Gateway including Port Salford 
and Trafford Waters; provide 
relief to the M60 J10 and J11; 

Salford/ 
Trafford 

 

Document Pack Page 313



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 115 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

through a package of 
complementary improvements 
to bus, walk, and cycle, improve 
non-car connectivity and 
improve the environment of 
residential areas such as Peel 
Green; and improve highway 
network connectivity and 
resilience. 

M60 Junction 19/A576 
Improvements 

Improvements to M60 J19 to 
reduce congestion and facilitate 
growth 

Rochdale  

Trafford Greenway/ Cheshire 
Lines Connection 
 

Includes Carrington Relief Road 
and improvements to various 
junctions around the site, 
including along the A56 

Trafford  

Freight and Logistics 

Optimise traffic signals for 
freight traffic using smart 
signalling technology where 
appropriate  

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts 
of freight traffic, including 
better Air Quality, increased 
fuel efficiency and reduced 
noise. 

GM Wide  

Town Centres 

City Centre North West: 
Deansgate Streets for All 
proposal (part of Deansgate / 
Chapel St Area Improvements) 

To improve the streets in the 
area for walking, cycling and 
placemaking, along with the 
reliability of bus journey times.  
Improvements include public 
realm enhancements, cycle 
facilities and bus gate 
improvements. 

Manchester Phase 1 

City Centre Transport Strategy: 
Streets for All Corridor 
Improvements – Deansgate, 
Whitworth St and A34 

To improve the streets for 
walking, cycling, public 
transport and placemaking 
whilst tackling issues such as 

Manchester Phase 1 

Document Pack Page 314



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 116 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

congestion, air pollution, bus 
service reliability. 

Bolton Town Centre Junction 
Improvements 

Improvements to key junctions 
in Bolton Town Centre for all 
road users.  

Bolton Phase 1 

Radcliffe Town Centre Relief 
Scheme 

To improve the operation of 
junctions to the east of Radcliffe 
town centre, relieving existing 
congestion and providing 
capacity for new development.  

Bury  

Oldham Town Centre 
Accessible Oldham 
Connectivity Package (Phase 2) 

To facilitate development and 
regeneration in Oldham Town 
Centre and to improve the 
attractiveness of Oldham Town 
Centre for pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport users, and 
maintain the integrity of the 
highway network within and 
around Oldham Town Centre.  

Oldham  

Town Centre Streets for All 
Improvements: Farnworth 

Town Centre Streets for All 
works to support increased 
footfall, more journeys by 
sustainable modes, and 
regeneration of town centre, 
through delivery of enhanced 
public realm, and improved 
pedestrian, cycle and bus 
facilities. 

Bolton Phase 1 

Stockport Town Centre West 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new 
connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, 
public realm improvements, EV 
charging and car club 
expansion. To include early 
delivery of A6 Railway Road 
junction remodel to include 

Stockport  

Document Pack Page 315



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 117 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

increased capacity and east-
west cycle route   

Stockport Town Centre East 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new 
connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, 
public realm improvements, EV 
charging and car club 
expansion. To include early 
delivery of Mersey Square 
remodel to improve bus 
movements.   

Stockport  

Stockport Town Centre SUDS 
Package 

Steppingstone spaces, Slow flow 
Streets, Stockport Southbank 
Sponge Promenade, Wearside 
Slipway and Grey water 
harvesting, Mersey Habitat 
Corridor 

Stockport  

Streets for All – Hyde Town 
Centre 

Streets for All approach to 
improving public realm, walking 
and cycling links, and reducing 
traffic within Hyde Town 
Centre. To link with masterplan 
work currently being 
undertaken in Hyde. 

Tameside  

Stretford Town Centre Streets 
for All Improvements 

To support walking, cycling and 
bus movements in Stretford 
town centre (including 
pedestrian movements to 
Stretford Metrolink stop) and to 
support the regeneration of 
Stretford. 

Trafford  

Streets for All Improvements: 
Trafford Civic Quarter area  

Pedestrian, cycle and public 
realm improvements to increase 
connectivity by foot, bike, bus 
and Metrolink, reduce through 
traffic and congestion and 

Trafford  

Document Pack Page 316



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 118 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

address road safety and air 
quality issues. 

Streets for All Improvements: 
Trafford Wharfside  

Pedestrian, cycle and public 
realm improvements to increase 
connectivity by foot, bike, bus 
and Metrolink, reduce through 
traffic and congestion and 
address road safety and air 
quality issues. 

Trafford  

Leigh Town Centre   Improvement of cycling, walking 
and public transport facilities at 
Leigh Centre. Includes proposals 
to deliver town centre 
improvements in Leigh to 
reduce impact of through traffic 
and to improve the public 
realm, including potential bus 
gate within Leigh Town Centre. 

Wigan  

Maintenance 

Structures Improvement 
Package - Stockport 

To support maintenance and 
resilience of key structures 
across the Stockport network, 
including:  
-Queens Road Bridge 
-Travis Brow Footpath Retaining 
wall  
-River Tame Footbridge 
-Stanley Road Footbridge 

Stockport Phase 1 

A58 Angouleme Way Major 
Maintenance/Renewal  

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Bury  

A58 Peel Way Major 
Maintenance/ Renewal 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 

Bury  

Document Pack Page 317



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 119 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Eccles New Road/South 
Langworthy Road 
Refurbishment 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Manchester  

Mancunian Way A57(M) – 
Resurfacing and Viaduct 
Strengthening & 
Refurbishment Scheme 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Manchester  

A57 Regent Road KRN 
Carriageway resurfacing 

To support the economic 
performance, resilience and 
liveability of the city-region by 
maintaining the network in 
good condition. 

Manchester  

Our Integrated Network 

Clean Air and Carbon 

Measures that will be 
identified within the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan and 
identified as necessary to 
protect public health. 

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas 
and improve the health of GM 
residents and visitors. 

GM Wide  

Continued expansion of 
electric vehicles network 
charging points, including for 
use by private hire vehicles 
and taxis  

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas 
and improve the health of GM 
residents and visitors. 

GM Wide Phase 1 

Retrofitting or upgrading 
buses to comply with more 
stringent emissions standards 
and/or zero emission 
standards (continuation 
programme) 
 
 

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas 
and improve the health of GM 
residents and visitors. 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 318



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 120 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Future Mobility and Innovation 

Further Mobility as a Service 
(Maas) and Connected and 
Autonomous Vehicles (CAVs) 
projects, as the market for 
these technologies matures 

To further develop the 
integration of various forms of 
transport services into a single 
customer experience, which is 
accessible on demand and uses 
a single payment application.  

GM Wide 
 

Phase 1 
& 2 

Further collaborative projects 
with UK and international 
cities to ensure Greater 
Manchester remains at the 
forefront of transport 
innovation 

To further support the 
development of new a transport 
network that is at the forefront 
of technological advances and 
innovative thinking. 

GM Wide  

The roll-out of integrated 
private hire standards across 
Greater Manchester 

To respond effectively to recent 
technological advance in the 
private ire sector to ensure 
consistency of standards for 
Greater Manchester customers. 

GM Wide  

Interchanges 

Bury Interchange 
redevelopment 

To provide multi-modal upgrade 
(to include Metrolink, bus, 
active travel) to increase the 
attractiveness and the efficiency 
of the Interchange as the focal 
point for urban growth and 
regeneration in Bury town 
centre. 

Bury Phase 1 
& 2 

Travel Hubs/ Park and Ride 

Travel Hubs/Park & Ride 
proposals, e.g. Rochdale 
Station 
 

To provide better access to 
public transport through Travel 
Hub/Park & Ride facilities. 
 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Fares and Ticketing 

Further phases of Greater 
Manchester’s smart ticketing 
initiative 

To make it easier for customers 
to plan, make and pay for their 
journeys using different modes, 
thereby making the overall GM 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 319



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 121 

In the next five years, we aim to complete business cases for early 
delivery of… (Map 2)  
 
Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

public transport offer more 
attractive. This in turn will 
encourage a modal shift in 
Greater Manchester.  

Pan-northern integrated and 
smart ticketing, working with 
TfN 

To make it easier for customers 
to plan, make and pay for their 
journeys using different modes, 
thereby making the overall GM 
public transport offer more 
attractive. This in turn will 
encourage a modal shift in 
Greater Manchester. 

GM Wide  

Piloting of other targeted 
ticket offers to promote the 
use of public transport  

To encourage people to travel 
at quieter times and to increase 
the accessibility of the public 
transport network to specific 
groups of travellers. 

GM Wide  

Safety and Security 

Road Safety – Minor works 
improvement package (see 
GM Local Implementation 
Plans in Appendix B for more 
information) 

To improve road safety at key 
points and junctions across GM, 
including improvement of safety 
signs.  

GM Wide  

 

  

Document Pack Page 320



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 122 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus 

Local Bus 

Streets for All/Bus Corridor 
Upgrade: A56 Manchester–
Bury  

To improve reliability and speed of 
buses on A56 between Manchester 
City Centre – Bury corridor, which 
forms part of one of the radial 
Streets for All corridors.  

Manchester
/ Bury 

Phase 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Streets for All/Bus Corridor 
Upgrade: A56 Bury-
Ramsbottom 

To improve reliability and speed of 
buses on A56 between Bury – 
Ramsbottom corridor, which forms 
part of one of the radial Streets for 
All corridors. 

Bury Phase 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Streets for All and Bus 
Corridor upgrade: A56 
Manchester - Altrincham 

To improve reliability and speed of 
buses between Manchester City 
Centre – Altrincham corridor, which 
forms part of one of the radial 
Streets for All corridors. 

Manchester Phase 2 
(Bus 

Corrido
r 

Upgrad
e 

Interve
ntions) 

Using new technologies to 
introduce, where feasible, 
new flexible bus services 
into rail stations and 
Metrolink stops  

To provide an alternative to the car 
for journeys into the Regional Centre 
where current public transport 
options are either non-existent or 
lacking in quality and frequency. 

GM Wide  

City Centre Transport 
Strategy: bus routing, 
services and interchange 
improvements – Phase 2.  

Phase 2 package of longer-term 
proposals to ensure the regional 
centre has the right balance 
between terminating and through 
bus services, minimise the negative 
impacts of bus movements on 
pedestrian and cycle movements, 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Document Pack Page 321



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 123 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and better integrate the bus 
network with the Metrolink and rail 
network. 

Further viable bus 
improvements to support 
the transport requirements 
of growth areas and GMSF 
allocations, identified 
through the planning 
process  

To support future growth in Greater 
Manchester as set out in the new 
draft of GMSF. 

GM Wide  

Quality Bus Transit 

Future phases of Quality 
Bus Transit routes  

Whole-corridor upgrades of major 
bus corridors, delivering 
improvements to their quality and 
reliability and integrating bus, 
walking and cycling into a high-
quality urban realm. Interventions to 
be determined. 

GM Wide  

Quality Bus Transit on key 
bus corridors: Ashton-
Stockport 

Whole-route upgrade of the Ashton 
- Stockport bus corridor, with the 
emphasis on quality, reliability, and 
integration into the urban realm. 
QBT will offer similar quality of 
design to that of best-practice 
street-running LRT, with bus priority 
to achieve reliable services, 
attractive waiting environments, and 
high-quality vehicles.  
 
To provide an attractive alternative 
to car journeys between the Ashton 
– Stockport corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town centres, 
and the cycling and walking 
environment. 

Tameside/ 
Stockport 

Phase 2 
(Advan

ce 
works 

on 
other 

corrido
rs) 

Quality Bus Transit on key 
corridors: A6 Manchester 

Whole-route upgrade of the A6 
Manchester City – Stockport College 

Manchester
/ Stockport 

Phase 1 
& 2 

Document Pack Page 322



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 124 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

City Centre-Stockport 
College  

bus corridor, with the emphasis on 
quality, reliability, and integration 
into the urban realm. QBT will offer 
similar quality of design to that of 
best-practice street-running LRT, 
with bus priority to achieve reliable 
services, attractive waiting 
environments, and high-quality 
vehicles. To provide an attractive 
alternative to car journeys on the 
Manchester City Centre - Stockport 
College corridor, by delivering 
improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, 
public realm within town centres, 
and the cycling and walking 
environment. 

(Advan
ce 

works 
on 

other 
corrido

rs) 

Bus Rapid Transit 

Bus Rapid Transit extension 
(to Lowton and Golborne, 
via Leigh or A580) 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car on the 
Regional Centre – Lowton – 
Golborne Corridor, particularly for 
the associated new developments. 

Wigan  

Bus Rapid Transit corridor 
(Manchester Airport / HS2 
to Altrincham) 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car for orbital 
journeys between Altrincham and 
the Airport, and to support the 
Timperley Wedge allocation. 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

 

Bus Rapid Transit corridor 
linking the Northern 
Gateway allocation and 
surrounding towns to the 
Regional Centre 

To effectively serve the major 
Northern Gateway allocation with 
rapid public transport links, 
particularly to and from the Regional 
Centre, as well as nearby key centres 
e.g. Oldham. 

Manchester  

Our Metrolink 

Metrolink 

Further interventions to 
improve Metrolink capacity 

To increase Metrolink capacity and 
reliability for the whole of Greater 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 323



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 125 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and reliability, e.g. 
 
- Altrincham Line Upgrade 
- Cornbrook Upgrade 
- Irk Valley Junction 
Upgrade 
- Network Power Upgrades 
- Next Generation of Longer 
Metrolink Vehicles 
- Third Depot 
- Twin-Tracking Upgrades 

Manchester through a series of 
interventions. 

Metrolink extension to 
Stalybridge 

To provide communities east of 
Ashton with an alternative rapid 
transit option into the Regional 
Centre, thereby reducing pressure 
on the A635 and other roads. 

Tameside  

Metrolink connection to 
Middleton 

To provide communities in and 
around Middleton with an 
alternative rapid transit option into 
the Regional Centre, thereby 
reducing pressure on local roads. 

Rochdale  

Oldham-Middleton 
Metrolink Extension 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this corridor, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A669 and other local roads. 

Oldham/ 
Rochdale 

 

Metrolink connection 
(MediaCityUK-Salford 
Crescent) 

A substantially higher non-car mode 
share is needed to sustain the 
growth of Salford Quays / Media 
City, which will require faster links to 
key interchange nodes in and 
around the Regional Centre.  

Salford Phase 2 

Further new Metrolink 
connections between 
Salford Crescent, Inner 
Salford and the City Centre 

To provide enhanced rapid transit 
connectivity and capacity to /from 
the city centre. 

Salford  

Completion of the Airport 
Metrolink Line (Western 
Leg Phase 3) 

To join up rapid transit connections 
achieved in earlier stages of the 
Metrolink Western Leg and facilitate 
future connections using tram-train 

Manchester  

Document Pack Page 324



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 126 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

technology – to help achieve the 
step-change in non-car mode share 
required to sustain and support the 
growth of the wider Airport area, 
including a potential new stop at 
Timperley Wedge.  

Metrolink extension 
towards Port 
Salford/Salford Stadium 

To effectively serve the major 
developments of Trafford Waters, 
and potentially Salford Stadium and 
Port Salford which are currently not 
connected to rapid transit. 

Salford  

Improved link between 
Eccles Metrolink stop and 
rail station 

To increase the accessibility 
between Eccles Metrolink and heavy 
rail stations to ensure it becomes a 
more significant transport hub. 

Salford  
 
 

New Stops and Upgrades 

Further Metrolink Stop 
Improvements Package 

Package of stop improvements to 
improve customer experience. 

GM Wide  

Tram-Train 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Glossop 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Glossop 
corridor, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Manchester
/ Tameside/ 
Derbyshire 

 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Marple 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Marple 
corridor, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Stockport  

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Wigan via 
Atherton 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Atherton 
corridor, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Wigan  

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Manchester to Warrington 
(CLC) 

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency on the Warrington 
corridor, both to address existing 

Manchester
/ Trafford/ 
Warrington 

 

Document Pack Page 325



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 127 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Metro/Tram-Train from  
Stockport to Hazel Grove  

To provide much greater capacity 
and frequency for rapid transit to 
and from Stockport and/or Hazel 
Grove, both to address existing 
crowding issues and to facilitate 
further growth. 

Stockport  

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Stockport to Manchester 
Airport 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Stockport, Cheadle and 
Gatley area, and encourage 
sustainable travel to it. 

Stockport/ 
Manchester 

 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Bury to Rochdale via 
Heywood  

To complete the connection 
between Heywood and Bury 
following successful implementation 
of the early pathfinder North 
scheme between Oldham and 
Heywood via Rochdale.  

Bury/ 
Rochdale 

 

Metro/ Tram-Train from the 
west and southwest (Mid 
Cheshire) to Manchester 
Airport 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Altrincham and Hale area 
and 
from towns in Cheshire, to 
encourage sustainable travel to it. 
See also: Manchester Airport 
Western Link. 

Manchester
/ 

Trafford/ 
Cheshire 

 

Metro/Tram-Train 
from Stockport to Ashton 
via Denton and Reddish 

To connect poorly served Denton 
and Reddish to strategic 
opportunities for employment, 
education and health at both ends of 
a freight line that has been without a 
regular passenger service since the 
early 1990s. 

Stockport/ 
Tameside 

 

Metro/Tram-Train from 
Cornbrook to Manchester 
Airport via Timperley 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Timperley, Sale and 
Stretford area, and encourage 
sustainable travel to it (also: relieve 
Altrincham line crowding). 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

 

Document Pack Page 326



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 128 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Regional Centre Metro 
Tunnel 

To deliver a step-change in rapid 
transit capacity to and through the 
Regional Centre in order to: 
 

• accommodate increasing 
demand on existing Metrolink 
lines 

• release capacity in the city 
centre to accommodate 
increased service frequencies, 
e.g. on the Bury line and to 
MediaCityUK via the Trafford 
Park line 

• facilitate conversion of shorter-
distance-focused suburban rail 
lines to metro/tram-train 
operation, radically improving 
services on those corridors and 
releasing capacity on the 
National Rail network in the 
Regional Centre, so that it can 
reliably accommodate 2040 
demand 

• provide the capacity to enable 
the rapid transit network to 
serve a wider range of middle-
distance trips in Greater 
Manchester and to maximise the 
benefits of integrated fares. 

GM Wide  

Our Rail 
Rail 

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors: South East 
Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift.  

Manchester  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 

Manchester
/ Salford 

 

Document Pack Page 327



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 129 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

corridors: Chat Moss and 
West Coast 

Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift.  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors: North West 
Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift. 

Manchester  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors: North East 
Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift. This could potentially 
include improvements between 
Rawtenstall and Manchester. 

Manchester  

Rail Capacity Improvements 
on key commuting 
corridors; South 
Manchester (including HS2 
readiness) 

To provide increased frequency and 
capacity for journeys into the 
Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to 
modal shift, and prepare for the 
arrival of HS2. 

GM Wide  

Platform lengthening and 
increases in passenger 
capacity at stations, 
including through future rail 
commitments 

To maximise existing heavy rail 
network capacity in order to 
accommodate growth in rail travel. 

GM Wide  

Manchester Airport 
Western Rail Link 

A new heavy rail link to the Mid-
Cheshire line could release capacity 
on an already constrained network 
and provide greater rail access to 
Manchester Airport for those west 
and southwest of the conurbation 
(Cheshire and North Wales). See 
also: Metro/tram-train to 
Manchester Airport from the west 
(Mid Cheshire). 

Manchester
/ Cheshire 

 

Stockport - Station Alliance  
Enhancement Programme 

To identify regeneration 
opportunities at Bramhall, Cheadle 
Hulme, Rose Hill Marple and Hazel 

Stockport  

Document Pack Page 328



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 130 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Grove stations. Seeking to enhance 
station facilities focusing on the 
access to and from stations, 
alongside work to provide 
residential, commercial and 
community facilities. 

Rochdale - Station Alliance  
Enhancement Programme 

Redevelopment opportunities at 
Mills Hill, Slattocks, Castleton, 
Smithy Bridge, Littleborough and 
Rochdale stations. Seeking to 
enhance station facilities focusing on 
the access to and from stations, 
alongside work to provide 
residential, commercial and 
community facilities. 

 
Rochdale 

 

Glossop Line Enhancements To deliver an improved service on 
the Glossop line consistent with a 
potential longer-term metro/tram-
train future for this line. 

Manchester
/ Tameside/ 
Derbyshire 

 

Mossley Station 
accessibility improvements 

Upgrade of passenger facilities at 
Mossley station 

Tameside  

Port Salford rail freight link To facilitate the delivery of Port 
Salford as a tri-modal logistics hub, 
reducing the impact of freight 
movement on the city region’s 
congested motorway network. 

Salford Phase 1 
& 2 

High Speed Rail 

Manchester Airport HS2 
and NPR Growth Strategy 

To deliver transformational change 
to Greater Manchester’s global rail 
offer from this new high-speed rail 
hub, and to ensure good onward 
public transport connections from 
across Greater Manchester to 
deliver wider benefits for the city-
region as a result of the improved 
connectivity. 

Manchester  

Stockport HS2 Growth 
Strategy  

To address medium-term capacity 
constraints on the West Coast Main 
Line and at Stockport station, which 

Stockport  

Document Pack Page 329



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 131 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

will become more pressing between 
2026 and 2033, when HS2 trains will 
start to arrive, but new tunnel to 
Piccadilly (HS2 Phase 2b) will not yet 
be complete. 

Wigan HS2 Growth Strategy To better integrate Wigan Wallgate 
and North Western and therefore 
make the rail offer more attractive, 
creating a secondary long-distance 
rail hub for the city-region as an 
alternative to Manchester Piccadilly, 
particularly in the context of HS2. 

Wigan  

HS2 Northern Chord A new link to facilitate trains running 
Manchester Piccadilly – Manchester 
Airport – Wigan – points north. This 
would provide a step change in 
journey-time from Manchester 
Airport to Wigan and Scotland, and 
relieve capacity on the Manchester – 
Bolton – Preston and Manchester -
Newton-le-Willows corridors, as well 
as in Manchester City Centre and 
Airport line. 

GM Wide  

Northern Powerhouse Rail To link Greater Manchester to the 
other economic centres of the 
North, support the growth of 
Manchester Airport and fully exploit 
opportunities to integrate with HS2.  

GM Wide  

Stations 

New stations (tranche 2)   To provide a new public transport 
option, contributing to modal shift 
and reducing pressure on the 
highway network where this can be 
shown to be viable. 

GM Wide  

Our Streets 

Walking and Cycling 

Cheadle Access Package  New signal or priority junction with 
pedestrian and cycle links to Mill 

Stockport Phase 2 

Document Pack Page 330



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 132 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Lane and Cheadle District Centre and 
to improve cycling and walking 
access to the new proposed station 
in Cheadle. 

White City Circle Delivery of a major junction 
improvement to facilitate Bee 
network connections at White City 
Circle in Old Trafford 

Trafford Phase 2 

City Centre Wheel – cycle 
improvements on key 
corridors serving the city 
centre 

To support safe cycling to / from the 
city centre and delivery of the Bee 
Network 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Beeways Longer term 
delivery 

Delivery of the remaining crossings 
and quiet streets identified on the 
Bee Network Map 

GM Wide Phase 2 

Busy Beeways Longer term 
delivery 

Delivery of the remaining ‘Busy 
Beeway’ major road corridors 
identified on the Bee Network Map  

GM Wide Phase 2 

Active Neighbourhoods 
Longer term delivery 

Delivery of Active Neighbourhoods 
across Greater Manchester 

GM Wide Phase 2 

The Quays further 
connectivity improvements  

   

Wigan to Skelmersdale Bee Network delivery between 
Wigan, Orrell, Billinge and 
Skelmersdale  

Wigan Phase 2 

Local Highways 

Westhoughton Multi-Modal 
Package  

To improve east-to-west 
connections, forming an extension 
of the Wigan E-W route (LLM); 
providing relief to Westhoughton 
town centre, enabling 
improvements for sustainable travel; 
and supporting local growth. 

Bolton Phase 2 

Interventions to support 
the delivery of the Crescent 
masterplan 

Interventions to support public 
transport and active travel as part of 
the sustainable regeneration and 
development of this key growth 
area. 

  

Document Pack Page 331



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 133 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Improvements to local 
junctions to mitigate traffic 
associated with potential 
GMSF developments – see 
LIPs 

 GM Wide  

Strategic Roads and Motorways  

Manchester Airport 
expansion highway 
improvements 

To improve the reliability of journey 
times to the Airport, enhancing its 
function as the primary global 
gateway for the North of England, to 
be coordinated with longer term 
highway improvements required to 
support HS2 and NPR Growth 
Strategy at Manchester Airport.  

Manchester  

A58/M66 Junction 2 
Improvements 

To reduce congestion and improve 
reliability of journeys to/from M66 
and along the A58 between 
Rochdale, Heywood and Bury, and to 
support growth including that at 
Northern Gateway. 

GM Wide  

A6 to M60 Relief Road To address capacity and resilience 
issues from A6MARR to the M60 and 
facilitating reduced flows on the A6 

Manchester  

A49 Standish Link Road 
(Almond Brook Road to 
Kingshill Court)  
 

To provide relief to Standish town 
centre, reducing through traffic and 
enabling improvements for 
sustainable modes; and to 
accommodate growth due to local 
housing developments. 
 
Lane Head bypass from Atherleigh 
Way to Winwick Lane to reduce 
congestion and improve air quality 
at Lane Head junction. 
 
Landgate bypass, from Wigan Road 
to Bryn Road to bypass problem 
junction of Bryn Cross. Would also 

Wigan  

Document Pack Page 332



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 134 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

bring further housing at Landgate 
development site. 

Lane Head Improvements Measures from Atherleigh Way to 
Winwick Lane to reduce congestion 
and improve air quality at Lane Head 
junction. 

Wigan  

M60 Junctions 21-24 Smart 
Motorway 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
provide the capacity for the 
anticipated scale of growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities. 

Manchester
/ Oldham/ 
Tameside 

 

M66 improvements 
including improvements to 
Junction 3 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
adjacent LRN and provide the 
capacity for the anticipated scale of 
growth both within the city-region 
and in neighbouring authorities. 

Bury  

Further interventions to 
tackle congestion issues in 
Tintwistle and Hollingworth 

To address congestion issues on the 
strategic A628 corridor and improve 
journey times and journey time 
reliability to South Yorkshire. 

Tameside  

M6 J25 all-movements 
junction 

To address congestion issues on this 
part of the Strategic Road Network 
and adjacent Key Route Network 
and increase access to the M6 
Corridor. 

Stockport  

Further improvements to 
the motorway network, to 
be delivered through 
Highways England’s future 
Road Investment Strategy 
process (RIS3) 

To support major growth in Greater 
Manchester and across the North of 
England. Details to be determined 
through Highways England’s 
planning processes, in consultation 
with local partners.  

GM Wide  

Strategic road 
improvements between 
Greater Manchester and 
Sheffield City Regions, to be 
determined through TfN 

To transform city region-to-city 
region highway connectivity across 
the North of England, in line with 
TfN’s vision for an efficient highway 
network that effectively connects 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 333



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 135 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

and Highways England’s 
Trans-Pennine Tunnel Study 

the labour markets of the North’s 
major cities. 

Multi-modal interventions 
to tackle congestion on the 
M60 North West Quadrant  

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
adjoining LRN through a package of 
multi-modal connectivity and 
capacity enhancements, enabling 
anticipated growth both within the 
city-region and in neighbouring 
authorities. 

Manchester
/ Bolton/ 

Bury/ 
Manchester

/ Salford 
and Wigan 

 

M60 South East Junctions 
Study 

To address existing congestion and 
reliability issues on the SRN and 
adjoining LRN and provide the 
capacity for anticipated growth both 
within the city-region and in 
neighbouring authorities, supporting 
the proposed Hs” / NPR station at 
Manchester Airport. 

Manchester
/ Trafford 

 

South Manchester Highway 
and Transport Study  

To maintain journey times and 
reliability for traffic using the M56, 
including trips to/from Manchester 
Airport, enhancing its function as the 
primary global gateway for the 
North of England. 

Manchester  

M62 J19 Improvements  Rochdale  

A57-M62 Link Road To link the A57 at Barton with the 
M62 via a new motorway junction, 
supporting development at Port 
Salford and need to consider effects 
on local highway network. 

Salford/ 
Manchester 

 

M61 J6 Link Road for West 
of Wingates 

To support the M61 Junction 6 West 
of Wingates Allocation 

Bolton  

M60 Junction 8 link road 
improvements  

To support growth in the Carrington 
area by improving accessibility to 
new developments.  

Trafford  

Freight and Logistics 

The creation of urban 
consolidation centres 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 334



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 136 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

congestion and improving air 
quality. 

Measures to reduce impact 
of goods vehicles in centres 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Key enhancements to 
regional rail to support 
freight growth in Greater 
Manchester 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Demonstrating the 
potential of alternative fuel 
transport, aiming to achieve 
regionally and nationally 
competitive solutions 

To reduce the social and 
environmental external impacts of 
freight traffic. 

GM Wide  

Support joint procurement 
frameworks to reduce 
freight deliveries 

To minimise the need to for road 
freight deliveries, thereby reducing 
congestion and improving air 
quality. 

GM Wide  

Town Centres 

Heywood Town Centre 
Streets for All 
Improvements 

Following completion of J19 link 
road, the scheme proposes to 
reduce levels of through traffic 
through town centre, and introduce 
new bus priority, cycling and walking 
schemes through the town.  

Rochdale  

Middleton Town Centre 
Streets for All 
Improvements 

Streets for All proposals seek to 
remove and rationalise roundabouts 
on the A576 to deliver improved 
pedestrian and cycle crossings, and 
improved traffic flows, alongside 
delivering enhanced cycling and 
walking environment, and new 
entrance to the bus station along 
the links. 

Rochdale  

Our Integrated Network 

Clean Air and Carbon 

Retrofitting or upgrading 
Local Authority fleet 

To improve air quality in the 
Regional Centre and other areas and 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 335



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 137 

In the next five years, we will develop options for… (Map 3)  
 

Some interventions will be subject to appropriate planning approvals and developer 
contributions… 

Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 
Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Private hire and taxi 
alternative fuels  

To improve air quality in the regional 
centre and other areas and improve 
the health of GM residents and 
visitors. 

GM Wide  

Future Mobility and Innovation 

Further future mobility and 
transport innovation 
priorities for Greater 
Manchester 

To make travel easier across Greater 
Manchester through potential 
introduction of MaaS and new travel 
hubs.  

 GM Wide   

Interchanges 

Oldham Mumps 
Interchange redevelopment 

To increase the accessibility of 
Metrolink and bus from nearby 
destinations and increase the 
attractiveness of the Interchange as 
the focal point for intra-urban 
growth in Oldham town centre. 

Oldham  

New Stalybridge town 
centre transport 
interchange  

Provision of a new transport 
interchange in Stalybridge which 
would better link the existing 
railway, bus and future Metrolink 
services together at a single location 
probably adjacent to the station.      

Tameside  

Ashton-in-Makerfield bus 
interchange upgrade 

To increase the accessibility of 
Ashton-in-Makerfield by public 
transport and increase the 
attractiveness of bus services for 
local residents. 

Wigan  

Travel Hubs/ Park and Ride 

Further Travel Hub/ Park & 
Ride Proposals 

To provide better access to public 
transport through Travel Hub/Park & 
Ride facilities. 

GM Wide  

 

  

Document Pack Page 336



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 138 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate…  
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Bus Our Metrolink 

Bus Rapid Transit Metrolink & Tram-Train 

In most cases, these interventions will require further investigation in order to determine 
the appropriate transport mode (‘Rapid Transit Corridor’). For some, a likely mode is 
clearer and this is stated where relevant (‘Metrolink Extension’ or ‘Bus Rapid Transit 
Extension’). 

Airport-Carrington-Irlam 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To improve access to the Airport 
from the Carrington and Irlam 
areas,  making use of a former rail 
corridor to encourage sustainable 
travel to it.  

Manchester
/ 

Trafford/ 
Salford 

 

Ashton-Oldham 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, thereby reducing pressure 
on the M60, A627 and other local 
roads. 

Oldham/ 
Tameside  

 

Bolton-Bury 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, thereby reducing pressure 
on the A58 and other local roads. 

Bolton/ 
Bury 

 

Bolton-Radcliffe 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, including journeys to 
Manchester, thereby reducing 
pressure on the M61, M60, A665, 
A6053, A56 and other local roads. 

Bolton/ 
Bury 

 

Marple-Stockport 
Rapid Transit Corridor 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A626 and other local roads. 

Stockport  

Oldham-Grotton-Greenfield 
Metrolink Extension 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, including journeys to 
Manchester, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A669 and other local roads. 

Oldham  

Document Pack Page 337



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 139 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate…  
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Oldham-Royton 
Metrolink Extension 

To provide a more attractive 
alternative to the car in this 
corridor, including journeys to 
Manchester, 
thereby reducing pressure on the 
A671, A663 and other local roads. 

Oldham  

Tyldesley-Hindley Green-
Wigan Bus Rapid Transit 
Extension 

To link major growth areas with 
the Regional Centre and Wigan 
Town Centre, including the HS2 
station and associated 
developments there. 

Wigan  

Our Rail 
Rail 

Further electrification of 
rail lines to reduce carbon 
emissions and increase 
capacity 

To reduce carbon emissions and 
increase capacity 

GM Wide  

Explore the feasibility and 
business case for improved 
connections from the 
Airport to the South  

Improved heavy rail services south 
of the Airport towards and beyond 
Crewe, to increase Airport 
catchment and encourage 
sustainable travel to it. 
See also: Tram-Train Pathfinder 
Airport (Manchester Airport to 
Wilmslow via Styal). 

GM Wide  

Explore options for further 
increased rail network 
capacity in the Regional 
Centre 

To transform city-to-city and 
suburban rail connectivity from 
Preston, Wigan and Liverpool to 
Manchester, addressing key 
constraints to capacity into the 
Regional Centre. 

GM Wide  

Further new rail stations 
from tranche 2 

New stations that have not been 
identified as early priorities could 
well become more relevant as 
demand for rail travel increases 
and investment in the network 
creates opportunities for changes 
to rail services. 
 
 
 

GM Wide  

Document Pack Page 338



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 140 

Beyond this five year Delivery Plan, we will investigate…  
Intervention Rationale Location GMIP 

Phase 
1, 2 or 
other 

Our Streets    

Local Highways 

M62 - Carrington - M60 
Link 

To address existing congestion 
issues on the SRN and provide the 
capacity for the scale of 
development proposed both within 
the city region and in neighbouring 
authorities. 

GM Wide  

High Lane and Disley Bypass A bypass of the settlements of High 
Lane and Disley, promoted by 
Cheshire East Council.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Document Pack Page 339



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 141 

APPENDIX B: Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 – Local 
Implementation Plans  

  

Document Pack Page 340



 

1 

Bolton Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 
economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 
Bolton’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in the 
Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025).   

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium- and long-term future 
transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 
neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025.  

Bolton Council in its Corporate Plan 2019 to 2021 outlines a vision where “Bolton will 
be a vibrant place, built on strong cohesive communities, successful businesses, and 
healthy residents. It will be a welcoming place where people choose to study, work 
and put down roots”. As part of the Place function the Council looks to “deliver on 
key regeneration areas across the borough” and “lead on the development of a more 
cleaner and greener borough”.  

This document sets out the steps Bolton will take with partners to make good 
progress towards its transport vision and priorities in the short-term.   

Alongside investment in health, education and homes, improvements in Bolton’s 
transport connectivity and public realm are essential to realising these aims. To 
achieve these ambitions, we have set five key transport-related outcomes which we 
would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in the 5 townships of the Borough of Bolton; 

• Outcome 2: Enhance connections within Bolton town centre to support town 

centre master plan intervention area; 

• Outcome 3: Enhanced connections to and within the centres of Farnworth, 

Westhoughton, Horwich and Little Lever; 

• Outcome 4: Improvements to public transport, cycling, walking and highways 

network to support growth around Junction 6 M61 and along the De Haviland 

Way corridor; 

• Outcome 5: Accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles and reduce 

emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the Borough. 

This document sets out some of the steps Bolton will seek to take with partners 
to make good progress towards these outcomes in the next 5 years.   The steps are 
ambitious and the development and delivery of the interventions set out will require a 
significant level of resource and funding. This will require us to prioritise measures and 
to continue working with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required funding from 
Government to develop and deliver these schemes.

Document Pack Page 341



 

2 

2. Bolton Borough Strategic Transport Issues 

 

Document Pack Page 342



 

3 

 

Document Pack Page 343



 

4 

2.1. Bolton’s Delivery Plan Scheme 2020-2025 

Map 1 below shows interventions proposed within Bolton, included in the Five-Year Delivery Plan.  

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 344



 

5 

2.2. Bolton’s ambitions and existing strategic allocations 

Map 2 below sets out ambitions for the land supply and transport network within Bolton. This includes strategic employment allocations 
identified as part of GMSF, local road network improvements including improved east/west connectivity between the strategic road network, 
and town centre improvements offering new homes and employment opportunities. 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 345



 

6 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

Of all trips that start in Bolton, neighbourhood trips are shared with wider city region 
trips as the most frequent type at 48% of all trips. Of these trips neighbourhood trips 
are less than 2km in length, 28% are made by private car (slightly higher than GM 
average) for which the majority of these could be walked or cycled (source: TRADS 
2016/2017 database). 

Road traffic levels and speeds have significant impact on walking and cycling for 
local trips, including actual and perceived levels of safety. Major roads create 
barriers and cause severance between neighbourhoods and destinations as well as 
pavement parking which restricts footway space and accessibility.  

There are numerous challenges in areas with dense populations outside Bolton town 
centre, e.g. Farnworth, Horwich, Westhoughton and Little Lever. Within these areas 
are examples of traditional terraced rows where streets tend to be narrow and on 
street car parking at a premium to residential areas that act as ‘rat-runs’ to avoid 
congestion on the key route network and junctions operating over capacity in peak 
network periods. Despite this in some of our economically challenged areas there is 
a disproportionately high level of no car ownership and residents are reliant on public 
transport, taxis and active travel as their only means of getting to local centres and 
key destinations. However key destinations are difficult to access on foot and by 
cycle due to road traffic, severance caused by highway infrastructure and a lack of 
direct dedicated cycle and walking infrastructure and wayfinding within the borough’s 
neighbourhoods.  

Opportunities to address these issues will be delivered through the development of 
the Bee Network and access to and within new development that prioritises active 
travel following “Streets for All” design principles creating streets for people not just 
traffic. The emerging District Centre Masterplans for Horwich, Little Lever and 
Westhoughton will make linkages to these principles as in the approved Farnworth 
Master Plan where ‘Streets for All’ treatment to has been proposed for Market Street,  

3.2. Bolton Town Centre 

Within the context of The Bolton Economy: Our Strategy for Growth 2016-2030, the 
Council has adopted a Town Centre Strategy including a masterplan framework and 
key intervention areas.  These documents set out Bolton’s ambition and vision to 
achieve a £1bn regeneration of the town centre, creating more than 2000 new 
homes, 7,400 new jobs to sustain its immediate future to the benefit of the wider 
Borough and its residents, supported by £100m direct investment from the Council.  
Private sector partners and investors are signed up to the redevelopment of 
Crompton Place Shopping Centre, as well as Trinity Quarter, Church Wharf, Croal 
Valley, Cheadle Square and Blackhorse St.   
 
The town centre has recently benefited from significant investment in a new bus 
station linked to the existing rail station to create a transport hub. This has included 
the installation of a cycle hub for secure cycle parking.  

Document Pack Page 346



 

7 

Key transport issues for Bolton town centre include:  

• Congestion on the town centre outer highway box and at key junctions across 

the town centre.  

• Barriers to walking and cycling into and across the town centre due to 

congestion and lack of facilities to support active travel. 

• Traditional road layout impeding development opportunities. 

 

It is estimated that the number of journeys to the town centre has fallen by 6% since 
2010 which has resulted in a reduction in footfall (Source: TRADS). It is also 
estimated that only 45% of AM Peak journeys to Bolton Town Centre are made by 
active travel and public transport modes (Source: TRADS). Whilst most Town 
Centres across Greater Manchester has shown a decline, clearly the transport 
issues identified above has impacted on mode of transport used to get to the centre. 
It is also estimated that 72% of those travelling to Bolton Town Centre believed the 
town centre to be pleasant to walk around or spend time in (lower than the GM 
average) and 66% suggested they felt safe during the day and 23% during the night.  

In support of the Town Centre Master Plan the Council is reviewing the Town Centre 
Transport Strategy with support of a town centre AIMSUM model. The model is able 
to estimate the impact of traffic generation from proposed development on the 
existing town centre highway network. Work is ongoing to identify mitigation 
measures to relieve congestion whilst implementing Bee Network and high-quality 
cycling and walking infrastructure to support modal shift and improve access to and 
around the town centre by active and sustainable modes.  

Bolton council has set up a Town Deal Board to steer a bid as part of the Towns 
Fund, to be submitted in October 2020. The bid focuses on the key intervention area 
Cheadle Square, known as the Civic and Cultural district, and will include public 
realm improvements to ‘bind’ the schemes together. Proposals will be selected 
following consultation with residents and businesses carried out in August 2020. 

£1m accelerated Towns Funding has been awarded to Bolton to bring forward 
schemes before the end of March 2021. Following consultation with the Towns 
Board and Cabinet, a public realm improvement scheme has been put forward, 
linking existing historical and cultural assets in the towns fund area, specifically 
Ashburner Street upgrades and meanwhile use of the site known as the former 
Odeon Cinema. 

Bolton Council has submitted a second bid for £24.6m from the Ministry of Homes, 
Communities and Local Government’s Future High Street Fund, in addition to the 
Farnworth bid, to transform the north of Bolton Town Centre introducing new 
activities – aligned with the Bolton Town Centre Masterplan – to animate the area 
day and night and drive increased footfall, vibrancy and natural surveillance.  

Designed to tackle challenges (including falling town centre footfall, limited evening 
economy, and growing levels of serious crime) and take advantage of opportunities 
(including the availability of sites for development and willing private sector partners), 
the scheme will diversify the town centre offer and improve safety and connections 
by; Strengthening the town centre cultural offer by providing a new facility to be used 

Document Pack Page 347



 

8 

by communities; Creating a new town centre residential neighbourhood bringing 
back young professionals and families (Church Wharf); and improving connectivity 
between new developments and the wider town centre. 

3.3. Wider-City Region 

48% of trips starting in Bolton borough are to the Wider City Region, for example to 
Bury or Wigan. 83% of these trips are made by private car, less than 15% of Wider 
City Region City trips made by PT (source: TRADS database). 

There are poor alternatives to private car for accessing town centres and 
neighbourhoods apart from Bolton Town Centre (particularly Farnworth, 
Westhoughton, Horwich, Little Lever), which leads to high levels of car use for wider-
city journeys. Key challenges with public transport include: Frequency; Punctuality; 
Capacity; most notably in the current pandemic to achieve social distancing.   

Motorway traffic causes additional congestion and severance for other modes (bus, 
cycle, walking), for example, De Havilland Way. Particular issues at Junction 5 of the 
M61 is a barrier to cycling and walking from Westhoughton to Bolton town centre and 
surrounding area requiring a pedestrian, cycle and possibly bus bridge over the M61 
in this location. Congestion and capacity at Junction 6 of the M61 and the adjoining 
De Havilland Way creates both significant delays to vehicle traffic but also 
discourages cycling and walking along this corridor which provides access to 
significant amounts of employment, retail and leisure uses.  

There are currently 21 publicly available EV charge points across the borough. To 
enable an accelerated uptake of EV vehicles, particularly supporting residents with 
no off-road parking, we plan to enlarge this network across the borough. Due to 
limited availability on-street to deliver charging points on our residential roads, the 
primary focus will be on delivering charging points within public car parks.  

Farnworth 

The Council approved an ambitious and transformational Masterplan for the town 
centre in 2019. This Masterplan aims to repurpose vacant retail space into: a mixed 
use community of over 203 homes,  a high quality, flexible community hub from 
which a range of services can be delivered; new commercial floorspace  which will 
deliver job opportunities; a new public square and improved pedestrian and cycle 
connections; and deliver an extended and improved Leisure Centre to support health 
and wellbeing outcomes for the community.  

The council submitted a Business Case, in June 2020, to MHCLG for Future High 
Streets Funding (FHSF) to transform Farnworth Town Centre into a vibrant, high 
quality place to live, work and visit. The scale of transformation, from existing 
conditions will be significant, and the economic and social benefits far reaching, 
delivering a high level of value for money for public investment. The amount being 
sought from FHSF is £19.25m. 

A key project for implementation in the Masterplan is the redevelopment of a large 
site in the centre of the town, known as the Market Precinct. The FHSF money will 
be used, amongst other things to deliver the redevelopment of this key development 

Document Pack Page 348



 

9 

site along with ‘Streets for All’ connectivity interventions to improve pedestrian and 
cycle access to the town. These interventions will transform the town centre. The 
improvements will create a new housing market in the town centre, which will raise 
property values and create viable conditions for further inward investment. This will 
enable a further six development sites to come forward delivering over 240 additional 
homes. 

3.4. District Centres 

In October 2019, following a competitive tendering exercise via the Chest, BDP were 
successfully appointed to develop Masterplans and key development proposals for 
the District Centres of Horwich, Little Lever and Westhoughton. The draft 
Masterplans and key development proposals were taken out to a period of public 
consultation in January and February 2020. The masterplan reports are being 
finalised and will be presented for approval by Executive Cabinet Member in Autumn 
2020.  

In all 3 areas, common issues relating to transport have been identified. These 
include the need for remodelling of main streets in each of the district centres to 
improve access for pedestrians and cyclists and supporting the development of a 
café culture; developing a car parking strategy which takes account of capacity and 
usage, charging and EV points and public realm works. 

3.4.1. Other Development Sites 

Whilst Bolton Town Centre is a key focus for new residential development, retail and 
leisure, there is clearly a demand for B2/B8 employment along the M61 corridor. This 
is demonstrated by the rapid delivery of Logistics North that has come forward 
quicker than anticipated and has no available development plots left. Bolton Council 
is supporting 3 employment allocations along this corridor:  

GM04 Bewshill Farm is for 21,000m2 of employment space situated adjacent to 
Logistics North at unction 4 of the M61. Given is size and previous highway 
improvements as part of Logistics North no further highway mitigation is required to 
bring this site forward. 

GM05 North of Chequerbent is for 25,000m2 of employment space situated between 
the A6, A58 Snydale Way and M61 at Junction 5. Highway mitigation will be required 
to bring this site forward. Options are available to consider in more detail at the 
planning application stage, although the recent approval by the Secretary of State for 
the Hulton Park development, includes infrastructure that should be sufficient to 
accommodate trip generation from this allocation. However, the Hulton Park 
development is still subject to a successful Ryder Cup bid and timings of 
development and infrastructure will need to be further considered.  

GM06 West of Wingates is for a 440,000m2 of employment space situated adjacent 
to the existing Wingates industrial estate off the A6 and accessible to Junction 6 of 
the M61. Part of the site is already the subject of a planning application that has 
been approved by planning committee and is now subject to a Secretary of State call 
in. Further analysis of highway mitigation will be required at the planning application 
stage although investigation of a new link road to Junction 6 via A6/De Havilland 

Document Pack Page 349



 

10 

Way junction is being considered set against additional measures at existing 
junctions along the A6. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support these sites 
has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 
GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 
Delivery Plan. 

  

Document Pack Page 350



 

11 

4. Bolton 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

The following outlines Bolton’s Five-Year LIP outcomes and priorities for investment 
to achieve these. Map 3 below shows proposed Bee Network schemes within Bolton 
for the next 5-year period, and Map 4 shows local investment priorities to meet these 
outcomes.  

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 
made by foot and by bike in the 5 townships of the Borough of Bolton 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 
safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 
people to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Active neighbourhoods implemented 
across the borough of Bolton 

Measures to deliver low-traffic, active 
neighbourhood across Bolton, including 
Farnworth, Little Lever, Westhoughton, 
Horwich, and neighbourhoods around Bolton 
Town Centre. 

School streets programme across 
Bolton borough 

Establish and progress delivery of a School 
Streets programme across Bolton borough. 

Bee Network walk and cycle 
schemes 

Programmed Bee Network schemes at: 

• Doffcocker to Bolton town centre 

• Bolton town centre East Scheme 

• Westhoughton Bee Network and Active 

Neighbourhood Scheme 

• Astley Bridge/Crompton Bee Network 

and Active Neighbourhood Scheme 

Bee Network supported regeneration 
of town centres 

Bee Network Schemes to support regeneration 
in Farnworth, Horwich and Little Lever, through 
delivery of measures to support active modes 
and improved public space. 

Wayfinding for local journeys Wayfinding for local journeys across the 
Borough. 

Borough-wide maintenance 
programme 

Borough-wide maintenance programme on 
neighbourhood streets to improve the quality of 
local walking and cycling journeys. 

  

Document Pack Page 351



 

12 

 
Map 3: Bee Network Proposals in Bolton Borough  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 352



 

13 

Outcome 2: Enhance connections within Bolton town centre to support town 
centre master plan intervention areas. 

In the next 5 years this means creating “Streets for All” in the Bolton town centres to 
support town centre regeneration and increased journeys by active travel to key 
destinations.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

 

Scheme Name  Description 

Tranche 5 Bee Network scheme 
implementation supported by SBNI 
scheme for main junctions along 
Trinity Street and Newport Street. 

Seven new crossings will be included, as well as 
two upgraded junctions which will make it safer 
for pedestrians and cyclists to cross key roads. 
Two-way cycle tracks on one-way streets will 
make it safer to cycle and extra cycle parking will 
also be included. 

Town Centre Junction Improvements Junction improvement schemes to reduce 
congestion and improve air quality, supported by 
improved walking and cycling facilities. 

Town Centre Regeneration Road closures or narrowing’s in support of town 
centre regeneration schemes. 

Improved connectivity with the 
Education Quarter 

Measures to support connections by walking, 
cycling and public transport to and from Bolton’s 
Education Quarter. 

Outcome 3: Enhanced connections to and within the centres of Farnworth, 
Westhoughton, Horwich and Little Lever 

In the next 5 years this means creating streets for all in the centres of Farnworth with 
similar initiatives at Horwich, Westhoughton and Little Lever through improvements 
to the Public Realm.  Access to the centres will also be improved by bus, walking 
and cycling. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Farnworth Masterplan proposals Streets for All improvements in Farnworth town 
centre to increase connectivity by foot, bike, rail 
and bus, improvements to the public realm, 
reduce through traffic and congestion and address 
road safety and air quality issues. 

Westhoughton Masterplan proposals Streets for All improvements in Westhoughton 
town centre to increase connectivity by foot, bike, 
rail and bus, improvements to the public realm, 

Document Pack Page 353



 

14 

Scheme Name  Description 

reduce through traffic and congestion and address 
road safety and air quality issues.  

Horwich Masterplan proposals Streets for All improvements along Winter Hey 
Lane to increase connectivity by foot, bike and 
bus, improve the public realm, reduce through 
traffic and congestion in the town centre and 
address road safety and air quality issues.  

Little Lever Masterplan Proposals Pedestrian and cycle infrastructure improvements, 
including junction and public realm improvements 
to increase connectivity to the town centre by foot 
and bike and address road safety and air quality 
issues.  

Borough-wide maintenance 
programme. 

Borough-wide maintenance programme on town 
centre streets to improve the quality of local 
walking and cycling journey, and quality of public 
space in these destinations. 

Outcome 4: Improvements to public transport, cycling, walking and highways 
network to support growth around Junction 6 M61 and along the De Haviland 
Way corridor  

In the next 5 years this means developing and delivering measures along De 
Haviland Way to support new development in Bolton. This will include measures to 
enable people to travel by foot, bike and public transport, as well as improving the 
resilience of the highway network, and reducing its impact on the local area, such as 
congestion.  

This will build on the existing VISSIM model to develop and deliver measures at: 

• Rivington Chase Link Road 

• Beehive Roundabout Junction Improvement Scheme 

• Spirit of Sport Roundabout 

We will also look to identify solutions for the A6/De Haviland Way roundabout in 
conjunction with GMSF West of Wingates Allocation. 

  

Document Pack Page 354



 

15 

Outcome 5: Accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles and reduce 
emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the Borough 

Bolton will aim to reduce the environmental impact of roads in Bolton Borough 
through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles and reduce 
emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the Borough. 

Priorities for Investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Air Pollution Reduction Actions Measures to reduce emission of pollutants 
in areas that are expected to exceed, or are 
at risk of exceeding air quality thresholds, 
for example the A58. 

Increasing the number of electric 
vehicle charging points across the 
Borough 

Programme to increase the number of 
electric vehicles charging points across the 
Borough. 

Document Pack Page 355



 

16 

 
Map 4: Bolton Implementation Plan Schemes 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 356



 

17 

5. Indicators 

Bolton Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 
measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 
will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 
Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 
Right Mix targets. 

 

Document Pack Page 357



 

1 

Bury Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1 Introduction  

1.1 Purpose of the Local Implementation Plan  

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) has been working with the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), the ten Greater Manchester councils and 

the Greater Manchester Mayor to prepare new, and updated, transport strategy 

documents that cover the entire city-region. This work includes a refreshed version 

of the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and a final version of TfGM’s 

Five-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025) which sets out the practical actions planned to 

deliver the Transport Strategy over the next 5 years. Map 1 below shows 

interventions proposed within Bury Borough within the 5-year Delivery Plan. 

To further support the Refreshed Transport 2040 Strategy and Delivery Plan, a Local 

Implementation Plan (LIP) has been prepared for each district, including Bury. 

This Implementation Plan enables Bury, in partnership with TfGM and others, to set 

out the Council’s position at a more fine-grained level, focussing on the town-

level and neighbourhood priorities, particularly on active travel: walking and cycling 

which, for the most part, does require local level interventions.   

The LIP has been designed to:   

• Complement the 2040 Transport Strategy and the Five Year Delivery 
Plan, providing details of how their outcomes will be achieved locally, 
focusing particularly on supporting local trips within neighbourhoods and 
to local centres;  

• Support wider Greater Manchester (GM) and council strategy and policy 
documents (e.g. Local Plans, Town Centre Masterplans, GM Clean Air 
Plan and the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF));  

• Summarise key local transport issues and opportunities in each local 
authority, providing an added layer of local detail that is not provided in 
the 2040 Transport Strategy document.  

The LIP will be ‘live’ document and will be updated as the Council develops its 

transport plan and strategy or as new schemes are developed or delivered.  

At the heart of Bury Council’s growth ambitions is the goal to ensure that the 

residents of Bury are able to access family, friends, jobs, education, recreation and 

health in an efficient, economic and eco-friendly way. Growth must be inclusive and 

create vibrant and thriving communities that are well connected.  It is therefore 

important that infrastructure is delivered alongside new developments to support 

sustainable neighbourhoods and to create a competitive local economy within a high 

quality built and natural environment. All modes of transport are important and due 

consideration needs to be given to improving each one. 

Document Pack Page 358



 

2 

Our collective aim is to ensure that growth is planned for in a managed way that 

embraces all the key ingredients that make each township unique. Growth involves 

not only physical development that caters for an increasing population, but is also 

about creating the right circumstances for fostering growth through economic 

development initiatives, supporting social growth and creating thriving, healthy and 

equitable communities. At the same time, it requires interventions to address issues 

associated with climate change and to mitigate against negative environmental 

impacts. 

Transport investment will be key in achieving sustainable neighbourhoods. It is 

important that the Council works in partnership with TfGM to encourage greater use 

of public transport, walking and cycling and the provision of infrastructure for the 

refuelling of low and ultra-low emission vehicles; and to develop a fully inclusive, 

integrated and affordable sustainable transport system for all.  

We have set four key transport outcomes which we would wish to see achieved by 

2025. These are: 

• Outcome 1: Increase the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike across the borough of Bury 

• Outcome 2: Enhance connections to/from and within the centres of Bury, 

Prestwich, Radcliffe, Ramsbottom, Tottington and Whitefield by foot, bike, and 

public transport 

• Outcome 3: Create clean, green streets, and relieve local communities from 

the impacts of congestion 

• Outcome 4:  Improve access to Metrolink for residents, workers and visitors 

This document sets the steps we will seek to take to make good progress towards 

these outcomes in the next 5 years.   The steps are ambitious, and the development 

and delivery of the interventions set out will require a significant level of resource and 

funding. This will require us to prioritise measures and to continue working with the 

GMCA and TfGM to secure the required funding from Government to develop and 

deliver these schemes.  

The document is also helpful when it comes to setting out a programme of priority 

local transport and minor works interventions for the next five years, and will help to 

provide a basis against which future local transport and minor works funding is 

allocated for local delivery. 

  

Document Pack Page 359



 

3 

2 Strategic Transport Issues in Bury 

 

Document Pack Page 360



 

4 

 

Document Pack Page 361



 

5 

 

Map 1: GMTS 5-Year Delivery Plan Interventions  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 362



 

6 

2.1 Covid-19 Recovery 

The Coronavirus pandemic represents the biggest challenge for Bury since the 

Second World War. To enable the borough to ‘build back better’, we are 

implementing a number of measures to enable Covid-19 recovery, including:   

 

• Continued support to develop strategic housing and 
commercial development;  

• The Council has also approved around a dozen pavement café licences under 
the new Business and Planning Act 2020.  This is to allow food and drink 
related businesses to conduct their operations outside of their premises on 
the highway.  This provides some support for them through these difficult 
economic and public confidence times. 

• Delivering temporary or semi-permanent measures to support cycling and 
walking as an alternative to public transport as part of 
the #SafeStreetsSaveLives campaign and the Department for 
Transport’s Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF);  
 

EATF was launched on 23/5/2020. On 2/7/20 it was announced that GM was to be 
awarded £3.2m in Tranche 1 and indicatively £12.7m in Tranche 2. The EATF seeks 
to deliver measures that will address immediate challenges presented by COVID-19, 
such as reduced public transport capacity and its adverse economic impact on town 
centres and on access to employment and services for the most deprived 
communities. The measures will also help tackle longer-term critical public health 
challenges associated with physical inactivity and road safety, the climate 
emergency and the impact of congestion on the local economy. Some of the 
measures we are seeking to implement are set out later in this Plan. Bury’s share of 
Tranche 1 was around £0.3m. Bury has also bid for £0.75m in Tranche 2. 

Alongside this work, major strategic projects such as the regeneration of the 
borough’s town centres remain the key focus of the council’s growth agenda. 
Officers are continuing to support development of these sites, including planning 
transport measures to support and unlock development.  

3 Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1 Neighbourhoods 

The majority (52%) of trips made in the Borough that start in the district are at the 

neighbourhood level and are under 2km in length. While a significant number of 

these journeys are made by foot (46%), 48% are made by private car and only 1% 

by bike.1  As these journeys could be completed on foot in around 20 minutes or 

cycled in 8 minutes, there is significant potential to shift these trips from cars to 

active modes of travel. 

However, many people are discouraged from walking and cycling due to high levels 

of road traffic; lack of dedicated cycling infrastructure and signage; and major roads 

 
1 Source: TRADS database). 

Document Pack Page 363

https://tfgm.com/safestreets
https://news.tfgm.com/news/gbp-3-1-million-schemes-confirmed-to-enable-thousands-more-journeys-on-foot-or-by-bike-through-first-phase-of-emergency-active-travel-measures


 

7 

which create severance between neighbourhoods and destinations. Many areas are 

also blighted by having vehicles parked on pavements, which restricts footway space 

for people walking.  

These challenges are particularly pronounced in areas with dense populations 

outside Bury’s main centres, such as Fishpool and Pimhole. They also have a 

particular impact on the third of households in Bury who do not have access to a car, 

and rely on making trips by foot, bike and public transport, while also exacerbating 

prevalence of the environmental and health issues that are caused by short car 

trips.  

Opportunities to address these challenges include development and delivery of the 

Bee Network (The Bee Network is a proposed Greater Manchester network of safe 

walking and cycling routes built to agreed standards https://tfgm.com/bee-network/) 

and active neighbourhoods (including better crossing provision on main roads), 

continued roll-out of traffic calming and 20 mph zones, and new 

development/regeneration prioritising active travel, for example in work around the 

Bury Town Centre and Prestwich (Longfield Centre) masterplans and Radcliffe 

Strategic Regeneration Framework. The proposed allocation of new areas for 

development within the borough being considered through the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework (GMSF), for example Elton Reservoir and Northern Gateway, will 

also be expected to deliver strategic cycle and walking connections, to enable 

sustainable journeys to and from these sites. 

3.2 Bury Town Centre 

Bury Town Centre is an established retail centre in Greater Manchester, attracting a 

high, and increasing, number of visitors. There has been a growth of 12% in the 

number people of travelling to the town centre between 2013 and 20172 . We will 

seek to continue to build on this success to develop the town centre as a destination 

for retail and employment, as well as increasing the number of homes built within or 

close to the town centre. 

However, despite the success of Bury Town Centre, there are a number of 

challenges arising. These include a high proportion of journeys made to the town 

centre by private car (45%), and a poor perception of safety at night (89% of people 

visiting Bury felt safety was good during the day, dropping to 35% at night3). Key 

issues for Bury Town Centre include 

• Severance due to the Ring Road (Angouleme Way, Jubilee Way and Peel 
Way) which separates Bury Town Centre from neighbourhoods on all sides, 
particularly by foot or by bike.  Crossings are often poor, with limited space on 
central islands for example; where subways are provided (e.g. under 
Angouleme Way) they are sometimes perceived as being unsafe. 

• Poor permeability of Bury town centre for cycling, given major road barriers 
and a ban on cycling in pedestrian areas. 

 
2 GM Town Centre Cordon Counts 
3 GM Town Centre Perception Surveys 

Document Pack Page 364

https://tfgm.com/bee-network/


 

8 

• The poor connectivity between Bury Interchange and the Rock shopping and 
leisure area, with a lack of coherent walking routes (particularly when the 
Millgate Shopping Centre is closed). 

• The River Irwell to the west which creates major severance due to limited 
crossing points. The single vehicular crossing at Bury Bridge is severely 
congested during peak periods; and 

• Unreliable bus links to the town centre from surrounding neighbourhoods 
which lead to a large number of these relatively local journeys being made by 
taxi or private car. 

Work is in progress on developing a masterplan for Bury Town Centre. This will 

complement delivery of the new Interchange (on which we are working with TfGM), 

support new high-density homes on brownfield sites in the Town Centre, and seek to 

provide better connectivity to and from the town centre to local neighbourhoods and 

the wider city region, alongside maximising the potential of community, visitor and 

heritage assets such as Bury Market and the East Lancashire Railway. 

3.3 Wider-City Region & Regional Centre Access 

Compared to the GM average, Bury has a high number of trips that are made across 
the Wider City Region (43%).  These are trips over 2km to destinations that are not 
the regional centre, such as to the Districts town centres, to and 
from the district’s employment sites, or to Rochdale or Bolton for example.  

Across Bury there are poor alternatives to the private car for accessing some of the 

Borough’s town centres and neighbourhoods, particularly Ramsbottom and 

Tottington, and for journeys to the east (Rochdale and Heywood) and west (Bolton).  

Alongside capacity, reliability and connectivity challenges for the public transport 

networks this leads to high levels of car use for wider-city region journeys with 78% 

of these trips made by private car, 13% bus, 4% Metrolink, and 2% cycling and 

walking.4 

3.3.1 Other District Town Centres 

The following table outlines transport related challenges and opportunities within 

Bury’s wider town centres.  

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

Prestwich A56 has been recently improved to 
support pedestrian movement and 
public realm. However, the road is 
heavily trafficked and still forms a 
barrier to sustainable journeys to the 
town centre. 

There is poor access to/from 
Prestwich Metrolink stop by foot, 

The Council is currently 
developing plans to 
regenerate the Longfield 
Centre. These include 
potential measures to 
improve access to the 
Metrolink stop. 
 

 
4 Source: TRADS database 

Document Pack Page 365



 

9 

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

and the stop is not visible from 
around the town centre. 

The imminent EATF 
scheme will improve the 
A56 south of Prestwich for 
cycling. It will also provide 
new controlled crossings of 
the A56. 
 

Radcliffe Town Centre has been in decline, 
and there are high levels of vacant 
retail property. 

There has been recent investment 
in the Market and bus station, 
however walking and cycling routes 
between the town centre core and 
Metrolink stop are unclear and poor 
quality. 

A Strategic Regeneration 
Framework has been 
prepared for the town.  

One of the key themes of 
this framework is car 
parking and the 
development of a detailed 
Transport Strategy.  

The Framework seeks to 
deliver an integrated 
approach to regeneration in 
Radcliffe, including 
investment in infrastructure 
alongside improvement in 
education, skills and 
employment. The proposed 
infrastructure investment 
includes measures to 
improve access to the 
Metrolink stop.In addition 
the MCF T6 scheme under 
development will improve a 
route from Milltown St to 
Radcliffe Station. 

Ramsbottom The town centre suffers from traffic 
congestion at peaks and at 
weekends, especially around Bolton 
Road West. 

Parking for cars and coaches is 
insufficient given the attractiveness 
of the town as a visitor destination. 

A Town Plan is proposed 
for Ramsbottom, which will 
build on the town’s success 
and tourism assets 
(including the ELR).  This 
will need to include a 
parking and transport 
strategy to help local 
businesses whilst ensuring 
free flowing traffic. 
 

Whitefield The town centre suffers from high 
levels of peak period congestion on 
the A56 Manchester Road.   

There are a number of 
development opportunities 
for Whitefield, to provide 

Document Pack Page 366



 

10 

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

The A56 also creates severance for 
pedestrians and cyclists through the 
working day and hinders access to 
Metrolink stop from the west. 

some social infrastructure.  
This includes a review of 
the facilities at Uplands. 
 

3.3.2 Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 

Housing, commercial and job growth have taken place in recent years in Bury, and 

this is expected to continue. The Bury Growth Plan and the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework (GMSF) set out Bury’s plans for growth in sustainable locations 

by 2037. 

The draft GMSF sets a target for delivery of 7,667 new homes in Bury by 2037, 

alongside about 500,000 sqm of industrial and warehousing floorspace, and 

40,000 sqm of office floor space. This excludes the nationally significant employment 

site at the Northern Gateway, just over the boundary with Rochdale, which seeks to 

deliver 700,000sqm of employment workspace up to 2037, around 490,000sqm of 

which falls within Bury.  

If unmitigated, this proposed level of development has the potential to bring extra 

vehicular traffic to Bury’s roads, so new infrastructure would be needed to support 

this growth in a sustainable manner, maximising access by walking, cycling and bus 

and for people who live in or travel to or from Bury, alongside wider improvements to 

the road network. Map 2 sets out the existing transport network alongside GMSF 

land supply allocations. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support these sites 

has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 

GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 

Delivery Plan. 

Document Pack Page 367



 

11 

  

Map 2: Bury Transport Network and Land Supply 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 368



 

12 

3.4 Public Transport Challenges 

Alongside challenges within town centres, there are number of public transport 

reliability, capacity and connectivity challenges in Bury. 

There has been steady growth in Metrolink patronage.  This has created issues with 

peak period overcrowding on trams and led to demand for the available park and 

ride spaces at stops in the Borough exceeding supply. There are also issues arising 

due to the age of Bury Interchange and other stops along the Bury line which are 

now quite dated relative to other stops on the Metrolink network.  While there are 

high frequency bus services on the primary east-west (Bolton, Rochdale) and north-

south (Regional Centre) corridors, these services can be unreliable and the network 

of services away from the main corridors has been significantly reduced in recent 

years.    

The key challenges for public transport in Bury can be summarised as follows: 

• Peak-period overcrowding issues on trams caused by growth in Metrolink 

patronage; 

• The dated form and design of Bury Interchange, which was one of the first to 

be built in Greater Manchester and is now over 40 years old;  

• The form and design of Metrolink stops in the Borough, which are largely as 

they were in the days of heavy rail operation and do not meet current 

passenger expectations of quality or accessibility; 

• Poor east-west public transport connectivity, and poor connectivity with East 

Lancashire to the north of the Borough. Connections to Rochdale or Bolton 

are particularly poor and reliant on a small number of bus services which, 

whilst frequent on some routes, are also slow and unreliable;  

• Low levels of, or no public transport connectivity to key employment sites 

including Pilsworth and Heywood Distribution Park/ Hareshill, and to Fairfield 

Hospital. 

• Poor first mile/last mile links to Metrolink stops at Radcliffe, Whitefield, 

Prestwich and Heaton Park; 

• Ticketing, integration and affordability issues, which discourage people from 

taking public transport; and 

• Park and Ride capacity at Metrolink stops, with current facilities at Bury 

Interchange, Radcliffe and Whitefield operating at capacity. 

A number of proposed development allocations with significant potential for housing 

and commercial development identified in the GMSF are also poorly connected to 

the wider-city region by public transport. Key allocations which will require public 

transport interventions include Northern Gateway, Elton Reservoir and Walshaw. 

Interventions needed for these sites will be identified/ through the GMSF process. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 369



 

13 

3.5 Local Highways Challenges 

Car availability is higher in Bury than Greater Manchester as a whole. 76% of 

households have access to a car (compared with 69% across Greater Manchester 

as a whole) and around a third of households have access to more than one car. 

This contributes to the high proportion of trips being made by private car in Bury. 

Key challenges arising from this high level of car use include: 

• Congestion – As levels of car travel has increased congestion on Bury’s road 

network has become more prevalent. Weekend congestion associated with 

the success of the retail and leisure offer has become an issue in Bury town 

centre. Congestion has a significant effect on journey times and reliability, 

which are particularly costly to business and bus users, and increases air 

pollution.  Key areas of traffic delay include the A56 and A58 corridors, around 

the junctions with the M66 (Heap Bridge and Pilsworth) and M60 (at Simister 

Island and Whitefield), and on other routes around and through the Boroughs 

town centres, and connecting routes to the M60 and M66 such as A56 Bury 

New Road/Manchester Road, A58 Rochdale Road and Hollins Brow/Croft 

Lane, which often suffer additional problems when there are incidents on the 

M60 and M66. 

• Maintenance – Bury continues to deliver a programme of capital investment 

in highways maintenance, prioritising areas in accordance with highway asset 

management principles and best practice. However, considerable investment 

is needed to deliver footway maintenance address surface condition issues 

with the carriageways of the unclassified network and long-term structures 

work on the Key Route Network.  Over the 6 year period of 2017/18 to 

2022/23, Bury will have invested an additional £20 million pounds into 

improving the condition of the highway network through Tranches 1 & 2 of its 

Highway Investment Strategy which will see over 40 km of carriageway 

resurfaced, many more roads receiving preventative maintenance treatments 

and thousands of potholes repaired. 

• Road Safety - Road safety challenges exist across the borough, with 

particular hotspots at Bury and Prestwich Centres. While planned 

schemes such as those being delivered through the Bee Network will deliver 

improvements at some locations, further funding will be needed to resolve 

local safety issues across the borough. 

• Freight – Bury has a number of areas which generate significant freight traffic, 

such as Pilsworth, and is impacted by major commercial development beyond 

its boundary including the Heywood Distribution Park. Nearly all freight in Bury 

is carried by road. This increases the economic impact of congestion, but also 

results in more vehicles on our roads, carbon emissions, poor air quality, 

noise pollution and conflict with vulnerable road users. 

• Borough Cycle Network - Although some high quality cycle facilities have 

been delivered or are planned in the future, the facilities on our current cycle 

network are not to a consistently high standard and the network does not yet 

provide the required connectivity, limiting new journeys to be made by 

Document Pack Page 370



 

14 

bike between neighbourhoods and the Wider City Region. Focus for the next 

5 years will be unlocking this network. 

• Electric Vehicle Charging – There are currently public access EV charging 

points in various locations across the borough, with the majority of 

these located around our town centres. Due to the large number of streets 

across the borough without off-street parking, a significant increase in public 

access charging points will be required to support the uptake in electric 

vehicles needed to meet local and GM carbon and clean air targets. 

  

Document Pack Page 371



 

15 

4 Bury 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

The following outlines Bury Borough’s 5-Year outcomes and priorities for investment 

to achieve these. Map 3 below shows proposed Bee Network schemes within Bury 

for the next 5-year period, and Map 4 shows local investment priorities to meet these 

outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by Active Travel (by foot and by bike) across the Borough of Bury 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people to make local trips on foot or by bike rather than by private car, though 

delivery of a first class walking and cycling network (the “Bee Network”).  

The Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) launched by Government in May 2020 

has enabled us to move forward with the implementation of a number of 

interventions to support active travel (see Section 2.1 above for further information 

on EATF).  Tranche 1 of the EATF has provided funding for measures in Bury.  Bids 

included in Tranche 2 include proposals for the Fishpool and Pimhole Active 

Neighbourhoods as referenced below. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Investment Priority   Description  

Fishpool Active 
Neighbourhood 

Scheme to make it easier, safer and more pleasant for 
people to travel by bike or on foot in and around the 
Fishpool area of Bury, through the introduction of 
measures such as new/upgraded crossings, new cycle 
parking, protected cycle infrastructure and modal filters. 
 
Proposals for interventions at Pimhole and Fishpool 
were submitted for MCF funding as they are considered 
to be good target areas for encouraging walking and 
cycling, being close to Bury Town Centre.  

Metrolink Walking and 
Cycling Accessibility  

Development of Local walking/cycling investment plans 

to better connect local neighbourhoods to Bury 

Interchange and with the Metrolink stops in Radcliffe, 

Whitefield, Besses, Prestwich and Heaton Park (“first 

mile-last mile”).   

School Streets  School streets programme across the borough, 

including roll-out of further 20 mph zones. 

Bury Metrolink cycle 
parking 

Sheffield stands with lighting and CCTV in highly visible 
and accessible locations along the Bury Metrolink Line. 
This will make it easier for people to complete part of 
their journey by bike before they join the Metrolink 
network. 

Document Pack Page 372



 

16 

Investment Priority   Description  

Crossings and junctions 
in Bury 

New and upgraded junctions across the borough 
(Jubilee Way/Manchester Road, Kersal Vale Road), 
making it easier and safer for people on foot or on a 
bike to cross busy roads. 

Pimhole Cycling & 
Walking Scheme 

To develop a network of walking and cycling routes 
between Pimhole, Bury town centre and the Pilsworth 
Industrial Estate, including new/upgraded crossing 
points, 20mph zones, traffic calming and filtered 
neighbourhood features. 
 
Proposals for interventions at Pimhole and Fishpool 
were submitted for MCF funding as they are considered 
to be good target areas for encouraging walking and 
cycling, being close to Bury Town Centre 

Rectory Lane link The scheme provides links from residential and 
employment areas to south of the River Irwell into 
Radcliffe town centre and Metrolink stop, incorporating 
a new bridge over the Irwell and linking with other 
recent projects. 

Bury-Radcliffe link This scheme will complete a pleasant, direct route from 
Bury to Radcliffe via the canal towpath, providing a new 
3.5m-wide bridge over the River Irwell and restoring 
Bank Top bridge over the canal. A shared path for 
pedestrians and cyclists will provide direct, convenient 
access to both town centres and local schools. 

Radcliffe Central New crossings and walking infrastructure within the Bell 
Lane area. 

New Development Development led and funded measures, to deliver high 
quality cycle and walking infrastructure within new 
development. To include layout design, strategic links, 
changes to the local highway network and 
complementary measures, such as cycle parking and 
behaviour change activities make it more convenient 
and attractive to walk and cycle than drive. To be 
reflected in the GMSF, and Local Plan policies.  

District Wayfinding  Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough as 
part of the Bee Network way finding programme.  

Neighbourhood Street 
Maintenance  

Footways and carriageways will continue to receive 
resurfacing, patching, pothole repairs and surface 
treatments as a consequence of programmes of 
planned, preventative and reactive maintenance 

Behaviour Change 
Activities  

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee Network, 

active neighbourhoods, and new development. To 

include cycle training to primary school children. 

  

Document Pack Page 373



 

17 

 
Map 3: 5-Year Bee Network proposals   

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 374



 

18 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to/from and within the centres of Bury, 

Prestwich, Radcliffe, Ramsbottom, Tottington and Whitefield by foot, bike, and 

public transport 

In the next 5 years this means creating streets for all in the Borough’s town centres, 

through improvements to the Public Realm and the design of our streets, including 

the allocation of space, which focus more on the needs of people rather than 

vehicles. Further details of this “Streets for All” initiative can be found in the 2040 

Delivery Plan.    

Access to these centres will also be improved by bus, walking and cycling. For bus 

this means focusing on improving the reliability, comfort and attractiveness of bus 

journeys, including those on the key corridors of the A56 and A58,  

Proposals to enhance sustainable travel that emerge from the Bury Town Centre 

Masterplan and Bury Interchange development will support this outcome.  Bury 

Council are working with TfGM on the design and business case for the new 

Interchange at Bury, the Metrolink Additional Capacity Programme (additional trams 

and power infrastructure), expansion of park and ride at Radcliffe and Whitefield, and 

Metrolink stop improvements, and have contributed to the TfGM Bus Opportunities 

Study which considered bus connections to/from Northern Gateway. This work is 

reflected in the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan 2020-2025 which also includes, for 

example, development and delivery of Quality Bus Transit corridors to Bolton and 

Rochdale, direct links from Northern Gateway to Bury and Oldham town centres, and 

further development of a Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit service, linking the 

Regional Centre with Heywood and Norden/Bamford.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Investment Priority   Description  

A56/ A58 Ring Road 
Crossings 

Improvement of pedestrian and cycle crossings of the 

A56/ A58 Ring Road, around Bury Town Centres to 

connect surrounding neighbourhoods. 

Angouleme Way Streets 
for All 

Development and delivery of Streets for All proposals 

for Angouleme Way, including potential reallocation of 

space for cycling and walking, new crossings for 

pedestrians and cycles from the south of Bury Town 

Centre, and junction improvements for bus and general 

traffic.  

Prestwich Longfield 
Centre Regeneration 

Development and delivery of regeneration plans for 

Prestwich, applying principles of Streets for All. 

Radcliffe Strategic 
Regeneration 
Framework 

Development and delivery of Radcliffe Strategic 
Regeneration Framework, including measures to 
improve public realm, accessibility by foot, bike and 
public transport within Radcliffe Town Centre (see 
section 3.3.1 for further information).  

Document Pack Page 375



 

19 

Investment Priority   Description  

Town Centre Bus 
Connectivity 

Enhancement of bus links to town centres from 
surrounding local neighbourhoods, for example 
expansion of Local Links service to wider communities. 

Development of Bus 
Priority Measures 

Develop and deliver opportunities to deliver bus priority 
across the borough, including delivery of Quality Bus 
Transit corridors to Bolton and Rochdale, as well as Bus 
Corridor Upgrades to Manchester City Centre. 

Enhanced Bus 
Connectivity to 
neighbourhoods and 
town centres 

Improved bus connections to key destinations in the 
borough outside Bury TC (especially the other five town 
centres, key employment zones, and Fairfield Hospital). 

Structures Maintenance  Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections, including 
Angouleme Way and Peel Way, to ensure resilience 
and maintain safety for all users. 

Outcome 3: Create clean, green streets, and relieve local communities from 

the impacts of congestion 

In the next 5 years, this means reducing the environmental, economic, and health 

impacts of roads and motor traffic in the Borough. To achieve this, we will deliver 

interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles, enable an increase 

in sustainable journeys, reduce motor traffic on neighbourhood and town centre 

streets, and tackle congestion hotspots that delay bus services and goods deliveries, 

and create air pollution. 

Strategic interventions to deliver this outcome within the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan 

2020-2025 include delivery of measures at M66 Junction 2 to relieve congestion and 

reduce its impact on bus journey times, and further development of the Elton Link 

Road, which would support growth at the Elton Reservoir GMSF allocation. Local 

priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority   Description  

Delivery of Clean Air 
Plan Measures 

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 

are expected to exceed, or are at risk of exceeding air 

quality limits, for example the A58 and clean air zone. 

 

LED Streetlight 
Replacement 
Programme 

Replacement of existing streetlights with more efficient 

LED units which will contribute to reducing the council’s 

carbon footprint. 

Delivery of Electric 
Charging Network 

Increasing the number of electric-vehicle charging 

points across the Borough, and particularly in Bury 

Town Centre. 

Document Pack Page 376



 

20 

Investment Priority   Description  

Pinch Point Removal Improvements to the road network to address key 

hotspots and improve network reliability including a 

scheme to improve the operation of the Wash Lane and 

A58 junction, and development of options for 

improvements at M66 Junctions 2 and 3.  

Bury Bridge Multi-modal 
Improvements 

Explore opportunities to make operational 

improvements at Bury Bridge which will contribute to 

improving air quality; including congestion relief, 

measures to improve  bus journey times, and 

enhancement of bus facilities. 

eHubs  Delivery of eHub trials which provide access for 

residents and businesses to electric car club vehicles, 

publicly accessible EV charging points, and electric 

cargo bike /e-scooter facilities. Potential sites include 

Ramsbottom, Bury Town Centre, Fairfield Hospital, and 

Prestwich. 

Signal and Traffic 
Management 
Technology  

Working with TfGM to explore approaches to improve 

the efficiency at junctions for all users, including 

incident/ accident reporting, retiming of signals to match 

demand, video activated pedestrian and cycle signals.  

Hollins Brow/Hollins 
Lane Junction 
Improvement 

Signalisation of the junction to support local growth 

through GMSF. 

Outcome 4:  Improve access to Rapid Transit for residents, workers and 

visitors 

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility and 

capacity of Metrolink, supporting more residents, workers and visitors to travel to and 

from the Borough by sustainable modes and enabling new public transport focussed 

developments to be created where appropriate around our existing and proposed 

infrastructure. 

Strategic interventions to deliver this outcome included within the GMTS2040 

Delivery Plan 2020-2025 include delivery of a new interchange in Bury town centre, 

increased capacity on Metrolink services and increased park and ride capacity at 

Metrolink stops; and development of proposals for Northern Gateway Bus Rapid 

Transit, linking the GMSF Northern Gateway site; tram-train connection to Heywood 

and Rochdale, and a Metrolink connection to Bolton.  

Local priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Document Pack Page 377



 

21 

Investment Priority   Description  

Cycling and Walking 
links to Metrolink 

Improving walking, cycling and public transport links to 

all Metrolink stops from surrounding neighbourhoods. 

Metrolink Mobility Hubs/ 

eHubs 

Mobility hubs at key Bury Metrolink stops, focusing on 

shared mobility interventions (bike, car club, cargo 

bike), provision of information on journeys, 

improvements to interchanges and EV charging 

facilities. 

Prestwich Metrolink 

Stop Access and 

Wayfinding 

Improvements in access to Prestwich Metrolink station, 

delivered alongside Longfield Centre regeneration, 

including wayfinding and legibility from the town centre. 

  

Document Pack Page 378



 

22 

 
Map 4: Bury Implementation Plan Schemes  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 379



 

23 

5 Indicators  

Bury Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Document Pack Page 380



 

 1 

Manchester Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction to Implementation Plan  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 

economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 

Manchester’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in 

the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

It complements the GM-level transport interventions in the 5-year Delivery Plan by 

focusing particularly on more local neighbourhood and district centre priorities to be 

prioritised for delivery in the period to 2025.   Map 1 below shows interventions 

proposed within Manchester in the 5-year Delivery Plan. 

The transport interventions and initiatives set out in this Delivery Plan should be 

seen as more than just measures to make it easier to move around the city. By 

enabling walking and cycling to become the most convenient positive choice for 

shorter trips, we hope to improve our air quality, make our district centres and 

neighbourhoods more attractive, prosperous places and make Manchester a more 

pleasant, greener, people-friendly place to live.  

The neighbourhoods of the most successful cities of the 2020s and beyond will be 

focused not on the private car but on walkable, breathable streets, green spaces and 

sufficient footfall and population to support a diverse range of shops, culture and 

other aspects of daily life. This Delivery Plan aims to set the context for investment 

priorities to achieve these goals.  

1.1.  Our Manchester Strategy 

Manchester City Council sets out its overall priorities and objectives, and how they 

will be achieved, in the Our Manchester Strategy (2016). This strategy provides a 

framework for actions not just by the City Council but by partners working across 

Manchester in collaboration. The Our Manchester Strategy organises its objectives 

and outcomes into the following topics: 

• A thriving and sustainable city  

• A highly skilled city 

• A progressive and equitable city  

• A liveable and low carbon city 

• A connected city 

The interventions set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040, its 5-

year delivery plan (2020-2025) and this Local Implementation Plan will all be key to 

achieving these cross-cutting aims, by fostering economic growth through increased 

connectivity, moving towards zero carbon by 2038 and creating a more liveable and 

sustainable city.  

Document Pack Page 381



 

 2 

To achieve these ambitions, we have set four key transport-related outcomes which 

we would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Outcome 1 - Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) made by 
foot and by bike across the city 

• Outcome 2: Enhancing sustainable travel to and from district centres and improving 
Manchester’s streets and public realm 

• Outcome 3: Manchester is Clean and Green and will support innovation 

• Outcome 4: Improved access to bus services across Manchester   

This document sets out some of the steps Manchester City Council will seek 

to take with partners to make good progress towards these outcomes in the next 5 

years.   The steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of 

the interventions set out will require a significant level of resource and funding. This 

will require us to prioritise measures and to continue working with the GMCA and 

TfGM to secure the required funding from Government to develop and deliver these 

schemes. 

1.1.  Covid-19 Recovery  

The Council is at the early stages of a reset of the Our Manchester Strategy, in the 

context of the time elapsed since it was published, progress to date, and responding 

to the changing economic and social circumstances of the COVID-19 crisis and its 

aftermath. 

Document Pack Page 382



 

 3 

2. Manchester Strategic Transport Issues / Challenges  

 

Document Pack Page 383



 

 4 

Document Pack Page 384



 

 5 

2.1. Manchester’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan. 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 385



 

 6 

 
2.2. Achieving 2040 Right Mix 

The Right-Mix aim is for 50% of trips to be made by sustainable modes across GM. 

This will require zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic between 2017 and 2040, and 

non-car mode share to increase from 39% of all trips in 2017 to 50% of trips in 2040. 

Currently 39% of all trips that start in Manchester are made by car or van, 15% by 

public transport and 43% by active travel, which is more than the GM average) 

(source: TRADS database). A reduction in the number of trips made by private 

vehicle is needed to meet Right Mix Targets and ensure health and air quality 

benefits for people who live in Manchester. Manchester is performing well against 

the Right Mix targets, but for GM as a whole to achieve the Right Mix vision, the city 

will need to take advantage of its geography at the centre of the city-region and 

reach a figure significantly in excess of 50% of all trips being made by sustainable 

modes. 

Of commute trips starting in Manchester, 42% are made by car or van, 24% are 

made by public transport, 20% are made by walking and 11% by cycling (source: 

TRADS database). 

2.3. Zero Carbon 

In November 2018, the Council agreed to the establishment of science-based 

carbon-reduction targets for Manchester. This requires the city to become zero-

carbon by 2038. The targets are based on work undertaken by the Tyndall Centre for 

Climate Change Research, which established a carbon budget of 15million tonnes of 

carbon dioxide (CO2) for the city up to 2100. The Climate Change Framework 2020-

25 was adopted by the Council in March 2020. 

Manchester is working to reduce the carbon impact of transport, including supporting 

measures to increase sustainable journeys, increase public transport capacity and 

coordinate strategic interventions in the city centre. 

Ground transport accounts for 32% of Manchester’s direct CO2 emissions, therefore 

decarbonising the way we travel is an essential component of meeting the city’s zero 

carbon goal. Staying within the city’s carbon budget in order to reach zero carbon by 

2038 will necessitate a 50% reduction in direct emissions between 2020 and 2025. 

The headline ground transport actions set out in the Climate Change Framework are 

to increase walking and cycling, increase public transport use and to use electric 

vehicles where private car travel is necessary. 

The City Council is working with TfGM and GM districts to deliver the GM Clean Air 

Plan, and will be delivering electric vehicle charging with 30 new charging points 

funded through the Clean Air Plan, located in the city centre and around the city. 

The GMEV network has predominantly focused on public car parks and destination 

locations although it does include a small number of on-street locations such as 

Chorlton. The Council is working with TfGM to develop plans to expand the network 

further to support a range of vehicles, including taxis. 

Document Pack Page 386

http://www.manchesterclimate.com/sites/default/files/Manchester%20Climate%20Change%20Framework%202020-25.pdf
http://www.manchesterclimate.com/sites/default/files/Manchester%20Climate%20Change%20Framework%202020-25.pdf


 

 7 

Further EV charging infrastructure will not be funded through Clean Air Plan funds, 

but government has committed to working with TfGM and GM districts to access 

funding from the Office of Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) streams.  

 

2.4. Road Safety 

There were 122 road collisions that resulted in 137 people being killed or seriously 

injured in Manchester in 2019 (37% decrease on 2005-2009 baseline) (source: 

GMTU reports); 

The Council works in close partnership with TfGM and Greater Manchester Police to 

improve the safety of our highway network, including investment in infrastructure to 

reduce accidents, and targeted enforcement operations to prevent dangerous 

driving.  

Existing data shows a 60% decrease in the rate of people being killed or seriously 

injured on our roads between 2005 and 2015. However, between 2015 and 2018 

there was a marked increase of 34%, with a rate of 345 per one million population 

killed or seriously injured in 2018, but this has seen a significant reduction to 250 in 

2019.  

Interventions to improve road safety will be a priority for investment as set out in 

Outcome 5 below.  

 

2.5. Air Quality 

Clean Air Plan – Greater Manchester is a single Air Quality Management Area where 

concentrations of nitrogen dioxide are forecast to exceed legal limit values beyond 

2020 (locations) (GM Clean Air Plan Mapping); 

The Council is working with the other nine GM districts and TfGM to deliver a Clean 

Air Plan with a charging zone for non-compliant commercial vehicles to be 

Document Pack Page 387



 

 8 

implemented from 2022, with the aim of bringing nitrogen dioxide levels to within 

legal limits in the quickest possible timescale.  

2.6. Supporting Economic Growth with Strategic Infrastructure 

The city of Manchester lies at the heart of a major European city region of almost 

three million people. It is home to a fast-growing residential population and the 

largest student campus in Europe. It is the most important commercial, retail and 

entertainment location in England outside of London, and is the main engine for the 

region’s economy. 

Planning for the future of the city requires us to balance a number of, sometimes 

competing, demands, accounting for additional pressure on transport systems and 

city streets with limited space for growth. 

Document Pack Page 388



 

 9 

2.7. Manchester’s Existing Transport Network and Spatial Allocations –  

Map 2 below sets out the current land supply and transport network within Manchester. 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 389



 

 10 

3. Manchester Spatial Portrait Themes and Opportunities 

Spatially, the Council seeks a rebalancing within the city, with the focus of 

development of and investment in infrastructure, homes and jobs on the north and 

eastern sides of Manchester, in order to reduce the inequalities in prosperity and 

quality of life that exist.  

Increasing capacity on public transport and for active travel will be vital in delivering 

a zero carbon city and achieving the Right Mix vision. Ensuring all of Manchester’s 

residents are able to access job and leisure opportunities across the city is a critical 

objective, including the Airport, Wythenshawe, Regional Centre and other clusters of 

activity.    

One of the key transport priorities for Manchester is to improve the capacity of 

national rail through the city centre, in order to improve services and increase 

connectivity across the North of England and beyond. An Integrated Rail Plan is 

needed, to combine the benefits of Castlefield Corridor capacity improvements at 

Piccadilly and Oxford Road stations, HS2 Phase 2b completing high speed rail 

connection between London, Manchester and the airport, and Northern Powerhouse 

Rail (NPR) connecting Manchester and the airport with other major cities across the 

north. 

The redevelopment of Piccadilly station and the surrounding area to deliver HS2 and 

NPR is supported by a Strategic Regeneration Framework. It is essential that full 

advantage is taken of this opportunity to maximise growth benefits for the Piccadilly 

area, wider city and UK as a whole. The City Council has been and will continue to 

work with partners through Transport for the North (TfN) and make the case to 

central government for investment to deliver these strategic priorities. 

The strategic interventions that the Council wishes to deliver with TfGM in Metrolink, 

Rapid Transit and Local Bus are set out in the 2040 Transport Strategy and the 

associated Delivery Plan (2020-25).  

The Council has eight ‘Bee Network’ cycling schemes with funding approval through 

the Mayor’s Challenge Fund, all of which the Council has committed to starting on 

site by the end of 2020. Two further schemes have been proposed by neighbouring 

authorities in partnership with the Council, which would involve infrastructure on the 

city’s roads.  

3.1. Neighbourhood level 

Only 36% of trips made in Manchester that start in the District are at the 

neighbourhood level compared to 44% across GM. Whilst this is below the GM 

average it is still significant. Neighbourhood trips are under 2km. The majority of 

these trips are made by walking (60%) but 18% are made by private car – a large 

number of these short car trips could be walked or cycled (source: TRADS 

database).  

Manchester’s Bee Network proposals will examine the potential for quieter streets to 

provide connections from residential neighbourhoods to district centres through 

Document Pack Page 390



 

 11 

interventions such as modal filters and improved crossing points to enable shorter 

neighbourhood-level journeys for local shopping, school travel and leisure. New 

developments and planned changes to road corridors will follow ‘Streets for All’ 

design principles creating streets for people not just traffic.   

The key challenges for Manchester at a neighbourhoods level include  

- Increasing active travel for short trips,  

- Regeneration of north and east Manchester,  

- Bus reform bringing improved bus services to those areas not served by 

Rapid Transit, particularly for orbital routes,  

- Improving walking and cycling infrastructure at neighbourhood level for 

shopping, education and leisure  

There are significant opportunities to achieve the Right Mix goals at neighbourhood 

trip level, from further bids to the Mayor’s Challenge Fund to enable active travel for 

shorter trips to schools and colleges, local shopping and leisure.   

3.2. City Centre level  

The city centre of Manchester and Salford lies at the heart of a major European city 

region of almost three million people. It is the most important commercial, retail and 

entertainment location in England outside London and is the main engine for the 

region’s economy. The City Centre is unique in Greater Manchester in its role not 

just for Manchester but for the GM districts, and further afield. 

The City Councils of Manchester and Salford, with TfGM are producing a City Centre 

Transport Strategy, to set out the strategic direction of policy and intervention in the 

city centre. Full details of committed measures and future objectives are set out in 

the draft City Centre Transport Strategy 2040 (include web link when live) 

In order to guide the development of a number of key sites and areas of opportunity 

in the City Centre, the Council has produced Strategic Regeneration Frameworks. 

Overall, it is estimated that the city centre will see an increase of jobs from 140,000 

to 250,000 by 2040, with 100,000 residents, an increase from the current 67,000. 

Redevelopment plans on key sites set out in SRFs could see 12,500 of the current 

supply of 30,000 off-street car parking spaces repurposed. 

The key challenges for Manchester at city centre level are:  

- Economic recovery for city centre as engine of regional economy,  

- Capacity of rail through Castlefield Corridor,  

- Making the most of HS2/NPR/Piccadilly redevelopment,  

- Improving Rapid Transit and Local Bus to City Centre,  

- Improving the liveability of city centre with more space for walking and 

cycling in order to meet the zero carbon goal  

3.3. North Manchester  

Document Pack Page 391



 

 12 

Northern Gateway: Manchester’s Northern Gateway comprises a 155 Hectare land 

area made up of the adjacent neighbourhoods of New Cross, the Lower Irk Valley 

and Collyhurst. It is the largest and most ambitious residential led development 

opportunity that the city has taken forward in recent years and has the capacity to 

deliver up to 15,000 new homes over the next 15-20 years. This equates to 28% of 

the entire City of Manchester target as set by the draft Greater Manchester Spatial 

Framework (GMSF), within an expanse of existing brownfield land that is close to the 

conurbation core. A new Metrolink station at Sandhills is being considered in order to 

serve the new neighbourhoods.  

The northern part of the city extends from the city centre to the city’s northern 

boundary. The key transport challenges in the area include: 

• Lack of quality in the design of the built form and the public realm – new 

strategic development in the Northern Gateway SRF area offers an opportunity 

to remedy this  

• Access to job opportunities restricted by both lack of integrated public transport 

and road congestion, 

• Some wards with above average car ownership (65% in Moston) and some 

with low low levels (42% in Harpurhey, 44% in Miles Platting and Newton 

Heath),  

• Most residents in Manchester live within walking distance of a district centre, 

but residents in Higher Blackley and Charlestown wards live on average at least 

1.5km away, meaning accessing local shops and services without a car may 

be more difficult. 

Significant areas within the northern part of the city were severely affected by 

economic recessions up to the early 2000s. These led to a heavy decline in 

manufacturing industries and loss of employment that resulted in depopulation and a 

lower demand for housing. Investment has been made in district centres, Metrolink 

and bus infrastructure, but the northern area remains behind the rest of the city in 

terms of deprivation. The redevelopment of North Manchester General Hospital, to 

include new housing and medical / bioscience employment space is a strategic 

priority for rebalancing the local economy. 

3.4. Central Manchester outside the city centre 

The central part of the city extends out eastwards and to the south of the city centre. 

The key transport challenges in the area include 

• Managing the impacts from the expansion of the city centre, 

• Congestion along key arterial routes into the city centre. 

Parts of the Central area are undergoing major physical transformation and 

residential development, including the Grove Village PFI, Brunswick PFI and the 

West Gorton regeneration masterplan. Increasing numbers of students are also 

choosing to live in the area, attracted by the proximity to the university campuses 

(particularly the new Birley Fields campus located within the ward) and the lifestyle 

Document Pack Page 392



 

 13 

offer of the city centre. The area contains five district centres in Hulme, Gorton North, 

Levenshulme, Longsight, and Rusholme. 

3.5. South Manchester  

The southern part of the city consists of neighbourhoods covering Chorlton, Whalley 

Range, West Didsbury, Didsbury Village, East Didsbury, Levenshulme, and the 

eastern part of Withington (around Withington district centre). These are 

characterised as high-quality neighbourhoods. Further south across the Mersey 

valley are Northenden, Wythenshawe, and Manchester Airport. The key transport 

challenges in the area include: 

• Providing better links by active travel and bus from east to west across the area 

and the southern-most areas of central Manchester, between district centres, 

i.e. Longsight and Levenshulme to Chorlton, Withington and Didsbury, and 

opportunities for leisure, employment and training. 

• Managing congestion and allocation of road-space between different modes on 

key corridors, including Oxford Road/Wilmslow Road, A34 Upper Brook 

Street/Anson Road/Birchfields Road/Kingsway, A5103 Princess Road. 

The area has some of the most popular and sought-after residential properties and 

neighbourhoods in the city. There are also a number of key employment locations, 

such as the internationally significant Christie NHS Foundation Trust, Siemens UK, 

University Hospital South Manchester, and Manchester Airport. In addition, the area 

is the home of Manchester Airport City Enterprise Zone, which is one of the largest 

investment and employment opportunities in the North of England. It provides a unique 

environment in which to attract global business, entrepreneurs and a highly skilled 

workforce, creating new employment opportunities and stimulating economic growth 

– locally, regionally and nationally. 

4. Outcomes 

Outcome 1 - Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike across the city 

In the next five years this means delivering street improvements that create 

attractive, safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and 

support people to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car.  

In addition to committed schemes, the following are priorities for investment:  

Investment Priority Description 

City Centre Triangle Safe cycling route between major railway stations in the 

city centre – Piccadilly to Victoria; Victoria to Oxford 

Road and Oxford Road to Piccadilly using the Northern 

Quarter, Deansgate and Whitworth Street. 

Document Pack Page 393



 

 14 

Wythenshawe Walking 

and Cycling 

Improvements 

Safe cycling route between Wythenshawe District Centre 

and the Regional Centre via safe segregated cycle lanes 

to connect with upgraded existing cycle routes to link with 

the Bridgewater Canal off-road route to the Regional 

Centre. 

City Centre Wheel Series of segregated cycle routes on radial routes (to be 

selected) between the city centre and the 

Manchester/Salford Intermediate Relief Route. 

North Manchester 

Connectivity 

Joint Bee Network scheme with Oldham and Rochdale 

Councils to connect the city centre with Moston and Mills 

Hill Station. 

North Manchester 

schools routes 

Routes to be confirmed – measures to enable safe 

walking and cycling access to primary and secondary 

schools in north Manchester. 

Other schools routes Other safe routes to primary and secondary schools. 

Local connections… 

(District Centres) 

Measures to improve safe walking and cycling access to 

and between District Centres. 

GM Bike Hire Scheme Support the Greater Manchester-wide bike hire scheme 

as a positive opportunity for people to avoid the use of 

cars for short trips and to facilitate active travel. Phase 1 

will include locations in the city centre, Chorlton, Moss 

Side, Rusholme, Fallowfield and Beswick.   

Document Pack Page 394



 

 15 

 
Map 3: Bee Network in Manchester 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 395



 

 16 

Outcome 2: Enhancing sustainable travel to and from district centres and 

improving Manchester’s streets and public realm.  

In the next five years this means Manchester’s streets will be safer and more 

pleasant to walk around. The Council will work to implement the measures set out in 

the City Centre Transport Strategy and the recommendations of the District Centres 

Subgroup Report which was approved by the Economy Scrutiny Committee in March 

2020.  

This report and the associated research by the Institute of Place Management 

identified 25 indicators of viability and vitality for district centres, of which many are 

directly or indirectly affected by the way people travel to, from and within the centre.  

Our aim is to create a positive feedback loop for district centres in which a coherent, 

walking and cycle friendly environment leads to greater footfall and more 

diversification, leading to favourable outcomes for local businesses.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Footways 

Improvements 

Interventions to improve footways in key locations in the 

city centre and district centres through bids to Mayor’s 

Challenge Fund and other funding opportunities. 

Crossings 

Improvements 

Improved crossing facilities at points of severance 

caused by major roads and junctions. 

To improve road safety and make the city more 

pleasant and attractive to walk around. 

Corridor Studies Corridor studies of strategic routes, including A34, 

A664, A62 in order to inform strategic regeneration 

plans.  

 

Outcome 3: Manchester is Clean and Green and will support innovation 

Wider objectives around increasing the share of trips undertaken by active travel and 

public transport will be crucial to achieving the city’s goal of being Zero Carbon by 

2038. However, private motor vehicles will continue to have a significant role in the 

network. 

The Right Mix vision involves no net growth in motor vehicle trips by 2040, but they 

will still account for 50% of all trips if the vision is to be achieved. Therefore, a move 

from internal combustion engine (ICE) to Electric Vehicle (EV) will be crucial in order 

Document Pack Page 396



 

 17 

to reduce the carbon emissions from this mode, which will still play a crucial role in 

how people move around the city. 

Priorities for investment over the next five years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Expand the network of 

charging infrastructure 

for electric vehicles in 

a coordinated manner 

across the city 

Work alongside TfGM to deliver EV charging 

infrastructure around the city through expansion of the 

GMEV network, using Office for Low Emission Vehicles 

funding streams and any other funding available, 

including developer contributions from new development. 

Expand the network of 

car club vehicles 

available 

Work with the city’s Car Club operator and TfGM to 

expand car club provision as an alternative to private 

ownership of motor vehicles, including expansion of EV 

charging infrastructure for exclusive use of car club 

vehicles. 

Encourage innovation 

in trials of electric 

vehicle co-location 

Work with TfGM on e-Hubs project, which will deliver 

EVs for the car club and rental e-cargo bikes for hire at 

three locations in Manchester in 2021.  

Outcome 4: Improved access to bus services across Manchester   

In the next 5 years this means focusing on improving bus provision on key corridors 
including the A62 Oldham Road, A664 Rochdale Road, A57 Hyde Road, A6 
Stockport Road, and other corridors where appropriate. It also means improving bus 
routing in the city centre to better integrate into improved public realm through City 
Centre Transport Strategy measures. 

Priorities for investment over the next five years: 

Investment Priority Description 

A6 Stockport Road Streets for All and Quality Bus Corridor study to suggest 

improvements to bus capacity and reliability as part of 

wider package of corridor improvements 

Northern Gateway bus 

improvements around 

A62, A664 and A665 

 Investigate measures as part of Northern Gateway 

strategic regeneration to improve bus capacity and 

reliability through integrated package of public realm and 

urban design interventions 

Bus routing in city 

centre  

Package of improvements to bus routing within the city 

centre, to improve service reliability and integrate into 

City Centre Transport Strategy measures  

Document Pack Page 397



 

 18 

  
Map 4: Manchester Implementation Plan Schemes Map 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 398



 

 19 

5. Indicators  

Manchester City Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring 

framework to measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated 

that this will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

 

Document Pack Page 399



 

1 

Oldham Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction 

This Implementation Plan sets out how we, as Oldham Council, will work towards our 

priorities - including economic growth, improving the environment and social 

inclusion - by building on our planned and current transport projects, many of which 

are set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan 

(2020-2025).   

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium- and long-term future 

transport schemes (shown on Map 1), this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed 

on local, neighbourhood level priorities and interventions that could be delivered 

across Oldham up to 2025.  

Oldham Councils ‘Creating a Better Place’ Vision sets out the Council’s approach to 

supporting inclusive growth, thriving communities and the co-operative agenda by: 

• Building quality homes; 

• Providing opportunities to learn and gain new skills; 

• Providing opportunities to grow local businesses and create jobs; 

• Ensuring Oldham is the greenest borough; 

• Embedding sustainability, energy efficiency and low (zero) carbon; 

• Improving life-chances and the health and well-being of all our residents and 

local communities. 

This vision is set within the context of the Oldham Model, as defined in The Oldham 

Plan 2017-22 and illustrated in the diagram below.  

 
Image 1: The Oldham Model 

Document Pack Page 400



 

2 

Alongside investment in health, education and homes, improvements in transport 

connectivity and public realm are essential to realising the Council’s vision. This is 

reflected in the emerging Team Oldham Plan, which will replace the Corporate Plan 

and is in the process of being developed to reflect Covid-19 recovery planning.  

The draft Team Oldham Plan includes the priority ‘to make it easier for people to get 

around’, which commits Oldham Council to delivering innovative and quality 

transport links, creating efficient transport infrastructure that makes it easier to get to 

work, do business, reduce isolation and connect with each other. This 

Implementation Plan sets out the steps Oldham Council will take with partners to 

make good progress towards its transport vision and priorities in the short-term. It is 

a live document that will be updated to reflect the development of an Oldham local 

transport strategy, which will be aligned with the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport 

Strategy, and other policy documents such as an updated Local Plan.  

To achieve Oldham’s ambitions, we have set out five key transport-related outcomes 

that we will aim to achieve by 2025. These are:  

• Outcome 1: More neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) will be made by foot 

and by bike in Oldham; 

• Outcome 2: Connections to Oldham’s town centres, employment sites and 

key destinations will be enhanced by foot, bike and public transport; 

• Outcome 3: Streets in Oldham will be cleaner and greener; 

• Outcome 4: Oldham residents, workers and visitors will have good access to 

safe, reliable, affordable, high quality public transport connections; 

• Outcome 5: Streets in Oldham will be safer, well-maintained, resilient, reliable 

and accessible by all. 

This document sets out some of the steps Oldham Council will take with its partners 

to make good progress towards achieving these outcomes in the next 5 years.  The 

steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of the interventions set out 

will require a significant level of resource and funding. This will require us to prioritise 

measures and to continue working with GMCA and TfGM to secure the required 

funding from Government to develop and deliver schemes. We would also like to see 

longstanding funding issues addressed, such as the lack of funding for us to deliver 

programmes of locally determined minor works and safety schemes, which were 

previously funded through direct allocations of the Integrated Transport block, and 

the annual nature of capital maintenance allocations to local authorities, which 

makes it difficult for us to adopt the recommended lifecycle planning principles and a 

planned approach to maintenance.  

 

  

Document Pack Page 401



 

3 

2. Oldham’s Strategic Transport Challenges  

 

Document Pack Page 402



 

4 

 

Document Pack Page 403



 

5 

2.1. Oldham’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in Oldham in GMTS2040. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 404



 

6 

2.2. Oldham’s Existing Transport Network and Spatial Allocations  

Map 2 sets out the current land supply and transport network within Oldham. This includes the Oldham and Rochdale Metrolink Line to 
Manchester City Centre, that runs at 1 tram every 12 minutes at peak time and the Strategic Road Network in Oldham, alongside existing land 
supply for residential, office and industry space, and future GMSF allocations.  
 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 405



 

7 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

The majority of trips made in Oldham that start in the borough are at the 

neighbourhood level and are under 2km in length (51%). While most of these 

journeys are walked (49%), a high number are made by private car (28%), and only 

1% are made by bike (source: TRADS database). While many of these vehicle trips 

could be walked in under 20 minutes or cycled in 8 minutes, there are number of key 

barriers to walking and cycling in Oldham that result in a high proportion of 

neighbourhood trips being driven. 

Key challenges to cycling and walking for local journeys in Oldham include: 

• Traffic speed and volumes - high traffic volumes and speeds create poor 

levels of actual and perceived safety for people who walk and cycle; 

• Severance - a lack of safe, comfortable crossing points of major roads creates 

severance for local journeys by active modes;  

• Road widths - there is limited opportunity to introduce continuous cycle 

facilities on main road corridors due to road widths, limited space at junctions, 

and the presence of on-street parking associated with terraced housing and 

local shops and businesses; 

• Wayfinding - a lack of wayfinding across neighbourhoods and local 

destinations is a barrier to people making trips for the first time by active 

travel; 

• Footway accessibility - high levels of footway parking on narrow terraced 

streets in residential areas creates accessibility challenges on many of 

Oldham’s neighbourhood streets for all users; 

• High levels off drop off by car at schools and associated congestion and air 

quality issues; 

• The weather and the hilly nature of Oldham, which can act as barriers to 

cycling and walking.  

These issues have a particular impact on the third of households in Oldham who do 

not have access to a car and rely on making trips by foot, bike and public transport, 

while also exacerbating the prevalence of the environmental and health issues that 

are caused by short car trips. 

To enable improvements in the health, wellbeing and quality of life of our residents, 

we are working to encourage an increase in walking and cycling for neighbourhood 

journeys. This includes work underway to progress seven Bee Network schemes in 

Oldham, including active neighbourhoods, connectivity and route-based schemes 

which are being funded through the Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund. 

We are also looking to further develop our cycling and walking plans as part of the 

development of the Oldham Transport Strategy and by incorporating plans for active 

travel within our emerging Local Plan.  

Document Pack Page 406



 

8 

The school journey can have a significant impact on local traffic and transporting 

children to school by car also contributes to reduced levels of fitness and increasing 

obesity. There are more than 100 schools located in the Oldham borough, including 

86 primary schools, 13 secondary schools and 7 special schools, as well as several 

independent schools, while Oldham Town Centre is the focus of further and higher 

education establishments, being home to the Oldham Sixth Form College, the 

Further Education College and University Campus Oldham.  

The Council will continue to promote sustainable travel to school by providing road 

safety education, training and publicity and cycle training to all primary schools and 

helping schools to develop and implement travel plans, including travel plans 

associated with new secondary schools: Leesbrook (Oasis Academy) due to open in 

November 2020; the relocation of Saddleworth School from Uppermill to Diggle, 

construction of which started in summer 2020; and the new Blue Coat II school 

proposed in Oldham Town Centre. 

3.2. Oldham Town Centre 

Oldham Council has set out ambitious plans in its Creating a Better Place vision to 

regenerate Oldham Town Centre. This vision aims to deliver 2,000 new homes, 

1,000 new jobs, better access to amenities and services and a wider offer for social 

and leisure activities for families, young professionals, older people and surrounding 

communities. A focus of these plans is to enhance the twilight and night-time 

economy of Oldham Town Centre, as well as delivering better access by foot, bike 

and public transport. Key outcomes of the Town Centre Vision include:  

• ‘A place that thrives by providing a safe, healthy and friendly environment’ - 

delivering full accessibility to the town centre, increased footfall and dwell 

time, decreased road travel and enabling Active Streets;  

• ‘A place that thrives by being green’ – delivering a town centre that increases 

access to integrated public transport, increases dwell time and footfall and 

sets a high clean street standard.  

 

To enable growth in homes, leisure and the cultural offer within the town centre, 

Oldham Council is committed to ensuring that public transport, walking and cycling 

are the go-to choice for journeys to the town centre. However, there are a number of 

transport related challenges that create barriers to achieving this outcome, including:  

• A high level of trips to the town centre are currently made by private car. It is 

estimated that currently only 39% of journeys to Oldham Town Centre are 

made by sustainable modes (the lowest of all GM town centres); 

• A poor perception of safety in the town centre, particularly in the evening 

when there are low levels of activity and footfall. 71% of people surveyed in 

2019 stated they felt safety is good during the day, while only 34% stated they 

felt safe at night; 

• Car parks are located centrally within the town, creating high levels of traffic 

and congestion close to the core of Oldham Town Centre. This impacts on the 

Document Pack Page 407



 

9 

quality of the public realm, and access by people travelling bus, foot and bike, 

as well as by car;  

• There are multiple points of severance for sustainable journeys, including 

Oldham Way, the Metrolink Line, St Mary’s Way, and the Oldham Mumps 

junction at Lees Road/Cross Street; 

• There are also poor-quality links to the south and east of Oldham Town 

Centre including to Southlink Business Park, Alexandra Retail Park and the 

proposed Northern Roots site due to the severance effects of Oldham Way, 

which need to be addressed. 

 

Oldham Council is currently working to overcome these challenges by, for example, 

developing a comprehensive masterplan for the town centre, delivering Growth Deal 

2 and 3 schemes to improve access to and within Oldham Town Centre, improving 

cycle and walking access through the Mayor’s Challenge Fund schemes, delivering 

Future High Streets Fund projects (subject to business case approval by 

Government), and delivering the Quality Bus Transit corridor between Rochdale, 

Oldham and Ashton-Under Lyne, including Streets for All measures in Oldham Town 

Centre.  

Oldham has also been selected to develop a Town Deal worth up to £25 million and 

is in the process of producing a Town Investment Plan for Oldham Town Centre, 

which will include transformational projects such as the Northern Roots Urban Farm 

and Eco-Park and the Town Centre District Heat Network.  

As part of our ongoing response to Covid-19, we will continue to make Oldham Town 

Centre as safe and easy to get around as possible and ensure that Oldham is ‘open 

for business’. We want people to feel confident in accessing town centre services, to 

feel they are able to get there safely, particularly by active travel modes, and can 

move around safely when they arrive. We have put a number of measures in place 

to assist with social distancing, including signing and lining and are relocating taxi 

ranks from Yorkshire Street and St Mary’s Way to new shared facility bays and an 

extended rank on Henshaw Street.  

3.3. Wider-City Region and Regional Centre Access 

Compared to the GM average, Oldham has a high number of trips that are made 

across the Wider City Region (38%). These are trips over 2km to destinations that 

are not the regional centre, such as to the neighbouring boroughs of Rochdale and 

Tameside, to and from the borough’s employment sites, to Oldham Town Centre or 

to the borough’s six district centres of Chadderton, Failsworth, Hill Stores, Lees, 

Shaw and Uppermill, which play an important role in providing day-to-day retail and 

other services to residents. 

With the exception of trips to Oldham Town Centre, there are typically poor 

alternatives to the private car for making these types of journeys. This results in a 

high number of these trips being made by private car (78%), only 18% by public 

transport and less than 1% by bike (source: TRADS database). The following 

paragraphs outline some of Oldham’s transport challenges and opportunities.  

Document Pack Page 408



 

10 

3.3.1. Royton 

Royton is the second largest town centre in the Oldham borough, and is our Greater 

Manchester Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge area. In 2018, a Masterplan was 

developed and adopted for Royton, which sets out a 10-year vision for improvement. 

This forms a framework for delivering works to improve the public realm and 

streetscape, enhanced connectivity, including new walking and cycling links, 

supporting businesses, and retaining and enhancing the character of the town 

centre. 

The A671 through Royton provides a valuable route to Oldham and Rochdale town 

centres, including by frequent bus services. However, the layout of the town centre 

and volume of traffic along this road creates a number of challenges. These include: 

• High levels of air pollution that are at risk of exceeding legal limits of NOx by 

2020; 

• Poor quality public realm, particularly in Market Square and around Royton 

Town Hall; 

• Severance for people using the town centre or travelling across it, caused by 

poor crossing facilities and a high prevalence of guard railing. 

Work has started to deliver on the aims of the Mayor’s Town Centre Challenge and 

the Royton Masterplan, including acceleration of a scheme to install new crossing 

facilities in the town centre as part of the SaferStreetsSaveLives campaign. Further 

opportunities to support the local economy and create a stronger local centre in 

Royton through transport focused measures include delivery of Quality Bus Transit 

measures within the town centre, delivery of Bee Network walking and cycling 

connections, and delivery of streetscape plans within the Royton Masterplan.  

3.3.2. GMSF Allocations 

Eight allocations in the GMSF are located entirely within the Oldham borough. There 
is also a cross boundary allocation at Stakehill which is being jointly proposed by 
Oldham and Rochdale Councils, with Oldham’s part of the Stakehill allocation 
proposed for employment use. The Oldham allocations are shown on map 2 and 
listed in table 1 below. It should be noted that the allocation figures for Stakehill 
included in the table relate only to the Oldham allocation. 
 

Table 1: Oldham GMSF allocations  

Site Allocation 

GMA2 Stakehill  120,000 sqm employment 

GMA12 Beal Valley Around 480 homes  

GMA13 Bottom Field Farm (Woodhouses) Around 30 homes 

GMA14 Broadbent Moss Around 1,450 homes with 
around 500 of these delivered 
post 2037 

Document Pack Page 409



 

11 

Table 1: Oldham GMSF allocations  

Site Allocation 

GMA15 Chew Brook Vale (Robert Fletchers) Around 170 homes 
6,000 sqm commercial, leisure 
and retail land use 

GMA16 Cowlishaw Around 460 homes  

GMA17 Hanging Chadder Around 260 homes 

GMA18 Land south of Coal Pit Lane (Ashton 
Road)  

Around 255 homes 

GMA19 South of Rosary Road Around 60 homes  

In order for these sites to come forward, interventions will be needed on the transport 

network, including measures to support public transport, active travel and improve 

local junctions. An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required has 

been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the GMSF. As 

and when the sites come forward for development more detailed assessment will be 

needed which could result in changes to the measures currently proposed. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support GMSF 
sites has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 
GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 
Delivery Plan. 

Examples of local highway network interventions to support Oldham’s GMSF 

allocations currently include: 

• B6194 Heyside / Water Street / Bullcote Lane junction improvement (GMA12, 

GMA14); 

• Beal Valley / Broadbent Moss Spine Road (GMA12, GMA14); 

• A663 Broadway / Shaw Road / A671 Oldham Road junction improvement 

(GMA12, GMA14, GMA16); 

• A663 Crompton Way / Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction improvement 

(GMA12, GMA14, GMA16); 

• A627 (M) / Chadderton Way / A663 Broadway interchange improvements 

(GMA12, GMA14, GMA16, GMA17); 

• A635 Holmfirth Road access junction (GMA15); 

• Chew Brook Vale access road and bridge over Chew Brook (GMA15); 

• A671 Rochdale Road / B6195 High Barn Road / A671 Oldham Road / B6195 

Middleton Road junction improvements (GMA16); 

• A627 Ashton Road / Coal Pit Lane junction improvement (GMA18); 

• Coal Pit Lane improvements (GMA18). 

In some cases, interventions will also be needed on Highway’s England’s Strategic 

Route Network (SRN), such as at the M62 junction 20 in Rochdale to support GMA2. 

Document Pack Page 410



 

12 

Improvements will also be needed to make the allocations more accessible by public 
transport, cycling and walking, such as a new Metrolink Stop and associated Park 
and Ride facility at Cop Road / Bullcote Lane and a Metrolink overbridge needed to 
support delivery of the Beal Valley and Broadbent Moss allocations, and 
improvements to local bus services, such as a new bus service to better connect 
Oldham and Rochdale to Stakehill. Allocations will also need to be connected to 
local cycling and walking networks such as the Public Rights of Way and the Bee 
Network by cycling and walking facilities designed in accordance with standards 
applicable at the time. Examples of walking and cycling interventions to support 
Oldham’s GMSF allocations currently include: 
 

• Improvement of walking and cycling facilities on Heyside and Cop Road via 

new Metrolink overbridge (GMA12); 

• Traffic calming on Vulcan Street (GMA14); 

• Pedestrian and cycle route between Coal Pit Lane / Ashton Road junction and 

White Bank Road (GMA18). 

Further details of the transport interventions that may be needed to support 
Oldham’s GMSF allocations can be found in Appendix C to the GM2040 Delivery 
Plan ‘GMSF allocations and their transport interventions’. 
 
In addition to interventions associated with GMSF developments, other schemes and 

programmes in the GM2040 Delivery Plan will help to support sustainable access to 

GMSF allocations, such as the Ashton-Oldham-Rochdale Quality Bus Transit 

Corridor, which is anticipated to see a general improvement to service reliability and 

facilities along the A627 Ashton Road that will support allocation GMA18. 

There is also a need to ensure that Oldham residents can access employment 

opportunities at GMSF allocations outside the borough as these come forward, such 

as the Bury/Rochdale Northern Gateway allocation (GMA1). Oldham Council will 

work with its GM2040 partners to achieve this.  

3.3.3. Public Transport 

Alongside challenges within town centres, Oldham faces a number of public 

transport reliability, capacity and connectivity challenges. Due to a comparatively 

high prevalence of households with no access to a car against UK and Greater 

Manchester levels, Oldham residents are more reliant on public transport for 

journeys, and deficiencies in this network can have a particularly high impact on 

access to opportunities and quality of life. The affordability of public transport, 

particularly for those on low incomes, is also a key issue for Oldham residents. 

Bus has the largest mode-share for public transport in Oldham. Key challenges on 

Oldham’s bus network include: 

• A considerable drop in scheduled bus services - between 2013 and 2018 

there was a 17% drop in annual scheduled bus mileage in Oldham, compared 

to 7% across GM; 

Document Pack Page 411



 

13 

• A reduction in off-peak bus services – between 2016 and 2018, weekday 

departures from Oldham bus station declined by 13.8%, whilst Sunday 

departures have reduced by 15.5%; 

• Poor bus journey time reliability and journey times across the bus network – 

on the strategic bus corridor between Oldham and Rochdale, 23% of buses 

do not run on time and journey times are longer by bus than car; 

• Outside Oldham Town Centre, there are low levels of bus connectivity to key 

destinations and neighbourhoods with some of the highest levels of 

deprivation – there are, for example, poor links for Oldham residents to 

employment opportunities at Stakehill Industrial Estate. 

 

Metrolink has been the largest change for transport in Oldham since its introduction 

in 2013. Patronage has been increasing year upon year, and this has had a 

significant impact on Oldham’s economy and quality of life for residents. However, 

while Metrolink provides a quality service, it only serves parts of the borough and 

connectivity to stops limits its potential to serve more residents. Key issues include 

poor walking and cycling networks to stops, lack of interchange facilities to bus 

services, capacity issues at park and ride facilities at Derker,  Mumps and 

Hollinwood Metrolink stops, overcrowding on the Oldham-Rochdale Metrolink line, 

particularly during peak hours, high levels of anti-social behaviour on the Oldham-

Rochdale line and at stops such as King Street in Oldham Town Centre and no 

direct Metrolink (or rail) access from Oldham to Manchester Piccadilly Rail Station.  

Similarly, while the three rail stations that serve Oldham (Greenfield, Mills Hill and 

Moston) have seen long term increases in patronage, better links to surrounding 

neighbourhoods and destinations are needed. Other key rail issues include 

infrequent and overcrowded services, particularly at peak times, on the Trans-

Pennine and Calder Valley rail lines and lack of disabled access at Greenfield 

Station. 

Key opportunities to improve connectivity to Metrolink and rail services include 

continued delivery of the Bee Network, development of multi-modal transport hubs at 

stops and stations, and integration with the Oldham Town Centre Masterplan and 

GMSF plans.  

Access to jobs at some of the major employment sites in Greater Manchester, such 

as Manchester Airport and the adjacent Enterprise Zone and Trafford Park is limited 

by public transport, with journeys taking significantly longer than most people would 

be prepared to spend travelling to work. 

Access to public transport for Oldham residents decreased significantly during the 

Covid-19 lockdown and although there have subsequently been some significant 

improvements, there is a need to ensure that accessibility does not remain below 

pre-lockdown levels. Bus network coverage and direct bus links must return to pre-

lockdown levels as a minimum if the borough is to recover from the pandemic. The 

situation is made even more challenging by the social distancing requirements that 

will reduce the capacity of bus, Metrolink and rail services, many of which were 

overcrowded pre-lockdown.  

Document Pack Page 412



 

14 

We are also looking at how we might better re-route buses in and around Oldham 

Town Centre to improve safety in pedestrian areas, both as part of our response to 

Covid-19 and in the longer term as part of the Accessible Oldham programme. Our 

Emergency Active Travel fund scheme in Oldham Town Centre will, for example, see 

buses re-routed around West Street bus station to give pedestrians more space on 

West Street. 

3.3.4. Highway Network 

Providing a safe, reliable highway for all users, that supports the transition to a zero-

carbon borough, is essential to realising our environmental, quality of life and 

economic objectives, as well as achieving the Right Mix Vision in Oldham. Key 

challenges to achieving this include: 

• Congestion – as levels of car travel have increased, congestion on Oldham’s 

road network has become more prevalent. While levels of delays are less than 

the GM average, congestion has a significant effect on journey times and 

reliability, which are particularly costly to business and bus users1. Much of 

the borough’s main road network and junctions experience traffic delays, 

particularly at peak times, including: 

 A669 Middleton Road; 

 A669 Lees Road / Oldham Road; 

 A672 Ripponden Road; 

 A62 Huddersfield Road; 

 A62/A627/A627(M) Oldham Way / Chadderton Way; 

 A62 Manchester Road; 

 A663 Broadway / Shaw Road / Crompton Way; 

 A671/A627 Rochdale Road / Oldham Road / Ashton Road; 

 A6048 Featherstall Road; 

 B6194 Shaw Road / Higginshaw Lane/Heyside, particularly at 

junctions. 

• Strategic Route Network (SRN) – there are several roads in the borough that 

are managed by Highways England, including A663 Broadway Trunk Road, 

the A627 (M) and the stretch of the M60 motorway in Oldham, including 

junctions 21 at Broadway and 22 at Hollinwood. Highways England is 

planning to carry out a scheme to address congestion at the A663 Broadway / 

M60 junction, currently planned for 2023/24. Access to junction 22 at 

Hollinwood is restricted, with no eastbound access from the A62 northbound 

or southbound and the surrounding road network can experience congestion 

and delay. We will work with Highways England to help identify the scope for 

improvements around junction 22 that would reduce congestion on the 

motorway and surrounding Key Route Network and could be brought forward 

in future Route Investment Strategies. Roads in the Saddleworth area can 

also experience significant levels of congestion when traffic is diverted off the 

M62 onto the local road network as a result of roadworks or accidents;  

 
1 Oldham’s Local Economic Assessment 2019 - Section 3: Transport and Business Connectivity 

Document Pack Page 413



 

15 

• Maintenance – Oldham continues to deliver a programme of capital 

investment to maintain the existing highway network, including roads, 

footways, bridges, retaining walls, culverts and other infrastructure, with 

limited resources targeted to maximum effect in line with the Council’s 

Highway Asset Management Policy. Following delivery of the Gateway 

Corridor Improvement Programme in 2018/19, which focused resources on 

the main road network, the Council is investing a further £12 million over the 

3-year period 2019/20 – 2021/22 on maintaining highways, including 

secondary corridors and residential roads and traffic calming schemes in need 

of repair. However, considerable investment is still needed to deliver essential 

footway and carriageway maintenance repairs and to deal with the backlog of 

essential maintenance needed to highway structures such as bridges and 

retaining walls if road closures and weight restrictions are to be avoided; 

• Retaining walls – the Pennine nature of the borough means there are 

extensive lengths of highway retaining walls (31km in total), many of which 

were built over 100 years ago, in urgent need of repair for which there is no 

funding available;  

• Road safety – over the last 20 years, Oldham has seen a steady decline in 

road traffic collisions involving all types of road users with a reduction of two 

thirds from over 900 to around 300. During this period the number of people 

being killed or seriously injured fell by 30%. Collisions involving child 

pedestrians have also reduced significantly since 1999, with the number of 

casualties having reduced by 705 and now at an all-time low. This is a result 

of the Council’s evidence-based data-led approach to road safety. Despite 

this success, there are still many road safety hotspots in the borough, 

including: St Mary’s Way; A669 Middleton Road, Chadderton; A669 Lees 

Road, Clarksfield; A670 Uppermill Centre; A669, Lees Centre; A663 / A671 

junction, Royton; Burnley Lane / Eustace Street / Belmont Street Area; 

Copster Hill Road, Hathershaw; A62 Oldham Road, Failsworth; and A627 

Ashton Road, Hathershaw. There is however, no longer any dedicated 

funding available for local safety schemes. While planned schemes such as 

the Bee Network and the A627 / A671 Quality Bus Transit project will deliver 

improvements at some of these locations, funding will be needed to resolve 

local safety issues across the borough; 

• Freight – the vast majority of freight in Oldham is carried by road. This 

increases the economic impact of congestion, but also results in more 

vehicles on our roads, carbon emissions, poor air quality, noise pollution and 

conflict with vulnerable road users; 

• Last mile freight - an increase in last mile freight is particularly challenging in 

Oldham. This has increased the number of smaller commercial vehicles on 

our roads, resulting in more traffic and potential for collisions with vulnerable 

road users. Due to the complexities of these operations, a co-ordinated 

approach is needed to manage last mile freight, including new infrastructure 

and policies, especially in town centres and neighbourhoods; 

Document Pack Page 414



 

16 

• Borough Cycle Network - although high quality cycle facilities have been 

delivered at some locations, particularly around Oldham Town Centre, the 

current cycle network does not link all parts of the borough thereby limiting 

new journeys by bike between neighbourhoods and the Wider City Region. 

The focus for the next 5 years will be unlocking this network around town 

centres and the west of the borough, where the topography better lends itself 

to cycling; 

• Electric Vehicle Charging Network – there are currently public access EV 

charging points in 23 locations across Oldham, with the majority of these 

located around Oldham Town Centre. Due to the large number of streets in 

the borough without off-street parking, a significant increase in public access 

charging points (both rapid and residential) will be required through the 

expansion of the GMEV network to support the uptake in electric vehicles 

needed to meet local and GM carbon and clean air targets. We are working 

with TfGM on several projects to expand the EV charging network in Oldham, 

including the provision of dedicated charging points to support taxi and private 

hire vehicle drivers to switch to electric vehicles, with work underway to 

identify suitable locations. 

   

Document Pack Page 415



 

17 

4. Oldham 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

Outcome 1: More neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) will be made by foot 

and by bike in the borough of Oldham 

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements that create attractive, safe 

neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in and supporting people 

to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car.  

Our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation 

over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

King Street Foot and 
Cycle Bridge 

Bee Network: full refurbishment of King Street cycling 
and walking bridge to retain this direct route into Oldham 
Town Centre from residential areas to the south. 

Union Street West 
Foot and Cycle Bridge 

Bee Network: completion of the bridge refurbishment 
scheme, including a new high-quality surface to make it 
easier and safer for people to use. 

Broadway to Rochdale 
Canal Link 

Bee Network: upgrading an existing off-highway path 
linking Chadderton to the Rochdale Canal to improve 
walking and cycling access to key local destinations such 
as Radclyffe School, Mills Hill Primary, Chadderton 
Integrated Care Unit and the Firswood Park residential 
area. 

Chadderton Pedestrian 
and Cycle Access 
Improvements 

Bee Network: upgrading crossings and enhancing 
walking and cycling routes in the Chadderton area to 
improve safety and enable more local trips, especially to 
schools and public transport links, to be made by bike or 
on foot. 

Higginshaw Link to 
Royton 

Bee Network: a new parallel signalised crossing at 
Salmon Fields to connect existing routes, creating a safe 
off-road walking and cycling route from Royton to the 
Shaw Road/Higginshaw Lane industrial area. 
Improvements will also include a new off-road surface 
and re-grading of the existing steeply sloped path up to 
Higginshaw Lane. 

Oldham Town Centre 
Improvements 

Bee Network: a scheme to improve pedestrian and cycle 
access within and around Oldham Town Centre, 
including around the busy bus station area. 

Park Bridge - Ashton-
under-Lyne Link 

Bee Network: restoration of the Park Bridge viaduct route 
for pedestrians and cyclists on NCN 626 to create a flat, 
easy-to-navigate, direct route between Oldham and 
Ashton, plus a new Bee Network crossing point on Kings 
Road. 

Document Pack Page 416



 

18 

Investment Priority  Description 

Park Road - NCN 626 
to Town Centre 
Connection 

Bee Network: a scheme to enable more cycling and 
walking trips by delivering a missing link to connect 
Oldham Town Centre with the NCN 626 route through to 
Ashton-under-Lyne and the Lees Linear Park cycle route, 
overcoming an existing heavily-trafficked pinch point.  

Royton Town Centre 
Connection 

Bee Network: A Streets for All town centre improvement 
scheme to increase the number of local walking and 
cycling journeys into Royton Town Centre. This will 
include a number of improvements to the town centre 
environment, two crossing upgrades, a wider footway 
and a contraflow cycle lane. The plans aim to reduce the 
severance impact of the A671 Rochdale Road. 

Bee Network 
Crossings 

Bee Network: delivery of a programme to upgrade 
existing / install new pedestrian and cyclist crossings to 
remove severance points as part of a GM-wide Bee 
Network crossings programme – potential locations 
include: 

• Wellyhole Street, Greenacres; 

• Salmon Fields; 

• Well-i-Hole, Greenfield; 

• Chadderton Hall Road. 

Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Bee Network: identification of suitable locations and 
delivery of Active Neighbourhood schemes in Oldham. 

Public Rights of Way 
Network 

Improvements to the borough’s network of Public Rights 
of Way to support active travel. 

School Streets Identification of suitable locations and delivery of School 
Streets schemes in Oldham. 

A669 Lees Road / 
Moorhey Street 
junction 

Signalisation of this busy junction on the A669 Lees 
Road to reduce accidents and support active travel by 
incorporating new controlled pedestrian crossing 
facilities. 

Saddleworth Linear 
Walking and Cycling 
Route 

Off-road route upgrade to create a safe walking and 
cycling route between the villages of Greenfield and 
Uppermill, including the replacement of bridges at Church 
Road and Station Road. 

Northern Roots Identifying and delivering cycling and walking routes to 
the Northern Roots Urban Farm and Eco-Park. 

DfT Emergency Active 
Travel Fund 2 
 

Delivery of measures, potential locations including: 

• Coal Pit Lane point closure; 

• Routes to Royal Oldham Hospital (including 
Westhulme Avenue); 

• Lees Linear Park parallel crossings; 

• Salmon Fields; 

• Sandy Lane/Rochdale Lane; 

Document Pack Page 417



 

19 

Investment Priority  Description 

• Dobcross – footway widening across a narrow 
bridge. 

District wayfinding  Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough. 

Neighbourhood street 
maintenance  

Boroughwide maintenance programme to support cycling 
and walking.  

Behaviour change 
activities  

Delivering behavioural change to support the Bee 
Network, active neighbourhoods and new development.  

Cycle training Delivering Bikeability cycle training to all primary schools 
in the borough including those schools where pupils have 
additional needs. 

School safety zones  Minor traffic management/traffic calming schemes to 
improve safety for pedestrians and cyclists on the journey 
to school. 

Minor works Delivery of an annual programme of minor works 
including safety schemes and junction improvements, 
traffic management schemes and pedestrian 
improvements. 

Outcome 2: Connections to Oldham’s town centres, employment sites and key 

destinations will be enhanced by foot, bike and public transport 

In the next 5 years this means working to deliver “Streets for All” improvements 

within and around Oldham’s town and district centres, employment sites, schools 

and higher education sites, hospitals and leisure sites, that enable people to travel 

by sustainable, healthy modes and support our local economy. 

Oldham Town Centre is the Council’s priority regeneration area, with a number of 

projects already completed or underway and many more planned through 

opportunities such as the Future High Streets Fund and the Town Deal. 

Improvements in transport and the public realm are an integral part of the work 

needed to regenerate the town, with schemes having already been delivered 

through, for example, the Local Growth Deal and the Cycle City Ambition Grant.  

Highway and public realm schemes to improve accessibility and connectivity to and 

around Oldham Town Centre are being delivered as and when funding opportunities 

arise through the Accessible Oldham programme, which is a package of measures 

designed to support the growth aspirations of Oldham Town Centre. Accessible 

Oldham Phase 1 has already secured £6 million of Growth Deal 3 funding and 

gained Programme Entry status for further funding from the Mayor’s Cycling and 

Walking Fund, with a decision on further funding from the Government’s High Street 

Fund pending. Phase 2 requires further development to identify the package of 

works that will best support the emerging Town Centre Masterplan and post-Covid-

19 recovery. Further phases of Accessible Oldham will be developed in response to 

the ongoing regeneration of the town. 

Document Pack Page 418



 

20 

The GMTS 2040 Delivery Plan includes the following schemes for Oldham Town 

Centre: 

• Accessible Oldham Town Centre Connectivity Package Phase 1 including: 

Hunters Lane; Waterloo Street / Rhodes Bank junction; Henshaw Street / 

Albion Street public realm; and access to Southlink development site; 

• Accessible Oldham Town Centre Connectivity Package Phase 2 – this could 

include public realm/Streets for All improvements around Southgate Street, 

Market Place, George Street / Manchester Chambers, access to Northern 

Roots and a town centre multi-storey car park to consolidate existing 

fragmented parking facilities and release further land for regeneration: 

• St Mary’s Way Streets for All scheme; 

• Oldham Mumps Area Improvements and access to Southlink Development 

Site; and  

• Oldham Mumps Interchange improvements. 

The A671 / A627 Rochdale – Oldham – Ashton Quality Bus Transit project will also 

include the delivery of works in Oldham and Rochdale town centres to support town 

masterplans and regeneration projects. 

Alongside the schemes within the GMTS 2040 Delivery Plan, our local priorities for 

investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation over the next 5 years, 

subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Mumps Growth Deal 2 
public realm works 

Completing delivery of Growth Deal 2 funded public 
realm works around Mumps Metrolink stop. 

Oldham Town Centre 
Bee Network  

Bee Network scheme in and around Oldham Town 
Centre including: 

• King Street bridge refurbishment; 

• Union Street West bridge – completion of 
refurbishment; 

• Accessible Oldham - High Street, Lord Street 
and Rock Street. 

Accessible Oldham: 
Future High Street Fund 

Delivery of further elements of Accessible Oldham. 

Oldham Way Mumps – 
new pedestrian / cyclist 
crossing 

Replacement of pedestrian bridge across Oldham Way 
recently demolished for health and safety reasons. 
 

Oldham Town Centre 
Transport Strategy 

Development of an Oldham Town Centre Transport 
Strategy as part of the development of a boroughwide 
transport strategy. 

Accessible Oldham  Development of further phases of Accessible Oldham 

St Mary’s Way accident 
reduction scheme 

Delivery of an accident reduction scheme at the 
Henshaw Street and Lord Street junctions to assist 

Document Pack Page 419



 

21 

Investment Priority  Description 

pedestrian access to the town centre and protect 
pedestrians from vehicle turning manoeuvres.  

Town centre 
maintenance 

Town centre maintenance programme.   

Town centre wayfinding Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough. 

Safer Streets Save 
Lives fund 

Delivery of a programme of lining, markings and signing 
at various locations to promote social distancing in and 
around Oldham Town Centre and district centres. 

DfT Emergency Active 
Travel Fund 1  

Delivery of a scheme to reallocate road space to 
pedestrians (including a zebra crossing) on West Street. 

DfT Emergency Active 
Travel Fund 2 
 

Delivery of the Wellington Street ‘Quiet Route’ scheme 
by re-allocating road space to allow pedestrians and 
cyclists to access the town centre via a new ‘quiet 
route’. 

Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point Network 

Expansion of the electric vehicle charging point network 
in Oldham and other key centres, including dedicated 
taxi and private hire vehicle charging points, supporting 
the wider switch to electric vehicles.   

Royton Town Centre 
Bee Network 
Connection 

Bee Network / Streets for All scheme delivery in and 
around Royton Town Centre.  

Sandy Lane/Rochdale 
Lane, Royton 

Pedestrian safety and traffic calming scheme. 

Outcome 3: Streets in Oldham will be cleaner and greener  

In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of roads in 

Oldham through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles 

and reduce the emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the borough.  

Oldham Council, along with the other nine Greater Manchester local authorities, is 

now subject to a Ministerial direction dated 16 March 2020 requiring the submission 

of a GM Clean Air Plan Interim Full Business Case (along with confirmation that all 

public consultation activity has completed) as soon as possible and by no later than 

30 October 2020. Under this direction Oldham Council along with the other nine 

Greater Manchester local authorities is under a legal duty to ensure that the GM 

Clean Air Plan (Charging Clean Air Zone Class C with additional measures) is 

implemented so that NO2 compliance is achieved in the shortest possible time and 

by 2024 at the latest and that human exposure is reduced as quickly as possible. 

 

A study undertaken of the main road network in Oldham in 2017 identified 

congestion hotspots and we will continue to deliver a programme of measures to 

Document Pack Page 420



 

22 

address these locations, working in partnership with the Greater Manchester Mayor’s 

Corridor Manager appointed as part of the GM Congestion Deal. 

Our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation 

over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Clean Air Plan Schemes Introduction of the GM Clean Air Plan to reduce NOx at 
the roadside in the shortest possible time in conjunction 
with the other Greater Manchester authorities. 

Council fleet Changing the Council fleet to electric vehicles or, where 

that is not practical, vehicles that are compliant with the 

Greater Manchester Clean Air plan criteria.  

Minimum Licensing 
Standards 

Development of a common set of minimum standards 

for taxi and private hire services in conjunction with the 

other Greater Manchester authorities. 

Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point Network 

Expansion of the electric vehicle charging point 

network, including dedicated charging points for taxi 

and private hire vehicles, across Oldham, supporting 

the wider switch to electric vehicles.   
Congestion hotspots Programme of schemes to manage and reduce 

congestion at various locations in order to keep traffic 

moving such as part-signalisation of Featherstall Road 

Roundabout. 

Tree planting  Delivery of a major tree planting programme to absorb 
carbon. 

Outcome 4: Oldham residents, workers and visitors will have good access to 

safe, reliable, affordable, high quality public transport connections  

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility and 

capacity of Oldham’s public transport network, supporting more residents, workers 

and visitors to travel to and from Oldham by sustainable modes, and enabling new 

neighbourhoods to be built around our existing and proposed infrastructure. 

Public transport proposals within the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan that will benefit 

Oldham include: 

• delivery of the Quality Bus Transit scheme to Rochdale and Ashton, including 

Streets for All improvements in Oldham and Rochdale town centres; 

• a new Metrolink stop and associated Park and Ride facility at Cop Road / 

Bullcote Lane on the Oldham-Rochdale line to support the delivery of GMSF 

allocations at Beal Valley and Broadbent Moss; 

• the introduction of more double Metrolink units on the Shaw and Crompton to 

East Didsbury Metrolink line to provide additional capacity; 

Document Pack Page 421



 

23 

• development of a business case and delivery of a direct Metrolink service 

from Rochdale and Oldham into Piccadilly Rail Station (requires additional 

Metrolink capacity between Piccadilly and Victoria Metrolink stops by TfGM); 

• Oldham Mumps Interchange improvements; 

• completion of improvements at Mills Hill Rail station including disabled access 

and cycle parking (Network Rail) and enhanced park and ride facilities 

(TfGM); 

• Trans-Pennine Route Upgrade to Leeds (pre-Northern Powerhouse Rail) 

potentially including full disabled access at Greenfield Station, by Network 

Rail. 

We would also like improvements at Metrolink stops in Oldham to be included in 

TfGM’s Travel Hubs/Park and Ride investment programme and Metrolink Stop 

Improvements Package, including additional park and ride capacity at Derker and 

Hollinwood and improvements at the Failsworth stop. 

In addition, our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or 

investigation over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Local bus pinch point 
and reliability schemes  

Working with TfGM to tackle known barriers on the local 
highway network that are restricting the movement of 
buses, enabling enhanced bus journey reliability and 
easing congestion.   

Bus stop enhancements  Upgrading existing bus stops in Oldham as part of a GM 
wide programme to improve accessibility, including 
supporting complementary measures such as 
pedestrian refuges to improve routes to bus stops.  

TravelSafe Partnership Working with partners to address crime and anti-social 
behaviour on the Metrolink service and at Metrolink 
stops in Oldham. 

Disabled access 
improvements at 
Greenfield Station 

Provision of full disabled access at Greenfield Station – 
the expectation is that this will be delivered as part of 
the TransPennine Route Upgrade but in the event that 
electrification of the line between Greenfield and 
Huddersfield is not carried out by Network Rail, 
alternative options are being explored. 

Oldham Council’s longer-term aspirations for the public transport network, which we 

will continue to make the investment case for as and when the opportunity arises, 

include: 

• A new Metrolink connection from Oldham Town Centre to Middleton, 

providing an orbital connection to Bury;  

• A new Metrolink connection from Oldham Town Centre to Ashton Town 

Centre; 

Document Pack Page 422



 

24 

• A new rail station at Diggle – Oldham Council’s Local Plan will continue to 

safeguard land for a new railway station at Diggle, the delivery of which would 

be dependent on improvements to wider railway infrastructure. The 

opportunity could be presented by the forthcoming TransPennine Route 

Upgrade and potential Northern Powerhouse Rail schemes; and 

• Electrification of the Calder Valley Rail to facilitate an increase the capacity 

and frequency of local services. 

Outcome 5: Streets in Oldham will be safer, well-maintained, resilient, reliable 

and accessible by all 

Oldham Council places a high significance on its transport network, which is its most 

valuable asset. The network is vital to the economic wellbeing of residents and 

businesses. The comfort and safety provided by our roads and streets is important to 

the quality of life in Oldham.  

As a highway authority, Oldham Council has a statutory duty to maintain, operate 

and improve the local highway network on behalf of all its residents. Through our 

highways capital programme, we will continue to maintain Oldham’s roads and 

highways to the highest possible standard. Our programme has previously focused 

heavily on maintaining main routes and corridors, but we are now also improving our 

secondary routes and unclassified network, using data from our Annual Engineering 

Inspection survey to help target investment most effectively.  

We also have accident reduction duties under Section 39 of the Road Traffic Act 

1988, including to prepare and deliver a programme of measures designed to 

promote safety and to prevent the occurrence of road accidents.  

Our local priorities for investment in scheme delivery, development or investigation 

over the next 5 years, subject to funding in some cases, include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Highway maintenance  Continued Council capital investment in the structure of 
the highway by way of an asset management-
based approach to road resurfacing ranging from small 
scale repairs to full reconstruction.  

Footway repair 
programme 

Data-led programme of footway maintenance at various 
locations across the borough. 

Principal structures 
inspections 

Inspections of the borough's structural assets. 

Bridges and structures 
maintenance  

Scheme development and continued investment in 
bridges and other structures, including retaining walls 
and culverts.   

Oldham Way KRN 
structures 
refurbishment: Waterloo 
Street and Wellington 
Street bridge works  

Maintenance and refurbishment of Oldham Way Bridge 
structures at Waterloo Street and Wellington Street with 
Central Government Challenge Fund award. 

Document Pack Page 423



 

25 

Investment Priority  Description 

Oldham Way KRN 
structures 
refurbishment: 
Manchester Street 
Viaduct 

Maintenance and refurbishment of Oldham Way 
structure at Manchester Street Viaduct. 

Flood water 
management and 
drainage schemes 

Ongoing investigative works, development of business 
cases and delivery of a programme of flood water 
management and drainage schemes, working in 
partnership with the Environment Agency. 

Safety barrier 
replacement 
programme 

Enhancement/replacement of defective existing safety 
barriers on a priority basis across the borough. 

Road accident reduction 
schemes  

Preparation and delivery of a programme of measures 
designed to promote road safety and prevent the 
occurrence of road accidents. 

Vehicle Activated Signs Consolidation and repair of the existing network of 
Vehicle Activated Signs and installation of new signs in 
accordance with revised policy criteria.  

Lining refresh 
programme 

A boroughwide annual programme to refresh road 
markings. 

Disabled access 
improvements 

Measures to improve access to the network for the 
mobility impaired. 

Traffic management 
schemes 

Minor traffic signing/lining and highway modification 
schemes. 

The GM2040 Delivery Plan also includes a Highways England scheme to upgrade 

the Broadway / M60 junction (junction 21) to reduce congestion, improve safety and 

support delivery of the Broadway Green development. Highways England is aiming 

to deliver this scheme in 2023/24

Document Pack Page 424



 

26 

 

We would also like the 

following interventions to be 

investigated, business cases 

developed and schemes 

delivered at the earliest 

opportunity: 

• Derker Metrolink Stop 
Mobility Hub and Park 
and Ride; 

• Hollinwood Metrolink 
Stop Mobility Hub / 
Park and Ride; 

• Failsworth Metrolink 
Stop Improvements; 

• Diggle Rail Station. 

 

Map 3: Oldham Implementation Plan Schemes 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 425



 

27 

Map 4: Oldham Bee Network Schemes D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 426



 

28 

5. Indicators 

Oldham Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 
measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 
will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 
Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 
Right Mix targets  

Document Pack Page 427



 

1 

Rochdale Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 

economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 

Rochdale’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in 

the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium and long-term 

transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 

neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025. A summary of strategic 

schemes within the 5-Year Delivery Plan are included on Map 1.  

Rochdale Council in its Corporate Plan 2019-2022 “Prosperous People and Places” 

outlines a vision of “Making our Borough a great place to grow up, get on and live 

well”. It places an emphasis on prosperity for people who are healthy, safe, happy 

and available to participate fully in life, in places that grow and change to provide 

strong local economies providing opportunities and enhance quality of life. Indicators 

of success in achieving this are: 

• Accessible quality highways and transport options including cycling and 
walking; 

• Air and land, free from pollution and infrastructure that protects against climate 
change by using natural and renewable resources; 

• More people are physically active including the over 50’s; 

• People have access to good or outstanding places of learning; 

• Reduced crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
To strive for this prosperity the Council consistent with the GM Strategy is seeking to 
provide: 
 

• Growth in housing, quality employment space and good jobs that are 
sustainable and provide opportunities to progress and develop; 

• a thriving and productive economy that both gets people in to work and 
delivers high value jobs and businesses in all parts of the borough; 

• Continuous improvements towards delivering “World Class” connectivity to 
keep the Borough moving and enhance access opportunities for people and 
goods to jobs amenities and markets; 

• A green environmentally sustainable Borough that meets its carbon targets. 
 
To achieve these ambitions, we have set six key transport-related outcomes which we 

would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in all townships of the borough of Rochdale 

Document Pack Page 428



 

2 

• Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to / from and within Heywood, Middleton, 

Littleborough and Rochdale Town Centres by foot, bike, and public transport 

• Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Rochdale Borough 

• Outcome 4: Streets in Rochdale Borough will be clean and green 

• Outcome 5: Rochdale Borough residents, workers and visitors have good 

access to Rapid transit connections 

• Outcome 6: Streets in Rochdale are well maintained and in good condition for 

all people who live in or travel within Rochdale 

This document sets out some of the steps Rochdale borough will seek to take with 

partners to make good progress towards these outcomes in the next 5 years. The 

steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of the interventions set out will 

require a significant level of resource and funding. This will require us to prioritise 

measures and to continue working with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required 

funding from Government to develop and deliver these schemes. 

1.1.  Covid-19 Recovery  

Rochdale Council’s Highways Service have closely monitored the network 

throughout the period affected by COVID-19. The initial key concern was to keep the 

network functioning for emergency and essential services to be able to get about 

quickly. During the lifting of restrictions and early recovery the Highways Service 

have temporarily closed Packer Street in Rochdale Town Centre to provide additional 

space for businesses to use as extra outdoor space where indoor capacity has been 

limited. 

Rochdale Council have submitted bids to Tranche 2 of the EATF for a walking and 

cycling scheme in Milnrow Town Centre, reallocating road space and St Leonard’s 

Street in Middleton which have two point closures put in effectively making it an 

active neighbourhood area. 

Document Pack Page 429



 

3 

2. Rochdale Borough Strategic Transport Issues  

 

Document Pack Page 430



 

4 

 

Document Pack Page 431



 

5 

2.1. Rochdale’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in Rochdale in GMTS2040 Delivery 

Plan. 

  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 432



 

6 

2.2. Rochdale’s Existing Transport Network and Spatial Allocations –  

Map 2 sets out the current land supply and transport network within Rochdale. This includes the Oldham and Rochdale Metrolink Line to 
Manchester City Centre, that provides a tram every 12 minutes, the Calder Valley Rail Line and the Strategic Road Network in Rochdale, 
alongside existing land supply for residential, office and industry space, and future GMSF allocations.  
 

  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 433



 

7 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

The majority of trips made in Rochdale Borough that 

start in the District are at neighbourhood level (52%), 

48% of these are under 2km and made by private car. 

Most of these trips are short enough to be taken on 

foot or by bicycle. (Source: TRADS database). 

Road traffic levels and speeds have a significant 

impact on walking and cycling local trips, through 

actual and perceived levels of safety, driver attitudes 

which lack consideration for other users. Major roads 

also create a barrier and cause severance between 

neighbourhoods and destinations and pavement 

parking restricts footway space and pedestrian / cycle 

accessibility. 

There are challenges in areas with dense populations 

outside Rochdale Borough’s main centres, e.g. Milkstone and Deeplish; Langley; 

Kirkholt and Wardleworth. Street patterns mean residences in these areas live close 

together with narrow roads restricting 2-way traffic flows with significant levels of on-

street parking. Despite this, these areas have low levels of car ownership and poor if 

any public transport services in part due to this street design and the inability of 

larger vehicles to pass along the local road network. 

Key destinations, such as Town Centres, are difficult to access on foot and by cycle 

due to road traffic, severance caused by highway infrastructure, the lack of direct 

dedicated cycle / walking infrastructure and wayfinding. Locations where these 

issues occur include Hollingworth Lake, Rochdale Infirmary, Rochdale Railway 

Station, Fairfield Hospital, a number of Schools, and Rochdale, Heywood, Middleton 

and Littleborough town centres). 

Opportunities to address these issues will be delivered through the development of 

the Bee Network and access to and within new development that prioritises active 

travel following “Streets for All” design principles creating streets for people not just 

traffic. Rochdale Station Gateway, Castleton, Middleton, Heywood and Littleborough 

Town Centre Masterplans will also prioritise these principles in their detailed 

development. 

3.2. Rochdale Town Centre 

The Council is continuing to develop a town-core masterplan for Rochdale Town 

Centre following the completion of the first Phase of the Rochdale Riverside project 

in March 2020. This will support delivery of new high-density homes on brownfield 

sites in the Town Centre, better connectivity to and from the town centre to local 

Document Pack Page 434



 

8 

neighbourhoods, the wider city region, and the regional centre, alongside enhancing 

community and heritage assets. 

Plans for regeneration of Rochdale Town Centre also include potential for 2,000 new 

homes across the wider centre, including a new neighbourhood on Central Retail 

Park Rochdale and Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 and a further 1,000 homes and 

6,250m2 of employment, retail and commercial space planned as part of the 

Rochdale Station Gateway and the former Rochdale Canal Basin. 

 

Key issues for Rochdale Town Centre include: 

- The A58 causes severance from Rochdale Town Centre for neighbourhoods 

to the north, particularly for those making trips on foot or by bike. In 

particular a number of subways present a poor perception of local personal 

safety to / from Spotland, Falinge and other residential areas west of 

Whitworth Road; 

- There are a limited number of routes that cross the railway line to / from 

Rochdale Town Centre from neighbourhoods to the south of the town 

extending the length of trips made on foot and by bike; 

- Distance and topography between Rochdale Railway Station and the town 

centre core is a barrier enhanced by the lack of coherent walking routes;  

- Poor public transport connectivity to the town centre for local trips leads to a 

large number of these short journeys being made by taxi or private car. 

It is estimated that journeys to Rochdale town centre have reduced by 24% since 

2010, 54% of AM peak journeys to Rochdale Town Centre are made by foot, bike 

and public transport (increasing from 48% in 2017, and 35% in 2003) (source: 

TRADS). Continued development of the town centre will maintain the aim of 

attracting people back for retail, commercial and tourism activities, encouraging 

them to travel by sustainable modes of travel.  

3.3. Wider-City Region and Regional Centre 

42% of trips starting in Rochdale borough are to the Wider City Region, for example 

to Bury or Oldham. 47% of these trips are made by private car and only 14% of wider 

City Region City trips made by public transport (source: TRADS database). Rochdale 

also has a lower than average trips to the Regional Centre than other GM boroughs 

(4% compared the GM average of 15%) (source: TRADS database). 

The alternatives to the private car for accessing town centres and neighbourhoods 

are poor, apart from Rochdale Town Centre (particularly to Heywood, Middleton, 

Norden and Bamford and Littleborough). This creates capacity and connectivity 

challenges along the radial and inter-urban routes in the Borough with high levels of 

car use for wider-city and Regional Centre journeys resulting in delays on the 

highway network, affecting public transport services. 

There are several Park and Ride opportunities emerging through recent land 

acquisitions and masterplan development work. e.g. at Rochdale, Castleton, 

Document Pack Page 435



 

9 

Littleborough and Smithy Bridge Railway Stations, as well as improving access to 

stations, contributing to business cases to justify improved rail services and 

passenger facilities in the Borough 

3.3.1. Wider Town Centres 

In addition to challenges within Rochdale town centre, there are a number of 

challenges across Rochdale’s wider town centres of Middleton, Heywood, 

Littleborough, Castleton, Mills Hill, Smithy Bridge and Slattocks. These are 

summarised in the table below. 

Town Centre Challenges Opportunities 

Middleton 2 950 new homes and around 10 
hectares of commercial and 
employment land planned to be 
delivered by 2035.  
 
Key issues include: 
 
- Severance caused by the highway 

network, particularly the 
roundabout network at the north of 
the town centre and Long Street 

- Poor links to Alkrington Hall and 
Middleton Bus Station 

- Poor public transport connections 
to Rochdale, Bury and Oldham 
town centres, the Regional 
Centre, Mills Hill station, and 
Northern Gateway GMSF site. 

New Masterplan for 
Middleton developed 

Significant level of planned 
development 

Potential to develop 
Metrolink to Middleton 
Town Centre from the 
Bury Line 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Heywood 1,922 new homes and 700,000 m2 of 
commercial and employment land will 
be delivered by 2035. 
 
Key issues in Heywood include: 
 
- The town centre does not meet its 

full potential, and key challenges 
include: 

- A58 York Street has high levels of 
traffic, including high levels of 
commercial vehicles that conflict 
with high street users and poor 
urban realm; 

- Poor wayfinding 

New Masterplan for 
Heywood is currently in 
development. 

M62 Junction 19 Link 
Road will remove traffic 
from the town centre, 
providing opportunities to 
deliver Streets for All 
improvements, enhance 
the commercial, shopping, 
visitor and recreational 
environment. 

The Northern Gateway 
GMSF allocation provides 
an opportunity to introduce 
new rapid transit services 

Document Pack Page 436



 

10 

Town Centre Challenges Opportunities 

- Footways are narrow and 
constrained, leaving little space 
for shops to spill out; 

- Poor sustainable inter-urban links 
with nearby centres (with the 
exception of bus links to Rochdale 
and Bury) 

- There is currently no direct link 
between Heywood and the 
Regional Centre.   

between Heywood and the 
Regional Centre, and 
Tram Train links to Bury 
and Castleton. 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Littleborough Potential to deliver 645 homes in 
Littleborough, including mixed use 
development around the rail station 
set out in the Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy. 
 
Key issues in Littleborough include: 
 
- Hare Hill Road is heavily trafficked 

and needs a better balance of 
movement and place to better fulfil 
its purpose as Littleborough’s 
main shopping street. 

- Littleborough station has poor 
access to its entrance and public 
realm, capacity issues at the 
station car park causes parking 
management issues and 
congestion in the town centre; 

- There are poor cycling and 
walking connections around the 
town centre and station. 

Littleborough Station 
Masterplan is at an early 
stage and as deliverable 
outcomes emerge then 
they will be included in this 
implementation strategy 
and supporting delivery 
plan. 

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Castleton, 
Mills Hill, 
Smithy 
Bridge, 
Slattocks 
 

Projected that over 4,000 homes will 
be built that are accessible to these 
Stations over the next 10 years (2020 
Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy). 
 
Key issues across these town centres 
include the need to enhance stations 
as a transport hubs for local areas, 
and develop strong sustainable 
transport links to town centres and 
development opportunities. 
 

Development of 
masterplans at each of 
these town centres. 

The GMCA is currently 
undertaking a feasibility 
study into the potential 
development of a new 
station on the railway line 
at Slattocks.   

Rochdale Rail Corridor 
Strategy (see below) 

Document Pack Page 437



 

11 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support GMSF 

sites in and around these town centres has been undertaken within the Locality 

Assessments prepared as part of the GMSF, and potential interventions are listed 

within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

3.3.2. Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy 

The 2020 Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy also sets out ambitious plans to deliver 

around 7,000 new homes and commercial space along the Calder Valley Rail 

Corridor, with associated infrastructure investment, including a new station at 

Slattocks.  The Strategy’s focus is on delivering high density living around each 

station on the Calder Valley Railway Line, utilising brownfield sites, increasing 

patronage and bringing the Borough much closer to Manchester City Centre, 

improving access and reducing travel times to wider employment opportunities and 

the local housing market; 

To ensure development contributes to meeting carbon commitments, investment is 

needed along the corridor to improve capacity and quality of rail services (increasing 

frequency and length of trains, new station gateways), alongside new cycling and 

walking networks and other “last mile” access measures connecting local 

communities in Rochdale borough to key destinations, such as e-scooters, car clubs 

and bike hire. 

To support this vision, the GMCA is currently undertaking a feasibility study into the 

potential development of a new station on the railway line at Slattocks.  Following the 

completion of this work, the Council and the GM Stations Alliance will prepare a 

Masterplan to support the development of a station at this location with new and 

improved walking and cycle links to Hopwood Hall College, Stakehill Industrial Estate 

and the surrounding area.  

 

3.3.3. Public Transport 

There has been steady but continuous growth in Rail and Metrolink patronage.  Rail 

Station usage in the Borough has risen on average by over 5% a year over the last 

decade (Source ORR Rail Station Usage data) and Metrolink Patronage has more 

than doubled since the Oldham - Rochdale Line opened in February 2014. Station 

Masterplans demonstrate capacity to deliver up to 7,000 new homes within 800 

metres walking distance of the Borough’s railway stations, together with the 

proposed new station at Slattocks, along this key rail corridor which will continue to 

increase trip demand to / from Regional Centre.  

Key local challenges for public transport also include: 

• Addressing low levels, or no public transport connectivity to destinations, 

neighbourhoods and employment sites outside Rochdale Town Centre 

(including Stakehill Industrial Estate and Heywood Distribution Park / Hareshill 

Business Park, Kingsway Business Park, Fairfield and North Manchester 

Hospitals); 

Document Pack Page 438



 

12 

• Poor access to rail and tram links to Rochdale Town Centre from surrounding 

neighbourhoods with a significant number of trips made by taxis; 

• Bus connections to Bury and Oldham are slow and unattractive; 

• Potential growth sites are currently poorly connected to the wider-city region 

by public transport e.g. Northern Gateway, Stakehill Industrial Estate / 

Slattocks; 

• Ticketing, integration of services and unaffordable fares discourage people 

from taking many public transport journeys particularly if they have access to 

alternative forms of transport or they can make journeys on foot. 

There are a number of public transport related factors which contribute to low levels 

of journeys to the Regional Centre from Rochdale, and impact our residents access 

to opportunities and quality of life. These include: 

• A lack of direct public transport links and options to Manchester City Centre 

particularly from Heywood; 

• The Calder Valley Railway Line is at capacity at peak times from all the 

Borough stations resulting in people on occasions being unable to board trains 

to Manchester in the morning due to crowding; 

Unreliable line operations and ageing rolling stock also leads to services not 

running or skipping stops. Despite this, passenger demand continues to grow 

and will increase through delivery of future housing growth; 

• At Rochdale Railway Station, the Park and Ride facility demand is over its 

capacity, passenger facilities are poor and its role as a major gateway to and 

from the town, needs to be enhanced; 

Bus access to the south of the station is also poor and there are opportunities 

to provide new bus access for residents from the south of Rochdale into the 

station; 

• Demand for Park and Ride at the Borough’s other railway stations is also 

increasing. The Council has secured land adjacent to Smithy Bridge Railway 

Station and working with the GM Stations Alliance to provide a new facility 

which is expected to be delivered by 2025; 

Increases in Park and Ride capacity is being delivered as part of the Mills Hill 

Railway Station Improvements and the Bee Network scheme in Castleton, as 

well as proposals to expand provision at Littleborough through a new 

masterplan. A major park and ride opportunity accessible to the strategic 

motorway network could be provided through a new station at Slattocks.    

It is important that increased parking provision is controlled so passengers who walk 

or cycle short distances to / from stations continue to do so and are not attracted to 

transfer to car travel due to availability of parking, while also discouraging “rail 

heading” where passengers in neighbouring local authorities drive to a station in 

Greater Manchester. 

Document Pack Page 439



 

13 

Additionally, currently there is no direct rail / tram access from Rochdale Borough to 

Manchester Piccadilly and Manchester Airport leaving residents with a choice of 

lengthy, difficult journeys by public transport with multiple interchanges or to travel by 

car which is more convenient if carrying heavy baggage. 

3.3.4. Highway Challenges 

The A58 route through the Borough offers an unattractive cycling and walking 

environment, with congestion, particularly at peak times, leading to delays to bus 

journeys, therefore poor access to rail / Metrolink stations and town centres as well 

as to freight and general traffic. There are congestion issues at the junctions with 

Smithy Bridge Road, Albert Royds Street, Featherstall Road, Townhead and Heap 

Bridge roundabout; 

Motorway traffic causes additional congestion and severance for sustainable modes 

(bus, cycle, walking), for example, major flows of through traffic from East Lancashire 

via Whitworth to access M62, as well as the M66 and adjacent local roads used by 

traffic to / from Rossendale, Norden and Bamford, accessing the regional centre via 

Heywood.  

Particular issues of congestion and delay occurs between Littleborough and M62 

Junction 21 via Milnrow, Around M60 Junction 19 and Heywood Old Road, and at 

M62 Junction 18. 

There are low numbers of EV charge points both off and on streets particularly where 

there is no off-road parking which restricts the potential uptake of electric vehicles; 

There are a number of committed projects within Delivery Plan 2020-2025 which will 

contribute in addressing some of these issues. They include M62 Junction 19 Link 

Road, Bee Network proposals, Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy, Rochdale Station 

Gateway and Castleton Station Masterplans, as well as a potential A58 Residential 

Relief Road, Smithy Bridge. Highways England are also proposing to consult on their 

proposals to tackle capacity issues at the M62 / M66 Simister Island Motorway 

Interchange to be delivered by 2025. 

4. Rochdale 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

This section presents transport related outcomes that Rochdale Council aim to 

achieve over the next 5 years. Each outcome includes a set of priorities investment 

over this timeframe, including schemes to be delivered or developed. These 

schemes are included in Map 4. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in all townships of the borough of Rochdale 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people who want or have to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private 

car. This will build on the delivery of the Castleton Local Centre Corridor and 

Document Pack Page 440



 

14 

continuation of the route to Rochdale Town Centre through the MCF programme.  

Map 3 below provides an overview of how the Bee Network will be developed over 

the next 5 years, based on current priorities.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority Description 

Active Neighbourhoods At least one active neighbourhood scheme implemented 
across for each of the townships in Rochdale Borough. 

Rail and Metrolink 
Walking and Cycling 
Links 

Local walking and cycling investment plans better 
connecting residential areas with each Railway Station 
and Metrolink stop. 

School Streets Establish and progress delivery of a School Streets 
programme across Rochdale borough. 

Spotland Masterplan Bee Network in the Spotland area  

Wildhouse Lane Delivery of Bee Network in the Milnrow/Hollingworth 
Lake area  

Littleborough Free 
School 

Bee Network and school access measures associated 
with new school development 

Heywood Old Road Bee Network delivery in the Heywood area 

Mainway Bee Network delivery in Alkrington Garden Village 

Castleton to Rochdale 
town centre, 

Bee Network Proposals to connect Castleton to 
Rochdale town centre. 

Hollingworth Lake Cycle 
Corridor 

Bee Network proposals to deliver cycling and walking 
connections at Hollingworth Lake. 

Valley of the Stone 
Cycleway 

Completion of the Valley of the Stone Cycleway from 

Bacup – Rawtenstall south to Rochdale Town Centre. 

Rochdale Royal 
Infirmary Walking and 
Cycling Links 

Improvement in pedestrian and cycle access to 
Rochdale Royal Infirmary. 

District Wayfinding Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough. 

Neighbourhood Street 
Maintenance 

Borough-wide maintenance programme. 

Behaviour Change 
Activities 

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee Network, 
active neighbourhoods, and new development. 

Document Pack Page 441



 

15 

 
Map 3: Rochdale Committed and Priority Bee Network and Map   

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 442



 
 

16 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to / from and within Heywood, Middleton, 

Littleborough and Rochdale Town Centres by foot, bike, and public transport 

In the next 5 years this means creating “Streets for All” in the town centres of 

Heywood, Littleborough, Middleton and Rochdale, including at Rochdale Station 

Gateway, through improvements to the Public Realm.  

Access to these centres will also be improved by bus, walking and cycling, as well as 

delivery of the South Heywood link road using an approach that incorporates Streets 

for All principles, detailed within the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. Priorities for 

investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority  Description 

Heywood Town Centre 
Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Heywood Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 

Littleborough Town 
Centre Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Littleborough Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 
 
Phase 1 will include multi-modal package of 
interventions to support Littleborough Town Centre 
Masterplan. Improvements to complex junction to 
alleviate congestion and accommodate development-
generated growth 

Middleton Town Centre 
Masterplan 

Development and delivery of Middleton Town Centre 
Masterplan, applying Streets for All principles to 
improve access by foot, bus, and by bike. 

Rochdale Station 
Gateway Masterplan 

Programme of improved surface level crossings for 
pedestrians and cyclists on the A58 in Rochdale, in 
particular around the Town Centre and links to/from the 
Railway station. 

Town Centre Street 
Maintenance 

Borough-wide maintenance programme. 

 

Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Rochdale Borough 

In the next 5 years this means focusing on improving bus provision on the key 

corridors of the A58, A671 and A664 / A6046 and improved access to bus stops in 

the townships in Rochdale Borough. 

Alongside proposals to deliver Quality Bus Transit between Bury and Oldham, and a 

Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit service (providing direct connections between 

Heywood and the Regional centre), detailed in the Delivery Plan, priorities for 

investment over the next 5-years: 

Document Pack Page 443



 
 

17 

Investment Priority Description 

Demand Responsive 
Bus Services – 
Rochdale Town Centre 

Demand responsive bus service to Rochdale Town 
Centre to serve communities surrounding Rochdale, 
reducing the need to travel by private vehicle. 

Enhanced Bus 
Connectivity 

Improved bus connections to key destinations in the 
borough outside Rochdale Town Centre (Littleborough, 
Middleton, Heywood, Fairfield Hospital, Kingsway 
Business Park, Hollingworth Lake). 

Streets for All 
Improvements to Key 
Bus Corridors 

Streets for All improvements to the key bus corridors of 
the A58, A671 and A664 / A6046 to improve reliability, 
quality of bus stops and improved connections to stops 
by foot and bike. 

Addressing Service and 
Fares Issues 

Address fragmentation and dis-integration of bus 
services and unaffordable fares for many journeys. 

Outcome 4: Streets in Rochdale Borough will be clean and green 

In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of road traffic in 

Rochdale Borough through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission 

vehicles and reduce emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across the 

Borough. 

Alongside the M62 Junction 19 Link Road Scheme and schemes to deliver Streets 

for All Town Centre proposals detailed in Outcome 2, and improvement of cycling 

and walking connections to Metrolink and Rail Stations, detailed in outcome 1, 

priorities for Investment over the next 5-years are: 

Investment Priority Description 

Air Pollution Reduction 
Actions 

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 
are expected to exceed, or are at risk of exceeding air 
quality thresholds, for example the A58. 

Castleton HGV Traffic 
Reduction Measures 

Reduce HGV traffic through Castleton by implementing 
Streets for All / Bee Network improvements. 

Electric Vehicle Charge 
Point 

Programme to increase the number of electric vehicles 
charging points across the Borough. 

E-Scooters To trial a model for shared mobility across the Borough 
to improve first / last mile connectivity to / from transport 
hubs, employment areas and town centres 

Rochdale Valley 
Corridor Improvements 
(Albert Royds St – 
Smithy Bridge Road) 
 

New road to serve new residential areas, avoiding 
increased traffic on A58, on which a Rochdale - 
Littleborough Bus Corridor Upgrade will be implemented 
as part of the improvements.  Includes cycle 
infrastructure alongside new road, with links to 
surrounding cycle network. 

 

Document Pack Page 444



 
 

18 

Outcome 5: Rochdale Borough residents, workers and visitors have good 

access to Rapid transit connections 

The Rochdale Rail Corridor Strategy identifies land for around 7,000 new homes and 

new employment space to be laid out within 800 metres of the Borough’s existing rail 

stations and will support delivery of a new station at Slattocks to serve Stakehill 

Industrial estate, Hopwood Hall College and surrounding areas.  To support these 

plans, in the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility 

and capacity of Rochdale Borough’s rapid transit network, supporting more 

residents, workers, shoppers and visitors to travel to and from the Borough by 

sustainable modes, and enable new Transit Orientated Neighbourhoods to be built 

around our existing and proposed infrastructure.  It will also require new or improved 

walking and cycling routes to be provided into/from rail stations and Metrolink stops 

to promote first/last mile connectivity by foot as well as infrastructure improvements 

at stations.   

Alongside strategic measures in the longer term to improve connectivity to/ from 

Rochdale from cross-GM, such as Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit, a rail 

station at Slattocks, Middleton Metrolink and delivery of improved Park and Ride at 

Rochdale Station, Castleton, Smithy Bridge, and Littleborough, alongside 

improvements to rail capacity in Rochdale Borough, priorities for investment over the 

next 5 years are: 

Investment Priority Description 

Rail and Metrolink 
Walking and Cycling 
Links 

Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active travel connections between residential areas with 
each Rail / Metrolink stations.   

Kingsway Mobility Hub Mobility hub at Kingsway Hub, focusing on shared 
mobility interventions and improvements to interchange. 

Rochdale Station 
Mobility Hub 

Mobility hub at Kingsway Hub, focusing on shared 
mobility interventions and improvements to interchange. 

 

Outcome 6: Streets in Rochdale are well maintained and in good condition for 

all people who live in or travel within Rochdale 

This means continuing to invest in maintaining Rochdale’s streets and roads for all 

people who use them, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the 

neighbourhood level to essential maintenance to structures on Rochdale’s Key Road 

Network.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Document Pack Page 445



 
 

19 

Investment Priority Description 

Pothole Repair  Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active Delivery of Central Government Pothole funding 
programme. 

Highway Maintenance Continued Council capital investment in the structure of 
the highway by way of an asset management-based 
approach to road resurfacing. 

Structures Maintenance Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections. 

Forward Planning 
Maintenance 

Develop a plan and deliver how Highway Maintenance 
will be delivered in Rochdale from 2022 onwards at the 
conclusion of the current Highways Maintenance Term 
Service Contract. 

Document Pack Page 446



 
 

20 

 
Map 4: Rochdale Implementation Plan Schemes 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 447



 
 

21 

5. Indicators 

Rochdale Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets 

Document Pack Page 448



 

1 

Salford Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction to Implementation Plan 

Salford has a vision for a ‘better and fairer Salford for all’, identifying a set of 8 key 

priorities: 

• Tackling poverty and inequality – Significant levels of poverty continue to exist 

in many parts of Salford. Working with our partners, we will take action to 

make things better for the many households struggling to make ends meet. 

We must also look to prevent people from falling into poverty in the first place, 

building on what we know is already working, as well as developing new ways 

of doing things. 

• Education and skills – Developing skills and a strong education offer. We want 

productive local jobs with real career progression and opportunities to develop 

skills and talents. 

• Health and social care – Working with our partners to improve health and 

wellbeing. 

• Economic development – Investment that provides jobs with decent wages. 

We will use our power and influence to target employers who have a 

commitment to giving something back in return – those who offer local jobs, 

look after their employees and pay them well. 

• Housing – Tackling soaring rents and a lack of affordable housing. 

• Transport – Connecting affordable transport with jobs and skills. 

• A transparent effective organisation – Delivering effective and efficient council 

services. 

• Social impact – Using social value to make the most difference in Salford. 

Making sure council money gets the most 'bang for its buck' for Salford 

residents. 

This Implementation Plan sets out how local transport will work toward these 

priorities, expanding upon Salford’s planned and current transport projects, set out in 

the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

this Implementation Plan is focussed on local, neighbourhood level priorities and 

interventions to be delivered across the Metropolitan Borough of Salford up to 2025. 

This provides an update to the previously published plans including Transport in 

Salford 20251, and the Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy2. This sits 

within Salford’s wider growth ambition to deliver 40,000 new homes and 40,000 new 

jobs, by 2040. 

 
1 Salford City Council (2013) Transport in Salford 2025. Available: 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386561/transport_in_salford_2025.pdf 
2 Salford City Council (2009) Central Salford Integrated Transport Strategy. Available: 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/387349/central_salford_integrated_transport_strategy.pdf 

Document Pack Page 449

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/386561/transport_in_salford_2025.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/387349/central_salford_integrated_transport_strategy.pdf


 

2 

To achieve these ambitions, we have set four key transport-related outcomes which 

we would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

• Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys made by foot and by bike 

across Salford. 

• Enhancing sustainable travel opportunities to employment, education and 

health and social care services for Salford residents. 

• Strengthening connections between deprived residential areas with existing 

and emerging employment opportunities. 

• Supporting new sustainable housing development opportunities across 

Salford. 

These are consistent with the Delivery of Salford’s Local Plan, set out within a 

combination of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (including land 

allocation), and development management policies and designations3. A summary of 

strategic schemes within the Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-

2025) are provided below. 

1.1 Salford Publication Local Plan (2020) 

To create a fairer Salford, accessibility goals have been identified through the 

Publication Local Plan (2020): 

• Improving access for everyone to employment, retail and leisure opportunities 

within and around Salford. 

• Providing increased opportunities for walking and cycling, helping to support 

healthier lifestyles and reduce the costs of travel. 

• Increasing the proportion of trips that can be made by public transport, to 

increase inclusivity (especially for the 37% of Salford households that do not 

have access to a car) and reduce reliance on the private car. 

• Minimising the negative impacts of car use on quality of life.

 
3 Salford City Council (2020) Publication Local Plan: Development Management Policies and Designations. 
Available: https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394997/publication-salford-local-plan-slpdmp-jan-2020.pdf 

Document Pack Page 450

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/394997/publication-salford-local-plan-slpdmp-jan-2020.pdf


 

3 

2. Strategic Transport Issues in Salford 

 

Document Pack Page 451



 

4 

 

 

Document Pack Page 452



 

5 

 

Map 1: Strategic Transport Interventions in Salford (2040 5-Year Delivery Plan 2020-2025)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 453



 

6 

 

Map 2: Salford future land supply and existing strategic transport network (GMSF 2020, ELS 2018) 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 454



 

7 

2.1. Covid-19 Recovery 

The Coronavirus pandemic represents a significant challenge for Salford residents, 

business and visitors. A detailed engagement was conducted during 2020 to 

understand resident’s top priorities, identifying almost 800 suggestions on the 

priorities for #SafeStreetsSaveLives, to address place and movement challenges. 

Over 2 weeks, the platform received over 4,000 visitors and 4,455 contributions for 

immediate interventions as part of national government’s drive to implement 

emergency active travel improvements.  

 
Map 3: Feedback from Salford’s engagement exercise  

Salford City Council were awarded £500,000 from the Greater Manchester Mayor’s 

Challenge Fund programme for temporary cycling and walking improvements and 

implemented a range of transport measures to safely enable Covid-19 recovery. This 

was further supported by an initial £1.5m allocation from the government’s 

Emergency Active Travel fund. This funding has enabled the delivery of active travel 

interventions such as modal filters to reduce through-traffic flows in busy or 

residential areas as well as protecting cycle lanes with improved segregation. Work 

has been completed at locations including Blackfriars Street, Liverpool Street, Irwell 

Street and in the Trinity and Islington area. 

Document Pack Page 455



 

8 

Table 1: Key issues and proposals from Salford engagement exercise 

 

Emergency Active 
Travel Scheme 

Description 

Cycle Parking Additional short stay on-street cycle parking and residential 
cycle parking for households without space to store bikes. 

Barrier Removals Including overgrown vegetation, bollards and gates that 
you have to unnecessarily touch. Significant Vegetation 
cutbacks have been identified along busy highways. 

Modal Filters / 
Filtered 
Neighbourhoods 

Additional Modal filters to create Filtered Neighbourhoods 
in residential areas, reducing vehicle speeds, limiting 
people using residential streets as a cut through by non-
local vehicle traffic, and improve the local walking 
environment. 

Table 2: Emergency Active Travel Schemes and Descriptions 

This collaborative model of engagement worked well to inform an initial set of 

evidenced and supported emergency active travel measures, in response to the 

COVID-19 emergency. These interventions are being delivered alongside wider 

support services provided through the ‘Spirit of Salford’, a helpline for all residents to 

discuss a wide array of immediate issues that may arise through the period. Looking 

beyond, major strategic projects, including the interventions listed within this Local 

Implementation Plan, will ensure Salford can ‘build back better’, developing a 

pipeline of sustainable initiatives to stimulate the local economy. 

3. Spatial Themes, Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Trips made in Salford: 2040 Right Mix Vision 

Greater Manchester has an ambition that by 2040, that at least 50% of trips made 

within our city-region will be made by sustainable modes such as walking, cycling 

and public transport, and accounting for economic growth means one million more 

sustainable journeys every day in Greater Manchester by 2040. Achieving the Right 

Issues Proposals 

• Speeding 

• Gates you must touch to open 

• Not able to maintain 2m distance 
from others 

• Behaviour of road users  

• Volumes of traffic 

• Barriers that restrict access 

• Spaces to sit and wait 

• More parking 

• Better crossings 

• Temporary cycle path 

• Prevent through traffic 

• More space to walk 

• Reduce parking 

• Close street to cars 

• More space to cycle 

• Extend pavement 

• Reduce Traffic Speed  

Document Pack Page 456



 

9 

Mix is expected to lead to zero net growth in motor vehicle traffic. This is known as 

the “Right Mix”.   

Salford is already making great steps toward this and at present approximately 40% 

of trips made in Salford are made by sustainable modes. The Greater Manchester 

2040 Transport Strategy introduces ‘spatial themes’ to segment the types of travel 

made to plan the most appropriate interventions. 

The most significant category of trips within Salford are Neighbourhood Trips (47%) 

where distances are under 2km. Approximately 33% of these trips are made by 

private car (driver or passenger) 4, yet many could be walked in just over 20 minutes, 

or even quicker by bicycle. There is the greatest scope for rapid modal shift 

progressing toward the ‘Right Mix’ if attractive opportunities are created for walking 

and cycling these trips. 

Further information on identifying and addressing specific connectivity issues across 

Greater Manchester can be found within the individual spatial themes are recorded 

within the GMSF Transport Study Reports5.  

  Neighbourhood 
Wider City 
Region 

Regional 
Centre 

City to 
City 

Salford 47% 32% 19% 1% 

GM 44% 38% 15% 4% 

 

 

Image 1 and 2: Salford’s current modeshare and GM Right Mix objectives 

 
4 TfGM (2020) TRADS years 3, 4 5. 
5 TfGM (2018) GMSF Spatial Framework Transport Study: Understanding the Issues (Part 1). Available: 
https://downloads.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4UjNKtvwXmxMPpsKXBJw7p/b9711987da7aa3b18326f208430efa8
2/GMSF_Transport_Study_Understanding_the_Issues_Report_Collated.pdf 

Document Pack Page 457

https://downloads.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4UjNKtvwXmxMPpsKXBJw7p/b9711987da7aa3b18326f208430efa82/GMSF_Transport_Study_Understanding_the_Issues_Report_Collated.pdf
https://downloads.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/4UjNKtvwXmxMPpsKXBJw7p/b9711987da7aa3b18326f208430efa82/GMSF_Transport_Study_Understanding_the_Issues_Report_Collated.pdf


 

10 

3.2. Strategic Development Areas 

As part of Salford’s ambition to deliver 40,000 new homes and jobs by 2040, there 

are several key growth areas and priority locations for transport investment that will 

deliver this growth in the City which are illustrated in the figure below. 

 
Map 4: Salford Strategic Development Map 

3.2.1. Salford City Centre 

The vision for City Centre Salford to 2040 is captured in the following objectives for 

this place: 

• A Great Place to live 

• A growing and diverse employment offer 

• A destination for culture and leisure 

• Conveniently connected 

• Urban lifestyle and outdoor life 

As the most significant location of housing and employment growth within Salford, 

and the converging point of a wide variety of transport infrastructure and services 

across North West England, a detailed review of travel challenges, opportunities, 

alongside a specific plan for transport, has been prepared for the adjacent city 

centres of Salford and Manchester. This can be found within the City Centre 

Transport Strategy. 

Development already complete in this area has started its transformation into a 

vibrant residential neighbourhood and increased the commercial office space at 

locations including Greengate and New Bailey. There has already been 

Document Pack Page 458



 

11 

consolidation and removal of commuter parking spaces as part of the development 

of the area and it is well placed to take advantage of public transport links. These 

include rail stations at Salford Central and Salford Crescent and an extensive 

network of bus services that link this area to Greater Manchester and beyond. 

Salford has already delivered interventions in the area including the delivery of 

sustainable infrastructure improvement at New Bailey Street. This infrastructure 

project reallocated road space to deliver an enhanced pedestrian environment 

alongside sustainable drainage features. New Bailey also supports access for bus 

services including the Cross City Vantage service that deliver large volumes of 

passengers to and from the regional centre on a daily basis. 

Walking and cycling will be key modes for 

movement around this area in the future, 

especially for those who choose to live and 

work in this area. The delivery of a 

programme of enhancements to create a safer 

walking and cycling network has started with 

more to be delivered over the coming years. 

Examples of work to create more pedestrian 

and cycle friendly environments can already 

be seen at Bloom Street and Carpinio place. 

This will be complemented by the 

development of filtered neighbourhoods that 

seek to limit the impact of through traffic on 

residential areas to help support walking and 

cycling in these locations where many 

residents don’t own a car. Ultimately these 

projects will be linked to deliver safe routes 

through the area as part of Greater 

Manchester’s Bee Network proposals. 

Salford Central and Salford Crescent Rail Stations are key arrival points to Salford 

City Centre. A major upgrade of platform facilities at Salford Central Station is 

planned in the coming years to support greater passenger numbers and improved 

connections. Similarly, as part of the Salford Crescent masterplan further 

enhancements at the Crescent station, linked to our ambition for a new Metrolink line 

to Salford Quays will help to support more sustainable journey choices to support the 

growth of this area. 

The emerging Salford Crescent masterplan will see the transformation of the area 

around the University with the ambition to create an urban innovation district. This 

has the potential to deliver an additional 2500 homes and 6,500 jobs as the 

proposals are delivered over the next decade and beyond. Sustainable travel will be 

key to supporting this growth and key infrastructure ambitions include: 

• Bringing Metrolink to the Crescent to connect to Salford Quays and ultimately 

the Regional centre. This would create a transport hub at the Crescent that 

Image 3: New Bailey Street 
Gateway 

Document Pack Page 459



 

12 

will also benefit from proposals to increase passenger capacity on the 

suburban rail network serving this rail line. 

• Linking both sides of the University Campus on Frederic Road to create 

Salford Rise, a podium structure linking a new innovation district and 

supporting access to the university campus by sustainable modes on a traffic 

free route. 

Upgrading the A6 at the Crescent to prioritise Walking, Cycling and Public 

Transport, initially to support existing high frequency bus transport but 

ultimately to accommodate Metrolink services. 

 
Map 5: Draft City Centre Bee network 

3.2.2. Salford Quays including MediaCityUK 

Salford Quays is a regeneration success story and is maturing into a diverse 

neighbourhood where people work, live and play. It has transformed an obsolete, 

derelict docklands to create the region’s premier waterfront destination.  

The Quays benefits from a number of key visitor attractions including the Lowry 

Centre and is the home to BBC Sports and Children’s departments. The BBC is 

based at a purpose built digital and tech hub and the wider MediaCityUK 

development includes the media campus for Salford University.  The arrival of 

MediaCityUK has provided the impetus needed to attract the next generation of jobs 

and has acted as a launch pad for even more ambitious growth.    

Document Pack Page 460



 

13 

Salford Quays is once more positioned to take another leap forward, creating a 

dynamic and active centre that is an attraction for people who live there as well as 

visitors. It has the potential to deliver 3,000 new homes every three years and a 

doubling of current jobs by 2040. 

The area already benefits from the Eccles Metrolink line and the recently opened 

Trafford park line has stops within walking distance. The area is also served by key 

highway links and a bus services that link to Salford University and Regional centre. 

However, it is clear that the scale of development at Salford Quays will need to be 

supported by further investments in public transport capacity in the future to enable 

more trips to be made by sustainable modes. The Trafford Road project will support 

this ambition through the delivery of an upgraded corridor to for all users with the 

introduction of protected cycling facilities on this busy corridor.   Salford’s ambition is 

for a new Metrolink Line to be delivered to link the Quays to the heavy rail network at 

Salford Crescent and ultimately beyond into the regional centre.  

3.2.3. Greater Manchester’s Western Gateway including Port Salford 

Adjacent to the Manchester Ship Canal, the Western Gateway looks towards the 

Port of Liverpool and recent investments to accommodate post-panama sized 

vessels from around the world, enabling a direct global trading link for Salford. Port 

Salford is identified as a major economic opportunity for the City of Salford and 

Greater Manchester. Currently under construction, once completed it will include a 

tri-modal freight hub, improving the sustainability of Greater Manchester’s distribution 

and supply chain activity. 

This will be enabled through the provision of an inland port, rail spur, and improved 

highway access to the Strategic Road Network with 150,000m2 of employment 

floorspace. A further 370,000m2 of employment floor space is included in the 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework to deliver a second phase of logistics 

development. This site could potentially deliver up to 5,000 jobs across both phases 

and creates one of the most significant new warehouse and logistics sites in the UK. 

The transportation elements are essential to its success, and further future 

expansion has been identified through the GMSF. 

While the area is close to the motorway network new highway infrastructure is 

needed to ensure provide efficient connections to the new port and rail facilities. The 

option to move significant volumes of freight by rail and water has the potential to 

make a significant reduction to carbon emissions associated with the movement of 

goods to and from Greater Manchester as well as providing efficient connections to 

an increasingly global market. A highway solution delivered here will need to 

adequately address local and strategic highway requirements, ensuring effective 

operation of both. The location falls within the scope of areas considered as part of 

Highways England study into the M60 Manchester North West Quadrant. Salford will 

continue to work with partners to seek the delivery of the infrastructure needed to 

support the continuing growth of the Western Gateway.  

The Western Gateway is also home to Salford Community Stadium where the 

surrounding land is anticipated to generate further development opportunities that 

could support and additional c500 jobs at this location. Key to maximising the 

Document Pack Page 461



 

14 

potential of this location will be strengthening public transport connections and 

Salford’s ambition is for this area to be connected to the Metrolink network via an 

extension of the Trafford Park line. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support this site 

has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 

GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 

Delivery Plan 

 

Image 4: Port Salford Phase 1 + Phase 2 

3.2.4. RHS Garden Bridgewater 

The RHS will open their fifth national garden, RHS Garden Bridgewater, in Salford in 

2021 on the 154-acre former Worsley New Hall site. The site is expected to attract 

around 700,000 visitors annually by 2031, supporting an estimated 326 jobs. To help 

encourage visitors to use sustainable transport modes to visit the site a cycling and 

walking route from Walkden train station is proposed, linking to local communities 

and also connecting the site to the Bridgewater Canal towpath. Close by are 

Salford’s extensive Mossland habitats which form the largest open area of land in the 

City and have the potential to act as a green lung for the City. Salford’s investments 

in traffic free walking and cycling routes, including the Salford Greenway, have 

demonstrated the potential to increase access for recreation in this area by foot and 

by bike in the future to support work to protect and enhance this important landscape 

for future generations to enjoy. 

3.3. Salford’s Towns and Neighbourhoods 

Salford’s towns of Eccles, Swinton and Walkden are relatively small compared to 

some of the larger towns in Greater Manchester but each has a district centre that 

serves a wider established residential area. Salford’s towns face a number of 

challenges through changes in shopping habits and the catchment areas for these 

centres include both affluent and deprived neighbourhoods. Whilst not matching the 

Document Pack Page 462



 

15 

scale of growth elsewhere in Salford there is potential for further residential growth in 

these areas. The centres of these town present the opportunity for sustainable 

residential growth as retail uses have declined. All three towns have a rail station 

and are well connected by bus services. 

Ensuring that residents have safe routes to access these centres on foot and by bike 

is an important part of our aspirations for the Bee Network in Salford. 

Salford’s ambition for its towns is that by 2040 at least 50% of trips will be made by 

sustainable modes such as walking, cycling and public transport in line with the Right 

Mix aspirations for Greater Manchester. This will require more support for active 

modes and public transport supporting greater access to and around our towns 

without the need to use a car. 

Through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, the local centres of Little 

Hulton and Boothstown are also prioritised for residential growth due to their 

proximity to strategic local transport links where development can be accommodated 

most sustainably. Existing strategic transport corridors and the interventions 

proposed within the 5-Year Delivery Plan to strengthen them such as the Leigh-

Salford-Manchester Bus Rapid Transit Corridor, Wigan via Atherton Rail Corridor, 

and M61 corridor are fundamental to accommodating this growth. Further 

information on these allocations can be found within the GMSF and respective 

Transport Locality Assessments. 

A range of policy standards are proposed within Salford to encourage sustainable 

travel behaviours in new developments. These include, but are not limited to, electric 

vehicle charging provisions, maximum general car parking space provisions, as well 

as minimum bicycle parking standards. 

3.3.1. Locations beyond Salford 

Growth beyond the borough will also place pressure on Salford’s transport networks. 

The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework provides a coordinated approach 

between the 10 local authorities to facilitate this growth through the accompanying 5-

year Delivery Plan. Outside of Greater Manchester, developments within Warrington 

at Stretton, Grappenhall, Omega, Haydock and within St Helens at Parkside and 

Newton-le-Willows will increase demand on the existing corridors of the M62, A57, 

and CLC and Chat Moss heavy rail lines. Salford will continue to work with partners 

such as neighbouring authorities and national transport bodies to identify and deliver 

appropriate solutions to mitigate the impacts of new development. 

3.4. Salford Transport Policy Priorities 

3.4.1. Highways 

A summary of achievements of Salford’s current Highway Investment Programme is 

provided. Since 2011/12, investment in the highway network has achieved: 

• Highways in critical condition have fallen from 9.3% to 8%; 

Document Pack Page 463



 

16 

• Highways where maintenance will be soon required has fallen from 48.1% to 

40%. 

• Highways in a good overall condition has risen from 42.6% to 52%. 

• Resurfacing 1329 Roads. 

• Resurfacing or reconstructing 627 Footways. 

Continued investment in the Drainage Network since 2012 has achieved: 

• 1945 gullies cleared and running freely  

• 986 seized gully covers freed, greased and operational 

• 567 collapsed gully connections repaired 

• 1428 defective gully pots replaced 

• 662 damaged gully covers replaced 

• 362 general highway drainage repairs removing localised flooding issues 

Since the start of the Culvert Investment over the last three years the works have 

safeguarded areas of Salford from flood risk, ensuring proactive cost effective 

repairs and desilting works have avoided disruptive and more significant reactive 

repairs in future. This has led to a demonstrable reduction in reactive maintenance 

orders to repair defects (those which could cause harm or injury to persons or 

property) across the City’s highways network from 17,600 issued in 2011/12 to 7,651 

issued in 2019/20. 

Salford’s suite of highway policy and strategy provides local detail building on 

Greater Manchester’s Streets for All approach: 

• Highway infrastructure asset management plan (HIAMP) 

o Salford's highway infrastructure is an asset valued at £1.2 billion and it 

is vitally important that it is protected and maintained efficiently within 

the constraints of currently available resources so that a defined level 

of service can be provided for road users.  

• Highway policy and strategy 

o Provides a summary of the available policy statements which support 

the highways infrastructure asset management plan.  

• Salford City Council highway inspection code of practice 

o Demonstrating how Salford City Council will inspect and repair the 

highway to reduce risk and provide a safe serviceable highway network 

to comply with Section 41 Highways Act 1980.  

• Operational standards document 

o The operational policies and standards of Salford City Council for the 

management of its highway assets, identifying good practice in line 

with the recommendations in the national code of practice. 

• Salford local flood risk management strategy 

o A framework for the effective management of local flood risk in Salford. 

• Winter weather maintenance plan 

o To provide safe movement of traffic on trunk, principal, classified and 

district roads in the city of Salford, minimising delays and incidents 

caused by adverse winter weather. 

• Skid resistance policy 

Document Pack Page 464



 

17 

o Details of Salford's skid resistance policy including the investigation 

process. 

• Resilient Highway Network 

o The roads prioritised within the Salford city boundary that are required 

to be operational in severe weather conditions to allow essential 

services to function reliably and safely and to ensure movement of 

traffic within Salford.  

• Weekly roadworks bulletin 

o Enabling the general public to view planned major road works on the 

highway network in Salford or affecting Salford's network. It is 

distributed to relevant stakeholders, including local and national media 

outlets for wider communication.  

• Statutory instrument - The Traffic Management Act (Salford City 

Council) Permit Scheme Order 2013 

o The 'Greater Manchester Permit Scheme' under Section 33A (2) of the 

Traffic Management Act 2004 includes information on how utility 

companies should operate in Salford. Details of Greater Manchester 

Road Activities Permit Scheme (GMRAPS)  

 

3.4.2. Public Transport 

Salford has a substantial network of bus and rail services that provide access to and 

around the City. Recent investment in cross city Vantage bus services has seen as 

many as 70,000 passengers in a week chose to use this frequent bus service along 

the guided busway and A580. However, these services are concentrated mainly on 

radial routes meaning that some locations are difficult to access due to the lack of 

corridors enabling North-South (orbital) movement across Salford. This often leads 

to private vehicles being a more attractive option than public transport resulting in 

congestion on our highway network. Salford’s ambition is for more investment in our 

wider bus network to bring the benefits enjoyed on the Vantage service to a wider 

set of routes linking our communities to leisure and employment opportunities. 

Our rail network has significant potential to support additional trips by sustainable 

modes but need significant investment to help it reach this potential. Investment is 

needed both in station infrastructure and train services, with an increase in capacity 

and frequency of services to help these routes reach their potential. Salford’s 

aspiration is for our rail network to aspire to a Metrolink standard of modern rail 

facilities providing a fast and frequent journey’s for residents of our established 

towns and residential communities. The Metrolink network in Salford serves key 

employment leisure destinations at Salford Quays and also one of our important 

town centres at Eccles. Salford’s ambition is for an expansion of the Metrolink 

network in Salford to link Salford Quays and the Crescent with the regional centre 

and also to extend the Trafford Park line to serve Salford Community Stadium in the 

Western Gateway. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 465



 

18 

3.4.3. Active Travel  

Salford has been making excellent progress in delivering the first elements of a high 

quality cycling and walking network, and these services and support to help 

residents and visitors benefit from it across the borough, as part of Greater 

Manchester’s Bee Network ambition, and the aspirations set out by Chris Boardman 

in Made to Move.  

Salford has recently improved its network of quality traffic-free cycling and walking 

infrastructure to encourage physical activity in recent years, including: Roe Green 

Loopline, Linnyshaw Loopline, Tyldesley Loopline, Ellenbrook Loopline, Port Salford 

Greenway and the Bridgewater Way. These routes will be strengthened further 

through the tying in of further projects identified within section 5. Beyond corridor 

improvements, it is also essential to deliver safer and more attractive crossings and 

junctions. For example, many main roads, such as the Inner Relief Route or Broad 

St, have limited crossing points and currently sever the communities on either side of 

these busy roads. This is why a number of interventions set out in section 5 include 

interventions designed to reduce the severance impact of these routes.  

However, there are still issues of severance caused by the Manchester Ship Canal 

and the River Irwell where movement is limited to a few crossings. 

  

Map 6: Salford Looplines traffic free network 

Document Pack Page 466



 

19 

Opportunities are provided to support residents to get active, including through 

Salford’s Health Improvement Services, providing organised group activities 

including walking, running cycling and dog walking groups. Engagement with 

Salford’s residents has been critical to developing plans, and the Cycling and 

Walking forum provides regular open discussions and a recognised engagement 

channel for members to raise issues and make suggestions. 

3.5. Preparing for changing travel needs and transport innovations 

Salford recognises that the needs of its residents are changing and, for example, 

smaller numbers of the next generation are learning to drive. This same generation 

are much more likely to use technology to broaden their travel options and the 

adoption of new technology can help us to make the best use of our existing 

transport assets. Salford is working on a number of projects that will help to give 

more opportunities for residents to make different and more effective journey 

choices: 

• A trial of e-scooters starting at Salford University with the potential to expand 

to cover a wider operating area as the trial develops. 

• Using smart sensors to determine near real time activity on our network, 

including counting the numbers of pedestrians and cyclists to influence both 

the operation and future development of our transport networks. 

• Expanding our network of electric vehicle charging points to support the wider 

adoption of electric vehicles on our network. 

• Working with Transport for Greater Manchester to trial the use of 5G 

communications technology and Artificial Intelligence to improve the efficiency 

of our traffic signals; 

• Working with partners including Salford university to understand the impact of 

Connected and Autonomous Vehicles on our network. 

• Supporting the potential to develop Mobility as a Service applications for 

residents following a successful trial supported by Transport for Greater 

Manchester. 

• Continuing to develop Salford’s car club to reduce the need for individual car 

ownership 

• Working with partners to support the development of smart and multimodal 

ticketing to encourage more use of our public transport network. 

 

Document Pack Page 467



 

20 

 
Image 5: E-Scooter Trial Scooters  

Document Pack Page 468



 

21 

4. 5-Year Local Implementation Plan Outcomes for Salford 

Ambition, Engagement and Collaboration 

Critical to delivering real change against Salford’s 8 priorities will be high quality, 

resilient and sustainable solutions that improve the quality of place, encouraging 

sustainable behaviours consistent with Greater Manchester’s Right Mix Vision. 

As part of citizen led approach to highway network development, residents and 

visitors to Salford have voiced their thoughts on the key priorities. This began 

through the drafting and redrafting of Greater Manchester’s Bee Network, which 

attracted over 4,000 public comments to propose an ambitious 1,800 mile network. 

Following the lessons learned during the Bee Network development, community 

engagement was continued on Covid-19 recovery measures, noted in section 3. 

 
Map 7: Greater Manchester Bee Network Map comments 

The outcomes below will be achieved through a continued and overarching principle 

of community engagement and collaboration. This feedback will reinforce an 

evidenced and supported set of prioritised interventions that meet the needs of local 

communities, while learning from best practice previously applied elsewhere. 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 469



 

22 

4.1. Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys made by foot and by 

bike across Salford 

Following ongoing public engagement following the initial development of Greater 

Manchester’s Bee Network proposal, Salford has developed a comprehensive set of 

future highway schemes to encourage cycling and walking, for delivery over the next 

5 years to help achieve this fundamental outcome. Continued consultation will help 

refine detailed design of these further, alongside the generation of further scheme 

proposals for neighbourhoods utilising methods like the Commonplace platform. 

The schemes committed for delivery in the next 5 years, are as follows: 

A set of additional local priorities have been identified for business case 
development: 

Scheme Name Description 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Chapel 
Street East Phase 1 Demonstrator 
Project 

Busy Bee route delivery in Salford city 
centre. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: SBNI - A6 
Broad Street / B6186 Frederick Road 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections in the Salford 
University area. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Swinton and 
Walkden 

Junction upgrades for cycling and walking 
in Swinton and Walkden. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Swinton 
Greenway 

Busy Bee route delivery in Swinton 
through upgrade of former rail line. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Trafford 
Road 

Busy Bee route on Trafford Road, Salford 
Quays. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Barton 
Aqueduct 

Reinstatement of towpath on historic 
Aqueduct, providing a key Bee Network 
connection between Trafford Park and 
Eccles/Barton-upon-Irwell. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: RHS Links Bee Network connections to new RHS 
Bridgewater site in Worsley. 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund: City Centre 
Bee Network Package 

Including interventions at: 

• Broughton Cycleway 
Enhancements 

• Chapel Street/Trinity Way 

• Chapel Street East Phase 2 

• Gore Street Connection 

• Oldfield Road Corridor 

• Ordsall Chord Riverside 
Connection 

• St. Johns to New Bailey Bridge 

Document Pack Page 470



 

23 

Scheme Name  Description 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Monton Bee Network delivery in Monton. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Trinity 
Way/Springfield Lane Junction Upgrade 

Junction upgrade to facilitate Bee 
Network connections. 

Mayor’s Challenge Fund: Liverpool 
Street Junctions 

Junction upgrades to MCF standard 
(Albion Way and Cross Lane) 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Liverpool 
Street Corridor 

Busy Beeway delivery on Liverpool St to 
facilitate a major cycling and walking 
connection to the city centre from the 
west. 

Mayor's Challenge Fund: Ordsall 
Neighbourhood 

Active Neighbourhood delivery in 
Ordsall. 

Little Hulton and Walkden 
Neighbourhoods 

Active Neighbourhood scheme in Little 
Hulton and Walkden 

Swinton Neighbourhood Active Neighbourhood scheme in 
Swinton 

Pendleton Neighbourhood (Cross lane-
Langworthy Road area) 

Active Neighbourhood scheme in 
Pendleton 

Innovation Triangle Bee Network delivery in 
University/Eccles/Salford Quays area 

Walkden Crossings Bee Network delivery in Walkden area 

Cheshire Lines Connection (Trafford 
Greenway) 

New Bee Network connection linking 
Irlam to Altrincham along the former 
Cheshire Lines rail alignment, crossing 
the Manchester Ship Canal at 
Cadishead. 

 

Document Pack Page 471



 

24 

 
Map 8:   Salford’s Bee Network Proposals including Committed and 5-Year Priority Active Travel Schemes

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 472



 

25 

4.2. Enhancing sustainable travel opportunities to employment, education 

and health and social care services for Salford residents 

Local connections to and from stations, including walking routes, cycle parking and 

links to bus services are of variable quality, and must be improved to further 

encourage people to use sustainable transport. While settlements like Little Hulton 

may be located close to rapid transit corridors, access to services are currently 

limited, and upgraded access to stations, or new stations where possible, will be 

pursued. 

The delivery of a park and ride and travel hub facility at Walkden Railway station will 

completement plans to deliver modern station facilities to support more people to use 

the station. Government funding from the Access for All programme will be used to 

install a new lift at Walkden and will form part of a package of improvements for the 

area which includes 107 park and ride spaces, disabled and cycle parking and 

electric vehicle charging points close to the station. The work also includes the 

provision of new walking and cycling routes to link Walkden with the soon to open 5th 

national garden, RHS Garden Bridgewater. This programme of work will further 

support this busy station to play a key transport role supporting local communities 

helping them to make sustainable journey choices. This integrated approach to rail 

station infrastructure and access will guide further work at other rail stations to 

support a growth in rail journeys in the future. 

Salford Royal Hospital is a key provider of healthcare to our communities and the 

wider region. The Hospital is well connected via the bus network and is also served 

by the Eccles tram line. The hospital is expanding its services with the development 

of a new Acute Receiving Centre which will incorporate a helipad for patients arriving 

by air ambulance. Proposals for an intermediate care unit on Stott Lane have also 

been approved by the City Council. Work as part of this expansion and our Bee 

Network programme will look at how the hospital can be better connected to local 

neighbourhoods to encourage more trips to be made by active modes, particularly 

for those who commute to the hospital to work. 

As a key part of Salford’s innovation triangle links to Salford University and Salford 

Quays are important to ensuring that collaboration between the key organisations at 

these locations is sustained and supported. Enhancing access to this area will 

include considering opportunities for bus rapid transit services and how current 

services can be better connected to our key transport hubs. 

Salford has been working in partnership with the NHS for a number of years to co-

locate Council and NHS services at key Gateway centres. Eccles, Pendleton, 

Swinton, Broughton and Walkden all benefit from this approach where key services 

are accessed by the public in a single building. These buildings are located in our 

town centres benefiting from key public transport links that help to make these 

services more accessible to residents. These locations will benefit further as 

proposals for active neighbourhoods and the bee network of cycle routes are 

delivered enhancing access for communities to key local services. 

 

Document Pack Page 473



 

26 

4.3. Strengthening connections between deprived residential areas with 

existing and emerging employment opportunities 

Local access to employment sites is critical. There are instances where severance 

caused by significant infrastructure such as the Manchester Ship Canal limited job 

opportunities for Salford residents. Salford has been successful in recent years 

securing new crossings to join residents and employment as new development is 

identified, for example new local highway crossings at the Western Gateway at 

Trafford Park, and bridges to connect MediaCityUK to the War Museum and the 

connection From Greengate to Manchester Cathedral. These crossings support 

active journeys by making direct links between residential, employment and leisure 

destinations. Salford will look for further opportunities as development comes 

forward to pursue connectivity improvements, for example the aspiration for a 

sustainable transport crossing of the Ship Canal to serve the communities of Irlam 

and Cadishead, unlocked by new development opportunities at Irlam and Carrington. 

The ambition to enhance our bus and rail networks set out in section 4.3.2 above is 

also a key factor in supporting more journeys to our employment sites for those who 

might not own a car. There are a number of key routes that are included for further 

study in the 2040 delivery plan that could benefit from 

4.4. Supporting new sustainable housing development opportunities across 

Salford 

Housing is one of the most pressing issues in modern Britain and Salford is no 

different. Over the past 40 years we have not been building enough homes to 

replace ageing stock and accommodate the needs of an increasing population. 

In Salford our problem is acute, partially because of the huge economic growth our 

city has seen in recent years. This has included an increase in population as 

residents, who otherwise would have left, stay on in our city to work and make it their 

home and others move to Salford to gain employment. 

Salford’s growth ambition is to deliver an additional 40,000 homes in the city by 

2040. To deliver this growth we will focus on supporting the delivery of housing 

where residents are well connected to public transport links as well as our walking 

and cycling network. The bulk of our anticipated housing growth is anticipated to be 

delivered in the core areas of Salford that are well served by public transport links 

and many facilities are within a short walk or bike ride. 

Many residents in these areas already live without a car and new developments will 

have limited car parking in recognition of the public transport links that serve these 

key development areas. Similarly, new developments will be expected to deliver 

facilities that encourage walking and cycling as the natural mode choice for shorter 

journeys either on site, for example by providing bike parking facilities, and through 

connections to local cycling and walking networks.  

 

 

Document Pack Page 474



 

27 

4.5. Ensuring local centres and streets are safe, well-maintained, and 

attractive, through a Streets for All approach. 

Learning from successful schemes already implemented, for example where high-

quality public realm, has been combined with green infrastructure and sustainable 

drainage to encourage people to dwell and enjoy places, such as New Bailey Street, 

will shape the next phase of interventions. 

The proposed scheme for Chapel Street East for example, incorporates high quality 

public realm with clearly delineated street space including continuous uninterrupted 

cycling facilities, bus stop by-passes, SUDS through associated green space and 

continuous side street crossings to prioritise people walking and cycling through 

Salford City Centre. This exciting example demonstrates the opportunities available 

to develop locally tailored schemes appropriate to their communities, across Salford. 

 

Image 6: Chapel Street East Proposals 

 

Document Pack Page 475



 

28 

 
Map 9: Salford’s Local Implementation Plan Priorities

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 476



 

29 

5. Indicators  

Salford Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Document Pack Page 477



 

 1 

Stockport GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities including 

economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by building on 

Stockport’s planned and current transport projects, many of which are set out in the 

Greater Manchester Transport Strategy (GMTS) 2040 5-Year Delivery Plan (2020-

2025).  

While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium and long-term 

transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 

neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025. A summary of strategic 

schemes within the 5 Year Delivery Plan are included in Map 1.  

Stockport Council has been developing strategic transport interventions between 

Stockport borough and northern parts of Cheshire East (including Manchester 

Airport) since the South East Manchester Multi-Modal Strategy (SEMMMS) was 

developed in 2001. Now in its second iteration, the draft SEMMMS Refresh (2019) is 

continuing to develop transport interventions and improvements to support the 

growth plans and objectives of the adopted Cheshire East Local Plan and the 

emerging Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. The preparation of the strategy 

has involved engagement with TfGM and neighbouring authorities in Greater 

Manchester, as well as Derbyshire County Council, the High Peak Borough Council 

and the Peak District National Park Authority. 

The draft SEMMMS Refresh sets out a clear vision to deliver a transport network that 

supports inclusive sustainable growth, improves quality of life and protects the 

environment. Three primary objectives are identified which include:  

- Support sustainable economic growth and promote urban regeneration 

- Improve quality of life, safety, health and quality of opportunity 

- Contribute to protecting the built and natural environments.  

To achieve these ambitions the following key transport-related outcomes have been 

identified to achieve by 2025: 

Outcome 1 Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 
made by foot and by bike in Stockport’s district and local centres 

Outcome 2 Enhanced connections to and within Stockport town centre by foot, 
bike, and public transport 

Outcome 3 Improved rail capacity and improved facilities across Stockport 

Outcome 4 Transport Network in Stockport will be clean and green and well-
maintained 

Document Pack Page 478



 

 2 

Outcome 5 Stockport residents, workers and visitors have good access to 
Rapid transit connections and local public transport connectivity 

Outcome 6 Stockport’s highway network will be well-maintained and 
congestion pinch-points will be addressed to support active travel 
and public transport.   

The remainder of this plan presents how Stockport Council will work with its transport 

partners and stakeholders to make good progress towards these outcomes in the 

next 5 years. The steps are ambitious, and the development and delivery of the 

interventions will require a significant level of funding and resource. This will require 

all partners to continue to work closely together to secure the required funding from 

Government to develop and deliver these schemes.  

As the longer-term impacts of covid-19 on travel and transport become clearer, the 

identified outcomes and measures will continue to be reviewed.

Document Pack Page 479



 

 3 

1.1. Stockport’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 1 below sets out schemes committed for delivery, business case development or option development in Stockport in GMTS2040 Delivery 

Plan.  

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 480



 

 4 

2. Stockport Borough Strategic Transport Issues  

Right Mix and Carbon Neutral by 2038 

TfGM’s current Right-Mix aim is for 50% of trips to be made by sustainable modes 

across GM, as set out of the GMTS 2040.  However, with only 39% of trips currently 

being made by sustainable modes, the number of journeys being made by walking, 

cycling or public transport will have to increase in order to meet the GM ambition for 

the city-region to be carbon neutral by 2038. 

In recognition of these issues, Stockport Council has declared a climate emergency 

and has committed towards ensuring that the borough is carbon neutral by 2050, 

and that the Council is carbon neutral by 2038. 

In addition, the Council are continuing to identify and deliver ways of reducing the 

carbon impact of transport, including supporting measures to increase sustainable 

journeys, especially for shorter trips, and investing more in infrastructure such as the 

Bus Interchange and several cycling and walking MCF schemes. 

Currently 62% of all trips that start in Stockport Borough are made by car or van, 

11.9% by public transport and 25.3% by active travel (4.3% lower than GM 

average).1 Local reductions in car-based trips are therefore needed to meet TfGM’s 

Right Mix targets and to ensure health and air quality benefits for people living in 

Stockport.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Image 1: Stockport’s current modeshare and GM Right Mix objectives 

 
1 TRADS database 

Document Pack Page 481



 

 5 

Stockport has also been working on several programmes to support the Right Mix 

aims. The Council’s Play Streets Policy, adopted in 2013, explains how residents 

can set up temporary road closures to allow children to play on the street outside 

where they live, restricted to specific days or time durations. Stockport is the only 

district in Greater Manchester to have such a policy and has issued temporary street 

play orders for three different residential streets in Stockport to date.  

Moreover, Stockport has recently developed its Cycling and Walking Plan which was 

adopted in 2019. The Plan sets out the council’s ambition for delivering a high quality 

and fully connected walking and cycling network to enable walking and cycling to 

become the natural choices for all ages and abilities. The Plan is expected to be 

reviewed after 5 years to take account of changing priorities after the early 

implementation phases of the Bee Network/Mayoral Challenge Fund and LCWIP 

proposals. 

Supporting Economic Growth (employment and housing growth) 

Stockport has recently seen growth in its town centre residential offering, with 74 

homes having been completed at a part of the Covent Garden Village development 

in 2019, with the scheme expected to deliver around 200 new homes when 

complete. This has been complemented by the growth of the town centre office 

market, with Phase 3 of Stockport Exchange having been completed in June 2020. 

Significant further housing growth is also expected, with up to 3,000 homes being 

built as a part of Stockport Town Centre West regeneration, in addition to in the 

region of a further 3,000 homes being delivered elsewhere in the town centre, 

including 196 flats being built as a part of the Stockport Interchange. 

Out of the town centre, in 2018 the A6 Manchester Airport Relief Road (A6MARR) 

was opened and now provides a new 10km link between Hazel Grove and 

Manchester Airport. This has opened up new employment opportunities at the 

Airport as a result of improved connectivity with the wider road network and south 

Manchester generally. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 482



 

 6 

Further infrastructure will also be required to support access by sustainable modes 

to the proposed GMSF allocations, including: 

• Bredbury Park Extension 

• Former Offerton High School 

• Heald Green 1 

• Heald Green 2 

• Woodford Aerodrome 

• High Lane 

• Hyde Bank Meadows 

These sites will support the council’s growth ambitions across the borough over the 

coming years. 

Enhancing Air Quality  

Parts of Stockport borough are found within the Greater Manchester Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA), which measures exceedances in levels of nitrogen 

dioxide (NO2) across the region. Detailed analysis indicates that sections of the A34 

and A6, as well as numerous road links around Stockport town centre, and on the 

road network near to M60 J25 in Bredbury, could potentially be in breach of 2020 

legal NO2 limits.2  

Despite this, Stockport shows a downwards trend in Nox readings across the 

network3, with compliance likely to occur by 2023 in Stockport – a year ahead of the 

predicted compliance date for GM.4 This reduction in nitrogen dioxide exceedances 

will be supported by ongoing work taking place across the borough and GM, 

including the ongoing delivery of a GM Clean Air Plan, the early stage delivery of 

GM’s EV charge point network and the cycling and walking Beelines Network.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2 SEMMMS Refresh 
3 2019 Air Quality Annual Status Report  
4 http://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=154148 

Document Pack Page 483

http://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=154148


 

 7 

Greater Manchester’s particulate matter (PM) PM10 AQMA was revoked in 2006 

(Greater Manchester Air Quality Action Plan 2016-2021), although TfGM continue to 

monitor both PM10 and PM2.5 as a significant proportion of fine particulate 

emissions continue to be caused by non-exhaust sources, such as tyre and brake 

wear, road abrasion and suspended material (Ibid). Monitoring of particulate matter 

and NO2 will ensure no further air quality exceedances occur. 

Improving the Quality of Life/Reducing Inequalities Across the Borough  

Although Stockport borough has a higher than average life expectancy and lower 

than average mortality from cardiovascular disease compared to England, pockets of 

inequality still exist (Public Health England). Brinnington and parts of the town centre 

are located within the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods in the country, in contrast 

to the more affluent suburbs in the south of the borough (IMD 2019 LSOA Online 

Map).  

Demography is also another issue effecting Stockport, with 19.8% of the borough’s 

residents over the age of 65 – higher than the figure for GM, the North West and 

England (Public Health England). This figure is expected to increase in the future, with 

an increasing proportion of people over this age (Public Health England). This could 

place greater pressure on public transport provision and community transport, along 

with an increase in food and medical supplies being delivered to people with 

restricted mobility or who are disabled.  

In terms of road incident casualties, there has been a 17% decrease (based on 

2005-2008 baseline) in the number of people being killed or seriously injured (KSI) in 

Stockport, with 64 KSIs in 2018 (GMTU Report, 2009). This indicates road safety in 

the borough is improving, although more work needs to be done to reduce this 

number further.   

The M60 motorway running east-west across the borough acts as a barrier to 

movement, especially for people wanting to access Stockport town centre from 

established residential areas to the north. Similarly, the severance caused by the 

borough’s major roads such as the A6 and A34 makes accessing local amenities on 

foot or by bike increasingly difficult. The River Mersey, Goyt and Tame also act as 

barriers to movement, although improvements to the borough’s walking and cycling 

network continue to be made, such as the recent installation of Woodbank Park 

Bridge improving connectivity between Bredbury and Little Moor. 

  

Document Pack Page 484

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000007/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/page-options/car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000007/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/page-options/car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy#page/3/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000007/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/page-options/car-do-0


 

 8 

In order to reduce inequalities across the borough, the Council has developed an 

Active Communities Strategy (adopted in 2019) which aims to take a ‘whole system’ 

approach to identifying and prioritising actions to improve health and wellbeing 

throughout the borough. The Strategy utilises both national and local guidance and 

legislation to promote physical activity; promotes ways of enhancing natural and built 

cycling and walking networks; and sets out how the council works with partners and 

community groups, involves individuals, and listens and responds to the 

communities’ needs.  

Public Transport Reliability, Capacity and Connectivity  

Public transport provision in Stockport suffers from reliability and capacity issues with 

poor connectivity within the borough as well as to neighbouring district centres 

outside the borough too. Moreover, towards the south of the borough towards the 

High Peak and rural parts of Cheshire, access to public transport can be severely 

limited.  

Stockport has an advantageous location on the West Coast Main Line and benefits 

from strategic routes (London-Manchester and beyond) which enhance the station’s 

image as a ‘Southern Gateway’ into Greater Manchester and the north.  

However, capacity improvements on the local railway network have struggled to 

keep up with demand. Infrastructure pinch-points on the network include Slade Lane 

Junction (Airport Line joins WCML), Heaton Norris Junction (to Reddish South, 

Guide Bridge and Stalybridge), Stockport Station platform configuration and Edgeley 

Junctions 1 (Hazel Grove / Buxton) and 2 (Mid-Cheshire). These pinch-points affect 

capacity utilisation in the Stockport area, with the network between Manchester 

Piccadilly, Stockport and southwards to Cheadle Hulme and Hazel Grove at >90% 

capacity (although south of this, capacity constraints are less severe). The network’s 

track layout exacerbates this problem and contributes towards significant conflicting 

train movements too (Information taken from South Manchester CMSP Question 

ITSS Workshop).   

Stockport also suffers from long east-west bus journeys, with some services not 

serving local residential areas as best they could. Similarly, journeys times into 

Manchester city centre are slow and can be made worse by congestion caused by 

local traffic. Airport connectivity by bus and other modes is also poor and is not 

reflective of travel patterns of passengers and staff.    

Highways Congestion 

Stockport suffers from high levels of congestion, with traffic frequently queuing along 

the A6 and A34, with Gatley crossroads a particularly bad junction for queues. In 

addition, the road network surrounding the M60 suffers from severe air quality 

exceedances caused by queuing traffic, with the M60 frequently delayed too.    

Document Pack Page 485



 

 9 

Congestion in Stockport is caused by several factors, including high levels of vehicle 

ownership (527 cars per 1000 people) and single vehicle occupancy (approximately 

78% of journeys in the morning peak are driver only), and a high proportion of 

Stockport residents (50%) who are managers and directors or in professional 

occupations who travel longer distances than lower skilled workers. Stockport’s 

major roads also act as a corridor for people commuting from Cheshire and 

Derbyshire to Manchester and is reflected in the cross-boundary travel patterns 

between these different areas (Census 2011. See here, SRAD Report 1961 

Transport Statistics Stockport 2017, Stockport Economic Overview 2019 Edition. 

Data taken from Annual Population Survey, NOMIS (2018)).  

As a result of this congestion, average vehicle speeds are slightly lower in Stockport 

compared to GM: 

• Average AM peak (8:00 – 09:00) vehicle speeds across Stockport have 

decreased by one mph between 2006/07 and 2017 to 13 mph (average for GM is 

14 mph) (SRAD Report 1961 Transport Statistics Stockport 2017).   

• Average PM peak (17:00 – 18:00) vehicle speeds across Stockport have 

decreased by two mph between 2006/07 and 2017 to 14 mph (average for GM is 

14 mph) (SRAD Report 1961 Transport Statistics Stockport 2017).   

 

In recent years, the Council has worked to alleviate congestion in the town centre 

and around the M60 by improving roads and junctions through its Town Centre 

Access Plan (TCAP). Schemes have included the widening of St Marys Way and 

Hempshaw Lane, junction improvements along King Street West and the creation of 

a link road between the A6 and Travis Bow.  

Figure 1 below sets out the current land supply and transport network in Stockport. 

New transport infrastructure and capacity improvements are needed to enhance this 

network and support growth in a sustainable manner, by enabling and enhancing 

access by walking, cycling, bus, rail and Metrolink, alongside improvements to the 

strategic highway network where sustainable transport improvements are not 

sufficient to address all these access issues.  

Improved connections by sustainable, active modes of travel are also needed to 

support the regeneration of Stockport town centre and the borough’s district centres. 

This will in turn support living, shopping, civic, commercial and cultural life across 

Stockport in the future.  

 

Document Pack Page 486

https://www.racfoundation.org/assets/rac_foundation/content/downloadables/car%20ownership%20rates%20by%20local%20authority%20-%20december%202012.pdf


 

 10 

 

Figure 1: Stockport Current Transport Network and Planned Developments. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 487



 

 11 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1. Neighbourhoods 

At the neighbourhood level, 43.4% of trips that start in Stockport are less than 2km in 

length, with 44.1% of these trips made by private car (driver and passenger) – these 

trips could be reasonably walked or cycled (TRADS database). The predominance of 

vehicles and vehicle-based trips can cause severance between neighbourhoods and 

destinations, impact actual and perceived safety and can restrict footway space and 

accessibility as a result pavement parking.   

Key destinations in Stockport can be difficult to access by public transport, including 

parts of the town centre. Stockport’s district centres also suffer from transport 

challenges; both Cheadle and Gatley suffer from congestion, where localised traffic 

mixes with traffic attempting to access the M60. Cheadle also suffers from poor 

public transport provision, with no railway station and long, infrequent bus journeys 

into central Manchester.  

Like the above district centres, Cheadle Hulme also suffers from congestion, 

particularly along Station Road. However, the area does benefit from a railway 

station, with direct links to Manchester Piccadilly.  

Bramhall also suffers badly from congestion with Bramhall Lane South the 6th most 

delayed corridor outside of London according to INRIX (SEMMMS Refresh). The area 

also suffers from poor connectivity to Manchester Airport, with no direct means of 

accessing the airport by bus or by rail (SEMMMS Refresh). 

In Edgeley, Stockport Station and the West Coast Main Line impede east-west 

walking and cycling movements, with people having to take extended journeys in 

order to reach the eastern side of the town centre. Parking is also a major problem, 

with a large proportion of the residential streets near Edgeley Park found within a 

Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) as a result of pressures associated with visitor 

matchday parking at Stockport County Football Club.  

Similarly, at Stepping Hall Hospital in Hazel Grove, issues around non-residential 

parking exists on residential streets surrounding the hospital. Congestion is also a 

problem in the area, although the district centre does benefit from good public 

transport links including a park and ride terminus.  

Marple suffers from poor public transport connectivity, with no direct rail services to 

Stockport town centre. Moreover, although direct rail services do operate between 

Marple and Manchester Piccadilly, the journey takes approximately 30 minutes and 

train services can be regularly delayed and overcrowded. Romiley, the next stop 

along from Marple, also suffers from similar connectivity issues, which increases 

reliance on private car for people living in these district centres.  

For all district centres, maintenance of roads, including both footways and 

carriageway is ongoing, with Stockport’s Highways Improvement Programme (HIP) 

carrying out repairs in targeted areas until early 2022/23 (Stockport Highways 

Investment Programme Mid Term Review).   

Document Pack Page 488



 

 12 

3.2. Wider-City Region 

Connectivity to the wider city region is poor, with a significant lack of public transport 

options to employment centres outside the borough. Slow, unattractive journeys 

towards Denton and Ashton in the east and the Trafford Centre and Salford Quays in 

the west makes accessing employment opportunities by public transport unpopular, 

which increases car dependency for those with access to a vehicle. 

This problem is more acute towards the southern outskirts of the borough, where 

more rural settlements such as Woodford and High Lane are served by less frequent 

public transport outside of peak periods, with some routes running with financial 

support from TfGM and the Council. Rail services are frequently overcrowded and 

although some rural stations have step free access, many stations are not staffed, 

and the majority do not have wheelchairs available on the station platform. A lack of 

timetable integration and ticketing between different transport modes also affects 

passengers and means that even if commuters have made it on to the train, onward 

journeys remain complicated and can often be expensive too. All these factors 

contribute to high levels of car use for wider city region journeys.  

North-south radial routes such as the A6 and the A34 face high levels of congestion 

which causes long delays to freight and general traffic, as well as delays to buses; 

both these routes also offer unfavourable walking and cycling environments too. 

These problems are intensified by motorway-related traffic which adds to congestion 

and causes severance along Kings Street West, Wood Street and Chestergate in the 

town centre.  

At present, a significant absence from Stockport’s current public transport mix is 

Metrolink connectivity, which causes challenges for people wanting to visit local 

centres and travel to neighbouring district centres by public transport. In the absence 

of Metrolink and a well-connected bus service, medium-length journeys will continue 

to be made by car causing localised congestion and air quality issues.  

Access to Manchester Airport is also an issue, with no direct rail link and only a slow 

bus service operating between Stockport and the airport. A Metrolink service would 

improve access to the site and enhance city-region connectivity generally. 

3.3. Town Centre 

Stockport town centre suffers from high traffic flows along the A6, which causes 

severance between Stockport Rail Station to the west and Mersey Square and the 

Market/Underbanks area to the east and creates an unpleasant environment for 

pedestrians and cyclists. Congestion is also a problem along King Street West as a 

result of vehicles queuing onto the M60 motorway. Residents living on the periphery 

of the town centre in Edgeley also suffer from severance as a result of the station’s 

footprint and rail sidings connecting to the West Coast Main Line, with people having 

to make extended journeys in order to access the town centre on the eastern side of 

the station.  

Document Pack Page 489



 

 13 

Similarly, the presence of the M60 motorway also causes severance between areas 

of the Heatons to the north and Stockport town centre to the south, with only limited 

crossing points across it. The topography of the town centre also makes accessing 

the town centre by foot difficult for disabled users, people with mobility impairments 

and parents with prams.  

Although the total number of vehicles crossing Stockport town centre’s cordon has 

decreased by 18% since 2008, the central location of the town centre’s car parks 

contributes to an increase in vehicle movements and results in an inefficient use of 

space in an area where there are competing interests for land (TfGM SRAD Report 

2021 Transport Statistics 2018-2019). The number of people visiting the town centre 

by bus has also decreased by 36% from 5,983 to 3,828 between 2003 and 2018 

(TfGM SRAD Report 2021 Transport Statistics 2018-2019). 

One of the most significant developments taking place in the town centre is the 

development of the Mayoral Development Corporation’s (MDC) Town Centre West – 

a mixed-use urban village comprising 3,000 new homes and 100,000 m2 of 

employment floorspace. The Strategic regeneration Framework (regeneration 

masterplan) for the development proposes the creation of a neighbourhood which 

caters for pedestrians and cyclists ahead of vehicles, reduces vehicle dominance 

and car dependency and supports a modal shift in the way people access local 

facilities and services.  

Pivotal to the MDC area is the redevelopment of Stockport Station as the station’s 

existing size and configuration is expected to struggle to accommodate the 

significant housing and employment growth planned for the Town Centre West area. 

The redevelopment of the station and the station’s vicinity will make Stockport a 

‘Southern Gateway’ into Manchester, accommodate future rail investment proposals 

such as HS2, and improve connectivity between the MDC area and the Bus 

Interchange.  

In addition, Stockport town centre is expected to accommodate up to an additional 

3,000 homes over the next 15-20 years spread across a series of sites. This will be 

accompanied by infrastructure improvements in the town centre, including further 

walking and cycling improvements as a part of TCAP, public realm enhancements to 

Stockport’s Old Town and the redevelopment of the Merseyway Shopping Centre 

and Mersey Square. These improvements will allow the MDC area and adjacent 

Stockport town centre to integrate with one another and form a transit-oriented 

growth hub.  

3.4. Regional Centre 

Stockport residents have varied levels of access to Manchester city centre across 

the borough. Frequent, direct rail services operate between Stockport Station and 

Manchester Piccadilly (16 trains per hour during peak periods) and are 

supplemented by local stopping services too. 

Residents living to the south of the borough near the A6 are served by a high 

frequency bus service operating between Hazel Grove and Manchester Piccadilly. 

Document Pack Page 490



 

 14 

The 192 service also has a park and ride terminus in Hazel Grove and benefits from 

bus priority measures along the A6 (although inevitably the service is still sometimes 

delayed by congestion). Several bus services also operate between Stockport town 

centre and Manchester city centre serving local residential areas, but these services 

often have longer journey times. 

In more rural parts of the borough, bus routes are less extensive with few services 

operating directly to Manchester city centre. Those services that do operate to 

Manchester city centre can be infrequent and do not always run late into the evening 

or on Sundays. Similarly, although some rail services in the rural parts of the 

borough do offer a direct service to Manchester Piccadilly, they are often not very 

frequent or can be delayed, making journeys to central Manchester increasingly 

difficult.  

Stockport’s absence of Metrolink also reduces accessibility to Manchester city 

centre, especially for people who do not live within close proximity of a railway 

station. This means that the majority of journeys made to the regional centre are 

made by either car or by rail. As a result of this, accessing other areas in the regional 

centre such as Media City is more challenging and contributes to a reliance on cars.  

  

Document Pack Page 491



 

 15 

4. Stockport 5-Year DLIP Outcomes 

This section presents transport-related outcomes for the next 5 years. Each outcome 

includes a set of priorities for investment over this timeframe, including schemes to 

be delivered or developed. These schemes are included in map 2. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in Stockport’s district and local centres  

In the next 5 years this means progressing the aims and objectives of the Stockport 

Cycling and Walking Plan by delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people to make local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car. These 

neighbourhoods will also be safe and usable for people with disabilities and mobility 

impairments, providing them with access to the local amenities they need. Priorities 

for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Bee Network Phase 1: 
Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Delivery of measures to remove through traffic from 
local streets and deliver high quality environments for 
walking and cycling. To include early delivery of 
improvements in Romiley and the Heatons.   

Bee Network Phase 2: 
Active 
Neighbourhoods 

Delivery of measures to remove through traffic from 
local streets and deliver high quality environments for 
walking and cycling (including Edgeley, Marple, Marple 
Bridge/Mellor, Hazel Grove and Cheadle) 

Bee Network Phase 1: 
Beeway routes 

Delivery of severance mitigation/crossing points and 
wayfinding to link up existing quiet and traffic free C&W 
routes 

Bee Network Phase 2: 
Beeway routes 

Delivery of severance mitigation/crossing points and 
wayfinding to link up existing quiet and traffic free C&W 
routes 

Bee Network Phase 1: 
Busy Beeway routes 

Delivery of high-quality cycling and walking provision on 
major road corridors 

Bredbury and Woodley 
Cycling and Walking 
Improvement Package 

To improve cycling and walking access to existing and 
potential new developments in Bredbury and Woodley  

Cheadle Station 
Access Package 

To improve cycling and walking access to the new 
proposed station in Cheadle, including new signal or 
priority junction with pedestrian and cycle links to Mill 
Lane and Cheadle District Centre.  

Stockport Canals 
Improvement Package 

To improve lighting and surfacing along the canal 
network as a high quality, off road cycling and walking 
network in the east of the borough.  

Document Pack Page 492



 

 16 

Scheme Name  Description 

Middlewood Way 
Improvements 

Upgrade to surfacing and lighting from Rose Hill to 
Middlewood Station  

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to and within Stockport town centre by 

foot, bike, and public transport 

In the next 5 years this means supporting the sustainable growth of Stockport town 

centre and improve walking, cycling and public transport connectivity for local 

communities to ensure that everyone has access to facilities and opportunities in the 

Town Centre. Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Stockport Interchange 
redevelopment  

To increase the accessibility of bus and rail from 
nearby destinations and increase the attractiveness 
of the Interchange as the focal point for intra-urban 
growth in Stockport town centre. Scheme will also 
include improved pedestrian and cycle links to 
Stockport Station. 

Stockport Town Centre 
Access Plan 

To tackle congestion in and around Stockport town 
centre and remove barriers to movement for all 
modes. 

Town Centre West 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, public realm 
improvements, EV charging and car club 
expansion. To include early delivery of A6 Railway 
Road junction, remodelled to include increased 
capacity and east-west cycle route   

Town Centre East 
Accessibility Package 

To include delivery of new connectivity hubs, active 
neighbourhoods, slow streets, public realm 
improvements, EV charging and car club 
expansion. To include early delivery of Mersey 
Square, remodelled to improve bus movements.   

Town Centre SUDS 
Package 

Stepping stone spaces, Slow flow Streets, 
Stockport Southbank Sponge Promenade, 
Wearside Slipway and Grey water harvesting, 
Mersey Habitat Corridor 
 

Underbanks/ Hillgate / old 
town sustainable transport 
Package   
 

Package of cycling and walking improvements in 
the Old Town, including around Market Place, 
Underbanks and Hillgate.  

Document Pack Page 493



 

 17 

  
Map 2: Schemes with programme entry within the Mayors Challenge Fund and the future Bee Network within Stockport

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 494



 

 18 

Outcome 3: Improved rail capacity and improved facilities across Stockport 

In the next 5 years this means focusing on addressing key capacity challenges on 

the rail network in Stockport, delivering new stations, and supporting the 

redevelopment of Stockport Station. Priorities for investment over the next 5 years 

include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Stockport Station 
Redevelopment  

To address immediate capacity constraints on the 
West Coast Main Line, which will become more 
pressing between 2027 and 2033, when HS2 trains 
will arrive from Crewe, but new infrastructure to 
Piccadilly will not yet be complete. Also includes 
highway layout including measures for walking and 
cycling and the redevelopment of the station to 
improve facilities and access.  

Stockport area rail 
infrastructure improvements 
including Greek Street 
Bridge Replacement 

To upgrade the rail corridor for National Rail / HS2 / 
potential Metro/tram-train services, improve local 
highways, and facilitate a high quality gateway to 
the Town Centre West MDC area. To undertake 
essential maintenance, and use the opportunity 

Further Mobility Hub / Park 
and Ride upgrades 
emerging from the Mobility 
Hub / Park and Ride Study 

To provide better access to public transport through 
Mobility Hub / Park and Ride facilities 

Local rail stations, explore 
partnership options for 
management and 
improvement 

To maximise existing rail assets to provide better 
facilities, improve transport integration and deliver 
community benefits. Includes working with existing 
Friends groups and Community Rail Partnerships 

New Stations Delivery 
Tranche 1 and 2 

Delivery of new train stations (subject to business 
case) at Cheadle, Stanley Green, High Lane and 
Adswood) to provide a new public transport option, 
contributing to modal shift and reducing pressure 
on the highway network where this can be shown to 
be viable. 

Station Alliance Station 
Enhancement Programme 

To identify regeneration opportunities at Bramhall, 
Cheadle Hulme, Rose Hill Marple and Hazel Grove 
stations. Seeking to enhance station facilities 
focusing on the access to and from stations, 
alongside work to provide residential, commercial 
and community facilities. 

Mid-Cheshire Line 
Redoubling 

To deliver additional capacity and resilience on the 
mid-Cheshire line 

Document Pack Page 495



 

 19 

Scheme Name  Description 

Rose Hill Marple to Hazel 
Grove Line Reinstatement 

Improvement of closed and existing railway lines to 
facilitate rail-based travel between Marple, Romiley 
and Stockport and improve orbital public transport 
services.  

Rail capacity improvements 
on key commuting corridors: 
South East Manchester 

To provide increased frequency and capacity for 
journeys into the Regional Centre, facilitating new 
developments and contributing to modal shift.  

Ashton to Stockport Line 
Improvement 

The expansion and upgrading of the current 
mainly single-track freight route between Stockport 
(Heaton Norris Junction) and Guide Bridge/Ashton 
Moss Junction to improve opportunities for orbital 
passenger services. 

Hope Valley Line 
improvements (to Sheffield) 
including new passing 
facilities  

To increase capacity so that the line can continue to 
carry mixed traffic and complement NPR services. 
Line improvements will also improve journey times 
and reliability between Manchester and Sheffield. 

Outcome 4: Transport Network in Stockport will be clean and green and well-

maintained  

In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of the transport 

network across Stockport through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low 

emission vehicles and reduce emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic across 

the Borough. This will also involve measures that make the transport network in 

Stockport more resilient to the impacts of climate change and flooding. Clean air and 

carbon priorities over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Implement the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Retrofit or upgrade buses to 
comply with more stringent 
emissions standards 
(continuation programme) 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Electric buses introduced to 
support Clean Air Plan and 
other environmental 
agendas - linked to Bus 
Reform and programme of 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Document Pack Page 496



 

 20 

Scheme Name  Description 

BRT, QBT and Bus Corridor 
Improvements 

Continued expansion of 
electric vehicles network 
charging points, including for 
use by private hire vehicles 
and taxis (continuation 
programme) 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Electrifying Stockport 
Package 

Package of electric vehicle charging opportunities 
in the town centre to include car charging points, 
bus charging, e-bike charging, van charging and 
taxi charging. These will be delivered as part of the 
connectivity hubs proposals, with opportunities to 
integrate with battery storage and energy 
generation schemes. 

Retrofit or upgrade Local 
Authority fleet 

To improve air quality in the regional centre and 
other areas and improve the health of GM residents 
and visitors. 

Outcome 5: Stockport residents, workers and visitors have good access to 

Rapid transit connections and local public transport connectivity  

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility and 

capacity of Stockport’s rapid transit network, supporting more residents, workers and 

visitors to travel to and from Stockport by sustainable modes as part of the wider GM 

Rapid Transit network. Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Scheme Name  Description  

Quality Bus Transit on key 
bus corridors: Ashton-
Stockport 

To provide an attractive alternative to car journeys 
between the Ashton – Stockport corridor, by 
delivering improvements to quality and reliability of 
local bus journeys, public realm within town 
centres, and the cycling and walking environment. 

Quality Bus Transit on key 
corridors: A6 Manchester 
City Centre-Stockport 
College  

To provide an attractive alternative to car journeys 
on the Manchester City Centre - Stockport College 
corridor, by delivering improvements to quality and 
reliability of local bus journeys, public realm within 
town centres, and the cycling and walking 
environment. 

A6 Stockport to High Lane 
Streets for All and Bus 
Route Improvement 
Package 

To improve reliability and resilience of A6 corridor 
and to support new residential development at 
High Lane and in Derbyshire by: improving 
reliability and speed of buses between Manchester 
City Centre and High Lane; improving walking and 

Document Pack Page 497



 

 21 

Scheme Name  Description  

cycling provision to and along the A6; formalising 
on-street parking provision; and providing localised 
junction improvements for all modes. To address 
capacity and resilience issues in the High Lane 
area. 

Bus Rapid transit corridor 
(Stockport-Ashton) 

To provide a more attractive alternative to the car 
for orbital journeys between these key centres, 
thereby reducing pressure on the M60, A6017 and 
other local roads 

Bus Rapid Transit corridor 
(Airport to the east) 

A bus rapid transit connection from the Airport (with 
rail connections for the Regional Centre) to major 
new proposed GMSF allocations and existing 
residential areas, both presently poorly served by 
public transport.  It will help achieve the step-
change in non-car mode share needed to support 
the growth of the Airport area. 

Metro / tram-train services 
to Hazel Grove and 
Stockport / East Didsbury 

Complementary to a city-centre metro tunnel in 
providing network-wide capacity benefits to rail-
based rapid transit plus benefits to specific 
corridors.  Tram-train operation provides an 
alternative approach to metro operation. 

Metro / tram-train services 
Manchester to Marple 

Complementary to a city-centre metro tunnel in 
providing network-wide capacity benefits to rail-
based rapid transit plus benefits to specific 
corridors.  Tram-train operation provides an 
alternative approach to metro operation. 

Metro / tram-train services 
(Stockport town centre to 
Manchester Airport) 

A rapid transit connection from the Airport to 
Stockport and other locations to the north-east of 
Manchester Airport, needed to facilitate the growth 
of Manchester Airport area, which requires a step-
change in non-car mode share. 

Stockport to Denton/ 
Stalybridge Service 
Improvement Package 

Including improved facilities and services to 
Reddish South 

Metro/ tram train services 
Stockport to Marple 

A rapid transit connection from Stockport to 
Marple, needed to improve public transport 
connectivity and improve accessibility to Stockport 
town centre 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 498



 

 22 

Outcome 6: Stockport’s highway network will be well-maintained and 

congestion pinch-points will be addressed to support active travel and public 

transport.   

In the next 5 years this means delivering upgrades and enhancements to existing 

infrastructure assets to improve safety, air quality and the local environment and 

designing highways solutions to ease traffic congestion and support active travel and 

public transport. Asset management and infrastructure priorities over the next 5 

years include: 

Scheme Name  Description  

Road Maintenance Fund 
To support the economic performance, resilience 
and liveability of the city region by maintaining the 
current network in good condition. 

Drainage Improvement and 
Flood Risk Mitigation 
Package 

To support resilience by improving drainage and 
addressing key flood risk points including:  

- Torkington Park 
- Adswood Park  
- Rosevale Park 
- Shearwater Estate, Offerton 
- Heaton Moor Culverts Rehabilitation 
- Schools Hill and Bruntwood Park  
- High Lane Drainage and Sewers 

Rights of Way Improvement 
Programme 

To support resilience of the Rights of Way network 
and support delivery of the ROWIP 

Highway Trees Improvement 
Programme 

To support improved air quality and local 
environmental quality across the borough.  

Street Lighting Column 
Replacement Programme 

To improve resilience of the street lighting network 
and increase opportunities for ‘smart uses’ 

A555 Electronic Signs and 
Information System 

To improve signage and traffic management along 
the A555 and surrounding routes.  

Road Safety – Minor 
improvement package 

To improve road safety at key points and junctions 
across the borough, including improvement of 
safety signs.  

Road Safety Around 
Schools Package 

To improve road safety around schools 

A34 Area Access Package 

To improve capacity at key locations along the A34 
between Handforth and Cheadle and improve 
conditions for walking and cycling, supporting and 
unlocking growth potential. 

A560 Cheadle and Cheadle 
Heath Corridor resilience 
and reliability package.   

To address capacity and resilience issues on the 
A560 corridor through Cheadle. 

Document Pack Page 499



 

 23 

Scheme Name  Description  

Poynton Relief Road To address capacity and resilience issues on 
Cheshire East border 

Bredbury Economic Corridor 
Improvement (BECI) 
Package 

To support delivery of new industrial development 
and GMSF housing growth by providing a new link 
between the M60 and Bredbury Gateway, J25 
signalisation, widening of railway bridge to improve 
access for freight vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists, 
better linkages from residential areas of Bredbury, 
Romiley and Woodley to the M60 and Bredbury 
Gateway, upgrading of cycling and walking 
networks across the area, and passive provision to 
enable delivery of Ashton-Stockport Quality Bus 
Transit 

GMSF Delivery Package Package of improvements to facilitate delivery of 
GMSF sites 

Stockport Structure 
Enhancements Package 

To support maintenance and resilience of key 
structures across the Stockport network 

A6 to M60 Relief Road To address capacity and resilience issues from 
A6MARR to the M60 and facilitating reduced flows 
on the A6 

M60 South East Junctions 
Study 

To address existing congestion and reliability 
issues on the SRN and adjoining LRN and provide 
the capacity for anticipated growth both within the 
city-region and in neighbouring authorities. 

Document Pack Page 500



 

 24 

4.1. Stockport’s Delivery Plan Schemes 2020 – 2025 

Map 3 below shows schemes listed as priorities for investment within the outcomes above, that are not included within the GMTS 2040 Delivery 

Plan (Map 1). 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 501



 

 25 

5. Indicators 

Stockport Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Document Pack Page 502



 

1 

Tameside Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out Tameside’s transport priorities for the next five 

years, as part of the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year Delivery 

Plan (2020-2025). While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium 

and long-term future transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed 

on local neighbourhood and town-level priorities and interventions to be delivered 

across Tameside up to 2025. A summary of strategic schemes within the 5-Year 

Delivery Plan (2020-2025) for Tameside are provided in Map 1 below. 

Tameside Council and NHS Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group 
have come together to form one organisation – Tameside & Glossop Strategic 
Commission Group. We have developed together a new corporate plan ‘Our People 
Our Place Our Plan – Corporate Plan for Tameside & Glossop’ that reflects the 
priorities and guiding principles for our joint work in the area. This is the first 
corporate plan to pull together the objectives of the Strategic Commission, outlining 
the authority’s aims and aspirations for the area, its people and how we commit to 
work for everyone, every day.  

Our Corporate Plan has helped to inform the key outcomes, included within this 
Implementation Plan, that we wish to see achieved by 2025. These are:  

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 
made by foot and by bike in Tameside;  

• Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to/from and within Tameside’s town 
centres, employment sites and key destinations by foot, bike, and public 
transport to support regeneration; 

• Outcome 3: Streets in Tameside will be clean, green and relieve local 
communities from the impacts of congestion;  

• Outcome 4: Streets in Tameside are safe, well maintained and in good 
condition for all people who live in or travel within Tameside and current and 
future assets are looked after. 

Further details of the specific interventions which will enable us to achieve these 
outcomes are summarised later in this Plan.  

This document sets out some of the steps Tameside Council will take with its 

transport partners and other stakeholders to make good progress towards its 

transport vision and priorities in the short-term. The steps are ambitious, and the 

development and delivery of the interventions set out will require a significant level of 

resource and funding. Inevitably, there is likely to be a need for some prioritisation, 

but Tameside will continue to work with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required 

funding from the Government. 

  

Document Pack Page 503

https://www.tameside.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.tameside.gov.uk/corporateplan


 

2 

2. Strategic Transport Issues in Tameside 

 

Document Pack Page 504



 

3 

  

Document Pack Page 505



 

4 

 

Map 1: Strategic Transport Interventions in Tameside (2040 5-Year Delivery Plan 2020-2025) 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 506



 

5 

 

Map 2: Tameside future land supply and existing strategic transport network (GMSF 2019 data sourced from the GMCA)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 507



 

6 

2.1 Covid-19 Recovery 

The Coronavirus pandemic represents the biggest challenge for Tameside since 

World War 2. To enable the borough to ‘build back better’, Tameside Council are 

undertaking a number of measures to enable Covid-19 recovery, including:  

• Continued support to develop strategic housing and commercial development; 

• Delivering temporary or semi-permanent measures to support cycling and 

walking as an alternative to public transport as part of the 

#SafeStreetsSaveLives campaign and the Department for Transport’s 

Emergency Active Travel Fund; 

• Accelerating the design and delivery of the Mayor’s Challenge Fund scheme 

on Albion Way in Ashton-under-Lyne town centre.  

Proposals for temporary and semi-permanent measures include the delivery of 

segregated cycling facilities along two strategic routes to the Regional Centre, (the 

A57 Hyde Road and A635 Ashton Old Road) and orbital links to Stockport and 

Oldham, alongside implementation of modal filters to create low traffic 

neighbourhoods, support for schools and measures to improve town centre 

accessibility through creating additional footway space by addressing pinch-points, 

adding safe crossings and removing street clutter. 

Alongside this work, major strategic projects such as the regeneration of the 

borough’s town centres, and the proposed Garden Village at Godley Green remain 

the key focuses of the council’s growth agenda. Officers are continuing to support 

development of these sites, including planning transport measures to support and 

unlock development. 

3 Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1 Neighbourhoods 

46% of all trips that start in Tameside can be defined as ‘neighbourhood trips’ (short 

and local trips under 2km in length). This is slightly above the GM average (44%) for 

journeys of this type. A significant proportion of these short, local trips are made by 

sustainable, active modes (52% walking and cycling, 4% public transport), however 

42% of these journeys are still being made by private car or van (source: TRADS 

database). While many of these trips could be walked in under 20 minutes or cycled 

in 5 minutes, there are several key barriers to walking and cycling in Tameside that 

result in a high proportion of neighbourhood trips being driven, including:   

• Severance – the lack of safe crossing points of the Strategic Road Network, 

railway and Metrolink lines create severance for those local journeys made by 

active modes;  

• Traffic volumes and speeds – high traffic volumes and speeds create poor 

levels of actual and perceived safety for people who walk or cycle; 

• Topography of Tameside – the topography is a challenge towards the east of 

the borough e.g. Mottram and Mossley where the western end of the 

Pennines encroach into the borough; 

Document Pack Page 508

https://tfgm.com/safestreets
https://news.tfgm.com/news/gbp-3-1-million-schemes-confirmed-to-enable-thousands-more-journeys-on-foot-or-by-bike-through-first-phase-of-emergency-active-travel-measures


 

7 

• Footway accessibility – high levels of pavement parking creates accessibility 

issues on many of Tameside’s neighbourhood streets and is a particular 

problem around schools where a high proportion of school trips are made by 

private car; 

• Infrastructure quality - the existing cycle infrastructure is of varying quality and 

some areas (e.g. Mossley, Mottram and Stalybridge) lack significant 

coverage, which can act as a deterrent to participating in active travel.  

These issues have a significant impact on the third of households in Tameside who 

do not have access to a car, and rely on making trips by foot, bike and public 

transport. Additionally, short car trips exacerbate environmental and health issues 

through the creation of hostile environments for pedestrians and cyclists and 

generating hotspots of poor air quality. 

To enable improvements in the health, wellbeing and quality of life of our residents, 

we are working to encourage an increase in walking and cycling for neighbourhood 

journeys. To achieve this vision we are focussing on the delivery of the Bee Network 

across the borough, influencing new developments to implement active travel routes 

designed to Streets for All design principles and working with Highways England to 

develop and deliver a £1.95m cycle route between Hyde and Hollingworth, that runs 

parallel to the M67. 

3.2 Ashton-under-Lyne Town Centre 

Tameside Council continues to work with partners to deliver the multi-million-pound 

masterplan, Vision Tameside, in order to attract new business and create new jobs 

and future opportunities for Tameside residents. Vision Tameside is an ambitious 

redevelopment strategy to bring greater economic prosperity and transform learning 

and skills across the Borough. In Ashton alone, through its Vision Tameside 

initiative, some £250m has and is currently being spent on the regeneration of the 

major retail and administrative centre for the town. This includes the recently opened 

Ashton Interchange, which provides passengers with an easier way of switching 

between different modes of transport, as well as creating a far more pleasant 

travelling experience.  

To support town centre regeneration, Tameside Council are committed to enhancing 

the connections to/from and within the district centre by foot, bike and public 

transport to ensure that these are the go-to travel options. Cordon count data shows 

that there has been an 11% increase in trips made to the town centre between 2013 

and 2018, and a significant proportion of these trips are made by non-car modes 

(65%). Despite this, there are several transport related challenges that are currently 

creating barriers to achieving this outcome, including:  

• Congestion – high levels of congestion in and around the town centre has a 

negative impact on journey times for bus users, creates a hostile environment 

for pedestrians and cyclists and leads to air quality issues. Ashton’s close 

proximity to the M60 exacerbates these issues due to the impact on the town 

centre of queuing motorway traffic at the M60 Junction 23; 

Document Pack Page 509



 

8 

• Severance and road safety – major roads (e.g. A635 Park Parade and A6043 

Albion Way) and junctions (e.g. the A627 Oldham Road/A6043 Wellington 

Road junction) create significant severance between surrounding 

neighbourhoods and the town centre leading to road safety issues for the 

most vulnerable users.  

• Town centre development – new developments, including the Ashton Moss 

West GMSF site, require improved public transport and active travel linkages 

to both Ashton town centre and the residential areas around it;  

• Public transport connectivity – although served by bus, Metrolink and rail, 

there is poor public transport connectivity from surrounding neighbourhoods 

(e.g. by bus to Stalybridge) especially in the evenings, on Sundays and early 

mornings.  

• Parking provision – high levels of residential parking provision, especially in 

the Waterloo area, impacts local roads and unless managed effectively will be 

worsened with the planned high levels of development in and around Ashton-

under-Lyne.  

Tameside Council are working to overcome these challenges and we are focussed 

on delivering projects that prioritise people over traffic. The delivery of the MCF and 

Growth Deal proposals on the A6043 Albion Way will provide segregated cycle 

lanes, an enhanced walking environment and improved linkages reducing the 

severance between the town centre, railway station and the residential areas to the 

north of the town. The recent completion of the new Ashton Interchange will be 

complemented by the delivery of the Quality Bus Transit corridors between 

Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton and Ashton-Stockport.  

3.3 Wider City Region 

49% of all trips that start in Tameside are ‘wider-city region’ trips (for example Hyde 

to Stockport). This is significant when compared to the GM average for this type of 

trip (38%).  

Ashton-under-Lyne, Denton, Hattersley and Hyde typically have strong public 

transport links to complete these types of journeys, however the communities and 

neighbourhoods in the east of the borough have more limited public transport 

options. This leads to a high dependence on the private car for wider-city region 

journeys (84%), with only 13% made by public transport and 3% by active travel.  

Tameside’s wider town centres all suffer from their own individual challenges but 

there are some common transport barriers that result in a high proportion of wider-

city region trips being undertaken by private car:  

• Considerable decline in scheduled bus services – bus frequency and 

connectivity has seen a rapid decline in recent years with many areas 

(particularly in the east) suffering from a reduced service provision in the 

evenings and on Sundays; 

• Orbital bus routes – orbital connections to neighbouring districts are well 

served by frequent bus services but, many of these services are significantly 

affected by traffic congestion resulting in slow and unattractive journeys; 

Document Pack Page 510



 

9 

• Some key destinations e.g. Tameside General Hospital and the Tame Valley 

employment area have low levels, or no public transport connectivity, resulting 

in car dominated destinations that are inaccessible to many Tameside 

residents;  

• Rail network – there are 13 rail stations in the borough but only three have full 

disabled access. There is also a lack of stopping services at some stations 

e.g. Mossley and overcrowding on the Glossop line; 

• Metrolink network – there is a lack of interchange facilities to bus services 

(with the exception of the new Ashton Interchange) and capacity issues at 

Park and Ride facilities at Metrolink stops e.g. Ashton Moss; 

• Ticketing – the lack of integration of services and unaffordable fares 

discourage people from taking many public transport journeys particularly if 

they have access to alternative forms of transport (reliance on the private car); 

• Vacant retail space – this creates poor levels of actual and perceived safety 

and reduces the dwell time of visitors to the town centres; 

• Town centre severance – major roads through and around the town centres 

and a lack of suitable crossing points are responsible for poor cycling and 

walking connectivity, especially between transport hubs, residential and 

employment areas;  

• Road safety – there is a need to provide local traffic management and road 

safety schemes within Tameside to reduce the number of accidents. In 

addition, there needs to be increased road safety education and training 

within schools. 

  

Document Pack Page 511



 

10 

3.3.1 Other District Town Centres 

The following table outlines the transport challenges and opportunities within 

Tameside’s wider town centres. 

 

Centre Challenges  Opportunities 

Hyde The M67 separates Hyde 
town centre from the 
residential and 
employment areas to the 
north which has resulted in 
a limited number of access 
points for all road users to 
the town centre creating 
connectivity issues.  
 
Market Street is the main 
high street running through 
the town centre, but it 
currently serves as through 
route to the westbound 
M67 adding to existing 
town centre congestion 
and severance issues.  
 
There is poor pedestrian 
accessibility to Hyde 
Central station and the 
surrounding residential and 
employment areas and 
Hyde town centre.  

The Council was successful in 
securing £100,000 of funding from 
the inaugural One Public Estate / 
British Property Federation bidding 
round. The bid proposes a 
regenerated and condensed town 
centre, improved public realm and 
enhanced pedestrian environment to 
support the vision that Hyde can be a 
thriving town centre. 
 
We continue to work with Highways 
England to deliver a cycle route 
along the main east-west corridor 
between Hyde and Mottram / 
Hollingworth to complement the MCF 
proposal to deliver the A57 Denton to 
Hyde segregated cycle route. 

Denton The town suffers with 
significant levels of 
congestion due to its 
proximity to the 
M60/M67/A57 Junction 24 
(Denton Island Junction).  
 
This has a negative impact 
on all road users and has 
resulted in high levels of 
air pollution along nearby 
roads that are at risk of 
exceeding legal limits of 
NOx by 2020. 
 
The M67 separates 
Denton town centre from 
the residential, retail and 

The Council has 3 successful MCF 
schemes in development:  
- the A57 Denton to Hyde 

segregated cycling route;  
- the A57 Crown Point junction 

upgrade scheme which proposes 
to deliver an innovative Cyclops 
junction; 

- the Ross Lave Lane scheme will 
improve sections of the Trans 
Pennine Trail to enhance 
connections between Denton and 
Reddish Vale and further on to 
Stockport town centre. 

Document Pack Page 512



 

11 

Centre Challenges  Opportunities 

employment areas to the 
north which has resulted in 
a limited number of access 
points for all road users to 
the town centre creating 
connectivity issues  
 

Stalybridge Stalybridge is the busiest 
and most important rail 
station in Tameside but it 
suffers from poor access 
by active modes from 
residential and 
employment areas around 
the town, insufficient 
frequency of local stopping 
services and deficient 
parking provision which 
has led to significant 
parking issues both around 
the station and in the town 
centre.  

Stalybridge is Tameside’s focus for 
the GM Mayor’s Town Centre 
Challenge. A Stalybridge Town 
Centre Challenge Board has been 
established to develop plans for the 
town’s regeneration. Following a 
consultation period, the February 
2020 ‘Stalybridge: Our Place, Our 
Plan’ document was published which 
sets out the Board’s vision for the 
town, a proposed strategy, an action 
plan and forms the basis of ongoing 
funding bids.  
 
Stalybridge has been successful in 
securing a share of the £95m fund 
for Historic England’s High Streets 
Heritage Action Zones initiative with 
their outline proposal for a Heritage 
Walk from the Railway Station to the 
Heritage Quarter improving the street 
scene and routing. 
 
A major review of the existing bus 
station and the creation of a fully 
integrated transport interchange in 
and around the railway station will 
prove a massive regeneration 
initiative for the town. 

Droylsden Droylsden suffers from 
significant severance 
issues caused by busy 
roads, Manchester Road 
and Ashton Road, and the 
Metrolink line, especially at 
the junction with Market 
Street. This severance 
means there is poor 
connectivity in the town 

The Council have delivered a 
number of active travel schemes in 
Droylsden, providing cycle friendly 
routes through a combination off 
street and traffic calmed residential 
areas. 
 
We are committed to enhancing 
these connections and extending 
these routes to a wider area of 
Tameside through delivering the 

Document Pack Page 513

https://www.tameside.gov.uk/TamesideMBC/media/policy/J002446-Stalybridge-Town-Centre-Challenge-Strategy-V5-NO-FOREWORD.pdf
https://www.tameside.gov.uk/TamesideMBC/media/policy/J002446-Stalybridge-Town-Centre-Challenge-Strategy-V5-NO-FOREWORD.pdf


 

12 

Centre Challenges  Opportunities 

centre, especially for those 
travelling by active modes.  

The Manchester Road/ 
Ashton Road/ Market 
Street junction in the 
centre of Droylsden 
operates above vehicular 
capacity severely affecting 
Metrolink reliability in the 
vicinity. 

MCF cycle schemes currently in 
development. 

3.3.2 GMSF Allocations 

Tameside has three strategic GMSF sites across the borough; Ashton Moss West 

(160,000m2 employment floorspace), Godley Green Garden Village (2,350 dwellings) 

and Land South of Hyde (440 dwellings). Further information on the GMSF and 

these sites can be found at https://www.tameside.gov.uk/GMSF.  

The GMSF will be hugely important for the future prosperity of Tameside and 

proposes:  

• To prioritise the regeneration of brownfield land within the urban area for 

homes and jobs; 

• To help meet the housing need of our residents by providing much needed 

affordable homes, with the Godley Green site creating a new, vibrant and 

sustainable community based upon established Garden Village principles; 

and 

• The identification of the physical and social infrastructure that is required to 

support new development, such as new roads, public transport, and education 

and health facilities.  

Tameside Council continues to work with the GMCA, TfGM and other stakeholders 

to progress the development and delivery of the GMSF. An initial assessment of the 

interventions that may be required to support GMSF sites has been undertaken 

within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the GMSF, and potential 

interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

  

Document Pack Page 514

https://www.tameside.gov.uk/GMSF


 

13 

4 Tameside 5-Year Outcomes 

This section presents transport related outcomes that Tameside Council aim to 

achieve over the next 5 years. Each outcome includes a set of priorities for 

investment over this timeframe, including schemes to be delivered or developed.  

There are further transport related outcomes which are included within the wider 5 – 

Year Delivery Plan which have not been included here. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike in Tameside Borough 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in and encourage 

more local trips by foot or by bike rather than by private car. Helping to support 

healthy lifestyles and reduce carbon emissions whilst providing better access to 

facilities, services and retail.  

Tameside Council are working closely with TfGM to deliver these improvements 

through the delivery of the Bee Network and the GM Local Cycling and Walking 

Infrastructure Plan (a major evidence-based piece of work guided by the Department 

for Transport). Map 4 shows the Committed and Priority Bee Network within 

Tameside. 

The Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) launched by Government in May 2020 

has enabled us to move forward with implementation of a number of interventions to 

support active travel. The EATF seeks to deliver measures that will address 

immediate challenges presented by Covid-19, such as reduced public transport 

capacity and its adverse economic impact on town centres and on access to 

employment and services for the most deprived communities. The measures will 

also help tackle longer-term critical public health challenges associated with physical 

inactivity and road safety, the climate emergency and the impact of congestion on 

the local economy. Relevant EATF schemes in Tameside are referenced below.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

EATF Schemes 

Tranche 1 of EATF schemes in Tameside includes ‘pop 
up’ cycle lanes along the A635 Manchester Road and 
two road closures near Stalybridge in residential areas 
to open the streets up for people and remove rat running 
traffic.  

Hyde to 
Mottram/Hollingworth  

A Highways England funded cycle scheme providing a 
safe cycle route linking Hyde town centre to Mottram 
and Hollingworth along the A57 Corridor.   

Parklets / Pocket 
Parks 

Using public engagement to identify potential locations 
for parklets and pocket parks, which could provide 
seating, greenery and cycle parking and enhance a 

Document Pack Page 515



 

14 

Scheme Name  Description 

variety of street types to increase dwell time and work 
for people rather than vehicles. 

GMSF allocations 
walking and cycling 
improvements 

Improvements to walking and cycling connections, 
including Public Rights of Way, bounding or near to the 
GMSF allocations (detailed proposals to be determined 
at planning application stage). 

Document Pack Page 516



 

15 

  

Map 3: Tameside Committed and Priority Bee Network 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 517



 

16 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to/from and within Tameside’s town 

centres, employment sites and key destinations by foot, bike, and public 

transport to support regeneration 

A third of households in Tameside have no access to a car and depend on active 

modes and the public transport network to make their everyday journeys, 

deficiencies on the network can have a severe impact on access to opportunities and 

quality of life.  

In the next 5 years this means creating Streets for All in Tameside’s town centres 

through improvements to the public realm and design of our streets, which focus 

more on the needs of people rather than vehicles. Further details of the Streets for 

All initiative can be found in the 2040 Delivery Plan.  

The three strategic GMSF allocations within Tameside need to be connected to the 

wider-city region by public transport and have enhanced active travel connections to 

the rapid transit network. Interventions needed for these sites will be identified/ 

through the GMSF process. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Streets for All – Hyde 
Town Centre 

The development of a business case for a Streets for All 
approach to improving public realm, walking and cycling 
links, and reducing traffic within Hyde Town Centre. To 
link with masterplan work currently being undertaken in 
Hyde. 

Streets for All – Town 
Centres 

The development of options for a Streets for All 
approach to improving public realm, walking and cycling 
links, and reducing traffic within Ashton-under-Lyne, 
Stalybridge, Droylsden and Denton. To link with 
masterplan work to be undertaken in these towns. 

Walking and Cycling 
connectivity to rapid 
transit networks 

To provide improved access to rapid transit networks by 
active travel modes from the surrounding residential, 
employment and retail areas.   

Masterplans  
Town centres for which masterplans are under 
development include Ashton-under-Lyne, Stalybridge, 
Hyde, Droylsden and Denton. 

Park & Ride / Travel 
Hubs at Audenshaw / 
Ashton Moss on the 
Ashton Metrolink Line 

To provide better access to public transport through 
Travel Hub/Park & Ride facilities. These locations will 
serve the Ashton Moss West GMSF site and will help to 
improve access to the Regional Centre and the wider 
GM area. 

Document Pack Page 518



 

17 

Scheme Name  Description 

Bus services to 
support GMSF 
allocations 

The development of new, extended and enhanced bus 
services and infrastructure to serve the GMSF 
allocations where required (detailed service design to be 
determined at planning application stage). 

Outcome 3: Streets in Tameside will be clean, green and relieve local 

communities from the impacts of congestion 

In the next 5 years this means reducing the impacts of roads and motor traffic in 

Tameside to help us realise our environmental, carbon, economic and quality of life 

objectives, as well as achieving our Right Mix targets. To achieve this, Tameside 

Council will deliver interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles 

and tackle congestion hotspots that do not create an attractive and safe environment 

for people walking and cycling, delay bus services and create air pollution.  

Priorities for Investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Air Pollution Reduction 
Actions  

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 
are expected to exceed or are at risk of exceeding air 
quality thresholds.  

Behaviour Change  

Introduction of Car Clubs, cycle training, publicity etc. to 
positively influence and reduce car usage. Increasing 
the number of people making active journeys is 
essential to responding to the numerous health issues 
and low level of physical activity within the Borough and 
we are working to support this through delivery of the 
Bee Network and associated behavioural change 
activity. 

New junctions to 
access the strategic 
development sites 
across the borough 

Alexandria Drive and Lord Sheldon Way access 
junctions to Ashton Moss West.  

The creation of two new access points along the A560 
Mottram Old Road for Godley Green.  

Improvements to local 
junctions to mitigate 
traffic associated with 
potential GMSF 
allocations  

A number of junctions on the local road network have 
been identified through the GMSF Locality Assessments 
as potentially requiring improvements in order to 
accommodate the generated traffic from allocations and 
provide facilities for all users (specific junctions/designs 
to be determined at planning application stage). 

A635 Manchester 
Road/ 
B6390/Audenshaw 

Improvements to these linked junctions to reduce peak 
hour traffic congestion. 

Document Pack Page 519



 

18 

Scheme Name  Description 

Road/Ashton Hill Lane 
junction, Audenshaw. 

A670 Mossley Road 
Corridor, Ashton 

Package of Streets for All measures on the A670 
Mossley Road, Ashton, including the A670 Mossley 
Road/ Crickets Lane/ Beaufort Road junction and the 
A670 Mossley Road/ Darnton Road/ Queens Road/ 
Montague Road junction and the length of Mossley 
Road between the two links 

A627 Oldham 
Road/A6043 
Wellington Road 
junction, Ashton 

Improvements to this junction to reduce significant traffic 
congestion and incorporate improved cycle crossing 
provision. 

A6140 Lord Sheldon 
Way / Notcutts / A6140 

Necessary local mitigation to support the development 
of the Ashton Moss West allocation. 

 

Outcome 4: Streets in Tameside are safe, well maintained and in good 

condition for all people who live in or travel within Tameside and current and 

future assets are looked after 

This means continuing to invest in maintaining Tameside’s streets and roads for all 

road users, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the neighbourhood level 

to essential maintenance to structures on Tameside’s Key Road Network.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Scheme Name  Description 

Pothole Repair 
Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve 
active Delivery of Central Government Pothole funding 
programme. 

Structures 
Maintenance 

Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections. The 
Medlock Valley Flood Scheme includes the replacement 
of the Bardsley Road Bridge over the River Medlock, 
culver refurbishment and retaining wall replacement.   

Hattersley Viaduct 
Refurbishment and 
Widening 

Refurbishment of Hattersley Viaduct which requires 
major works to ensure its long term continued use and 
additionally to widen the structure to provide segregated 
cycle and pedestrian facilities across it. 

 

Document Pack Page 520



 

19 

 

Map 4: Tameside Local Implementation Plan Schemes 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 521



 

20 

5 Indicators  

Tameside Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Document Pack Page 522



 

1 
 

Trafford Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

1.1 This Implementation Plan sets out how we will work towards our priorities 

including economic growth, improving the environment and social inclusion by 

building on Trafford’s planned and current transport projects, many of which 

are set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 5-Year 

Delivery Plan (2020-2025). 

1.2 While the 5-year Delivery Plan tends to consider large, medium and long-term 

transport schemes, this Implementation Plan is mainly focussed on local, 

neighbourhood level priorities and interventions to 2025. 

1.3 The Trafford Council Corporate Plan (2018-2022) sets outs the Council’s 

vision and priorities, including ‘Maximising our green spaces, transport and 

digital connectivity’. The following elements of this Corporate Plan priority are 

relevant to the LIP: 

• To make it easier to move around the Borough; 

• To improve transport links across the Borough; 

• To reduce the impacts of climate change. 

 

1.4 An effective, sustainable transport system will help Trafford residents to 

achieve a good work/life balance by providing improved infrastructure for 

public and private transport, improving links to work and leisure destinations. 

A sustainable transport network will also be integral to delivering a low carbon 

future, a key priority for Trafford following its declaration of a Climate 

Emergency in November 2018.  

1.5 Trafford is bringing forward significant housing and employment growth 

through the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and the Trafford Local 

Plan. Delivering sustainable transport access to development sites and 

improving the existing network will be integral to achieving successful, 

sustainable development and in meeting Trafford’s low carbon growth 

ambitions. 

1.6 This Local Implementation Plan presents how Trafford Council, with its 

transport partners and stakeholders, will deliver infrastructure improvements 

and contribute to achieving these priorities.  It complements the Greater 

Manchester-level transport interventions set out in Our Delivery Plan, as 

shown in Map 1, below.   

1.7 To achieve these ambitions, we have set five key transport-related outcomes 

which we would wish to see achieved by 2025.  These are:  

 

Document Pack Page 523



 

2 
 

• Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 

2km) made by foot  

• Outcome 2: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 

2km) made by foot and bike and enhancing connections between and 

within the Borough’s town centres  

• Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Trafford 

• Outcome 4: Streets in Trafford will be clean and green 

• Outcome 5: Improving access to Railway Stations and Metrolink Stops  

• Outcome 6: Streets in Trafford are well-maintained and in good condition  

1.8 This document sets out some of the steps Trafford borough will seek 

to take with partners to make good progress towards these outcomes in the 

next 5 years.   The steps are ambitious and the development and delivery of 

the interventions set out will require a significant level of resource and 

funding. This will require use to prioritise measures and to continue working 

with the GMCA and TfGM to secure the required funding from Government to 

develop and deliver these schemes. 

 

  

Document Pack Page 524



 

3 
 

2. Trafford Strategic Transport Issues  

 

  

Document Pack Page 525



 

4 
 

  

Document Pack Page 526



 

5 
 

  

Map 1: Trafford GMTS 2040 Delivery Plan schemes 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 527



 

6 
 

 
Map 2: Trafford future land supply and existing strategic transport network (GMSF 2019 data sourced from the GMCA)   

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 528



 

7 
 

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

Neighbourhoods 

 

3.1 A significant proportion of the trips which start in Trafford are at 

neighbourhood level (42%), 53% of these trips are made by private car whilst 

1% are made by public transport (source: TRADS database).Most of these 

trips are short enough to be taken by foot or bike and there is significant 

scope to increase the current 43% mode share of active travel trips. 

3.2 Road traffic has a significant impact on walking and cycling, including actual 

and perceived safety. Major roads also cause severance between 

neighbourhoods and destinations whilst pavement parking restricts footway 

space and accessibility.  

3.3 The A56 through the Borough presents a particular challenge of severance, 

limiting east - west movements and regeneration, and is heavily trafficked. 

Opportunities exist to improve areas seriously affected such as Stretford 

through the ‘Streets for All’ initiative, the Stretford Masterplan and the 

emerging Stretford Area Action Plan.  

3.4 A key challenge is improving sustainable transport access to key employment 

locations like Trafford Park, which is home to one of the largest 

concentrations of businesses in northern England. High volumes of freight, 

congestion on the M60 and a severance effect are particular challenges to 

regeneration ambitions in this location.  

3.5 Trafford also has transport dilemmas at specific facilities and times, for 

example trips generated by major sporting attractions including Lancashire 

Cricket Club and Manchester United Football Club in Old Trafford.  These 

issues are being considered in the emerging Civic Quarter Area Action Plan 

proposals. 

3.6 Parts of Trafford are currently poorly served by public transport; this includes 

areas such as Carrington, Partington and Sale West. GM wide bus reform 

measures could potentially improve the frequency of services to these areas, 

providing improved connections to surrounding town centres and employment 

locations. Proposals for the Trafford Greenway are currently being developed 

linking Altrincham, Carrington and Partington, as well as an opportunity to 

cross the Manchester Ship Canal to Irlam. This would provide a significant 

benefit to Partington with the potential for a cycle link from Partington to Irlam 

station from where people can travel by train to the Regional Centre.   

3.7 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) includes proposals for 

two major development sites at New Carrington and Timperley Wedge. 

Ensuring these sites are properly served by public transport, walking and 

cycling will be integral to the success of these development sites. 

Development at both sites should provide an improved service to 

Document Pack Page 529



 

8 
 

neighbouring, existing communities – particularly at Carrington where much of 

the area is somewhat isolated from the public transport network.   

3.8 Place plans for Sale Moor and Hale, together with the emerging Flixton 

neighbourhood plan, will highlight issues and opportunities to enhance the 

public realm and improve movement witin these places.    

3.9 A key issue is discouraging people from driving their children to school. One 

way in which this can be minimised is the continuation of work, with Sustrans, 

on active neighbourhood schemes. It is possible to get more people cycling 

and walking without expensive initiatives and Trafford Council/TfGM is keen to 

work with local neighbourhoods in promoting walking and cycling. An example 

is the Urmston Active Neighbourhood where relatively low-cost, quick 

interventions are being considered to increase active travel options.  

Town and district centres 
 

3.10 A number of Trafford’s town and district centres are difficult to access and 

move around by pedestrians due to road traffic, severance caused by 

highway infrastructure, lack of dedicated infrastructure and wayfinding. Key 

issues are as follows.  

Altrincham 

3.11 Altrincham is the main town centre in Trafford and the Altrincham Town 

Centre Neighbourhood Business Plan was adopted in 2017 which covers the 

town centre area. In recent years there has been major investment in the 

Altrincham Interchange (rail/metrolink/bus) and in public realm improvements 

in the town centre.  

3.12 Key issues include: 

• Vehicle movements and car parking; 

• Further improvements to signage and wayfinding; 

• Making the town centre more attractive for pedestrians and cyclists, by 

improving historic ginnels and alleyways, creating large pedestrianised 

areas, green walkways and additional cycleways.   

Sale 

3.13 Sale is identified as a town centre in the Trafford Core Strategy 

(2012)..Considerable investment has been made in public realm 

improvements and facilities for cyclists and pedestrians in the town centre, 

including linkages along and to the Bridgewater Canal corridor. The Sale 

Public Realm and Movement Strategy (2018) identified proposals to improve 

the public realm and provide a better environment for pedestrians and 

cyclists.   

3.14 Key issues include: 

Document Pack Page 530



 

9 
 

• Making the town centre even more attractive for pedestrians and 

cyclists;   

• A lack of connectivity with the surrounding residential areas. 

Stretford 

3.15 Stretford is identified as a town centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012). 

The Refreshed Stretford Masterplan (2018) identifies key actions required to 

deliver major regeneration of the area, including improved public realm and 

promoting sustainable modes of transport at the town centre. An Area Action 

Plan for Stretford is being prepared which aims to deliver around 700 new 

homes in the town centre. 

3.16 Key issues include: 

• Severance caused by the A56, which divides the main shopping area, 

Stretford Mall, from other areas of commercial activity such as 

shopping frontages on Edge Lane; 

• The need for key improvements for pedestrians and cyclists to enhance 

the town centre for users.  

Urmston 

3.17 Urmston is identified as a town centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012) 

and an active neighbourhood is being created in the Urmston area which aims 

to make walking and cycling a natural choice for short journeys. 

3.18 Key issues include: 

• Maximising generally good public transport access with the train station 

and bus network; 

• The centre lacks a strong public realm but Eden Square provides a 

somewhat functional ‘town square’.  

• The need for key improvements for pedestrians and cyclists to enhance 

the town centre for users; 

• Need for fully segregated cycle routes along some of the busiest roads 

• New crossings of busy roads or other physical barriers that divide 

communities 

Hale  

3.19 Hale is identified as a district centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012). The 

draft Hale Village Place Plan was published for consultation in January 2020 

and will provide a framework for the centre ensuring good transport 

accessibility and safe movement in and around the centre.   

3.20 Key issues include: 

• Vehicle movements and car parking within the village centre; 

• A need to reduce traffic speeds; 

Document Pack Page 531



 

10 
 

• A need for improved routes for pedestrians and cyclists; 

• Opportunities for public transport improvements, in particular by 

tram/train between Altrincham and Hale. 

Sale Moor 

3.21 Sale Moor is identified as a district centre in the Trafford Core Strategy 

(2012). The draft Sale Moor Village Place Plan was published for consultation 

in January 2020 and will provide a framework for the centre ensuring good 

transport accessibility and safe movement in and around the centre.   

3.22 Key issues include:  

• The current gyratory system and guard railing which act as a barrier 
and substantial hindrance to overall movement and accessibility within 
the centre; 

• A need to reduce traffic speeds;  

• A need for improved walking and cycling routes through and within the 
village centre and improvements to the public realm.   

 

Timperley 

 

3.23 Timperley is identified as a district centre in the Trafford Core Strategy (2012). 

3.24 Key issues include: 

• Timperley district centre is focused around the junction of Park Road 

and Stockport Road, which consequentially results in a high number of 

vehicle movements through the centre and therefore reduces the 

overall accessibility of the centre for pedestrians;  

 
Major development sites In Trafford 

 

New Carrington  

 

3.25 New Carrington is a proposed allocation in the GMSF, the site is proposed for 

approximately 4,300 dwellings and 350,000 sqm employment floorspace in 

the GMSF plan period to 2037. The development will deliver a new 

sustainable community which is integrated with the existing communities at 

Carrington, Partington and Sale West.  

3.26 Significant transport infrastructure will be required to support the 

development, including the Carrington Relief Road, new bus services, active 

travel links and utilising the route of the disused railway line as a sustainable 

transport corridor.  

3.27 An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support this 

site has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of 

Document Pack Page 532



 

11 
 

the GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 

2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

Timperley Wedge 

3.28 Timperley Wedge is a proposed allocation in the GMSF, the site is proposed 

for approximately 2,400 dwellings and 60,000 sqm office floorspace.  

3.29 The Timperley Wedge allocation will contribute to the delivery of improved 

east – west links between Altrincham and the Airport through a bus rapid 

transit corridor. The site will also be served by the Metrolink Western Leg 

extension. The proposed HS2 Airport station is also located within the site.  

3.30 An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support this 

site has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of 

the GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 

2020-2025 Delivery Plan. 

Wharfside 

 

3.31 Trafford Wharfside is identified in the Trafford Core Strategy as a Strategic 

Location witihin the Regional Centre opposite Salford Quays. The area forms 

part of MediaCityUK and offers great potential for new economic and 

residential development. It is anticipated that the Wharfside area could deliver 

around 2,000 new homes by 2037. 

Pomona 

3.32 Pomona Island is identified in the Trafford Core Strategy as a Strategic 

Location within the Regional Centre. The sites is remediated land within the 

Manchester Docks area, representing a major opportunity to expand and 

diversify the residential and economic offer of the Regional Centre. It is 

anticipated that the Pomona Area could deliver around 2,500 new homes by 

2037 in line with an approved masterplan for the area. 

Trafford Centre Rectangle 

3.33 The Trafford Centre Rectangle is identified as a Strategic Location in the 

Trafford Core Strategy, within which around 2,000 new homes could be 

delivered in the plan period, including the Trafford Waters development site. 

There are a number of sites in the area that offer significant potential to 

contribute to local and sub-regional priorities. 

Civic Quarter Area Action Plan Area 

 

3.34 An Area Action Plan is being prepared for the Civic Quarter which covers part 

of Stretford and Old Trafford and offers the opportunity to act as a 

regeneration and renewal catalyst in the area creating a sustainable, diverse 

Document Pack Page 533



 

12 
 

and vibrant mixed use neighbourhood building on existing businesses and 

residential neighbourhoods. The Civic Quarter AAP could deliver around 

2,800 new homes in the plan period. 

Wider City-Region 

 

3.35 Of trips starting in Trafford 38% are to the wider city-region. 80% of these trips 

are made by private car, whilst 13% are made by public transport (source: 

TRADS database). Trafford has the same walking/cycling modal shift issues 

that have been recognised across Greater Manchester, with short local trips 

by car being a particular problem, for example journeys to and from schools. 

3.36 A number of initiatives in adjacent areas have the potential to benefit Trafford. 

For example, the Manchester to Chorlton cycling and walking route offers 

opportunities for communities in the north of the Borough and possible links to 

this route from Trafford would improve sustainable links to Manchester City 

Centre. There are also opportunities to link these schemes to other Bee 

Network projects in Trafford, for example the Sale – Sale Water Park scheme. 

Public Transport 

3.37 Trafford is relatively well served by Metrolink, by both the Altrincham line and 

the newly opened Trafford Park line. There has been a steady increase in 

users of the Altrincham line, to the extent that there are now capacity issues 

on this line particularly in morning and evening peaks. Upgrades have been 

identified for the route and there will be a move to all double units, as well as 

consideration of using slightly longer vehicles. A Metrolink network study is 

due to commence and may provide recommendations for further 

improvements.    

3.38 The Trafford Park Metrolink line was opened in March 2020 and provides 

access to thousands of jobs and major employers in Trafford Park and the 

Trafford Centre area.  

3.39 Metrolink lines and stops offer a valuable rapid transit route, but the nature of 

the routes means that they are linear and a key challenge for Trafford is to 

spread these benefits to adjacent areas. There are opportunities to provide 

improved active travel links to Metrolink stops, promoting sustainable first and 

last mile journeys, particularly around key interchange stations such as 

Altrincham. Improved bus services to Metrolink stops will also provide 

connections, for example the Sale West bus study proposes improved links 

from Sale West and the development proposals at New Carrington to Sale 

Metrolink stop. The wider GM opportunities around integrated ticketing across 

the public transport network will also make interchanging between bus and 

Metrolink a more attractive option for users.   

3.40 Planned extensions to the Metrolink in Trafford include the Manchester Airport 

Western Leg which is identified in the GM Delivery Plan. This will branch off 

Document Pack Page 534



 

13 
 

the Manchester Airport line, past Wythenshawe Hospital and to the proposed 

GMSF Timperley Wedge allocation, providing a stop to serve the site, and 

linking to the proposed HS2 / NPR Airport station and Manchester Airport. 

The line will be delivered in stages, with the first phase anticipated to be to 

Davenport Green, serving the Timperley Wedge site and then extended to 

serve the HS2 / NPR station and on to Manchester Airport once HS2 

construction has completed.  

3.41 There are significant opportunities from bus reform in Greater Manchester and 

in Trafford there is a need to improve bus services to areas which are 

currently isolated from the public transport network such as Sale West, 

Carrington and Partington. These are often the most deprived areas as well.  

3.42 In terms of heavy rail, Trafford is served by the Warrington Central / CLC line 

and the Mid-Cheshire line. There are particular capacity issues on the 

Warrington Central / CLC line leading to congestion and overcrowding at peak 

times.  The Delivery Plan proposes improvements for these routes and 

identified the potential for Tram-Train to provide a higher frequency ‘metro’ 

service.  

Highway Network 
 

3.43 Road maintenance and resilience issues exist within Trafford and there is 

some impact on the network as a result of lack of funding. The Council uses 

Department for Transport grant funding to maintain the highway network, this 

funding can support resurfacing and improvements to approximately 5km of 

the network per annum, which equates to less than 1% of the highway 

network in Trafford. The funding is therefore focused on areas which support 

the continued safe use of the road network. In recent years this funding has 

been supported by Council Capital although this is not guaranteed and 

therefore other sources of funding will be applied for when they become 

available.  

3.44 Going forward a priority for Trafford will be to improve the highway network so 

that it can support increased cycling and walking trips. Trafford has secured 

funding for a number of cycling and walking schemes through the Bee 

Network programme and is continuing to expand the cycling and walking 

network at pace through measures introduced through the Emergency Active 

Travel Fund (EATF).

Document Pack Page 535



 

14 
 

4. Trafford 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot  

4.1 In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create 

attractive, safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, 

and support people to make local, shorter journeys by foot. Promoting ease of 

movement for pedestrians in town centres and communities is a priority for 

Trafford and places will be designed in a way that makes active travel the 

most attractive option, by providing safe, attractive, fun and well-proportioned 

streets with high quality public realm and which support the ‘streets for all’ 

principles.  

4.2 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Urmston Active 
Neighbourhood 

Trafford Council has identified the Urmston area, also 

covering both Flixton and Davyhulme, as an Active 

Neighbourhood, where sustainable means of travel will 

be quicker and more convenient than private car 

ownership. The aim is a neighbourhood where land 

currently dominated by the motor vehicle will be freed up 

for social and economic activities creating cleaner and 

healthier air quality. 

Proposals for this scheme are currently being developed 

in consultation with the community. 

Further Active 
Neighbourhoods 
schemes 

Identify other opportunities for active neighbourhoods in 
Trafford. 

New / improved 
pedestrian crossings on 
major transport routes 

Identify roads which are a particular barrier to pedestrian 
movements and provide new / improved pedestrian 
crossings. Priorities include the A56 in Sale, Stretford 
and Altrincham town centre and the A6144 through 
Carrington and Partington. 

Outcome 2: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and bike and enhancing connections between and within the 

Borough’s town centres  

4.3 In the next 5 years this means delivering the Bee Network schemes to provide 

improved active travel links and adopting ‘streets for all’ principles in the town 

centres of Altrincham, Sale, Stretford and Urmston.   

4.4 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Document Pack Page 536



 

15 
 

Investment Priority Description 

Talbot Road / White 
City  

Bee Network scheme to provide off carriageway cycle 

lanes and junction improvements. The scheme will 

provide an enhanced walking and cycle route providing 

safer trips for pedestrian/cyclists both as a commuter 

route between Stretford and Manchester and leisure 

movements to the retail and leisure attractions.  

Talbot Road / A56 and 
Great Stone Road 

Bee Network scheme including dedicated cycling and 
walking facilities. Consideration is also being given to a 
CYCLOPS layout at the junction of Talbot Road / Great 
Stone Road. 

Seymour Grove Bee Network scheme to provide a safe walking and 

cycle route linking the Stretford Cycleway and the Old 

Trafford community to Manchester via the Manchester to 

Chorlton Walking and Cycling Route, as part of the 

Made to Move agenda. 

This scheme will provide a segregated cycle route along 

Seymour Grove, and improve the junctions to provide 

quality crossing facilities for walking and cycling. 

Wharfside Way / 
Europa Way 

Bee Network scheme to provide a safe walking and 
cycle route linking Stretford, Trafford Park Rail Station, 
Trafford Park, Media City, The Lowry Theatre and Retail, 
Bridgewater Way, Old Trafford Stadia (Football & Cricket 
grounds), NCN55 and Metrolink (New Trafford Park 
Link).  
 
Proposals include a continuous route across accesses 
and minor junctions, controlled parallel & toucan 
crossings, reconfiguration of a roundabout to create a 
safer junction for all users, landscaped areas of place 
and cycle parking. 

Sale / Sale Water Park Bee Network scheme to provide a safe walking and 

cycle route linking Sale Town Centre, the district centre 

of Sale Moor and Sale Water Park, and its communities 

in between, as part of the Made to Move agenda. 

This scheme will provide a segregated cycle route along 

Northenden Road and Old Hall Road and improve the 

junctions to provide quality crossing facilities for walking 

and cycling. The scheme will also improve the amenities 

and space in Sale Town Centre and Sale Moor by 

making it more attractive to pedestrians and cyclists to 

spend time in those locations. 

Document Pack Page 537



 

16 
 

Investment Priority Description 

Altrincham Link Bridge Bee Network scheme to provide a safe route linking 

Altrincham Town Centre to the residential areas north of 

Altrincham Town Centre. This will also provide a MCF 

compliant crossing point of the Bridgewater Canal. 

Additionally, the route would link Altrincham to the 

Bridgewater Way, one of the six designated ‘Cycleways’ 

in Greater Manchester and to assist in making cycling 

and walking the mode of choice for short journeys in 

North Altrincham. 

GM Bike Hire Scheme Support the Greater Manchester-wide bike hire scheme 

as a positive opportunity for people to avoid the use of 

cars for short trips. Stage one includes area of Trafford 

within the Regional Centre and priorities beyond stage 

one include Altrincham, Sale, Stretford and Urmston for 

first and last mile and shops/school trips. 

Active travel 
improvements to the 
A56 

The A56 is an important highways corridor in the 
borough and making this route more attractive to walking 
and cycling is a priority. This will need to be achieved 
along the whole route and key areas of focus are: 

• A56 Bridgewater Way 

• A56 between Talbot Road to M60 

• A56 M60 to Dane Road 

 
4.5 The following longer term schemes have also been identified in Trafford to 

deliver significant improvements to the cycling and walking network.  

Investment Priority Description 

White City Circle White City Circle is a critical hub which is the missing 

pedestrian/cycling link connecting A56 Chester Road/ 

A5063 Trafford Road /A5081 Wharfside Way.  

This scheme would provide walking and cycling 

improvements around White City Circle by fully 

segregating pedestrians /cyclists by means of a bridge to 

provide a safer option to navigate around the complex 

junction. The carriageway layout and traffic signal 

configuration will be reviewed and adapted to achieve 

optimum efficiency. 

Trafford Greenway Off highway cycle route along the old rail line linking 
Altrincham, Carrington, Partington, Cadishead and Irlam 
Station.  

Document Pack Page 538



 

17 
 

Investment Priority Description 

 
This scheme will bring a disused section of the former 
Cheshire rail line, between Timperley and Irlam, back 
into use as a Greenway and will also link to the wider 
New Carrington development proposals. 

 

  

Document Pack Page 539



 

18 
 

 
Map 3: 5-Year Bee Network proposals 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 540



 

19 
 

Outcome 3: Improved access to bus services across Trafford 

4.6 In the next 5 years this means focusing on improving bus provision on key 

corridors, including the A56, as well as improving bus services to areas of 

Trafford which are poorly served such as Partington and Sale West.   

4.7 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

A56 bus corridor The A56 will continue to be a focus for improvements 

along different sections of the corridor and opportunities 

will be identified for bus priority measures at key 

junctions. This will include potential improved bus 

connections from Stretford to Manchester city centre. 

Bus rapid transit 
connections between 
Altrincham and 
Manchester Airport 

Develop quality bus transit connections between 
Altrincham and the Airport as part of wider 
improvements to east / west linkages across south 
Greater Manchester and linked to the proposed GMSF 
Timperley Wedge allocation. 

Improved bus 
connectivity to 
Partington, Carrington 
and Sale West 

Maximise opportunities for Partington / Carrington / Sale 

West bus improvements linked to the proposed and 

existing planning permissions in the area for residential 

and employment development, as well as the wider 

GMSF New Carrington allocation in the longer term. 

Improved bus services will be integral to the success of 

the New Carrington allocation and significant 

infrastructure investment will be required to deliver bus 

priority measures which make public transport a 

genuinely attractive alternative to the private car. 

Outcome 4: Streets in Trafford will be clean and green 

4.8 In the next 5 years this means reducing the environmental impact of motor 

traffic in Trafford through interventions that accelerate the uptake of low 

emission vehicles and reduce the emission of air pollutants from vehicle traffic 

across the Borough. 

4.9 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Air pollution reduction Measures to reduce the emission of pollutants in areas 

that are expected to exceed air quality limits. 

Electric vehicle 
charging points 

Programme to increase the number of EV charging 
points across the Borough. 

Document Pack Page 541



 

20 
 

Investment Priority Description 

Local cycling and 
walking investment 
plans 

Local walking and cycling investment plans to improve 

active travel connections between residential areas and 

rail/Metrolink stations.   

Outcome 5: Improving access to Railway Stations and Metrolink Stops  

4.10 In the next 5 years this means delivering improved and new sustainable travel 

routes to railway stations and Metrolink stops in Trafford. The Borough is 

relatively well served by Metrolink with stops on both the Altrincham and 

Trafford Park lines. The Warrington Central/CLC railway line also runs 

through Trafford with stations including Urmston and Flixton, as well as 

railway stations on the Mid-Cheshire line at Altrincham and Navigation Road. 

These routes provide valuable sustainable travel links to the Regional Centre, 

as well as other main town centres and employment locations. Improving links 

to these stations from a wider area will enable more people to travel by 

sustainable modes. 

4.11 This links to the wider Delivery Plan transport priority to increase capacity on 

the Altrincham Metrolink line, as well as longer term objectives to provide 

tram-train services on the Mid-Cheshire line and Warrington Central/CLC line.   

4.12 Priorities for investment over the next 5 years: 

Investment Priority Description 

Improved sustainable 
travel links to Railway 
Stations and Metrolink 
Stops 

Improving walking, cycling and bus links to all rail and 

Metrolink stations from surrounding neighbourhoods, 

including via integrated bus/rail/Metrolink ticketing where 

appropriate. 

Increasing capacity of 
Metrolink  and rail 

Increasing capacity of rail and Metrolink services to the 
Regional Centre and Manchester Airport, through 
improved frequency and additional Metrolink carriages. 

Outcome 6: Streets in Trafford are well-maintained and in good condition  

4.1 This means continuing to invest in maintaining Trafford’s streets for all people 
who use them, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the 
neighbourhood level to essential maintenance to structures on Trafford’s key 
road network. 

 

 

 
   

Document Pack Page 542



 

21 
 

 

4.2 Trafford Capital Investment Programme 2020-23: 

 2020-
21 

2021-
22 

2022-
23 

TOTAL 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Highway Structural Maintenance 1,000 800 700 2,500 

Street lighting programme 650 650 650 1,950 

Highway Tree Programme 50 50  100 

Integrated Transport Strategy 150 150 150 450 

Boroughwide – boundary / village entry 
signs 

35 35 35 105 

 
4.13 The Highway Structural Maintenance investment includes investment in 

structures, drainage and signage across the Borough. 

 

Document Pack Page 543



 

22 
 

 
Map 4: Trafford Local Implementation Plan Schemes 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 544



 

23 
 

5. Indicators 

5.1 Trafford Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring 

framework to measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is 

anticipated that this will include aims and targets to measure success against 

the 5-Year Local Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes 

in mode-share to meet Right Mix targets. 

Document Pack Page 545



 

1 

Wigan Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1. Introduction  

This Implementation Plan sets out Wigan’s local neighbourhood and town level 

transport priorities for the next five years, as part of Our Five Year Delivery Plan 

(2020-2025).  These have a distinct focus on several key areas, including active 

travel, sustainable transport and town centre access, with some - including new 

infrastructure within the Wigan Bolton Growth Corridor - referenced in the emerging 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF).  

These transport objectives are consistent with the Council’s corporate strategy ‘The 

Deal 2030’ which includes an ambition for the borough to become ‘a well-connected 

place’ by 2030, as one of its 10 priorities.  The Deal 2030 has been approved by the 

council and other public sector organisations as a ‘plan for the place’ of Wigan 

borough, and - in partnership with residents - it commits the council and its partners 

to the delivery of the priorities set out in the document. To become a well-connected 

place, it commits to increasing the amount of people using greener travel options 

and improving connectivity in the borough, by: 

• Investing in transport infrastructure to help reduce congestion and improve air 

quality. 

• Working with our partners to improve the public transport offer across the whole 

borough. 

• Keeping traffic moving, maintaining the highways; and providing safe and 

accessible routes for walking and cycling. 

• Promoting flexible working to reduce the number of journeys made by council 

staff. 

Improved connectivity both within the borough and to nearby destinations will 

contribute to making Wigan a more attractive place to live, work, visit and invest, and 

will therefore help the Council to achieve a number of the strategy’s other key 

priorities including ‘an environment to be proud of’, ‘economic growth that benefits 

everyone’, and ‘a home for all’.  

This document sets out some of the steps Wigan will take, with partners and 

stakeholders, to deliver infrastructure improvements and make good progress 

towards our transport vision and priorities in the shorter term.  It complements the 

Greater Manchester-level transport interventions set out in Our Delivery Plan, as 

shown in Map 1, below.  

When it comes to the borough’s local neighbourhood and town level priorities for the 

next five years, we have set five key outcomes to be achieved by 2025. These are:  

Document Pack Page 546



 

2 

• Outcome 1: Increase the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) made 

by foot and by bike across the borough of Wigan. 

• Outcome 2: Improve access to, and perceptions of, local bus services for people 

who live, work or travel in the borough. 

• Outcome 3: Better management of parking facilities in Wigan’s centres, public 

transport stops and rail stations.  

• Outcome 4: Attractive and well supported town centres with something for 

everyone.  

• Outcome 5: Streets which are well maintained and in good condition. 

Further details of the specific interventions which will enable us to achieve these 

outcomes are summarised later in this document. It is important to emphasise, 

however, that our transport plans for the coming years have a distinct focus on 

several key areas, including: 

• Active travel where Wigan will continue to work through the Mayors Cycling and 

Walking Challenge Fund (MCF) to deliver key walking cycling priorities in Wigan 

as part of the Bee Network;  

• Town centres with a focus on directing development towards the east-west core 

of the borough - including the towns of Wigan, Ince, Hindley, Platt Bridge, Leigh, 

Atherton, Tyldesley, Astley and Ashton-in-Makerfield - in order to achieve 

transformational regeneration, through improved cycling and walking routes and 

wayfinding, better access to public transport and a reduction in 

the negative impacts of road traffic.    

• Sustainable transport including the identification of more bus friendly routes and 

the design and business case development of new public transport links to 

support future development 

 

.

Document Pack Page 547



 

3 

 
Map 1: Delivery Plan Map 1, 2 and 3 Interventions 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 548



 

4 

 
Map 2: Wigan Transport Network and Land Supply 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 549



 

5 

2. Wigan Borough Strategic Transport Issues  

Wigan’s current Transport Strategy ‘Wigan Borough on the Move’ was launched in 

2011 and sets out the borough’s plans up to 2026. The document is due to be 

refreshed in late 2020 to take account of recent developments, and to ensure 

consistency with the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.  

The Strategy identifies key strategic transport issues facing the borough, which 

remain highly relevant – including the need for public transport improvements, better 

integration of bus and rail services, walking and cycling, road projects, congestion 

measures and car parking – and sets out key transport solutions and projects 

needed to enable Wigan to deliver its transport vision and achieve its objectives. 

Wigan’s Core Strategy – the principle document within the borough’s Local Plan – 

was adopted in 2013. It sets out the borough’s planning strategy until 2028, including 

how much housing and employment development is needed and where it should go.  

A key focus is the inner ‘east-west core’ of the borough, which stretches westwards 

to the M6 motorway and eastwards to Tyldesley and Astley. This is where most of 

Wigan’s economic and social deprivation is concentrated, and where the 

environment is most degraded. A key priority for Wigan Council is ensuring that 

spatial planning helps to tackle these issues.  Map 2 sets out the existing transport 

network alongside GMSF land supply allocations. 

 ‘Right Mix’ and Carbon Neutral by 2038 

Wigan Council has declared a Climate 

Emergency and is committed to working with its 

neighbours and other key stakeholders to 

ensure the Council is carbon-neutral by 2038 or 

sooner, and that the whole borough is carbon 

neutral by 2050. Wigan supports the current aim 

for 50% of all trips to be made by sustainable 

modes (walking, cycling or public transport) in 

Greater Manchester by 2040.  

Currently, 67% of all trips that start in the borough are made by car or van, 7% by 

public transport and 24% by ‘active travel’.  Active travel means walking or cycling, 

with the vast majority of this comprising walking, rather than cycling.  

The percentage of all trips made by public transport and active travel in Wigan will 

need to increase if the borough, and Greater Manchester, are to meet their 

environmental targets and help to achieve health and air quality benefits for 

residents. We call this working towards the ‘Right Mix’ of transport for Greater 

Manchester.  

Document Pack Page 550



 

6 

One of the areas with the biggest potential for change is local ‘neighbourhood’ trips 

(of 2km or less) where there are still large numbers of short car journeys which could 

reasonably be switched to walking or cycling. 

 

Transport Mode Share in Wigan and across Greater Manchester (TRADS Yrs567 

2016 – 2018) 

Work to date - to support switches to walking, cycling and public transport - includes:  

• The Bridgewater Canal (Muddy Mile) scheme, which comprises improvements 

to the Bridgewater Canal towpath in Astley including resurfacing the towpath, 

better signage and improved access points. This is now part of the Bridgewater 

Way which encourages people to walk and cycle on towpath from Wigan Pier, 

through Leigh and into Salford. 

• Saddle Junction and Robin Park Road improvement schemes which provide 

safer and more convenient cycling and walking facilities linking Marsh Green, Kitt 

Green and Newtown with Robin Park and Wigan town centre.  

• Pedestrianisation of town centre shopping streets, such as Standishgate in 

Wigan town centre, and Bradshawgate in Leigh. These changes have helped to 

create a better environment for town centre activities and retailers. 

• Support for the regional ‘Safe Streets Save Lives’ campaign to give 

pedestrians and cyclists more space. These measures include temporarily 

extending pedestrian zone times in Wigan and Leigh town centres to help walking 

and cycling movements; introducing 20mph speed limits on some Wigan town 

Document Pack Page 551



 

7 

centre roads and extending the operating times of the bus lane on Leigh Road 

from peak hours to 24/7. 

• The Standish Mineral Line scheme provides additional and improved sections 

of on and off-road facilities, creating high quality multi-user routes (walking, 

cycling, equestrians and wheelchair).  

• Wigan’s Cycling and Walking Steering Group has recently been set up to 

discuss and remove barriers to active travel with residents and stakeholders.  

Supporting Economic Growth 

Wigan Council is committed to supporting economic growth and recovery from 

COVID-19. Its adopted Core Strategy makes clear that investment needs to be 

directed towards the east-west core of the borough: in and around the towns of 

Wigan, Ince, Hindley, Platt Bridge, Leigh, Atherton, Tyldesley, Astley and Ashton-in-

Makerfield, to create attractive places for people and businesses. Beyond the east-

west core, development should be focused on Golborne and Lowton, and Standish. 

This will enable the borough to capitalise on its strategic location between the growth 

areas of Manchester, Liverpool and Central Lancashire, to be more competitive 

economically and attract businesses, diversify the housing offer and meet housing 

needs, improve transport infrastructure and enable people to take advantage of the 

opportunities for education, jobs and leisure in those locations. 

The borough has experienced high levels of housing growth in recent years, 

including around 4,000 net additional homes built in the last three years (2017-20). 

This is set to continue.  The draft GMSF sets an annual target of 1,126 homes in the 

borough for the period 2020-37, equating to over 19,000 new homes. It also 

proposes the delivery of new, high quality employment sites, including at M6 

Junction 25, to attract investment from the key growth sectors of logistics and 

manufacturing, creating new jobs for local people. 

In future, Wigan will provide a gateway to high speed rail with the West Coast Main 

Line joining the high-speed network just south of Wigan and connecting to Crewe, 

Birmingham and London Euston. Being a HS2 station will support ongoing 

regeneration of Wigan town centre, particularly around the town’s stations and 

Wigan Pier Quarter. Wigan Town Centre is identified as main town centre in the draft 

GMSF with a key role as a local economic driver, a transport hub and a primary 

focus for office, retail, leisure and cultural activity.  

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support these sites 

has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 

GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 

Delivery Plan. 

Document Pack Page 552



 

8 

 

Work to date includes: 

• Work on the M58 and A49 link roads to provide better east-west connectivity 

between the M6 and Wigan town centre. 

• Increasing M58/M6 interchange capacity providing better connectivity into 

Wigan.  

• Junction improvements at Victoria Street/Warrington Road to remove the 

traffic merge so that Victoria Street and Warrington Road have their own signal 

stages. Crossing has also been made easier and safer for pedestrians and 

cyclists. 

• Ambitious Town centre plans for Wigan and Leigh.  

• Redevelopment of Wigan Bus Station which has improved the experience of 

people using it and provides an improved gateway into the town centre.  

• Wigan’s emerging HS2 Growth Strategy, being prepared to ensure that as new 

high speed trains start to go through Wigan (from 2026) the delivery of wider 

benefits around the stations and town centre are felt by local people and 

businesses.  

• Wigan Pier Quarter including development of The Edge venue alongside 

residential and commercial development, and an arts and commercial space at 

Trencherfield Mill.  

• Future High Streets Fund bid to support a wider package of regeneration 

proposals for the town centre, which will include the King Street area (adjacent to 

the Wigan North Western station gateway) to provide more space for living and 

working.  

• Work towards procuring a development partner for the Galleries in the heart 

of Wigan town centre, which will see new and diverse uses brought to the town.   

• The proposed allocation of a high quality employment site in the GMSF at 

M6 Junction 25 to capitalise on the borough’s strategic location within the M6 

growth corridor and to attract inward investment from key growth sectors, 

including logistics and advanced manufacturing. 

Document Pack Page 553



 

9 

Protecting our Environment and Environmental Impact 

Addressing air quality issues in the is a priority for the borough. The Council is 

committed to improving air quality and reducing the effects of climate change as set 

out in ‘The Deal 2030’. Yet in 2018 the following six locations in the borough 

recorded nitrogen dioxide levels in excess of annual limits set by the EU: 

• Newton Road / Winwick Lane, Lane Head, Golborne 

• A49 Warrington Road, Mars Bridge 

• Robin Pak Road, Wigan (near Saddle Junction) 

• Southgate, Wigan 

• School Lane, Standish 

• A577 / Market Street / Lily Lane junction, Hindley 

Despite this, nitrogen dioxide levels have reduced at some of these locations since 

2017, and at other locations including Atherleigh Way / Twist Lane in Leigh and 

along the M6 (north of M6 Junction 24) where levels are now below the EU limit. 

Wigan Council is taking significant steps to reduce the emission of pollutants in these 

areas. 

Work to date includes: 

• The development of the GM Clean Air Plan alongside other Greater 

Manchester local authorities, which aims to reduce nitrogen dioxide levels at the 

roadside in the shortest possible time. 

• Circa £2m investment in walking and cycle routes to offer sustainable 

alternatives to making short trips by car, including the opening of ‘Muddy Mile’ 

down the Bridgewater Canal, as part of the first Bee Network cycling scheme. 

• Delivering the electric vehicle charging point network: by the end of 2020, 

there will be 48 twin electric vehicle charging points across Wigan borough. 

• The introduction of a permanent weight limit on Winwick Lane, Lowton 

southbound from the A580 to help address pollution levels at Lane Head. A 

northbound weight limit is being sought, but this would need to be implemented 

by Warrington Borough Council. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 554



 

10 

Public Transport Reliability, Capacity and Connectivity  

The borough’s road network causes congestion along key routes and at key 

locations at peak times. Buses have to share the road network with cars and lorries. 

They contribute to, and experience, the same congestion. This has a major impact 

on public transport reliability.  

There are two railway stations in Wigan town 

centre and seven other stations in the 

borough. The two main stations in Wigan are 

separate and lie either side of a busy road. 

There is a lack of integration between them 

and with bus services, too.  

Wigan Council is working in partnership with bus and train operators, TfGM and 

national agencies to develop a better public transport system that is more reliable for 

people who visit, live and work in the borough.  

Work to date includes: 

• Wigan Town Centre bus station. Completed in 2018, this provides a modern 

and accessible transport facility that not only makes travel easier for residents but 

helps boost connectivity across the city region.  

• Park and ride schemes being considered at Hindley rail station and Tyldesley 

stop on the Leigh Guided Busway.  

• Improved accessibility to Daisy Hill, Hag Fold and Atherton rail stations 

from West of Gibfield GMSF allocation to be considered at planning application 

stage. 

Improving the Quality of Life and Reducing Inequalities Across the Borough  

Wigan borough has a lower than average life expectancy (in comparison to the rest 

of England). Life expectancy is 12 years lower for men, and almost 10 years lower 

for women, in the most deprived areas of Wigan than in the least deprived areas. 

Wigan also has higher than average mortality rates from cardiovascular disease. 

There were 300 reported road traffic collisions resulting in 380 casualties in Wigan in 

2018. In 2018 Wigan had the 6th highest number of reported road traffic casualties 

of all 10 local authorities in GM, and the 16th highest of all 24 local authorities in the 

North West. 

Wigan Council is working to tackle the dangers that result in road collisions with 

consequential serious injuries, and the perception of these dangers that discourages 

people from cycling and walking as part of a daily, healthy lifestyle.  

Document Pack Page 555



 

11 

 
 

Work to date includes:  

 

• The creation of Wigan Council’s ‘Behavioural Change’ team. Formerly the 

Road Safety team, its remit has expanded. The team continues to deliver road 

safety education, training and publicity, as well as promoting and encouraging the 

use of sustainable transport across the Borough. 

• Start of work to deliver ‘active centres’ and ‘active corridors’. Wigan Council 

has, to date, secured circa £20 million from the Mayor’s Challenge Fund to 

deliver walking and cycling schemes that aim to support and improve road safety, 

such as the planned Wigan Central crossing scheme.  

• Development of ‘School Streets’ programme. Trialled in September 2020, it is 

designed to create a safer environment around schools to encourage walking and 

cycling.  

• Safe Streets Save Lives initiative. When travel restrictions were put in place 

following the outbreak of COVID-19, Wigan saw significant increases in walking 

and cycling. Increasing accessibility to transport hubs and town centres are only 

some of the measures being implemented to further encourage modal shift.  

• Poolstock Lane Environmental Scheme. Our aspiration is to make Poolstock a 

less vehicle-dominated, more user-friendly and community-based area using 

Greater Manchester’s ‘Streets for All’ emerging approach.  

• Preparation of a Planning for Health Supplementary Planning Document to 

inform new development and to provide guidance on the successful interpretation 

of Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy which requires the health impacts of new 

developments to be considered at planning application stage.  

3. Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1 Neighbourhoods 

Nearly half (46%) of all trips starting in Wigan Borough can be classed as 

‘Neighbourhood trips’: short, local trips of less than 2km in length. There are slightly 

more trips of this kind are made in Wigan than in other parts of Greater Manchester 

Document Pack Page 556



 

12 

(Greater Manchester’s average is 44%). Of these short trips in Wigan, 50% are 

made by car or van (higher than Greater Manchester average).  

Across the borough, road traffic has a significant impact on local walking and cycling 

trips, including actual and perceptions of safety. Major roads are often the source of 

congestion and severance which affects travel by other modes (bus, cycle, walking) 

between neighbourhoods and destinations. Air quality issues, poor street design and 

a lack of dedicated infrastructure sometimes also put people off making short trips by 

active modes.  

There is very little infrastructure for active travel in some areas, including to the north 

east of the town centre (between Scholes and Whelley), Orrell, Pemberton and 

Golborne, and Lowton - although challenges in many of these areas will be 

addressed by Bee Network improvements in future.  

There are a number of opportunities to meet these challenges, including the 

development and delivery of the Bee Network proposals in Leigh/Atherton/Tyldesley 

and Standish/Wigan/Ashton. Wigan’s Cycling and Walking Steering Group has been 

set up to discuss and remove barriers to active travel with residents and 

stakeholders.  

Standish and Golborne and Lowton Infrastructure Assessments are looking to 

improve walking and cycling infrastructure in local areas. A Link Road connecting 

A579 Atherleigh Way to A572 Newton Road is also being considered at Pocket Nook 

GMSF allocation to reduce localised congestion and increase accessibility to public 

transport services. An essential aspect of the through road is the bridge over the 

proposed HS2 line, without this infrastructure, the through road cannot be delivered 

The Council is in ongoing negotiations with HS2 Ltd about these matters. 

3.2 Wider City Region 

Of all trips that start in the borough, ‘Wider City Region’ trips - trips between local 

centres, sometimes crossing into a different borough: from Wigan to Bolton, for 

example, or Ashton in Makerfield to St Helens - are the most frequent type. They 

comprise 49% of all trips made. This is significant when compared to the Greater 

Manchester average for this type of trip (38% of all trips made). Of these ‘Wider City 

Region’ trips that start in Wigan, 82% are made by car or van (slightly higher than 

the GM average) and 13% are made by public transport (12% by bus and 1% by 

train) which is in line with the Greater Manchester average for these trips between 

local centres. 

A key challenge in relation to ‘Wider City Region’ trips that start in Wigan is the 

impact of increased congestion on public transport. Buses get stuck in traffic 

congestion, leading to perceptions of bus travel as unreliable and people opting to 

use private vehicles instead, thus increasing traffic congestion to a greater extent. 

Document Pack Page 557



 

13 

Parts of the Borough which are particularly adversely affected are between Leigh 

and Wigan at peak times, and the Ince-in-Makerfield and Westhoughton areas. 

Travel between Orrell and other western parts of the Borough and Lancashire and 

Merseyside is also challenging at peak times. Park and Ride facilities at Wigan’s 

stations and Guided Busway stops are at capacity at peak times, causing car parking 

pressures on nearby residential streets.  

There are several opportunities to meet these challenges such as increased service 

provision and additional stops on the guided busway, including North of Mosley 

Common GMSF allocation for example. There are further plans to explore 

opportunities to enhance park and ride facilities at various transport hubs across the 

borough.  

3.3 Wigan Town Centre 

A key challenge for Wigan Town Centre relates to radial approaches into the town, 

where there are often traffic delays and congestion (especially during peak times). 

This, combined with the existence of few crossing points, makes it difficult to access 

to the town centre on foot or by bike.  

Another key challenge is that, although plans are in place for the regeneration of the 

Wigan Pier Quarter, it remains disconnected from the heart of the town. Wigan 

Athletic is another key asset which could help to support the town centre if links were 

improved between the grounds and the station, bringing supporters back into the 

town centre, encouraging people visiting Wigan to stay for longer periods of time, 

and perhaps return in future.   

In terms of opportunities, Bee Network schemes have been developed to reduce 

pedestrian and cycle severance to Wigan Town Centre, by improving key junctions 

along Riverway. Work is also ongoing to develop cycling routes that link the town 

centre with existing investment at the edge of the town centre.  

Wigan Council has been working with Historic England to create a Heritage Action 

Zone on King Street in Wigan Town Centre. £1.3 million has been secured to help 

restore listed buildings to their former glory alongside new opportunities for cultural 

engagement and education. Wigan has bid for funding from the Government’s 

Future High Streets Fund, which aims to revitalise local town centres. 

Finally, work is ongoing to define the development opportunities for the wider town 

centre area, including through the HS2 Growth Strategy and work to maximise the 

land assets in and around the station in anticipation of the arrival of High Speed 2 

and Northern Powerhouse Rail. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 558



 

14 

3.4 Regional Centre 

Just 2% of all trips from Wigan borough are made to the Regional Centre 

(Manchester City Centre, the Quays in Salford and the Etihad Campus area). This is 

far below the Greater Manchester average of 15%.  

There are a number of challenges when it comes to making these kinds of trips, 

including less comprehensive bus routes and train timetabling between some parts 

of Wigan and Manchester city centre. In addition, public transport services departing 

from Wigan and going into Manchester City Centre are frequently at full capacity, 

forcing people to travel out of the borough to come back in. 

In the next five years, subject to successful pathfinder study work, Wigan Council will 

work in partnership with TfGM to develop plans for Metro/tram-train from Wigan to 

Manchester via Atherton. Tram-train technology – which is common in some 

European countries, but relatively novel in the UK – could enable better use to be 

made of the borough’s existing rail lines, by allowing adapted Metrolink vehicles to 

share sections of track with conventional trains. In addition, possible service 

improvements are planned for the Leigh-Salford-Manchester Guided Busway, 

including the potential to extend it further west (for example, towards Wigan).  

4. Wigan 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

The following section outlines Wigan Borough’s 5-Year LIP outcomes, and priorities 

for investment to achieve these. Map 3, below, shows local investment priorities 

to meet these outcomes.  

Outcome 1: More neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) made by foot and by 

bike across the borough of Wigan.  

In the next five years, this means improving cycling and walking networks to make it 

easier and safer for pedestrians and cyclists to move around the borough, 

encouraging healthy lifestyles, a reduction in carbon emissions and better access to 

facilities, services and retail. People will feel supported to make local trips by foot or 

by bike, rather than by private car.  

We are working closely with GM on this work, including on the Bee Network and the 

GM Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. In addition, Wigan has some 

significant proposals for improving walking and cycling in and around Wigan Town 

Centre.  

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 559



 

15 

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Investment Priority 

Name  

Description 

Worsley Mesnes 

Active 

Neighbourhood/Low 

Traffic 

Neighbourhood 

(MCF Tranche 5 and 

EATF bid) 

A scheme to provide high quality safe space for 

walking and cycling for all local residents as part of 

a wider estate improvement programme.  

Standish Mineral 

Line Extension (MCF 

Tranche 2) 

Wigan Council has secured funding to extend the 

Standish Mineral Line to connect with the 

Highways England works at Junction 27 of the M6. 

Leigh, Atherton and 

Tyldesley (MCF 

Tranche 4) 

A scheme to improve cycle and walking facilities in 

Leigh, Atherton and Tyldesley.  

Standish to Ashton 

(MCF Tranche 5)  

A scheme to improve cycle and walking facilities 

along the A49 strategic corridor from Ashton to 

Standish.  

Victoria Street 

Junction (MCF 

Tranche 1)  

A scheme to provide a more coherent, direct and 

safe cycling and pedestrian route, giving people a 

better experience when negotiating a busy junction. 

Road to Wigan Pier A scheme to improve walking and cycling links 

between Wigan town centre and Wigan Pier 

Quarter 

Saddle Junction to 

Alexandra Park 

Cycleway 

Various schemes to improve the cycle network 

connectivity around Wigan town centre.  

Eastern Gateway  A scheme to ‘open up’ the Eastern Gateway and 

ensure that pedestrian and cycling linkages to the 

town centre and the Scholes area are significantly 

improved. 

Wigan Central 

crossing scheme 

(MCF Tranche 3) 

The scheme will provide safe road crossing 

facilities including five Toucan Crossing upgrades 

on existing key junctions along Gidlow Lane, 

Springfield Road, Kenyon Road/Walkden Ave, Park 

Road, and Frog Lane. 

Document Pack Page 560



 

16 

Investment Priority 

Name  

Description 

Wigan Town Centre 

Masterplan 

Proposals 

Improving connections from Wigan town centre to 

adjoining neighbourhoods and beyond is a priority, 

including by enhancing cycle and pedestrian 

crossings.  

Leigh Town Centre 

Masterplan 

Proposals 

Planned improvements to cycle and pedestrian 

environments in the Leigh-Westleigh Waterfront 

area. 

Active 

Neighbourhoods in 

Leigh Neighbours 

(MCF Tranche 4), 

North Wigan (MCF 

Tranche 5) and 

Ashton (MCF 

Tranche 5).  

Schemes to make it easier, safer and more 

pleasant for people to travel by bike or on foot in 

and around these parts of the borough, through the 

introduction of measures such as new or upgraded 

crossings, new cycle parking, protected cycle 

infrastructure and modal filters. 

Behaviour Change 

Activities 

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee 

Network, active neighbourhoods, and new 

development. 

School Streets Establish and progress delivery of School Streets 

programme across Wigan Borough 

GMSF allocations 

walking and cycling 

improvements 

Improvements to walking and cycling connections 

including Public Rights of Way bounding or near to 

the GMSF allocations (detailed proposals to be 

determined at planning application stage). 

Improvements to 

local junctions to 

mitigate traffic 

associated with 

potential GMSF 

allocations  

A number of junctions on the local road network 

have been identified through the GMSF Locality 

Assessments as potentially requiring improvements 

in order to accommodate the generated traffic from 

allocations and provide facilities for all users 

(specific junctions/designs to be determined at 

planning application stage). 

Document Pack Page 561



 

17 

 

Map 3: Bee Network in Wigan

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 562



 

18 

Outcome 2: Improve access to, and perceptions of, local bus services for 

people who live, work or travel in the Borough 

In the next 5 years, this means a focus on improving the reliability, comfort and 

attractiveness of bus journeys, with a particular focus on: better integration for 

services linked to the guided bus way; improved bus access to some stations and 

key employment and ensuring that all new developments are accessible by bus. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

Investment Priority Name  Description  

Review of Bus Services 

Linked to the Guided 

Busway.  

For example, those serving the Trafford Centre and 

Salford Quays and consider how to ensure they are 

better integrated with other services.  

Improved Access to Rail 

Stations by Bus.  
Hag Fold, Atherton.  

Enhanced Bus Connectivity 

to key Employment Sites.  

 

To support employment opportunities at M6 J25 and 

Haydock.  

Development of Bus Priority 

Measures  

Develop opportunities to deliver bus priority across 

the borough. 

Bus services to support 

GMSF allocations 

 

 

The development of new, extended and enhanced 

bus services and infrastructure to serve the GMSF 

allocations where required (detailed service design 

to be determined at planning application stage). 

Outcome 3: Better management of parking facilities in Wigan’s centres, public 

transport stops and rail stations. 

Over the next 5 years, Wigan Council will continue to focus on reducing the impact of 

parked vehicles, especially in key centres, to create more pleasant environments 

and remove obstacles to pedestrian, cyclist and public transport movement.  

Wigan will continue to work with and other partners to consider what can be done to 

turn rapid transit stops into ‘Mobility Hubs’, with not just improved parking facilities, 

but also better cycle parking and cycle access, better pick-up and drop-off provision, 

and better links with flexible on-demand transport. More work also needs to be done 

to ensure all drivers of electric vehicles in Wigan can access public charging 

infrastructure that is affordable, efficient and reliable to meet local and national 

carbon targets.  

 

Document Pack Page 563



 

19 

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Investment Priority Name  Description  

Improved Parking Provision 

in Standish 

To improve accessibility to Standish’s retail and 

hospitality offer and resolve ongoing parking 

availability issues caused by lack of publicly 

available provision.  

Park and Ride 

  

Explore opportunities to enhance park and ride 

facilities around Hag Fold, Atherton, Hindley, Leigh 

and Tyldesley. Encourage people to access park 

and ride facilities and reduce parking demand on-

street.  

Increase quantity of safe 

cycle storage in Wigan’s 

town centres. 

This will encourage cycling by reassuring those 

who wish to do so that there is safe storage for 

their bikes when visiting the borough’s town 

centres 

Electric Vehicle Charging 

Points 

Work towards increasing the number of electric 

vehicles charging points across the borough. 

Outcome 4: Attractive and well supported town centres with something for 

everyone.  

Alongside Wigan town centre, the Borough has seven smaller town centres: Ashton-

in-Makerfield, Atherton, Golborne, Hindley, Pemberton, Standish and Tyldesley. This 

means there are specific issues in relation to the way these local centres - and the 

communities which surround them – develop. Wigan Council is working with 

community groups to address these issues, and to make changes residents want to 

see, at the most local level possible.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5 years include: 

Investment Priority Name Description  

Standish Neighbourhood 

Plan  

Standish Neighbourhood Forum, known as 

Standish Voice, has worked with the local 

community and Wigan Council to prepare a 

neighbourhood plan for Standish. The Standish  

 

The Plan sets out a Vision for Standish, and 

objectives around: improving Standish’s retail and 

hospitality offer by supporting existing businesses 

and attracting new ones, reducing traffic 

congestion through new transport initiatives and 

Document Pack Page 564



 

20 

Investment Priority Name Description  

better parking, enhancing, and improving access 

to, open space (to improve residents’ health), 

promote sustainable and high quality housing, 

maximising government and private developer 

funding from developments and  promoting health 

and wellbeing within a sustainable community.  

Abram Neighbourhood Plan  

Abram Communities Together is working to 

prepare, in partnership with Wigan Council, a 

Neighbourhood Plan for Abram.  

 

The aim of the plan is to inspire Abram Ward 

Residents to take greater ownership of their 

community and create an area where everyone is 

welcomed. 

Golborne and Lowton 

Neighbourhood Plan  

Golborne and Lowton West Voice is working to 

prepare a neighbourhood plan to enable Golborne 

and Lowton West to grow as a strong community, 

help local people shape the area in which they live 

and work and support new development proposals. 

‘Our Town’ campaign 

The ‘Our Town’ campaign intends to build on 

residents deep sense of belonging to their 

individual wards by developing a package of 

improvement measures to address the issues 

raised during the ‘Big Listening Project’ in 2018.  

 

Each area will be deep cleaned, including jet-

washing, weeding and pruning to tidy up the 

streets. New flower planters will be installed along 

with new trees. Other measures such as repainting 

and replacing street signs and benches, new or 

improved street-lighting and repainting road 

markings will be implemented where appropriate. 

Outcome 5: Streets which are well maintained and in good condition. 

The Council will continue to invest in maintaining Wigan’s streets and roads for all 

people who use them, from fixing footways, crossings and potholes at the 

neighbourhood level to essential maintenance to structures on Wigan’s Key Road 

Network.   

 

Document Pack Page 565



 

21 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years include:  

Investment Priority  Description  

Pothole repair   Local walking / cycling investment plans to improve active 

Delivery of Central Government Pothole funding 

programme.  

Highway Maintenance  Continued Council capital investment in the structure of 

the highway by way of an asset management-

based approach to road resurfacing.  

  

Document Pack Page 566



 

22 

 

Map 4: 5 Year Local Implementation Plan Interventions

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 567



 

23 

5. Implementation Plan Indicators 

Wigan Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Document Pack Page 568



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 142 

APPENDIX C: GMSF allocations and their 
transport interventions 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

GMA01.1 Northern Gateway 
(Heywood/Pilsworth) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic  

• Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor linking 
Manchester city centre and Rochdale via 
Heywood Old Road/ Manchester Road 

Supporting Local:  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation  

• M66 Junction 3 / Pilsworth Road junction 
upgrade 

• M62 J19 / A6046 Heywood Interchange – 
pedestrian and cycle measures 

• M66 Junction 2 / A58 additional lane 

• M66 Link Road 
Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities 

• Introduction of local bus services 
to/from/within the allocation 

• Moss Hall Road / Pilsworth Road (South) 
junction upgrade 

• A6045 Heywood Old Rd / Whittle Lane 
additional traffic management measures 

• Moss Hall Road / Pilsworth Road (North) 
junction upgrade 

• Hollins Brow / Hollins Lane junction upgrade 

• Pilsworth Road (Between M66 Link Road 
and “3-Arrows” Junction) upgrade to dual 
carriageway standard 

GMA01.2 Northern Gateway  
(Simister and Bowlee) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic  

• New Metrolink stop on proposed line 
between Crumpsall and Middleton 

• Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor linking 
Manchester city centre and Rochdale via 
Heywood Old Road/ Manchester Road 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

Document Pack Page 569



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 143 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• M60 Junction 19 / A576 Middleton Road – 
signalisation of the Northern and Eastern 
Arms (A576 N and the M60 West Bound off 
Slip) 

• M62 J19 / A6046 Heywood Interchange – 
pedestrian and cycle measures 

• Corridor improvements on A576 Middleton 
Road / Manchester Old Road in vicinity of 
M60 J19 – interventions to be determined.  

Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities 

• Introduction of local bus services 
to/from/within the allocation 

• Improvement of A6045 Heywood Old Road / 
A576 junction 

• A6045 Heywood Old Road / Langley Lane 
signalisation  

GMA02 Northern Gateway (Stakehill) Necessary Strategic  

• A627(M) / A664 Rochdale Road (Slattocks) 
roundabout improvement  

Supporting Strategic 

• Potential New Rail Station at Slattocks  

• M62 J19 improvements/ A6046 Middleton 
Road Heywood Interchange 

• M60 J19/ A576 Middleton Road 
improvements 

• A627(M) / Chadderton Way / A663 
Broadway Interchange  

Supporting Local 

• Resurfacing of Thornham Lane 

• Tactile kerb installation between the 
northern site and Castleton Station 

SRN Mitigation  

• M62 J20 
Necessary Local  

• A664 Queensway / A664 Manchester Road 
Signalised junction improvement 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way 3-
arm roundabout improvement 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way / 
A627 (M) / Sandbrook Way Signalised 
junction improvement 
- Bus Improvements including new 

Rochdale-Oldham service 

GMA03.1 & GMA03.2 Roundthorn 
MediPark Extension & Timperley 

Necessary Strategic  

• Timperley Wedge Spine Road 

Document Pack Page 570



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 144 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Wedge (previously GMA11 & GMA46 
2019 GMSF) 

• Roundthorn Medipark Spine Road 
Supporting Strategic 

• Metrolink Western Leg Extension 

• Airport to Altrincham Bus Rapid Transit 
(BRT) 

• M56 J6 (improvement to be determined) 

• M56 J5 and wider corridor improvement 
(improvement to be determined) 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M56 Junction 3 
Necessary Local  

• Stopping up Whitecarr Lane at its junction 
with Newell Road 

• Stopping up Clay Lane/Barnacre Avenue 
from north of Capenhurst Close 

• Stopping up Clay Lane (at the western end of 
the Timperley Wedge Spine Road)  

• Dobbinetts Lane/Floats Road junction 
upgrade 

• Upgrade Dobbinetts Lane to standard width 
along its length 

• Improvement of Thornley Lane/ Runger 
Lane  

• Upgrade Terminal 2 Roundabout to a 
signalised roundabout 

• Timperley Wedge Spine road Beeway 

• Beeway link to Timperley Wedge Spine Road 

• Spine Road crossing points 

• Improved connections with proposed 
Beeway at Whitecarr Lane towards Newall 
Green 

• Bus service improvements – extending bus 
service 102 through the allocation  

• Clay Lane bus gate  

• BRT proofing Timperley Wedge Spine Road 
and BRT stops  

• Metrolink Western Leg Extension – 
Metrolink stop at Timperley Wedge  

GMA04 Bewshill Farm  Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 

Document Pack Page 571



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 145 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A  
Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities and 
connection to the existing network 

• Contribution towards the Local Link service 

GMA05 Chequerbent North  Necessary Strategic  

• Chequerbent roundabout Link Road or 
junction improvement 

Supporting Strategic  

• Measures (highway connections and/or 
east-west public transport) delivered by 
policy GM Strat 8 

• Metro Tram-train improvements on the 
Wigan-Manchester railway line 

Supporting Local  

• Implementation of the Westhoughton Bee 
Network scheme  

SRN Mitigation 

• Improvement at M61 J5 
Necessary Local  

• Pedestrian and cycle connection between 
the allocation and the existing network  

GMA06 West of Wingates /  
M61 Junction 6  

Necessary Strategic  

• Public transport improvements – Local Link 
established, or bus service frequencies 
increased  

Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M61 J5 Improvement 
Necessary Local  

• Blackrod Road/Manchester Road (signal 
timings) 

• A6 De Havilland Way/A6 Chorley Road 
junction improvements 

• Link road and Dicconson Lane roundabout 

• Hall Lane/Bolton Road 

• M61 Junction 6 (associated with the works 
at the A6 De Havilland Way/A6 Chorley 
Road) 

• Mansell Way / De Havilland Way (amended 
signal timings) 

Document Pack Page 572



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 146 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Pedestrian and cycle enhancements external 
to the allocation 

GMA07 Elton Reservoir Area Necessary Strategic   

• Link Road and three access junctions 

• Elton Metrolink Stop and Park & Ride facility  
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• A56/Radcliffe Road signal improvements 

• A58/Ainsworth Road/ Starling Road signal 
improvements 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Radcliffe Town Centre Improvements 

• New bus route and associated stops through 
the allocation  

• Pedestrian and cycle facilities external to the 
development – delivery of missing section of 
the Bolton-Bury Cycleway  

GMA09 Walshaw Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Elton Link Road 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Link road providing bus penetration through 
the allocation between Lowercroft Road and 
Scobell Street, via Walshaw Road. 

• Crostons Road/ Tottington Road junction 

• Tottington Road/Walshaw Road priority 
junction  

• Cockey Moor Road junction  

• A58 Bolton Road/Ainsworth Road junction 
improvement 

• A58 Bolton & Bury Road/Starling Road 
junction improvement 

• Introduction of bus services through the 
allocation 

• Provision of off-site active travel 
infrastructure  

GMA10 Global Logistics  Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 

Document Pack Page 573



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 147 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Supporting Strategic 

• M56 Junction 6 (improvements to be 
determined) 

Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A538/Sunbank Lane (improvement to be 
determined) 

• Sunbank Lane walking and cycling accesses 
and crossing 

GMA11 Southwick Park (previously 
GMA12 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• N/A 

GMA12 Beal Valley (previously GMA14 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• New Metrolink Stop and Park and Ride 
facility adjacent to Broadbent Moss and Beal 
Valley allocations 

• Metrolink Overbridge 

• Key internal highway network (spine road) 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Improvement of Elizabethan Way / A640 
Newhey Road / A6193 Sir Isaac Newton Way 
roundabout interchange 

• A640 Huddersfield Road / A640 Newhey 
Road / A663 Shaw Road / Cedar Lane 
enhancements to the operation of the 
signal-controlled junction 

Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of A663 Shaw Road / A671 
Oldham Road junction 

Document Pack Page 574



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 148 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Improvement of A663 Crompton Way / 
Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction 

• Improvement of B6194 Heyside / Water 
Street / Bullcote Lane junction 

• Provision of bus services within the 
allocation  

• Improvement of walking/cycling facilities on 
Heyside and Cop Road via new Metrolink 
overbridge bridge  

GMA13 Bottom Field Farm 
(Woodhouses) (previously GMA22 
Woodhouses Cluster 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Cycling and walking improvements  

• Minor Traffic Management improvements 

GMA14 Broadbent Moss (previously 
GMA15 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• New Metrolink Stop and Park and Ride 
facility adjacent to Broadbent Moss and Beal 
Valley allocations 

• Key internal highway network (spine road) 

• Metrolink Overbridge 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Elizabethan Way / A640 Newhey Road / 
A6193 Sir Isaac Newton Way  

• A640 Huddersfield Road / A640 Newhey 
Road / A663 Shaw Road / Cedar Lane 
enhancements to the operation of the 
signal-controlled junction 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of A663 Shaw Road / A671 
Oldham Road junction 

• Improvement of A663 Crompton Way / 
Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction 

• Improvement of B6194 Heyside / Water 
Street / Bullcote Lane junction 

Document Pack Page 575



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 149 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Provision of bus services within the 
allocation  

• Traffic calming Vulcan Street 

GMA15 Chew Brook Vale (Robert 
Fletchers) (previously GMA18 Robert 
Fletchers 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Sustainable access package of off-site 
improvement to walking and cycling routes 

• Access road and bridge over Chew Brook  

• A635 Holmfirth Road access junction 

GMA16 Cowlishaw Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Improvement of A671 Rochdale Road / 
B6195 High Barn Road / A671 Oldham Road 
/ B6195 Middleton Road junction 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of A663 Shaw Road / A671 
Oldham Road junction 

• Improvement of A663 Crompton Way / 
Rochdale Road / Beal Lane junction 

• Upgrade of PRoW to Low Crompton to Bee 
Network standard 

GMA17 Hanging Chadder Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of A627 (M) / Chadderton 
Way / A663 Broadway interchange 

• Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton Quality Bus 
Transit corridor 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 

Document Pack Page 576



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 150 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Necessary Local  

• Cycle connection along A671 between 
Grasmere Rd and Fir Bank Road to Bee 
Network 

• General Traffic Management improvements 

GMA18 Land South of Coal Pit Lane 
(Ashton Road) (previously GMA13 
Ashton Road Corridor 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton Quality Bus 
Transit corridor 

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Improvement of Coal Pit Lane/A627 Ashton 
Road Junction including localised 
improvement of Coal Pit Lane 

• Pedestrian and cycle route between Coal Pit 
Lane / Ashton Road Junction and White 
Bank Road 

GMA19 South of Rosary Road Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Rochdale-Oldham-Ashton Quality Bus 
Transit corridor  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Permeable network for pedestrian and 
cyclist priority within the allocation & PRoW 
connections to Bardsey Bridleway 

• Minor traffic management improvements 

GMA20 Bamford and Norden 
(previously GMA23 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Norden Road / War Office Road scheme 

• Norden Road pedestrian crossing 

Document Pack Page 577



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 151 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Bus stop upgrades at the Norden Road / War 
Office Road junction 

• Furbarn Road improvements 

• North-South Greenway  

GMA21 Castleton Sidings (previously 
GMA24 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Manchester Road / Queensway (signal 
alterations) 

• Active travel links beyond allocation 
boundary 

GMA22 Crimble Mill (previously 
GMA25 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Public Transport improvements – bus stop 
upgrades on Rochdale Road East  

• Sustainable travel improvements  

• Crimble Lane improvements  

GMA23 Land North of Smithy Bridge 
(previously GMA26 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• A58 Residential Relief Road 
Supporting Local  

• A58 local improvements 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A58 Halifax Road / B6225 Hollingworth Road 
/ A6033 Todmorden Road signals 

• A58 Wardle Road signals 

• Hollingworth Lake car park 

• Traffic calming and parking management 
measures along Hollingworth Road 

Document Pack Page 578



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 152 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Secure cycle parking at Littleborough Rail 
Station  

• Bus stop upgrades along Hollingworth Road 
and Lake Bank  

GMA24 Newhey Quarry (previously 
GMA27 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• Improvements to existing bus services 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A640 Huddersfield Road / A640 Newhey 
Road / A663 Shaw Road / Cedar Lane  

• Elizabethan Way / A640 Newhey Road / 
A6193 Sir Isaac Newton Way  

• Pedestrian crossing on Huddersfield Road 

• Existing residents’ car park  

• Metrolink Park and Ride car park 

GMA25 Roch Valley (previously GMA28 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• A58 Residential Relief Road 

• Cycle improvements towards Smithy Bridge 
Rail Station  

• Upgrade to level crossing on Smithy Bridge 
Road 

Supporting Local  

• A58 local improvements  

• Footway/cycleway to the south of the 
proposed access road 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A58 Halifax Road / B6225 Hollingworth Road 
A6033 Todmorden Road signals 

• A58 Wardle Road signals 

• Secure cycle parking at Smithy Bridge Rail 
Station  

• Bus stop upgrades along Smithy Bridge Road 
and Halifax Road 

• Toucan Crossing at Smithy Bridge Rail 
Station 

• Toucan crossing at allocation entrance on 
Smithy Bridge Road 

Document Pack Page 579



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 153 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

GMA26 Trows Farm (previously GMA29 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• M62 Junction 20 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• See supporting strategic interventions 
Necessary Local  

• A664 Queensway / Cowm Top Lane 
Signalisation 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Manchester Road 
Signal Junction Staging Amendments 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way 
Roundabout Widening 

• A664 Queensway / A664 Edinburgh Way / 
A627 (M) / Sandbrook Way Signal Junction  

• Pedestrian and cycle improvements  

GMA27 Land at Hazelhurst Farm 
(previously GMA30 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A580 East Lancashire Road/ Moorside Road 
crossing improvements  

• Worsley Road crossing 

• Ramped cycle & disabled access from 
Greenleach Lane to NCN55 

• Local transport/sustainable travel 
improvements 

GMA28 Land East of Boothstown 
(previously GMA31 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Sustainable transport measures 

• Footpath along Leigh Road 

Document Pack Page 580



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 154 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Footpath from canal to Occupation Road 
access 

• Leigh Road active travel crossing 

• Newearth Road active travel crossing 

GMA29 North of Irlam Station 
(previously GMA32 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• CLC Rail line capacity improvements 

• Metro/Tram-train services on the CLC line 
Supporting Local  

• A57 Liverpool Road/ Stadium Way Junction 
improvement 

• Improvements to bus services  

• Cheshire Line Connection / Trafford Green 
Way – Walking & Cycling Improvements 

• Traffic calming & parking management  
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• B5320 Liverpool Road / B5471 Brinell Drive 
junction improvement 

• A57 Cadishead Way / B5311 Fairhills Road 
junction improvement 

• B5320 Liverpool Road / Roscoe Road / 
B5311 Fairhills Road junction improvement 

• Bridge replacement to afford access via 
Moss Lane 

• Station Access - Active Travel Improvements 
between the station and allocation 

• Irlam Bee Network links 

• Increased provision of cycle parking at Irlam 
rail station 

GMA30 Port Salford Extension 
(previously GMA33 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• WGIS infrastructure  

• Rail freight terminal 

• Canal berths & container terminal  

• Link Road between A57 Liverpool Road 
(linked to new junction on the M62) 

• Access to allocation off link road – 
roundabout on link road to provide access to 
Port Salford Extension 

Supporting Strategic 

• CLC Rail line capacity improvements 

• Metro/Tram-Train services on CLC line 

• Metrolink extension to Port Salford  

Document Pack Page 581



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 155 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Rail study improvements  
Supporting Local 

• Improvement at A57 Cadishead Way / 
B5311 Fairhills Road junction 

• Improvements to Local Link services  

• Walking & cycling improvements: Cheshire 
Lines Connection / Trafford Greenway  

SRN Mitigation 

• M60 J11 improvements 

• M60 J10 improvements 

• M60 J12 improvements 

• New junction on M62 
Necessary Local  

• Identification of a scheme at the A57 
Liverpool Road/ Stadium Way junction 

• Bus service improvement  

• Walking & cycling improvements to link to 
the Bee Network  

GMA31 Bredbury Park Industrial Estate 
Expansion (previously GMA34 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• See SRN interventions 
Supporting Strategic 

• Remaining elements of the Bredbury 
Economic Corridor Improvements (BECI) 
package  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M60 J25 Improvements (as part of Bredbury 
Economic Corridor Improvements)  

Necessary Local  

• Ashton Road/Bredbury Park Way (north) 
junction 

• Forward visibility improvements on Ashton 
Road 

• Walking, cycling and bus stop infrastructure 
improvements 

• Bus service improvement – divert existing 
322/327 bus service through the allocation  

GMA32 Former Offerton High School 
(previously GMA35 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local 

• Walking and cycling improvements 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 

Document Pack Page 582



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 156 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Necessary Local  

• Traffic calming  

• Marple Road / The Fairway junction 
improvements 

GMA33 Heald Green 1 (West) 
(previously GMA37 Heald Green 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Manchester Airport Eastern BRT 

• Highway improvements at key junctions 
along the A34 and A555 corridors 

Supporting Local  

• Provision of a new bridge over the railway 
and provision of a busway between the 
allocation and Styal Road 

• Re-construction of the Wilmslow 
Road/Finney Lane/Etchells Road junction. 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Traffic calming 

• Public Transport interventions  

GMA34 Heald Green 2 (East) 
(previously GMA40 Stanley Green 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Manchester Airport Eastern BRT 

• Provision for a bus rapid transit corridor 
within the site  

• Link road between a re-modelled Eden Park 
roundabout on the A34 and Wilmslow Road. 

Supporting Strategic 

• New railway station at Stanley Green 

• Highway improvements at key junctions 
along the A34 and A555 corridors 

• Re-modelled A34 Eden Park roundabout  
Supporting Local  

• Provision of bus stops along Wilmslow Road 
and Stanley Road 

• Controlled pedestrian crossing facility on 
Wilmslow Road 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Stanley Road highway improvements 

• Public transport interventions  

GMA35 High Lane (previously GMA38 
2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 

Document Pack Page 583



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 157 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• A6 Site Access junction construction 

• Walking and cycling route improvements to 
Middlewood Way 

• Walking and cycling route improvements to 
Brookside and High Lane Primary Schools 

• Public transport – extend 192 bus service  

• Improved / reallocated bus stops  

• New Toucan crossing  

• Foot and cycle path parallel to the A6 

GMA36 Hyde Bank Meadows 
(previously GMA39 Hyde Bank 2019 
GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• Local parking review 

• Bus stop improvements 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Traffic calming 

• Compstall Road / Cherry Tree Road junction 
improvements 

GMA37 Woodford Aerodrome 
(previously GMA41 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Manchester Airport Eastern BRT 
Supporting Strategic 

• Highway improvements at key junctions 
along the A34 and A555 corridors 

• Poynton Relief Road – including overbridges 
for walkers, cyclists and farm vehicles. 

Supporting Local  

• Station car parks  

• Extension of high-quality public realm 
treatment on Chester Road to include 
gateway treatments  

• Improvement to local quiet lanes in the 
vicinity of the allocation 

SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 

Document Pack Page 584



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 158 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling route improvements 

• Public Transport: Extension of 42B into 
Woodford site 

• Rapid transit route through the allocation 

• Poynton Access Road: construction of 
junction, access road and improvements 

GMA38 Ashton Moss West  
(previously GMA42 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• A6140 Lord Sheldon Way / Notcutts / A6140 
(this junction forms part of the wider M60 
J23 split interchange) 

• A635 Manchester Road / A6140 / A635 
Signalised Crossroads (this junction forms 
part of the wider M60 J23 split interchange). 

• M60 J23 (North) / A635 Manchester Road 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling measures 

• Enhancement of bus service 217 

GMA39 Godley Green Garden Village 
(previously GMA43 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improvement of M60 J24 Denton Island  

• Package of measures along the A560 
(including possibility of Ashton-Stockport 
QBT)  

Supporting Local 

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• Improvement of M67 / A57 Hyde Road / 
A560 roundabout junction  

Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling measures 

• Provision of direct pedestrian/cycle access 
bridge across the railway line to the vicinity 
of Hattersley Station  

• Provision of bus services within the 
allocation  

GMA40 Land South of Hyde (previously 
GMA44 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

Document Pack Page 585



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 159 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Package of measures along the A560 
(including possible Ashton-Stockport QBT) 

• Improvement of M67 / A57 Hyde Road / 
A560 roundabout junction  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Walking and cycling measures  

• Bus improvements along the A560 Stockport 
Road adjacent to the allocation 

GMA41 New Carrington (previously 
GMA45 2019 GMSF)  

Necessary Strategic  

• Carrington Relief Road  

• Carrington Spur widening approach to M60 
J8 

• Flixton Road signalised junction Phase 1 
signalisation 

• Flixton Road signalised junction Phase 2 
signalisation 

• Carrington Link Junction Widening Phase 1 

• Carrington Link Junction Widening Phase 2 

• Isherwood Road Upgrade (part of Eastern 
link road)  

• Southern and Eastern Link   

• Sale West Link   

• Carrington Relief Road widening between 
Isherwood Road and start of Carrington Spur 

Supporting Strategic 

• WGIS infrastructure  

• Trafford Greenway & Bee Network Bridge 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M56 Bowden Roundabout  
Necessary Local  

• A56 Junction / Manchester Road / 
Barrington Road signalised junction upgrade 

• Altrincham / A56 Dunham Road / Highgate 
Road realignment 

• Heatley / Paddock Lane / Bent Lane (widen 
radii) 

• Public Transport Measures: Carrington to 
Stretford (via Urmston) corridor  

• Public Transport Measures: Access to 
Altrincham Package 

Document Pack Page 586



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 160 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• Public Transport Measures: Access to Sale 
Package 

• Public Transport Measures: Upgrading an 
extension of the existing bus services – 
including bus priority measures, real time 
information etc.   

• Greenway Link to Sale   

• PROW improvements 

• Controlled pedestrian crossings at the A56 
Dunham Road / Park Road / Charcoal Road. 

GMA42 M6 Junction 25 (previously 
GMA48 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Signalisation of Bryn Interchange 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• M6 Junction 24 Improvement  
Necessary Local  

• N/A 

GMA43 North of Mosley Common 
(previously GMA49 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• N/A 
Supporting Strategic 

• N/A 
Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Bridgewater Road/Newearth Road junction 
improvement 

• Manchester Road East / Armitage Avenue 
junction improvement 

• A580 East Lancashire Road / Mossley 
Common Road junction improvement  

• Guided busway stop and services 

GMA44 Pocket Nook (previously 
GMA50 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Bridge over future HS2 line 
Supporting Strategic 

• Improved bus service connectivity  

• New railway station(s) in local area 

• A580 East Lancashire Road / A579 
Atherleigh Way 

• A580 East Lancashire Road/ A572 Newton 
Road 

• A572 Newton Road/ A579 Winwick Lane  

Document Pack Page 587



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 161 

Allocation Name Transport Interventions  

• A580 East Lancashire Road/ A574 
Warrington Road  

Supporting Local  

• N/A 
SRN Mitigation 

• N/A 
Necessary Local  

• Develop PRoW connection between Pocket 
Nook Lane and Schools 

• Develop PRoW connection between Pocket 
Nook Lane and Moorfield Crescent 

GMA45 West of Gibfield (previously 
GMA51 2019 GMSF) 

Necessary Strategic  

• Chequerbent to Platt Lane link road and 
associated improvements at Chequerbent 
roundabout  

Supporting Strategic 

• Any measures (highway connections and/or 
east-west public transport) delivered by 
policy GM Strat 8 

• Metro/Tram-Train improvements on the 
Wigan-Manchester railway line 

Supporting Local  

• Implementation of the Leigh, Atherton and 
Tyldesley Bee Network scheme  

SRN Mitigation 

• Improvement at M61 Junction 5 
Necessary Local  

• A577/A579/Gibfield Park Way roundabout 
improvements 

• Active travel improvements including link to 
Daisy Hill rail station  

Version - 13/10/20 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 588



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 162 

APPENDIX D: 2040 Transport Strategy KPIs 

Network Principles KPIs – Customer Responses 

 Indicator Value Date Change Question Response Source 

In
te

gr
at

e
d

 

Ease of 
making 
multi-mode 
trips 

80% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How easy or difficult 
is it for you to use 
different forms of 
transport in one 

journey in Greater 
Manchester 

Easy + Very 
Easy 

MMNP 

Multi-modal 
fares 

59% 2019 
From 
2018: ↓1 
ppt 

The way fares are 
set up allows travel 
by ANY public 
transport and ANY 
operator in Greater 
Manchester 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree Fares 
survey 

Real choice 52% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How often do you 
feel you have a 

choice of transport?  

Always + 
Often 

MMNP 

Ease of 
interchange  

 
Bus 

Tram 
Train 

75% 
85% 
61% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

[mode]?: Ease of 
connecting to 
onward bus/ 

train/tram 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Being well-
informed 

81% 2019 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Overall, I am 
satisfied with the 
travel information 

available in Greater 
Manchester 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree  
CTI 

R
el

ia
b

le
 

Journey time 
predictability 

57% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How predictable are 
your journey times 

in Greater 
Manchester? 

Always + 
Often 

Predictable 
MMNP 

Stress 23% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How often are your 
journeys within 

Greater Manchester 
stressful? 

Always and 
Often 

Stressful 
MMNP 

Punctuality 
at the 
stop/station  

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

62% 
91% 
53% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/tram/train?: 
Punctuality of arrival 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Document Pack Page 589



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 163 

time at the 
stop/station 

Punctuality 
arriving at 
destination  

 
Bus 

Tram 
Train 

 
 
 

76% 
93% 
62% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/tram/train?: 
The bus arrives at 
the destination at 

the time you expect 
it to arrive 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Car 
punctuality 

53% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by car?: 
Arriving at the time 
you want to arrive 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Car 
congestion 

40% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by car?: 
Traffic congestion 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

H
ea

lt
h

y 

Healthy 31% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 

Greater 
Manchester’s 

transport network 
encourages you to 

walk or cycle as part 
of your trips? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

In
cl

u
si

ve
 

Ease of 
access 

All 
Disability 

No car 
74% 
62% 
71% 

 
2019 

 
→0 

↓5 ppts 
↓1 ppt 

How easy or difficult 
do you find 
travelling to 
[selection of 

destinations] (by any 
form of transport)? 

Very easy +  
easy 
(weighted 
average) 

NHT KBI 
03, KBI 
04, KBI 
05 

PT 
affordability 

65% 2019 
From 
2018: 
↓5 ppts 

I can afford to travel 
by public transport 

as much as I like 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 

Fares 
survey 

Fair fares 63% 2019 
From 
2018: 
↑3 ppts 

I get a fair deal for 
the fares I pay 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 

Fares 
survey 

  

Document Pack Page 590



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 164 

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
lly

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
le

 

Environment
ally 
responsible 
travel 

43% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 

Greater 
Manchester’s 

transport network 
encourages people 

to travel in an 
environmentally 
responsible way? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

Quality of 
local 
environment 

68% 2019 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Composite of: 
• Noise levels from 
traffic: 74% 
• Pollution from 
traffic: 60% 
• My neighbourhood 

has a clean 
environment: 
70% 

Good + 
Very Good/  
Agree + 
Strongly 
Agree 

Neighb
our-

hoods 
survey 

Sa
fe

 

Feeling safe 
from traffic  

Walk 
Bike 

 
 

75% 
51% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 

walking/travelling by 
bike?: Feeling safe 
from traffic during 

the day 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 
Satisfied 

MMNP 

KSI number 
 

 (all) 
Pedestrians 

Cyclists 
Children 

 
 

683 
227 

87 
77 

2019 

From 
2018: 
↓9% 

↓11% 
↓29% 
↓17% Aged 14 and under 

 
Safer 
Roads 

GM 

KSI rate per 
million km 

Pedestrians 
Cyclists 

0.5 
0.6 

2019 
↓17% 
↓25% 

 

 Safer 
Roads 
GM + 
TRADS 

Se
cu

re
 

Personal 
security 
whilst 
waiting for 
PT (daytime)  

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

83% 
90% 
88% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/train/tram?: 
Personal security 

waiting at the 
stop/station during 

the day 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Document Pack Page 591



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 165 

Personal 
security 
whilst 
waiting for 
PT (night, 
relative to 
day) 

-27% 
points 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Average % point 
reduction across PT 

modes for above 
question when 
asked about “at 

night” 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security on 
PT (daytime)  

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

87% 
89% 
84% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/train/tram? : 
Personal security 

while travelling on a 
bus/train/tram 
during the day 

 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security on 
PT (night, 
relative to 
day) 

-27% 
points 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Average % point 
reduction across PT 

modes for above 
question when 
asked about “at 

night” 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security 
walking  

Day 
Night 

81% 
*55% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 

walking?: Personal 
security during the 

day/at night 
* NB women's 
perception of 

personal security is 
significantly lower 

than men's 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security 
cycling  

Day 
Night 

68% 
32% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by bike? :  
during the day/at 

night 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Personal 
security car 
Parking (day) 

Parking 
(night) 

In vehicle 

81% 
57% 
85% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How would you rate 
the following 
aspects when 

travelling by car?: 
Personal security at 
parking areas during 
the day/at parking 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

Document Pack Page 592



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 166 

areas at night/in 
your vehicle 

 
R

es
ili

en
t 

Resilience – 
PT 

31% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Do you agree or 
disagree that 

Greater 
Manchester’s public 
transport network is 

able to withstand 
unexpected events 

and weather 
conditions? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

Resilience – 
road network 

28% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Thinking about 
Greater 

Manchester’s road 
network now, do 

you agree or 
disagree that it is 
able to withstand 

unexpected events 
and weather 
conditions? 

Agree + 
Strongly 

Agree 
MMNP 

W
el

l-
m

ai
n

ta
in

ed
 

Highway 
condition 

32% 2019 ↑7 ppts 

Thinking about 
roads and transport 
locally, how satisfied 
or dissatisfied are 
you with the 
following…? KBI 23 

Satisfied + 
Very 
satisfied 

NHT 

The condition 
of pavements 

53% 2019 ↑2 ppts 

Thinking about 
roads and transport 
locally, how satisfied 
or dissatisfied are 
you with the 
following…? WCBI 
02 

Satisfied + 
Very 
Satisfied 

NHT 

Condition of 
cycle routes 

53% 2019 ↑1 ppt 

How satisfied or 
dissatisfied are you 
with each of these 
locally…? WCBI 10 

Satisfied + 
Very 
Satisfied 

NHT 

Waiting 
environment 
(shelter, litter 
etc.) 

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

62% 
82% 
79% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would rate 
the following 
aspects when 
travelling by 

bus/tram/train? 
 

Satisfied + 
Very 

Satisfied 
MMNP 

 

Document Pack Page 593



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 167 

Network Principles KPIs – Operational View 

 Indicator Value Date Change Measurement Source 
In

te
gr

at

ed
 PT Network 

coverage  
82% 

Feb 
2020 

 
Proportion of GM population at 
GMAL Level 4 or better. 

 
In

cl
u

si
ve

 

Travel cost 
by mode, 
relative to 
RPI. 

Bus 
Tram 
Train 

Car 

 
 

+15% 
-4% 

+18% 
-14% 

2019 
From 2018 

↑2.3% 
↑1.5% 
↓0.1% 
↓1.1% 

Index of cost of travel, average 
peak fare, from2001 base. 
 

 

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
lly

 

re
sp

o
n

si
b

le
 NOx & PM 

emissions 

Full details are available from the Clean Air Greater Manchester Annual 
Status Reports: 
https://cleanairgm.com/data-hub/monitoring-reports 

Transport 
CO2 
emissions in 
GM 

4,328 
kilo-

tonnes 
2018 ↓1.6% 

Annual CO2 emissions, all 
transport excl. aviation, shipping 
& military. Excludes CO2 
embedded in construction. 

BEIS 

Se
cu

re
 Crime & ASB 

on transport 
networks 

8,502 2019 

N/A – 
change in 
method 
during 
2018 

Annual all reported crime and 
ASB incidents on the public 

transport network 

TravelSaf
e 

R
el

ia
b

le
 

PT 
punctuality 

Bus 
 

Northern 
Rail* 

 
 
 

Bus 
Tram 

 
  

82.5% 
 

51.1% 
 
 
 
 

1 
49 

Sept 
2019 
 
 
 
 
2019
/20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From 
2018/19: 
↑ 7 
↑29 

 
Proportion of bus services 
departing? between 1 min early 
and 6 mins late. 
Proportion of train services 
departing? between 1 min early 
and 1 min late. 
* Refers to whole TOC network 
rather than GM geographical area 
 
 
Average excess waiting time 
(seconds) 

Rail: ORR 
 
Bus: 
TfGM 
surveys 

Highway 
journey time 
reliability 

88.5% 2019 

From 
2018: 
↑0.2ppts 

Proportion of journeys within +/-
25% of median journey time. 

TfGM 
Bluetoot
h 
network 

W
el

l-

m
ai

n
ta

in
ed

 &
 

R
es

ili
en

t KRN where 
maintenance 
should be 
considered 

25.6% 
2018
/19 

↓3.4ppts 
% of KRN with carriageway 
condition classified as red or 
amber. 

GM 
Districts 

  

Document Pack Page 594

https://cleanairgm.com/data-hub/monitoring-reports


 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 168 

 

Spatial Theme KPIs – Customer Responses 

 Indicator Value Date Change Question Response Source 
G

lo
b

al
 

Non-car 
mode share 
for GM-
originating 
passenger 
journeys to 
airport 

7% 
2017

-
2019 

N/A 

 

 TRADS 

R
eg

io
n

al
 C

e
n

tr
e 

Non-car 
mode share  

79% 2019 
From 2018 
↑1 ppt 

Proportion of 
trips arriving in 
AM peak 

 
Cordon 
counts 

Easy to get to  
(GM 
residents) 

82% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How easy or 
difficult is it to 
travel to the 
Regional 
Centre7 in the 
daytime (before 
6pm) 

Easy/very 
easy 

Town 
Centres 

Pleasant 
place to walk 
around and 
spend time in 

Residents 
Visitors 76% 

65% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
[centre] for the 
following?  
Pleasant places 
to sit outside, 
relax and walk 
around 

Good + 
Very Good 

Town 
Centres 

Feeling safe 
after dark  
Residents 

Visitors 

 
 

42% 
42% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
[centre] for the 
following? 

Good/ 
very good 

Town 
Centres 

‘Liveability’ 26% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

I would not 
consider living 
in the Regional 
Centre 

Disagree + 
Strongly 
Disagree 

Town 
Centres 

Regional 
centre road 
traffic levels  

20,620 2019 
From 
2018: 

↓3.2% 

Number of 
motor vehicles 
arriving in the 
AM peak 

 
Cordon 
counts 

 Theme share 
of trips as per 
Right Mix 

15% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  
TRADS 

 Active Travel 
+ Public 
Transport 

59% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  
TRADS 

 
7 Those parts of Manchester & Salford within the Inner Ring Road 

Document Pack Page 595



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 169 

mode share 
of this Theme 

A
cr

o
ss

 w
id

er
 c

it
y-

re
gi

o
n

 
Easy to 
access town 
centres (8-
centre8 
average) 

90% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How easy or 
difficult is it to 
travel to the 
[centre] in the 
daytime (before 
6pm) 

Easy/very 
easy 

Town 
Centres 

Pleasant to 
visit town 
centres 

54% 2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
[centre] for the 
following?  
Pleasant places 
to sit outside, 
relax and walk 
around 

Good/ 
very good 

Town 
Centres 

Ease of 
interchange. 

Bus 
Tram 
Train  

 
75% 
85% 
61% 

2018 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How you would 
rate the 
following 
aspects when 
travelling by 
[mode]? Ease of 
connecting to 
onward bus/ 
train/ tram 

Good/ 
very good 

MMNP 

 Theme share 
of trips as per 
Right Mix 

36% 2017  
 

 TRADS 

 Active Travel 
+ Public 
Transport 
mode share 
of this Theme 

17% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  

TRADS 

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
s 

Perception of 
safety  

Daytime 
After dark 

 
87% 
59% 

2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
your 
neighbourhood 
for the following 
when travelling 
around? 

Good + 
Very Good 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

Active travel 
as natural 
choice for 
many short 
journeys 

83%  2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Which type of 
transport do 
you use most 
frequently to 
get to places 
you visit within 
your 
neighbourhood? 

Active 
travel %  

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

 
8 Altrincham, Ashton, Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, Stockport, Wigan.  

Document Pack Page 596



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 170 

Proportion of 
neighbour-
hood 
journeys 
made by  

Walking 
Cycling 

 
 
 
 
 

52.1% 
2.2% 

2017
-

2019 

 
 
From 
2014-
2016: 
↑0.7 ppts 
↑0.4 ppts 

Proportion of 
trips < 2km for 
which the main 
mode is 
walking/cycling 

 

TRADS 

Perception of 
ease of 
travelling 
around 
neighbourho
ods: 

 
walking 
 cycling 

78% 
33% 

2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

How do you rate 
your 
neighbourhood 
for the following 
when travelling 
around? 
Ease of walking 
around the 
neighbourhood 
Ease of cycling 
on roads in the 
neighbourhood 

Good/ 
very good 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

Perceived 
impact of 
traffic on 
local roads  

65% 2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Composite of 
“How do you 
rate your 
neighbourhood 
for the following 
when travelling 
around?”: 
Noise levels 
from traffic 
(74%) 
Pollution from 
traffic (60%) 
How close 
vehicles are to 
pedestrians 
(61%) 

Good/ 
very good 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

Theme share 
of trips as per 
Right Mix 

42% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

% of all trips 
that are 2km or 
shorter 
excluding trips 
with an end in 
the Regional 
Centre 

 

TRADS 

 Active Travel 
+ Public 
Transport 
mode share 
of this Theme 

55% 2017 
N/A 

(baseline) 

  

TRADS 

Document Pack Page 597



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 171 

 Use of local 
shops/ 
facilities   

83% 2020 
N/A 

(baseline) 

Visit the 
following 
locations at 
least monthly: 
large 
supermarket, 
small 
supermarket, 
local 
newsagents or 
corner shop, 
retail park, shop 
for non-food 
and market(s) 

 

Neighbour-
hoods survey 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 598



 

 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT STRATEGY 2040 | 172 

 

Document Pack Page 599



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

Bury Summary GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20 

1 Introduction  

1.1 Purpose of the Local Implementation Plan  

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) has been working with the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), the ten Greater Manchester councils and 

the Greater Manchester Mayor to prepare new, and updated, transport strategy 

documents that cover the entire city-region. This work includes a refreshed version 

of the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and a final version of TfGM’s 

Five-Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025) which sets out the practical actions planned to 

deliver the Transport Strategy over the next 5 years. Map 1 below shows 

interventions proposed within Bury Borough within the 5-year Delivery Plan. 

To further support the Refreshed Transport 2040 Strategy and Delivery Plan, a Local 

Implementation Plan (LIP) has been prepared for each district, including Bury. 

This Implementation Plan enables Bury, in partnership with TfGM and others, to set 

out the Council’s position at a more fine-grained level, focussing on the town-

level and neighbourhood priorities, particularly on active travel: walking and cycling 

which, for the most part, does require local level interventions.   

The LIP has been designed to:   

• Complement the 2040 Transport Strategy and the Five Year Delivery 
Plan, providing details of how their outcomes will be achieved locally, 
focusing particularly on supporting local trips within neighbourhoods and 
to local centres;  

• Support wider Greater Manchester (GM) and council strategy and policy 
documents (e.g. Local Plans, Town Centre Masterplans, GM Clean Air 
Plan and the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF));  

• Summarise key local transport issues and opportunities in each local 
authority, providing an added layer of local detail that is not provided in 
the 2040 Transport Strategy document.  

The LIP will be ‘live’ document and will be updated as the Council develops its 

transport plan and strategy or as new schemes are developed or delivered.  

At the heart of Bury Council’s growth ambitions is the goal to ensure that the 

residents of Bury are able to access family, friends, jobs, education, recreation and 

health in an efficient, economic and eco-friendly way. Growth must be inclusive and 

create vibrant and thriving communities that are well connected.  It is therefore 

important that infrastructure is delivered alongside new developments to support 

sustainable neighbourhoods and to create a competitive local economy within a high 

quality built and natural environment. All modes of transport are important and due 

consideration needs to be given to improving each one. 

Document Pack Page 601



 

2 

Our collective aim is to ensure that growth is planned for in a managed way that 

embraces all the key ingredients that make each township unique. Growth involves 

not only physical development that caters for an increasing population, but is also 

about creating the right circumstances for fostering growth through economic 

development initiatives, supporting social growth and creating thriving, healthy and 

equitable communities. At the same time, it requires interventions to address issues 

associated with climate change and to mitigate against negative environmental 

impacts. 

Transport investment will be key in achieving sustainable neighbourhoods. It is 

important that the Council works in partnership with TfGM to encourage greater use 

of public transport, walking and cycling and the provision of infrastructure for the 

refuelling of low and ultra-low emission vehicles; and to develop a fully inclusive, 

integrated and affordable sustainable transport system for all.  

We have set four key transport outcomes which we would wish to see achieved by 

2025. These are: 

• Outcome 1: Increase the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by foot and by bike across the borough of Bury 

• Outcome 2: Enhance connections to/from and within the centres of Bury, 

Prestwich, Radcliffe, Ramsbottom, Tottington and Whitefield by foot, bike, and 

public transport 

• Outcome 3: Create clean, green streets, and relieve local communities from 

the impacts of congestion 

• Outcome 4:  Improve access to Metrolink for residents, workers and visitors 

This document sets the steps we will seek to take to make good progress towards 

these outcomes in the next 5 years.   The steps are ambitious, and the development 

and delivery of the interventions set out will require a significant level of resource and 

funding. This will require us to prioritise measures and to continue working with the 

GMCA and TfGM to secure the required funding from Government to develop and 

deliver these schemes.  

The document is also helpful when it comes to setting out a programme of priority 

local transport and minor works interventions for the next five years, and will help to 

provide a basis against which future local transport and minor works funding is 

allocated for local delivery. 

  

Document Pack Page 602



 

3 

2 Strategic Transport Issues in Bury 

 

Document Pack Page 603



 

4 

 

Document Pack Page 604



 

5 

 

Map 1: GMTS 5-Year Delivery Plan Interventions  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 605



 

6 

2.1 Covid-19 Recovery 

The Coronavirus pandemic represents the biggest challenge for Bury since the 

Second World War. To enable the borough to ‘build back better’, we are 

implementing a number of measures to enable Covid-19 recovery, including:   

 

• Continued support to develop strategic housing and 
commercial development;  

• The Council has also approved around a dozen pavement café licences under 
the new Business and Planning Act 2020.  This is to allow food and drink 
related businesses to conduct their operations outside of their premises on 
the highway.  This provides some support for them through these difficult 
economic and public confidence times. 

• Delivering temporary or semi-permanent measures to support cycling and 
walking as an alternative to public transport as part of 
the #SafeStreetsSaveLives campaign and the Department for 
Transport’s Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF);  
 

EATF was launched on 23/5/2020. On 2/7/20 it was announced that GM was to be 
awarded £3.2m in Tranche 1 and indicatively £12.7m in Tranche 2. The EATF seeks 
to deliver measures that will address immediate challenges presented by COVID-19, 
such as reduced public transport capacity and its adverse economic impact on town 
centres and on access to employment and services for the most deprived 
communities. The measures will also help tackle longer-term critical public health 
challenges associated with physical inactivity and road safety, the climate 
emergency and the impact of congestion on the local economy. Some of the 
measures we are seeking to implement are set out later in this Plan. Bury’s share of 
Tranche 1 was around £0.3m. Bury has also bid for £0.75m in Tranche 2. 

Alongside this work, major strategic projects such as the regeneration of the 
borough’s town centres remain the key focus of the council’s growth agenda. 
Officers are continuing to support development of these sites, including planning 
transport measures to support and unlock development.  

3 Spatial Theme Challenges and Opportunities 

3.1 Neighbourhoods 

The majority (52%) of trips made in the Borough that start in the district are at the 

neighbourhood level and are under 2km in length. While a significant number of 

these journeys are made by foot (46%), 48% are made by private car and only 1% 

by bike.1  As these journeys could be completed on foot in around 20 minutes or 

cycled in 8 minutes, there is significant potential to shift these trips from cars to 

active modes of travel. 

However, many people are discouraged from walking and cycling due to high levels 

of road traffic; lack of dedicated cycling infrastructure and signage; and major roads 

 
1 Source: TRADS database). 

Document Pack Page 606

https://tfgm.com/safestreets
https://news.tfgm.com/news/gbp-3-1-million-schemes-confirmed-to-enable-thousands-more-journeys-on-foot-or-by-bike-through-first-phase-of-emergency-active-travel-measures


 

7 

which create severance between neighbourhoods and destinations. Many areas are 

also blighted by having vehicles parked on pavements, which restricts footway space 

for people walking.  

These challenges are particularly pronounced in areas with dense populations 

outside Bury’s main centres, such as Fishpool and Pimhole. They also have a 

particular impact on the third of households in Bury who do not have access to a car, 

and rely on making trips by foot, bike and public transport, while also exacerbating 

prevalence of the environmental and health issues that are caused by short car 

trips.  

Opportunities to address these challenges include development and delivery of the 

Bee Network (The Bee Network is a proposed Greater Manchester network of safe 

walking and cycling routes built to agreed standards https://tfgm.com/bee-network/) 

and active neighbourhoods (including better crossing provision on main roads), 

continued roll-out of traffic calming and 20 mph zones, and new 

development/regeneration prioritising active travel, for example in work around the 

Bury Town Centre and Prestwich (Longfield Centre) masterplans and Radcliffe 

Strategic Regeneration Framework. The proposed allocation of new areas for 

development within the borough being considered through the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework (GMSF), for example Elton Reservoir and Northern Gateway, will 

also be expected to deliver strategic cycle and walking connections, to enable 

sustainable journeys to and from these sites. 

3.2 Bury Town Centre 

Bury Town Centre is an established retail centre in Greater Manchester, attracting a 

high, and increasing, number of visitors. There has been a growth of 12% in the 

number people of travelling to the town centre between 2013 and 20172 . We will 

seek to continue to build on this success to develop the town centre as a destination 

for retail and employment, as well as increasing the number of homes built within or 

close to the town centre. 

However, despite the success of Bury Town Centre, there are a number of 

challenges arising. These include a high proportion of journeys made to the town 

centre by private car (45%), and a poor perception of safety at night (89% of people 

visiting Bury felt safety was good during the day, dropping to 35% at night3). Key 

issues for Bury Town Centre include 

• Severance due to the Ring Road (Angouleme Way, Jubilee Way and Peel 
Way) which separates Bury Town Centre from neighbourhoods on all sides, 
particularly by foot or by bike.  Crossings are often poor, with limited space on 
central islands for example; where subways are provided (e.g. under 
Angouleme Way) they are sometimes perceived as being unsafe. 

• Poor permeability of Bury town centre for cycling, given major road barriers 
and a ban on cycling in pedestrian areas. 

 
2 GM Town Centre Cordon Counts 
3 GM Town Centre Perception Surveys 

Document Pack Page 607

https://tfgm.com/bee-network/


 

8 

• The poor connectivity between Bury Interchange and the Rock shopping and 
leisure area, with a lack of coherent walking routes (particularly when the 
Millgate Shopping Centre is closed). 

• The River Irwell to the west which creates major severance due to limited 
crossing points. The single vehicular crossing at Bury Bridge is severely 
congested during peak periods; and 

• Unreliable bus links to the town centre from surrounding neighbourhoods 
which lead to a large number of these relatively local journeys being made by 
taxi or private car. 

Work is in progress on developing a masterplan for Bury Town Centre. This will 

complement delivery of the new Interchange (on which we are working with TfGM), 

support new high-density homes on brownfield sites in the Town Centre, and seek to 

provide better connectivity to and from the town centre to local neighbourhoods and 

the wider city region, alongside maximising the potential of community, visitor and 

heritage assets such as Bury Market and the East Lancashire Railway. 

3.3 Wider-City Region & Regional Centre Access 

Compared to the GM average, Bury has a high number of trips that are made across 
the Wider City Region (43%).  These are trips over 2km to destinations that are not 
the regional centre, such as to the Districts town centres, to and 
from the district’s employment sites, or to Rochdale or Bolton for example.  

Across Bury there are poor alternatives to the private car for accessing some of the 

Borough’s town centres and neighbourhoods, particularly Ramsbottom and 

Tottington, and for journeys to the east (Rochdale and Heywood) and west (Bolton).  

Alongside capacity, reliability and connectivity challenges for the public transport 

networks this leads to high levels of car use for wider-city region journeys with 78% 

of these trips made by private car, 13% bus, 4% Metrolink, and 2% cycling and 

walking.4 

3.3.1 Other District Town Centres 

The following table outlines transport related challenges and opportunities within 

Bury’s wider town centres.  

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

Prestwich A56 has been recently improved to 
support pedestrian movement and 
public realm. However, the road is 
heavily trafficked and still forms a 
barrier to sustainable journeys to the 
town centre. 

There is poor access to/from 
Prestwich Metrolink stop by foot, 

The Council is currently 
developing plans to 
regenerate the Longfield 
Centre. These include 
potential measures to 
improve access to the 
Metrolink stop. 
 

 
4 Source: TRADS database 

Document Pack Page 608



 

9 

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

and the stop is not visible from 
around the town centre. 

The imminent EATF 
scheme will improve the 
A56 south of Prestwich for 
cycling. It will also provide 
new controlled crossings of 
the A56. 
 

Radcliffe Town Centre has been in decline, 
and there are high levels of vacant 
retail property. 

There has been recent investment 
in the Market and bus station, 
however walking and cycling routes 
between the town centre core and 
Metrolink stop are unclear and poor 
quality. 

A Strategic Regeneration 
Framework has been 
prepared for the town.  

One of the key themes of 
this framework is car 
parking and the 
development of a detailed 
Transport Strategy.  

The Framework seeks to 
deliver an integrated 
approach to regeneration in 
Radcliffe, including 
investment in infrastructure 
alongside improvement in 
education, skills and 
employment. The proposed 
infrastructure investment 
includes measures to 
improve access to the 
Metrolink stop.In addition 
the MCF T6 scheme under 
development will improve a 
route from Milltown St to 
Radcliffe Station. 

Ramsbottom The town centre suffers from traffic 
congestion at peaks and at 
weekends, especially around Bolton 
Road West. 

Parking for cars and coaches is 
insufficient given the attractiveness 
of the town as a visitor destination. 

A Town Plan is proposed 
for Ramsbottom, which will 
build on the town’s success 
and tourism assets 
(including the ELR).  This 
will need to include a 
parking and transport 
strategy to help local 
businesses whilst ensuring 
free flowing traffic. 
 

Whitefield The town centre suffers from high 
levels of peak period congestion on 
the A56 Manchester Road.   

There are a number of 
development opportunities 
for Whitefield, to provide 

Document Pack Page 609



 

10 

Centre Challenges Opportunities 

The A56 also creates severance for 
pedestrians and cyclists through the 
working day and hinders access to 
Metrolink stop from the west. 

some social infrastructure.  
This includes a review of 
the facilities at Uplands. 
 

3.3.2 Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) 

Housing, commercial and job growth have taken place in recent years in Bury, and 

this is expected to continue. The Bury Growth Plan and the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework (GMSF) set out Bury’s plans for growth in sustainable locations 

by 2037. 

The draft GMSF sets a target for delivery of 7,667 new homes in Bury by 2037, 

alongside about 500,000 sqm of industrial and warehousing floorspace, and 

40,000 sqm of office floor space. This excludes the nationally significant employment 

site at the Northern Gateway, just over the boundary with Rochdale, which seeks to 

deliver 700,000sqm of employment workspace up to 2037, around 490,000sqm of 

which falls within Bury.  

If unmitigated, this proposed level of development has the potential to bring extra 

vehicular traffic to Bury’s roads, so new infrastructure would be needed to support 

this growth in a sustainable manner, maximising access by walking, cycling and bus 

and for people who live in or travel to or from Bury, alongside wider improvements to 

the road network. Map 2 sets out the existing transport network alongside GMSF 

land supply allocations. 

An initial assessment of the interventions that may be required to support these sites 

has been undertaken within the Locality Assessments prepared as part of the 

GMSF, and potential interventions are listed within the Appendix of the 2020-2025 

Delivery Plan. 

Document Pack Page 610



 

11 

  

Map 2: Bury Transport Network and Land Supply 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 611



 

12 

3.4 Public Transport Challenges 

Alongside challenges within town centres, there are number of public transport 

reliability, capacity and connectivity challenges in Bury. 

There has been steady growth in Metrolink patronage.  This has created issues with 

peak period overcrowding on trams and led to demand for the available park and 

ride spaces at stops in the Borough exceeding supply. There are also issues arising 

due to the age of Bury Interchange and other stops along the Bury line which are 

now quite dated relative to other stops on the Metrolink network.  While there are 

high frequency bus services on the primary east-west (Bolton, Rochdale) and north-

south (Regional Centre) corridors, these services can be unreliable and the network 

of services away from the main corridors has been significantly reduced in recent 

years.    

The key challenges for public transport in Bury can be summarised as follows: 

• Peak-period overcrowding issues on trams caused by growth in Metrolink 

patronage; 

• The dated form and design of Bury Interchange, which was one of the first to 

be built in Greater Manchester and is now over 40 years old;  

• The form and design of Metrolink stops in the Borough, which are largely as 

they were in the days of heavy rail operation and do not meet current 

passenger expectations of quality or accessibility; 

• Poor east-west public transport connectivity, and poor connectivity with East 

Lancashire to the north of the Borough. Connections to Rochdale or Bolton 

are particularly poor and reliant on a small number of bus services which, 

whilst frequent on some routes, are also slow and unreliable;  

• Low levels of, or no public transport connectivity to key employment sites 

including Pilsworth and Heywood Distribution Park/ Hareshill, and to Fairfield 

Hospital. 

• Poor first mile/last mile links to Metrolink stops at Radcliffe, Whitefield, 

Prestwich and Heaton Park; 

• Ticketing, integration and affordability issues, which discourage people from 

taking public transport; and 

• Park and Ride capacity at Metrolink stops, with current facilities at Bury 

Interchange, Radcliffe and Whitefield operating at capacity. 

A number of proposed development allocations with significant potential for housing 

and commercial development identified in the GMSF are also poorly connected to 

the wider-city region by public transport. Key allocations which will require public 

transport interventions include Northern Gateway, Elton Reservoir and Walshaw. 

Interventions needed for these sites will be identified/ through the GMSF process. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 612



 

13 

3.5 Local Highways Challenges 

Car availability is higher in Bury than Greater Manchester as a whole. 76% of 

households have access to a car (compared with 69% across Greater Manchester 

as a whole) and around a third of households have access to more than one car. 

This contributes to the high proportion of trips being made by private car in Bury. 

Key challenges arising from this high level of car use include: 

• Congestion – As levels of car travel has increased congestion on Bury’s road 

network has become more prevalent. Weekend congestion associated with 

the success of the retail and leisure offer has become an issue in Bury town 

centre. Congestion has a significant effect on journey times and reliability, 

which are particularly costly to business and bus users, and increases air 

pollution.  Key areas of traffic delay include the A56 and A58 corridors, around 

the junctions with the M66 (Heap Bridge and Pilsworth) and M60 (at Simister 

Island and Whitefield), and on other routes around and through the Boroughs 

town centres, and connecting routes to the M60 and M66 such as A56 Bury 

New Road/Manchester Road, A58 Rochdale Road and Hollins Brow/Croft 

Lane, which often suffer additional problems when there are incidents on the 

M60 and M66. 

• Maintenance – Bury continues to deliver a programme of capital investment 

in highways maintenance, prioritising areas in accordance with highway asset 

management principles and best practice. However, considerable investment 

is needed to deliver footway maintenance address surface condition issues 

with the carriageways of the unclassified network and long-term structures 

work on the Key Route Network.  Over the 6 year period of 2017/18 to 

2022/23, Bury will have invested an additional £20 million pounds into 

improving the condition of the highway network through Tranches 1 & 2 of its 

Highway Investment Strategy which will see over 40 km of carriageway 

resurfaced, many more roads receiving preventative maintenance treatments 

and thousands of potholes repaired. 

• Road Safety - Road safety challenges exist across the borough, with 

particular hotspots at Bury and Prestwich Centres. While planned 

schemes such as those being delivered through the Bee Network will deliver 

improvements at some locations, further funding will be needed to resolve 

local safety issues across the borough. 

• Freight – Bury has a number of areas which generate significant freight traffic, 

such as Pilsworth, and is impacted by major commercial development beyond 

its boundary including the Heywood Distribution Park. Nearly all freight in Bury 

is carried by road. This increases the economic impact of congestion, but also 

results in more vehicles on our roads, carbon emissions, poor air quality, 

noise pollution and conflict with vulnerable road users. 

• Borough Cycle Network - Although some high quality cycle facilities have 

been delivered or are planned in the future, the facilities on our current cycle 

network are not to a consistently high standard and the network does not yet 

provide the required connectivity, limiting new journeys to be made by 

Document Pack Page 613



 

14 

bike between neighbourhoods and the Wider City Region. Focus for the next 

5 years will be unlocking this network. 

• Electric Vehicle Charging – There are currently public access EV charging 

points in various locations across the borough, with the majority of 

these located around our town centres. Due to the large number of streets 

across the borough without off-street parking, a significant increase in public 

access charging points will be required to support the uptake in electric 

vehicles needed to meet local and GM carbon and clean air targets. 

  

Document Pack Page 614



 

15 

4 Bury 5-Year LIP Outcomes 

The following outlines Bury Borough’s 5-Year outcomes and priorities for investment 

to achieve these. Map 3 below shows proposed Bee Network schemes within Bury 

for the next 5-year period, and Map 4 shows local investment priorities to meet these 

outcomes. 

Outcome 1: Increasing the number of neighbourhood journeys (under 2km) 

made by Active Travel (by foot and by bike) across the Borough of Bury 

In the next 5 years this means delivering street improvements that create attractive, 

safe neighbourhoods that are pleasant for people to spend time in, and support 

people to make local trips on foot or by bike rather than by private car, though 

delivery of a first class walking and cycling network (the “Bee Network”).  

The Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) launched by Government in May 2020 

has enabled us to move forward with the implementation of a number of 

interventions to support active travel (see Section 2.1 above for further information 

on EATF).  Tranche 1 of the EATF has provided funding for measures in Bury.  Bids 

included in Tranche 2 include proposals for the Fishpool and Pimhole Active 

Neighbourhoods as referenced below. 

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Investment Priority   Description  

Fishpool Active 
Neighbourhood 

Scheme to make it easier, safer and more pleasant for 
people to travel by bike or on foot in and around the 
Fishpool area of Bury, through the introduction of 
measures such as new/upgraded crossings, new cycle 
parking, protected cycle infrastructure and modal filters. 
 
Proposals for interventions at Pimhole and Fishpool 
were submitted for MCF funding as they are considered 
to be good target areas for encouraging walking and 
cycling, being close to Bury Town Centre.  

Metrolink Walking and 
Cycling Accessibility  

Development of Local walking/cycling investment plans 

to better connect local neighbourhoods to Bury 

Interchange and with the Metrolink stops in Radcliffe, 

Whitefield, Besses, Prestwich and Heaton Park (“first 

mile-last mile”).   

School Streets  School streets programme across the borough, 

including roll-out of further 20 mph zones. 

Bury Metrolink cycle 
parking 

Sheffield stands with lighting and CCTV in highly visible 
and accessible locations along the Bury Metrolink Line. 
This will make it easier for people to complete part of 
their journey by bike before they join the Metrolink 
network. 

Document Pack Page 615



 

16 

Investment Priority   Description  

Crossings and junctions 
in Bury 

New and upgraded junctions across the borough 
(Jubilee Way/Manchester Road, Kersal Vale Road), 
making it easier and safer for people on foot or on a 
bike to cross busy roads. 

Pimhole Cycling & 
Walking Scheme 

To develop a network of walking and cycling routes 
between Pimhole, Bury town centre and the Pilsworth 
Industrial Estate, including new/upgraded crossing 
points, 20mph zones, traffic calming and filtered 
neighbourhood features. 
 
Proposals for interventions at Pimhole and Fishpool 
were submitted for MCF funding as they are considered 
to be good target areas for encouraging walking and 
cycling, being close to Bury Town Centre 

Rectory Lane link The scheme provides links from residential and 
employment areas to south of the River Irwell into 
Radcliffe town centre and Metrolink stop, incorporating 
a new bridge over the Irwell and linking with other 
recent projects. 

Bury-Radcliffe link This scheme will complete a pleasant, direct route from 
Bury to Radcliffe via the canal towpath, providing a new 
3.5m-wide bridge over the River Irwell and restoring 
Bank Top bridge over the canal. A shared path for 
pedestrians and cyclists will provide direct, convenient 
access to both town centres and local schools. 

Radcliffe Central New crossings and walking infrastructure within the Bell 
Lane area. 

New Development Development led and funded measures, to deliver high 
quality cycle and walking infrastructure within new 
development. To include layout design, strategic links, 
changes to the local highway network and 
complementary measures, such as cycle parking and 
behaviour change activities make it more convenient 
and attractive to walk and cycle than drive. To be 
reflected in the GMSF, and Local Plan policies.  

District Wayfinding  Wayfinding for local journeys across the Borough as 
part of the Bee Network way finding programme.  

Neighbourhood Street 
Maintenance  

Footways and carriageways will continue to receive 
resurfacing, patching, pothole repairs and surface 
treatments as a consequence of programmes of 
planned, preventative and reactive maintenance 

Behaviour Change 
Activities  

Deliver behaviour change to support the Bee Network, 

active neighbourhoods, and new development. To 

include cycle training to primary school children. 

  

Document Pack Page 616



 

17 

 
Map 3: 5-Year Bee Network proposals   

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 617



 

18 

Outcome 2: Enhanced connections to/from and within the centres of Bury, 

Prestwich, Radcliffe, Ramsbottom, Tottington and Whitefield by foot, bike, and 

public transport 

In the next 5 years this means creating streets for all in the Borough’s town centres, 

through improvements to the Public Realm and the design of our streets, including 

the allocation of space, which focus more on the needs of people rather than 

vehicles. Further details of this “Streets for All” initiative can be found in the 2040 

Delivery Plan.    

Access to these centres will also be improved by bus, walking and cycling. For bus 

this means focusing on improving the reliability, comfort and attractiveness of bus 

journeys, including those on the key corridors of the A56 and A58,  

Proposals to enhance sustainable travel that emerge from the Bury Town Centre 

Masterplan and Bury Interchange development will support this outcome.  Bury 

Council are working with TfGM on the design and business case for the new 

Interchange at Bury, the Metrolink Additional Capacity Programme (additional trams 

and power infrastructure), expansion of park and ride at Radcliffe and Whitefield, and 

Metrolink stop improvements, and have contributed to the TfGM Bus Opportunities 

Study which considered bus connections to/from Northern Gateway. This work is 

reflected in the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan 2020-2025 which also includes, for 

example, development and delivery of Quality Bus Transit corridors to Bolton and 

Rochdale, direct links from Northern Gateway to Bury and Oldham town centres, and 

further development of a Northern Gateway Bus Rapid Transit service, linking the 

Regional Centre with Heywood and Norden/Bamford.  

Priorities for investment over the next 5-years: 

Investment Priority   Description  

A56/ A58 Ring Road 
Crossings 

Improvement of pedestrian and cycle crossings of the 

A56/ A58 Ring Road, around Bury Town Centres to 

connect surrounding neighbourhoods. 

Angouleme Way Streets 
for All 

Development and delivery of Streets for All proposals 

for Angouleme Way, including potential reallocation of 

space for cycling and walking, new crossings for 

pedestrians and cycles from the south of Bury Town 

Centre, and junction improvements for bus and general 

traffic.  

Prestwich Longfield 
Centre Regeneration 

Development and delivery of regeneration plans for 

Prestwich, applying principles of Streets for All. 

Radcliffe Strategic 
Regeneration 
Framework 

Development and delivery of Radcliffe Strategic 
Regeneration Framework, including measures to 
improve public realm, accessibility by foot, bike and 
public transport within Radcliffe Town Centre (see 
section 3.3.1 for further information).  

Document Pack Page 618



 

19 

Investment Priority   Description  

Town Centre Bus 
Connectivity 

Enhancement of bus links to town centres from 
surrounding local neighbourhoods, for example 
expansion of Local Links service to wider communities. 

Development of Bus 
Priority Measures 

Develop and deliver opportunities to deliver bus priority 
across the borough, including delivery of Quality Bus 
Transit corridors to Bolton and Rochdale, as well as Bus 
Corridor Upgrades to Manchester City Centre. 

Enhanced Bus 
Connectivity to 
neighbourhoods and 
town centres 

Improved bus connections to key destinations in the 
borough outside Bury TC (especially the other five town 
centres, key employment zones, and Fairfield Hospital). 

Structures Maintenance  Continued investment in structures using the Bridges 
Asset Management system and inspections, including 
Angouleme Way and Peel Way, to ensure resilience 
and maintain safety for all users. 

Outcome 3: Create clean, green streets, and relieve local communities from 

the impacts of congestion 

In the next 5 years, this means reducing the environmental, economic, and health 

impacts of roads and motor traffic in the Borough. To achieve this, we will deliver 

interventions that accelerate the uptake of low emission vehicles, enable an increase 

in sustainable journeys, reduce motor traffic on neighbourhood and town centre 

streets, and tackle congestion hotspots that delay bus services and goods deliveries, 

and create air pollution. 

Strategic interventions to deliver this outcome within the GMTS2040 Delivery Plan 

2020-2025 include delivery of measures at M66 Junction 2 to relieve congestion and 

reduce its impact on bus journey times, and further development of the Elton Link 

Road, which would support growth at the Elton Reservoir GMSF allocation. Local 

priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Investment Priority   Description  

Delivery of Clean Air 
Plan Measures 

Measures to reduce emission of pollutants in areas that 

are expected to exceed, or are at risk of exceeding air 

quality limits, for example the A58 and clean air zone. 

 

LED Streetlight 
Replacement 
Programme 

Replacement of existing streetlights with more efficient 

LED units which will contribute to reducing the council’s 

carbon footprint. 

Delivery of Electric 
Charging Network 

Increasing the number of electric-vehicle charging 

points across the Borough, and particularly in Bury 

Town Centre. 

Document Pack Page 619



 

20 

Investment Priority   Description  

Pinch Point Removal Improvements to the road network to address key 

hotspots and improve network reliability including a 

scheme to improve the operation of the Wash Lane and 

A58 junction, and development of options for 

improvements at M66 Junctions 2 and 3.  

Bury Bridge Multi-modal 
Improvements 

Explore opportunities to make operational 

improvements at Bury Bridge which will contribute to 

improving air quality; including congestion relief, 

measures to improve  bus journey times, and 

enhancement of bus facilities. 

eHubs  Delivery of eHub trials which provide access for 

residents and businesses to electric car club vehicles, 

publicly accessible EV charging points, and electric 

cargo bike /e-scooter facilities. Potential sites include 

Ramsbottom, Bury Town Centre, Fairfield Hospital, and 

Prestwich. 

Signal and Traffic 
Management 
Technology  

Working with TfGM to explore approaches to improve 

the efficiency at junctions for all users, including 

incident/ accident reporting, retiming of signals to match 

demand, video activated pedestrian and cycle signals.  

Hollins Brow/Hollins 
Lane Junction 
Improvement 

Signalisation of the junction to support local growth 

through GMSF. 

Outcome 4:  Improve access to Rapid Transit for residents, workers and 

visitors 

In the next 5 years this means delivering improvements to the accessibility and 

capacity of Metrolink, supporting more residents, workers and visitors to travel to and 

from the Borough by sustainable modes and enabling new public transport focussed 

developments to be created where appropriate around our existing and proposed 

infrastructure. 

Strategic interventions to deliver this outcome included within the GMTS2040 

Delivery Plan 2020-2025 include delivery of a new interchange in Bury town centre, 

increased capacity on Metrolink services and increased park and ride capacity at 

Metrolink stops; and development of proposals for Northern Gateway Bus Rapid 

Transit, linking the GMSF Northern Gateway site; tram-train connection to Heywood 

and Rochdale, and a Metrolink connection to Bolton.  

Local priorities for investment over the next 5-years include: 

Document Pack Page 620



 

21 

Investment Priority   Description  

Cycling and Walking 
links to Metrolink 

Improving walking, cycling and public transport links to 

all Metrolink stops from surrounding neighbourhoods. 

Metrolink Mobility Hubs/ 

eHubs 

Mobility hubs at key Bury Metrolink stops, focusing on 

shared mobility interventions (bike, car club, cargo 

bike), provision of information on journeys, 

improvements to interchanges and EV charging 

facilities. 

Prestwich Metrolink 

Stop Access and 

Wayfinding 

Improvements in access to Prestwich Metrolink station, 

delivered alongside Longfield Centre regeneration, 

including wayfinding and legibility from the town centre. 

  

Document Pack Page 621



 

22 

 
Map 4: Bury Implementation Plan Schemes  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 622



 

23 

5 Indicators  

Bury Council and TfGM will work together to develop a monitoring framework to 

measure the success of the interventions within this Plan. It is anticipated that this 

will include aims and targets to measure success against the 5-Year Local 

Implementation Plan outcomes, carbon targets, and changes in mode-share to meet 

Right Mix targets. 

Document Pack Page 623



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

Meeting:  CABINET 

Meeting date:  11 NOVEMBER 2020 

Title of report:  
PUBLICATION OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL 

FRAMEWORK 

Report by:  Cllr. Eamonn O’Brien – Leader of the Council 

Decision Type: Key Decision 

Ward(s) to which 

report relates 
All 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Following consultation on two previous drafts in 2016 and 2019, Greater 

Manchester’s Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment (the Greater Manchester 

Spatial Framework [GMSF]) has now progressed to the Publication stage.  

This Publication GMSF is the version that each of the Greater Manchester districts 

believe should be submitted to the Government for Examination. 

This report sets out some background information that gives a summary of what the 

GMSF is and why it is being produced. It then sets out a strategic overview of what 

the GMSF is planning for across Greater Manchester and highlights the key proposals 

for Bury in terms of homes, jobs, the environment, infrastructure and other 

background information. It also describes the key benefits that the GMSF will bring 

to Bury and examines the implications of Covid and the recently released Planning 

White Paper before setting out when and how consultation on the Publication GMSF 

will take place. 

Classification 

Open  

Item No. 

Document Pack Page 625 Agenda Item 6



 

Member approval is sought for the GMSF: Publication Draft 2020 and to make it 

available for comment over an 8-week period between 1 December 2020 

November and 26 January 2021. 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approves the GMSF: Publication Draft 2020, including strategic site allocations 

and green belt boundary amendments, and reference to the potential use of 

compulsory purchase powers to assist with site assembly, and the supporting 

background documents, for publication pursuant to Regulation 19 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for a period 

for representations between 1 December 2020 November and 26 January 

2021.;  

2. Recommends that Council approves the GMSF: Publication Draft 2020 for 

submission to the Secretary of State for examination following the period for 

representations; 

3. Delegates to the Director of Economic Regeneration & Capital Growth  

authority to approve the relevant Statement of Common Ground(s) required 

pursuant to the National Planning Policy Framework 2019; 

4. Delegates authority to the Lead Chief Executive, Housing, Homelessness and 

Infrastructure, in consultation with the Portfolio Leader for Housing, 

Homelessness and Infrastructure to make minor or non-material amendments 

to the GMSF: Publication Draft 2020 and background documents prior to their 

publication. 

 

Document Pack Page 626



 

1 GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK – STRATEGIC 

OVERVIEW  

1.1 There is a statutory requirement for local authorities to have an up-to-date 

development plan in place that identifies enough land to accommodate new 

homes and jobs for a growing population.  

1.2 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) is a plan that will meet 

this requirement. It seeks to provide the opportunities for inclusive economic 

growth, provide opportunities for provision of much needed homes and protect 

and enhance the natural environment. The full GMSF document is available via 

the Combined Authority’s web site at https://www.greatermanchester-

ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/the-plan/.  

1.3 The GMSF is not being prepared in isolation. It is one of the suite of strategic 

documents setting out how Greater Manchester can achieve the ambition set 

out in the Greater Manchester Strategy. It sits alongside other plans and 

strategies, including the Transport 2040 Delivery Plan, Local Industrial 

Strategy, Housing Strategy, 5 Year Environment Plan, Digital Strategy and 

Cultural Strategy. Each of these plans is part of a coherent set of measures 

that will seek to meet our overall objectives. 

1.4 The GMSF is a high level, strategic plan and does not cover everything that a 

district local plan would. Bury will still need to produce a Local Plan that will 

complement and help to take forward the GMSF’s strategic policies and also 

provide more detailed policies to support the creation of locally distinctive high 

quality places/neighbourhoods. Work is already underway on Bury’s Local Plan 

and progress on this will run alongside the GMSF process.  However, the GMSF 

will need to advance ahead of the Local Plan to provide the strategic basis for 

local planning policies. 

1.5 The GMSF is supported by a wide range of GM-wide and site-specific evidence 

that has been prepared to inform and support the content of the GMSF. 

Appendix 1 to this report sets out all relevant documents together with links to 

the Combined Authority’s web site which holds these documents. 

1.6 In addition, a series of Topic Papers have prepared for each of the proposed 

site allocations in Bury, These pull together the key findings from the evidence 

gathered in connection with each of the proposed site allocations. The Topic 

Papers for each of the proposed site allocations are attached at Appendix 2. 

 GMSF - Process 

1.7 In November 2014, AGMA Executive Board recommended to the 10 Greater 

Manchester local authorities that they agree to prepare a joint Development 

Plan Document (Joint DPD), called the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

Document Pack Page 627

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/the-plan/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/the-plan/


 

(GMSF).  Further, the recommendation was that AGMA be appointed by the 10 

authorities to prepare the GMSF on their behalf.   

1.8 Over the course of 2014/15, the 10 authorities secured the approvals required 

to enable the GMSF to be prepared and for that preparation to be carried out 

by AGMA on their behalf.  The first draft of the GMSF Joint DPD was published 

for consultation on 31st October 2016, ending on 16th January 2017. The 

consultation generated significant interest and over 27,000 responses were 

received.  

1.9 A further consultation on the Revised Draft GMSF took place between January 

and March 2019 and over 17,000 responses were received at that stage. Since 

the consultation closed, work has been underway to analyse the responses (a 

consultation summary report was published in October 2019), finalise the 

evidence base and prepare a further version of the plan. 

1.10 Progress on the GMSF was delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic but it was 

agreed that: 

 The GMSF should continue to be progressed as a Joint Development Plan 

Document of the 10 authorities; 

 The next version of the plan would be the Publication Plan; and  

 Consultation on the Publication Plan would start in late 2020. 

1.11 The ‘Publication stage’ is a formal consultation on the draft joint DPD pursuant 

to Reg. 19 of the Local Planning Regulations. It is a statutory stage that 

provides an opportunity for organisations and individuals to submit their final 

views on the content of the plan.  The decision to ‘Publish’ the draft joint DPD 

is an Executive decision for the GM local authorities. 

1.12 Following consultation on the Publication Plan, the draft GMSF and the 

representations made at the Publication stage are sent to the Secretary of 

State – this is called the ‘Submission stage’, pursuant to Reg. 22 of the Local 

Planning Regulations.  Upon completion of the consultation on the Publication 

early in 2021, a post-consultation report will be prepared and then the plan 

will be submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination in mid- 2021.  

Submission requires approval of each of the 10 Full Councils of the GM local 

authorities.  Whilst anyone can make a representation on any point, only those 

pertaining to the four tests of soundness1 will be taken into account by the 

Inspector(s). If major new issues arise at the Publication consultation stage 

there would need to be further consultation prior to any submission of the 

plan. 

                                                           
1 As set out in NPPF para 35 

Document Pack Page 628



 

1.13 Following submission, an Examination in Public takes place at which a Planning 

Inspector(s) will consider the joint DPD and representations made in respect of 

it and determine whether the DPD is capable of being adopted, either with or 

without amendments. 

1.14 Assuming that the document is capable of adoption, whether with or without 

amendments, the ultimate decision to adopt must be taken by each of the 10 

Full Councils. 

1.15 For Bury, the policies and proposals set out in the Publication GMSF will 

replace some of the current Unitary Development Plan (UDP) policies when 

formally adopted and will form part of Bury’s statutory development plan. A 

list of the UDP policies that will be replaced by the GMSF can be found in 

Appendix 3.  The Local Plan will then provide more detailed local policies, 

replacing the remaining UDP policies.   

GMSF 2020: Publication Plan 

1.16 The Greater Manchester Plan for Homes, Jobs and the Environment: the 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework Publication Plan 2020 (GMSF 2020) is 

our plan to manage growth so that Greater Manchester is a better place to 

live, work and visit. It will: 

 set out how Greater Manchester should develop up to the year 2037; 

 identify the amount of new development that will come forward across the 

10 districts, in terms of housing, offices, and industry and warehousing, and 

the main areas in which this will be focused; 

 identify the important environmental assets across the conurbation which 

will be protected and enhanced;  

 allocate sites for employment and housing outside of the urban area;  

 support the delivery of key infrastructure, such as transport and utilities;  

 define a new Green Belt boundary for Greater Manchester. 

1.17 The Publication GMSF includes a spatial strategy which seeks to deliver 

sustainable and inclusive growth through three key elements: 

 Significant growth in jobs and housing at the core – continuing 

development in the ‘core growth area’ encompassing the city centre and 

beyond to the Etihad in the east, through to the Quays, Trafford a Park and 

Port Salford in the west. The majority of commercial employment growth 

and a significant amount of the overall housing supply is proposed in this 

area; 

Document Pack Page 629



 

 Boosting the competitiveness of the northern districts – provision of 

new employment opportunities and a commitment that collectively the 

northern districts meet their own local housing need; 

 Sustaining the competitiveness of the southern districts – supporting 

key economic drivers, such as around Wythenshawe hospital and the 

Airport, realising the opportunities offered by national infrastructure 

investment, e.g. HS2, whilst recognising the important green infrastructure 

assets in the area. 

Statement of Common Ground 

1.18 One key supporting document will be a strategic Statement of Common 

Ground. This will set out the key matters between the ten authorities agreeing 

on the distribution and quantum of development contained in the Publication 

Plan. It will also deal with any matters with other organisations that require to 

be agreed to enable the Publication Plan to be submitted next year. There may 

be a need for additional Statements of Common Ground to deal with specific 

matters linked to the proposed site allocations and these will be the 

responsibility of the relevant local authority to draw up if required.  The 

recommendation requests that responsibility for this is delegated to the 

Director of Economic Regeneration and Capital Growth.  

2 PLAN FOR HOMES  

2.1 It is important that we plan to provide a range of new homes to accommodate 

the housing needs of a growing population, including much needed affordable 

homes. 

2.2 The Government has introduced a standard methodology for calculating Local 

Housing Needs (LHN) to provide local authorities with a clear and consistent 

understanding of the number of new homes needed in an area. If insufficient 

new homes are provided to meet increasing demand, then there is a risk that 

affordability levels will worsen and people will not have access to suitable 

accommodation that meets their needs. The construction of new housing is 

also an important part of the economy, providing large numbers of jobs and 

often securing the redevelopment of derelict and underused sites. 

2.3 Applying the current methodology means that a minimum of 179,078 new 

homes will be required across Greater Manchester over the plan period (2020-

2037).   

2.4 The plan sets out Greater Manchester’s commitment to deliver a significant 

proportion of these as affordable housing - 50,000 units over the plan period, 

including 30,000 for social rent. 

 

Document Pack Page 630



 

Plan for Homes – Bury 

2.5 For Bury, the Government’s standard methodology gives a Local Housing Need 

(LHN) target of 10,217 homes over the plan period (601 homes per year).  

This is the baseline starting point for a plan to consider. 

2.6 The GMSF process allows for a redistribution of Bury’s LHN within the 

conurbation to reflect the availability of land or to reflect strategic policies.  As 

a result, Bury has been able to reduce the baseline housing target over the 

plan period to 7,670 homes (average of 451 homes per year).  

2.7 Bury’s proposed housing target in the GMSF therefore represents 4.2% of the 

total Greater Manchester housing target, which is the lowest in Greater 

Manchester. 

2.8 This is a reduction of 2,547 units on the Governments minimum LHN for the 

Borough.  The GMSF target is therefore 75% of the LHN, which is a fall from 

82% on the previous version of the GMSF. 

2.9 However, as a Borough, we do not have enough land within the urban area or 

on brownfield sites to meet even this reduced target.  Bury’s Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment identifies that there is only enough land to 

accommodate 3,963 homes. This supply largely consists of brownfield sites 

within the existing urban area, including the potential development sites within 

our town centres and other brownfield sites such as the former East 

Lancashire Paper Mill site and the former Tetrosyl site at Bevis Green in 

Walmersley. 

2.10 This supply shortfall means that the following Green Belt sites are proposed to 

be released through the GMSF to meet the reduced target as well as providing 

a defensible buffer on top of the supply. 

  Site 
No. of homes within the 

plan period 

Castle Road, Unsworth (Northern Gateway) 200 

Simister/Bowlee (Northern Gateway) 1,350 

Walshaw 1,250 

Elton Reservoir 
1,900  

(further 1,600 post plan) 

Seedfield 140 

Total 4,840 

Document Pack Page 631



 

2.11 Together, the baseline supply and the proposed housing within the plan period 

on Green Belt sites are estimated to have the capacity to deliver around 8,803 

units.  This provides a 14.8% buffer on top of the supply to allow for sites not 

coming forward as envisaged over the plan period.  Buffers are a standard 

requirement in development plans to provide flexibility in the supply and there 

is a 17% buffer against the total Greater Manchester target. 

2.12 The GMSF proposals include the release of Green Belt land beyond the plan 

period for residential development at the Elton Reservoir site (which has been 

consulted on in the previous two iterations).  This is because the site is key to 

delivering significant upfront investment into essential strategic infrastructure 

and the site needs the long term certainty on the scale of development to 

withstand the costs.  The natural development of this site, using standard 

build out rates, will mean that the scale of delivery will extend beyond the plan 

period. 

2.13 It should be noted that if the GMSF had a baseline housing target for Bury that 

reflected the minimum LHN (10,217), there would still be a need for a buffer 

to be identified on top of this.  At 14.8% this would equate to an additional 

1,514 units.  It would still only be feasible for the Elton Reservoir site to 

deliver 1,900 within the plan period, with 1,600 post plan. The total housing 

figures (including post-plan) would therefore equate to 13,331 as opposed to 

the current GMSF figures of 10,406 (an increase of 2,925). This is illustrated in 

the diagram below.  

 

Baseline target
10217

Baseline target
7670

Buffer (14.8%) - 1514

Buffer (14.8%) - 1137

Beyond plan period - 1600

Beyond plan period - 1600

LHN GMSF

Total - 13,331

Total - 10,406

Document Pack Page 632



 

2.14 Importantly, the reduction in Bury’s housing target within the Publication 

GMSF means that the amount of Green Belt that is proposed to be released for 

residential development has been reduced by 192 hectares since the 2019 

draft GMSF.  This has been met through the removal of the Whitefield site 

(600 units) and a significant reduction of land in the Simister / Bowlee 

allocation (reduction of 700 units). 

Strategic Sites 

2.15 Not only does the GMSF help to reduce the amount of Green Belt needed to 

meet the local housing need in Bury, it also means that the sites that are 

proposed are those that deliver strategic benefits over the longer term. This is 

because the GMSF gives Bury a lower housing target in the early years of the 

plan which will give us time to bring forward and develop essential 

infrastructure in and around the strategic sites proposed (as well as our 

limited supply of brownfield sites). This includes a strategic link road through 

the Elton site that will provide much needed resilience and extra capacity on 

our highway network, as well as public transport and education investments. 

2.16 A higher target earlier in the plan period would require additional small sites 

that could be brought forward in the short term.  However, such sites would 

not be able to deliver any tangible new infrastructure provision of the scale 

needed. 

Type of Housing 

2.17 During the previous GMSF consultations there was a general acceptance that 

the Borough needs more housing of all types and sizes and across a range of 

tenures. Whilst we would like to meet the full housing needs of all of our 

residents over the plan period, the constraints of the Green Belt and ability to 

deliver infrastructure means that there are significant challenges in doing so.  

It is considered that the GMSF strikes the right balance in providing new 

homes and infrastructure, whilst reducing the amount of Green Belt released. 

2.18 The housing sites proposed through the GMSF will include a mix of house 

types, sizes and tenures. This will include 1 and 2 bedroom properties as well 

as 3 and 4 bedroom properties. 

2.19 It will also include a significant amount of affordable housing in line with local 

policy requirements designed to meet the needs identified in Bury’s Housing 

Needs Survey and the emerging Housing Strategy.  It is estimated that, in 

addition to provision of affordable housing provided on sites within the existing 

land supply, the sites identified in the GMSF will deliver over 1,200 affordable 

homes during the plan period (25% of the total homes proposed in the GMSF). 

Document Pack Page 633



 

2.20 New housing will also include provision for special needs housing, such as 

accommodation for the elderly. 

3 PLAN FOR JOBS   

3.1 Economic growth is central to the overall strategy for Greater Manchester. It 

will be essential to raising incomes, improving health and quality of life and 

generating the finances to deliver better infrastructure, services and facilities. 

3.2 Greater Manchester has the opportunity to lead with the ’levelling up’ agenda 

by helping to deliver a more successful North of England and aiding the long-

term economic success of the country as a whole. 

3.3 As such, the GMSF supports high levels of economic growth across Greater 

Manchester and seeks to put in place the measures that will enable such 

growth to continue in the longer-term. However, delivering these high levels 

of growth means that Greater Manchester will need to continue to invest in the 

sites and critical infrastructure that will make it an even more attractive place 

for businesses to invest, bringing high-value, well paid jobs, to the city region, 

and supporting the continued progress towards a low-carbon economy. 

3.4 In pursuit of this, the GMSF proposes at least 2,500,000 sq.m. of new office 

floorspace and at least 4,100,000 sq.m. of industrial and warehousing 

floorspace across Greater Manchester over the plan period. 

Plan for Jobs – Bury  

3.5 Over recent years, the northern areas of Greater Manchester, including Bury, 

have seen relatively low levels of growth overall compared to other parts of 

the city region, particularly in the south of the sub-region. In Bury, a major 

contributing factor to this has been an inadequate supply of employment land 

which has undoubtedly held back the Borough’s economy due to the lack of 

opportunities for attracting new inward investment and for the Borough’s 

existing businesses to grow. 

3.6 If these disparities between the northern and southern areas increase, this will 

be harmful not only to the prospects for the north but also to those of Greater 

Manchester as a whole. As a result, a key aim of the GMSF is to significantly 

boost the competitiveness of and economic output from the northern parts of 

Greater Manchester to deliver more balanced and inclusive growth across the 

sub-region. As a northern Borough, Bury has a key role to play in achieving 

this aim. 

3.7 In terms of office development, 40,206 sq.m. is proposed in Bury over the 

plan period. This equates to 1.2% of the total proposed for Greater 

Document Pack Page 634



 

Manchester reflecting the fact that the majority of office development will take 

place in the inner core areas of Manchester and Salford. 

3.8 However, it is through industrial and warehousing development that Bury is 

well placed to play a more significant role and this will not only help Bury to 

contribute towards an improved economic output from the north of the city 

region but will also help to address the longstanding local issue around the 

severe lack of land for industrial and warehousing development in Bury.  

3.9 At present, the Borough has by far the lowest existing baseline supply of land 

for industrial and warehousing of any Greater Manchester district with a supply 

that is capable of accommodating only 10,231 sq,m, of floorspace - equating 

to only 0.5% of Greater Manchester’s total existing supply. This has been a 

longstanding issue for Bury that has, without doubt, held back the Borough’s 

economy and has led to a number of Bury companies having to relocate 

elsewhere due to a lack of opportunity to expand or relocate within the 

Borough. 

3.10 The GMSF seeks to increase the supply of industry and warehousing in Bury 

through the proposals for employment-led development at the Northern 

Gateway (Heywood/Pilsworth).  It is estimated that the full development of 

this site across Bury and Rochdale could generate 1.2 million sq.m. of 

industrial and warehousing floorspace (including an Advanced Manufacturing 

Park), creating a large amount of new job opportunities that would be highly 

accessible to Bury residents. 

3.11 Of this 1.2million sq.m, around 856,000 sq.m. is proposed for Bury – 491,000 

sq.m. of which is expected to come forward within the plan period. Together 

with the existing supply of 10,231sq.m. the addition of the Heywood/Pilsworth 

site would give Bury a total supply of industrial and warehousing land capable 

of accommodating 501,231 sq.m within the plan period with further potential 

beyond 2037. 

3.12 The total proposed supply of 501,231 sq.m. would significantly increase Bury’s 

contribution to 11.6% of Greater Manchester’s total supply of industrial and 

warehousing floorspace within the plan period. 

3.13 The remaining potential (365,000sqm) is expected to follow post-plan.    

3.14 At 310 hectares of land, these employment proposals represent the largest 

proposed release of land in Bury under the GMSF (net Green Belt loss in Bury 

is proposed to be 520 hectares). 

 

 

Document Pack Page 635



 

4 PLAN FOR THE ENVIRONMENT     

 The GMSF is not just about accommodating development. It also includes a 

range of policies designed to protect and enhance Greater Manchester’s many 

and varied green spaces and features which are used in many different ways 

and afforded many different values by the people who live, work or visit the 

city-region. 

 The GMSF supports the important role of Greater Manchester’s natural assets 

by: 

 Valuing the special qualities and key sensitivities of Greater Manchester’s 

landscapes; 

 Seeking to protect and enhance Greater Manchester’s network of green and 

blue infrastructure; 

 Seeking a significant overall enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity; 

and 

 Seeking to maintain a new and defensible Green Belt which will endure 

beyond this plan period. 

 Furthermore, the GMSF supports wider strategies around clean air, walking 

and cycling and underpins Greater Manchester’s ambition to be a carbon 

neutral city-region by 2038. A key element of this is to require all new 

development to be net zero carbon by 2028 and to keep fossil fuels in the 

ground. 

Plan for the Environment – Bury  

 The GMSF’s strategic environmental policies are high-level and generic policies 

that will, where applicable, apply to development proposals in Bury. They 

cover a wide range of environmental issues, include policies relating to: 

 Carbon reduction and energy; 

 Flood risk; 

 Clean air; 

 Landscapes; 

 Green infrastructure; 

 River valleys and waterways; 

 Lowland wetlands and mosslands; 

 Uplands; 

 Urban green space; 

Document Pack Page 636



 

 Trees and woodlands; 

 Biodiversity and geodiversity; and 

 Heritage. 

 These policies will either replace some of the current local policies contained in 

Bury’s UDP and/or provide additional policy support for the protection of the 

Borough’s built and natural environments.      

5 PLAN FOR INFRASTRUCTURE 

5.1 The GMSF will need to be supported by significant investment in the sub-

region’s infrastructure including roads, public transport, energy and utilities as 

well as schools and health facilities.  

5.2 Future climate change pressures will also require the city-region to adapt to 

bigger shocks and stresses, such as increased heat, drought and flood risk. 

5.3 The quality, distribution and resilience of infrastructure will be important in 

ensuring that the GMSF is successfully implemented and delivered. 

Infrastructure is essential to support the delivery of the GMSF’s vision and 

objectives. 

5.4 The capacity of the utility network to accommodate increased demand is 

considered generally robust. However, an increasing population, economic 

growth and changes in technology will increase demand, both for new and 

existing infrastructure. Combined with a backlog of capital investment, 

historically low levels of investment compared to other countries and 

continually growing and changing expectations for infrastructure, requirements 

over the next thirty years will be substantial.  

5.5 As mentioned, the GMSF is one of a suite of complementary documents 

designed to support the long-term aspirations for Greater Manchester. This 

includes the Greater Manchester Infrastructure Framework which is a 

precursor to the development of a Greater Manchester Infrastructure Strategy. 

It frames the key issues and priorities which the Infrastructure Strategy 

should seek to address. 

5.6 A Greater Manchester Strategic Infrastructure Board has been established 

which includes representatives from United Utilities, Electricity North West, 

Cadent, Environment Agency, Transport for Greater Manchester as well as 

GMCA officers and Chief Resilience Officer. The Strategic Infrastructure Board 

will consider and respond to the issues and challenges raised by the 

Infrastructure Framework and will help shape the Infrastructure Strategy.   

5.7 Importantly, the Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) 2040 

Implementation Plan has been drafted and this will seek to deliver some of the 

Document Pack Page 637



 

key highway and public transport infrastructure interventions associated with 

some of the GMSF proposals and other developments.   

Plan for infrastructure - Bury 

5.8 The GMSF identifies a range of physical and social infrastructure interventions 

that will be required to support the new development proposals in Bury, 

including: 

 New link roads – to improve connectivity and traffic movement and help to 

address issues on the existing road network. For example, the Elton 

Reservoir site will require the provision of a strategic spine road connecting 

Bury and Bolton Road (A58) to Bury Road in Radcliffe in order to provide an 

alternative route to Bury Bridge/around Bury Town centre. 

 Junction improvements – to improve accessibility and traffic movement, 

significant junction improvements and reconfiguration (in and around sites) 

are required. Whilst there will be a more obvious requirement for 

improvements to directly support and mitigate for the impact of new traffic 

associated with the development sites, there will also be a requirement to 

implement improvements further afield. Improvements will be required on 

both the strategic road network (e.g. motorway junctions) as well as those 

on the local road network.  

 Public transport – including improving access to public transport, providing 

more sustainable transport options through the provision of a new Metrolink 

station at Warth to support the development of the Elton Reservoir area and 

a potential tram-train operation along the route of the East Lancashire 

Railway between Bury and Rochdale to improve access to the proposed 

employment development at Heywood/Pilsworth. 

 Pedestrian/cycle routes – to allow effective integration between the sites 

and their surrounding communities there will be a need for improved 

linkages and connections for pedestrians and cyclists. 

 Education – the provision of primary schools to specifically support 

development proposals for Walshaw, the Elton Reservoir area and the 

Simister/Bowlee site; and contributions towards improving capacity at 

existing schools.  

 Flood Risk – the proposed development sites will need to ensure that the 

developments would not pose any additional risk of flooding, and where 

possible, seek to reduce flood risk.  This includes fluvial and surface water 

flood risk and sites will need to incorporate sustainable urban drainage 

systems to address this issue.   

 Healthcare - Additional healthcare provision where required. 

Document Pack Page 638



 

 Other infrastructure - Provision for other necessary infrastructure such as 

utilities, broadband and electric vehicle charging points. 

5.9 These infrastructure requirements will be embedded within the GMSF’s 

statutory planning policies for each of the proposed site allocations and any 

planning applications for development on these sites will need to be in line 

with these policy requirements for them to be approved. Planning conditions 

and legal agreements will ensure that the necessary infrastructure is delivered 

at an appropriate stage in the development. 

6 PLAN FOR GREEN BELT 

6.1 The Publication GMSF proposes a limited release of a Green Belt for both 

housing and employment. The net loss of Green Belt across Greater 

Manchester is 1,939 ha. This represents a reduction of over 60% (60.3%) 

from what was proposed in the first draft of the GMSF in 2016 and a 19% 

reduction from 2019 draft. This has been achieved through: 

 Reducing the number of proposed sites; 

 Reducing the extent of Green Belt release within sites; and 

 Proposing a limited number of Green Belt additions. 

6.2 The current Greater Manchester Green Belt covers 46.9% of the land area of 

Greater Manchester. The proposals in the Publication GMSF would reduce this 

by around 1.5% meaning that 45.3% of Greater Manchester land area would 

remain designated Green Belt. 

Plan for Green Belt – Bury  

6.3 The sites in Bury that have been proposed for employment and housing 

development in the GMSF have evolved as the GMSF has progressed through 

its various stages of preparation. These changes to the sites have been made 

to reflect new and updated evidence and public views expressed in response 

to consultation on the previous drafts. 

6.4 The changes have resulted in a significant reduction in the proposed net loss 

of Green Belt in the current Publication GMSF compared to what was originally 

proposed in the first draft in 2016 and what was subsequently proposed in the 

revised draft in 2019.  

6.5 The original 2016 draft proposed the release of 1,210 hectares (20%) of the 

Borough’s Green Belt. However, the subsequent removal of sites at 

Baldingstone and Holcombe Brook; reductions to the loss of Green Belt at 

Walshaw, Elton and Heywood/Pilsworth; and a number of new additions to the 

Green Belt meant that the revised 2019 draft involved a reduced net loss of 

714 hectares (12%) of the Green Belt. 

Document Pack Page 639



 

6.6 Further revisions have been made to the sites proposed in the Publication 

GMSF. In particular, the site at Whitefield has now been removed and there 

has been a significant reduction in the extent of the site at Simister/Bowlee 

which retains Simister Village within the Green Belt.  These additional 

amendments mean that the Publication GMSF is now proposing a net loss of 

520 hectares (9%) of the Borough’s Green Belt. 

6.7 The majority of the proposed Green Belt release in the Borough is for 

employment development at the Northern Gateway site, which accounts for 

310 hectares of the total 520 hectares proposed for release.   

6.8 Bury’s Green Belt currently covers 5,904 hectares of the total land area of the 

Borough (i.e. 59.5%). The proposals in the Publication GMSF to reduce this by 

520 hectares would mean that 5,384 hectares would remain as Green Belt 

land.  This would mean that 54.5% of the Borough would remain Green Belt 

land, which is the third highest proportion of any district in Greater 

Manchester, behind only Rochdale and Wigan. 

7 SITE SELECTION 

7.1 In November 2015, a ‘Call for Sites’ exercise was launched whereby local 

residents, businesses, land owners and developers were invited to identify 

sites that they thought could be suitable for housing or employment 

development. 

7.2 Following the ‘Call for Sites’, all sites were assessed against a series of key 

principles to determine their suitability as potential sites to be included within 

the GMSF. 

7.3 The approach to site selection used for the 2016 draft has been reviewed and 

refined at each subsequent stage. This was partly in response to comments 

raised during consultation, but also because the preparation of a development 

plan is, by its very nature, an iterative process that needs to evolve and be 

justifiable as ‘an appropriate strategy’ in accordance with paragraph 35 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework. 

7.4 Furthermore, it should also be noted that, as part of the process of preparing 

the drafts of the GMSF, it has also been necessary to consider all the evidence 

base to ensure that sites are deliverable. The site selection process is just one 

part of that evidence. 

7.5 In Bury, the Publication GMSF proposes a small number of large sites. In doing 

so, the sites are of sufficient scale for them to include the provision of 

essential, strategic infrastructure.  

Document Pack Page 640



 

7.6 Pursuing an alternative approach of identifying a large number of small sites 

would mean that the sites would be unable to deliver the scale of 

infrastructure required to support the overall level of development needed 

which, in turn, would lead to an unacceptable increase in pressure on existing 

infrastructure. As indicated above, the GMSF gives Bury a lower housing target 

in the early part of the plan period to gives these sites the time to bring 

forward the necessary infrastructure.  

7.7 In terms of their location, Bury’s sites are largely contained within or well-

related to the existing urban area which helps to promote ‘inward growth’ as 

opposed to urban sprawl. This will enable any development to build on 

opportunities to access or improve existing infrastructure. 

8 IMPLICATIONS OF COVID-19 

8.1 Covid-19 has had a major impact on the way people live and work over the 

shorter term and there remains a degree of uncertainty over its impact in the 

long term.  

8.2 However, the Government has been very clear that we need to positively plan 

for recovery. The Prime Minister made his ‘Build, Build, Build’ announcement 

at the end of June 2020 setting a context for England as we continue to live 

through the pandemic.  

8.3 The need for a spatial plan to provide certainty and guide development, 

investment and infrastructure has never been stronger. There is a very strong 

message that Covid-19 should not be a reason to delay either the preparation 

of statutory plans or the determination of planning applications. The 

Government has published updated planning guidance, including temporary 

measures for the planning system (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-

covid-19-planning-update). 

8.4 In terms of Local Plans, the guidance is clear that the Government want to see 

Local Plans progressing through the system as a vital means for supporting 

economic recovery in line with the Government’s aspirations to have up-to-

date plans in place across the country by 2023. 

8.5 The GMSF is an essential building block of the city-region’s long term success 

and recovery. In short, it will demonstrate what ‘building back better’ means 

spatially for Greater Manchester. 

8.6 To assist in progressing plans, Government has introduced temporary 

arrangements through the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 which change the 

requirements to make certain documents available for inspection and on 

request. These regulations make temporary changes to how documents are 

Document Pack Page 641

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-planning-update
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-planning-update


 

required to be made available under regulation 35 of the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“the 2012 

Regulations”). They temporarily remove the requirement on a local planning 

authority to make documents available for public inspection at the authority’s 

principal office and at such other places as the authority considers 

appropriate. They also make temporary changes to regulation 36 of the 2012 

Regulations to remove the requirement on a local planning authority to 

provide hard copies of documents made available under regulation 35. 

Documents are still required to be made available on the local planning 

authority’s website.  

8.7 These temporary arrangements are in place until 31 December 2020 but it is 

expected that the Government will extend these, particularly in light of current 

circumstances with Covid-19. Nevertheless, the situation will be kept under 

constant review and, if necessary, arrangements will be adapted to respond to 

any change in circumstances.   

9 CONSULTATION ON THE PUBLICATION GMSF 

9.1 Following consultation on two previous drafts of the GMSF in 2016 and 2019, 

the document has now progressed to the Publication stage which is effectively 

the final draft of the plan and that which each of the Greater Manchester 

districts consider should be the final plan to be submitted to Government. 

9.2 It is now proposed that the Publication GMSF should be subject to a further 

eight-week period of public consultation between 1 December 2020 

November and 26 January 2021. 

9.3 The GMSF and key supporting evidence will have been in the public domain for 

over five weeks before the start of formal consultation, allowing people to view 

and familiarise themselves with the content. 

9.4 This is an important consultation stage in the plan-making process because it 

will be the comments made at this stage that will be submitted to Government 

and considered by the appointed Planning Inspector(s) as part of the 

Examination of the plan. Comments made at previous stages have been used 

to inform the production of the plan to this point and these will also be 

summarised in a Consultation Report as part of the submitted documentation.   

9.5 Whilst anyone can make a representation on any point in the plan, only those 

pertaining to the four tests of soundness set out in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) will be taken into account by the Planning Inspectorate i.e. 

whether the plan is: 

a) Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks 

to meet the area’s objectively assessed needs; and is informed by 

Document Pack Page 642



 

agreements with other authorities, so that unmet need from neighbouring 

areas is accommodated where it is practical to do so and is consistent with 

achieving sustainable development; 

b) Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable 

alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence; 

c) Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint 

working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with 

rather than deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground; 

and 

d) Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable 

development in accordance with the NPPF. 

9.6 The Government has been clear that the challenge posed by Covid-19 is not a 

sufficient reason to delay plan preparation. The Council has recently consulted 

on revisions to its Statement of Community Involvement to respond to current 

Covid-19 guidance that affects how we would normally consult including, for 

example, holding of face-to-face community events or the provision of 

physical documents for inspection in public buildings. 

9.7 However, effective community engagement will still be promoted by means 

which are reasonably practicable. Government guidance strongly encourages 

the use of online engagement methods. Engagement strategies are being 

prepared which consider the use of the following: 

 virtual exhibitions; 

 digital consultations; 

 video conferencing; and 

 social media and online chat functions. 

9.8 Reasonable steps will also be taken to ensure sections of the community that 

don’t have internet access are involved and consider alternative and creative 

ways to achieve this. This could include: 

 Posting information on request (e.g. particular information on a site); 

 Deposit points for the plan (subject to restrictions); 

 Engaging sections of the community, that do not have internet access, 

through representative groups rather than directly; 

 Using existing networks; 

 Allowing individuals to nominate an advocate to share views on their behalf; 

 Providing telephone information lines; and 

 Providing timed face-to-face information sessions for community 

representatives (depending on restrictions at that point in time). 

Document Pack Page 643



 

9.9 Given the uncertainty around the type of local/national lockdown which may 

be in place at the time the consultation, different methods will be developed to 

respond to different levels of social distancing/public interaction which may be 

possible. 

What happens following consultation? 

9.10 Following this consultation, it is proposed that the Publication GMSF be 

formally submitted to the Government alongside all supporting evidence and 

the Government will then appoint a Planning Inspector (or a panel of 

Inspectors) to undertake an Examination of the GMSF. Agreement to formally 

submit the GMSF to the Government will be sought from Full Council on 25 

November 2020. 

9.11 Importantly, all representations made at the Publication stage will also be 

submitted to the Government and these will be considered by the Inspector(s) 

as part of the Examination of the plan (where the representation is considered 

relevant to the NPPF’s four tests of soundness). 

9.12 An Examination in Public will then take place at which a Planning Inspector will 

consider the GMSF, its supporting evidence and representations made in 

respect of it and determine whether it is capable of being adopted, either with 

or without amendments. 

9.13 Assuming that the GMSF is found to be capable of adoption, the ultimate 

decision to adopt it must be taken by each of the 10 Full Councils.  

10 SUMMARY  

10.1 It is considered that working with our Greater Manchester colleagues through 

the GMSF brings a number of important advantages:  

 An up-to-date plan – Bury’s current development plan is the Unitary 

Development Plan which was adopted in 1997 and is now significantly out of 

date. The Council has twice tried and failed to get a replacement plan in 

place over that time but this met with significant challenge as it did not 

meet housing needs. The Government has indicated that it will intervene in 

and potentially take over the plan-making process where local authorities do 

not have an up-to-date plan by December 2023 – which could remove local 

controls over plan-making. The GMSF will enable Bury to avoid these 

sanctions by meeting its statutory requirement to have an up-to-date plan 

in place covering strategic planning issues. 

 A stronger local economy – One of the key aims of the GMSF is to 

significantly boost the competitiveness and economic output from the north 

of the conurbation in order to address the current imbalance in the Greater 

Manchester economy. The proposal at the Northern Gateway 

Document Pack Page 644



 

(Heywood/Pilsworth) is key to the delivery of this objective. The jobs and 

investment generated from this site will help to create a sustained reduction 

in inequalities and improve the lives of our residents whilst also helping in 

post-Brexit and post-Covid recovery. 

 Significant infrastructure investment - In contrast to identifying 

smaller, short-term sites, the GMSF also allows us to bring forward a small 

number of large, strategic sites that can pave the way for significant 

investment in the physical and social infrastructure required to support 

development. 

 Reduced impact on the Green Belt - Collaborative working on the GMSF 

by the ten Greater Manchester districts has allowed for a redistribution of 

housing needs to enable more development to be focussed in more 

sustainable locations, such as in the inner core areas of Manchester and 

Salford. This has enabled Bury to off-set 2,547 homes from our Local 

Housing Need to other districts which would otherwise have to be 

accommodated within the Borough. This has allowed Bury to reduce the 

amount of Green Belt land required for development. 

10.2 It is important to recognise that if the GMSF did not exist or if Bury were not a 

participant in the process, the strategic matters that are currently dealt with 

through the GMSF would still need to be covered by the Local Plan. However, 

the advantages of collaborative working outlined above would be lost.   

Other alternative options considered 

For Bury to withdraw from the GMSF process and to only produce a Local Plan – the 

implications of this option are set out in the report. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Community impact  

The GMSF is about providing the right homes, in the right places, for people across 

our city region, including Bury, up to 2037. It’s also about creating jobs and 

improving infrastructure to ensure the future prosperity of Greater Manchester and 

Bury. 

Whilst one of the key purposes of the GMSF is to make provision for the homes and 

jobs needed across Greater Manchester, it is also about establishing a framework for 

reducing inequalities, improving the lives of our residents, and transforming Greater 

Manchester into the world-leading city-region for the benefit of Greater Manchester’s 

communities. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Document Pack Page 645



 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is 

set out as follows:  

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to -  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act;  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 

positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and 

demonstrate that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of 

policies and in the delivery of services.  

Equality Analysis Please provide a written explanation of the outcome(s) of 

either conducting an initial or full EA. 

An Equality Analysis has been undertaken in respect of the Manchester Spatial 

Framework and the outcomes of this analysis can be seen at Appendix 4. 

*Please note: Approval of a cabinet report is paused when the ‘Equality/Diversity 

implications’ section is left blank and approval will only be considered when this section 

is completed. 

___________________________________________________________ 

Assessment of Risk:  

The following risks apply to the decision:  

 Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Potential risk to the public and council 
staff in holding public consultation 

during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

In line with government guidance, the 
Council will temporarily cease forms 

of engagement that involve public 
gatherings and/or face-to-face contact 
whilst social distancing measures are 

in place. In the interim period 
alternative methods of engagement 

will be utilised - for example holding 

Document Pack Page 646



 

virtual exhibitions, digital 
consultations, video conferencing and 

utilising social media platforms. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Consultation: 

See section on consultation within the main body of the report. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework will form part of the statutory 

development plan for each of the Greater Manchester districts and, alongside the 

emerging Bury Local Plan, will replace the Bury Unitary Development Plan. All 

development plans must be prepared in accordance with statutory processes. This 

report sets out an overview of the latest publication Greater Manchester Spatial 

Framework, highlighting some of the key proposals in Bury and seeks approval for 

the document to be subject to a formal period of consultation to ensure that all 

interested parties have an opportunity to make their views known before these are 

submitted to the Government to be considered as part of the Examination of the 

GMSF. The formal submission of the GMSF will have to be approved by the Council 

as part of the Policy Framework. There are no other legal concerns at this point, but 

if the proposal is approved, further detailed input will be required from the Council 

Solicitor in due course. 

The legislative and constitutional requirements for the preparation of a joint 

Development Plan Document (DPD) are set out in the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012. These have been complied with and legal advice provided at all 

stages.  

The joint DPD will now be the subject of two further stages as it will be submitted to 

the Secretary of State for independent examination under the 2004 Act, along with 

the documents prescribed by the 2012 Regulations and prior to submission to the 

Secretary of State, it must be published and representations invited, pursuant to the 

2012 Regulations. This will involve, a formal consultation on the draft. 

The decision to publish the draft joint DPD is an executive decision for all of the GM 

local authorities and in Bury must be made by Cabinet. At the end of the consultation 

period, the draft joint DPD and all representations received are then sent to the 

Secretary of State. This final submission is likely to happen in summer 2021 and 

requires approval to submit of each of the 10 Full Councils of the GM local 

authorities, as it is a Council decision to submit the joint DPD. 

Document Pack Page 647



 

____________________________________________________________ 

Financial Implications: 

This report does not commit the Council to any financial decisions but seeks to 

establish a strategic planning policy framework for Greater Manchester, including 

Bury.  Implementing any schemes aligned to the framework will be subject to 

decision making at that time which will include a full assessment of the financial 

implications including affordability that will take into account costs and additional 

revenue income that may be generated. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

Crispian Logue – Head of Strategic Planning & Economic Development  

Email: c.logue@bury.gov.uk 

____________________________________________________________ 

Background papers:  

 The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework: Publication Draft 2020. 

 Key supporting evidence. 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 

report.  

Term  Meaning  

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

(GMSF) 

The GMSF is Greater Manchester’s Plan for 

Homes, Jobs and the Environment. It is a 

statutory Development Plan Document 

that provides the strategic basis for 

planning future growth and development 

in Greater Manchester up to 2037. 

Brownfield Land Brownfield land is land that has previously 

been developed. It might be overgrown 

and look like a green space, still have 

buildings on it or be derelict. 

Greenfield Land Greenfield sites are undeveloped green 

spaces found in both urban and rural 

areas. Greenfield sites are not all found 

within the Green Belt. A park in an urban 

Document Pack Page 648



 

area, for example, would also be defined 

as a greenfield site. 

Local Housing Need (LHN) The minimum number of homes needed in 

a particular area calculated using the 

Government's standard methodology. 

 

Document Pack Page 649



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Links to Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and Supporting Documents 

GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK 

Publication GMSF 2020 - https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/the-plan/ 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

The following documents support the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework and can be found 
under the respective headings at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ 

 Plan Wide 

1A. GMSF Integrated Appraisal Report 

1B. GMSF Integrated Appraisal Addendum Report 

1C. GMSF Integrated Appraisal Non-Technical Summary 

1D. GMSF Integrated Assessment Scoping Report 2020 

1E. Integrated Assessment of GMSF 2020 Growth and Spatial Options Paper 

2. Habitats Regulations Appraisal 

4A. Land Supply Data (Housing) 

4B. Land Supply Data (Industry and Warehousing) 

4C. Land Supply Data (Office) 

5. Site Selection Process 

6. Growth and Spatial Options 

7A. GMSF Strategic Viability Assessment Stage 1 

7B. GMSF Strategic Viability Assessment Stage 1 Technical Appendices 

7C. GMSF Strategic Viability Assessment Stage 2 Allocated Sites 

 Chapter 5- A Sustainable and Resilient GM 

8A. Carbon & Energy Implementation Part 1- Technical Analysis 

8B. Carbon & Energy Implementation Part 2-Carbon Offsetting 

8C. Carbon & Energy Implementation Part 2-Fund Size Appendix B 

9A. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 

9L. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 Appendix B Site Assessment Part 1 

9M. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 Appendix B Site Assessment Part 2 

9N. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 Appendix C - Development Site Assessment Summary 
Reports 

9O. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 Appendix D - Functional Floodplain Methodology 

9P. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 Appendix E - GMCA Climate Change Models 

9Q. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 Appendix F - SUDS Techniques and Suitability 

10. GM Flood Risk Management Framework 

11. Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2 - Report and Appendices 

12. Flood Risk Sequential Test and Exception Test Evidence Paper 

Document Pack Page 651

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/the-plan/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/the-plan/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


13. Carbon & Fracking 

 Chapter 6- A Prosperous Greater Manchester 

14. Economic Forecasts for Greater Manchester 

15. Employment Land Needs in Greater Manchester 

16. Covid-19 and the GMSF Growth Options 

 Chapter 7- Homes for Greater Manchester 

17. GM Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 

18. Greater Manchester Gypsy and Traveller and Traveling Show person Accommodation 
Assessment Update 2018 

 Chapter 8- A Greener Greater Manchester 

19A. Green Infrastructure Policy Context 

19B. Guidance for GM- Embedding Green Infrastructure Principles 

20A. BNG Proposed Guidance for GM 

20B. GM BNG Summary Report 

21A. Stage 1 GM Green Belt Assessment  (2016) 

21B. Stage 1 GM Green Belt Assessment - Appendices (2016) 

21C. Landscape Character Assessment (2018) 

21D. Stage 2 GM Green Belt Study- Cumulative Assessment of Proposed 2020 GMSF Allocations and 
Additions (2020) 

21E. Stage 2 GM Green Belt Study- Assessment of Proposed 2019 GMSF Allocations (2020) 

21F. Stage 2 GM Green Belt Study-  Assessment of Proposed 2019 GMSF Allocations Appendix B 
(2020) 

21G. Stage 2 GM Green Belt Study-  Addendum Assessment of Proposed 2020 GMSF Allocations 
(2020) 

21H. Stage 2 GM Green Belt Study-  Contribution Assessment of Proposed 2020 GMSF Green Belt 
Additions (2020) 

21I. Stage 2 GM Green Belt Study-  Identification of Opportunities to Enhance the Beneficial use of 
the Green Belt (2020) 

22. Our Case for Exceptional Circumstances 

 Chapter 9- A Greater Manchester for Everyone 

23A. GMSF 1 Historic Environment Assess Summary Report 

23B. GMSF 2 Northern Gateway Historic Environment Assess 

23F. GMSF 6 Bury Historic Environment Assess 

24. Historic Environment Background Paper 

 Chapter 10- A Connected Greater Manchester   

25. Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 Refresh 

26. Our 5 Year Transport Delivery Plan 2020-2025 

27. GM Transport Strategy 2040- Right Mix Technical Note 

Document Pack Page 652



28A. Transport Locality Assessment- Introductory Note and Assessments- Cross Boundary 
Allocations 

28C. Transport Locality Assessment- Introductory Note and Assessments- Bury 

29. Transport Strategic Modelling Technical Note 

30. Existing Land Supply and Transport Technical Note 

31. GM Outline Business Case to tackle Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside-Strategic Case 

Northern Gateway - Heywood and Pilsworth 

GM1.1 Illustrative Dev Framework Plan, 2020 

GM1.1 - Flood Risk  and Drainage Report, 2020 

GM1.1 - Flood Risk  and Drainage Report, 2020 

GM1.1 Ecological Report, 2020 

GM1.1 Landscape and Visual Analysis Report, 2020 

GM1.1 Archaeology and Heritage Report, 2020 

GM1.1 Geo Environmental Report, 2020 

GM1.1 Noise and Air Quality Report, 2020 

GM1.1 Initial Heritage Appraisal, 2020 

GM1.1 Utilities Statement, 2020 

Northern Gateway - Economic Benefits Summary, 2020 

Rochdale Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, 2020 

Rochdale NG Historic Environment Assessment, 2020 

Northern Gateway – Simister Bowlee 

GM1.2 Illustrative Dev Framework Plan, 2020 

GM1.2 Flood Risk and Drainage Report, 2020 

GM1.2 Ecological Report, 2020 

GM1.2 Landscape and Visual Appraisal Report, 2020 

GM1.2 Archaeology and Heritage Report, 2020 

GM1.2 - Geo Environmental Report, 2020 

GM1.2 Initial Heritage Appraisal, 2020 

GM1.2 Utilities Statement, 2020 

Northern Gateway - Economic Benefits Summary, 2020 

Rochdale Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, 2020 

Rochdale NG Historic Environment Assessment, 2020 

Elton 

Elton Parkland Indicative Masterplan, 2020 

Elton Parkland Agricultural Land Quality, 2019 

Elton Parkland Air Quality Statement, 2019 

Elton Parkland Strategy, 2020 

Document Pack Page 653



Elton Parkland Phase 1 Habitat Survey, 2019 

Elton Parkland Wintering & Breeding Bird Surveys, 2017 

Elton Parkland Results of Desktop Scope & Ecological Surveys, 2019 

Elton Parkland Great Crested Newts Survey, 2017 

Elton Parkland Bat Activity Surveys & Assessment, 2019 

Elton Parkland Water Vole & Otter Survey, 2017 

Elton Parkland Outline Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy, 2019 

Elton Parkland Flood Risk Assessment and Outline Drainage Strategy, 2020 

Elton Parkland Reservoir Flood Study - Impact of Development, 2020 

Elton Parkland Dam Breach & Flood Inundation Report, 2018 

Elton Parkland Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment, 2019 

Elton Parkland Initial Heritage Assessment, 2020 

Elton Parkland Archaeological & Historic Landscape Character Assessment, 2020 

Elton Parkland Noise Screening Assessment, 2019 

Elton Parkland Utility Statement, 2019 

Walshaw 

Walshaw Indicative Masterplan, 2020 

Walshaw Masterplan Drainage Strategy Executive Technical Summary, 2020 

Walshaw Masterplan Drainage Strategy, 2020 

Walshaw Himor Flood Risk Assessment, 2020 

Walshaw Redrow Flood Risk Assessment, 2020 

Walshaw VHW Flood Risk Assessment, 2020 

Walshaw Phase 1 Desk Studies Executive Summary, 2020 

Walshaw Himor Phase 1 Desk Study Report, 2019 

Walshaw Redrow Phase 1 Geo Environmental Site Assessment, 2019 

Walshaw Vernon Phase 1 Desk Study Report, 2019 

Walshaw Heritage Environment Assessment, 2020 

Walshaw Christ Church, 2020 

Walshaw Himor & VHW Landscape and Visual Technical Note, 2017 

Walshaw Redrow Preliminary Landscape and Visual Overview, 2020 

Walshaw Arboriculture Technical Note, 2017 

Walshaw Redrow Tree Survey Report, 2019 

Walshaw Noise Screening Assessment, 2020 

Walshaw Himor Utility Feasibility Report, 2020 

Walshaw Redrow Utilities Report, 2020 

Walshaw VHW Utility Feasibility Report, 2020 

Document Pack Page 654



Walshaw Himor & VHW Ecology Technical Note, 2020 

Walshaw Redrow Preliminary Ecology Appraisal, 2019 

Walshaw Air Quality Assesment, 2019 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 655



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

GM 1.1 - Heywood/Pilsworth 
 

Topic Paper 
 

  October 2020 
 

    

Document Pack Page 657



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

1 
 

 
Contents 

 
 Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 2 

 Site Details ................................................................................................................................ 2 

 Proposed Development ............................................................................................................. 3 

 Site Selection ............................................................................................................................ 3 

 Planning History ........................................................................................................................ 5 

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses ........................................................................................ 5 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment .......................................................................................... 6 

 Transport ................................................................................................................................... 8 

 Flood Risk and Drainage ........................................................................................................... 9 

 Ground Conditions ............................................................................................................... 12 

 Utilities ................................................................................................................................. 14 

 Telecommunications ............................................................................................................ 15 

 Green Belt Assessment ....................................................................................................... 17 

 Green Infrastructure ............................................................................................................. 19 

 Recreation ........................................................................................................................... 19 

 Landscape ........................................................................................................................... 19 

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment ..................................................................................... 20 

 Heritage Impact Assessment ............................................................................................... 23 

 Air Quality ............................................................................................................................ 25 

 Noise ................................................................................................................................... 25 

 Education............................................................................................................................. 26 

 Health Impact Assessment .................................................................................................. 26 

 Viability ................................................................................................................................ 27 

 Phasing ............................................................................................................................... 28 

 Indicative Masterplanning .................................................................................................... 30 

 GMSF 2020 Integrated Assessment .................................................................................... 32 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation ..................................................................... 32 

 Conclusion ........................................................................................................................... 33 

Appendices 

 

Document Pack Page 658



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

2 
 

Section A – Background  
 Introduction 

1.1 The Northern Gateway is an extensive area located around Junction 18 of the M60 
motorway extending east to Junction 19 of the M62 and north to Junction 3 of the M66. It 
comprises two key sites within the wider North-East Growth Corridor:  

 Heywood / Pilsworth (Bury and Rochdale)  

 Simister and Bowlee (Bury and Rochdale)  

1.2 The Northern Gateway straddles the districts of Bury and Rochdale and is positioned at a 
strategically important intersection around the M60, M62 and M66 motorways. As such, it 
represents a highly accessible opportunity for growth in Greater Manchester with wider 
benefits on a regional and national level. The central theme of the spatial strategy for 
Greater Manchester is to deliver inclusive growth across the city region complemented by a 
key aim to boost the competitiveness of the northern parts of Greater Manchester. The 
Northern Gateway is one of the key locations that will help to deliver these fundamental 
objectives. 

1.3 This strategic allocation will enable the delivery of a large, nationally-significant employment 
opportunity to attract high quality business and investment, with a complementary housing 
offer on the M62 corridor, where there is strong evidence of market demand. 

1.4 The allocation at Heywood/Pilsworth provides an opportunity for a substantial and high 
quality employment-led development. The scale and location of this allocation will help to 
rebalance the Greater Manchester economy, ensure the GMSF plays its part in driving 
growth within the north of England and enable Greater Manchester to be competitive both 
nationally and internationally. 

1.5 This Topic Paper brings together a wide range of information and evidence in connection 
with the proposed strategic site allocation at Heywood and Pilsworth (GM1.1). However, it 
should be read in conjunction with the separate Topic Paper relating to the Simister/Bowlee 
allocation (GM1.2). The paper may be subject to further technical amendments in advance 
of the formal commencement of consultation. 

 Site Details 

2.1 GM1.1 lies wholly north of the M62 and extends to approximately 330 hectares. The land is 
situated to the east of Bury and to the south of Heywood. Its southern boundary borders onto 
the M62, its western boundary follows the M66 and eastern boundary straddles Hareshill 
Road. To the north, it borders directly onto Pilsworth Road and Heywood Distribution Park. 
The allocation is approximately: 

 3.2km from Bury Town Centre; 

 3.7km from Heywood Town Centre; 

 4.5km from Whitefield Town Centre; 

 6.4km from Middleton Town Centre; and 

 7.7km from Rochdale Town Centre 

2.2 The allocation currently comprises a number of large agricultural fields, a fishery and a golf 
course. 

Document Pack Page 659



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

3 
 

 

 Proposed Development 

3.1 Development within this allocation seeks to deliver a total of around 1,200,000 sq.m of 
industrial and warehousing space (with around 700,000 sq.m. being delivered within the plan 
period). This will comprise a mix of high quality employment premises in an attractive 
business park setting in order to appeal to a wide range of business sectors, including the 
development of an Advanced Manufacturing Park. Such development will have the potential 
to create up to 17,000 jobs with a further 1,700 jobs created through supply chains and 
employee spending.  

3.2 Around 1,200 new homes will be delivered within the allocation. 1,000 homes, coupled with 
a new primary school, will be located in the eastern part of the allocation (within Rochdale) to 
support early delivery of the infrastructure and provide a planned buffer between existing 
housing and new employment development. A further 200 homes will be created in the west 
of the allocation off Castle Road. An appropriate buffer will be incorporated to separate this 
part of the allocation from the wider employment area and appropriate highways measures 
will be put in place to prevent the use of residential roads by traffic associated with the wider 
employment area. The housing is proposed to include a mix of house types, including 
affordable housing.  

3.3 The design and layout within the allocation will allow for effective integration with 
surrounding communities, including active travel links and connections to local services, 
employment opportunities and over the M62 to proposed new development at 
Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2). High quality, publicly accessible multifunctional green and blue 
infrastructure within the allocation will provide health benefits to workers and residents as 
well as creating a visually attractive environment. 

3.4 Appendix 1 sets out the GM1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth policy wording. 

3.5 The allocation boundary or the area proposed to be released from the Green Belt has not 
been amended from that proposed in the 2019 GMSF. However, land to the southwest and 
south that was proposed to be released (GM1.3 – Whitefield and part of GM1.2 – Simister 
Bowlee) in the 2019 Draft GMSF are now proposed to be retained within the Green Belt. 

 Site Selection  

4.1 The GMSF Site Selection work had the purpose of identifying the most sustainable locations 
for residential and employment development that can achieve the GMSF Vision, Objectives 
and Spatial Strategy. 

4.2 This allocation forms part of the wider Northern Gateway allocation and straddles the 
districts of Bury and Rochdale. The allocation provides the opportunity to deliver a large 
nationally significant employment opportunity to attract high quality business and investment 
with complementary residential development. 

4.3 The allocation is positioned at a strategically important intersection around the M60, M62 
and M66 motorways. As such, it represents a highly accessible opportunity for growth in 
Greater Manchester, with wider benefits on a regional and national level.  

4.4 Due to the current undeveloped nature of the allocation, much of the immediate highway 
network is not of a nature that could accommodate strategic development without an 
appropriate upgrade. Key to delivery of the allocation will therefore be the provision of 
significant improvements to highway infrastructure, delivery of improved public transport 
infrastructure through the allocation (potentially including Bus Rapid Transport corridor) and 

Document Pack Page 660



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

4 
 

close to the allocation (including potential tram-train on the East Lancashire rail line between 
Bury and Rochdale) and the provision of high quality walking and cycling routes.  

4.5 The scale of the development will help to deliver a significant jobs boost to the northern and 
eastern parts of Greater Manchester, increasing the economic output from this area. It will 
also enable new residential and community facilities to come forward in what is currently an 
area with significant pockets of deprivation, low skills and worklessness.   

4.6 The GMSF site selection process considered the entire Northern Gateway allocation when 
considering sites for inclusion in the GMSF. On this basis the Northern Gateway allocation 
was selected for inclusion based on: 

 Criteria 1 (land which has been previously developed and/or land which is served by 
public transport);  

 Criteria 3 (land that can maximise existing opportunities which have significant capacity to 
deliver transformational change and/or boost the competitiveness and connectivity of 
Greater Manchester and genuinely deliver inclusive growth); 

 Criteria 5 (land which would have a direct significant impact on delivering urban 
regeneration); 

 Criteria 6 (land where transport investment (by the developer) and the creation of 
significant new demand (through appropriate development densities), would support the 
delivery of long term viable sustainable travel options and delivers significant wider 
community benefits); 

 Criteria 7 – Land that would deliver significant local benefits by addressing a major local 
problem/issue. 

4.7 Further detail is provided within in the GMSF Site Selection Paper available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/. 

4.8 The Heywood/Pilsworth allocation forms part of the GMSF North East Corridor Policy (GM-
Strat 7) and offers an opportunity to deliver a significant mixed use, housing and 
employment development which is of a transformative scale and significantly change the 
economic growth potential of the wider area. Development could capitalise on the existing 
successful employment locations at Heywood/Pilsworth and further exploit the important 
connection to the M62 corridor. The location of this allocation will make it particularly 
attractive to the logistics and advanced manufacturing sectors. 

4.9 Development could also contribute towards regeneration of adjacent areas of deprivation 
and this would help deliver one the GMSF’s key aims of boosting the competitiveness of the 
northern Greater Manchester Boroughs and supporting long-term economic growth in 
Greater Manchester.  

4.10 Given this, the allocation is relevant to the GMSF objectives of: 

 Objective 1 – Meet our housing need; 

 Objective 3 – Ensure a thriving and productive economy in all parts of Greater 
Manchester; 

 Objective 4 – Maximise the potential arising from our national and international assets; 

 Objective 5 – Reduce inequalities and improve prosperity; 

 Objective 6 – Promote the sustainable movement of people, good and information. 

 

Document Pack Page 661

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

5 
 

 

 Planning History 

5.1 In Bury, planning permission has not been granted for any significant uses within the 
allocation.  

5.2 In Rochdale, planning permission was granted in March 2020 for land within the north 
eastern part of the allocation. The scheme comprised a new link road between Junction 19 
of the M62 and Pilsworth Road, approximately 135,000 sqm of employment floorspace, 1000 
new homes, a new local centre and primary school and associated landscaping and sports 
pitches. This scheme is currently being delivered. 

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses 

 The consultation responses and consultation summary report is available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/. 

 345 comments were received in relation to the GM1.1 Heywood and Pilsworth during the 
consultation on the Revised Draft GMSF in 2019. A summary of the key issues are as 
follows: 

Principle / Scale of development 

 Disproportionate distribution of employment land.  

 Large scale of site is a concern as it has potential to give rise to traffic impacts due to it 
being close to motorways. 

 No need when existing estates in area are below capacity. 

 Economic growth should not be at the expense of the community and the environment.  

 Considerable impact on local agriculture. 

 Pilsworth landfill – include within developable area/unsuitable for development but 
could be a country park/should remain rural. 

 Highly accessible and sustainable location for growth. 

Housing (inc affordable housing) 

 Should be set back from motorways and at high densities. 

 Will be expensive executive homes. Affordable home prices will not be affordable. Must 
provide for elderly. Need terraced homes. 

 Land is available for development. More housing needed closer to the planned jobs. 

Employment and Economy 

 Over-reliance on logistics and warehouses which have low-skilled and low wage jobs, 
needs to attract high technology industries. Will not solve the issue of a lack of suitable 
premises. 

 More detail required on jobs created, investors. 

 Should expand existing under-capacity industrial estates. 

 New jobs should be for local residents.  

 Consider impact of automation and Brexit.  

 Need to promote business growth in town centres.  

Document Pack Page 662

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

6 
 

 Provides significant employment opportunities and new impetus for regeneration. 

Green Belt  

 Release of Green Belt disproportionate in this area of the Borough and compared to 
other districts. 

 Will result in the merging of towns and urban sprawl. 

 Retained Green Belt includes land that is not appropriate such as Pilsworth Quarry. 

Brownfield 

 Must use brownfield land within the urban areas before considering greenfield land. 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment 

7.1 The 2019 GMSF Integrated Assessment (IA) is available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/. 

7.2 The IA reviewed how the draft GMSF policies could impact upon the environment, the 
economy, local communities, equality and public health. The IA also recommended ways in 
which the GMSF can be improved to ensure that the policies are as sustainable as possible. 

7.3 The Northern Gateway draft allocations were considered together against the 2019 
Integrated Assessment objectives. The allocations performed well although a number of 
recommendations were made: 

 Ensure that all three allocations refer to a mix of housing types; 

 Make specific reference to energy efficiency of the housing stock; 

 The policy should also highlight the importance of local employment during construction; 

 Consider feasibility study into requirements and ability of local network to support 
development; 

 Benefits such as creation of construction and operational employment, or improved 
transport links or increases in the range of community facilities, should consider benefits 
to deprived areas. Where possible such benefits should be maximised to help bring about 
long term benefits for deprived areas. 

 The allocation needs to encourage integration with existing communities and provision of 
a range of housing tenures. 

 Ensure any new health provision is accessible to all and that local capacity is considered 
throughout future masterplanning stages; 

 Ensure any new community facilities provision is accessible to all and that local capacity 
is considered throughout future masterplanning stages. 

 Ensure any new recreation provision is accessible to all and that local capacity is 
considered throughout future masterplanning stages. 

 Seek to minimise the number of trips made by private car to/from the site. Consider the 
use of mitigation solutions including green infrastructure, incentivising electric vehicles 
and/or masterplan layout which reduces emissions near sensitive receptors. This is 
especially relevant to buffer around the AQMA adjacent to the site. 

 A suitable flood risk assessment may be required and associated mitigation in order to 
prevent the flood zone expanding. 

Document Pack Page 663

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

7 
 

 Appropriate flood risk mitigation should be implemented (in line with best practice) for all 
developments that are within or near to areas of flood risk. This is especially relevant 
around the areas of flood zone 2 and 3. 

 Make reference to energy efficiency directly and ways that it can be increased, such as 
highlighting the benefits of sustainable modes of transport. 

 Consider the listed structures throughout detailed design to reduce the risk throughout 
construction and operational phases. 

 Consider how development of PDL sites could be encouraged as a result of greenfield 
development (e.g. by incentives or inclusion of adjacent PDL). 

 Promote sustainable construction methods. 

 Consider waste and recycling facilities in design e.g. consider location of waste/recycling 
facilities in design/layout of masterplans, and how waste facilities can be located to 
encourage recycling. 

7.4 It is important to note that the IA was focusing on each policy in isolation from other policies 
and that many of the recommended changes for the Northern Gateway allocation policies 
are already covered in other GMSF policies. However, some wording changes have been 
made as a result of the IA in relation to housing types, electric vehicles, heritage and 
archaeology. 

  

Document Pack Page 664



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

8 
 

Section B – Physical  
 Transport 

8.1 The allocation is positioned at a strategically important intersection around the M60, M62 
and M66 motorways. Due to the current undeveloped nature of the allocation, much of the 
immediate local highway network is currently not of a nature that could accommodate 
strategic development without an appropriate upgrade. Key to the delivery of the allocation 
will be the provision of significant improvements to highway infrastructure, delivery of 
improved public transport infrastructure through the allocation and close to the allocation and 
the provision of high quality and connected walking and cycling routes. 

8.2 The Locality Assessment (https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/) concludes that whilst the allocation is 
expected to give rise to significant levels of traffic demand over both the strategic and the 
local road networks, mitigation schemes have been developed and tested which could be 
expected to address the impacts on both the strategic and local road networks.  

8.3 The following mitigation measures have been identified: 

Mitigation  Description  

Supporting Strategic Interventions  

Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor to 
Manchester city centre 

Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor to Manchester 
city centre and Rochdale via Heywood Old Road/ 
Manchester Road 

Necessary Local Mitigations  

Permeable network for pedestrian and 
cyclist priority to/from/ within the 
development 

Assumed new or upgraded cycle and pedestrian 
access, linked to PROWs and the Bee Network, 
providing connectivity to adjacent local areas and 
employment/educational opportunities, supported 
by high quality design for active travel within the 
allocation area.  

Introduction of local bus services to/from/ 
within the allocation 

Assumed local bus services to link the allocation 
with Metrolink and Rail interchanges and key local 
centres such as Bury, Heywood, Rochdale and 
Middleton, supported by permeable design of future 
development to support bus services within the 
allocation area. 

Moss Hall Road / Pilsworth Road (South) Replace existing three arm priority junction with a 
three arm roundabout.  

New roundabout, including a 56m (inscribed circle 
diameter) with two circulating lanes. 

A6045 Heywood Old Rd / Whittle Lane Additional traffic management measures on Whittle 
Lane. 

Moss Hall Road / Pilsworth Road (North) Replace existing three arm signalised junction with 
a three arm unsignalised roundabout.  

New roundabout will include a 56m (inscribed circle 
diameter) with two circulating lanes and a left turn 
bypass from Pilsworth Road South 

Document Pack Page 665

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

9 
 

Hollins Brow / Hollins Lane Remove mini roundabout arrangement and replace 
with a 3 arm signalised junction. 

Pilsworth Road (Between M66 Link Road 
and “3-Arrows” Junction) 

Upgrading to dual carriageway standard – two 
lanes in each direction with a central reserve. 

SRN Interventions 

M66 Junction 3 / Pilsworth Road Upgrading to a 4-arm grade separated signalised 
configuration including widened slip road 
approaches from the M66 and a 3 lane circulating 
carriageway. 

M62 J19 / A6046 Heywood Interchange Removal of at-grade pedestrian / cycle facilities at 
the SHLR arm and adjacent section of the 
circulating carriageway and replacing them with a 
pedestrian / cycle subway. 

M66 Junction 2 / A58 Addition of a fourth lane to the circulating 
carriageway of the roundabout. 

M66 Link Road Upgrading existing Pilsworth Road between M66 
Junction 3 and Moss Hall Lane to dual carriageway 
- two traffic lanes in each direction, with a central 
reservation & cycle/pedestrian provision. 

8.4 The proposed policy wording for the GM 1.1 Allocation has been informed by the Locality 
Assessment and ensures the allocation will be supported by the appropriate mitigation 
measures.  

8.5 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable, although, in line with good practice 
further work will be needed to substantiate these findings as the allocation moves through 
the planning process. 

 Flood Risk and Drainage 

Flood Risk Summary 

9.1 The majority of the allocation is located within Flood Zone 1 (i.e. land assessed as having a 
lower than 1 in 1000 annual probability of river flooding) and development should be directed 
into these areas, if possible. 

9.2 The EA Main River Map identifies 3 watercourses within the allocation boundary that are 
classified as Main Rivers:   

 Whittle Brook flows from south east to north west within the allocation; 

 Castle Brook flows south to north and has a confluence with Whittle Brook; and 

 Brightley Brook flows from east to west through the north of the allocation. 

9.3 There are areas along the banks of both Whittle Brook and Brightley Brook that are shown 
as Flood Zone 3 (i.e. land with a 1 in 100 annual probability of river flooding occurring). An 
8m easement will be employed either side of watercourses within the allocation, so these 
areas of Flood Zone 3 do not present any restriction to the development. 

9.4 There is an intricate network of overland flows and ponding throughout the allocation. These 
flows are generally of low risk and can be considered as runoff from agricultural land into the 

Document Pack Page 666



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

10 
 

watercourses described above. There is an area at high risk of localised ponding to the west 
of Stock Nook Farm.  

9.5 There is a localised risk of groundwater flooding at and below ground level around Brightley 
Brook, Whittle Brook and Castle Brook and in the south west largely around the area of peat. 
The allocation is at low risk of sewer flooding. 

9.6 Future plans for the development will take into account the overland flow routes, 
groundwater flood risk and potential areas of ponding. This is a large allocation with the 
potential to create significant volumes of runoff if infiltration is not possible. Downstream 
areas at risk and additional volumes of water, even if the runoff rate is controlled, could 
increase scale or duration of flooding downstream. Development within the allocation could 
reduce risk by safeguarding areas for flood storage and enhancement of storage areas to 
reduce flows downstream. 

9.7 Parts of the allocation lie within areas recommended for tree planting and targeted tree 
planting on floodplains, as shown by the Working within Natural Processes (WwNP) dataset. 
There are also numerous areas recommended for riparian tree planting alongside both 
banks of Whittle Brook and other drains within the allocation boundary. These WwNP 
techniques can significantly delay the timing of peak runoff in catchments and can also 
provide obstructions to significant flow paths.  

9.8 The allocation also includes parts of urban and rural loss improvement areas within the Irwell 
Natural Flood Management dataset. Both of these include scenarios where soil structure is 
improved, thereby making the land more permeable and thus increasing the soil moisture 
storage capacity of these areas. In the urban loss parts, this also includes an increase in 
overall greenspace. 

GMSF Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

9.9 The Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (GM Level 1 SFRA) was 
completed in March 2019 as part of the evidence base to inform the preparation of the 
GMSF available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/. This SFRA initiated the sequential risk-based 
approach to the allocation of land for development and identified whether application of the 
Exception Test was likely to be necessary using the most up-to-date information and 
guidance. 

9.10 97% of Heywood/Pilsworth Allocation falls within Flood Zone 1 with the remaining in Flood 
Zones 2 and 3. The GM Level 1 SFRA recommended that the identified flood risk within the 
GM1.1 allocation could be avoided through allocation layout and design as part of a detailed 
flood risk assessment.     

9.11 However GM1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth was included within the GMSF Level 2 SFRA in order 
for broad scale river modelling to cover existing gaps within the baseline information to be 
carried out. This has meant that additional flood risk assessment has been carried out in 
relation to the allocation. 

GMSF Level 2 SFRA 

Level 2 SFRA Conclusions 

 Over 95% of the allocation lies within Flood Zone 1 and development should be directed 
into these areas, if possible.  

 There is additional surface water flood risk across the allocation though locations are 
sporadic and in small pickets when compared to the entirety of the proposed allocation 
allocation.  

Document Pack Page 667

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

11 
 

 This is a large allocation with potential to create significant volumes of runoff if infiltration 
is not possible. Downstream areas at risk and additional volumes of water, even if the 
runoff rate is controlled, could increase scale or duration of flooding downstream. This 
allocation could reduce risk by safeguarding areas for flood storage and enhancement of 
storage areas to reduce flows downstream. The WwNP dataset, discussed above, should 
provide a start for assessing possible areas for storage or tree planting. 

 A drainage strategy would be required to ensure current onsite risk can be managed 
effectively with no increase in surface water flood risk elsewhere as a result of new 
development. This will require surface water modelling based on the proposed layout and 
investigation into appropriate SuDS techniques. Infiltration SuDS may be feasible on parts 
of the allocation, subject to ground investigation and contamination testing. 

 Development should avoid the 8m no development buffer that the EA requires alongside 
watercourses for access and maintenance requirements. 

9.12 Building on the conclusions of the Level 2 SFRA, the site promoters for 
GM1.1Heywood/Pilsworth have prepared a GM1.1 Flood Risk and Drainage High Level 
Constraints Review to assess the risk of flooding in more detail available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ 

9.13 To ensure that flood risk is not increased at the allocation or elsewhere as a result of the 
development, surface water runoff from the development will be restricted to the existing 
greenfield run-off rate of 7.58 l/s/ha. 

9.14 No public surface water sewers have been identified within the allocation, therefore surface 
water run-off will be discharged into the ground through multiple infiltration structures or to 
the watercourses within the allocation at the limiting discharge rates. This will require 
discussion and agreement with the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority. 

9.15 Parts of the allocation have been identified as potentially contaminated e.g., the former 
bleach works. It is considered likely that infiltration of surface water will only be an 
environmentally safe option if remediation has been carried out in advance, to a standard 
specifically to suit infiltration. 

9.16 The Review states that the masterplan for the allocation is being developed with due 
consideration to the existing topography, watercourses and rivers and development plots are 
likely to be located with substantial offsets from these features. This provides the opportunity 
to create green/blue corridors adjacent to the existing watercourses and will not require the 
diversion of any watercourses and culverted works will be kept to a minimum and required 
only where there are highway crossings. 

9.17 The Review states that the proposed drainage system will include a variety of SuDS features 
providing green/blue spaces (such as detention basins and swales). These shall address 
both flooding and water quality issues and be designed to mimic natural drainage features 
within the allocation and provide recreational areas for the public. Alternate SuDS options, 
such as wetlands, provide an opportunity to maximise biodiversity and maximise public open 
space and will be considered. Infiltration may be possible across some of the allocation 
subject to detailed ground investigations on a localised basis. 

9.18 The proposed policy wording for the GM 1.1 Allocation has been informed by the SFRA work 
undertaken and ensures that any development within the allocation is safe from and 
mitigates for potential flood risk from all sources. Policy GM1.1 requires development to 
incorporate sustainable drainage systems to manage surface water and control the rate of 
surface water run-off, discharging in accordance with the hierarchy of drainage options. 
Proposals to discharge to public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why 
alternative options are not available. As a green and blue infrastructure network will provide 

Document Pack Page 668

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

12 
 

more sustainable options discharge surface water, only foul flows should communicate with 
the public sewer. 

9.19 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Ground Conditions 

Site Geology and Hydrogeology 

10.1 The supporting Desk Top Assessment has identified: 

 Made ground – expected where quarries and sand pits have been backfilled and around 
buildings where ground has been disturbed by construction activities.  

 Superficial deposits - Glacial Till overlain by peat deposits in the south west, sand and 
gravel in the centre and north east and morainic deposits (poorly sorted sand, gravel and 
clay) in the north west.  

 Bedrock - predominantly Coal Measures which is near surface in the north east of the 
allocation where there is potential for shallow mineworkings and where five mineshafts 
are indicated on Coal Authority plans.  

10.2 Borehole records are available for eight boreholes in the north west of the allocation, 
eighteen boreholes to the south of Birch Industrial Estate and one at the golf club. At the golf 
club, sandstone bedrock (part of the Coal Measures formation) was encountered at 17.5m 
depth.  The maximum depth of the other boreholes was 12m and they were all terminated in 
the superficial deposits. 

10.3 The superficial deposits and the Coal Measures are Secondary Aquifers. There are no 
Principal Aquifers beneath the allocation. Groundwater was generally encountered in the 
boreholes in the granular superficial deposits.  

Ground Contamination 

10.4 The allocation predominantly comprises agricultural land which is not expected to be 
significantly contaminated.  

10.5 The potential risks from and mitigation for contamination on the allocation are given in the 
table below.  

10.6 Intrusive ground investigation will be undertaken to establish if any contamination is present 
and, if it is, to establish its nature and extent. An initial characterisation investigation will 
enable an outline remediation strategy for the allocation to be developed. More detailed 
investigation, assessment and detailed remediation design can then be undertaken on a 
phase by phase basis as each area of the allocation comes forward for development.  

Table 1 Geo-environmental Aspects and Mitigation 

Area of Potential 
Contamination 

Contamination Risk Potential Mitigation 

Pilsworth Landfill 
adjacent to the north 
of the site. 

Gas and leachate 
migration from the landfill 
on to the site 

Installation of a leachate and/or gas 
collection system along the northern 
boundary of the site. Ground gas 
protection measures may be 
required in new build properties. 

Document Pack Page 669



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

13 
 

Historic area of bleach 
works in the north 
east of the site 

Hydrocarbons, solvents, 
asbestos, galligu 

Remediation of contamination and 
where possible re-use of the end 
material. 

Backfilled quarries / 
pits 

Backfill material unknown. 
May contain 
contamination especially 
asbestos. See also Table 
2 below. 

Assessment of material and 
remediation and, where possible, re-
use of material  

Ground gas Migration from 
mineworkings and 
generation from the peat 

Grouting of mineworkings. Ground 
gas protection measures may be 
required in new build properties. 

Lignite in peat in the 
south west  

Risk of spontaneous 
combustibility 

Placement of lignite at depth if it is 
present near surface or removal off 
site. 

Shallow groundwater Contaminated 
groundwater. See also 
Table 2 below. 

Consideration of contamination if 
shallow groundwater present in 
contaminated parts of the site.  

Geotechnical Summary 

10.7 Geotechnical aspects to consider at the allocation include mining, compressible peat 
deposits, backfilled quarries and pits and groundwater presence. The ground will also need 
to be characterised for cut and fill works and for foundation design. The geotechnical 
aspects are given in the table below along with potential mitigation measures. Intrusive 
investigations will be undertaken to assess these aspects further. Potential geotechnical 
constraints and associated standard mitigation measures have been identified and can be 
incorporated into the design of the scheme at the detailed planning application stage.   

Table 2 Geotechnical Aspects and Mitigation 

Geotechnical Aspect Geotechnical risk Potential mitigation   

Mining and 
mineshafts 

Presence or absence of 
mineworkings is unknown. 
Mineshaft locations need 
to be confirmed. There are 
no treatment records 
which indicates that they 
have not been grouted / 
capped.  

Identify presence or absence of 
workings and mineshafts. Assess 
significance for development and 
treat / grout / cap as required 

Backfilled quarries / 
pits 

Backfill material unknown. 
Risk of unacceptable 
settlements / collapse 
especially if loaded 

Identification and intrusive 
investigation of backfill. 
Geotechnical assessment and re-
engineering of material as 
required.  

Slopes  Existing slopes and new 
slopes – risk of instability / 
slope failures 

Investigation and assessment of 
existing slopes. Reprofiling or 
remediation if required. 
Geotechnical design of new 
slopes / appropriate retaining 
structures 

Document Pack Page 670



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

14 
 

Shallow groundwater Groundwater in 
excavations. Risks of 
instability from 
groundwater ingress.  

Temporary support / pumping 
during works if required.  

10.8 The Assessment has been reviewed by Bury Council Environmental Health department. 
They have recommended the following prior to any planning applications being submitted 
within the allocation: 

 The Desk Top Assessment is reproduced to consider a residential end use for the 
proposed housing development of 200 plots; 

 A Site Investigation proposal. It is recommended that this is exploratory in nature and 
undertaken to support any future planning approvals for this allocation. This will also 
address the contamination issues highlighted in their report; 

 A Site Investigation and Risk Assessment Report; and 

 An Outline Remedial Strategy summarising any potential remedial solutions that will 
provide evidence to demonstrate how any contamination risks can be mitigated. 

10.9 The documents are available at: 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ 

10.9 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Utilities 

11.1 It is not considered that there are any utilities constraints, either current infrastructure or 
identified need, which will prevent the Northern Gateway sites from being allocated for 
development. 

United Utilities  

11.2 United Utilities have provided guidance to pre-development enquires and advised that the 
anticipated point of connection for the allocation will be the nearest practical point on the 
network to the development boundary. This is identified as a 250mm PE point of connection 
located on Pilsworth Road and a 160mm PE point of connection located on Moss Hall Road, 
with a further connection through the approved ‘South Heywood’ development to the north. 
Distribution of water and fire main facility will be routed along the allocation road network 
suitably sized for metered connection to the individual units and residential dwellings.  

11.3 No public foul sewers were identified within the development boundary, therefore foul water 
is likely to need to be pumped to a new or existing point of discharge specified by United 
Utilities, outside of the development boundary. Consultations must be made with United 
Utilities to develop a cost-effective strategy for managing the discharge of foul flows from the 
development.  

11.4 A water main runs through the north western part of the allocation. This will be diverted or 
accommodated in the masterplan.  

Electricity North West 

11.5 Electricity North West in their response to the latest GMSF consultation advised that they 
were confident in being able to meet the network capacity requirements for the investment 

Document Pack Page 671

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

15 
 

and growth in proposed in Greater Manchester. Where necessary they have secured the 
appropriate regulatory allowances within their ‘Well Justified Business Plan.’  

11.6 Electricity North West have carried out assessments on the proposed areas, which fed into 
the ‘Spatial Energy Plan’ document. This is a high level assessment of the expected impact 
of the proposed developments on the electricity network, the information was presented as a 
Red/Amber /Green (RAG) indicator. 

11.7 The Heywood and Pilsworth allocation presented as red which indicted that capacity at the 
primary substation level is likely to be exceeded due to forecast additional load resulting 
from proposed developments.  

11.8 Discussions with ENW have identified a requirement for two new primary 33KV substations 
to serve the development, and a Point of Connection at Castleton BSP. From the new 33KV 
Primary Substations a further network of 11KV substations will be provided that distribute 
demand across the allocation. There are optional connection points via the approved ‘South 
Heywood’ scheme which could serve an early phase of the development of the GM 1.1 
allocation.  

Gas - National Grid Infrastructure  

11.9 Cadent Gas have confirmed that the current mains have sufficient capacity to support the 
load required for the development without any reinforcement works. The development can 
be connected to the existing Intermediate Pressure main located at the western allocation 
boundary. There is another Medium Pressure connection available local to the northern part 
of the allocation. 

11.10 A localised high-pressure gas main runs through the northern part of the allocation and then 
runs north-west to south-east across the allocation south of Whittle Brook. The main and 
associated easements can be accommodated into the design of the development, providing 
an opportunity for a green landscaping corridor. 

 Telecommunications  

Existing BT Infrastructure   

12.1 The scheme already tabled and being implemented through the permitted South Heywood 
Development scheme to provide BT Openreach communication network coverage is being 
developed to facilitate the Northern Gateway Proposals to both the Northern and Southern 
areas of the allocation. BT Openreach are presently developing their network layout and will 
be installing high speed data & fibre networks throughout the development. 

Existing Virgin Media Infrastructure  

12.2 The scheme already tabled and being implemented through the permitted South Heywood 
Development scheme to provide Virgin Media communication network coverage will be 
developed to facilitate the Northern Gateway Proposals to both the Northern and Southern 
areas of the allocation. Virgin Media are presently developing their network layout for this 
area and will be a suitable alternative network provider.  

12.3 It should be noted that spare underground ductwork network facilities are being provided to 
enable alternative network providers to invest into the allocation. 

12.4 The proposed policy wording for the GM 1.1 Allocation has been informed by the ground 
conditions and utilities assessments undertaken to date and summarised above. The policy 
requires a phasing strategy relating to the area to come forward in the plan period which 
should include the delivery of highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey 

Document Pack Page 672



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

16 
 

infrastructure including utilities provision, green and blue infrastructure, broadband and 
electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision and social infrastructure and ensure 
coordination between phases of development. 

Document Pack Page 673



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

17 
 

Section C – Environmental 
 Green Belt Assessment 

13.1 The proposed removal of Green Belt in conjunction with the Heywood/Pilsworth Allocation 
has been informed by several studies undertaken by LUC available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/. 

 The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016  

 Green Belt Harm Assessment, 2020; 

 Greater Manchester Green Belt Study – Identification of Opportunities, 2020 

13.2 The proposed allocation would remove 330 hectares of land from the Green Belt. 

13.3 In 2016 GMCA commissioned LUC to undertake an assessment of the Green Belt within 
GM. The Study assessed the extent to which the land within the GM Green Belt performs 
against the purposes of Green Belts, as set out in paragraph 80 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). The aim of this Green Belt Assessment is to provide the GM 
Authorities with an objective, evidence-based and independent assessment of how GM’s 
Green Belt contributes to the five purposes of Green Belt, as set out in national policy. It also 
examines the case for including within the Green Belt potential additional areas of land that 
currently lie outside it. 

13.4 In The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016 Heywood/Pilsworth was included 
within Strategic Green Belt Area 15. There were 4 different purposes of Green Belt that each 
Area was assessed against and the Area performs as follows: 

 Purpose 1: To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas: Strong 

 Purpose 2: To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another: Strong 

 Purpose 3: To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment: Weak-
Moderate 

 Purpose 4: Preserving the setting and special character of historic towns: Weak-
Moderate 

13.5 The summary of findings for Bury in this report stated that most parcels close to 
Heywood/Pilsworth, east of M66 make a moderate- strong contribution to checking the 
unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas. Parcels between Bury and Middleton play a 
moderate role in relation to assisting in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.  

13.6 In 2019 LUC carried out an assessment identifying the potential opportunities to enhance the 
beneficial use of remaining Green Belt within 2 km of the allocation site. The study 
considered the opportunities to offset the loss of Green Belt through compensatory 
improvements to the environmental quality and accessibility of the remaining Green Belt 
land.  

13.7 Land lying within 2 km of GM 1.1, Heywood / Pilsworth formed the focus of Green 
Infrastructure (GI) recommendations / mitigation to enhance the ‘beneficial use’ of the Green 
Belt for the Northern Gateway as a whole. There are two proposed additions to the Green 
Belt west of this GM sub-Allocation at Hollins Brook and Hollins Brow. 

13.8 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt relevant to the Northern Gateway Allocations 
identified in the assessment include: 

Document Pack Page 674

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

18 
 

 Upgrade the public footpath along Brightly Brook to a multi user route. 

 Create a new pedestrian footpath in the Green Belt north east of Heywood/Pilsworth to 
create a local level walk at the settlement edge. 

 Upgrade surfacing treatments and access points along the Rochdale Way. 

 Upgrade surface treatments to create all weather routes. 

 Enhance pedestrian and vehicle links to football pitches in Heaton Park to increase 
usability. 

 Introduce enhancements to local sporting facilities within the retained Green Belt.  

 Enhance sport and recreational provision at Heaton Park.  

 Introduce interventions which complement the proposals included within the planning 
application for development off J19 of the M62 (Planning application16/01399/HYBR).  

 Restore ditches and field boundaries within the landscape.  

 Review the conservation and management of areas which form part of SBIs and LNRs to 
ensure improvement of the key aspects of their designation. Connect the SBIs of Hollins 
Vale, Hollins Plantation and Pilsworth across the M66.  

 Enhance waterways to ensure the management of invasive species and surrounding 
vegetation.  

 Support woodland management practices to maintain longevity of broadleaved woodland 
stock.  

 Improve the biodiversity value of agricultural land around Birch Service Area, providing 
additional habitat creation. Landscape and visual. 

 Create new green wedges and green buffers to prevent settlement coalescence.  

 Establish planting buffers for increased landscape integration at Heywood Distribution 
Park.  

 Provide additional woodland planting and the reinstatement of field boundaries parallel 
the corridor of the M62. 

13.9 Some of these opportunities have been included within the policy requirements for the 
allocation, for others it is more appropriate for them to form part of the overall masterplan or 
subsequent planning applications. 

13.10 In conjunction with the assessment of GI opportunities within the Green Belt, LUC carried 
out an assessment to identify potential harm to the Green Belt through The Green Belt Harm 
Assessment. The Assessment shows that release of the land in the west of the allocation 
from the Green Belt would be the most harmful as it has less urbanising containment and a 
greater distinction from the urban edge. The assessment shows that release of Green Belt in 
the east of the allocation would have lower harm, as it is more contained by and has less 
distinction from the urban edge. 

13.11 Evidence on Green Belt is only one part of the evidence base that influence any decision on 
green belt release. Consequently where studies have found that high harm is to be caused 
by release of the Green Belt, this finding should be balanced against other important factors 
that could make up exceptional circumstances such as sustainability, viability and 
deliverability.  

13.12 The Heywood/Pilsworth allocation is deemed necessary to deliver a key strategic 
employment and housing opportunity with supporting transport infrastructure. The allocation 

Document Pack Page 675



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

19 
 

is critical in responding to the spatial strategy in the GMSF and its key themes of ‘Inclusive 
Growth’, ‘Making the Most of Key Locations and Assets’ and ‘Addressing Disparities’ It also 
directly addresses the aspirations set by Policy GM – P 1 ‘Supporting Long-Term Economic 
Growth’, Policy GM –E 1 ‘Sustainable Places’, Policy GM – H1 ‘Scale, Distribution and 
Phasing of New Housing Development’ and Policy GM – N1 ‘Our Integrated Network’.  

13.13 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt study discussed earlier are not exhaustive 
and will require consultation with key stakeholders and may require further surveys and 
viability testing to establish costings. However the enhancement opportunities nonetheless 
demonstrate that opportunities exist to help offset the loss of Green Belt which will have a 
potential positive effect on the beneficial use of the Greater Manchester Green Belt moving 
forward. 

13.14 The final masterplan for the allocation will be required to use the findings from all the 
assessments on Green Belt in the area to inform the layout and form development across 
the allocation.  

 Green Infrastructure 

14.1 The emerging Masterplan for GM1.1 includes a substantial green/blue infrastructure network 
providing a range of opportunities for movement, recreation, biodiversity as well as 
sustainable drainage. 

14.2 It is intended that the development will ultimately achieve net gains in biodiversity and 
central to the development will be a substantial green corridor along Whittle Brook 
connecting to Pilsworth Reservoir to the north and other existing ecological networks off-site. 
The allocation also presents the opportunity to explore the potential to utilise and enhance 
the biodiversity value of the former landfill sites at Pilsworth North and South themselves. 

14.3 Key features such as trees, hedgerows and water features will be retained and enhanced 
where possible and site constraints, such as the underground high pressure gas main, will 
be used positively to create new green corridors. 

 Recreation 

15.1 New play areas and sports facilities will be required to support the delivery of housing at 
Heywood/Pilsworth in line with Bury and Rochdale’s Local Plan requirements. 

15.2 The consented South Heywood scheme will deliver a range of informal and formal recreation 
facilities including the provision of sports pitches next to the new local centre. Recreation 
facilities will also be provided to serve the residential development off Castle Road. 

15.3 Opportunities for recreation will also be considered in relation to the delivery of employment 
and other uses on the balance of the allocation, as key to ensuring an attractive business 
location. These will include a range of recreation activities along green corridors that connect 
across the allocation such as walking/cycling routes, fitness trails, ‘outdoor gyms’ and open 
spaces for more informal leisure and recreation. 

15.4 Good public transport and cycling/walking links will integrate GM1.1 with surrounding 
communities allowing access to existing nearby sports and recreation facilities. 

 Landscape  

16.1 GM1.1 lies within the National Character Area 54, Manchester Pennine Fringe, occupying 
the transition zone between open moorlands of the Peaks and the Southern Pennines. The 
M62 motorway runs east to west and is the dominant feature in the landscape. The land 

Document Pack Page 676



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

20 
 

scape is mostly farming, characterised by large open fields bounded by broken hedgerows 
and field trees. There are woodland blocks, mainly located along the Whittle Brook river 
corridor. 

16.2 There are several areas which are designated as having Tree Preservation Orders, with 
such flora contributing to local character and interest to the area.  

16.3 GM1.1 is surrounded by more densely populated areas located within lower ground, with 
ground starting to rise towards the north of the allocation. The allocation rises to the east 
towards Heywood and falls along the river corridors of Whittle Brook and Castle Brook. 

Landscape Opportunities 

16.4 The following opportunities have been identified to inform the evolving masterplan process, 
and ensure the development can be incorporated successfully into the local landscape:  

 The u-shaped valleys of the brooks and associated vegetation form pleasant 
characteristic features in the landscape. Enhancing these natural features so they 
become part of the blue and green infrastructure strategy for the allocation. 

 The zone of visibility of any proposed development. 

 Retention of longer distance views out of the allocation to maintain the connection of the 
allocation to the wider landscape. 

 The setting of residential buildings within the allocation and the views available to the 
residents of these properties will be considered within any design evolution. 

 Mature trees, hedgerows and woodland blocks. Where possible these will be retained and 
enhanced to create a mature green landscape framework. 

 Tree planting along the motorway corridors. This would serve a double purpose of 
enhancing landscape and visual amenity and enhancing wildlife corridors. 

 A management plan to show how green and blue infrastructure and nature conservation 
assets will be managed to provide health benefits to workers and residents as well as 
creating a visually attractive environment. 

 Although current PRoWs appear to be underused in places, retaining established links 
where possible and creating appropriate new high quality walking and cycling links will be 
considered to create a connective landscape linking to the wider area.  

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment 

17.1 There are no designated Natura 2000 (European designated) sites within the allocation or 
within 2km of the allocation boundary. 

17.2 There are no nationally designated sites within the alllocation or within 2km of the allocation 
boundary. 

17.3 There are two Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) within a 2km radius of the allocation boundary. 
Hopwood woodlands LNR, 1.7km east and Hollins Vale LNR, 0.1km west. 

17.4 There are ten Sites of Biological Interest (SBI) within a 2km radius of the allocation 
boundary. There is one SBI, Pilsworth, which is adjacent to the northern boundary of the 
allocation. 

17.5 The re are no ecological constraints which would prevent the allocation of the allocation. 

Document Pack Page 677



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

21 
 

Habitats 

17.6 Key habitats include: 

 Watercourses and ponds. 

 Grassland 

 Woodland and trees. 

 Hedgerows 

17.7 More detailed site-specific surveys, including a full extended Phase 1 Habitat survey for 
each area, will be undertaken as plans progress and this will enable detailed 
characterisation of habitats represented throughout the allocation. 

Protected and Notable Species 

17.8 Protected and notable species which are or may be present at the allocation include: 

 Great crested newt 

 Reptiles 

 Brown Hare 

 Bats 

 Badger 

 Otter 

 Water vole 

 Birds 

 Invertebrates 

 And other notable species including common toad and hedgehog. 

17.9 The potential presence of these species has been considered through information derived 
from the desk study, data search and walkover survey.  Species-specific surveys will be 
carried out as plans progress.  

Biodiversity Net Gain 

17.10 The GM1.1 Allocation policy sets out that net gain will be expected. The prospective 
developer’s ecology report states that ecological mitigation for the development cannot be 
wholly achieved on site so opportunities for off-site mitigation will have to be sought. 

17.11  At Northern Gateway, opportunities for Biodiversity Net Gain should focus on enhancing the 
areas with existing and potential value.  

17.12 The habitats of most value within the allocation are the ponds, watercourse corridors, 
broadleaved woodland and species-rich grassland. Habitats could be enhanced to improve 
value where suitable and appropriate so that a lower value habitat could become a higher 
value habitat. 

17.13 Site-specific opportunities have been identified by the prospective developer’s ecologist 
which could promote and enhance biodiversity, maintain wildlife corridors within the site and 
enhance connectivity with the wider landscape. These will be incorporated into the final 
masterplan for the site and involve: 

Document Pack Page 678



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

22 
 

 Enhancing and extending the woodland along the north of the site by: 

- planting native trees and shrubs of local provenance; 

- creating a buffer along the northern edge with rough or marshy grassland. This 
northern edge of the site backs onto the restored habitats of Pilsworth South Landfill 
site, which are further connected to the wider landscape to the north by a series of 
linked woodland, grassland and scrub habitats.  

 Enhancing the Whittle Brook and associated riparian habitats of high ecological value by: 

- Native woodland and shrub planting along the corridor, as well as within woodland 
areas which lead off the corridor; 

- Retaining and enhancing the area of good quality semi-improved grassland with the 
aim of increasing its coverage to connect existing waterbodies to the riparian habitat.  

- The creation of a large area of rough grassland to lead from the riparian habitat 
northwards. This would link known areas of barn owl presence, using high value 
hunting habitat, to the riparian habitat, a source of further hunting as well as 
nesting/roosting.  

- Creating of a buffer zone along either side of the riparian corridor and species-rich 
grassland, marshy grassland or rough grassland established.  

 Developing a management plan for the allocation to provide and enhance wildlife habitats 
where opportunities arise. This could include:  

- Enhancing areas of grassland to create native wildflower meadows.  

- Enhancing woodland areas.  

- Ponds on site to be retained and enhanced where possible 

- Strips of rough grassland with appropriate management incorporated to provide 
hunting habitat for bird species such as barn owl.  

- Bird and bat boxes of varying specification for different species to be incorporated 
into buildings and landscaping.  

17.14 Documents available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ 

17.15 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

Habitat Regulation Assessment 

17.16 A Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) (available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/) is required for the GMSF 
because it is considered to have the potential to cause harm to the special nature 
conservation interest of European Protected Sites. The HRA made an appropriate 
assessment of the implications of the GMSF in view of conservation objectives. 

17.17 The Northern Gateway allocations were considered together within the HRA. The 
assessment concluded that although more than 10km from the South Pennine Moors and 
separated from it by the significant built development the allocation had the potential to 
cause increases in diffuse air pollution because of traffic generation along the M62 and 
recreational impacts from population uplift. 

Document Pack Page 679

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

23 
 

17.18 The Assessment recommended that each phase of development must be individually 
assessed once detailed plans are available particularly in relation to air pollution impacts, 
with cumulative (in combination) effects taken into account. 

 Heritage Impact Assessment 

Designated Sites 

18.1 The GMSF Historic Environment Assessment Screening Exercise (June 2019) concluded 
that further assessment of the historic environment was required given the number of 
designated sites within and outside the allocation (https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/) 

18.2 There are no World Heritage Sites, Scheduled Monuments, Registered Battlefields or 
Protected Wrecks within the allocation or within the 1km study area. There two Grade II 
Listed Buildings within the allocation boundary. 

 Brick Farmhouse is a presumed 17th century brick 2-storey building, with front rendering 
and 20th century renovation. It is thought to be the oldest brick-built farmhouse in the area.  

 Lower Whittle Farmhouse dates from the 17th century and is a timber-framed structure 
with substantial 18th century rebuilding of parts and 19th century renovations, resulting in 
rendered masonry walls.  

18.3 The Listed Buildings within the allocation will be incorporated into the future development to 
preserve the heritage of the area. 

Areas of Potential Interest 

Meadow Croft Fold 

18.4 The archaeological assessment to date of the site of Meadow Croft Fold indicates that it may 
be the site of a deserted medieval settlement and iron smelting works. Records also indicate 
cropmarks of field systems, ridge and furrow, possible house platforms etc., discovered by 
aerial photography and field walking within the surrounding immediate fields of the 
Farmhouse. The Farmhouse itself was extensively fire damaged during the summer of 2019 
especially the central part of the building. 

18.5 The site has the potential to be Scheduled as a nationally important archaeological site, and 
as such given protection against unauthorised change. This would mean that development 
would not be possible within the designated area of Meadow Croft Fold.  

18.6 However, a programme of archaeological works to better understand the nature, extent and 
significance of the area of Meadow Croft Fold is being developed with GMAAS to inform 
decisions about whether it might be designated. This includes geophysical survey, 
fieldwalking and the potential for targeted archaeological evaluation excavation. 

18.7 Informed by this further work, the Masterplan for the allocation will be designed to take into 
account the potential asset at Meadow Croft Fold.   

Whittle Brook (Iron Smelting Site) 

18.8 A site adjacent to Whittle Brook is suggested as an iron smelting site as a result of 
archaeological investigations in 1984. Whilst not conclusive in proving that a bloomery (a 
type of furnace for smelting iron) existed here, it is suggested that there is good potential for 
such a site.  

Document Pack Page 680

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

24 
 

18.9 The site has local to regional significance, but is not currently considered to be of sufficient 
significance to Schedule. Archaeological mitigation for this asset could be a geophysical 
survey to potentially obtain the extent of the iron smelting site, later leading onto targeted 
archaeological evaluation prior to any development within or close to the area of the Whittle 
Brook Iron Smelting Site 

Unsworth Moss  

18.10 Preserved organic palaeoenvironmental remains may be present at Unsworth Moss due to 
the areas of peat. A watching brief undertaken during the 1990’s at Back o’ th’ Moss Farm, to 
the north of Unsworth Moss, revealed no sites of archaeological interest.  

18.11 In advance of development in this area, archaeological mitigation for this asset would be 
expected to be in the form of palaeoenvironmental sampling, to potentially establish the 
extent of the organic palaeoenvironmental remains and potentially any archaeological 
remains of prehistoric settlement sites that may have been preserved within the peat 
deposits. This could later lead onto targeted archaeological evaluation.  

Castle Brook 

18.12 The earthworks at Castle Brook Farm in the western part of the allocation may be indicative 
of a prehistoric camp with the feature situated on a well-drained spur above Castle Brook. A 
vaguely oval cropmark with turns defined by differential growth appears to surround the 
earthworks. In addition, a sub-circular feature defined by a dark cropmark, thought to be a 
possible backfilled pond, may relate to these earthworks.  

18.13 In advance of development within this area, archaeological mitigation for this asset could be 
a geophysical survey to determine the extent, character and significance of the remains. Any 
further mitigation works would be dependent on the result of archaeological mitigation.  

Historic Hedgerows 

18.14  Consultation with the Greater Manchester Archaeology Advisory Service, alongside the 
review of historic mapping and the site walkover, indicates a potential requirement for a 
Historic Hedgerow survey. A Historic Hedgerow survey would be undertaken into inform the 
masterplan as part of the wider assessment strategy. . 

Summary  

18.15 The Promoters have been engaging closely with GMAAS regarding the proposed 
development of the allocation. A programme of further works to inform next steps and future 
masterplans has been agreed with GMAAS in the form of a Written Scheme of Investigation 
to govern an Archaeological Strategy for the allocation. The purpose of the Archaeological 
Strategy will be to identify and characterise areas of heritage potential across GM1.1 and 
GM1.2 and to support the developing masterplan for the Northern Gateway allocation, 
through the assessment of archaeological potential and development of tools to ensure the 
development responds appropriately to the potential effects of development on the historic 
environment.   

18.16 The proposed policy wording for the GM 1.1 Allocation has been informed by the 
archaeological work undertaken and ensures appropriate evaluation of the heritage assets 
within the allocation will be undertaken to ensure the protection of these assets in the 
development proposals.  

18.17 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

Document Pack Page 681



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

25 
 

 Air Quality 

19.1 Future development traffic has the potential to increase pollutant levels in this area and 
affect levels within the Air Quality Management Area which is along the M62 and M66 
motorways. It is expected that a Detailed Air Quality Assessment (DAQA) will be required at 
a future planning application stage. It is anticipated that the provision of the best practice air 
mitigation measures will be sufficient to mitigate any predicted reductions in air quality. 

19.2 The DAQA will be required to include Construction Phase and Mitigation Measures Report 
and a proposal for the DAQA will need to be approved prior to the planning application 
stage. 

19.3 Any stand-off from the motorways required due to noise constraints for residential elements 
of the scheme is likely to be sufficient as a form of mitigation for Air Quality for any future 
occupiers of dwellings. Any air quality risks associated with the commercial aspect of the 
development are not anticipated. However, where possible, design phase mitigation will be 
considered at future planning stage.   

19.4 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Noise 

20.1 There are a limited number of noise sensitive receptors within and around the allocation. 
Existing high levels of noise are anticipated at some identified receptor locations, most 
exposed to the motorway network, with lower levels of noise anticipated at locations further 
into the allocation.  

20.2 The incorporation of key design measures will protect both existing and future occupiers and 
neighbours of the allocation from adverse noise impacts. Measures may include: 

 Separation distance between ‘noisy’ employment uses and residential properties. 

 Orientating service yards / access routes away from the properties;  

 Use of localised screening in the form of bunds or fences;  

 Incorporation of a stand-off distance from the motorway, for the proposed residential 
dwellings 

 Orientation of residential dwellings to provide screening from noise sources. 

20.3 Opportunities to improve the environment with respect to noise and air quality include: 

 Positioning sources of emissions, e.g. spine roads, away from sensitive receptors where 
feasible.    

 Provision of green and blue infrastructure network to provide health benefits to workers 
and residents as well as creating a visually attractive environment which provides 
opportunity for amenity space in a more tranquil environment.  

 Electric Vehicle charging points across the scheme.  

 A travel plan which sets out measures to encourage sustainable means of transport 
(public, cycling and walking) via subsidised or free-ticketing, improved links to bus stops, 
improved infrastructure and layouts to improve accessibility and safety.  

20.4 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

Document Pack Page 682



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

26 
 

Section D – Social 
 Education 

 This Heywood and Pilsworth allocation is predominantly for employment use. However, 
1,200 homes (1,000 in Rochdale and 200 in Bury) are planned within the allocation. This 
would result in a total yield of 252 primary age pupils, and 168 secondary age pupils.  

 Since this is area largely undeveloped, there is no existing primary school provision and 
therefore a new 1/1.5fe primary school would be required, located within the allocation. The 
approved South Heywood development will provide for a new primary school. 

 Secondary school provision in the area is at full capacity with existing intakes forecast to 
increase. Therefore additional demand pressures would need to be met through increased 
capacity which will need to be considered more strategically, potentially linked to other 
proposed developments across Bury and Rochdale. 

 Health Impact Assessment 

 Further work will be required to determine whether there is additional capacity within any 
local healthcare facilities to meet the increased demands arising from the prospective 
occupants of the new development. If additional provision is necessary, the most appropriate 
means and location for such provision can be identified through future iterations of the 
masterplan. Alternatively, there may be a requirement to make a financial contribution 
toward off site health provision through a planning obligation or condition at the planning 
application stage.  

 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 

Document Pack Page 683



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

27 
 

Section E – Deliverability 
 Viability 

23.1 The Three Dragons viability appraisal has tested this allocation as two parts: the strategic 
employment site of up to 1.2m sq.m. employment floorspace and the residential site of 200 
units at Castle Road. The parts of the allocation with planning permission (1,000 homes and 
a proportion of the 1.2m sq.m. employment floorspace within Rochdale) have not been 
tested within this assessment. 

23.2 The base model appraisal is based on the floorspace without planning permission 
anticipated to come forward within the plan period (circa 700,000 sq.m. employment 
floorspace, plus 200 residential units at Castle Road).  

23.3 The sensitivity test includes all of the proposed development yet to receive planning 
permission, including the employment development that will come forward beyond the end of 
the plan period. 

Test 
Type 

Scheme 
type 

Total BMLV, 
SDLT & Land 

acq fees 

Scheme RV 
(incl BLV & 

return) 

Viability 
measure as 
a % of BLV 

Headroom 
(blended 
return) 

Test result 
category 

Whether the 
test is the 
‘Base’ test 
or a 
sensitivity 
test 

Housing, 
employme
nt or 
mixed 

The total figure 
used in the testing 
for land value, 
includes tax and 
fees. 

 

BLV = benchmark 
land value 

 

SDLT = Stamp 
duty land tax 

Scheme value 
(could also be 
described as 
headroom) once 
all costs have 
been accounted 
for including land 
and developer 
return 

 

RV = Residual 
value 

 

BLV = 
benchmark land 
value 

 

Description of 
whether the 
scheme 
provides 
sufficient 
residual value in 
terms of how it 
compares with 
the benchmark 
land value i.e. if 
it is 10% or 
more above the 
benchmark land 
value it is shown 
as green, if it is 
within 10% of 
the benchmark 
land value it is 
shown as amber 
and where it is 
less than 90% 
of the 
benchmark land 
value it is shown 
as red. 

The 
headroom 
expressed as 
blended rate 
of return. The 
percentages 
shown are the 
headroom 
available after 
all costs, 
except 
developer 
return divided 
by the total 
gross 
development 
value for the 
scheme. If 
schemes were 
to go ahead 
as described, 
then this is the 
total return 
available to 
the developer. 

Category 2 - The 
residual value is 
positive and the 
residual value is 
above the 
benchmark by 0% to 
10%. Schemes in 
this group are viable 
and should be able 
to proceed but are 
more marginal and 
should be monitored 
for any early signs of 
significant change. 
Category 4 - These 
schemes are 
generally not viable 
with the measures 
used in this study 
and will likely require 
public sector support 
to be developed.  

Base 
model 

Emp. £63,370,000 
-£16,440,000 

Less than 
90% BLV 

7% Cat 4 
Housing £2,080,000 

Sensitivity 
test – inc. 
dev. 
beyond 
the plan 
period 

Emp. £106,840,000 

£7,760,000 
Within 10% 

BLV 
14% Cat 2 

Housing £2,080,000 

23.4 The appraisal shows that the amount of development expected to come forward on the 
allocation within the plan period would result is a residual value of less than 90% of the 
benchmark land value, after all costs including the full strategic transport costs have been 
included. The impact of the strategic transport costs is set out in the table below: 

 

Document Pack Page 684



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

28 
 

 

 

Scheme 
Type 

Base / 
sensitivity 

test 

Scheme RV 
incl land 

costs 

Scheme RV 
(less return) 

Strategic 
transport 

costs 

Out-turn scheme 
RV 

Whether site is 
predominantly 
housing, 
employment or 
mixed  

Whether the 
test is the 
‘Base’ test or a 
sensitivity  

This is the residual 
value, including 
the land purchase 
and associated 
costs  

This is as 
column 3 but is 
less the 
developer return 
(profit) in line 
with NPPG. 

This is the 
strategic 
transport cost 
provided by 
TfGM  

This is column 4 less the 
strategic transport cost. 
Could also be described 
as headroom, and is the 
scheme value once all 
costs have been 
accounted for including 
land and developer 
return. 

Employment Base £81,284,000 

£59,990,000 £76,430,000 -£16,440,000 

Housing Base £17,283,000 

Employment 

Sensitivity – 
include 
development 
post 2037 

£126m 

£84,190,000 £76,430,000 £7,760,000 

Housing 
Sensitivity 
(no change) 

£17,283,431 

23.5 GM1.1 is a very large-scale employment allocation that is well located for the motorway 
network and should be able to attract good values for serviced land parcels. The underlying 
viability of providing serviced land is strong, with the ability to provide a contribution to the 
wider GM 1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth scheme transport costs. The testing for the combined 
allocation of GM1.1 (employment plus housing at Castle Road) shows a positive residual 
land value of £98.6m which falls to £59.99m once developer and contractor returns have 
been accounted. However, this residual value is not sufficient to accommodate the strategic 
transport costs of £76.4m and, when these costs are included, there is a shortfall of just 
under £16.5m. 

23.6 The sensitivity test shows that if the whole allocation is considered the allocation would be 
viable, but this is reliant on transports costs remaining at the same level which may not be 
realistic. This allocation is a strategically important employment opportunity, both regionally 
and nationally. Whilst there will be a shortfall in relation to the development funding the full 
infrastructure requirements, due to the opportunity it presents to deliver a large, nationally 
significant employment led development, contributing to driving growth within the north of 
England, this allocation is likely to secure funding from other sources to support its delivery. 

 Phasing 

24.1 The Northern Gateway presents the opportunity to deliver transformative change in this part 
of Bury and Rochdale. Delivering growth of this scale will require a careful approach to 
phasing to ensure that as development comes forward, it follows the established place 
making principles for the allocation and is supported by the required infrastructure.  

24.2 The policy wording for GM 1.1 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be approved by the 
LPA for the allocation, which any proposals must then be in accordance with. The policy 
states that this shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an integrated approach to the 
delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development. This should include 
the delivery of highways, infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure, green 

Document Pack Page 685



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

29 
 

and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision 
and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between phases of development.  

24.3 A phasing strategy is being developed through on-going discussions with key stakeholders 
in relation to highways, utilities infrastructure, land availability, as well as technical work into 
how the earthworks and drainage strategy for the allocation can be delivered. The estimated 
phasing and delivery trajectory for the allocation will evolve as the plans for the allocation are 
developed further.  

24.4 The first phase of the GM 1.1 allocation is already being brought forward under the approved 
South Heywood development scheme. This includes improvements to Junction 19 of the 
M62 and the delivery of a new link road creating an improved connection between Junction 
19 of the M62 and Pilsworth Road and on to Junction 3 of the M66. The South Heywood 
development will realise improvements in local infrastructure – specifically in regards to 
highways and utilities - unlocking sufficient capacity to deliver an early, second phase of the 
wider GM 1.1 allocation. This second phase can therefore be brought forward in advance of 
any significant additional infrastructure improvements. These phases will be located in 
proximity to the 2 key existing access points, being Junction 19 of the M62 and Junction 3 of 
the M66 before development occurs on the remainder of the allocation. The exact extent of 
the phasing will be determined by the nature of any end users, both in terms of size of units 
and also requirements, i.e. likely peak hour highways trips for example. It is also anticipated 
that the 200 dwellings proposed off Castle Road will be able to come forward as a separate 
stand-alone phase without requiring major infrastructure works.  

24.5 Further into the plan period, the phasing of the development will be influenced largely by 
market demand for specific unit types and sizes, and will be brought forward alongside 
strategic infrastructure upgrades including the blue/green infrastructure networks across the 
allocation. Given the scale of the development, it is anticipated that approximately 365,000 
sqm of the total employment floorspace will be delivered beyond the plan period phase. This 
will be in the southern-most part of the allocation, adjacent to the M62.  

Document Pack Page 686



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

30 
 

Heywood/Pilsworth – Proposed Phasing 

 

 Indicative Masterplanning 

25.1 The Site Promoters for the Heywood/Pilsworth Allocation have produced an Illustrative 
Development Framework Plan to show how proposed development could come forward 
within the allocation. This provides an indicative layout of the development, including the 
location of the employment and residential parcels, green infrastructure, local centre and key 
pedestrian and vehicular access. The illustrative plan also shows an area of land proposed 
as safeguarded land for motorway improvements.  

25.2 Policy GM1.1 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be submitted prior to any planning 
applications within the allocation. The masterplan must include a clear phasing strategy as 
part of an integrated approach to the delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the 
whole development in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure Delivery. This should include the 
delivery of highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure including 
utilities provision, green and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging 
points, recreation provision and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between 
phases of development. 

  

Document Pack Page 687



D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 688



Section F – Conclusion 

  GMSF 2020 Integrated Assessment 

26.1 An Integrated Appraisal (IA) was undertaken on the 2020 draft GMSF in order to understand 
how the policy had changed since the 2019 IA and to identify if any further 
enhancement/mitigation was required. 

26.2 The majority of the 2019 recommendations for the GM1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth were positively 
addressed by the policy itself or another thematic policy. A small number of residual 
recommendations remained from the 2020 IA, in order to further strengthen the policies. 

26.3 In particular this included: 

 Climate Change – since the 2019 IA was undertaken there has been greater emphasis on 
the climate change agenda and this is reflective of the declaration of a climate emergency 
by the ten GM authorities; 

 Accessible design standards – whilst this is broadly covered in Policy GM-E1 and within 
GM-H3 relating to housing, it was suggested that policies are strengthened with more 
specific reference to accessible design of buildings and spaces to meet the needs of 
users. This could be achieved through strengthening Policy GM-E1. 

 Deprivation – whilst this is also broadly covered within the supporting text and broadly 
within Policy GM-E1, particularly referencing social inclusivity, it is considered that the 
policy could be more explicitly in terms of inclusive growth and making jobs available to 
existing local communities or to those suffering deprivation. 

26.4 The residual IA recommendations for GM1.1 could therefore be met through the 
strengthening of thematic Policy GM-E1.rahter than any specific amendments to Policy 
GM1.1. This demonstrates the overall improvement of the 2020 draft GMSF in relation to the 
IA Framework. 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation 

27.1 The allocation boundary or the area proposed to be released has not been amended from 
that proposed in the 2019 GMSF. However land to the southwest and south that was 
proposed to be released (GM1.3 - Whitefield and part of GM1.2 Simister/Bowlee) in the 2019 
Draft GMSF will now be retained. 

27.2 The structure of the Northern Gateway GMSF policies has altered in the 2020 GMSF. There 
is no longer an overarching policy on the Northern Gateway (GM1) but instead the 
requirements are included within the GM1.1 and GM1.2 policies. 

27.3 The 2020 GMSF has additional criteria within the policy requiring: 

 A comprehensive masterplan and phasing strategy for the allocation. 

 The provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies;  

 The provision for the long-term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space and sustainable drainage 
features; 

 A project specific Habitats Regulation Assessment for planning applications of 1,000 
sq.m./50 dwellings or more to be carried out; 

 Provide an appropriate buffer between the development and the motorway where 
required to serve multiple functions including air quality, noise and visual mitigation and 
high quality landscaping. 

Document Pack Page 689



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

33 
 

 Protect and, where appropriate, enhance the heritage assets and their setting within the 
allocation including the Grade II Listed buildings – Brick Farmhouse and Lower Whittle 
Farmhouse and the wider historic character of the surrounding setting in accordance with 
the findings and recommendations of a Heritage Impact Assessment; and 

 Carry out a detailed assessment and evaluation of known and potential archaeological 
sites including Meadow Croft Farm, historic landscape features and built heritage assets, 
to establish specific requirements for the protection and enhancement of significant 
heritage assets. 

27.4 A significant amount of evidence base work has been produced to support the allocation 
since 2019 and this has allowed the criteria within the policy to be expanded upon and be 
more specific to the allocation. 

 Conclusion 

28.1 GM1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth is considered to meet the site selection criteria and make a 
positive contribution to the overall vision, objectives and strategy of the GMSF.  The 
allocation is considered to be deliverable and available for development.  Further work has 
been identified to take forward the allocation through the planning process.   

28.2 The allocation provides the opportunity to deliver an extensive range of high quality 
employment development opportunities in a strategically important location building on the 
strong and established brands of Heywood and Pilsworth to attract a wider range of 
business sectors including logistics, industry and high value/knowledge based employment. 

28.3 With investment much of the area is capable of being served by rail for freight as well as 
benefiting from the excellent road connections via the M62, M66 and M60 and there is 
potential to significantly improve connections via public transport.  

28.4 The allocation will provide significant new job opportunities for local residents and enable the 
north and east of Greater Manchester to uplift its contribution to the wider Greater 
Manchester economy. 

28.5 The employment opportunities will be supported by new communities as part of the 
Heywood/Pilsworth allocation as well as at Simister/Bowlee which have transformational 
potential in enabling new housing, community facilities and new transport infrastructure to 
come forward in what is currently an area with significant pockets of high deprivation, low 
skills and worklessness. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 690



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

34 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – GM1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth 

Northern Gateway 

The Northern Gateway is an extensive area located around Junction 18 of the M60 motorway 
extending east to Junction 19 of the M62 and north to Junction 3 of the M66. It comprises two key 
sites within the wider North-East Growth Corridor:  

 Heywood / Pilsworth (Bury and Rochdale) (see Policy GM Allocation 1.1 'Heywood/ Pilsworth 

(Northern Gateway)'); and 

 Simister and Bowlee (Bury and Rochdale) (see Policy GM Allocation 1.2 ‘Simister/Bowlee 

(Northern Gateway)’) 

The Northern Gateway straddles the districts of Bury and Rochdale and is positioned at a 
strategically important intersection around the M60, M62 and M66 motorways. As such, it 
represents a highly accessible opportunity for growth in Greater Manchester with wider benefits on a 
regional and national level. The central theme of the spatial strategy for Greater Manchester is to 
deliver inclusive growth across the city region complemented by a key aim to boost the 
competitiveness of the northern parts of Greater Manchester. The Northern Gateway is one of the 
key locations that will help to deliver these fundamental objectives. 

This strategic allocation will enable the delivery of a large, nationally-significant employment 
opportunity to attract high quality business and investment, with a complementary housing offer on 
the M62 corridor, where there is strong evidence of market demand. 

The allocation at Heywood/Pilsworth provides an opportunity for a substantial and high quality 
employment-led development. The scale and location of this allocation will help to rebalance the 
Greater Manchester economy, ensure the GMSF plays its part in driving growth within the north of 
England and enable Greater Manchester to be competitive both nationally and internationally. 

This will be supported by new communities as part of the Heywood/Pilsworth allocation as well as at 
Simister/Bowlee which have transformational potential in enabling new housing, community facilities 
and new transport infrastructure to come forward in what is currently an area with significant pockets 
of high deprivation, low skills and worklessness. 

To be successful and sustainable, the employment and housing opportunities need to be accessible 
by a range of transport modes and be linked directly to existing and new communities in the 
surrounding area via new recreational routes and corridors of green infrastructure which in turn 
provide an attractive setting for development. Outside of the motorway network, much of the area 
proposed for development is currently served by an inadequate transport network and this will 
require substantial investment to improve connectivity, potentially including investment in rapid 
transit. The prospective residents will require new community facilities and these will be provided in 
accessible locations within walking distance of homes. 

The opportunities at Heywood/Pilsworth and Simister/Bowlee will need to incorporate extensive 
supporting infrastructure. The full delivery of the allocation at Heywood/Pilsworth is likely to extend 
beyond the plan period. 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 691



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

35 
 

Policy GM Allocation 1.1 - Heywood / Pilsworth (Northern Gateway) 

Any proposals for this allocation must be in accordance with a comprehensive masterplan relating to 
the area to come forward in the plan period that has been previously approved by the LPA(s). It 
shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an integrated approach to the delivery of 
infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure 
Implementation. This should include the delivery of highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, 
grey infrastructure including utilities provision, green and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points, recreation provision and social infrastructure and ensure coordination 
between phases of development. 

Development at this allocation will be required to: 

1. Be of sufficient scale and quality to enable a significant rebalance in economic growth within the 
sub-region by boosting the competitiveness of the north of the conurbation and should: 

i. Deliver a total of around 1,200,000 sq.m. of industrial and warehousing space (with 
around 700,000 sq.m. being delivered within the plan period). This should comprise a 
mix of high quality employment premises in an attractive business park setting in 
order to appeal to a wide range of business sectors, including the development of an 
Advanced Manufacturing Park; 

ii. Deliver around 1,000 additional homes along with a new primary school in the 
eastern part of the allocation to support the early delivery of the infrastructure and 
provide a buffer between existing housing and the new employment development; 

iii. Deliver around 200 new homes, including provision of plots for custom and self-build 
housing, in the west of the allocation off Castle Road ensuring that an appropriate 
buffer is incorporated to separate this part of the allocation from the wider 
employment area and that appropriate highways measures are in place to prevent 
the use of residential roads by traffic associated with the wider employment area; and  

iv. An appropriate range of supporting and ancillary services and facilities. 

2. Make provision for significant new and improved highways infrastructure to enable the 
proposed level of development to be accommodated, including: 

i. Improvements to Junction 3 of the M66; 

ii. Improved links between Junction 3 of the M66 and Junction 19 of the M62; 

iii. Other off-site highway works where these are necessary to ensure acceptable traffic 
movement, including a contribution towards the mitigation proposed at Croft Lane, 
Hollins Lane/Hollins Brow.  

3. Support the delivery of improved public transport infrastructure through the allocation (including 
Bus Rapid Transit corridors) and close to the allocation (including potential tram-train on the 
East Lancashire rail line between Bury and Rochdale) to enhance sustainable connectivity to 
the wider sub-region and adjoining districts and neighbourhoods; 

4. Deliver a network of safe and convenient cycling and walking routes through the allocation 
designed to national and GM standards of design and construction and local planning policy 
requirements; 

5. Make provision for affordable housing in accordance with local planning policy requirements;  

6. Provide financial contributions for offsite additional primary and secondary school provision to 
meet needs generated by the development; 

7. Make provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies. 

Document Pack Page 692



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

36 
 

8. Ensure the design and layout allows for effective integration with surrounding communities, 
including active travel links and connections to local services, employment opportunities and 
over the M62 to proposed new development at Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2). 

9. Retain, enhance and replace existing recreation facilities, where required, and make provision 
for new recreation facilities to meet the needs of the prospective residents in accordance with 
local planning policy requirements; 

10. Make provision for new, high quality, publically accessible multifunctional green and blue 
infrastructure to provide health benefits to workers and residents as well as creating a visually 
attractive environment and providing linkages to the sites wider drainage strategy in accordance 
with Policy GM-G2 Green Infrastructure Network and Policy GM-G9 Standards to a Greener 
Greater Manchester. This should include the integration and enhancement of existing features 
such as Hollins Brook/Brightly Brook SBI and Whittle Brook.  

11. Minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity assets within the allocation in 
accordance with Policy GM-G10 – A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity; 

12. Ensure that any development is safe from and mitigates for potential flood risk from all sources 
including Whittle Brook, Castle Brook and Brightley Brook and does not increase the flood risk 
elsewhere. The delivery of the allocation should be guided by an appropriate flood risk and 
drainage strategy which ensures co-ordination between phases of development;  

13. Ensure that sustainable drainage systems are fully incorporated into the development to 
manage surface water and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance 
with the hierarchy of drainage options. Where possible, natural SuDS techniques should be 
utilised, prioritising the use of ponds, swales and other infrastructure which mimic natural 
drainage and be designed as multi-functional green infrastructure connecting to the wider green 
and blue infrastructure network in accordance with Policy GM-S5 - Flood Risk and the Water 
Environment and nationally recognised SuDS design standards. Proposals to discharge to the 
public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why alternative options are not 
available.  

14. Make appropriate provision for the long term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space and sustainable drainage 
features; 

15. Carry out a project specific Habitats Regulation Assessment for planning applications of 1,000 
sq.m./50 dwellings or more;  

16. Provide an appropriate buffer between the development and the motorway where required to 
serve multiple functions including air quality, noise and visual mitigation and high quality 
landscaping. 

17. Incorporate appropriate noise and air quality mitigation measures along the M62 and M66 
motorway corridors and local road network if required within the allocation; 

18. Protect and, where appropriate, enhance the heritage assets and their setting within the 
allocation including the Grade II Listed buildings – Brick Farmhouse and Lower Whittle 
Farmhouse and the wider historic character of the surrounding setting in accordance with the 
findings and recommendations of a Heritage Impact Assessment; and 

19. Carry out a detailed assessment and evaluation of known and potential archaeological sites 
including Meadow Croft Farm, historic landscape features and built heritage assets, to establish 
specific requirements for the protection and enhancement of significant heritage assets. 

Justification 

This allocation has been identified as a large, nationally significant location for new employment-led 
development within the Northern Gateway opportunity area between Bury and Rochdale. The scale 
of the opportunity will help to deliver a significant jobs boost to wider northern and eastern parts of 

Document Pack Page 693



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

37 
 

the conurbation, increasing the economic output from this area and helping to rebalance the Greater 
Manchester economy. It also includes the potential to deliver a significant amount of new housing as 
well as an appropriate range of supporting and ancillary services and facilities. 

Planning permission has been granted for a scheme to deliver around 135,000 sq.m. of employment 
floorspace, 1,000 homes and a new primary school on the eastern part of the allocation at South 
Heywood and this land is included in the allocation for removal from the Green Belt. As well as 
delivering an early phase of the employment development this proposal will help to create a more 
mixed-use urban extension. The new school will not only provide space to accommodate children 
from the new development but will also help tackle a shortage of local school places. The residential 
development along with secured public funding is a key element to delivering improved linkages 
from Junction 19 of the M62. The employment floorspace and homes covered by this planning 
application are included in the current baseline supply. 

Although the allocation has the capacity to deliver a total of around 1,200,000 sq.m. of new 
employment floorspace, it is anticipated that around 700,000 sq.m. of this will be delivered within the 
plan period (in addition to the 135,000 sq.m. that has an extant planning permission at South 
Heywood). Nevertheless, it is considered necessary to release the site in full at this stage given that 
the scale of the proposed development means that it will need to be supported by significant 
strategic infrastructure and this level of investment needs the certainty that the remaining 
development and associated economic benefits will still be able to come forward beyond the plan 
period. 

This allocation benefits from being in close proximity to existing regionally renowned employment 
sites at Heywood Distribution Park and Pilsworth and the development of this allocation will 
complement other opportunities in the Northern Gateway as well as other key sites in the north of 
the sub-region such as Logistics North. 

Whilst the location of this allocation along the key M62 corridor will be particularly attractive to the 
logistics sector, it is important that it provides high quality business premises for a range of other 
sectors including advanced manufacturing and higher value knowledge-based businesses. This 
variety will not only provide a better range of good quality jobs but has the potential to provide 
premises for new and growing sectors, thus diversifying both the local and sub-regional economy. 

The size of the proposal would also support the provision of an appropriate range of supporting 
services and facilities, such as a new local centre, hotel, leisure and conference facilities. However, 
it is important that these are of a scale that is appropriate to the main employment use of the 
allocation. 

The delivery of such an allocation will require significant investment in infrastructure if it is to be 
successful and sustainable. The allocation clearly has excellent access to the motorway network but 
will benefit from improved linkages between Junction 19 of the M62 and Junction 3 of the M66. The 
local authorities will continue to explore opportunities for a new junction at Birch which could provide 
additional accessibility and be of benefit to the allocation in the longer term. Furthermore, in 
conjunction with the development of the allocation, there will be an expectation that opportunities 
are fully explored to deliver a rail freight spur exploiting the existing heavy rail connections from the 
East Lancashire Railway line which adjoins the allocation to the north and Calder Valley line to the 
east.  

The allocation will also need to be served by a wide range of public transport and significant 
interventions will be required in order to promote sustainable travel and make the allocation more 
accessible to the local labour pool. This could potentially include rapid transit linking the expanded 
Heywood employment area with surrounding neighbourhoods and key locations helping to 
maximise the public transport accessibility of the employment opportunities and to better integrate 
existing and new communities with the rest of Greater Manchester. The potential tram-train on the 
East Lancashire rail line between Bury and Rochdale should be explored and the allocation  will 

Document Pack Page 694



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1) – GMSF 2020 
   

38 
 

also need to be supported by safe and attractive walking and cycling routes to promote healthier 
and more sustainable journeys to work. 

It should be noted that the existing Birch Industrial Estate is located within the allocation. This is a 
successful estate that has benefited from recent investment and would be retained as part of any 
development. This allocation will also share the benefits of the improved accessibility of the area. 

The area also includes an existing golf club and school playing field. Whilst the intention is for these 
to be retained, they could potentially be incorporated into the wider development if they were to 
subsequently become available. 

In addition to the 1,000 homes with planning permission at South Heywood, the allocation is also 
considered to have the potential to accommodate around 200 further dwellings on land accessed 
via Castle Road in Unsworth. However, it is important that an appropriate buffer is incorporated into 
the development to create separation from the wider employment development and that appropriate 
highways measures are in place to prevent the inappropriate use of residential roads by vehicular 
traffic associated with the wider employment area. 

Any housing development within the allocation will be required to make provision for affordable 
housing and recreation to meet the needs of the prospective residents in line with Local Plan policy 
requirements. 

The land is relatively undulating and the contours offer opportunities to create an attractive and 
interesting setting for the development as well as providing some natural screening. This should be 
complimented by the creation of a good quality green and blue infrastructure network which will 
provide publicly accessible open spaces to provide recreational opportunities to workers and 
residents in the wider area. Such a network should seek to maximise the value of existing features 
and areas of nature conservation value. There are some existing recreation facilities, ponds, 
reservoirs and brooks within and adjacent to the allocation and any development should seek to 
retain and enhance such features, where appropriate. Other opportunities for new blue 
infrastructure may exist to further enhance visual amenity, provide SUDS and widen local 
biodiversity. A management plan will be required to demonstrate how the retention and 
improvement of green and blue infrastructure and nature conservation assets will continue to be 
managed. 

Delivery of the allocation should be guided by an appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy which 
ensures co-ordination between phases of development. Measures such as rainwater recycling, 
green roofs, water butts and permeable driveway surfaces should be considered to mitigate the 
impact of potential flood risk both within and beyond the site boundaries. As a green and blue 
infrastructure network will provide more sustainable options discharge surface water, only foul flows 
should communicate with the public sewer. 

Traffic to and from the site is likely to include travel on the M62 which passes close to designated 
European sites and, as such, a project specific Habitats Regulation Assessment will be required for 
planning applications involving 1,000 or more sq.m. or 50 or more residential units. 

Given that the allocation is located adjacent to the M62 and M66 motorways, there will be a need to 
incorporate a buffer between the allocation and the motorway to serve multiple functions including 
air and noise mitigation and high quality landscaping. Mitigation through tree planting could be 
undertaken in conjunction with proposals for the Northern Forest. 

There are two Grade II Listed buildings within the allocation boundary and known significant 
archaeological sites, notably at Meadow Croft Fold. In addition, there are a number of potentially 
significant archaeological sites, locally listed buildings and structures throughout and adjacent to the 
allocation. Any development would need to consider the impact on their setting though the 
completion of a Heritage Impact Statement. There will be a need to undertake detailed 
archaeological work including field walking and evaluation trenching leading to further investigations 
and recording and, if necessary, preserving features in-situ. 

Document Pack Page 695



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

GM1.2 – Simister/Bowlee 
 

Topic Paper 
 

October 2020 
 
  

Document Pack Page 697



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
1 
 

 

 

Contents 

 
 Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 2 

 Site Details .............................................................................................................................. 2 

 Proposed Development ........................................................................................................... 2 

 Site Selection .......................................................................................................................... 3 

 Planning History ...................................................................................................................... 4 

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses...................................................................................... 4 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment ........................................................................................ 5 

 Transport ................................................................................................................................. 7 

 Flood Risk and Drainage ......................................................................................................... 8 

 Ground Conditions ................................................................................................................ 10 

 Utilities .................................................................................................................................. 11 

 Telecommunications ............................................................................................................. 12 

 Green Belt Assessment ......................................................................................................... 14 

 Green Infrastructure .............................................................................................................. 16 

 Recreation ............................................................................................................................. 16 

 Landscape ............................................................................................................................ 17 

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment ...................................................................................... 18 

 Heritage Impact Assessment ................................................................................................. 20 

 Air Quality ............................................................................................................................. 22 

 Noise ..................................................................................................................................... 22 

 Education .............................................................................................................................. 24 

 Health Impact Assessment .................................................................................................... 24 

 Viability .................................................................................................................................. 25 

 Phasing ................................................................................................................................. 25 

 Indicative Masterplanning ...................................................................................................... 26 

 GMSF 2020 Integrated Assessment ...................................................................................... 28 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation ....................................................................... 28 

 Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 29 

Appendices 
 

Document Pack Page 698



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
2 
 

 

Section A – Background  
 Introduction 

1.1 The Northern Gateway is an extensive area located around Junction 18 of the M60 motorway 
extending east to Junction 19 of the M62 and north to Junction 3 of the M66. It comprises two 
interrelated allocations at: 

 Heywood / Pilsworth (Bury and Rochdale)  

 Simister and Bowlee (Bury and Rochdale)  

1.2 Development of the area will deliver a large, nationally significant employment led opportunity 
to attract high quality business and investment which is supported by new housing that is well 
integrated with, and brings positive benefits to, the surrounding communities. 

1.3 This Topic Paper brings together a wide range of information and evidence in connection 
with the proposed strategic site allocation at Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2). However, it should be 
read in conjunction with the separate Topic Paper relating to the Heywood/Pilsworth 
(GM1.1). The paper may be subject to further technical amendments in advance of the 
formal commencement of consultation. 

1.4 The extent of the Simister/Bowlee allocation has been reduced significantly in the 
Publication GMSF 2020 compared to what was proposed in the 2019 draft. Some of the 
evidence gathered for the allocation relates to the extent of the allocation proposed in 2019. 
Nevertheless, given that the allocation has subsequently been reduced, it is considered 
reasonable to conclude that the changes made between then and the current Publication 
version of the plan will not have caused any additional issues. 

 Site Details 

2.1 The proposed site allocation at Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) is located between the settlements 
of Prestwich and Middleton and covers a total area of 74 hectares. The majority of its 
western boundary borders on the M60, the southern boundary abuts the edge of the village 
of Rhodes and the allocation’s eastern boundary wraps around the western and northern 
edges of Middleton. 

2.2 The allocation currently comprises agricultural land and a number of residential, employment 
and agricultural properties. 

 Proposed Development 

3.1 Approximately 1,550 homes are proposed within the Simister/Bowlee allocation. Around 
1,350 homes will be in Bury and a further 200 will be located in Rochdale. 

3.2 This will include the provision of affordable housing to address local housing need, 
accommodation for older persons, plots for custom and self-build. It will also include a mix of 
housing densities with higher density development in areas with good accessibility and with 
potential for improved public transport connectivity and lower densities adjacent to existing 
villages where development will require sensitive design to respond to its context. 

3.3 The proposed development will be required to provide infrastructure to support the new 
community. This includes an upgrade of the local highway network, traffic restrictions on 
Simister Lane to prevent this route from being a form of access/egress to and from the 
allocation, improved public transport provision through the allocation and close to the 

Document Pack Page 699



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
3 
 

 

allocation, more routes for walking and cycling, a new local centre with an appropriate range 
of convenience shopping facilities and a primary school. There will be high quality, publicly 
accessible, multifunctional green and blue infrastructure throughout the allocation which can 
be used for sport, leisure and recreation. 

3.4 The proposed site allocation at Simister/Bowlee has now been reduced in size since the 
2019 Draft GMSF with the total site allocation reducing from 206 ha to 74 ha. Land to the 
north of Blueball Lane, together with a small area on the south western edge, are to be 
excluded from the Allocation and retained in the Green Belt. The area around Simister 
Village, will also now be excluded from the Allocation and retained as Green Belt. These 
reductions were in response to calls from local residents to preserve the character of 
Simister Village. In addition, there is significantly less certainty over the development of a 
new motorway junction at Birch which would have been a major access point into the 
allocation.  

3.5 Appendix 1 sets out the GM1.2 Simister/Bowlee policy wording. 

 Site Selection  

4.1 The GMSF Site Selection work had the purpose of identifying the most sustainable locations 
for residential and employment development that can achieve the GMSF Vision, Objectives 
and Spatial Strategy. 

4.2 This allocation forms part of the wider Northern Gateway allocation and straddles the 
districts of Bury and Rochdale. The Northern Gateway, in its entirety, provides the 
opportunity to deliver a large nationally significant employment opportunity which can attract 
high quality business and investment and provide complementary residential development. 

4.3 The allocation is positioned at a strategically important intersection around the M60, M62 
and M66 motorways. As such, it represents a highly accessible opportunity for growth in 
Greater Manchester, with wider benefits on a regional and national level.  

4.4 Currently, much of the area proposed for development is served by an inadequate transport 
network. Key to the delivery of the allocation will be the provision of significant improvements 
to highway infrastructure, delivery of improved public transport infrastructure through the 
allocation (including Bus Rapid Transport corridor) and close to the allocation and the 
provision of high quality walking and cycling routes.  

4.5 The scale of the development will help to deliver a significant jobs boost to the northern and 
eastern parts of Greater Manchester, increasing the economic output from this area. It will 
also enable new residential and community facilities to come forward in what is currently an 
area with significant pockets of deprivation, low skills and worklessness.   

4.6 The GMSF site selection process considered the entire Northern Gateway allocation when 
considering sites for inclusion in the GMSF. On this basis the allocation was selected for 
inclusion based on: 

 Criteria 1 (land which has been previously developed and/or land which is served by 
public transport);  

 Criteria 3 (land that can maximise existing opportunities which have significant capacity to 
deliver transformational change and/or boost the competitiveness and connectivity of 
Greater Manchester and genuinely deliver inclusive growth); 

 Criteria 5 (land which would have a direct significant impact on delivering urban 
regeneration); 

Document Pack Page 700



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
4 
 

 

 Criteria 6 (land where transport investment (by the developer) and the creation of 
significant new demand (through appropriate development densities), would support the 
delivery of long term viable sustainable travel options and delivers significant wider 
community benefits); 

 Criteria 7 – Land that would deliver significant local benefits by addressing a major local 
problem/issue. 

4.7 Further detail is provided within in the GMSF Site Selection Paper available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ 

4.8 Specifically, the Simister/Bowlee allocation forms part of the GMSF North East Corridor 
Policy (GM-Strat 7) and offers an opportunity to deliver a significant mixed use, housing and 
employment development which is of a transformative scale and significantly change the 
economic growth potential of the wider area. Development could capitalise on the existing 
successful employment locations at Heywood and Pilsworth and further exploit the important 
connection to the M62 corridor. The location of this allocation will make it particularly 
attractive to the logistics and advanced manufacturing sectors. 

4.9 Development could also contribute towards regeneration of adjacent areas of deprivation 
and this would help deliver one the GMSF’s key aims of boosting the competitiveness of the 
northern Greater Manchester Boroughs and supporting long-term economic growth in 
Greater Manchester.  

4.10 Given the above, the allocation is relevant to the GMSF objectives of: 

 Objective 1 – Meet our housing need; 

 Objective 3 – Ensure a thriving and productive economy in all parts of Greater 
Manchester; 

 Objective 4 – Maximise the potential arising from our national and international assets; 

 Objective 5 – Reduce inequalities and improve prosperity; 

 Objective 6 – Promote the sustainable movement of people, good and information. 

 Planning History 

5.1 Planning permission has not been granted for any significant uses within the allocation.  

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses 

 The consultation responses and consultation summary report is available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ 

 399 comments were received in relation to the GM1.2 Simister/Bowlee during the 
consultation on the Revised Draft GMSF in 2019. A summary of the key issues are as 
follows: 

Principle / scale of development 

 Unreasonable and disproportionate scale of development in one location. 

 Will cause considerable harm to character of small village, result in a loss of amenity 
and depress property values. Compulsory purchase will be required. 

 Some landowners wish to see the site extended. 

Document Pack Page 701

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
5 
 

 

 Support, provided that villages sympathetically merged and appropriate separation 
distances implemented. 

Housing (inc affordable housing) 

 Layout not sympathetic to village which will be overwhelmed. 

 Scale of growth proposed not achievable and will take a number of years to come 
forward. Phasing will be critical to avoid flooding the market. 

 Does not cater for affordable/specialist housing needs. Needs to be environmentally 
friendly and delivered at appropriate densities. 

 Housing growth should be distributed more evenly across Bury. 

 There is support that the development will provide much needed housing in this 
location, there is a willingness from landowners in Simister to bring the site forward 
and more housing to south of village should be considered. 

Employment and Economy 

 No need for employment proposal at Heywood/Pilsworth as low unemployment and 
deprivation in Simister and Bowlee. Likely to be low paid, need quality manufacturing, 
no indication of interest. 

 Residents will have poor access and will need to commute out. 

 Support – Must invest in the Northern Powerhouse. 

Green Belt  

 Simister will lose all of its Green Belt, this was misrepresented in the consultation 
letter. Wide disparities between Bury townships. 

 Area is semi-rural and remote, designation attracts people to area. 

 No justification, will result in sprawl and merge distinct towns. 

 Details on proposed protections for removals not made clear. 

 It was highlighted that Clarkes Cross (west of M60) has been omitted but could still 
make a contribution in the form of safeguarded land for long-term needs 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment 

7.1 The 2019 GMSF Integrated Assessment (IA) is available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ 

7.2 The IA reviewed how the draft GMSF policies could impact upon the environment, the 
economy, local communities, equality and public health. The IA also recommended ways in 
which the GMSF can be improved to ensure that the policies are as sustainable as possible. 

7.3 The three Northern Gateway draft allocations were considered together against the 2019 
Integrated Assessment objectives. The allocations performed well however a number of 
recommendations were made: 

 Ensure that all three allocations refer to a mix of housing types; 

 Make specific reference to energy efficiency of the housing stock; 

 The policy should also highlight the importance of local employment during construction; 

 Consider feasibility study into requirements and ability of local network to support 
development; 

 Benefits such as creation of construction and operational employment, or improved 
transport links or increases in the range of community facilities, should consider deprived 
areas. Where possible such benefits should be maximised to help bring about long term 
benefits for deprived areas. 

Document Pack Page 702

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
6 
 

 

 The allocation needs to encourage integration with existing communities and provision of 
a range of housing tenures. 

 Ensure any new health provision is accessible to all and that local capacity is considered 
throughout future masterplanning stages; 

 Ensure any new community facilities provision is accessible to all and that local capacity 
is considered throughout future masterplanning stages. 

 Ensure any new recreation provision is accessible to all and that local capacity is 
considered throughout future masterplanning stages. 

 Seek to minimise the number of trips made by private car to/from the site. Consider the 
use of mitigation solutions including green infrastructure, incentivising electric vehicles 
and/or masterplan layout which reduces emissions near sensitive receptors. This is 
especially relevant to buffer around the AQMA adjacent to the site. 

 A suitable flood risk assessment may be required and associated mitigation in order to 
prevent the flood zone expanding. 

 Appropriate flood risk mitigation should be implemented (in line with best practice) for all 
developments that are within or near to areas of flood risk. This is especially relevant 
around the areas of flood zone 2 and 3. 

 Make reference to energy efficiency directly and ways that it can be increased, such as 
highlighting the benefits of sustainable modes of transport. 

 Consider the listed structures throughout detailed design to reduce the risk throughout 
construction and operational phases. 

 Consider how development of PDL sites could be encouraged as a result of greenfield 
development (e.g. by incentives or inclusion of adjacent PDL). 

 Promote sustainable construction methods. 

 Consider waste and recycling facilities in design e.g. consider location of waste/recycling 
facilities in design/layout of masterplans, and how waste facilities can be located to 
encourage recycling. 

7.4 It is important to note that the IA was focusing on each policy in isolation from other policies 
and that many of the recommended changes for the Northern Gateway allocation policies 
are already covered in other GMSF policies. However, some wording changes have been 
made as a result of the IA in relation to housing types, electric vehicles, heritage and 
archaeology. 

  

Document Pack Page 703



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
7 
 

 

Section B – Physical  
 Transport 

8.1 The allocation is divided into two parts; a larger part to the west of the A6045 and a smaller 
part to the east. The allocation is located to the south-east of the Simister Island 
interchange, north-west of Middleton, and is bound by the M60 to the west, the M62 to the 
north and the A576/A6045 to the east and south. The delivery of this allocation will require 
significant investment in infrastructure. In particular the allocation will need to deliver a wide 
range of public transport improvements in order to promote sustainable travel and improve 
linkages to new employment opportunities at the Heywood/Pilsworth allocation (GM1.1).  

8.2 The Locality Assessment 2020 available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-
we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ concludes that that this development, both 
in isolation and in consideration of the cumulative impacts with other nearby GMSF 
allocations, is expected to materially impact both the strategic and local road networks. The 
Strategic Road Network (SRN) impacts are expected to be concentrated at M60 Junction 19 
and M62 Junction 19, whilst the Local Road Network (LRN) impacts mostly impact the 
junctions on the A6045 Heywood Old Road. 

8.3 As part of the Locality Assessment process, a number of mitigation schemes were 
developed and tested to address identified network congestion points over both the strategic 
and local road networks. These schemes have been developed in outline detail to inform 
viability and allocations policy. Further detailed work will be necessary to identify the specific 
interventions required to ensure the network works effectively based on transport network 
conditions at the time of the planning application/s and to take into account the effects of 
material future changes to the network such as M60 J18 Simister Island improvements and 
the proposed Middleton Metrolink extension which could significantly impact on travel trends 
in the immediate locality.  

8.4 During the Locality Assessment process, the M60 Junction 19 / A576 Middleton Road 
junction proved particularly problematic in terms of providing a realistic representation in the 
local junction modelling. Further more detailed modelling of the roundabout and adjoining 
parts of the network – potentially using traffic simulation tools – is recommended at this 
location. Further more detailed work is also recommended at the M62 Junction 19 
roundabout to better define the required mitigation.  

8.5 The following mitigation measures have been identified: 

 

Mitigation  Description  

Allocation Access  

Two new 3-arm signalised junctions with 
A6045. 

Allocation access for the land parcel west of 
A6045. 

Two new 3-arm priority junctions with 
A6045. 

Allocation access for the land parcel east of A6045. 

Supporting Strategic Interventions  

New Metrolink Stop on the proposed line 
between Crumpsall and Middleton. 

New stop on the proposed Crumpsall to Middleton 
line near Rhodes. 

Document Pack Page 704

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
8 
 

 

Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor to 
Manchester city centre. 

Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) corridor to Manchester 
city centre and Heywood via Heywood Old Road/ 
Manchester Road. 

Necessary Local Mitigations  

Permeable network for pedestrian and 
cyclist priority to/from/ within the 
development. 

Assumed new or upgraded cycle and pedestrian 
access, linked to PROWs and the Bee Network, 
providing connectivity to adjacent local areas and 
employment/educational opportunities, supported 
by high quality design for active travel within the 
allocation area.  

Introduction of local bus services 
to/from/within the allocation. 

Assumed local bus services to link the allocation 
with Metrolink and Rail interchanges and key local 
centres such as Prestwich and Middleton, 
supported by permeable design of future 
development to support bus services within the 
allocation area. 

Improvement of A6045 Heywood Old 
Road / A576 traffic signal junction. 

Required improvements not yet known; subject to 
further study. 

A6045 Heywood Old Road/Langley 
Lane. 

Signalisation of the junction. This scheme is 
already identified by Rochdale Council in support of 
other local committed development. 

SRN Interventions 

M60 Junction 19/A576 Middleton Road. Signalisation of the Northern and Eastern Arms 
(A576 N and the M60 West Bound off Slip). 

M62 J19/A6046 Heywood Interchange. Consideration of alternative pedestrian/cycle 
configurations and re-optimization of the signal 
timings. 

Possible corridor improvements on A576 
Middleton Road / Manchester Old Road 
in vicinity of M60 J19. 

Required improvements not yet known; subject to 
further study. 

8.6 The proposed policy wording for the GM 1.2 Allocation has been informed by the Locality 
Assessment and requires the above mitigation measures to be implemented to enable the 
proposed level of development to be accommodated. 

8.7 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable. However, significant further work is 
recommended to verify and refine the findings of the Locality Assessment, particularly in 
relation to connections to the SRN, as the allocation moves through the planning process. 
The allocation would also need to be supported by continuing wider transport investment 
across GM. 

 Flood Risk and Drainage 

Flood Risk Summary 

9.1 The majority of the allocation is located within Flood Zone 1 (i.e. land assessed as having a 
lower than 1 in 1000 annual probability of river flooding) and development should be directed 
into these areas, if possible. There are no main rivers within the boundary of the allocation. 

Document Pack Page 705



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
9 
 

 

9.2 There is localised risk of groundwater flooding at and below ground level across the northern 
part of the allocation and adjacent to an unmarked watercourse which flows southerly 
through the allocation to the south of Simister Lane. Detailed future designs for the 
development will be able to take into account the overland flow routes and any groundwater 
flood risk and potential areas of ponding to ensure there is no increase to flood risk within 
the allocation or elsewhere as a result of the development. 

9.3 The allocation is at low risk of sewer flooding. 

GMSF Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

9.4 The Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (GM Level 1 SFRA) was 
completed in March 2019 available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ as part of the evidence base to inform the 
preparation of the GMSF. This SFRA initiated the sequential risk-based approach to the 
allocation of land for development and identified whether application of the Exception Test 
was likely to be necessary using the most up-to-date information and guidance. 

9.5 The Level 1 SFRA assessed the 2019 draft allocation boundary for GM1.2 and concluded 
that as 98% of the allocation is located within Flood Zone 1, the flood risk within the GM1.2 
allocation could be avoided through site layout and design as part of a detailed flood risk 
assessment. All of the smaller GMSF 2020 boundary is located within Flood Zone 1. 

9.6 Building on the conclusions of the Level 1 SFRA, the site promoters for GM1.2 
Simister/Bowlee have prepared a GM1.2 Flood Risk and Drainage High Level Constraints 
Review to assess the risk of flooding in more detail and consider what mitigation measures 
may be required. 

9.7 To ensure that flood risk is not increased at the allocation or elsewhere as a result of the 
development, surface water runoff from the development will be restricted to the existing 
greenfield runoff rate (7.5 l/s/ha). 

9.8 The GM1.2 Flood Risk and Drainage High Level Constraints Review states that the 
proposed drainage system will include a variety of SuDS features providing green/blue 
spaces (such as detention basins and swales). These shall address both flooding and water 
quality issues and be designed to mimic natural drainage features within the allocation and 
provide recreational areas for the public. Alternate SuDS options such as wetlands, provide 
an opportunity to maximise biodiversity and maximise public open space and will be 
considered. Infiltration may be possible across some of the allocation subject to detailed 
ground investigations on a localised basis. Parts of the allocation have been identified as 
historic landfill sites. It is considered unlikely that infiltration of surface water is likely only to 
be an environmentally safe option if remediation has been carried out in advance to a 
standard specifically to suit infiltration. 

9.9 No public surface water sewers have been identified within the allocation. Surface water run-
off will be discharge into the ground through multiple infiltration structures or to the 
watercourses within the allocation at the limiting discharge rates. This will require discussion 
and agreement with the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority. 

9.10 The GM1.2 Flood Risk and Drainage High Level Constraints Review states that the 
masterplan for the allocation is being developed with due consideration for the existing 
topography, watercourses and rivers and development plots are likely to be located with 
substantial offsets from these features. This provides the opportunity to create green/blue 
corridors adjacent to the existing watercourses and will not require the diversion of any 
watercourses and culverted works will be kept to a minimum.  

Document Pack Page 706

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
10 
 

 

9.11 The proposed policy wording for the GM 1.2 seeks to ensure that any development within 
the allocation is safe from and mitigates for potential flood risk from all sources. Policy 
GM1.2 requires development to incorporate sustainable drainage systems to manage 
surface water and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance with 
the hierarchy of drainage options. Proposals to discharge to public sewer will need to submit 
clear evidence demonstrating why alternative options are not available. As a green and blue 
infrastructure network will provide more sustainable options discharge surface water, only 
foul flows should communicate with the public sewer. 

9.12 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Ground Conditions 

Site Geology and Hydrogeology 

10.1 The Desk Top Assessment has identified: 

 Made ground – expected to be present where landfilling has occurred, where quarries, 
sand & gravel pits have been backfilled, around man-made features and around buildings 
where ground has been disturbed by construction activities;    

 Superficial deposits – Predominantly glacial morainic deposits are present overlain by 
head deposits along water courses and by glacial fluvial deposits locally in the south;  

 Bedrock - Coal Measures in the north western three quarters of the allocation. The 
Chester Formation (sandstone) is present in south western quarter of the allocation. 
These geological formations are separated by the Bradley Fold Fault trending north west 
to south east. The allocation is not located in a high risk development area in relation to 
Coal Mining activities.  

Ground Contamination 

10.2 The allocation predominantly comprises agricultural land which is not expected to be 
significantly contaminated.  

10.3 The potential risks from and mitigation for contamination in these areas are given in the table 
below.  

10.4 Intrusive ground investigation will be undertaken to establish if any contamination is present 
and, if it is, to establish its nature and extent. An initial characterisation investigation will 
enable an outline remediation strategy for the allocation to be developed. More detailed 
investigation, assessment and detailed remediation design can then be undertaken on a 
phase by phase basis as each area of the allocation comes forward for development.  

Table 1 Geo-environmental Aspects and Mitigation 

Area of Potential 
Contamination 

Contamination Risk Potential Mitigation 

Backfilled 
quarries/pits and 
landfills 

Backfill material unknown. 
May contain contamination 
especially asbestos.  

Assessment of material and 
remediation and, where possible, 
re-use of material 

Ground gas 
Migration from landfilling 
activities and generation from 
the peat. 

Ground gas protection measures 
may be required in new build 
properties. 

Document Pack Page 707



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
11 
 

 

Shallow groundwater 
Potential for contamination of 
shallow groundwater.  

Consideration of contamination if 
shallow groundwater present in 
any contaminated parts of the 
site. 

Geotechnical Summary 

10.5 Geotechnical aspects to consider within the allocation include compressible peat deposits, 
backfilled quarries and pits and groundwater presence. The ground will also need to be 
characterised for cut and fill works and for foundation design. The geotechnical aspects are 
given in the table below along with potential mitigation measures. Intrusive investigation will 
be undertaken to assess these aspects further.  

Table 2 Geotechnical Aspects and Mitigation 

Geotechnical Aspect Geotechnical risk Potential mitigation   

Backfilled quarries / pits 

Backfill material unknown. 
Risk of unacceptable 
settlements / collapse 
especially if loaded 

Identification and intrusive 
investigation of backfill. 
Geotechnical assessment and re-
engineering of material as 
required.  

Slopes  
Existing slopes and new 
slopes – risk of instability / 
slope failures 

Investigation and assessment of 
existing slopes. Reprofiling or 
remediation if required. 
Geotechnical design of new 
slopes / appropriate retaining 
structures 

Shallow groundwater 
Groundwater in excavations. 
Risks of instability from 
groundwater ingress.  

Temporary support / pumping 
during works if required.  

 

10.6 The Assessment has been reviewed by Bury Council Environmental Health department. 
They have recommended the following prior to any planning applications being submitted 
within the allocation: 

 Ground investigation to determine the potential for ground gas, contaminated soil and 
leachate associated with the infilling of former quarries / pits and historical and registered 
landfills (both on and off site); and,  

 Ground investigation to assess the likelihood of ground contamination associated with the 
pollution incidents (specifically chemically driven incidents). 

10.7  The documents are available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/     

10.8 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Utilities 

11.1 It is not considered that there are any utilities constraints, either current infrastructure or 
identified need, which will prevent the Northern Gateway allocations from being allocated for 
development. 

 

Document Pack Page 708

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
12 
 

 

United Utilities  

11.2 United Utilities have provided guidance to pre-development enquires and advised that the 
anticipated point of connection for the development will be the nearest practical point on the 
network to the development boundary. This is identified as 315mm PE main is located on the 
southern side of the M62 and it is the nearest suitable main. 

11.3 No public foul sewers were identified within the development boundary, therefore foul water 
is likely to need to be pumped to a new or existing point of discharge specified by United 
Utilities, outside of the development boundary. Consultations must be made with United 
Utilities to develop a cost-effective strategy for managing the discharge of foul flows from the 
development. 

Electricity North West 

11.4 Electricity North West in their response to the latest GMSF consultation advised that they 
were confident in being able to meet the network capacity requirements for the investment 
and growth in proposed in Greater Manchester. Where necessary they have secured the 
appropriate regulatory allowances within their ‘Well Justified Business Plan.’  

11.5 Electricity North West have carried out assessments on the proposed areas, which fed into 
the ‘Spatial Energy Plan’ document. This is a high level assessment of the expected impact 
of the proposed developments on the electricity network, the information was presented as a 
Red/Amber /Green (RAG) indicator. 

11.6 The Simister/Bowlee allocation presented as green which indicates no primary substation 
capacity issue envisaged due to forecast additional load resulting from proposed 
development.  

11.7 Discussions with ENW have identified a requirement for 2 new primary 33KVsubstations and 
a Point of Connection at Agecroft BSP. From the new 33KV Primary Substations a further 
network of 11KV substations will be provided that distribute demand across the allocation. 

11.8 Overhead electricity cable pylons are also present on the southern section of the allocation. 
These and their appropriate easements will need to be accommodated in the masterplan, 
albeit given the location in the southern-most edge of the allocation ENW has advised this 
does not present a major constraint. 

Gas - National Grid Infrastructure  

11.9 Cadent Gas have confirmed that the current mains have sufficient capacity to support the 
load required for the development without any reinforcement works. The development can 
be connected to the existing Medium Pressure main located approximately 800 metres from 
the development boundary. Appropriate gas governors located along the route through the 
allocation along within the proposed road network will also be required.  

 Telecommunications  

Existing BT Infrastructure   

12.1 The scheme already tabled and being implemented through the South Heywood 
Development scheme to provide BT Openreach communication network coverage is being 
developed to facilitate the Northern Gateway Proposals to both the Northern and Southern 
areas of the allocation. BT Openreach are presently developing their network layout and will 
be installing high speed data & fibre networks throughout the development. 

Document Pack Page 709



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
13 
 

 

Existing Virgin Media Infrastructure  

12.2 The scheme already tabled and being implemented through the South Heywood 
Development scheme to provide Virgin Media communication network coverage will be 
developed to facilitate the Northern Gateway Proposals to both the Northern and Southern 
areas of the allocation. Virgin Media are presently developing their network layout for this 
area and will be a suitable alternative network provider.  

 
 

Document Pack Page 710



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
14 
 

 

Section C – Environmental 
 Green Belt Assessment 

13.1 The proposed removal of the Simister/Bowlee allocation from the Green Belt has been 
informed by several studies undertaken by LUC available at available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ 

 The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016 

 Green Belt Harm Assessment, 2020; 

 Greater Manchester Green Belt Study – Identification of Opportunities, 2020 

13.2 The proposed allocation would involve the release of 74 hectares of land from the Green 
Belt. 

13.3 In 2016 GMCA commissioned LUC to undertake an assessment of the Green Belt within 
GM. The Study assessed the extent to which the land within the GM Green Belt performs 
against the purposes of Green Belts, as set out in paragraph 80 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). The aim of this Green Belt Assessment is to provide the GM 
Authorities with an objective, evidence-based and independent assessment of how GM’s 
Green Belt contributes to the five purposes of Green Belt, as set out in national policy. It also 
examines the case for including within the Green Belt potential additional areas of land that 
currently lie outside it. 

13.4 In The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016 Simister/Bowlee was included 
within Strategic Green Belt Area 15 in the Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 
2016. There were 4 different purposes of Green Belt that each Area was assessed against 
and the Area performs as follows: 

 Purpose 1: To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas: Strong 

 Purpose 2: To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another: Strong 

 Purpose 3: To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment: Weak-
Moderate 

 Purpose 4: Preserving the setting and special character of historic towns: Weak-
Moderate 

13.5 The summary of findings for Bury in this report stated that most parcels close to 
Heywood/Pilsworth, east of M66 make a moderate - strong contribution to checking the 
unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas. Parcels between Bury and Middleton play a 
moderate role in relation to assisting in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.  

13.6 In 2019 LUC carried out an assessment identifying the potential opportunities to enhance the 
beneficial use of remaining Green Belt within 2 km of the allocation site. The study 
considered the opportunities to offset the loss of Green Belt through compensatory 
improvements to the environmental quality and accessibility of the remaining Green Belt 
land.  

13.7 Land lying within 2 km of GM 1.1, Heywood / Pilsworth formed the focus of Green 
Infrastructure (GI) recommendations / mitigation to enhance the ‘beneficial use’ of the Green 
Belt for the Northern Gateway as a whole. There are two proposed additions to the Green 
Belt west of this GM sub-Allocation at Hollins Brook and Hollins Brow. 

Document Pack Page 711

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
15 
 

 

13.8 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt relevant to the Northern Gateway Allocations 
identified in the assessment include: 

 Upgrade the public footpath along Brightly Brook to a multi user route. 

 Create a new pedestrian footpath in the Green Belt north east of Heywood/Pilsworth to 
create a local level walk at the settlement edge. 

 Upgrade surfacing treatments and access points along the Rochdale Way. 

 Upgrade surface treatments to create all weather routes. 

 Enhance pedestrian and vehicle links to football pitches in Heaton Park to increase 
usability. 

 Introduce enhancements to local sporting facilities within the retained Green Belt.  

 Enhance sport and recreational provision at Heaton Park.  

 Introduce interventions which complement the proposals included within the planning 
application for development off J19 of the M62 (Planning application16/01399/HYBR).  

 Restore ditches and field boundaries within the landscape.  

 Review the conservation and management of areas which form part of SBIs and LNRs to 
ensure improvement of the key aspects of their designation. Connect the SBIs of Hollins 
Vale, Hollins Plantation and Pilsworth across the M66.  

 Enhance waterways to ensure the management of invasive species and surrounding 
vegetation.  

 Support woodland management practices to maintain longevity of broadleaved woodland 
stock.  

 Improve the biodiversity value of agricultural land around Birch Service Area, providing 
additional habitat creation. Landscape and visual. 

 Create new green wedges and green buffers to prevent settlement coalescence.  

 Establish planting buffers for increased landscape integration at Heywood Distribution 
Park.  

 Provide additional woodland planting and the reinstatement of field boundaries parallel 
the corridor of the M62. 

13.9 Some of these opportunities have been either included within the policy requirements for the 
allocation. Others will be more appropriately dealt with as part of a more detailed masterplan 
or planning application(s). 

13.10 In conjunction with the assessment of GI opportunities within the Green Belt, LUC carried 
out an assessment to identify potential harm to the Green Belt through a Green Belt Harm 
Assessment, 2020.  

13.11 The smaller release of land proposed within the GM1.2 Simister/Bowlee allocation will 
maintain Green Belt linkage to the south west, but as that land is mostly constrained (Heaton 
Park Registered Park and Garden) its containment or otherwise will not affect harm to the 
Green Belt purposes. The retention of Green Belt will leave some separation between 
Whitefield and Rhodes/Middleton, but that is largely occupied by Simister, which has an 
urbanising influence on the Green Belt. Remaining open land around Simister, contained 
between the new inset edge of Rhodes/Middleton, the M60 and the M62, will make a 
relatively weak contribution to the Green Belt purposes. The reduced release means that 
there will be less impact on retained Green Belt to the north east, but the impact on east-

Document Pack Page 712



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
16 
 

 

west settlement separation between Whitefield and Rhodes/ Middleton will still mean the 
impact on adjacent Green Belt is moderate, and the harm of releasing the reduced allocation 
remains high. 

13.12 Evidence on Green Belt is only one part of the evidence base that influence any decision on 
green belt release. Consequently where studies have found that high harm is to be caused 
by release of the Green Belt, this finding should be balanced against other important factors 
that could make up exceptional circumstances such as sustainability, viability and 
deliverability.  

13.13 The Simister/Bowlee allocation is deemed necessary to deliver a key strategic housing 
opportunity with supporting transport infrastructure. The allocation is critical in responding to 
the spatial strategy in the GMSF and its key themes of ‘Inclusive Growth’, ‘Making the Most 
of Key Locations and Assets’ and ‘Addressing Disparities’ It also directly addresses the 
aspirations set by Policy GM – P 1 ‘Supporting Long-Term Economic Growth’, Policy GM –E 
1 ‘Sustainable Places’, Policy GM – H1 ‘Scale, Distribution and Phasing of New Housing 
Development’ and Policy GM – N1 ‘Our Integrated Network’.  

13.14 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt study discussed earlier are not exhaustive 
and will require consultation with key stakeholders and may require further surveys and 
viability testing to establish costings. However the enhancement opportunities nonetheless 
demonstrate that opportunities exist to help offset the loss of Green Belt which will have a 
potential positive effect on the beneficial use of the Greater Manchester Green Belt moving 
forward. 

13.15 The final masterplan for the allocation will be required to use the findings from all the 
assessments on Green Belt in the area to inform the layout and form development across 
the allocation. 

 Green Infrastructure 

14.1 The Masterplan for GM1.2 will include a substantial green/blue infrastructure network 
providing a range of opportunities for movement, recreation and biodiversity as well as 
sustainable drainage. It is intended that the development will ultimately achieve net gains in 
biodiversity. 

14.2 Central to the development will be substantial north-south and east-west green corridors that 
incorporate existing allocation features such as trees, hedgerows and water features. These 
corridors will provide recreational and biodiversity value and will also be key to defining a 
unique identity and strong sense of place for the development. 

14.3 The green infrastructure network will incorporate high quality active travel routes including 
cycling and walking and has been designed to ensure good connectivity between the new 
development and existing surrounding areas. 

 Recreation 

15.1 New play areas and sports facilities will be required to support the delivery of housing at 
Simister/Bowlee in line with Bury and Rochdale’s Local Plan requirements.  

15.2 GM1.2 will include a range of recreational facilities to support residential led mixed-use 
development. These will include formal and informal play spaces dispersed within the new 
residential areas and also opportunities for a range of recreational activities along green 
corridors that connect across the allocation. 

Document Pack Page 713



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
17 
 

 

15.3 The potential inclusion of a primary school within the development also provides the 
opportunity for school recreation facilities to become available for community use outside of 
school hours. 

 Landscape  

16.1 The landscape character types within the allocation are as follows:  

National Character Area (NCA): 

 54 Manchester Pennine Fringe.        

Greater Manchester Landscape Character and Sensitivity Report (2018): 

 27:Simister, Slattocks and Healds Green.  

Bury Council Landscape Character Assessment (2009): 

 Fringe Settled Valley Pasture 54/2, Castle, Whittle & Brightley   

Rochdale Landscape Character Assessment (2009): 

 Settled Farmlands  

16.2 The key characteristics of the landscape include:  

 The undulating pastoral and rough grassland landform of the site;  

 The existing mature vegetation comprising stand-alone trees, hedgerows and small 
woodland blocks;  

 The tranquillity of the central parts of the allocation;  

 The scattered farmsteads, and small settlements, often in elevated locations in the 
landscape;   

 A network of public footpaths surrounding the sites and occasionally crossing into the 
sites provides good connectivity with the wider landscape and the GMA1.1 allocation, 
however often underused and ill defined;  

 The long views providing connectivity to the wider landscape; and  

 The dominating presence of the M62 corridor. 

Visual Summary  

16.3 The surrounding views are an important aspect of the visual amenity of the allocation, with 
long distance views from elevated locations. These panoramic views are available to the 
north (across the M62) towards the distant hills and Scout Moor Wind Farm, evident on a 
clear day. Views to the urban conurbation of Greater Manchester are available to the south.  

16.4 Local receptors within the allocation and outside the boundaries consist of small settlements 
and scattered farms and associated residences, generally in elevated locations, which afford 
typical countryside views, despite the close proximity of the M62 and M60 and the urban 
conurbations. The same applies to users of the public footpath network, where open views 
are generally of a rural nature, over undulating countryside.  

16.5 The M62 corridor forms a dominant feature in the view to the north along with its associated 
infrastructure and lighting. The vertical elements of pylons, telegraph poles and lighting 
columns are a continuing theme throughout the allocation  

Document Pack Page 714



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
18 
 

 

Landscape Opportunities 

16.6 It is recommended that the following landscape opportunities and constraints are considered 
in the evolving masterplan:  

 Long distance views are available to the north and south and retention of longer distance 
views should be considered to maintain the connection of the allocation to the wider 
landscape. There is an opportunity to orientate residential properties in the direction of 
these views in order to benefit visual amenity for the occupants. Orientation of properties 
in relation to the M62 should be carefully considered;   

 The characteristic undulating landform of the allocation and the character and setting of 
the existing villages should be carefully considered and used to inform the layout, density 
and built form of the new development; 

 There is scope to enhance tree planting along the motorway corridors. This would serve a 
double purpose of enhancing landscape and visual amenity, as well enhancing wildlife 
corridors. Mitigation through tree planting could be undertaken in conjunction with 
proposals for the Northern Forest;  

 The arrangement of the houses should take landform into account, where feasible, so that 
views are maintained throughout and to the wider landscape wherever possible. The 
possibility to retain open space in certain locations within the allocation should be 
explored to prevent coalescence. This is a valuable and important feature of the new 
development and green infrastructure should be given careful consideration as the 
designs evolve to ensure sensitive treatment of the existing villages and the retention of 
their identity. The theoretical zone of visibility of any proposed development will be 
considered and assessed, considering its impact on the landscape character and 
features, and visual receptors;     

  A number of existing properties are situated within the allocation and the surrounding 
area. It is understood that the majority of these residential properties will be retained as 
part of the scheme. For those properties that are retained, their setting within the 
landscape and views available to the residents of these properties should be considered 
within any design evolution;   

 A number of mature trees, hedgerows and woodland blocks are present. Where possible, 
these should be retained and enhanced where the vegetation is healthy and in good 
condition, to create a mature green landscape framework for the development;   

 Public Right of Way (PRoW) links should be considered. Although current PRoWs appear 
to be infrequent and underused in places, retaining established links and creating 
appropriate new high quality walking and cycling links should be considered to create a 
connective landscape linking to the wider area; 

 It is recommended that the opportunity to create a new local centre and retain existing or 
design in recreational facilities within a pleasant landscape setting is investigated as part 
of the design evolution; and  

 Develop a satisfactory management plan for areas of green infrastructure, biodiversity 
features and other areas of open space. 

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment 

17.1 There are no designated Natura 2000 (European designated) sites on site or within 2km of 
the allocation boundary. 

17.2 There are no nationally designated sites on site or within 2km of the allocation boundary. 

Document Pack Page 715



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
19 
 

 

17.3 There are two Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) within a 2km radius of the allocation boundary. 
Blackley Forest LNR, 0.5km south and Alkrington LNR, approximately 1km east of the 
allocation boundary. 

17.4 The Site of Biological Importance (SBI) Streams and Flushes near Bradley Hall Farm is 
located in the eastern part of the allocation.  

Habitats 

17.5 Key habitats include: 

 Watercourses and ponds. 

 Woodland and trees. 

 Wildlife links and corridors e.g. hedgerows and watercourses. 

17.6 The desk study identified Habitats of Principle Importance (HPI) within the allocation and 
within 2km: 

 Deciduous woodland HPI: recorded in a small area on the eastern site boundary and as a 
linear feature along the M60 in the south of the allocation; 

 Watercourses and ponds which are present within the allocation. 

17.7 More detailed site-specific surveys, including a full extended Phase 1 Habitat survey for 
each area, will be undertaken as plans progress and this will enable detailed 
characterisation of habitats represented throughout the allocation. 

Protected and Notable Species 

17.8 Protected and notable species which are or may be present at the allocation include: 

 Great crested newt 

 Reptiles 

 Bats 

 Badger 

 Otter 

 Water vole 

 Birds 

 Invertebrates 

 And other notable species including common toad, brown hare and hedgehog. 

 Invasive plant species 

17.9 The potential presence of these species has been considered through information derived 
from the desk study, data search and walkover survey.  Species-specific surveys will be 
carried out as plans progress.  

Biodiversity Net Gain 

17.10 Biodiversity Net Gain is considered as an opportunity at this site and net gain will be sought 
as set out in the policy wording 

Document Pack Page 716



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
20 
 

 

17.11 At Northern Gateway, opportunities for Biodiversity Net Gain will focus upon using the lowest 
ecological /poorest quality land for the development and avoiding the higher ecological 
value/good quality habitat.  

17.12 The good quality habitat within the allocation comprises the watercourse corridors, 
broadleaved woodland and species-rich grassland. Habitats could be enhanced to improve 
value where suitable and appropriate so that a lower value habitat could become a higher 
value habitat. It is anticipated that it will be possible to achieve a Biodiversity Net Gain 
across the allocation through retention of high value habitat and developing a network of 
connected green corridors and ponds throughout the allocation. 

17.13 Key site-specific opportunities have been identified which could promote and enhance 
biodiversity, maintain wildlife corridors within the allocation and enhance connectivity with 
the wider landscape. They involve: 

 A wetland habitat could be created in the north west corner of the main section of the 
allocation. To include areas or marshy grassland and additional waterbodies. 

 Enhancing the existing watercourse and riparian habitat across the allocation. Linear area 
of rough grassland to be created along both sides of riparian corridor. The woodland area 
on the eastern border to be enhanced to create connectivity to the riparian corridor.  

Habitat Regulation Assessment 

17.14 A Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required for the GMSF because it is considered 
to have the potential to cause harm to the special nature conservation interest of European 
Protected Sites. The HRA made an appropriate assessment of the implications of the GMSF 
in view of conservation objectives available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/. 

17.15 The Northern Gateway allocations were considered together within the HRA. The 
assessment concluded that although more than 10km from the South Pennine Moors and 
separated from it by the significant built development the allocation had the potential to 
cause increases in diffuse air pollution because of traffic generation along the M62 and 
recreational impacts from population uplift. 

17.16 The Assessment recommended that each phase of development must be individually 
assessed once detailed plans are available particularly in relation to air pollution impacts, 
with cumulative (in combination) effects taken into account. 

 Heritage Impact Assessment 

Designated Sites 

18.1 There are no World Heritage Sites, Scheduled Monuments, Registered Battlefields or 
Protected Wrecks within the allocation or within the 1km study area.  

18.2 There are no listed buildings within the allocation boundary. There are two designated 
heritage assets outside the allocation boundary with the potential to be affected by 
development within their setting, both are Grade II Listed – Church of St. George and Heaton 
Park (Registered Park and Garden).  

18.3 Three listed buildings (Church of All Saints War Memorial, 31-37 Broad Street and Rhodes 
Schools, east are located within Rhodes, to the south of the allocation. Whilst proximate to 
the allocation, these assets are located within an urban context and due to their location, and 
the intervening development and topography they have no visual connection to the 
allocation.  

Document Pack Page 717

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
21 
 

 

18.4 The potential impact of any development upon the designated sites outside the allocation 
and surrounding landscape will be considered as a masterplan is developed.  

Rhodes Green Cropmark Site 

18.5 In the south-western part of the allocation, desk study information has indicated there is a 
possible Romano-British settlement site which may include a number of roundhouses, 
enclosures and associated field systems and trackways. However, physical evidence is 
limited and a number of circles in the fields at this location evident from aerial photography 
(Google Maps) may have been made by a circular sheep feeder.  

18.6 The GM 1.2 Archaeology and Heritage Report indicated that if the asset at Rhodes Green 
was found to represent a possible Romano-British settlement, it could represent a significant 
archaeological site. However, the evidence and sources currently available do not provide 
any definitive evidence relating to the nature of the cropmarks. 

18.7 Since the GM 1.2 Archaeology and Heritage Report was written, a geophysical survey of the 
Rhodes Green Cropmark Site has been undertaken. Detailed results are awaited but initial 
results do not indicate any evidence of significant archaeological potential. Further 
assessment of the area will be included in the archaeology strategy for the allocation. 

Melodieu's (now Mellowdew Farm) 

18.8 Whilst this farmstead has been present since the 19th century, it is thought that the historic 
farm buildings are no longer extant, although this will need to be confirmed prior to any 
development within the eastern half of the allocation. If any is present, it may be possible to 
incorporate the farmstead into future development plans to preserve the heritage of the area.  

Historic Hedgerows 

18.9 Consultation with the Greater Manchester Archaeology Advisory Service, alongside the 
review of historic mapping and the site walkover, indicates a potential requirement for a 
Historic Hedgerow survey, as the information indicates the historic use of the hedgerows as 
land and boundary management within the allocation. 

Summary  

18.10 The Promoters have been engaging closely with GMAAS regarding the proposed 
development of the allocation. A programme of further works to inform next steps and future 
masterplans has been agreed with GMAAS in the form of a Written Scheme of Investigation 
to govern an Archaeological Strategy for the allocation. The purpose of the Archaeological 
Strategy will be to summarise the works to be undertaken to identify and characterise areas 
of heritage potential across GM1.1 and GM1.2 and to ensure the appropriate study, 
recording and protection of these assets. It will support the developing masterplan for the 
Northern Gateway allocation such that it responds appropriately to the potential effects of the 
development on the historic environment.   

18.11 The proposed policy wording for the GM 1.2 Allocation has been informed by the 
archaeological work undertaken and ensures appropriate evaluation of the heritage assets at 
the allocation will be undertaken to ensure the protection of these assets in the development 
proposals.  

18.12 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 

Document Pack Page 718



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
22 
 

 

 Air Quality 

19.1 The M60 and M62 near to the allocation are identified as Air Quality Management Areas. A 
Detailed Air Quality Assessment will be required to inform the detailed masterplanning and 
planning application stage.  

19.2 The Air Quality Assessment undertaken (available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/) identifies that any stand-
off from the motorways required due to the noise constraints for residential elements of the 
scheme is likely to be sufficient as a form of mitigation to prevent any future receptors 
experiencing levels of pollution greater than the Air Quality Objective limits. 

 Noise 

20.1 A noise survey was undertaken at the allocation in November 2019 (available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) which has informed noise modelling to establish the level of noise across the 
allocation. The noise survey has identified that road traffic noise is the dominant noise 
source across the allocation.  

20.2 Following the guidance provided within the ProPg, a good acoustic design process will need 
to be followed to mitigate noise from the M62 and M60.  

20.3 Recommendations are as follows:  

 Screening of the motorways will be required by building orientation and / or barriers such 
as close boarded fences or earth bunds.  

 For the 1st tier of properties facing the motorways, gardens will need to be positioned to 
the rear of dwellings with the buildings providing a screen. Closer to the motorway, it is 
likely further screening in the form of acoustic fences or earth bunds will be required.  

 At this stage a minimum stand-off of 50m from any motorway carriageway should be 
included within the design. This would allow for the attenuation of noise with distance and 
an allow space for any barriers such as close boarded acoustic fences or earth bunds to 
be constructed. If greater stand-off’s can be incorporated this would be beneficial in terms 
of noise mitigation.  

 Generally standard double glazing should be acceptable within the allocation but for 
habitable rooms located close to the adjacent motorways, enhanced glazing may be 
required. Alternative ventilation will need to be considered within the parts of the 
allocation most exposed to road traffic noise. Such design measures are typical of 
development in similar areas close to motorways or main roads and are not considered to 
be prohibitive.  

 In addition to road traffic noise, isolated farmsteads are located within or adjacent to the 
allocation boundary in the eastern parcel of the allocation. No noise from these premises 
was observed during the survey but a good design measure would be to avoid positioning 
dwellings or gardens immediately adjacent to the curtilage of such premises.    

20.4 Through the adoption of a good acoustic design as the masterplanning of the allocation 
evolves, significant adverse effects can be avoided.  

Opportunities 

20.5 Opportunities to improve the environment with respect to noise and air quality include: 

Document Pack Page 719

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
23 
 

 

 The large area of the Allocation enables scope to incorporate a range of mitigation 
measures within the scheme to ensure significant adverse noise and air quality impacts 
are avoided.  

 Provision of green and blue infrastructure networks to provide health benefits to future 
residents as well as creating a visually attractive environment which provides opportunity 
for amenity space in a more tranquil environment.  

 Provision of Electric Vehicle (EV) “fast charge” points across the development.  

 Measures to encourage sustainable means of transport, including cycling and walking, 
through the delivery of improved public transport infrastructure, layouts to improve 
accessibility and encourage walking and cycling and a comprehensive Travel Plan to 
educate residents and encourage use of these measures. 

20.6  The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 
 

Document Pack Page 720



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
24 
 

 

Section D – Social 
 Education 

 The proposed development of up to 1,550 homes (1,350 in Bury and 200 in Rochdale) would 
generate a total yield of around 326 primary age pupils and 217 secondary age pupils. 
Current forecasts show both primary and secondary schools in the area full to capacity and, 
as such, all additional demand created would require additional school places.  

 For primary age pupils this would equate to the equivalent of 2fe, best served through the 
establishment of either two new schools (each 1fe), or one 2fe school within the allocation. 

 The demand for secondary school places needs to be considered alongside the demand 
created by other developments in South Bury.  

 Health Impact Assessment 

 Further work will be required to determine whether there is additional capacity within any 
local healthcare facilities to meet the increased demands arising from the prospective 
occupants of the new development. If additional provision is necessary, the most appropriate 
means and location for such provision can be identified through future iterations of the 
masterplan. Alternatively, there may be a requirement to make a financial contribution 
toward off site health provision through a planning obligation or condition at the planning 
application stage. 

 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

Document Pack Page 721



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
25 
 

 

Section E – Deliverability 
 Viability 

23.1 A Viability Appraisal of the allocation has been run using the Three Dragons Viability 
Appraisal base model. The site allocation is of 1,550 of which 1,350 are within Bury and the 
remaining 200 within Rochdale. Those within Bury have been tested using policy 
requirements relevant to Bury, including a requirement for 25% affordable housing. Those in 
Rochdale have been tested using Rochdale’s policies, which includes a contribution to 
affordable housing equal to 7.5% of GDV. 

Test 
Type 

Total 
BMLV, 
SDLT & 

Land acq 
fees 

Scheme RV 
(incl BLV & 

return) 

Viability measure 
as a % of BLV 

Headroom 
(blended return) 

Test result 
category 

Whether the 
test is the 
‘Base’ test 
or a 
sensitivity 
test 

The total figure 
used in the 
testing for land 
value, includes 
tax and fees. 

 

BLV = 
benchmark 
land value 

 

SDLT = Stamp 
duty land tax 

Scheme value 
(could also be 
described as 
headroom) once 
all costs have 
been accounted 
for including 
land and 
developer return 

 

RV = Residual 
value 

 

BLV = 
benchmark land 
value 

 

Description of whether the 
scheme provides 
sufficient residual value in 
terms of how it compares 
with the benchmark land 
value i.e. if it is 10% or 
more above the 
benchmark land value it is 
shown as green, if it is 
within 10% of the 
benchmark land value it is 
shown as amber and 
where it is less than 90% 
of the benchmark land 
value it is shown as red. 

The headroom 
expressed as blended 
rate of return. The 
percentages shown 
are the headroom 
available after all 
costs, except 
developer return 
divided by the total 
gross development 
value for the scheme. 
If schemes were to go 
ahead as described, 
then this is the total 
return available to the 
developer. 

Category 1 - 
The residual 
value is 
positive and 
the residual 
value is 10% 
or more above 
the benchmark 
land value. 
Schemes in 
this group are 
viable and 
should be able 
to proceed. 

Base 
model 

£25,870,000 £31,710,000 More than 10% BLV 23% Cat 1 

23.2 The testing indicates a positive return after all policy costs (including affordable housing) and 
transport and other infrastructure. The scheme is considered viable based on the high level 
Three Dragons appraisal. The allocation is classed as Category 1 – the residual value is 
10% or more above the benchmark land value, it is viable and should be able to proceed. 

 Phasing 

24.1 The policy wording for GM1.2 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be approved by the 
LPA for the allocation, which any proposals must then be in accordance with. The policy 
states that this shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an integrated approach to the 
delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development. This should include 
the delivery of highways, infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure, green 
and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision 
and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between phases of development.  

24.2 A phasing strategy is being developed through on-going discussions with key stakeholders 
in relation to highways and utilities infrastructure. The estimated phasing and delivery 
trajectory for the allocation will evolve as the plans for the allocation are developed further.  

24.3 The allocation is split into four separate outlets – one within Rochdale and three within Bury. 
First completions are anticipated to take place in 2024/25, with a delivery rate of up to 50 

Document Pack Page 722



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
26 
 

 

dwellings per output per year, with all 1,550 dwellings expected to be delivered within the 
plan period. 

  

 Indicative Masterplanning 

25.1 The Site Promoters for the Simister/Bowlee Allocation have produced an Illustrative 
Development Framework Plan to show how proposed development could come forward 
within the allocation (see following plan). This provides an indicative layout of the 
development, including the location of the residential parcels, green infrastructure, local 
centre and key pedestrian and vehicular access. The illustrative plan also shows an area of 
land proposed as safeguarded land for a potential park and ride site to serve future public 
transport links.  

25.2 Policy GM1.2 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be submitted prior to any planning 
applications within the allocation. The masterplan must include a clear phasing strategy as 
part of an integrated approach to the delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the 
whole development in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure Delivery. This should include the 
delivery of highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure including 
utilities provision, green and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging 
points, recreation provision and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between 
phases of development. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Simister Bowlee Housing Trajectory

Simister Bowlee North Simister Bowlee central Simister Bowlee South Land at Rhodes Green

Document Pack Page 723



 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 724



Section F – Conclusion 
  

 GMSF 2020 Integrated Assessment 

26.1 An Integrated Appraisal (IA) was undertaken on the 2020 draft GMSF in order to understand 
how the policy had changed since the 2019 IA and to identify if any further 
enhancement/mitigation was required. 

26.2 The majority of the 2019 recommendations for the GM1.2 Simister/Bowlee were positively 
addressed by the policy itself or other thematic policies. A small number of residual 
recommendations remained from the 2020 IA, in order to further strengthen the policies. 

26.3 In particular this included: 

 Climate Change – since the 2019 IA was undertaken there has been greater emphasis on 
the climate change agenda and this is reflective of the declaration of a climate emergency 
by the ten GM authorities; 

 Accessible design standards – whilst this is broadly covered in Policy GM-E1 and within 
GM-H3 relating to housing, it was suggested that policies are strengthened with more 
specific reference to accessible design of buildings and spaces to meet the needs of 
users. This could be achieved through strengthening Policy GM-E1. 

 Deprivation – whilst this is also broadly covered within the supporting text and broadly 
within Policy GM-E1, particularly referencing social inclusivity, it is considered that the 
policy could be more explicitly in terms of inclusive growth and making jobs available to 
existing local communities or to those suffering deprivation. 

26.4 The residual IA recommendations for GM1.2 could therefore be met through the 
strengthening of thematic Policy GM-E1.rather than any specific amendments to Policy 
GM1.2. This demonstrates the overall improvement of the 2020 draft GMSF in relation to the 
IA Framework. 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation 

27.1 The proposed site allocation at Simister/Bowlee has been significantly reduced in size since 
publication of the 2019 Draft GMSF. Land to the north of Bluebell Lane, together with a small 
area on the south western edge, are to be excluded from the Allocation and retained in the 
Green Belt. The area around Simister Village, will also now be excluded from the Allocation 
and retained as Green Belt. These reductions were in response to calls from local residents 
to preserve the character of Simister Village. In addition, there is significantly less certainty 
over the development of a new motorway junction at Birch which would have been a major 
access point into the allocation.  

27.2 The total site allocation has reduced from 206 ha (2019 draft GMSF) to 74 ha in the 
Publication GMSF 2020 with the proposed number of dwellings reducing from 2,000 to 
1,550. 

27.3 The structure of the Northern Gateway GMSF policies has altered in the 2020 GMSF. There 
is no longer an overarching policy for the Northern Gateway (GM1) but instead the 
requirements are included within the GM1.1 and GM1.2 policies. 

27.4 The 2020 GMSF has additional criteria within the policy requiring: 

 A comprehensive masterplan and phasing strategy for the allocation. 

 A financial contribution towards off-site secondary school provision to meet the needs 
generated by the development; The 2019 allocation policy required provision for a new 
1,000 place secondary school to serve prospective residents. Given the reduction in the 

Document Pack Page 725



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
29 
 

 

number of home proposed within the allocation, the requirement is now for a financial 
contribution. 

 The provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies;  

 The provision for the long-term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space and sustainable drainage 
features; 

 A project specific Habitats Regulation Assessment for planning applications of 1,000 
sq.m./50 dwellings or more to be carried out; 

 Protect and enhance the heritage and archaeological assets within the vicinity of the 
allocation and their setting in accordance with the findings of a Heritage Impact 
Assessment. 

27.5 A significant amount of evidence base work has been produced to support the allocation 
since 2019 and this has allowed the criteria within the policy to be expanded upon and be 
more specific to the allocation. 

 Conclusion 

28.1 GM1.2 Simister/Bowlee is considered to meet the site selection criteria and make a positive 
contribution to the overall vision, objectives and strategy of the GMSF.  The allocation is 
considered to be deliverable and available for development.  Further work has been 
identified to take forward the allocation through the planning process. 

28.2 The allocation provides the opportunity to deliver an urban extension which has 
transformational potential in enabling new housing development of 1,550 units, community 
facilities and new transport infrastructure to come forward in what is currently an area that 
contains significant pockets of high deprivation.  

28.3 The delivery of such a major opportunity will require significant investment in infrastructure if 
it is to be successful and sustainable. In particular, the allocation will need to benefit from a 
wide range of public transport improvements in order to promote sustainable travel and 
improve linkages to new employment opportunities at GM1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth. This could 
potentially include Bus Rapid Transit linking Manchester City Centre to the Northern 
Gateway allocation. The allocation may also benefit from a potential Bus Rapid Transit or 
Metrolink extension to Middleton. Higher density development close to these corridors will 
help support the viability of new services. These public transport improvements, will also 
need to be supported by safe and attractive walking and cycling routes to promote healthier 
and more sustainable shorter journeys to work.  

28.4 The development of a large-scale community such as this will require new facilities for 
residents such as shops, health facilities, community facilities and recreational areas. These 
will be provided in accessible locations within walking distance of homes. In addition, 
demand on school places will also increase and therefore investment in new facilities for 
primary and secondary education will be required. 

Document Pack Page 726



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
30 
 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – GM1.2 Simister/Bowlee 

Northern Gateway 

The Northern Gateway is an extensive area located around Junction 18 of the M60 motorway 
extending east to Junction 19 of the M62 and north to Junction 3 of the M66. It comprises two key 
allocations within the wider North-East Growth Corridor:  

 Heywood / Pilsworth (Bury and Rochdale) (see Policy GM Allocation 1.1 'Heywood/ Pilsworth 

(Northern Gateway)'); and 

 Simister and Bowlee (Bury and Rochdale) (see Policy GM Allocation 1.2 ‘Simister/Bowlee 

(Northern Gateway)’) 

The Northern Gateway straddles the districts of Bury and Rochdale and is positioned at a 
strategically important intersection around the M60, M62 and M66 motorways. As such, it 
represents a highly accessible opportunity for growth in Greater Manchester with wider benefits on a 
regional and national level. The central theme of the spatial strategy for Greater Manchester is to 
deliver inclusive growth across the city region complemented by a key aim to boost the 
competitiveness of the northern parts of Greater Manchester. The Northern Gateway is one of the 
key locations that will help to deliver these fundamental objectives. 

This strategic allocation will enable the delivery of a large, nationally-significant employment 
opportunity to attract high quality business and investment, with a complementary housing offer on 
the M62 corridor, where there is strong evidence of market demand. 

The allocation at Heywood/Pilsworth provides an opportunity for a substantial and high quality 
employment-led development. The scale and location of this allocation will help to rebalance the 
Greater Manchester economy, ensure the GMSF plays its part in driving growth within the north of 
England and enable Greater Manchester to be competitive both nationally and internationally. 

This will be supported by new communities as part of the Heywood/Pilsworth allocation as well as at 
Simister/Bowlee which have transformational potential in enabling new housing, community facilities 
and new transport infrastructure to come forward in what is currently an area with significant pockets 
of high deprivation, low skills and worklessness. 

To be successful and sustainable, the employment and housing opportunities need to be accessible 
by a range of transport modes and be linked directly to existing and new communities in the 
surrounding area via new recreational routes and corridors of green infrastructure which in turn 
provide an attractive setting for development. Outside of the motorway network, much of the area 
proposed for development is currently served by an inadequate transport network and this will 
require substantial investment to improve connectivity, potentially including investment in rapid 
transit. The prospective residents will require new community facilities and these will be provided in 
accessible locations within walking distance of homes. 

The opportunities at Heywood/Pilsworth and Simister/Bowlee will need to incorporate extensive 
supporting infrastructure. The full delivery of the allocation at Heywood/Pilsworth is likely to extend 
beyond the plan period. 

 

Policy GM Allocation 1.2 - Simister and Bowlee (Northern Gateway) 

Document Pack Page 727



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
31 
 

 

Any proposals for this allocation must be in accordance with a comprehensive masterplan that has 
been previously approved by the LPA(s). It shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an 
integrated approach to the delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development 
in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure Implementation. This should include the delivery of 
highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure including utilities provision, 
green and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging points recreation provision 
and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between phases of development. 

Development at this allocation will be required to: 

1. Deliver a broad mix of around 1,550 houses to diversify the type of accommodation across the 
Simister, Bowlee and Birch and Langley areas. This includes an appropriate mix of house types 
and sizes, accommodation for older persons,  plots for custom and self-build and a mix of 
housing densities with higher densities in areas of good accessibility and potential for improved 
public transport connectivity and lower densities adjacent to existing villages where 
development will require sensitive design to respond to its context; 

2. Facilitate the required supporting transport services and infrastructure including: 

i. An upgrade of the local highways network; 

ii. Traffic restrictions on Simister Lane to prevent this route from being a form of 
access/egress to and from the allocation; 

iii. Improved public transport provision through the allocation (including Bus Rapid Transit 
corridors) and close to the allocation (including potential Bus Rapid Transit or Metrolink 
extension to Middleton) in order to serve the development; and  

iv. Other off-site highway works where these are necessary to ensure acceptable traffic 
movement. 

3. Deliver a network of safe and convenient cycling and walking routes through the allocation 
designed in accordance with national and GM standards of design and construction and local 
planning policy requirements. 

4. Make provision for affordable housing in accordance with local planning policy requirements; 

5. Make provision for a new two-form entry primary school; 

6. Make a financial contribution towards off-site secondary school provision to meet the needs 
generated by the development;  

7. Make provision for a new local centre in an accessible location which includes a range of 
appropriate retail, health and community facilities and ensure that it is integrated with existing 
communities; 

8. Make provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies; 

9. Ensure the design and layout allows for effective integration with surrounding communities, 
including active travel links and connections to local services and the new area of employment 
at Heywood/Pilsworth (GM1.1); 

10. Retain, enhance and replace existing recreation facilities where required and make provision for 
new recreation facilities to meet the needs of the prospective residents in accordance with local 
planning policy requirements; 

11. Make provision for new, high quality, publicly accessible, multifunctional green and blue 
infrastructure within the allocation to provide health benefits to residents as well as creating a 
visually attractive environment and providing linkages to the sites wider drainage strategy in 
accordance with Policy GM-G2 Green Infrastructure Network and Policy GM-G9 Standards to a 

Document Pack Page 728



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
32 
 

 

Greener Greater Manchester. This should include enhancement of existing watercourses 
throughout the allocation.  

12. Minimise impacts on, and provide net gains for, biodiversity assets within the allocation, 
including the Bradley Hall Farm SBI, in accordance with Policy GM-G10 – A Net Enhancement 
of Biodiversity and Geodiversity; 

13. Ensure the allocation is safe from and mitigates for, potential flood risk from all sources 
including surface water, sewer flooding and groundwater. The delivery of the allocation should 
be guided by an appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy which ensures co-ordination 
between phases of development;  

14. Ensure that sustainable drainage systems are fully incorporated into the development to 
manage surface water and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance 
with the hierarchy of drainage options. Where possible, natural SuDS techniques should be 
utilised, prioritising the use of ponds, swales and other infrastructure which mimic natural 
drainage and be designed as multi-functional green infrastructure connecting to the wider green 
and blue infrastructure network in accordance with Policy GM-S5 - Flood Risk and the Water 
Environment and nationally recognised SuDS design standards. Proposals to discharge to the 
public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why alternative options are not 
available.  

15. Make appropriate provision for the long term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space and sustainable drainage 
features; 

16. Carry out a project specific Habitats Regulation Assessment for planning applications of 1,000 
sq.m./50 dwellings or more; 

17. Incorporate appropriate noise and air quality mitigation measures and high quality landscaping 
along the M60 motorway corridors and local road network if required within the allocation. 

18. Incorporate necessary remediation measures in areas affected by contamination and previously 
worked for landfill purposes 

19. Protect and enhance the heritage and archaeological assets within the vicinity of the allocation 
and their setting in accordance with the findings of a Heritage Impact Assessment;  

Justification 

The delivery of this urban extension has transformational potential in enabling new housing 
development of 1,550 units, community facilities and new transport infrastructure to come forward in 
what is currently an area that contains significant pockets of high deprivation. Any housing 
development within the allocation will be required to make provision for recreation and affordable 
housing to meet the needs of the prospective residents in line with Local Plan policy requirements, 
across a range of housing types, sizes and tenures.  

The delivery of such a major opportunity will require significant investment in infrastructure if it is to 
be successful and sustainable. In particular, the allocation will need to benefit from a wide range of 
public transport improvements in order to promote sustainable travel and improve linkages to new 
employment opportunities at GM1.1 Heywood/Pilsworth. This could potentially include Bus Rapid 
Transit linking Manchester City Centre to the Northern Gateway allocation. The allocation may also 
benefit from a potential Bus Rapid Transit or Metrolink extension to Middleton. Higher density 
development close to these corridors will help support the viability of new services. These public 
transport improvements, will also need to be supported by safe and attractive walking and cycling 
routes to promote healthier and more sustainable shorter journeys to work.  

The development of a large-scale community such as this will require new facilities for residents 
such as shops, health facilities, community facilities and recreational areas. These will be provided 
in accessible locations within walking distance of homes. In addition, demand on school places will 

Document Pack Page 729



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Simister/Bowlee (GM1.2) – GMSF 2020 

 
33 
 

 

also increase and therefore investment in new facilities for primary and secondary education will be 
required. 

The semi-rural nature of this part of Greater Manchester and the character and setting of small 
villages such as Simister and Bowlee will be respected and will inform the layout, density and built 
form of development in these locations. Areas of open land and green infrastructure will be 
incorporated to maintain the identities of these places, including the retention of historic field 
boundaries, route ways and woodlands where practical. The allocation also includes existing areas 
of biodiversity value, notably the streams and flushes at Bradley Hall Farm which form a Site of 
Biological Importance in the eastern part of the allocation. This SBI and other areas of identified 
biodiversity value should be taken fully into account in the masterplanning of the site. 

Delivery of the allocation should be guided by an appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy which 
ensures co-ordination between phases of development. Measures such as rainwater recycling, 
green roofs, water butts and permeable driveway surfaces should be considered to mitigate the 
impact of potential flood risk both within and beyond the site boundaries. As a green and blue 
infrastructure network will provide more sustainable options discharge surface water, only foul flows 
should connect with the public sewer. 

Traffic to and from the site is likely to include travel on the M62 which passes close to designated 
European sites and, as such, a project specific Habitats Regulation Assessment will be required for 
planning applications involving 1,000 or more sq.m. or 50 or more residential units. 

Given that the allocation is located adjacent to the M62 motorway, there may be a need to 
incorporate a buffer between the allocation and the motorway to serve multiple functions including 
air and noise mitigation and high quality landscaping. Mitigation through tree planting could be 
undertaken in conjunction with proposals for the Northern Forest. 

There are a number of assets of historical significance in proximity to the allocation, and whilst 
outside the allocation boundary, any development would need to consider the impact on their setting 
through the completion of a Heritage Impact Assessment.  

 

 

Document Pack Page 730



 
 
 
 
 
 

GM7 - Elton Reservoir 
 

Topic Paper 
 

October 2020 
 

  

Document Pack Page 731



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
1 
 

 

Contents 

 
 Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 2 

 Site Details .............................................................................................................................. 2 

 Proposed Development ........................................................................................................... 2 

 Site Selection .......................................................................................................................... 3 

 Planning History ...................................................................................................................... 4 

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses...................................................................................... 4 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment (IA) ................................................................................. 6 

 Transport ................................................................................................................................. 8 

 Flood Risk and Drainage ......................................................................................................... 9 

 Ground Conditions ................................................................................................................ 12 

 Utilities .................................................................................................................................. 13 

 Telecommunications ............................................................................................................. 14 

 Green Belt Assessment ......................................................................................................... 15 

 Green Infrastructure .............................................................................................................. 17 

 Recreation ............................................................................................................................. 18 

 Landscape ............................................................................................................................ 18 

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment ...................................................................................... 19 

 Heritage Impact Assessment ................................................................................................. 20 

 Air Quality ............................................................................................................................. 22 

 Noise ..................................................................................................................................... 22 

 Education .............................................................................................................................. 24 

 Health Impact Assessment .................................................................................................... 24 

 Viability .................................................................................................................................. 26 

 Phasing ................................................................................................................................. 26 

 Indicative Masterplanning ...................................................................................................... 28 

 GMSF 2020 Integrated Appraisal .......................................................................................... 30 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation ....................................................................... 30 

 Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 31 

Appendices 

 

Document Pack Page 732



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
2 
 

 

Section A – Background  
 Introduction 

1.1 The Elton Reservoir allocation seeks to deliver a new, high quality urban extension. The 
allocation can deliver new homes within a parkland setting, alongside recreational facilities, 
provision of new facilities for primary and secondary education, small local centres, 
community amenities and strategic transport infrastructure which includes a new link road, a 
new Metrolink stop with associated park and ride facilities. 

1.2 This Topic Paper brings together a wide range of information and evidence in connection 
with the proposed strategic site allocation. The paper may be subject to further technical 
amendments in advance of the formal commencement of consultation. 

 Site Details 

2.1 The Elton Reservoir allocation covers a total area of 251.6 ha and is located entirely within 
the Borough of Bury. 

2.2 The allocation is bound by Radcliffe to the south and Bury to the north east. The A58 
borders the northern boundary of the allocation, existing dwellings and Ainsworth Road lie to 
the west of the allocation whilst Bury Road, the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal and the 
Metrolink link run along the eastern side of the allocation. The topography is gently 
undulating, rising from South to North. 

2.3 A large proportion of the allocation is currently designated as Green Belt and 124.9 ha of the 
allocation will remain within the Green Belt.  

2.4 The allocation currently comprises agricultural land and a number of residential, employment 
and agricultural properties. In terms of agricultural land quality, the soil within the allocation 
is Grade 4 (Poor). 

 Proposed Development 

3.1 Approximately 3,500 homes are proposed within the Elton Reservoir allocation (GM7).  

3.2 The allocation will include an appropriate mix of house types and sizes designed to diversify 
the type of accommodation available in Bury and Radcliffe. This will include the provision of 
affordable housing to address local housing need, accommodation for older persons, plots 
for custom and self-build. It will also include a mix of housing densities with higher density 
development in areas with good accessibility and with potential for improved public transport 
connectivity, particularly in the southern areas of the allocation. It is expected that around 
1,900 of these homes will be delivered during the plan period and it has been estimated that 
it will house a population of around 8,000.  

3.3 The proposed development will be required to provide infrastructure to support the new 
community. This includes: 

 the provision of a north-south strategic spine road connecting Bury and Bolton Road 
(A58) to Bury Road, a strategic connection from the spine road to Spring Lane, Radcliffe 
via the former Coney Green High School site, other off-site highway works where these 
are necessary to ensure acceptable traffic movement, including in and around Radcliffe 
town centre; 

Document Pack Page 733



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
3 
 

 

 Improved public transport provision through the allocation and close to the allocation 
including a new Metrolink stop and associated park and ride; 

 More routes for walking and cycling; 

 New local centres with convenience shopping facilities and health facilities; and 

 New education provision, including two primary schools and a secondary school.  

 A country park and high quality, publicly accessible, multifunctional green and blue 
infrastructure throughout the allocation which can be used for sport, leisure and 
recreation.  

3.4 Residential development within the allocation will be limited until the above infrastructure (or 
key elements of it) are implemented as necessary mitigation. 

3.5 The 2020 GMSF Allocation proposes a minor amendment to the Allocation boundary from 
that which was presented in the 2019 GMSF with the proposed area of release now 
including a small piece of land adjacent to Burnside Close (off the B6292 Ainsworth Road). 

3.6 Appendix 1 sets out the GM7 Elton policy wording. 

 Site Selection  

4.1 The Elton Reservoir allocation is almost entirely surrounded by the existing urban area and 
is well-connected to existing infrastructure. However, the delivery of residential development 
on this allocation will require the provision of significant levels of new and improved transport 
and other supporting infrastructure. 

4.2 This will include the need to incorporate a strategic north-south spine road connecting Bury 
and Bolton Road (A58) to Bury Road, Radcliffe. The road will provide an essential alternative 
to Bury Bridge for traffic travelling south towards Manchester from the west Bury area. 
Furthermore, in order to improve linkages to and assist in the physical and social 
regeneration of inner Radcliffe, including the town centre, there is a need to provide a 
significant spur road connecting the allocation to Spring Lane via the former Coney Green 
High School site. 

4.3 The Bury to Manchester Metrolink line runs along the eastern edge of the allocation and, in 
order to reduce reliance on the car, the development will be required to incorporate the 
provision of a new Metrolink stop and any associated park and ride facilities in the Warth 
area. Direct walking and cycling connections to the Metrolink stop will also be necessary. 

4.4 Given the above, the allocation was selected for inclusion within the GMSF on the basis of 
Criteria 6 (land where transport investment (by the developer) and the creation of significant 
new demand (through appropriate development densities), would support the delivery of 
long term viable sustainable travel options and delivers significant wider community benefits) 
and Criteria 7 (land that would deliver significant local benefits by addressing a major local 
problem/issue). Further detail is provided within in the GMSF Site Selection Paper available 
at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/. 

4.5 The Elton Reservoir allocation fits within the overall GMSF spatial strategy in that it will 
contribute to inclusive growth and will contribute to boosting northern competitiveness. The 
allocation is of strategic significance, not only for Bury, but also in a Greater Manchester 
context given that it will bring forward one of the GMSF’s largest contributions to future 
housing supply and provide a diverse mix of house types and affordable housing provision. 

Document Pack Page 734

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
4 
 

 

4.6 The GMSF vision will be delivered through the pursuit of a number of broad objectives. The 
Elton Reservoir allocation will contribute to meeting the following GMSF objectives:  

 1 - Meet our housing need 

 5 - Reduce inequalities and improve prosperity 

 6 - Promote the sustainable movement of people, goods and information.  

 Planning History 

5.1 Planning permission has not been granted for any significant uses within the allocation. 
However residential schemes were approved to the north and south: 

 58810 – 191 dwellings, creation of ecological enhancement ponds and access of Bury 
and Bolton Road; and 

 45672 – Outline application for residential development including associated infrastructure 
and open space. 

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses 

 690 comments were received in relation to the allocation during the consultation on the 
Revised Draft GMSF in 2019. A summary of the key issues raised are as follows: 

Principle / Scale of development 

 Object to the scale of development in this area. Growth should be evenly distributed 
across the Borough and throughout the six towns. 

 Object to losing one of the last remaining accessible greenspaces in a lower socio-
economic area. 

 There is poor land stability and mineshafts on-site.  

 Question the relationship between the Council and developers. 

 Development should be focused on the southern area close to Derby High School 
and the new Coney Green High School. 

 Villages surrounding Radcliffe are dying and would benefit from infill development 
and connection to new infrastructure. 

 This is a site of strategic significance that will make a considerable contribution to 
housing supply, is accessible to surrounding towns and well connected to existing 
infrastructure. 

Housing 

 There is too much proposed housing density.  

 Proposed housing will not meet the needs of over 65s.  

 Proposed housing will not be affordable.  

 Concerned about the distances between existing and proposed properties. 

 There is not enough proposed housing density, which will result in a need to develop 
on greenfield land.  

 It is a deliverable site with no constraints that cannot be addressed through careful 
master planning. 

Green Belt  

 Disproportionate loss of Green Belt, which would merge Bury and Radcliffe.  

Document Pack Page 735



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
5 
 

 

 Has key functions in halting urban sprawl, sheltering wildlife, growing food and 
providing tranquillity. 

 Retained Green Belt insufficient. Unsure why it includes reservoirs and a 
crematorium. Additions can never compensate. 

 Exceptional circumstances exist in which Green Belt loss can be acceptable and 
efforts to minimise this are welcomed. 

Brownfield 

 There are many brownfield sites in Radcliffe which, if used, would aid regeneration 
and improve footfall. 

Transport 

 There would be an impact on local roads and the wider network, particularly in 
Radcliffe, where the proposed link road exits onto these roads.  

 There would be an impact on Bury Bridge/Bury New Road (some of worst congested 
nationally) and on motorway network.  

 Public transport is unreliable. Buses will not be used and need to be integrated. The 
Metrolink is overcapacity.  

 Walking/cycling plans will not work due to topography. 

 Need more parking, circular bus service to connect residents to Metrolink stops and 
a separate entrance to the cemetery. 

 Support – Detailed proposals on infrastructure welcomed 

Physical Infrastructure and utilities 

 Utilities network would not cope with the increased demand.  

 Sewerage system is at capacity and will need new and expanded facilities. 

 The existing transport network cannot cope. 

 More freight should be moved by rail.  

 More detail required on quality bus transit.  

 Metrolink links to Bolton and Rochdale should be considered.  

 Support – Detailed proposals on infrastructure welcomed 

Social Infrastructure 

 Large number of community facilities have been lost in recent years and still need 
replacing i.e. swimming pools, secondary schools, and civic suite.  

 Health provision is currently inadequate. 

 All of the schools in area are over-subscribed. 

 The Leisure Centre is popular and should not be lost. 

 Infrastructure should be built prior to houses being occupied. 

 There is a lack of detail on new health facilities. 

 Support – Detailed proposals on infrastructure welcomed 

Environmental 

 Loss of a prized asset within easy reach of population, which is heavily used by a 
wide range of people. Opening this natural area up as a country park will sterilise it 
and harm views in the area. 

 This is not just a question of upgrading. New recreational land is needed. 

 Would lead to the loss of the most biodiverse area in the Borough. Opportunities 
exist for net gain. Biodiversity gains are unrealistic and will not mitigate for loss. New 

Document Pack Page 736



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
6 
 

 

woodland is needed. The policy should mention maintain and enhance priority 
habitats. 

 Remediation required for historic landfill sites. 

 Management of park should be transferred to an organisation. 

 Objection to the loss of pitches at Warth Fold. They were well used. 

 Noise and light pollution would harm the cemetery. 

 Improve the canal for leisure e.g. water taxi, improved walking/cycling routes and off 
road routes for horse riders.  

 Homes should support species e.g. bat and swift boxes. 

 Evidence required e.g. biodiversity surveys, bat survey and open space 
management. 

 Parkland will provide substantial opportunities to protect habitats and make it 
accessible by a range of users. 

 Carbon reduction goals will not be achieved. New homes should be carbon-neutral. 

 We should invest in Green Technology. 

Air Quality  

 Bury Bridge and A56/A58 are some of worst areas in the country for air quality. 

Flood risk 

 Existing residents were adversely affected in the 2015 floods including Bury and 
Bolton Road due to the area being in a natural flood plain.  

 Concerned at the potential for the reservoir to fail and the subsequent danger for 
new and existing residents. Properties will be uninsurable. 

 Mimicking of natural drainage is unrealistic and ignores the size of the development. 

 Evidence required on Level 1&2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. Residual risk 
must be considered appropriately. 

Heritage 

 Presence of Bronze Age burial site and embankment of a horse-pulled railway. 

 Canal is a major heritage asset in the area and must be fully considered. 

Other  

 There was a lack of consultation from Bury Council  

 We should be using the latest housing projections to calculate housing need.  

 Loss of working farms and jobs is contrary to economic objectives and will lead to 
the displacement of animals. Farms are crucial to responding to climate change and 
Brexit issues.  

 The construction process will lead to an increase in crime and anti-social behaviour.  

 The site selection process has been developer-led.  

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment (IA) 

7.1 The 2019 GMSF Integrated Assessment (IA) is available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/. 

7.2 The IA reviewed how the draft 2019 GMSF policies could impact upon the environment, the 
economy, local communities, equality and public health. The IA also recommended ways in 
which the GMSF can be improved to ensure that the policies are as sustainable as possible. 

Document Pack Page 737

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
7 
 

 

7.3 The Elton Reservoir allocation performed well against the 2019 Integrated Assessment 
objectives. However a number of recommendations were made: 

 Make specific reference to energy efficiency of the housing stock; 

 Consider how housing land can enhance workforce skills and training, such as through 
construction jobs; 

 Consider feasibility study into requirements and ability of utilities and digital infrastructure 
local network to support development; 

 Benefits such as creation of construction and operational employment or improved 
transport links or increases in the range of community facilities, should consider deprived 
areas. Where possible such benefits should be maximised to help bring about long term 
benefits for deprived areas; 

 The policy could reference integration with existing communities and also encourage the 
provision of varied tenures within the development; 

 The policy could be more specific about the exact amount of green infrastructure as 
currently it states a “large amount”. There could be reference to linking to the wider green 
infrastructure network; 

 Ensure any new healthcare provision is accessible to all and that local capacity is 
considered throughout future masterplanning stages; 

 Seek to minimise the number of trips made by private car to/from the site. Consider the 
use of mitigation solutions including green infrastructure, incentivising electric vehicles 
and/or masterplan layout which reduces emissions near sensitive receptors. This is 
especially relevant to the southern side of the site where there is a close proximity to an 
air quality management area (AQIA). 

 Make reference in the policy to the enhancement of biodiversity, green infrastructure and 
geodiversity assets. The policy is currently not worded positively and instead deals with 
handling negative impact. This is especially relevant to the SBIs within the site. 

 Appropriate flood risk mitigation should be implemented (in line with best practice) for all 
developments that are within or near to areas of flood risk. This is particularly relevant to 
the east and south of the site. 

 Make reference to energy efficiency directly and ways that it can be increased, such as 
highlighting the benefits of sustainable modes of transport. 

 Ensure landscape appraisal as part of any planning application.  

 Consider listed building throughout detailed design to reduce risk throughout construction 
and operational phases. 

 Consider how development of previously developed land (PDL) sites could be 
encouraged as a result of greenfield development (e.g. by incentives or inclusion of 
adjacent PDL); 

 Promote sustainable construction methods; 

 Consider waste and recycling facilities in design e.g. consider location of waste/recycling 
facilities in design/layout of masterplans and how waste facilities can be located to 
encourage recycling. 

7.4 It is important to note that the IA was focusing on each policy in isolation from other policies 
and that many of the recommended changes for the Elton Reservoir allocation policy are 
already covered in other GMSF policies. However, some wording changes have been made 
as a result of the IA in relation to housing types, electric vehicles, heritage and archaeology. 

Document Pack Page 738



Section B – Physical  
 Transport 

8.1 The allocation is situated between the A58 Bury and Bolton Road and Bury Road. The 
allocation is bound by the Metrolink along the eastern boundary. The allocation is currently a 
mix of Other Protected Open Land and Green Belt and therefore significant infrastructure will 
need to be delivered in conjunction with the development of this allocation.  

8.2 The Locality Assessment concludes that there are capacity constraints on the highway 
network during the AM and PM peaks and therefore the proposals not only need to seek to 
reduce car travel but also provide some traffic relief. As a result, a number of mitigation 
schemes have been developed and tested to address the impacts on both the strategic and 
local road networks.  

8.3 Along with a series of public transport and active travel proposals (including the provision of 
a new Metrolink stop and park and ride) the proposals also include provision for a link road 
through the allocation connecting the A58 Bury and Bolton Road to Bury Road to the east 
and the A6053 Spring Lane in Radcliffe to the south. This link road will not only serve the 
allocation, but provide a strategic function by taking traffic away from key areas of constraint 
such as Bury Bridge in Bury and A665 Water Street/Ainsworth Road in Radcliffe, and 
providing greater network resilience. Highway improvement works are also proposed in 
Radcliffe town centre to compliment the link road proposals, and help feed traffic through 
from Spring Lane to the A665. 

8.4 The following mitigation measures have currently been identified: 

Mitigation  Description  

Necessary Strategic Interventions  

Metrolink stop and Park and Ride facility  New Metrolink stop and Park and ride 
facilities in the Warth area  

Link road and three access junctions  Link road with three access junctions  

Supporting Strategic Interventions  

Radcliffe Town centre improvements  Signalisation of Bury Road and Rectory 
Lane junctions with Spring Lane. 

Traffic management and parking bays on 
Church Street West. 

Providing Darbyshire Road connection onto 
A665 (one way) including improvements to 
the NCR6 cycle route. 

Junction realignment to create Church 
Street as major arm and Deansgate as 
minor arm. Thomas Street converted to 
one-way to reduce conflicting movements at 
junction. Formalisation of on-street parking 
on Church Street and Thomas Street. 

Junction improvement A665/Stand Lane. 

Necessary Local Mitigations  

Bus stops along the link road Delivery of up to 14 new bus stops (7 
locations with stop in each direction).  

Document Pack Page 739



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
9 

 
 

Delivery of missing section of Bolton-
Bury Cycleway 

Delivery of missing section through 
allocation to Hardman Street.  

Supporting Local Mitigations  

A56/Radcliffe Road and A58/Ainsworth 
Road/ Starling Road signal 
improvements 

Small-scale layout improvements. 

New bus routes through the allocation  Delivery of new bus routes through the 
allocation.  

SRN Interventions 

Not required   

8.5 The proposed policy wording for the Elton Reservoir allocation has been informed by the 
Locality Assessment to ensure that the allocation will be supported by the appropriate 
mitigation measures. 

8.6 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process. The potential improvement works will 
be subject to further detailed assessment and viability work. All final design solutions will be 
consistent with Greater Manchester’s best practice Streets for All highway design principles. 
The allocation would need to be supported by continuing wider transport investment across 
GM. 

 Flood Risk and Drainage 

Flood Risk Summary 

9.1 The majority of the allocation (80%) is located within Flood Zone 1 (i.e. land assessed as 
having a lower than 1 in 1000 annual probability of river flooding) and development should 
be directed into these areas, if possible. 

9.2 There is a limited area of Flood Zone 2 adjacent to the Manchester, Bolton and Bury canal to 
the south and west of Elton Reservoir, the risk in this part of the allocation is likely to be from 
the water spilling into and over the canal side in a flood event. This is classified as Low Risk 
– between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 annual probability of river flooding. 

9.3 There is an area adjacent to Crow Trees Brook to the west of the canal is that is currently 
shown in Flood Zone 3. The Environment Agency have recently re-modelled the Brook and 
this has resulted in the extent of the modelled flood outline being reduced. The flood risk is 
due to the potential for overspill from Withins Reservoir.  There is the potential that over the 
lifetime of the development there may be an increased risk of fluvial flooding in this location 
due to climate change. 

9.4 The areas at surface water risk are encompassed within the river flood risk areas and, as 
such, if these areas are avoided then both sources of risk could be accommodated. 

9.5 A Dam Break and Flood Inundation Assessment has been completed for the allocation 
which models, for a range of return periods, the extent, depths and flows of flooding if a dam 
failure occurred at Elton Reservoir. The outputs of the report indicate that the land around 
the eastern boundary of the allocation - adjacent to the Manchester, Bolton, Bury Canal and 
Metrolink line, and the urbanised area of North Radcliffe would be at risk of flooding if a 
breach occurred.  

Document Pack Page 740



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
10 

 
 

9.6 A Risk Assessment and Reservoir Safety Report has been produced to assess the likelihood 
of a dam failure of Elton Reservoir. The outputs of the report indicate:  

 that the annual probability of failure for the reservoir is 1 in 5,500 years; 

 the annual probability of failure is heavily influenced by failure of the internal structures 
and embankment, rather than external factors, such as the proposed development; and  

 Measures should be taken to reduce the risk to a level that is ‘as low as reasonably 
practical’. 

9.7 An updated Risk Assessment and Reservoir Safety Report1 has been completed which, 
building on the reports mentioned above, assesses the impact of the reservoir on the 
proposed development on the allocation. The outputs of the report indicate that: 

 There would be a marginal increase in the Population at Risk (PAR) and Average Social 
Life Loss (ASLL) should there be a breach in the reservoir, associated principally with 
increased ‘activity’ around the reservoir; and 

 The dam categorisation is likely to be impacted by a range of factors including, but not 
limited to, the construction of development downstream. The report identifies mitigation 
schemes which can be implemented, including work to the reservoir structure/and or 
associated downstream channels to implement a more onerous safety check and design 
flood event conditions. 

9.8 Areas of the allocation are within the EA Reservoir Flood Map (RFM) outlines, indicating the 
maximum extent of flooding. These areas are downstream of Elton Reservoir and are based 
on a breach of the dam.  

9.9 The extent shows the worst credible area that is susceptible to dam breach flooding. The 
map should be used to prioritise areas for evacuation/early warning.  

9.10 The chance of reservoir failure is very rare and there is an extremely good safety record in 
the UK with no loss of life due to reservoir flooding since 1925.  

9.11 Due to the allocations’s proximity to Crows Tree Brook and the Elton watercourse, 
groundwater is likely to be similar to the corresponding levels. Groundwater will follow 
topography and is unlikely to be an issue within the Elton allocation.  

9.12 Crows Tree Brook in the south of the a and Bealey’s Goit to the north-east are bound by 
areas of high ground which act as informal defences. 

9.13 The Working within Natural Processes (WwNP) dataset identifies that the west of Elton 
Reservoir allocation is recommended for tree planting whilst there are also areas 
recommended for riparian tree planting along the canal and Crows Tree Brook. Tree planting 
can significantly delay the timing of peak runoff from catchments whilst riparian planting can 
also enhance floodplain roughness to cause obstructions to significant flow paths. 

9.14 Much of the allocation is also within the Irwell Natural Flood Management scheme which 
considers scenarios where soil structure is improved, thereby making the land more 
permeable and thus increasing the soil moisture storage capacity of these areas.  

GMSF Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

                                                
 

1 HR Wallingford, Elton Reservoir Flood Studies – Phase 2: Impact of Proposed Development, September 2020 

Document Pack Page 741



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
11 

 
 

9.15 The Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (GM Level 1 SFRA) 
(https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) was completed in March 2019 as part of the evidence base to inform the 
preparation of the GMSF This SFRA initiated the sequential risk-based approach to the 
allocation of land for development and identified whether application of the Exception Test 
was likely to be necessary using the most up-to-date information and guidance. 

9.16 79% of the Elton Reservoir Allocation falls within Flood Zone 1 with the remaining in Flood 
Zones 2 and 3. The GM Level 1 SFRA concluded that the allocation had been selected 
using the site selection methodology contained in the GMSF Site Selection Topic Paper in 
order to identify those sites which best could deliver the spatial strategy. Therefore there 
were no reasonably alternative other sites in areas of lower flood risk.  

9.17 The Level 1 SFRA recommended that the identified flood risk within the GM7 Elton 
Reservoir allocation could be avoided through site layout and design as part of a detailed 
flood risk assessment.   

9.18 However GM7 Elton Reservoir was included within the GMSF Level 2 SFRA 
(https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) in order for broad scale river modelling to cover existing gaps within the 
baseline information to be carried out. This has meant that additional flood risk assessment 
has been carried out in relation to the allocation. 

GMSF Level 2 SFRA 

Level 2 SFRA Conclusions 

 To consider development within flood zone 3, solutions to mitigate the risk of flooding 
such as raising floor levels, which must also entail compensatory storage, and building on 
stilts would need to be considered.  

 This is a large allocation with potential to create significant volumes of runoff if infiltration 
is not possible. The surrounding watercourses are relatively small and may not deal with 
significant volumes being added to them. There are also areas at risk downstream so 
additional volumes could also increase flooding downstream. Crow Trees Farm Brook has 
areas at risk downstream. This development could reduce risk by safeguarding areas for 
flood storage and enhancement to reduce flows downstream. The WwNP dataset, 
discussed above, should provide a start for assessing possible areas for storage or tree 
planting.  

 A drainage strategy would be required to ensure current onsite risk can be managed 
effectively with no increase in surface water flood risk elsewhere as a result of new 
development. This will require surface water modelling based on the proposed layout and 
investigation into appropriate SuDS techniques. Infiltration SuDS may be feasible on parts 
of the allocation, subject to ground investigation and contamination testing. 

9.19 The site promoters for GM7 Elton Reservoir prepared a Flood Risk Assessment and Outline 
Drainage Strategy2 to assess the risk of flooding in more detail. To develop the allocation 
safely it recommends: 

                                                
 
2 Peel Investments (North) Limited, Land at Elton Parklands, Radcliffe, Greater Manchester – Flood 
Risk Assessment & Outline Drainage Strategies July 2020 ((https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/) 
 

Document Pack Page 742

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
12 

 
 

 Setting finished floor levels 600 mm above the 1% plus climate change flood level; 

 Safe emergency access and egress to the allocation to be provided to the north of the 
allocation;  

 An evacuation plan should be developed in consultation with the LPA;  

 Potential for soakaway use for rainwater disposal is low; but could be investigated further 
at the detailed design phase;   

 Foul sewage could be discharged into the existing public foul sewer system but may need 
reinforcement subject to the agreement of United Utilities; 

 Surface water flows will be discharged in to existing ditches and surface water culverts 
within the allocation boundary or links to the adjacent watercourses.  However it is likely 
that additional attenuation will be required and this will be discharged in line with the 
existing greenfield runoff rate or a rate agreed with the LLFA/EA/UU; 

 The eastern end of the proposed link road may need to be connected to a sewer. 

9.20 The proposed policy wording for the GM7 seeks to ensure that any development within the 
allocation is safe from and mitigates for potential flood risk from all sources. Policy GM7 
requires development to incorporate sustainable drainage systems to manage surface water 
and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance with the hierarchy of 
drainage options. Proposals to discharge to public sewer will need to submit clear evidence 
demonstrating why alternative options are not available. As a green and blue infrastructure 
network will provide more sustainable options discharge surface water, only foul flows 
should communicate with the public sewer. 

9.21 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  The majority of the allocation is 
located within flood zone 1 and the allocation will not result in any reduction in flood plain 
storage compared to the existing situation.  A holistic outline drainage strategy has been 
produced and this will be taken forward and incorporated into the final masterplan.  It 
ensures that drainage will be considered on an allocation wide basis rather than smaller 
plots within the allocation coming forward with individual drainage plans.  The Strategy also 
proposes that green SuDs will used where possible across the allocation.  All proposed 
mitigation measures will be agreed with the Environment Agency, United Utilities and the 
LLFA prior to commencement of any development. 

9.22 Detailed agreement will be required between the site promoters and the owners of Elton 
Reservoir to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures (both in advance of any 
development and on-going mitigation measures) are agreed and secured prior to the 
commencement of any development.  This may need to be secured via legal agreements. 

 Ground Conditions 

10.1 Given the size of the Elton Reservoir allocation, there are a number of previous uses 
including farm yards, former railways, areas of infilling, collieries, allotments, marshlands and 
reservoirs.  

10.2 The allocation is in close proximity to a number of historical landfill sites and is partially 
within a Radon Class 2 Area. The geological mapping indicates the allocation is underlain by 
glacial till in the north and west and glaciofluvial deposits (silts, clays, sands and gravels) in 
the south and east of the allocation. The superficial deposits are underlain by the Penning 
Middle Coal Measures and Pennine Lower Coal Measures Secondary A Aquifers. At least 6 
faults run across the allocation. 

Document Pack Page 743



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
13 

 
 

10.3 A Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment (March 2019) (available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) has been produced.  

10.4 The assessment includes an appraisal of the allocation environmental setting, including its 
geology, hydrogeology and hydrological regime, mining activities, waste management 
issues, and identification of additional environmental sources, pathways and receptors. This 
information has been used to compile a clear site conceptual model, which identifies 
potential sources, pathways and receptors and likely pollution linkages. 

10.5 Site reconnaissance and hand dug trial holes were carried out. Evidence of historic infilled 
ponds was noted. Made ground was observed in some of the areas, containing pottery, 
brick, ash, clinker, over natural sandy clay. 

10.6 Coal Authority records have found 20 recorded mine entries within the allocation boundary 
and another 4 recorded within 20m of the allocation boundary. 

10.7 The Assessment has been reviewed by Bury Council Environmental Health department. 
They have recommended that a Phase 2 investigation is carried out for all areas proposed 
for development and this is to include gas and groundwater monitoring. It is recommended 
that this investigation is to be carried out at the pre-planning application stage.  Furthermore 
Japanese Knotweed has been identified which will be required to be dealt with appropriately. 

10.8 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Utilities 

United Utilities 

11.1 In their response to the 2019 GMSF consultation, United Utilities highlighted that new 
development should be focused in sustainable locations which are accessible to local 
services and infrastructure. United Utilities will continue to work to identify any infrastructure 
issues and appropriate resolutions throughout the development of the Spatial Framework. 

11.2 However, as the full detail of the development proposals are not yet known at this allocation 
stage (e.g. the detail of the drainage proposals or the water supply requirements), United 
Utilities cannot fully conclude the impact on their infrastructure over a number of 5-year 
investment periods. Therefore, as more detail becomes available, it may be necessary to co-
ordinate the timing for the delivery of development with the timing for delivery of 
infrastructure. The Council will need to agree drainage proposals prior to the submission of 
any future planning applications.  

11.3 In relation to the Elton Reservoir allocation, United Utilities have advised that there is a large 
pressurised water main and sewers which cut through the allocation. In addition, there is 
also an existing UU easement which will need to be considered. Consideration must also be 
given to disposal of surface water in the most sustainable way. United Utilities are keen for 
the allocation to connect to Bury Wastewater to the east of the allocation rather than connect 
to Bolton Wastewater to the west as there are capacity issues on the network in this location. 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 744

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
14 

 
 

Electricity  

Electricity North West (ENW) 

11.4 Electricity North West have carried out assessments on the proposed GMSF allocations 
which have fed into their ‘Spatial Energy Plan’ (available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/). This is a high level 
assessment of the expected impact of the proposed developments on the electricity network. 
In relation to Elton Reservoir, the assessment indicated that there are no primary substation 
capacity issues envisaged due to forecast additional load resulting from the proposed 
development. 

11.5 ENW asset plans and online mapping services identify five pylons stationed within the 
allocation with overhead lines crossing and one pylon which adjoins the allocation on 
western boundary. There are also a number of High Voltage and Low Voltage cables 
running in the carriageways and footpaths surrounding the allocation. 

11.6 Electricity North West in their response to the 2019 GMSF consultation, advised that they 
were confident in being able to meet the network capacity requirements for the level of 
investment and growth proposed in Greater Manchester. Where necessary they have 
secured the appropriate regulatory allowances within their ‘Well Justified Business Plan.’  

Gas 

National Grid Infrastructure  

11.7 The nearest point of connection from the National Grid network to the allocation is an 
Intermediate Pressure Main which is approximately 350 metres from the allocation boundary 
at Ainsworth Road. This connection would allow the allocation to be served sufficiently 
although upgrades will be required.  

 Telecommunications  

Existing BT Infrastructure   

12.1 There is existing BT infrastructure within the vicinity of the allocation. Further detailed 
discussions will need to take place with BT as the allocation moves through the planning 
process to establish whether or not any of the existing infrastructure needs to be diverted as 
a result of the proposals. Discussions will also need to take place to establish if there is 
sufficient capacity within the network to support the proposals or if any upgrades to the 
existing infrastructure are required.  

Existing Virgin Media Infrastructure  

12.2 There is an existing Virgin Media underground network which runs to properties (Coney 
Green) at the end of Greenbank Road and are within the proposed allocation boundary. 

12.3 There is a Virgin Media underground cable which runs into the proposed development area 
and terminates at Chapel Lodge on Cemetery Road. 

12.4 There is a Virgin Media underground cable which runs into the proposed development area 
and terminates at Brook Bottom Farm on St Andrews Road. 

 

Document Pack Page 745

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
15 

 
 

Section C – Environmental 
 Green Belt Assessment 

13.1 The proposed removal of Green Belt from the Elton Reservoir allocation has been informed 
by several studies undertaken by LUC (available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/): 

 The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016  

 Green Belt Harm Assessment, 2020; 

 Greater Manchester Green Belt Study – Identification of Opportunities, 2020 

13.2 The proposed allocation would involve the release of 126.7 ha. of land from the Green Belt. 

13.3 In 2016 GMCA commissioned LUC to undertake an assessment of the Green Belt within 
GM. The Study assessed the extent to which the land within the GM Green Belt performs 
against the purposes of Green Belts, as set out in paragraph 80 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). The aim of this Green Belt Assessment is to provide the GM 
Authorities with an objective, evidence-based and independent assessment of how GM’s 
Green Belt contributes to the five purposes of Green Belt, as set out in national policy. It also 
examines the case for including within the Green Belt potential additional areas of land that 
currently lie outside it. 

13.4 In The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016 GM7 Elton Reservoir was included 
within Strategic Green Belt Area 10. There were 4 different purposes of Green Belt that each 
Area was assessed against and the Area performs as follows: 

 Purpose 1: To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas: Moderate-Strong 

 Purpose 2: To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another: Strong 

 Purpose 3: To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment: Moderate-
Strong 

 Purpose 4: Preserving the setting and special character of historic towns: Moderate-
Strong 

13.5 In 2019 LUC carried out an assessment identifying the potential opportunities to enhance the 
beneficial use of remaining Green Belt within 2 km of the allocation site. The study 
considered the opportunities to offset the loss of Green Belt through compensatory 
improvements to the environmental quality and accessibility of the remaining Green Belt 
land. 

13.6 Land lying within the retained Green Belt and within 2 km of GM 7, Elton Reservoir will form 
the focus of Green Infrastructure (GI) recommendations / mitigation to enhance the 
‘beneficial use’ of the Green Belt. This includes 3 sites proposed to be added to the Green 
Belt at Lower Hinds, Radcliffe (Off New Road) and Hollybank Street. 

13.7 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt relevant to the Elton Reservoir Allocation 
identified in the assessment include: 

 Retain and accommodate the Irwell Sculpture Trail within development proposals; 

 Introduce access track and car park improvements north of Elton Sailing Club; 

Document Pack Page 746

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
16 

 
 

 Settlement linkages could also be improved between Redvales and the retained Green 
Belt; 

 Upgrade sections of the PRoW network to cycleway standard and create a new crossing 
point on the A58;  

 Create an access point at Warth Road through the existing underpass and new crossing 
point over the River Irwell; 

 Conserve and enhance the existing disused railway line; 

 Enhance the existing PRoW network through improvements such as re-surfacing, access 
control, way-marking and interpretation; 

 Create Elton ‘Country Park’ including a masterplan to create a regional destination site. 
Detailed interventions could include informal play, wildlife access provision (hides) and 
interpretation. Inclusion of planting and management provision to ensure flora and fauna 
reliant on areas of refuge away from recreational disturbance are generously 
accommodated 

 Create new ‘wetland’ habitat adjacent to, and extending from Manchester, Bury and 
Bolton Canal; together with appropriate planting along this linear corridor; 

 Link the SBI sites at Elton Reservoir and Daisyfield to the Lower Hinds Green Belt 
Addition to the north along the River Irwell using site specific habitat enhancement. The 
opportunity also exists to link the green infrastructure at the reservoir with the [enhanced] 
semi natural grassland SBI at Elton Goyt to the east, creating a more functional habitat 
mosaic; 

 Hedgerows and settlement edge vegetation should be retained and strengthened to 
ensure green infrastructure continuity, and to provide appropriate screening in and around 
key wildlife features; 

 Build on historic and remnant land-use practices adjacent the canal and the reservoirs to 
maintain lowland hay meadows and neutral/acid pastures. Seek to enhance the 
ecological and hydrological beneficial features within the area of retained Green Belt by 
combining flood risk reduction with green infrastructure improvements; 

 Extend existing woodland blocks in Green Belt west and north west of GM Allocation 07; 

 Reinforce woodland at Ainsworth Lodge SBI through extensions south and across the 
A58 Bury and Bolton Road; 

 Introduce green buffers and green wedges of native woodland and shrub planting at the 
junction between existing and proposed development, and along transport corridors such 
as the A58 to provide softer edges to urbanised areas; 

 Create a gateway feature on the A58 linking the narrow section of Green Belt to the North 
and South. 

13.8 Some of these opportunities have been included within the policy requirements for the 
allocation. Others will be more appropriately dealt with through more detailed masterplans or 
subsequent planning applications. 

13.9 In conjunction with the assessment of GI opportunities within the Green Belt, LUC carried 
out an assessment to identify potential harm from the proposed GMSF allocations to the 
Green Belt through the Green Belt Harm Assessment. The Assessment shows that land 
within the allocation makes a moderate to significant contribution to preventing the sprawl of 
Greater Manchester and a relatively significant contribution to maintaining the separation of 
Bury and Radcliffe.  

Document Pack Page 747



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
17 

 
 

13.10 It is proposed to retain some Green Belt land within the allocation which would maintain 
some localized separation between Bury and Radcliffe but the contribution of this retained 
Green Belt would be diminished as a result of some weakening of the Green Belt boundary, 
increasing urbanising containment and a reduction in connectivity with the wider Green Belt. 
However, due to the extent of containment of the allocation by inset settlement, its release 
would not impact the wider Green Belt outside the allocation. 

13.11 Evidence on Green Belt is only one part of the evidence base that influence any decision on 
Green Belt release. Consequently, where studies have found that high harm is to be caused 
by release of the Green Belt, this finding should be balanced against other important factors 
that could make up exceptional circumstances such as sustainability, viability and 
deliverability.  

13.12 The Elton Reservoir allocation is deemed necessary to deliver a key strategic housing 
opportunity with supporting transport infrastructure. The allocation is critical in responding to 
the spatial strategy in the GMSF and its key themes of ‘Inclusive Growth’, ‘Making the Most 
of Key Locations and Assets’ and ‘Addressing Disparities’ It also directly addresses the 
aspirations set by Policy GM Strat-6 Northern Areas which seeks to boost economic 
opportunities and diversify housing provision in the north of conurbation by the selective 
release of Green Belt. The scale of development planned within the Elton Reservoir 
allocation is transformational in nature as it has the potential to deliver significant benefits 
over a wider area whilst at the same time meeting its own infrastructure needs including 
contributing towards transport improvements that have wider benefits and provision of 
schools, local centres and health facilities. 

13.13 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt study discussed earlier are not exhaustive 
and will require consultation with key stakeholders. This may require further surveys and 
viability testing to establish costings. Nonetheless, the enhancement potential demonstrates 
that opportunities do exist to help offset the loss of Green Belt which will have a potential 
positive effect on the beneficial use of the Greater Manchester Green Belt moving forward. 

13.14 The final masterplan for the allocation will be required to use the findings from all the 
assessments on Green Belt in the area to inform the layout and form development across 
the allocation.  

 Green Infrastructure 

14.1 The emerging Masterplan for Elton Reservoir includes a new Parkland between Radcliffe 
and Bury which will establish an extensive multi-functional green and blue infrastructure 
network of substantial quality. The Parkland is a ‘core’ part of the concept for the 
development, to establish a new Parkland community which creates a sustainable place with 
unique character. 

14.2 The new Parkland will be a diverse environment which balances the needs of ecology, 
nature and landscape conservation, habitat biodiversity and recreation, as well as the 
enhancement of working agricultural holdings. Its integration with neighbouring communities 
and associated residential development will support a high quality natural and built 
environment. 

14.3 Elton Parkland will draw on the heritage, landscape and natural assets of the local area to 
create open and accessible greenspaces for all to enjoy. The Parkland will: 

 Be publicly accessible for walking, cycling, jogging, watersports, picnics and recreation, 
providing benefits to mental and physical health; 

 Retain, enhance and manage existing landscape and ecological assets; 

Document Pack Page 748



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
18 

 
 

 Promote and interpret the distinctive heritage of each place; 

 Increase local biodiversity and create new landscape features and wildlife habitats; 

 Be managed to promote long-term stewardship, encourage sustainable public use, 
promote education and enhance visitor and tourist experiences. 

14.4 The Parkland will be of lasting benefit to Bury and Radcliffe, significantly enhancing Bury, 
Radcliffe and Greater Manchester’s green infrastructure provision. It will provide a major 
boost to creating a greener city region. 

14.5 The Elton Parkland will be delivered as part of the implementation of proposed urban 
extension. The residential development will generate capital which will enable the Parkland 
to be delivered in a phased manner.  

14.6 The site promoters can facilitate the delivery of the Parkland because of its extensive 
landholdings within the allocation and its experience and strategic approach to delivery. The 
Parkland will be delivered by creating enhanced public access, better and additional 
circulation systems, visitor facilities and associated landscape improvements and 
biodiversity initiatives. It could incorporate the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal, Irwell 
Sculpture Trail and National Cycle Network that pass through the allocation. 

 Recreation 

15.1 New play areas and sports facilities will be required to support the delivery of housing at Elton 
Reservoir in line with Bury’s Local Plan requirements. The new Parkland will create a multi-
functional green and blue infrastructure network which will enhance the recreational assets of 
the local area. It will establish a new visitor destination, with opportunities for leisure and 
exercise that will help to improve health and wellbeing. 

15.2 Good public transport and cycling/walking links will integrate the allocation with surrounding 
communities allowing access to existing nearby sports and recreation facilities, nearby local 
centres in Radcliffe and Bury and connections to Route 6 of the National Cycle Network. 

 Landscape  

16.1 Historically, there have been a number of studies which have attempted to ascribe value or 
character to the Borough’s landscape: 

 Bury Council’s Open Land Study of 1978 included a landscape quality assessment of the 
Borough, placing each area of open land into one of 5 value bands. Most of the Elton 
allocation was included in the 2nd or 3rd quality levels.  

 Greater Manchester’s river valleys are a defining landscape feature of the sub-region and 
strongly associated with its historical development. Much of the Elton allocation was 
included in the Croal Irwell River Valley Plan (GMC, 1986), which was a plan for 
environmental protection and improved recreation facilities in the two river valleys. 

 Bury’s Unitary Development Plan (1998) carried forward the river valley protection policy 
of the Croal Irwell Plan. 

 In 2009 Bury Council carried out a landscape character assessment of the Borough. 
Elton’s character was identified as being defined by its canal and river valley features. 

 The 2014 National Landscape Character survey placed the Borough’s land into one of 
three landscape character types. Much of the Borough, including the Elton area was 
placed in the Manchester Pennine Fringe character area (NCA no.54). 

Document Pack Page 749



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
19 

 
 

 In 2018 consultants LUC produced a ‘Landscape Character and Sensitivity Assessment’ 
of Greater Manchester. 

16.2 The forthcoming Bury Local Plan will incorporate this landscape value and protection into its 
green infrastructure policy, with the main landscape features, the Irwell Valley, Elton 
Reservoir and the MBB Canal being protected within the allocation. 

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment 

17.1 An ‘Elton Reservoir Outlined Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy (March 2019) 
(available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/) has been produced which identifies the main 
ecological considerations and opportunities associated with the development and delivery of 
the Elton Reservoir allocation. It identifies the necessary mitigation measures associated 
with the proposed development and considers where there are opportunities for green 
infrastructure and ecological enhancement to achieve a measurable net gain for biodiversity. 

17.2 The Elton Reservoir area contains 7 sites of local interest for nature conservation and much 
of it is included in the Irwell Valley wildlife corridor. All of these are regarded as ‘core green 
infrastructure’.  

Sites of Biological Importance (SBI) within the 
allocation 

Grade1 

Elton Reservoir SBI A 

Withins Reservoir SBI B 

Spen Moor Ponds SBI B 

Elton Goit SBI B 

Marl Pits at Black Lane SBI A 

Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal SBI A 

Wetland Near Radcliffe SBI C 

1 – Grade A: County Importance, Grade B: District Importance and Grade C: More Than Local 
Importance 

17.3 Ashclough SSSI and Nob End SSSI lie approximately three kilometres and four kilometres 
south-west of the allocation respectively. At its closest point, the Rochdale Canal SSSI lies 
approximately nine kilometres east of the proposed allocation. 

17.4 The allocation also supports a number of broad habitat types and species (further 
information can be found in the full report). 

17.5 The report concludes that it is feasible to achieve protection of the SBIs, priority habitats, 
protected species as part of the mitigation proposals presented in the development 
framework, namely through: 

 The ‘Elton Parkland’ which will include habitats to be retained, created, enhanced and 
managed; and 

 The built environment (areas of the allocation which will be landscaped to ensure habitat 
creation and contribute to green infrastructure and sustainable urban drainage). 

17.6 NPPF (para 174) requires LPAs ‘to pursue opportunities for achieving measurable 
biodiversity net gain’ (BNG). The Environment Act currently passing through parliament will 

Document Pack Page 750

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
20 

 
 

make this a statutory requirement. This requirement will be applied to all new development 
seeking planning permission, which to be granted consent will have to demonstrate that it 
will deliver a net gain for biodiversity. The metric to be used to assess biodiversity gain uses 
habitat quantity and quality as a proxy for biodiversity value. It is worth noting that habitat 
can also be used to a degree as a proxy for green infrastructure value so the calculation can 
also be used to demonstrate wider benefits. 

17.7 Currently BNG is considered as an opportunity within this allocation and the GM7 Allocation 
policy sets out that net gain will be sought. 

17.8 The report has been reviewed by the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) who 
concluded that the level of detail provide is sufficient for this stage in the plan making 
process. Additional ecological information will be required should planning applications come 
forward but noted that it would be premature at this stage to carry out detailed survey’s.  

17.9 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

Habitat Regulation Assessment 

17.10 A Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required for the GMSF because it is considered 
to have the potential to cause harm to the special nature conservation interest of European 
Protected Sites. The HRA made an appropriate assessment of the implications of the GMSF 
in view of conservation objectives (https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/). 

17.11 The Habitats Regulation Assessment (December 2018) concluded that the allocation is too 
distant and too separated from any European protected sites for discernible effects to occur.  
However, development at Elton could contribute a very small cumulative impact alongside 
other GMSF developments, via traffic pollution on the Manchester Mosses SAC, via water 
pollution on the Mersey Estuary SPA and via recreational disturbance on the Peak District 
SAC and SPA. 

 Heritage Impact Assessment 

18.1 The GMSF Historic Environment Assessment Screening Exercise (June 2019) 
(https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) concluded that further assessment of the historic environment was required 
given the number of designated sites within and outside the allocation. 

18.2 A designated heritage asset lies within the allocation and therefore has the potential to be 
directly affected by the allocation, and also indirectly affected by allocation in its setting: 

 Old Hall Farmhouse (grade II listed building): 

18.3 Three designated heritage assets are outside the allocation, but close to it, and have the 
potential for their significance to be affected through development within their setting:   

 Gate Piers to the North West of Old Hall Farmhouse (grade II Listed Building); 

 Church of St Andrew (grade II Listed Building); 

 Church of St Thomas and St John Listed Building (grade II Listed Building) 

18.4 There are no Scheduled Monuments within the allocation and no designated assets which 
are primarily archaeological in character. A total of 17 sites of archaeological interest have 
been identified within the allocation.  

Document Pack Page 751

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
21 

 
 

18.5 The line of the Manchester-Ribchester Roman road is known to cross the allocation. There is 
also the potential for non-designated heritage assets from all periods. 

Old Hall Farmhouse 

18.6 The Illustrative Masterplan shows a potential illustrative layout for development within the 
allocation. Areas of proposed development are set back some distance to the south from Old 
Hall Farmhouse beyond a belt of agricultural fields, ensuring separation between the listed 
building and the new development. No development is proposed to the north side of the 
listed building, which will successfully ensure that the views towards and away from the 
principal northern elevation are unaffected.  

18.7 A green landscaping strategy, including retention of trees and field boundaries in the area of 
development to the north of the farmhouse to retain the green and rural character of its 
setting will be delivered. Additionally, consideration will be given to the density of 
development and appropriate heights in the area to the south of the farmhouse.  

18.8 Whilst the development will result in change to the wider setting of this listed building, it is 
noted that this is already characterised by a mix of uses and views exist towards built 
development to the north and north east. 

18.9 The archaeological site with the most significance is the late Neolithichengiform monument 
and associated features on land between Withins Reservoir and Radcliffe Cemetery. This 
site has been partially investigated by means of small scale archaeological excavations and 
geophysical survey.  

18.10 The geophysical survey also identified a ring ditch close to the hengiform monument. The 
monument may represent the focus of ritual and communal activities of early farming 
communities of the Upper Irwell valley. The prehistoric archaeological potential within the 
allocation beyond the known site of the hengiform monument is hinted at by the find of a 
Neolithic adze in 2017 close to the hengiform monument and the underlying sands and 
gravels which provided favourable ground conditions for prehistoric settlement and activity.  

18.11 The course of a Roman road, running from Manchester to Ribchester is confidently predicted 
to run across the allocation on the basis of historic mapping and LiDAR data. No other 
Roman sites or artefacts have been recovered from the immediate area but the Roman road 
and any Roman period activity presented alongside the road, will be a material consideration 
in the masterplan. There is little to suggest the presence of any particular medieval 
archaeological remains within the allocation but any of the sites of the now abandoned post-
medieval farmsteads such as Hams Farm may have been established in the medieval 
period. The archaeologies of the post medieval agricultural landscape and Industrial 
Revolution are also represented within the allocation with several abandoned farmsteads, 
three relict collieries, colliery workers’ housing, disused railways, a canal and a brick croft. 
With respect to historic landscape character there are 661 individual historic landscape 
parcels within the Allocation and a buffer of 1km around the allocation boundary. 

Summary  

18.12 The site promoters have been engaging closely with GMAAS regarding the proposed 
development. A programme of further works to inform next steps and future masterplans has 
been agreed with GMAAS in the form of a Written Scheme of Investigation to govern an 
Archaeological Strategy for the allocation. The purpose of the Archaeological Strategy will be 
to identify and characterise areas of heritage potential across GM7 and to support the 
developing masterplan for the Elton Reservoir allocation, through the assessment of 
archaeological potential and development of tools to ensure the development responds 
appropriately to the potential effects of development on the historic environment.   

Document Pack Page 752



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
22 

 
 

18.13 The proposed policy wording for the GM7 Allocation has been informed by the 
archaeological work undertaken and ensures appropriate evaluation of the heritage assets 
within the allocation will be undertaken to ensure the protection of these assets in the 
development proposals.  

18.14 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Air Quality 

19.1 The allocation is not located within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). However, 
development associated with traffic will pass through an AQMA. An Air Quality Statement 
(March 2019) available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ has been produced in support of the allocation 
and considers the impact of the proposed development on air quality. Whilst the information 
at this stage is limited, the statement does conclude that given the size of this allocation, air 
quality impacts are likely to occur and mitigation will be required. 

19.2 As such the statement recommends that: 

 No residential properties should be located further forward than current residential 
properties along the A58 Bury and Bolton Road. This may be reviewed if detailed air 
quality monitoring is undertaken at a more advanced stage of the proposals; 

 A full assessment of the likely impact of new traffic associated with development of the 
land on local air quality and in particular the existing AQMAs can be undertaken at a more 
advanced stage; and 

 Careful consideration be given to transport infrastructure associated with the scheme. 

19.3 Bury Council’s internal Environmental Health Team have reviewed the Air Quality Statement 
and have made the following observations: 

 A detailed Air Quality Assessment will be required to quantify the impact; 

 It has been concluded that it is likely the development will have a significant impact on 
local air quality therefore mitigation measures will be required to include encouraging the 
use of public transport and the provision of electric charging points. 

19.4 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Noise 

20.1 The Elton Reservoir Noise Assessment (March 2019) available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ has been undertaken to identify potential noise sources which are likely to have 
an impact on the allocation.  

20.2 The assessment states that the existing road traffic noise from the A58 has the potential to 
impact on the allocation. Further assessment is needed to ensure that national noise 
standards are not exceeded from this source.  

20.3 To the east of the allocation lies the Metrolink tram line. However, the line does not have any 
heavy freight. Given there are existing densely population areas located close to the 
Metrolink line, the report concludes that the potential noise impact from the Metrolink would 
not prohibit housing in this area.  

Document Pack Page 753

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
23 

 
 

20.4 The noise assessment has identified the main industrial, commercial noise and 
entertainment sources in the vicinity of the allocation. A detailed noise assessment which 
considers these sources in more detail has not been undertaken. Therefore, additional 
detailed information will be required if planning applications for the allocation are submitted.  

20.5 The assessment concludes that the impact of noise would not be a barrier to residential 

development on most of the land within the allocation boundary. It recommends: 

 Noise from transportation sources around the allocation would need to be considered as 
part of any future planning application/s which is likely to require an Environmental Impact 
Assessment; 

 Noise from industrial and commercial sources located around the periphery of the 
allocation would need to be assessed in more detail as part of any detailed planning 
application/s submitted; 

 There are areas within the allocation and located close to the allocation which are 
considered tranquil areas and careful design of the masterplan should aim to protect the 
noise environment at these locations; 

 Good acoustic design should be considered as part of the development of the masterplan 
to protect existing noise sensitive receptors. 

20.6 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 

Document Pack Page 754



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
24 

 
 

Section D – Social 
 Education 

 The Elton Reservoir allocation is expected to yield approximately 735 primary age pupils and 
490 secondary age pupils. For primary age pupils, this would equate to the equivalent of a 4 
form entry (fe) best served through the establishment of 2 new 2fe schools within the 
allocation. The demand for secondary school places needs to be considered alongside the 
demand created by other developments in North Bury. Taken together this suggests the 
establishment of a new 6fe secondary school, possibly within the Elton Reservoir allocation. 

 The current masterplan includes the land required to accommodate two 2fe primary schools, 
which would be sufficient to accommodate the primary school pupils identified above. 

 The most recent view on a potential location for a new secondary school, as reflected in the 
recently adopted Strategic Regeneration Framework for Radcliffe, suggests the Council 
owned former ‘Coney Green’ school site off Spring Lane would be most suitable. The site 
currently houses Radcliffe Leisure Centre and Pupil Referral Unit. The new school would be 
accommodated in a new building. 

 Initially, to meet current demand the building will comprise a provision of a 4fe (600 place) 
secondary school, with potential for this to increase to 7fe (1,050) in the longer term linked to 
the development of sites contained within the GMSF. 

 Health Impact Assessment 

 In terms of healthcare provision, the nearest doctors surgeries are at: 

 Watling Street/Mile Lane, Bury 

 Spring Lane, Radcliffe 

 Church Street West, Radcliffe; and 

 Cross Lane, Radcliffe. 

 However, other facilities are present in Bury town centre and Whitefield district centre. 

 In terms of dental surgeries, the most accessible would be: 

 Radcliffe Town Centre; 

 Ainsworth Road; and 

 Bolton Road, Radcliffe 

 Other dental surgeries are further afield including those at Bury Town Centre, Redvales, 
Chapel Field and Whitefield. 

 It is estimated that the provision of 3,500 dwellings at the allocation site could accommodate 
around 8,000 additional residents, based on the average household size in Bury at the 2011 
Census. Based on the national benchmark of 1,800 patients per GP and 1,400 per dentist, 
the allocation might generate demand equivalent to four GPs and dental practitioners. 

 Further work will be required to determine whether there is additional capacity within any of 
the facilities listed above to meet the increased demands arising from the prospective 
occupants of any new development. If additional provision is necessary, the most 

Document Pack Page 755



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
25 

 
 

appropriate means and location for such provision can be identified through future iterations 
of the masterplan. Such facilities might potentially be included in conjunction with proposals 
for new local centres within the development. Alternatively, there may be a requirement to 
make a financial contribution toward off site health provision through a planning obligation or 
condition at the planning application stage. 

 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 

Document Pack Page 756



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
26 

 
 

Section E – Deliverability 
 Viability 

23.1 A Viability Appraisal of the allocation has been run using the Three Dragons Viability 
Appraisal base model. The model incorporates the full 25% affordable housing requirement 
and other policy requirements, together with the supporting infrastructure. The results are set 
out in the table below: 

Test 
Type 

Total BMLV, 
SDLT & Land 

acq fees 

Scheme RV 
(incl BLV & 

return) 

Viability measure 
as a % of BLV 

Headroom 
(blended return) 

Test result 
category 

Whether 
the test is 
the ‘Base’ 
test or a 
sensitivity 
test 

The total figure 
used in the testing 
for land value, 
includes tax and 
fees. 

 

BLV = benchmark 
land value 

 

SDLT = Stamp 
duty land tax 

Scheme value 
(could also be 
described as 
headroom) 
once all costs 
have been 
accounted for 
including land 
and developer 
return 

 

RV = Residual 
value 

 

BLV = 
benchmark 
land value 

 

Description of whether 
the scheme provides 
sufficient residual value 
in terms of how it 
compares with the 
benchmark land value 
i.e. if it is 10% or more 
above the benchmark 
land value it is shown 
as green, if it is within 
10% of the benchmark 
land value it is shown 
as amber and where it 
is less than 90% of the 
benchmark land value it 
is shown as red. 

The headroom 
expressed as blended 
rate of return. The 
percentages shown 
are the headroom 
available after all 
costs, except 
developer return 
divided by the total 
gross development 
value for the scheme. 
If schemes were to go 
ahead as described, 
then this is the total 
return available to the 
developer. 

Category 1 - 
The residual 
value is 
positive and 
the residual 
value is 10% 
or more above 
the benchmark 
land value. 
Schemes in 
this group are 
viable and 
should be able 
to proceed. 

Base 
model 

£27,350,000 £47,890,000 More than 10% 
BLV 

22% Cat 1 

(Note that although allocation proposes around 3,500 dwellings, the appraisal is based on 3519 
dwellings, based on indicative information provided by the site promoter.) 

23.2 The testing indicates a positive return, however due to the need to provide significant 
infrastructure, particularly the link road, at an early stage of the development there may be a 
need for an element of forward funding. The Council, TfGM, Peel Land and Property and 
other partners will work together to ensure infrastructure can be delivered at the appropriate 
phase of the development. 

 Phasing 

24.1 The policy wording for GM7 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be approved by the 
LPA for the allocation, which any proposals must then be in accordance with. The policy 
states that this shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an integrated approach to the 
delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development. This should include 
the delivery of highways, infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure, green 
and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision 
and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between phases of development.  

24.2 The policy also states that residential development within the allocation will be limited until 
key elements of new improved highways infrastructure is implemented as necessary 
mitigation. 

Document Pack Page 757



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
27 

 
 

24.3 A phasing strategy will be developed through on-going discussions with key stakeholders in 
relation to infrastructure delivery. The estimated phasing and delivery trajectory will evolve 
as the plans for the allocation are developed further. 

24.4 The allocation is in an established market area which experiences strong demand for new 
homes. It has multiple access points and will deliver a wide range of dwelling types and 
sizes, meaning that there are opportunities for multiple sources of delivery within the 
allocation. The site promoter has suggested the allocation could be split into approximately 
five ‘outlets’ each providing between 30 to 50 dwellings per annum. Delivery of higher 
density dwellings, such as apartment or retirement accommodation would support higher 
delivery rates.  

24.5 A slightly more conservative approach has been taken to the delivery figures used within the 
GMSF, based on only three outlets, but with delivery rates of 50 – 80 dwellings per annum. 

24.6 The three outlets identified are land to the north at Spen Moor, to the east at Hagside and to 
the south around Coney Green. First completions are anticipated to take place in 2025/26, 
with a delivery rate of up to 50 dwellings per annum at Spen Moor and Coney Green, and 80 
dwellings per annum at Hagside where it is anticipated there will be more high density 
apartment development close to the new Metrolink stop. 

24.7 This results in the following trajectory for the Elton Reservoir Allocation within the plan 
period: 

 

24.8 A lead in time of five years from the start of the plan period and around three years from 
adoption has been allowed. This allocation has undergone considerable masterplanning and 
preparatory work as part of the GMSF process, and so outline permission could be granted 
soon after adoption of the GMSF, with first completions in 2025/26.  

24.9 Much of the allocation is in the freehold ownership of Peel L&P Investments (North) Limited. 
Peel L&P intend to act as “master-developer” over the multi-phase development, 
coordinating delivery alongside Bury Council and other key partners. Peel L&P has also 
recently established its own house-building company, Northstone, that it intends will deliver a 
significant part of the proposals, with other house-builders, registered housing providers and 
working alongside Homes England and the Council. Peel L&P is also able to undertake 
significant elements of infrastructure delivery, for example greenspace, highways and 
energy, whilst it also intends to establish site management and maintenance structures to 
ensure the operation and upkeep of the development in perpetuity. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Elton Reservoir Housing Trajectory

Elton South Elton East Elton North

Document Pack Page 758



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
28 

 
 

 Indicative Masterplanning 

25.1 The site promoters for the Elton Reservoir Allocation have produced an Illustrative 
Development Framework Plan to show how proposed development could come forward 
within the allocation (see below). This provides an indicative layout of the development, 
including the location of the residential parcels, green and blue infrastructure, schools, local 
centre, new Metrolink stop, Park and Ride and key pedestrian and vehicular access.  

25.2 GMSF Policy GM7 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be submitted prior to any 
planning applications within the allocation. The masterplan must include a clear phasing 
strategy as part of an integrated approach to the delivery of infrastructure to support the 
scale of the whole development in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure Delivery. This 
should include the delivery of highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey 
infrastructure including utilities provision, green and blue infrastructure, broadband and 
electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision and social infrastructure and ensure 
coordination between phases of development. 

Document Pack Page 759



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
29 

 
 

 

  

Document Pack Page 760



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
30 

 
 

Section F – Conclusion 

 GMSF 2020 Integrated Appraisal 

26.1 An Integrated Appraisal (IA) was undertaken on the 2020 draft GMSF in order to understand 
how the policy had changed since the 2019 IA and to identify if any further 
enhancement/mitigation was required. 

26.2 The majority of the 2019 recommendations for the Elton Reservoir allocation were positively 
addressed by the allocation policy itself or other GMSF thematic policies. A small number of 
residual recommendations remained from the 2020 IA, in order to further strengthen the 
policies. 

26.3 In particular this included: 

 Climate Change – since the 2019 IA was undertaken there has been greater emphasis on 
the climate change agenda and this is reflective of the declaration of a climate emergency 
by the ten GM authorities; 

 Accessible design standards – whilst this is broadly covered in Policy GM-E1 and within 
GM-H3 relating to housing, it was suggested that policies are strengthened with more 
specific reference to accessible design of buildings and spaces to meet the needs of 
users. This could be achieved through strengthening Policy GM-E1. 

 Deprivation – whilst this is also broadly covered within the supporting text and broadly 
within Policy GM-E1, particularly referencing social inclusivity, it is considered that the 
policy could be more explicitly in terms of inclusive growth and making jobs available to 
existing local communities or to those suffering deprivation. 

26.4 The residual IA recommendations for GM7 could therefore be met through the strengthening 
of thematic Policy GM-E1 rather than any specific amendments to Policy GM7. This 
demonstrates the overall improvement of the 2020 draft GMSF in relation to the IA 
Framework. 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation 

27.1 The level of development proposed within GM7 Elton Reservoir has not changed since the 
2019 GMSF. The 2020 GMSF Allocation proposes a minor amendment to the Allocation 
boundary compared to what was presented in the 2019 GMSF and the area of release will 
now include a small piece of land adjacent to Burnside Close (off the B6292 Ainsworth 
Road). 

27.2 The 2020 GMSF has additional criteria within the policy requiring: 

 A comprehensive masterplan and phasing strategy for the allocation. 

 The provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies;  

 The provision for the long-term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space and sustainable drainage 
features. 

27.3 A significant amount of evidence base work has been produced to support the allocation 
since 2019 and this has allowed the criteria within the policy to be expanded upon and be 
more specific to the allocation. 

Document Pack Page 761



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
31 

 
 

 Conclusion 

28.1 GM7 Elton Reservoir is considered to meet the site selection criteria and make a positive 
contribution towards the overall vision, objectives and strategy of the GMSF.  The allocation 
is considered to be deliverable and available for development. Further work has been 
identified to take forward the allocation through the planning process. 

28.2 The allocation provides the opportunity to deliver 3,500 high quality homes, including a 
significant amount of affordable homes and contribute to meeting Bury’s housing needs.   
The development will underpin sustainable economic growth and support efforts to 
regenerate Radcliffe Town Centre. It will be a highly accessible development, with numerous 
opportunities for sustainable travel. 

28.3 The allocation will deliver an extensive and diverse network of green and blue infrastructure 
in the form of a new parkland. This will be an environment of substantial quality which 
balances the needs of ecology, nature and landscape conservation, habitat biodiversity and 
recreation.  

 

Document Pack Page 762



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
32 

 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – GM7 Elton Reservoir 

Any proposals for this allocation must be in accordance with a comprehensive masterplan that has 
been previously approved by the LPA. It shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an 
integrated approach to the delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development 
in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure Implementation. This should include the delivery of 
highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure including utilities provision, 
green and blue infrastructure, broadband, electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision and 
social infrastructure and ensure coordination between phases of development. 

Development within this allocation will be required to: 

1. Deliver a broad mix of around 3,500 houses to diversify the type of accommodation in the Bury 
and Radcliffe areas. This includes an appropriate mix of house types and sizes, 
accommodation for older persons, plots for custom and self-build and higher densities of 
development in areas with good accessibility and with potential for improved public transport 
connectivity, particularly in the southern areas of the allocation. It is expected that around 1,900 
of these homes will be delivered during the plan period; 

2. Make provision for new and improved highways infrastructure including:    

 A north-south strategic spine road connecting Bury and Bolton Road (A58) to Bury Road, 

Radcliffe that is designed to be suitable for buses, would not adversely impact on the 

operation of Metrolink services, incorporates provision for active travel and is in line with 

local design standards; 

 A strategic connection from the spine road to Spring Lane, Radcliffe via the former Coney 

Green High School site that is designed to be suitable for buses, incorporates provision for 

active travel and is in line with local design standards; and  

 Other off-site highway works where these are necessary to ensure acceptable traffic 

movement, including in and around Radcliffe town centre. 

Residential development within the allocation will be limited until the above infrastructure (or key 
elements of it) is implemented as necessary mitigation. 

3. Make provision for major investment in public transport infrastructure to enable more 
sustainable transport choices, including a requirement for a new Metrolink stop and associated 
park and ride facilities in the Warth area  

4. Deliver a network of safe cycling and walking routes through the allocation linking 
neighbourhoods with key destinations, designed and constructed in accordance with national 
and GM standards and local planning policies. 

5. Make provision for affordable housing in accordance with local planning policy requirements, 
equivalent to at least 25% of the dwellings on the allocation and across a range of housing 
types and sizes (with an affordable housing tenure split of 60% social or affordable rented and 
40% affordable home ownership).  

6. Make provision for two new two-form entry primary schools to meet the needs of the 
prospective school-aged residents; 

7. Make provision for a new secondary school to meet the needs of the prospective school-aged 
residents; 

Document Pack Page 763



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
33 

 
 

8. Make provision for new local centres in accessible locations which include a range of 
appropriate retail, health and community facilities and ensure they are integrated with existing 
communities; 

9. Make provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies; 

10. Ensure the design and layout allows for effective integration with surrounding communities, 
including active travel links and connections to Inner Radcliffe, Radcliffe Town Centre, Radcliffe 
Metrolink Station, local schools and Bury Town Centre;  

11. Make provision for recreation facilities to meet the needs of the prospective residents in 
accordance with local planning policy requirements; 

12. Provide a significant green corridor which remains within the Green Belt and provides a 
strategic amount of new, high quality and publicly accessible open space/parkland coupled with 
a network of multi-functional green and blue infrastructure within the allocation to provide health 
benefits to residents as well as creating a visually attractive environment and providing linkages 
to the allocations wider drainage strategy in accordance with Policy GM-G2 Green 
Infrastructure Network and Policy GM-G9 Standards to a Greener Greater Manchester. This 
should include the enhancement and the integration of the existing assets at Elton and Withins 
Reservoirs and the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal to create an extensive recreation, 
tourism and leisure asset.  

13. Minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity assets within the allocation in 
accordance with Policy GM-G10 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity.  

14. Ensure the allocation is safe from, and mitigates for, potential flood risk from all sources 
including the River Irwell, Elton and Withins Reservoirs and surface water and does not 
increase the flood risk elsewhere. The delivery of the allocation should be guided by an 
appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy which ensures co-ordination between phases of 
development; 

15. Ensure that sustainable drainage systems are fully incorporated into the development to 
manage surface water and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance 
with the hierarchy of drainage options. Where possible, natural SuDS techniques should be 
utilised, prioritising the use of ponds, swales and other infrastructure which mimic natural 
drainage and be designed as multi-functional green infrastructure connecting to the wider green 
and blue infrastructure network in accordance with Policy GM-S5 - Flood Risk and the Water 
Environment and nationally recognised SuDS design standards. Proposals to discharge to the 
public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why alternative options are not 
available.  

16. Make appropriate provision for the long-term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space/parkland and sustainable 
drainage features; and 

17. Protect and enhance heritage and archaeological assets and their setting within the allocation 
in accordance with the findings and recommendations of a Heritage Impact Assessment, 
including the Grade II Listed Old Hall Farmhouse and the wider historic character of the 
surrounding area. 

Justification 

The area around Elton Reservoir is of strategic significance, not only for Bury, but also in the 
Greater Manchester context given that it will bring forward one of the GMSF’s largest contributions 
to future housing supply and provide a diverse mix of house types and affordable housing provision 
for the Bury and Radcliffe areas.  

Document Pack Page 764



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
34 

 
 

 

The allocation is almost entirely surrounded by the existing urban area and is well-connected to 
existing infrastructure. Although the allocation has the capacity to deliver a total of around 3,500 
new homes, it is anticipated that around 1,900 of these will be delivered within the plan period. 
Nevertheless, it is considered necessary to release the allocation in full at this stage given that the 
scale of the proposed development means that it will need to be supported by significant strategic 
infrastructure and this level of investment needs the certainty that the remaining development will 
still be able to come forward beyond the plan period.  

Fundamental to the delivery of residential development in this area will be the provision of major 
highways infrastructure. This will include the need to incorporate a strategic north-south spine road 
through the allocation connecting Bury and Bolton Road (A58) to Bury Road, Radcliffe. This will 
provide an essential alternative to Bury Bridge for traffic travelling south towards Manchester from 
the west Bury area. The new road must not adversely impact on the operation of Metrolink services. 
Furthermore, in order to improve linkages to and assist in the physical and social regeneration of 
inner Radcliffe and Radcliffe town centre, there is a need to provide a significant spur road 
connecting the allocation to Spring Lane via the former Coney Green High School site. The new 
highways infrastructure must be in place before significant amounts of housing is developed and 
this should be reflected in the Phasing Strategy. 

Proposals for development of the allocation will be required to fully assess the impacts on traffic 
generation on existing highways and, where necessary, to incorporate or facilitate the delivery of the 
required improvements to other roads and junctions. 

The Bury to Manchester Metrolink line runs along the eastern edge of this area and, in order to 
reduce reliance on the car, any development within the allocation will be required to incorporate the 
provision of a new Metrolink stop and any associated park and ride facilities in the Warth area. 
Direct walking and cycling connections to the Metrolink stop will also be necessary. 

New development and investment in this area will need to be fully integrated into the existing urban 
fabric and with surrounding neighbourhoods and communities. In doing so, any development will 
need to facilitate new pedestrian and cycle links through the development and into surrounding 
areas. This will include strong linkages to Inner Radcliffe and Radcliffe town centre, Radcliffe 
Metrolink and local schools which, in addition to the spur road, will further help in supporting on-
going physical and social regeneration efforts in this area. 

Development of this scale will significantly increase demands for education provision and, as a 
result, the development will need to include the provision of new facilities for primary and secondary 
education. It will also generate a need to make provision for appropriate local centres that are more 
accessible to and meet the day-to-day needs of surrounding communities. 

A significant amount of the allocation is to remain as Green Belt. This provides the opportunity to 
significantly enhance the green infrastructure and biodiversity value of the allocation, enhance and 
incorporate existing assets (such as the priority habitats and the water features of Elton and Withins 
Reservoirs and the Manchester and Bolton and Bury Canal) and improve access to open space for 
the local community. The development will need to have regard to existing features of ecological 
and wildlife interest by minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.  

Delivery of the allocation should be guided by an appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy which 
ensures co-ordination between phases of development. Measures such as rainwater recycling, 
green roofs, water butts and permeable driveway surfaces should be considered to mitigate the 
impact of potential flood risk both within and beyond the allocation boundaries. As a green and blue 
infrastructure network will provide more sustainable options discharge surface water, only foul flows 
should communicate with the public sewer. 

Document Pack Page 765



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Elton Reservoir (GM7) – GMSF 2020 

 
35 

 
 

There is one Grade II Listed building within the allocation – Old Hall Farmhouse and there are a 
number of locally listed buildings and structures throughout the allocation. Any development will, 
therefore, be required to respect the setting of the Farmhouse and capitalise on opportunities to 
draw on the contribution that the Farmhouse makes to the character of the area. The completion of 
a Heritage Impact Assessment will be required. 

Document Pack Page 766



 
 
 
 
 
 

GM8 - Seedfield 
 

Topic Paper 
 

GMSF October 2020 
 
  

Document Pack Page 767



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
1 

 
 

 

Contents 
 

 
 Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 2 

 Site Details .............................................................................................................................. 2 

 Proposed Development ........................................................................................................... 2 

 Site Selection .......................................................................................................................... 2 

 Planning History ...................................................................................................................... 3 

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses...................................................................................... 3 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment ........................................................................................ 4 

 Transport ................................................................................................................................. 6 

 Flood Risk and Drainage ......................................................................................................... 6 

 Ground Conditions .................................................................................................................. 6 

 Utilities .................................................................................................................................... 6 

 Telecommunications ............................................................................................................... 7 

 Green Belt Assessment ........................................................................................................... 8 

 Green Infrastructure .............................................................................................................. 10 

 Recreation ............................................................................................................................. 10 

 Landscape ............................................................................................................................ 10 

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment ...................................................................................... 10 

 Heritage Impact Assessment ................................................................................................. 10 

 Air Quality ............................................................................................................................. 10 

 Noise ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

 Education .............................................................................................................................. 12 

 Health Impact Assessment .................................................................................................... 12 

 Viability .................................................................................................................................. 13 

 Phasing ................................................................................................................................. 13 

 Indicative Masterplanning ...................................................................................................... 14 

 GMSF 2020 Integrated Assessment ...................................................................................... 16 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation ....................................................................... 16 

 Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 17 

Appendices 
 

Document Pack Page 768



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
2 

 
 

Section A – Background  
 Introduction 

1.1 The allocation is located in the Seedfield area of Bury and was formerly occupied by 
Seedfield High School before more recently being used as a training centre. The allocation 
provides the opportunity to deliver a diverse mix of house types including affordable housing 
provision for the Seedfield area. 

1.2 This Topic Paper brings together a wide range of information and evidence in connection 
with the proposed strategic site allocation. The paper may be subject to further technical 
amendments in advance of the formal commencement of consultation. 

 Site Details 

2.1 The allocation is well-connected to the existing urban area and is located less than 2 
kilometres from Bury town centre. In total the allocation measures 5.15 ha with an 
approximate developable area of 3.46 ha. Approximately 50% of the allocation is previously-
developed with the remainder of the allocation being used as playing fields. All of the 
allocation is currently designated as Green Belt. 

 Proposed Development 

3.1 The allocation will deliver a broad mix of around 140 houses to diversify the type of 
accommodation in the Seedfield area. The allocation will make provision for affordable 
housing in line with local planning policy requirements.  

3.2 Appendix 1 sets out the GM8 Seedfield policy wording.  

3.3 The allocation boundary or the area proposed to be released has not been amended from 
that proposed in the 2019 GMSF.  

 Site Selection  

4.1 The Seedfield allocation is largely surrounded by development within the existing urban area 
with residential development bounding the site on three sides and the East Lancashire 
Railway embankment bounding the site to the west. 

4.2 The Seedfield allocation is already connected to the existing urban area and is in a 
sustainable location. 

4.3 Given the above, the allocation was selected for inclusion within the GMSF on the basis of 
Criteria 1 ‘Land which has been previously developed and/or land which is well served by 
public transport’. Further detail is provided within in the GMSF Site Selection Paper available 
at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ 

4.4 The Seedfield allocation fits within the overall GMSF spatial strategy in that it will contribute 
to inclusive growth. The allocation will contribute to the Borough’s future housing supply and 
provide a diverse mix of house types and affordable housing provision. 

4.5 The GMSF vision will be delivered through the pursuit of a number of broad objectives. The 
Seedfield allocation will contribute to meeting the following GMSF objectives:  

Document Pack Page 769

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
3 

 
 

 1 - Meet our Housing Need 

 2 - Create Neighbourhoods of Choice  

 6 - Promote the sustainable movement of people, goods and information.  

 Planning History 

5.1 There is no relevant planning history for this allocation.  

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses 

 268 comments were received in relation to the allocation during the consultation on the 
Revised Draft GMSF in 2019. A summary of the key issues raised are as follows: 

Principle / scale of development 

 The local area is already largely built-up. 

 Streets would be preferred to cul-de-sacs.  

 The site needs redevelopment and represents an obvious infill opportunity on 
the edge of the urban area. 

Housing (incl. affordable housing) 

 Concern that proposed homes will not be affordable.  

Green Belt  

 This allocation is already part of a built-up area and should not be Green Belt.  

Brownfield 

 Practical use of a brownfield site and an obvious infill opportunity that needs 
redevelopment. 

 The plan should include more sites like this on brownfield land. 

Transport – Highways / Public Transport / Cycling / Walking  

 The only access point into the site is inadequate. It is narrow and used for 
parking, has poor access for emergency services and additional access points 
are required. 

 Additional development would lead to likely congestion on the A56. 

 Public transport improvements are required e.g. rail/Metrolink. 

 There is a lack of detailed information on transport interventions. 

 Site represents an accessible brownfield site close to bus route and town 
centre. 

Physical Infrastructure and utilities 

 Lack of detailed information on infrastructure requirements and provision. 

Social Infrastructure 

 Existing schools in northeast Bury over-subscribed. The former secondary 
school at Seedfield should be brought back into use.  

 GPs and dentists are in short supply. 

 A new sports hall is required as part of the proposals. 

Document Pack Page 770



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
4 

 
 

 Lack of detailed information on social infrastructure requirements and what the 
community benefits will be. 

Environmental 

 These proposals would lead to a loss of wildlife. We need to make the most of 
natural resources.  

 There would be a loss of recreation space, in particular playing pitches. These 
are in demand and there is a lack of suitable replacement sites in the area. 

 Open space should be maintained by developers. 

 A buffer is required to the west of the site. 

 There is a lack of detailed information on proposals such as evidence on 
existing GM ecological networks or an Ecological Impact Assessment.  

 Welcome the proposed off-road access from the site to Burrs Country Park, 
walking/cycle routes should include Green Infrastructure and needs to be made 
accessible for horse riders. 

Air Quality  

 Concern that congestion will negatively impact air quality. 

Other 

 Little done to publicise proposals, online portal was difficult to use and 
questions were leading in nature. 

 Lack of detail on approach taken/reasoning e.g. not clear why previous sites 
rejected, why some districts have not released Green Belt and others have. 

 Imbalance between Green Belt loss in north and south. 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment 

7.1 The 2019 GMSF Integrated Assessment (IA) is available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/. 

7.2 The IA reviewed how the draft GMSF policies could impact upon the environment, the 
economy, local communities, equality and public health. The IA also recommended ways in 
which the GMSF can be improved to ensure that the policies are as sustainable as possible. 

7.3 The Seedfield allocation performed very well against the 2019 Integrated Assessment 
objectives. However a number of recommendations were made: 

 Make specific reference to energy efficient of the housing stock. 

 Consider how housing land can enhance work force skills and training, such as through 
construction jobs. 

 Consider feasibility study into requirements and ability of local network to support 
development. 

 Benefits such as creation of construction and operational employment, or improved 
transport links or increases in the range of community facilities, should consider deprived 
areas. Where possible such benefits should be maximised to help bring about long term 
benefits for deprived areas. 

 The allocation policy could reference integration with existing communities and also 
encourage the provision of varied tenures within the development. 

Document Pack Page 771

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
5 

 
 

 Ensure any new provision is accessible to all and that local capacity is considered 
throughout future masterplanning stages. 

 Seek to minimise the number of trips made by private car to/from the site. Consider use of 
mitigation solutions including green infrastructure, incentivising electric vehicles and/or 
masterplan layout which reduces emissions near sensitive receptors. This is especially 
appropriate towards the south eastern side nearest to the AQMA. 

 Consider ecological receptors throughout detailed design to reduce risk throughout 
construction and operational phases. 

 Integrate green infrastructure throughout the scheme at masterplan stage. 

 A suitable flood risk assessment may be required and associated mitigation in order to 
prevent the Flood zone expanding. 

 Appropriate flood risk mitigation should be implemented (in line with best practice) for all 
developments that are within or near to areas of flood risk. 

 Make reference to energy efficiency directly and ways that it can be increased, such as 
highlighting the benefits of sustainable modes of transport. 

 Consider receptors throughout detailed design to reduce risk throughout construction and 
operational phases. 

7.4 It is important to note that the IA was focusing on each policy in isolation from other policies 
and that many of the recommended changes for the Seedfield allocation policies are already 
covered in other GMSF policies. However some wording changes have been made as a 
result of the IA in relation to housing types, electric vehicles, heritage and archaeology. 

 
  

Document Pack Page 772



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
6 

 
 

Section B – Physical  

 Transport 

8.1 No strategic transport interventions have been identified for the allocation. However, a 
signalised junction at Walmersley Road could potentially be required if traffic modelling 
show’s it is necessary and a secondary emergency access point into the allocation may also 
be required. Further work will be required to establish the exact nature of any transport 
interventions as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 Flood Risk and Drainage 

Flood Risk Summary 

9.1 The allocation is located within Flood Zone 1.  

9.2 The allocation is at low risk of surface water flooding. 

GMSF Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

9.3 The Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (GM Level 1 SFRA) 
(https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) was completed in March 2019 as part of the evidence base to inform the 
preparation of the GMSF. This SFRA initiated the sequential risk-based approach to the 
allocation of land for development and identified whether application of the Exception Test 
was likely to be necessary using the most up-to-date information and guidance. 

9.4 The Level 1 SFRA recommended that a site specific flood risk assessment was required for 
the Seedfield allocation and no further strategic assessment was required.  

 Ground Conditions 

10.1 There are no known ground conditions on allocation. However, detailed assessments of the 
ground conditions will be undertaken prior to the submission of any future planning 
application/s.  

 Utilities 

United Utilities  

11.1 United Utilities in their response to the latest GMSF consultation highlighted that new 
development should be focused in sustainable locations which are accessible to local 
services and infrastructure. United Utilities will continue to work to identify any infrastructure 
issues and appropriate resolutions throughout the development of the Spatial Framework. 

11.2 In relation to the Seedfield allocation, United Utilities have advised that a combined sewer 
falls within the allocation and consideration will need to be given to either diverting this sewer 
if possible or any potential easements should the sewer remain in situ. Consideration must 
also be given to disposal of surface water in the most sustainable way. The Site Promoters 
will be required to agree drainage proposals prior to the submission of any future planning 
applications.  

 

Document Pack Page 773

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
7 

 
 

Electricity 

Electricity North West 

11.3 Electricity North West have carried out assessments on the proposed GMSF allocations 
which have fed into their ‘Spatial Energy Plan’. This is a high level assessment of the 
expected impact of the proposed developments on the electricity network. In relation to 
Seedfield, the assessment indicated that primary substation capacity in the area may be 
above 95% of capacity due to forecast additional load resulting from proposed 
developments.  

11.4 Electricity North West in their response to the 2019 GMSF consultation, advised that they 
were confident in being able to meet the network capacity requirements for the level of 
investment and growth proposed in Greater Manchester. Where necessary they have 
secured the appropriate regulatory allowances within their ‘Well Justified Business Plan.’  

Gas 

National Grid Infrastructure  

11.5 Discussions with National Grid will need to take place as the allocation moves through the 
planning process to establish whether or not any existing infrastructure needs to be diverted 
as a result of the proposals. Discussions will also need to take place to establish if there is 
sufficient capacity within the network to support the proposals or if any upgrades to the 
existing infrastructure are required. 

 Telecommunications  

Existing BT Infrastructure   

12.1 Further detailed discussions will need to take place with BT as the allocation moves through 
the planning process to establish whether or not any existing infrastructure needs to be 
diverted as a result of the proposals. Discussions will also need to take place to establish if 
there is sufficient capacity within the network to support the proposals or if any upgrades to 
the existing infrastructure are required.  

Existing Virgin Media Infrastructure  

12.2 Further detailed discussions will need to take place with Virgin Media as the allocation 
moves through the planning process to establish whether or not any existing infrastructure 
needs to be diverted as a result of the proposals. Discussions will also need to take place to 
establish if there is sufficient capacity within the network to support the proposals or if any 
upgrades to the existing infrastructure are required. 

 

Document Pack Page 774



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
8 

 
 

Section C – Environmental 
 Green Belt Assessment 

13.1 The proposed removal of the Seedfield Allocation has been informed by several studies 
undertaken by LUC available at: https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/ 

 The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016 

 Green Belt Harm Assessment, 2020; 

 Greater Manchester Green Belt Study – Identification of Opportunities, 2020 

13.2 The proposed allocation would involve the release of around 5 hectares of land from the 
Green Belt. 

13.3 In 2016 GMCA commissioned LUC to undertake an assessment of the Green Belt within 
GM. The Study assessed the extent to which the land within the GM Green Belt performs 
against the purposes of Green Belts, as set out in paragraph 80 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). The aim of this Green Belt Assessment is to provide the GM 
Authorities with an objective, evidence-based and independent assessment of how GM’s 
Green Belt contributes to the five purposes of Green Belt, as set out in national policy. It also 
examines the case for including within the Green Belt potential additional areas of land that 
currently lie outside it. 

13.4 In the Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016, GM Allocation 8 Seedfield was 
included within Strategic Green Belt Area 11. There were 4 different purposes of Green Belt 
that each Area was assessed against and the Area performs as follows: 

 Purpose 1: To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas: Moderate - Strong 

 Purpose 2: To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another: Strong 

 Purpose 3: To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment: Moderate - 
Strong 

 Purpose 4: Preserving the setting and special character of historic towns: Moderate 

13.5 In 2019 LUC carried out an assessment identifying the potential opportunities to enhance the 
beneficial use of remaining Green Belt within 2 km of the allocation site. The study 
considered the opportunities to offset the loss of Green Belt through compensatory 
improvements to the environmental quality and accessibility of the remaining Green Belt 
land.  

13.6 Land lying within 2 km of GM Allocation 8 Seedfield formed the focus of GI 
recommendations/mitigation to enhance the ‘beneficial use’ of the Green Belt. There are 3 
proposed additions to the Green Belt within 2 km of GM8 – Woolfold, Pigs Lea Brook 1 and 
Chesham. 

13.7 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt relevant to the Seedfield allocation identified 
in the assessment include: 

 Improve strategic pedestrian and cycle linkages along the River Irwell or the preserved 
East Lancashire Railway towards Bury Town Centre and Burrs Country Park; 

 Improve access and enhance the green corridor or the River Irwell in this location to 
create local level leisure and tourism opportunities; 

Document Pack Page 775

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
9 

 
 

 Introduce new crossing points within the adjacent Green Belt south west of GM8 Seefield 
linking Woodhill Road Park and the suburbs of Seedfield/Limefield. 

 Relocate Seedfield Sports Club to a suitable location to land within or out with the 
adjacent Green Belt; 

 Walking routes including signage should be reviewed to link neighbouring open space 
facilities within the adjacent Green Belt; 

 Refurbish sports facilities at Clarence Park; 

 Incorporate green infrastructure enhancements at existing SBIs, including habitat 
management in conjunction with GMEU’s recommendations at these locations; 

 Enhance the Castlesteads scheduled monument within adjacent Green Belt in Burrs 
Country Park to the north; 

 Enhance semi natural habitats and network, including riparian and broadleaved woodland 
and regenerating habitats typical at Burrs Country Park. Incorporate woodland creation 
schemes based on the Northern Forest Initiative at Burrs Country Park; 

 Hedgerow restoration at Brandlesholme Road. 

13.8 Some of these opportunities have been either included within the policy requirements for the 
allocation. Others would be more appropriately dealt with a detailed masterplan or planning 
application(s). 

13.9 In conjunction with the assessment of GI opportunities within the Green Belt, LUC carried 
out an assessment to identify potential harm to the Green Belt through a Green Belt Harm 
Assessment, 2020. The report concluded that the allocation makes a limited contribution to 
Green Belt purposes. Release of the allocation would not increase the containment of any 
retained Green Belt land and would result in a strong and consistent Green Belt boundary to 
the west, which would be defined by a woodland edge and bolstered by the railway line and 
the River Irwell. 

13.10 Evidence on Green Belt is only one part of the evidence base that influence any decision on 
Green Belt release. Consequently where studies have found that harm is to be caused by 
release of the Green Belt, this finding should be balanced against other important factors 
that could make up exceptional circumstances such as sustainability, viability and 
deliverability.  

13.11 The Seedfield allocation is deemed necessary to deliver a housing opportunity with 
supporting infrastructure. The allocation responds to the spatial strategy in the GMSF and its 
key themes of ‘Inclusive Growth’ and ‘Addressing Disparities’ It also directly addresses the 
aspirations set by Policy GM Strat-6 Northern Areas which seeks to boost economic 
opportunities and diversify housing provision in the north of the conurbation by the selective 
release of Green Belt.  

13.12 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt study discussed earlier are not exhaustive 
and will require consultation with key stakeholders and may require further surveys and 
viability testing to establish costings. However the enhancement opportunities nonetheless 
demonstrate that opportunities exist to help offset the loss of Green Belt which will have a 
potential positive effect on the beneficial use of the Greater Manchester Green Belt moving 
forward. 

13.13 The final masterplan for the allocation will be required to use the findings from all the 
assessments on Green Belt in the area to inform the layout and form development across 
the allocation. 

Document Pack Page 776



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
10 

 
 

 Green Infrastructure 

14.1 Existing green infrastructure elements can be found to the west and south of the allocation. 
These will be retained and enhanced as part of any future proposals. Appropriate mitigation 
measures to provide health benefits to residents as well as creating a visually attractive 
environment will also be provided.  

 Recreation 

15.1 Part of the allocation is currently used as playing fields. In addition to making provision for 
the recreational needs of the prospective residents of the new development, there will also 
be a requirement to provide replacement sports pitch provision to off-set the loss of the 
existing playing fields within the allocation. It is important that the replacement provision 
should be accessible, be of an equivalent or greater quantity and quality and laid out and 
usable prior to the commencement of any development on the Seedfield allocation. 

 Landscape  

16.1 The proposals will retain any existing well-established landscape features such as mature 
trees and hedgerows. These will be integrated within the development alongside new 
planting to enhance the ecological vale of the allocation.  

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment 

17.1 There are no known ecological issues on the allocation and it should be suitable for 
residential development in principle. There is, however, a wildlife corridor to the west and 
south of the allocation that will need to be retained and enhanced as part of any proposals.  

17.2 A detailed Ecological Assessment will be undertaken as part of any development proposals 
as necessary.  

Habitat Regulation Assessment 

17.3 A Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required for the GMSF because it is considered 
to have the potential to cause harm to the special nature conservation interest of European 
Protected Sites. The HRA made an appropriate assessment of the implications of the GMSF 
in view of conservation objectives (available here: https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/).  

17.4 The Habitats Regulation Assessment (December 2018) concluded that the allocation is too 
distant and too separated from any European protected sites for discernible effects to occur. 

 Heritage Impact Assessment 

18.1 The GMSF Historic Environment Assessment Screening Exercise (June 2019) (available here: 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) concluded that no further assessment of the allocation is required. There are no 
designated assets nearby or within the allocation and the allocation has no archaeological 
interest.  

 Air Quality 

19.1 The scale of development should not result in any air quality issues to the surrounding area 

Document Pack Page 777

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
11 

 
 

in respect of traffic emissions. The allocation is well placed to encourage travel by non-car 
modes of transport which will help minimise the extent to which additional traffic from the 
allocation might result in air quality emissions. 

19.2 An Air Quality Assessment will be undertaken as part of any development proposals as 
necessary. 

 Noise 

20.1 Given the allocation’s location adjacent to the urban area, the prevailing use is residential. It 
is therefore considered that there are no significant noise constraints in the local area which 
might affect the development of the allocation. 

20.2  A detailed Noise Assessment will be undertaken as part of any planning application process 
and any required mitigation will be embedded within the proposed development.  

 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 778



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
12 

 
 

Section D – Social 

 Education 

 The Seedfield Allocation is expected to yield around 29 primary age pupils and 20 secondary 
age pupils. Current forecasts indicate that there will be sufficient capacity in the area to 
accommodate this modest yield of primary age pupils. 

 Cumulative secondary age demand pressures will need to be considered more strategically, 
and in conjunction with other proposed developments across North Bury.   

 Health Impact Assessment 

 Further work will be required to determine whether there is additional capacity within any 
local healthcare facilities to meet the increased demands arising from the prospective 
occupants of the new development.  

 If additional provision is necessary, the most appropriate means and location for such 
provision can be identified through future iterations of the masterplan. Alternatively, there 
may be a requirement to make a financial contribution toward off site health provision 
through a planning obligation or condition at the planning application stage. 

 
 

Document Pack Page 779



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
13 

 
 

Section E – Deliverability 

 Viability 

23.1 The Three Dragons Viability Appraisal of the allocation using the base model shows a 
positive result for the allocation, including provision of 25% affordable housing and other 
policy requirements. The transport costs for the scheme are incorporated within the base 
model because they are not strategic interventions. The results are set out in the table 
below: 

Test 
Type 

Total BLV, 
SDLT & Land 

acq fees 

Scheme RV 
(incl BLV & 

return) 

Viability 
measure as a % 

of BLV 

Headroom 
(blended 
return) 

Test result 
category 

Whether 
the test is 
the 
‘Base’ 
test or a 
sensitivity 
test 

The total figure 
used in the 
testing for land 
value, includes 
tax and fees. 

 

BLV = benchmark 
land value 

 

SDLT = Stamp 
duty land tax 

Scheme value 
(could also be 
described as 
headroom) once 
all costs have 
been accounted 
for including 
land and 
developer return 

 

RV = Residual 
value 

 

BLV = 
benchmark land 
value 

 

Description of whether 
the scheme provides 
sufficient residual 
value in terms of how 
it compares with the 
benchmark land value 
i.e. if it is 10% or more 
above the benchmark 
land value it is shown 
as green, if it is within 
10% of the benchmark 
land value it is shown 
as amber and where it 
is less than 90% of the 
benchmark land value 
it is shown as red. 

The headroom 
expressed as 
blended rate of 
return. The 
percentages shown 
are the headroom 
available after all 
costs, except 
developer return 
divided by the total 
gross development 
value for the 
scheme. If schemes 
were to go ahead as 
described, then this 
is the total return 
available to the 
developer. 

Category 1 - 
The residual 
value is 
positive and 
the residual 
value is 10% 
or more above 
the benchmark 
land value. 
Schemes in 
this group are 
viable and 
should be able 
to proceed. 

Base 
model 

£1,360,000 £540,000 
More than 10% 

BLV 
17% Cat 1 

23.2 The testing indicates a headroom of £540,000, and shows that the scheme is viable based 
on the high level Three Dragons appraisal. The allocation is classed as Category 1 – the 
residual value is 10% or more above the benchmark land value, it is viable and should be 
able to proceed. 

 Phasing 

24.1 This is a comparatively small partly previously developed allocation in single ownership 
(owned by Bury Council), with existing highways access and other infrastructure provision. 
There are no major infrastructure constraints to be overcome before the allocation can be 
delivered. Therefore it will be relatively straightforward to develop as one outlet in a single 
phase. 

24.2 The allocation is anticipated to deliver 40 dwellings per year from 2025/26, with the final 
completions estimated for 2028/29. The delivery rate of 40 per annum is in line with other 
similar sites delivered in the Borough. The first completions are estimated for 2025/26 to give 
ample time for planning approval to be obtained following adoption of the GMSF. This 
allocation could in fact begin to deliver housing ahead of the GMSF as it is partially 
previously developed, but a more cautious start date has been applied. The previously 

Document Pack Page 780



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
14 

 
 

developed part of the allocation may be developed ahead of relocation of the existing 
football pitches to an alternative location. 

 

 
 

 Indicative Masterplanning 

25.1 Paragraph 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework specifies that a local planning 
authority should regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt 
but that exceptions to this are limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of 
previously developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would: 

 not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or 

 not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the development 
would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identified affordable 
housing need within the area of the local planning authority. 

25.2 As such, given that a significant part of the Seedfield allocation is previously-developed, it is 
considered that, in principle, it has the potential to be acceptable within the context of current 
Green Belt policy and is not dependent on the removal of the Green Belt designation through 
the GMSF process. As such, the Seedfield allocation has not been subject to the detailed 
masterplanning work that has been done on other allocations as part of the justification for 
removing Green Belt. 

25.3 Nevertheless, a high-level indicative plan has been prepared to identify potential extent of 
housing development and to reflect principles around the provision of areas of open space. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Seedfield Housing Trajectory

TOTAL

Document Pack Page 781



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
15 

 
 

 

 

Document Pack Page 782



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
16 

 
 

Section F – Conclusion 

  GMSF 2020 Integrated Assessment 

26.1 An Integrated Appraisal (IA) was undertaken on the 2020 draft GMSF in order to understand 
how the policy had changed since the 2019 IA and to identify if any further 
enhancement/mitigation was required. 

26.2 The majority of the 2019 recommendations for GM8 Seedfield were positively addressed by 
the policy itself or another thematic policy. A small number of residual recommendations 
remained from the 2019 IA, in order to further strengthen the policies. 

26.3 In particular this included: 

 Climate Change – since the 2019 IA was undertaken there has been greater emphasis on 
the climate change agenda and this is reflective of the declaration of a climate emergency 
by the ten GM authorities; 

 Accessible design standards – whilst this is broadly covered in Policy GM-E1 and within 
GM-H3 relating to housing, it was suggested that policies are strengthened with more 
specific reference to accessible design of buildings and spaces to meet the needs of 
users. This could be achieved through strengthening Policy GM-E1. 

 Deprivation – whilst this is also broadly covered within the supporting text and broadly 
within Policy GM-E1, particularly referencing social inclusivity, it is considered that the 
policy could be more explicitly in terms of inclusive growth and making jobs available to 
existing local communities or to those suffering deprivation. 

26.4 The residual IA recommendations for GM8 could therefore be met through the strengthening 
of thematic Policy GM-E1 rather than any specific amendments to Policy GM8. This 
demonstrates the overall improvement of the 2020 draft GMSF in relation to the IA 
Framework. 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation 

27.1 The allocation boundary or the area proposed to be released has not been amended from 
that proposed in the 2019 GMSF.  

27.2 The 2020 GMSF has additional criteria within the policy requiring: 

 Make provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies 

 Minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity assets within the allocation in 
accordance with Policy GM-G10 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity; 

 Make appropriate provision for the long term management and maintenance of areas of 
green infrastructure, biodiversity features and sustainable drainage features. 

27.3 A significant amount of evidence base work has been produced to support the allocation 
since 2019 and this has allowed the criteria within the policy to be expanded upon and be 
more specific to the allocation. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 783



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
17 

 
 

 Conclusion 

28.1 GM8 Seedfield is considered to meet the site selection criteria and make a positive 
contribution towards the overall vision, objectives and strategy of the GMSF.  The allocation 
is considered to be deliverable and available for development.   

28.2 The allocation provides the opportunity to deliver a residential development in a location 
which is well-connected to the existing urban area and is less than 2 kilometres from Bury 
town centre. It provides an opportunity to deliver a diverse mix of house types and affordable 
housing provision for the Seedfield area. 

Document Pack Page 784



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
18 

 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – GM8 Seedfield 

Development within this allocation will be required to: 

 

1. Deliver a broad mix of around 140 houses to diversify the type of accommodation in the 
Seedfield area; 

2. Make necessary improvements to local highway infrastructure to facilitate appropriate access to the 
allocation and incorporate enhancements to public transport, pedestrian and cycle routes in the 
area; 

3. Make provision for affordable housing in accordance with local planning policy requirements, 
equivalent to at least 25% of the dwellings on the site and across a range of housing types and 
sizes (with an affordable housing tenure split of 60% social or affordable rented and 40% 
affordable home ownership);  

4. Make provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies; 

5. Ensure the design and layout allows for effective integration with surrounding communities, 
including active travel links to Burrs Country Park and employment opportunities in Bury Town 
Centre;  

6. Retain and enhance and/or replace existing recreation facilities and make provision for new 
recreation facilities to meet the needs of the prospective residents in accordance with local 
planning policy requirements; 

7. Retain, enhance the wildlife corridor and green infrastructure elements to the west and south of 
the allocation and introduce appropriate mitigation measures to provide health benefits to 
residents as well as creating a visually attractive environment in accordance with Policy GM-G2 
Green Infrastructure Network and Policy GM-G9 Standards to a Greener Greater Manchester; 

8. Minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity assets within the allocation in 
accordance with Policy GM-G10 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity; 

9. Ensure the allocation is safe from and mitigates for, potential flood risk from all sources 
including surface water, sewer flooding and groundwater. The delivery of the allocation should 
be guided by an appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy which ensures co-ordination 
between phases of development; 

10. Ensure that sustainable drainage systems are fully incorporated into the development to 
manage surface water and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance 
with the hierarchy of drainage options. Where possible, natural SuDS techniques should be 
utilised, prioritising the use of ponds, swales and other infrastructure which mimic natural 
drainage and be designed as multi-functional green infrastructure connecting to the wider green 
and blue infrastructure network in accordance with Policy GM-S5 - Flood Risk and the Water 
Environment and nationally recognised SuDS design standards. Proposals to discharge to the 
public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why alternative options are not 
available; 

11. Make appropriate provision for the long term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features and sustainable drainage features. 

 

Document Pack Page 785



 
 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Seedfield (GM8) – GMSF 2020 

 
19 

 
 

 

 

Justification 

The allocation is well-connected to the existing urban area and is less than 2 kilometres from Bury 
town centre. It provides an opportunity to deliver a diverse mix of house types and affordable housing 
provision for the Seedfield area. 

Around 50% of the allocation is previously-developed and a large part of the remaining land is used 
as playing fields. In addition to making provision for the recreational needs of the prospective residents 
of the new development, there will also be a requirement to provide replacement sports pitch provision 
to off-set the loss of the existing playing fields within the allocation. It is important that the replacement 
provision should be accessible, be of an equivalent or better quantity and quality and laid out and 
usable prior to the commencement of any development on the Seedfield allocation. 

The attractive setting of the development will be further strengthened by the provision of improved 
east/west pedestrian and cycle linkages, particularly to and from the expanding leisure attractions at 
Burrs Country Park. 

Delivery of the allocation should be guided by an appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy. 
Measures such as rainwater recycling, green roofs, water butts and permeable driveway surfaces 
should be considered to mitigate the impact of potential flood risk both within and beyond the site 
boundaries. As a green and blue infrastructure network will provide more sustainable options 
discharge surface water, only foul flows should connect with the public sewer. 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 786



 
 
 
 
 
 

GM9 - Walshaw 
 

Topic Paper 
 

October 2020 
 
  

Document Pack Page 787



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
1 

 
 

 
Contents 

 
 Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 2 

 Site Details ................................................................................................................................ 2 

 Proposed Development ............................................................................................................. 2 

 Site Selection ............................................................................................................................ 3 

 Planning History ........................................................................................................................ 3 

 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses ........................................................................................ 3 

 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment .......................................................................................... 6 

 Transport ................................................................................................................................... 8 

 Flood Risk and Drainage ........................................................................................................... 9 

 Ground Conditions ............................................................................................................... 12 

 Utilities ................................................................................................................................. 12 

 Telecommunications ............................................................................................................ 13 

 Green Belt Assessment ....................................................................................................... 14 

 Green Infrastructure ............................................................................................................. 16 

 Recreation ........................................................................................................................... 16 

 Landscape ........................................................................................................................... 16 

 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment ..................................................................................... 17 

 Heritage Impact Assessment ............................................................................................... 18 

 Air Quality ............................................................................................................................ 20 

 Noise ................................................................................................................................... 20 

 Education............................................................................................................................. 22 

 Health Impact Assessment .................................................................................................. 22 

 Viability ................................................................................................................................ 23 

 Phasing ............................................................................................................................... 24 

 Indicative Masterplanning .................................................................................................... 25 

 GMSF 2020 Integrated Appraisal ......................................................................................... 26 

 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation ..................................................................... 26 

 Conclusion ........................................................................................................................... 27 

Appendices 

 

Document Pack Page 788



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
2 

 
 

Section A – Background  
1 Introduction 

1.1 The proposed Walshaw allocation seeks to deliver 1,250 houses in a sustainable and well-
connected location set entirely within the existing urban area. The allocation can deliver new 
homes alongside recreation facilities, a new primary school, a local centre and strategic 
transport infrastructure which includes a new link road. 

1.2 This Topic Paper brings together a wide range of information and evidence in connection 
with the proposed strategic site allocation. The paper may be subject to further technical 
amendments in advance of the formal commencement of consultation. 

2 Site Details 

2.1 The Walshaw allocation comprises 64 ha with a developable area of 28 ha and is located 
entirely within the Borough of Bury. It lies to the west of the Borough, 1.6 km west of Bury 
town centre. The land is loosely bounded by the urban areas of Tottington to the north, 
Woolfold and Elton to the east, Lowercroft to the south and Walshaw to the west.  

2.2 Bordering the allocation to the west is High Street / Lowercroft Road, and a strip of 
residential development, beyond which lies farmland and open countryside. The allocation 
extends to the north and south of Walshaw Road and existing road infrastructure also 
bounds the site, including the B6213 (Bury Road/ Tottington Road), Scobell Street, Dow 
Lane, and High Street/ Church Street. 

2.3 The allocation is mainly agricultural in use and contains three reservoirs fed by Walshaw 
Brook. The Bolholt Hotel and Stables Country Club and Lake Hill private residence are 
located to the north of the reservoirs although these are excluded from the proposed area for 
development. The River Irwell lies approximately 1.5 km to the east of the allocation. 

3 Proposed Development 

3.1 Approximately 1,250 homes are proposed within the GM9 Walshaw allocation. 

3.2 The allocation will include an appropriate mix of house types and sizes, affordable housing, 
accommodation for older persons, plots for custom and self-build and a mix of housing 
densities with higher density development in areas with good accessibility and with potential 
for improved public transport connectivity.  

3.3 The proposed development will be required to provide infrastructure to support the new 
community. This includes a new link road through the allocation, other off-site highway works 
where these are necessary to ensure acceptable traffic movement more routes for walking 
and cycling, a local centre with convenience shopping facilities and a new primary school. 
There will be high quality, publicly accessible, multifunctional green and blue infrastructure 
throughout the allocation which can be used for sport, leisure and recreation. 

3.4 Appendix 1 sets out the GM9 Walshaw policy wording. 

3.5 The allocation boundary or the area proposed to be released has not been amended from 

that proposed in the 2019 GMSF.  

 

Document Pack Page 789



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
3 

 
 

 

4 Site Selection  

4.1 The Walshaw allocation is almost entirely surrounded by the existing urban area and is well 
connected to existing infrastructure. 

4.2 The provision of a new route through the allocation which provides an alternative to the use 
of the existing highway network through Walshaw coupled with a contribution to the 
proposed strategic route through the Elton Reservoir site which will also allow traffic from the 
Walshaw area to travel south without needing to travel through Bury town centre, will deliver 
significant highway improvements. These will help to resolve existing congestion issues in 
the wider Bury North area and Bury Town Centre. The development will also facilitate 
improvements to public transport into and around the allocation in order to allow for more 
sustainable transport choices. 

4.3 Given the above, the allocation was selected for inclusion within the GMSF on the basis of 
Criteria 7 (land that would deliver significant local benefits by addressing a major local 
problem/issue). Further detail is provided within in the GMSF Site Selection Paper 
(https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/. 

4.4 The Walshaw allocation fits within the overall GMSF spatial strategy in that it will contribute 
to inclusive growth and will contribute to boosting northern competitiveness. The allocation 
will contribute to the Borough’s future housing supply and provide a diverse mix of house 
types and affordable housing provision. 

4.5 The GMSF vision will be delivered through the pursuit of a number of broad objectives. The 
Walshaw allocation will contribute to meeting the following GMSF objectives:  

 1 - Meet our housing need 

 5 - Reduce inequalities and improve prosperity 

 6 - Promote the sustainable movement of people, goods and information.  

5 Planning History 

5.1 Planning permission has not been granted for any significant uses within the allocation.  

6 GMSF 2019 Consultation Responses 

 640 comments were received in relation to the allocation during the consultation on the 
Revised Draft GMSF in 2019. A summary of the key issues raised are as follows: 

 

Principle / scale of development 

 It would be an unfair concentration of large-scale development in one area with 
no clear rationale for its inclusion. 

 The setting of Walshaw village would be harmed. Separation required between 
existing and proposed properties. 

 Walshaw is home to a number of businesses, which would be affected. Should 
be selecting sites that are vacant/have fewer constraints. 

 Loss of farmland that should be kept open as it offers local benefits e.g. 
residential amenity and improved health/wellbeing. 

Document Pack Page 790

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
4 

 
 

 The area is unsuitable for housing. Poor land stability due to past mining 
activity, culverted watercourses and natural springs are on-site. Evidence 
required addressing land stability/hydrology. 

 Parts of the site within the indicative housing areas are not available for 
development. The site should be extended to include The Nurseries/Scholes 
Nursery. 

 Landowners report that it is available, suitable and achievable. A joint 
framework is being prepared for the whole site. 

Housing (inc affordable housing) 

 The affordable housing situation will not be addressed. 

 More information needed on affordability and house type. They need to cater 
for over 65s and first time buyers not aspirational homes. 

 Should be built out by smaller, locally based developers. 

 Higher density terraced housing would minimise greenfield loss and would be in 
keeping with local area. 

 Housing figure should be expressed as a minimum. 

Employment and Economy 

 Construction jobs would only be temporary. 

 The proposals will damage the local economy. Local businesses will not benefit. 

 Employment sites continue to be underused and central Manchester sites will 
still outperform them. 

Green Belt  

 Large amount of loss, which will merge Bury/Tottington and cause urban 
sprawl.  

 Has role in enabling recreation, leisure, good health and wellbeing. 

 Efforts to minimise loss are welcomed. 

Brownfield 

 The Nurseries/Scholes Nursery site is brownfield and should be included.  

 Several unused/derelict brownfield sites and those in town centres should be 
prioritised and regenerated.  

Transport – Highways / Public Transport / Cycling / Walking  

 Existing roads are at capacity and are in poor condition partly due to large 
amount of schools in area. There would be an impact on road safety, 
emergency services and businesses. Consider the impact on the network 
including routes going out of the Borough.  

 There is pressure on Bury Bridge. We need another road crossing over the 
Irwell. 

 Proposed highway solution does not alleviate the situation. Not clear how Elton 
Reservoir link road helps, only displaces traffic. 

 Concerns at collective impact on existing road network and on motorways from 
both Walshaw and Elton Reservoir allocations. 

 Public transport is poor and new bus routes will not work. 

 Current walking routes not safe, cycling plans will not work. 

 The detailed proposals on infrastructure are welcomed.  

Physical Infrastructure and utilities 

Document Pack Page 791



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
5 

 
 

 There is an inadequate sewerage system in Scobell Street area, which 
overflows in heavy rain. No policy reference to improving its capacity. United 
Utilities has not addressed this issue.  

 The proposals will impact recycling and waste. 

 Water shortages in the area and development will make it worse. 

 Support for infrastructure provision commitments. Current infrastructure is 
inadequate and new provision must be in place first. 

 Uncertainties over infrastructure require other sites to be considered that do not 
have constraints. 

 The detailed proposals on infrastructure welcomed. 

Social Infrastructure 

 Increased stress on schools, which are already inadequate, and at capacity.  

 Concern that hotel and leisure facilities at Bolholt will be lost. 

 More clarity needed on new social infrastructure. Concern that Fairfield Hospital 
is reducing services.  

 Local centre will not work and will become vacant. Shops/community facilities 
should be within walking distance and be co-located. Should invest in 
redevelopment of Radcliffe town centre instead. 

 Detailed proposals on infrastructure welcomed. Provision of new school 
welcomed.  

Environmental – Green Infrastructure, Biodiversity, open space 

 Important element of the GM green infrastructure network. 

 Proposals would cause harm to the Special Landscape Area between the 
lodges. 

 Negative impact on key ecological sites, considerable loss of wildlife home to a 
wide range of species, will reduce their movement. Deciduous woodland and 
priority ponds are on-site. 

 Designations of Sites of Biological Importance/corridors need to be reviewed 
and extended. 

 The proposals would lead to a loss of trees, woodland and hedgerows. There 
would be no net biodiversity gain.  

 The policy should protect and enhance the Nurseries site and require a buffer. 

 Loss of well-used recreation space and public rights of way would negatively 
impact on health and wellbeing. Routes need to be made safe for horse riders 
and others. 

 Green infrastructure corridors should link further west and east to other 
Borough-wide routes e.g. Kirklees Trail. 

 Proposals should provide a buffer for water bodies at Bolholt. 

 We need strict guidelines to ensure carbon neutrality benefits. 

 Further evidence required such as an Ecology Impact Assessment and 
maintenance of green infrastructure corridors. 

 Opportunities exist to secure net gains for nature e.g. green infrastructure, 
woodland, ponds and protected species. 

Air Quality  

 Huge impact on carbon footprint/pollution likely to increase which would have a 
negative impact on quality of life. 

Document Pack Page 792



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
6 

 
 

Flood risk 

 Concern over increase in flooding, surface water run-off. 

 The policy should be more flexible with regard to natural drainage. 

Heritage 

 Development would have an impact on Walshaw Cross and historic cottages 
and farms at Bradshaw Road/Four Lane Ends. 

 Should preserve open spaces around Christ Church to retain setting. 

Other 

 There would be a reduced quality of life from the construction process, which 
will be disruptive and detrimental to amenity and likely increase crime. 

 Online consultation form was difficult to complete. Not everyone is has internet 
access. The document contains too much jargon. We need plain English. 

 This has been a developer-led process. 

 Unfair that most Green Belt loss proposed in north. Unclear why previous draft 
allocations in north of the borough have been rejected. 

 More bus/Metrolink/park and ride interchanges needed, remove bus lanes, 
widen roads, more ring roads needed, better linkages to motorway. Improved 
access to North Manchester General Hospital required. 

 Housing need should be met through a new town. Should negotiate with 
surrounding authorities and extend timeframe to 15 years. 

7 GMSF 2019 Integrated Assessment 

7.1 The 2019 GMSF Integrated Assessment (IA) is available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/  

7.2 The IA reviewed how the draft GMSF policies could impact upon the environment, the 
economy, local communities, equality and public health. The IA also recommended ways in 
which the GMSF can be improved to ensure that the policies are as sustainable as possible. 

7.3 The Walshaw allocation performed well against the 2019 Integrated Assessment objectives. 
However a number of recommendations were made: 

 Make specific reference to energy efficiency of the housing stock; 

 Consider how housing land can enhance work force skills and training, such as through 
construction jobs; 

 Consider feasibility study into requirements and ability of local utilities network to support 
development; 

 Benefits such as creation of construction and operational employment or improved 
transport links or increases in the range of community facilities, should consider deprived 
areas. Where possible, such benefits should be maximised to help bring about long term 
benefits for deprived areas. 

 The allocation needs to encourage integration with existing community and provision of a 
range of housing tenures. 

 Ensure any new social infrastructure provision is accessible to all and that local capacity 
is considered throughout future masterplanning stages. 

Document Pack Page 793

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
7 

 
 

 Ensure any new educational provision is accessible to all and that local capacity is 
considered through future masterplanning stages. 

 Seek to minimise the number of trips made by private car to/from the site. Consider the 
use of mitigation solutions including green infrastructure, incentivising electric vehicles 
and/or masterplan layout which reduces emissions near sensitive receptors. 

 Consider the priority habitat and wildlife corridor throughout detailed design to reduce risk 
throughout construction and operational phases. 

 Integrate green infrastructure throughout the scheme at masterplan stage. 

 A suitable flood risk assessment maybe required and associated mitigation in order to 
prevent the flood zone expanding. 

 Appropriate flood risk mitigation should be implemented (in line with best practice) for all 
developments that are within or near to areas of flood risk. 

 Make reference to energy efficiency directly and ways that it can be increased, such as 
highlighting the benefits of sustainable modes of transport. 

 Consider receptors throughout detailed design to reduce risk throughout construction and 
operational phases. 

 Consider how development of PDL sites could be encouraged as a result of greenfield 
development (e.g. by incentives or inclusion of adjacent PDL) 

 Further research into agricultural land quality and investigation into if impacts on any 3a 
land can be avoided/minimised. 

 Consider how development of derelict land, properties, buildings and infrastructure could 
be encouraged as a result of greenfield development (e.g. by incentives or inclusion of 
adjacent PDL). 

 Promote sustainable construction methods. 

 Consider waste and recycling facilities in design e.g. consider location of waste/recycling 
facilities in design/layout of masterplans and how waste facilities can be located to 
encourage recycling. 

7.4 It is important to note that the IA was focusing on each policy in isolation from other policies 
and that many of the recommended changes for the Walshaw allocation policy is already 
covered in other GMSF policies. However some wording changes have been made as a 
result of the IA in relation to housing types, electric vehicles, heritage and archaeology. 

 
  

Document Pack Page 794



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
8 

 
 

Section B – Physical  
8 Transport 

8.1 The allocation is located to the north-west of Bury and is bound by Lowercroft Road to the 
west, Scobell Street to the north, residential dwellings and industrial units to the east 
accessed from Tottington Road. Walshaw Road travels east to west through the centre of 
the allocation. Elton High School is located to the south-east of the allocation, to the south of 
Walshaw Road. 

8.2 The allocation includes the provision of a link road, running north to south between 
Lowercroft Road and Scobell Street. This will provide for development traffic and existing 
through traffic, reducing flows of traffic passing through Walshaw. The link road will also 
permit buses to pass through the site, providing flexibility in terms of service provision and 
routeing. A number of other vehicular accesses to the development will also be provided 
across the local road network.  

8.3 The Locality Assessment (available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/): concludes that certain parts of the network 
would be constrained in 2040 without any GMSF related traffic. Whilst the creation of a link 
road through the Walshaw allocation will ease traffic conditions to the north, additional 
congestion is predicted to occur at the Crostons Road/Tottington Road junction towards Bury 
town centre and at the Cocky Moor Road signalised junction to the south as a result of 
additional GMSF traffic. However, implementation of a number of mitigation schemes at 
these locations will be sufficient to mitigate the GMSF traffic so that the highway network 
within the study area either operates at the same level or better than the 2040 Reference 
Case, or with spare capacity.  

8.4 The following mitigation measures have been identified:  

Mitigation  Description  

Supporting Strategic Interventions  

Elton Link Road New link road between the A58 Bolton and Bury 
Road and Radcliffe Road, providing access to the 
Metrolink Stops and associated park and ride 
facilities at Radcliffe (existing) and Elton 
(proposed). 

Necessary Local Mitigations  

New Allocation Link Road Link road providing bus penetration through the 
allocation between Lowercroft Road and Scobell 
Street, via Walshaw Road. 

Junction 5: Crostons Road/ Tottington 
Road Junction 

Extension of existing two-lane approach on 
Crostons Road 

Junction 5a: Tottington Road/ Walshaw 
Road Priority Junction 

Reconfiguration of the Walshaw Road approach 

Junction 7: Cockey Moor Road Junction Adjustments to signalised junction to improve entry 
capacities and improve efficiency of signal 
operation. 

Junction 9: A58 Bolton Road/Ainsworth 
Road 

Adjustments to signalised junction to improve 
operation. Requirement/form to be confirmed. 

Document Pack Page 795

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
9 

 
 

A58 Bolton & Bury Road/Starling Road Adjustments to signalised junction to improve 
operation. Requirement/form to be confirmed. 

Provision of bus services  

Provision of off-site active-travel 
infrastructure 

 

SRN Interventions 

None proposed   

8.5 In addition to the initial mitigation measures above, two further junctions are considered to 
possibly require mitigation: 

 A58 Bolton Road/Ainsworth Road; and 

 A58 Bolton & Bury Road/Starling Road. 

8.6 While the need for improvement at these locations is recognised in the Locality Assessment 
to ensure its robustness, the modelling undertaken does not at this stage confirm the need 
for or the form of any mitigation at these junctions. Further work will therefore need to be 
undertaken to assess the requirement for and nature of any improvements. 

8.7 The proposed policy wording for the GM9 Walshaw has been informed by the Locality 
Assessment and ensures the allocation will be supported by the appropriate mitigation 

measures. 

8.8 The allocation is considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed as the 
allocation moves through the planning process. The potential improvement works will be 
subject to further detailed assessment and viability work. All final design solutions will be 
consistent with Greater Manchester’s best practice Streets for All highway design principles. 
The allocation would need to be supported by continuing wider transport investment across 
GM. 

9 Flood Risk and Drainage 

Flood Risk Summary 

9.1 The allocation is located within Flood Zone 1. 

9.2 There are three notable watercourses either within or in close proximity to the allocation: 

 Unnamed watercourse to the north of Scobell Street, which flows through the existing 
residential area from west to east before becoming culverted approximately 50m to the 
west of Camberley Close. United Utilities records identify the culvert turning and flowing in 
a north easterly direction. There is no evidence to suggest that it enters the proposed 
development site. 

 Walshaw Brook, an ordinary watercourse which runs through the northern part of the 
allocations to the southern boundaries of the HIMOR, Redrow Homes land and the 
northern boundary of the VHW Land Partnership (Walshaw) Limited land, flowing in a 
south easterly direction. There are numerous tributaries that drain at various locations 
along its length. Also, there are ponds/lakes to the north of the Brook and to the south of 
the Redrow Homes site which have connectivity. 

 Elton Brook, an ordinary watercourse present just outside the VHW Land Partnership 
southern development site boundary. This generally flows in an easterly direction with a 
number of tributaries present within the allocation connecting at various points. One of the 

Document Pack Page 796



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
10 

 
 

main tributaries commences within the allocation and crosses a number of the 
development parcels. Outside the south east boundary, north of Elton Vale sports Club, 
are three large water features which are referred to as Elton Brook Reservoirs. 

9.3 Surface water mapping shows areas of the allocation are potentially susceptible to surface 
water flooding. These are generally limited to the alignment of existing water features such 
as Walshaw Brook and the existing lake/pond features. 

9.4 A number of existing noteworthy surface water overland flow flood routes have been 
identified from this data.  

 The first originates to the north and east of the allocation and appears to be associated 
with a low point in Scobell Street which is prone to surface water flooding. Water appears 
to flow from Scobell Street along/through the allocation’s eastern boundary in a southern 
direction and end up off-site in the pond/lake to the south of the Bolholt Hotel; 

 The second of these flow paths is located in the western area of the allocation that 
originates south of Scobell Street and flows south towards the junction with Walshaw 
Brook; and 

 The third of these flow paths is to the south east boundary of the allocation and appears 
to originate from the alignment of Walshaw Brook and around the western most pond/lake 
features. 

 The fourth of these flow paths relates to the alignment of Elton Brook and its tributaries. 

 Localised surface water flooding is also identified in sections of the local highway network 
adjacent to and bisecting the allocation. This generally tends to be contained within the 
highway boundaries. 

9.5 There have been historical instances of sewer flooding north of Scobell Street. United 
Utilities have advised that this is due to a number of factors including blockages in the 
existing culverts to the brook running alongside Scobell Street and drainage connections 
from developments north of Scobell Street. 

9.6 Given the topography of the allocation and the surrounding area, it is possible that flooding 
from surcharged sewers could impact on the allocation as any excess flow would follow the 
existing allocation topography. 

9.7 Regular maintenance including gully cleaning is carried out and Untied Utilities are currently 
undertaking works to remove highway drainage from the combined sewers to increase the 
capacity within the sewer. 

GMSF Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

9.8 The Greater Manchester Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (GM Level 1 SFRA) 
(available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/): was completed in March 2019 as part of the 
evidence base to inform the preparation of the GMSF. This SFRA initiated the sequential 
risk-based approach to the allocation of land for development and identified whether 
application of the Exception Test was likely to be necessary using the most up-to-date 
information and guidance. 

9.9 The Walshaw allocation is located within flood zone 1. Therefore the Level 1 SFRA 
recommended that the GM9 Walshaw allocation could be allocated subject to a site specific 
flood risk assessment which would ensure that any potential surface water flood risk could 
be mitigated on site through site design and layout. 

Document Pack Page 797

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
11 

 
 

9.10 The site promoters for GM9 Walshaw have prepared Flood Risk Assessments, to assess the 
risk of flooding in more detail and developed a Masterplan Drainage Strategy for the 
allocation.  

9.11 A separate surface water drainage network is proposed within the allocation. This will ensure 
that surface water run-off from the allocation would not exceed the existing greenfield 
scenario and a betterment would be provided for longer return periods. 

9.12 The new drainage system will be designed in accordance with drainage hierarchy and 
national sustainable urban drainage system (SuDS) standards. The use of green suds 
including detention basis, rain gardens, swales and the proposed controlled release of 
surface water to Walshaw Brook and Elton Brook will help to minimize the flood risk impact 
on the downstream watercourse network. It is expected that no surface water will be 
discharged to the combined public sewer. 

9.13 Finished site levels will be engineered to provide positive drainage where required and 
prevent ponding and this should ensure that there will not be an accumulation of standing 
water. 

9.14 Gradients of hard standing areas, where possible, will be designed to fall away from 
buildings such that any overland flow resulting from extreme events would be channeled 
away from entrances. 

9.15 To ensure that the proposed development will not increase flood risk elsewhere, surface 
water drainage discharge rates will be restricted. This restricted discharge in conjunction 
with surface water attenuation on site will mitigate against flood risk to other land. By 
reducing the post development peak run-off to greenfield rates prior to its discharge into 
Walshaw Brook and Elton Brook, this will reduce the potential for surface water flooding on 
the downstream network. Suitable pollution control measures will be required to safeguard 
the local environment. 

9.16 The development and drainage system will be designed to cope with intense storm events 
(with an allowance for climate change). If an extreme rainfall event exceeds the design 
criteria for the drainage network, it is likely that there will be some overland flows which are 
unable to enter the system and existing known overland flows. 

9.17 Any overland flows generated by the proposed development would be directed away from 
the existing properties surrounding the allocation and towards the highway network where it 
can follow natural flow paths. 

9.18 The proposed policy wording for the GM9 seeks to ensure that any development within the 
allocation is safe from and mitigates for potential flood risk from all sources. Policy GM9 
requires development to incorporate sustainable drainage systems to manage surface water 
and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance with the hierarchy of 
drainage options. Proposals to discharge to public sewer will need to submit clear evidence 
demonstrating why alternative options are not available. As a green and blue infrastructure 
network will provide more sustainable options discharge surface water, only foul flows 
should communicate with the public sewer. 

9.19 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 798



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
12 

 
 

10 Ground Conditions 

10.1 The land within the Walshaw allocation has been used for a number of previous uses 
including agricultural fields, farmland, sewage works, bleach and print works, outbuildings 
and reservoirs. 

10.2 Geological mapping indicates that the allocation is underlain by Cannel Rock Sandstone, 
Old Lawrence Rock Sandstone, Sandstone, Pennine Lower Coal Measures and 
Trencherbone Rock Secondary A Aquifers which are overlain by Till, Glaciofluvial Deposits 
of Sand and Gravel and Alluvial Clay, Silt and Gravel. 

10.3 The allocation is located in an area of historic quarrying/mining activity and is also within an 
identified coal mining area. A Coal Authority reports shows that within the majority of the 
allocation no recorded opencast mining has historically occurred. The report states that part 
of the allocation could be affected by past underground mining of 2 no. seams of coal from 
an unnamed colliery at 42m and 56m depth, last worked between 1876 and 1878. It is likely 
that there are other unrecorded shallow (<30m) workings in this area. Two coal shafts have 
been identified within the allocation boundary. No mine gas emissions or emergency surface 
hazard call out procedures are recorded in the allocation.  

10.4 Phase 1 Preliminary Assessments – available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents - have been produced in 
support of the allocation and have been reviewed by Bury Council’s Environmental Health 
department who have accepted the findings and confirmed that the level of work is sufficient 
to take forward the site allocation to the next stage of the GMSF.  

10.5 A geotechnical and geo-environmental ground investigation will be required to be submitted 
with any planning application/s. This should include potential for ground gas and 
groundwater monitoring, and a watching brief to be carried out and further investigation of 
identified potentially contaminated areas to be carried out. Due to the presence of coal 
seams and 2 historical mine shafts on parts of the allocation it would be appropriate to 
identify the depth and extent of coal within the underlying strata, and if appropriate to install 
combined ground gas and ground water monitoring pipes to evaluate any requirements for 
gas remediation measures. 

10.6 Furthermore, Environmental Health have requested analytical testing of all materials to be 
used in gardens and soft landscaped areas to ensure they are suitable for use. A site 
investigation proposal will be required for submission and approval by Environmental Health. 

10.7 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

11 Utilities 

United Utilities 

11.1 Three Utilities Assessments have been carried out within the site allocation (available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/ ). They confirm that there are no major diversions and there are points of 
connection for all utilities in close proximity to the allocation. However, there is a requirement 
for a water main easement and this has a been incorporated into the Masterplan    

11.2 United Utilities have reviewed the assessments and highlighted that new development 
should be focused in sustainable locations which are accessible to local services and 
infrastructure. Consideration must also be given to disposal of surface water in the most 

Document Pack Page 799

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
13 

 
 

sustainable way. United Utilities will continue to work to identify any infrastructure issues and 
appropriate resolutions throughout the development of the GMSF. 

Electricity  

Electricity North West 

11.3 Electricity North West in their response to the latest GMSF consultation advised that they 
were confident in being able to meet the network capacity requirements for the investment 
and growth in proposed in Greater Manchester. Where necessary they have secured the 
appropriate regulatory allowances within their ‘Well Justified Business Plan.’  

11.4 Electricity North West have carried out assessments on the proposed areas, which fed into 
the ‘Spatial Energy Plan’ document. This is a high level assessment of the expected impact 
of the proposed developments on the electricity network, the information was presented as a 
Red/Amber /Green (RAG) indicator. In relation to Walshaw, this allocation presented as 
Green, which indicates that there are no primary substation capacity issues envisaged due 
to forecast additional load resulting from proposed developments.  

Gas 

National Grid Infrastructure 

11.5 Cadent have confirmed that there is a low pressure network connection on Scobell Street, 2 
meters from the allocation entrance. However, this point of connection will require 
reinforcement. Following further consultation and assessment it is expected that the most 
appropriate point of connection for the allocation will be the Medium Pressure Main in the 
carriageway of Scobell Street opposite the allocation entrance. As a result, a gas governor 
will be required within the allocation.  

12 Telecommunications 

Existing BT Infrastructure 

12.1 Infrastructure records show that existing BT Openreach infrastructure is limited to existing 
highway surrounding the proposed allocation. As a result, no significant diversions will be 
required other than those required to facilitate access to the development. Connection points 
will be determined by BT Openreach upon submission of a detailed application following 
more detailed design. 

Existing Virgin Media Infrastructure 

12.2 Further detailed discussions will need to take place with Virgin Media as the allocation 
moves through the planning process to establish whether or not any existing infrastructure 
needs to be diverted as a result of the proposals. Discussions will also need to take place to 
establish if there is sufficient capacity within the network to support the proposals or if any 
upgrades to the existing infrastructure are required. 

Document Pack Page 800



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
14 

 
 

Section C – Environmental 
13 Green Belt Assessment 

13.1 The proposed removal of the Walshaw allocation has been informed by several studies 
undertaken by LUC (available at https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/): 

 The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016; 

 Green Belt Harm Assessment, 2020; 

 Greater Manchester Green Belt Study – Identification of Opportunities, 2020 

13.2 The proposed allocation would involve the release of 61 hectares of land from the Green 
Belt. 

13.3 In 2016 GMCA commissioned LUC to undertake an assessment of the Green Belt within 
GM. The Study assessed the extent to which the land within the GM Green Belt performs 
against the purposes of Green Belts, as set out in paragraph 80 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). The aim of this Green Belt Assessment is to provide the GM 
Authorities with an objective, evidence-based and independent assessment of how GM’s 
Green Belt contributes to the five purposes of Green Belt, as set out in national policy. It also 
examines the case for including within the Green Belt potential additional areas of land that 
currently lie outside it. 

13.4 In The Greater Manchester Green Belt Assessment 2016, GM9 Walshaw was included 
within Strategic Green Belt Area 10. There were 4 different purposes of Green Belt that each 
Area was assessed against and the Area performs as follows: 

 Purpose 1: To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas: Moderate-Strong 

 Purpose 2: To prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another: Strong 

 Purpose 3: To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment: Moderate-
Strong 

 Purpose 4: Preserving the setting and special character of historic towns: Moderate-
Strong 

13.5 In 2019 LUC carried out an assessment identifying the potential opportunities to enhance the 
beneficial use of remaining Green Belt within 2 km of the allocation site. The study 
considered the opportunities to offset the loss of Green Belt through compensatory 
improvements to the environmental quality and accessibility of the remaining Green Belt 
land. 

13.6 Land lying within 2 km of GM 9 Walshaw will form the focus of GI recommendations / 
mitigation to enhance the ‘beneficial use’ of the Green Belt. There are two proposed 
additions to the Green Belt within 2 km of the allocation site at Woolfold to the east and 
Lower Hinds to the south east. 

13.7 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt relevant to the Walshaw allocation identified 
in the assessment include: 

 Upgrade and enhance (resurfacing, new access points) the existing footpath network to 
provide local level recreational facilities; 

 Create a more attractive gateway access point at Woolfold through resurfacing, 
interpretation, signage and new planting; 

Document Pack Page 801

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
15 

 
 

 Introduce surfacing improvements and an off road multi user route along Elton Brook; 

 Creation of community recreation space at former Cyrus Ainsworth Nurseries; 

 Undertaken enhancements to Elton Vale Sports Club and Dow Lane Play Area; 

 Enhance allotment provision; 

 Enhance existing habitat mosaics and introduce green infrastructure enhancements at 
Woolfold and Lower Hinds; 

 Improve vegetation management and reinstate species rick hedgerows parallel adjacent 
footpaths, multi-user routeway improvements or at strategic access points such as Leigh 
Lane; 

 Improve the health of still water bodies through the planting of appropriate aquatic and 
semi-marginal species to increase biodiversity and encourage native species succession 
and enhance the Cyrus Ainsworth Nurseries and Parkers Lodges SBI; 

 Retention and enhancement of existing hedgerow boundaries within GM9 where possible; 

 Enhance and restore the field boundaries in the area around Lowercroft Reservoirs and in 
the landscape north of Bentley Hall Road, replacing post and wire fences with species 
rich hedgerows and stone walls; 

 Vegetation management in adjacent natural and semi-natural open space at Woolfold and 
Lower Hinds, including tree works, replanting invasive species management; 

 Enhance the existing semi-natural greenspace north of Elton Brook in Green Belt to the 
east of GM9. 

13.8 Some of these opportunities have been included within the policy requirements for the 
allocation, for others it is more appropriate for them to form part of the overall masterplan or 
subsequent planning applications. 

13.9 In conjunction with the assessment of GI opportunities within the Green Belt, LUC carried 
out an assessment to identify potential harm to the Green Belt through The Green Belt Harm 
Assessment, 2020. The report concluded that the allocation makes a moderate contribution 
to checking the sprawl of Greater Manchester and safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment. The allocation also makes a relatively limited contribution to maintaining the 
separation of Bury and Tottington which are already merged to a significant degree. 

13.10 Releasing the allocation would increase the containment of retained Green Belt land to the 
southeast, but this plays a similar role in relation to Green Belt purposes and as such this 
does not increase the harm of release. Release of the allocation would therefore cause 
moderate harm to Green Belt purposes. 

13.11 Evidence on Green Belt is only one part of the evidence base that influence any decision on 
green belt release. Consequently where studies have found that harm is to be caused by 
release of the Green Belt, this finding should be balanced against other important factors 
that could make up exceptional circumstances such as sustainability, viability and 
deliverability.  

13.12 The Walshaw allocation is deemed necessary to deliver a key strategic housing opportunity 
with supporting transport infrastructure. The allocation is critical in responding to the spatial 
strategy in the GMSF and its key themes of ‘Inclusive Growth’ and ‘Addressing Disparities’ It 
also directly addresses the aspirations set by Policy GM Strat-6 Northern Areas which seeks 
to boost economic opportunities and diversify housing provision in the north of conurbation 
by the selective release of Green Belt.  

Document Pack Page 802



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
16 

 
 

13.13 The potential GI opportunities in the Green Belt study discussed earlier are not exhaustive 
and will require consultation with key stakeholders and may require further surveys and 
viability testing to establish costings. However the enhancement opportunities nonetheless 
demonstrate that opportunities exist to help offset the loss of Green Belt which will have a 
potential positive effect on the beneficial use of the Greater Manchester Green Belt moving 
forward. 

13.14 The final masterplan for the allocation will be required to use the findings from all the 
assessments on Green Belt in the area to inform the layout and form development across 
the allocation.  

14 Green Infrastructure 

14.1 The emerging masterplan for the Walshaw allocation includes a multi-functional green 
infrastructure network which will provide an attractive setting within the allocation as well as 
extending the existing surrounding landscape into and through the new community. The 
objective is to provide accessible open space within walking distance of every home. The 
green and blue infrastructure network will incorporate: 

 The retention and incorporation of existing trees, hedgerows and woodland; 

 The creation of green wedges and corridors that connect the development with existing 
neighbourhoods and Walshaw village; 

 Provision of strategic cycle and walking connections along the green routes, including the 
retention and incorporation of existing Public Rights of Way; 

 The creation of new biodiversity habitats; 

 The provision of a tree lined link road; 

 The provision of a network of connected green space and public open space; 

 The enhancement of key views; 

 Provision of a sustainable drainage strategy, designed to address surface water run off 
across the allocation. 

15 Recreation 

15.1 New play areas and sports facilities will be required to support the delivery of housing at 
Walshaw in line with Bury’s Local Plan requirements.  

15.2 Good cycling/walking links will integrate GM9 with surrounding communities allowing access 
to existing nearby sports and recreation facilities. 

16 Landscape  

16.1 The Walshaw allocation lies within the ‘Manchester Pennine Fringe’ Character Area 
(National Character Area 54). The Bury Landscape Character Assessment considers the 
allocation to be located within ‘Fringe Industrial Brooks’. The allocation is also located within 
a Special Landscape Area which encompasses the standing water and woodland habitats in 
the southern part of the allocation. 

16.2 There are no Conservation Areas within the allocation or within visual range of the allocation. 
The closest Conservation Area is Bury Town Centre, located 1.75km south east of the 
allocation. 

Document Pack Page 803



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
17 

 
 

16.3 Of the ‘Guiding Principles’ noted within the Bury Landscape Character Assessment for the 
Fringe Industrial Brooks, the following are of relevance with regards to the allocation and the 
future development of it in order to preserve and enhance the character and should be 
incorporated where possible: 

 Consolidate and strengthen wildlife links and corridors in all fringe industrial brook areas; 

 Promote the introduction of broadleaved woodland and plantation woodland along 
Walshaw Brook; 

 Promote recreation links between brook area and surrounding residential areas; 

 Prevent boundary loss and fragmentation around urban fringes; 

 Repair and maintain network of hedgerows at Walshaw Brook 

 Preserve buildings and other industrial heritage; and 

 Retain industrial heritage features relating to the bleach work buildings at Elton and 
Walshaw Brook where possible. 

16.4 Visibility of the allocation appears to predominately relate to the adjacent built settlement 
edge albeit there are localised opportunities for long distance views extending beyond the 
allocation. These long distance views extend to the north and provide sight lines of Peel 
Monument located 4.25km from sections of the public right of way network within and 
adjacent to the allocation. In addition long distance views can be achieved to general south 
west of Christ Church. By contrast, the rolling topography of the allocation, together with the 
presence of woodland and hedgerow vegetation results in pockets that are well contained 
visually which gives it a more intimate character with views contained to the allocation and 
adjacent land. The allocation has a settlement edge setting with built form often visible in the 
periphery of views across the allocation.  

16.5 Given the screening benefit and character contributions made by the woodland and standing 
water habitats within the Special Landscape Area, these habitats should be retained and 
enhanced as part of the GI Strategy for the allocation.  

16.6 Opportunities exist to maintain and improve public access across the landscape on 
allocation, to link up existing public rights of way network within the wider area, to introduce 
planting that would strengthen and enhance the existing landscape features and reflect the 
characteristics of the local landscape and to enable the connectivity of existing woodland 

habitats. 

17 Ecological/Biodiversity Assessment 

17.1 Ecology reports have been produced by the site promoters covering the allocation as a 
whole and as separate sites north and south of Walshaw Road (available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/). The reports identify the following habitat types: 

 Semi-natural broadleaved woodland; 

 Mill ponds  

 Permanent and ephemeral ponds,  

 Walshaw and Elton Brook 

 Network of hedgerows 

Document Pack Page 804

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
18 

 
 

17.2 Adjacent to the south-eastern boundary is the Cyrus Ainsworth’s nurseries and Parker 
Lodges Site of Biological Importance (SBI). This SBI includes two water bodies, deciduous 
woodland, grassland and a brook. A minimum offset of 15m is suggested by the site 
promoters between the SBI boundary and the proposed development. 

17.3 To the south of the SBI is Dow Lane informal recreation area and Elton Vale Sports Club, 
which comprises a cricket club, football pitch and tennis courts. 

17.4 The SBI, Recreation Ground and land within the southernmost section of the allocation are 
located with a Wildlife Links and Corridors Unitary Development Plan (UDP) designation. 

17.5 The Bury UDP policy for wildlife corridors requires that new development within or adjacent 
to identified Wildlife Links and Corridors should contribute to their effectiveness through the 
design, landscaping and siting of development proposals. 

17.6 NPPF (para 174) requires LPAs ‘to pursue opportunities for achieving measurable 
biodiversity net gain (BNG)’. The Environment Act currently passing through parliament will 
make this a statutory requirement. This requirement will be applied to all new development 
seeking planning permission, which to be granted consent will have to demonstrate that it 
will deliver a net gain for biodiversity. The metric to be used to assess biodiversity gain uses 
habitat quantity and quality as a proxy for biodiversity value. It is worth noting that habitat can 
also be used to a degree as a proxy for green infrastructure value so the calculation can also 
be used to demonstrate wider benefits. 

17.7 Currently BNG is considered as an opportunity within this allocation and the policy requires 
the allocation to minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity assets within the 
allocation. It is expected that the biodiversity gain provision will be focused on the Walshaw 
and Elton Brook corridors, Dow Lane and Cyrus Ainsworth and integrated with other green 
infrastructure functions such as recreation and surface water management. 

Habitat Regulation Assessment 

17.8 A Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required for the GMSF because it is considered 
to have the potential to cause harm to the special nature conservation interest of European 
Protected Sites. The HRA made an appropriate assessment of the implications of the GMSF 
in view of conservation objectives (available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/).  

17.9 The Habitats Regulation Assessment (December 2018) concluded that the allocation is too 
distant and too separated from any European protected sites for there to be significant 
impacts on them. However, development at Walshaw could contribute a very small 
cumulative impact alongside other GMSF developments, via traffic pollution on the 
Manchester Mosses SAC, via water pollution on the Mersey Estuary SPA and via 
recreational disturbance on the Peak District SAC and SPA. 

17.10 Further assessment will be required as the allocation moves through the planning process. 

18 Heritage Impact Assessment 

18.1 There are no designated heritage assets within the allocation, however one has been 
identified close to the allocation boundary (Christ Church, Walshaw). Due to the importance 
of the interrelationship within the surrounding environment, any proposed development 
within the allocation could impact on the setting of Christ Church.  

Document Pack Page 805

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
19 

 
 

18.2 There is potential for Pre-historic remains, however, Roman remains are unlikely due to the 
presence of the Roman road some distance away (approx. 1km to the west of the site 
allocation). 

18.3 The GMSF Historic Environment Assessment Screening Exercise, June 2019 (available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/)  concluded that further work is required to investigate the heritage potential of 
the allocation and this should include: 

 Further assessment of the designated asset identified outside the land allocation; 

 Non-intrusive work including walkover and geophysical survey to identify any areas of 
prehistoric potential; 

 Historic building assessments of the farmsteads, hotel and print work remains; and  

 Targeted intrusive work, depending on the results of the non-intrusive works and also on 
the site of the former Bolholt print works. 

18.4 In response, the Promoters for the allocation have engaged closely with Greater Manchester 
Archaeology Advisory Service (GMAAS) regarding the proposed development within the 
allocation. A Walshaw Historic Environment Assessment, June 2020 (available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) has been prepared and draws together the available archaeological, historical, 
topographic, geological and land-use information in order to provide a detailed assessment 
of the archaeological potential of the allocation, examine any heritage issues and identify 
potential mitigation measures.  

18.5 In summary the Walshaw Historic Environment Assessment: 

 Provides a detailed assessment of Christ Church and confirms its high heritage 
significance, with its setting within the graveyard and landmark position overlooking the 
landscape to the south and east contributing to its significance. In response, the emerging 
masterplan seeks to protect the Church with a surrounding green buffer in order to 
maintain its prominence in the area’s character. Views towards the church are proposed 
to be maintained and framed for new development. An area of landscaping along the east 
perimeter of the graveyard is proposed along with tree planting to the south.  

 Recommends that the design of the final layout of the proposed development needs to 
consider maintaining the intervisibility of the church within its surroundings to the north 
east, east, south-east and south. In addition, any development will need to avoid 
narrowing the views of the church to those along the network of proposed roads as it was 
intended that Church was seen within the wider landscape.  

 Recommends further consideration of the effects of the proposed development on the 
setting of the designated heritage asset of Christ Church will be needed as part of the 
design process. 

 Requires a programme of non-intrusive and intrusive investigation and recording works to 
investigate any surviving archaeological remains primarily from the prehistoric period. 
This work will focus on those areas that have the most potential to contain evidence 
relating to prehistoric activities or settlement, i.e. well-drained sands and gravels, 
localised higher topography overlooking watercourses. By targeting these areas it is 
intended that features such are hearths, which are also indicators of prehistoric activity, 
may be revealed. 

 Identified historic landscape features which are of local historical interest. These 
represent historic footpaths or routeways, administrative boundaries or field systems. The 
Assessment recommended that these heritage assets are retained within the Allocation 

Document Pack Page 806

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
20 

 
 

and where feasible should be enhanced in order to maintain and preserve the links with 
the elements that shaped the existing landscape around Walshaw. 

 Concludes that there is no evidence to suggest that the allocation contains, or have the 
potential to contain, any archaeological remains of sufficient importance to preclude or 
constrain development.  

18.6 Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) have accepted the findings 
of the assessment and confirmed that the level of work undertaken to date is sufficient to 
take forward the site allocation to the next stage of the GMSF.  

18.7 Policy GM 9 requires the allocation to protect and enhance the heritage and archaeological 
assets and their setting within the allocation and the wider historic character of the 
surrounding area including the Grade II* Listed building, Christ Church in accordance with 

the findings and recommendations of a Heritage Impact Assessment. 

18.8 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

19 Air Quality 

19.1 An Air Quality Assessment of GM9 has been produced.  (available at 
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-
documents/) The allocation is not situated within Bury’s allocated Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA), although it is in close proximity to main roads situated within the AQMA. 

19.2 The development of land for residential use has the potential to cause air quality impacts 
during construction and operation, as well as expose future occupants to any existing air 
quality issues. However, the Assessment concludes that, whilst further detailed assessment 
will be required as the proposals develop, suitable mitigation measures will ensure that air 
quality levels are kept to acceptable levels. Mitigation measures could include: 

 Production of a Travel Plan;  

 Sensitive Layout Design  

 Provision of electric vehicle charging points within the development; and 

 Financial off-setting of emissions.  

19.3 The assessment has recommended that a Detailed Air Quality Assessment (DAQA) will be 
required in support of any future planning application/s for the development. 

19.4 Bury Council’s internal Environmental Health Team have reviewed the Air Quality 
Assessment. They have accepted the findings and confirmed that the level of work is 
sufficient to take forward the site allocation to the next stage of the GMSF. Further air quality 
assessments will be required prior to any planning applications being submitted within the 
allocation. 

19.5 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

20 Noise 

20.1 A Noise Screening Assessment, April 2020 (available at https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/) has been undertaken to 
identify potential noise sources which are likely to impact on the allocation. 

Document Pack Page 807

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing/gmsf2020/supporting-documents/


 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
21 

 
 

20.2 The Assessment states that the existing source of noise affecting the proposed allocation 
will be road traffic noise on the surrounding road network. Given the roads primarily serve 
the residents of Walshaw and the surrounding area, it is unlikely noise from the local road 
network will represent an insurmountable constraint to development. 

20.3 The allocation will produce additional traffic on the local road network and may cause an 
increase in noise at existing residential properties. However, there are several routes from 
which traffic will disperse from the proposed allocation. Therefore, the development is not 
likely to cause a significant potential change in noise levels at these receptors. 

20.4 Any proposed noise mitigation measures will be agreed with Bury Council prior to 
commencement of any development. 

 

Document Pack Page 808



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
22 

 
 

Section D – Social 
21 Education 

 Bury Council’s Department for Children and Young People has identified that a proposed 
residential development sitting on the edge of Bury West providing 1,250 new homes would 
yield 263 primary age pupils and 175 secondary age pupils. Current forecasts show both 
primary and secondary schools in the area full to capacity, therefore all additional demand 
created would require additional school places.  

 It is proposed that the demand for primary places be met through the establishment of a new 
1fe primary school located within the allocation providing 210 places, with the balance of the 
demand being met though an increase in capacity at an existing primary school. Cumulative 
secondary age demand pressures will need to be considered more strategically, potentially 
linked to other proposed developments across North Bury. 

 An area (c.2.5 Ha) of the allocation has been reserved for the provision of a new Primary 
School, as shown within the Masterplan. However, the most recent view on a potential 
location for a new secondary school suggests the Council owned former ‘Coney Green’ 
school site off Spring Lane would be most suitable. The site currently houses Radcliffe 
Leisure Centre and Pupil Referral Unit. The new school would be accommodated in a new 
building. 

  Initially, to meet current demand the building will comprise a provision of a 4fe (600 place) 
secondary school, with potential for this to increase to 7fe (1,050) in the longer term linked to 
the development of allocations contained within the GMSF 

22 Health Impact Assessment 

 Further work will be required to determine whether there is additional capacity within any 
local healthcare facilities to meet the increased demands arising from the prospective 
occupants of the new development. If additional provision is necessary, the most appropriate 
means and location for such provision can be identified through future iterations of the 
masterplan. Alternatively, there may be a requirement to make a financial contribution 
toward off site health provision through a planning obligation or condition at the planning 
application stage. 

 The allocation is therefore considered to be deliverable although further work will be needed 
as the allocation moves through the planning process.  

 

 

Document Pack Page 809



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
23 

 
 

Section E – Deliverability 
23 Viability 

23.1 The Three Dragons Viability Appraisal of the allocation has been run using the base model, 
which showed the allocation would likely require public support to proceed. However, a 
sensitivity test has also been carried out for the allocation, showing that a small increase in 
values of 5% would improve the status of the allocation and return a positive value. The 
results are set out in the table below: 

Test 
Type 

Total 
BMLV, 
SDLT & 

Land acq 
fees 

Scheme RV 
(incl BLV & 

return) 

Viability 
measure as a 

% of BLV 

Headroom 
(blended 
return) 

Test result category 

Whether the 
test is the 
‘Base’ test 
or a 
sensitivity 
test 

The total figure 
used in the 
testing for land 
value, includes 
tax and fees. 

 

BLV = 
benchmark 
land value 

 

SDLT = Stamp 
duty land tax 

Scheme value 
(could also be 
described as 
headroom) once 
all costs have 
been accounted 
for including 
land and 
developer return 

 

RV = Residual 
value 

 

BLV = 
benchmark land 
value 

 

Description of 
whether the 
scheme provides 
sufficient residual 
value in terms of 
how it compares 
with the 
benchmark land 
value i.e. if it is 
10% or more 
above the 
benchmark land 
value it is shown 
as green, if it is 
within 10% of the 
benchmark land 
value it is shown 
as amber and 
where it is less 
than 90% of the 
benchmark land 
value it is shown 
as red. 

The headroom 
expressed as 
blended rate of 
return. The 
percentages 
shown are the 
headroom 
available after all 
costs, except 
developer return 
divided by the 
total gross 
development 
value for the 
scheme. If 
schemes were 
to go ahead as 
described, then 
this is the total 
return available 
to the developer. 

Category 1 - The residual 
value is positive and the 
residual value is 10% or 
more above the benchmark 
land value. Schemes in this 
group are viable and should 
be able to proceed. 

Category 4 - These 
schemes are generally not 
viable with the measures 
used in this study and will 
likely require public sector 
support to be developed. 
However, for a number of 
these residential schemes, 
despite not meeting the 
described viability 
measures, a developer 
return of 15% and above 
(still consistent with the 
range in the PPG) is shown 
as being achieved, this 
would suggest a viable 
scheme, if a developer/land 
owners found that 
acceptable. 

Base 
model 

£17,050,000 -£4,260,000 Less than 
90% BLV 

14% Cat 4 

Sensitivity 
test – 
increase 
values by 
5% 

£17,050,000 £7,700,000 More than 
10% BLV 

18% Cat 1 

23.2 The Three Dragons report shows that without a contribution to strategic transport costs, the 
scheme produces a positive residual value both for the main and the sensitivity test. 
However, a small increase in house prices of less than 5% would be required to 
accommodate the full strategic transport costs identified. 

23.3 With a small increase in values compared to the base model, the sensitivity test 
demonstrates that the allocation would be able to support all policy costs including 25% 
affordable housing and the infrastructure required to support the development, including the 
strategic transport costs. A 5% increase is considered appropriate for this location as it is in 
a popular residential area and is closely linked with Walshaw and the areas to the west of 
Bury where house prices are typically higher than other parts of the town. 

Document Pack Page 810



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
24 

 
 

24 Phasing 

24.1 The policy wording for GM9 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be approved by the 
LPA for the allocation, which any proposals must then be in accordance with. The policy 
states that this shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an integrated approach to the 
delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development. This should include 
the delivery of highways, infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure, green 
and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision 
and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between phases of development.  

24.2 The phasing strategy will be developed through on-going discussions with key stakeholders 
in relation to infrastructure delivery. The estimated phasing and delivery trajectory will evolve 
as the plans for the allocation are developed further. 

24.3 The allocation is in an established market area and will deliver a range of dwelling types and 
sizes, including affordable housing and provision for older people. The allocation is split into 
four separate outlets under the control of Himor (2 outlets), Redrow and Vernon and Co. 
Developments. Each parcel can be served by a separate access and can therefore be 
delivered simultaneously.  

24.4 First completions are anticipated to take place in 2025/26, with a delivery rate of up to 40 
dwellings per outlet per year, with all 1,250 dwellings expected to be delivered within the 
plan period. Although a significant amount of preparatory work has already been undertaken 
as part of the GMSF process, a lead-in time of five years from the start of the plan period 
has been allowed before the first completions to allow sufficient time from adoption of the 
plan for masterplanning to be completed, planning permission to be secured and enabling 
works to take place before the first units are delivered. 

 

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Walshaw Housing Trajectory

North Central South East

Document Pack Page 811



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
25 

 
 

26 Indicative Masterplanning 

25.1 The Site Promoters for the Walshaw Allocation have produced an Illustrative Development 
Framework Plan (see following plan) to show how proposed development could come 
forward within the allocation. This provides an indicative layout of the development, including 
the location of the residential parcels, green and blue infrastructure, schools, local centre, 
and key pedestrian and vehicular access.  

25.2 Policy GM 9 requires a comprehensive masterplan to be submitted prior to any planning 
applications within the allocation. The masterplan must include a clear phasing strategy as 
part of an integrated approach to the delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the 
whole development in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure Delivery. This should include the 
delivery of highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure including 
utilities provision, green and blue infrastructure, broadband and electric vehicle charging 
points, recreation provision and social infrastructure and ensure coordination between 
phases of development.  

  

Document Pack Page 812



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
26 

 
 

Section F – Conclusion 

27  GMSF 2020 Integrated Appraisal 

26.1 An Integrated Appraisal (IA) was undertaken on the 2020 draft GMSF in order to understand 
how the policy had changed since the 2019 IA and to identify if any further 
enhancement/mitigation was required. 

26.2 The majority of the 2019 recommendations for the GM9 Walshaw were positively addressed 
by the draft 2020 policy itself or another thematic policy. A small number of residual 
recommendations remained from the 2020 IA, in order to further strengthen the policies. 

26.3 In particular this included: 

 Climate Change – since the 2019 IA was undertaken there has been greater emphasis on 
the climate change agenda and this is reflective of the declaration of a climate emergency 
by the ten GM authorities; 

 Accessible design standards – whilst this is broadly covered in Policy GM-E1 and within 
GM-H3 relating to housing, it was suggested that policies are strengthened with more 
specific reference to accessible design of buildings and spaces to meet the needs of 
users.  

 Deprivation – whilst this is also broadly covered within the supporting text and broadly 
within Policy GM-E1, particularly referencing social inclusivity, it is considered that the 
policy could be more explicitly in terms of inclusive growth and making jobs available to 
existing local communities or to those suffering deprivation. 

26.4 The residual IA recommendations for GM9 could therefore be met through the strengthening 
of thematic Policy GM-E1.rahter than any specific amendments to Policy GM9. This 
demonstrates the overall improvement of the 2020 draft GMSF in relation to the IA 
Framework. 

28 The main changes to the Proposed Allocation 

27.1 The boundary and level of development proposed within GM9 Walshaw has not changed 
since the 2019 GMSF.  

27.2 The 2020 GMSF has additional criteria within the policy requiring: 

 The provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies;  

 Financial contribution towards off-site secondary school provision to meet the needs 
generated by the development; and  

 The provision for the long-term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space and sustainable drainage 
features; 

27.3 A significant amount of evidence base work has been produced to support the allocation 
since 2019 and this has allowed the criteria within the policy to be expanded upon and be 
more specific to the allocation. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 813



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
27 

 
 

29 Conclusion 

28.1 GM9 Walshaw is considered to meet the site selection criteria and make a positive 
contribution towards the overall vision, objectives and strategy of the GMSF.  The allocation 
is considered to be deliverable and available for development.  Further work has been 
identified to take forward the allocation through the planning process. 

28.2 The allocation at provides the opportunity to deliver a high quality residential development in 
a sustainable location. Community facilities, including a new primary school and Walshaw 
Village, will be located within an easy and attractive walk of residents. A tree-lined link road 
will be provided centrally through the allocation while strategic green wedges with new 
pedestrian and cycle routes, will connect the allocation with the wider countryside and 
surrounding neighbourhoods.  

Document Pack Page 814



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
28 

 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – GM9 Walshaw 

Any proposals for this allocation must be in accordance with a comprehensive masterplan that has 
been previously approved by the LPA. It shall include a clear phasing strategy as part of an 
integrated approach to the delivery of infrastructure to support the scale of the whole development 
in line with Policy GM-D1 Infrastructure Implementation. This should include the delivery of 
highways infrastructure, surface water drainage, grey infrastructure including utilities provision, 
green and blue infrastructure, broadband, electric vehicle charging points, recreation provision and 
social infrastructure and ensure coordination between phases of development.  

Development within this allocation will be required to: 

1. Deliver a broad mix of around 1,250 houses to diversify the type of accommodation in the 
Walshaw area. This includes an appropriate mix of house types and sizes, accommodation for 
older persons, and  provision of plots for custom and self-build housing; 

2. Make provision for significant new and improved highways infrastructure to enable the 
proposed level of development to be accommodated, including:  

 The provision of a new strategic through road to enable an alternative to Church Street, 
Bank Street and High Street that is designed to be suitable for buses and incorporates 
active travel and is in line with local design standards; 

 Off-site highway works where these are necessary to ensure acceptable traffic movement 
from the allocation, including appropriate linkages to the  Elton Reservoir Link Road  

3. Make provision for major investment in public transport in order to encourage more sustainable 
transport choices (including potential upgrade of existing bus services or a new bus service 
linking Tottington – Walshaw – Elton – proposed new Metrolink stop at Warth – Bury/Radcliffe);   

4. Deliver a network of safe cycling and walking routes through the allocation linking 
neighborhoods with key destinations, incorporating Leigh Lane and Dow Lane and in 
accordance with national and GM standards of design and construction and local planning 
policy requirements; 

5. Make provision for affordable housing in accordance with local planning policy requirements, 
equivalent to at least 25% of the dwellings proposed on the site and across a range of housing 
types and sizes (with an affordable housing tenure split of 60% social or affordable rented and 
40% affordable home ownership);  

6. Make provision for a new one-form entry primary school within the allocation to accommodate 
additional demand on school places; 

7. Make a financial contribution towards off-site secondary school provision to meet the needs 
generated by the development; 

8. Make provision for a new local centre in an accessible location which includes a range of 
appropriate retail, health and community facilities and ensure that it is integrated with existing 
communities; 

9. Make provision for other necessary infrastructure such as utilities, broadband and electric 
vehicle charging points in accordance with relevant GMSF or local planning policies; 

10. Ensure the design and layout allows for effective integration with surrounding communities, 
including active travel links and connections to the recreation areas at Dow Lane, Elton Vale, 
Whitehead Lodges as well as Walshaw Village and Bury Town Centre;  

Document Pack Page 815



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
29 

 
 

11. Make provision for recreation facilities to meet the needs of the prospective residents in 
accordance with local planning policy requirements; 

12. Make provision for new, high quality, publicly accessible, multifunctional green and blue 
infrastructure within the allocation to provide health benefits to residents as well as to create a 
visually attractive environment and provide linkages to the sites wider drainage strategy in 
accordance with Policy GM-G2 Green Infrastructure Network and Policy GM-G9 Standards to a 
Greener Greater Manchester. This should include the integration and enhancement of the 
existing green infrastructure corridors and assets at Walshaw and Elton Brooks.  

13. Minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity assets within the allocation in 
accordance with Policy GM-G10 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity; It is 
expected that the biodiversity gain provision will be focused on the Walshaw and Elton Brook 
corridors and integrated with other green infrastructure functions such as recreation and surface 
water management; 

14. Ensure the allocation is safe from and mitigates for, potential flood risk from all sources 
including surface water, sewer flooding and groundwater; The delivery of the allocation should 
be guided by an appropriate flood risk and drainage strategy which ensures co-ordination 
between phases of development; 

15. Ensure that sustainable drainage systems are fully incorporated into the development to 
manage surface water and control the rate of surface water run-off, discharging in accordance 
with the hierarchy of drainage options. Where possible, natural SuDS techniques should be 
utilised, prioritising the use of ponds, swales and other infrastructure which mimic natural 
drainage and be designed as multi-functional green infrastructure connecting to the wider green 
and blue infrastructure network in accordance with Policy GM-S5 - Flood Risk and the Water 
Environment and nationally recognised SuDS design standards. Proposals to discharge to the 
public sewer will need to submit clear evidence demonstrating why alternative options are not 
available.  

16. Make appropriate provision for the long-term management and maintenance of areas of green 
infrastructure, biodiversity features, other areas of open space and sustainable drainage 
features; and 

17. Protect and enhance the heritage and archaeological assets and their setting within the 
allocation and the wider historic character of the surrounding area including the Grade II* Listed 
building, Christ Church in accordance with the findings and recommendations of a Heritage 
Impact Assessment.  

Justification 

This is an extensive area of land occupying a sustainable and well-connected location set entirely 
within the existing urban area. The land is loosely bounded by the urban areas of Tottington to the 
north, Woolfold and Elton to the east Lowercroft to the south and Walshaw to the west. 

The allocation has the potential to deliver around 1,250 houses, providing a diverse mix of house 
types and affordable housing provision for the local area. 

This number of new homes will require significant improvements to the local highway network to 
accommodate increased traffic generation. This will require the provision of a new route through the 
allocation that provides an alternative to the use of the existing highway network through Walshaw 
and may require a contribution to the proposed strategic route through the Elton Reservoir allocation 
which will also allow traffic from the Walshaw area to travel south without needing to travel through 
Bury town centre. The development will need to facilitate improvements to public transport into and 
around the allocation in order to allow for more sustainable transport choices. 

Document Pack Page 816



 

 
Site Allocation Topic Paper – Walshaw (GM9) – GMSF 2020 

 
30 

 
 

The scale of the development will create additional demands for education and the provision of a 
new one form entry primary school and contributions to off-site secondary school provision will be 
required in order to accommodate needs that cannot be met through existing facilities. 

The development will generate the need to make provision for a new accessible local centre 
providing facilities such as shops, health facilities and community facilities. 

Existing sport and recreational facilities at Dow Lane and Elton Vale Sports Club are situated to the 
south of the allocation and the development should incorporate a green corridor to provide access 
from the allocation to these existing recreational assets. 

The development will need to have regard to any existing ecological and wildlife features including 
Walshaw and Elton Brooks which run through the northern and southern parts of the allocation 
interest by minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. The brooks should 
provide the focal point for the creation of a good quality green infrastructure network providing 
publicly accessible open spaces and recreational opportunities for residents in the area. Such a 
network should seek to maximise the value of existing features and areas of nature conservation 
value and offer opportunities for active travel, particularly between homes, schools, shops, places of 
work and recreation. Connectivity from west to east is already well established although there is 
potential for improved pedestrian and cycle routes linking Tottington in the north to Elton and 
Starling in the south. There are existing reservoirs within the allocation and other opportunities for 
blue infrastructure may exist to enhance visual amenity, provide sustainable drainage and widen 
local biodiversity. 

To reduce the risk of flooding, the development should minimise the risk associated with inadequate 
sewer capacity and minimise and control the rate of surface water run-off through an appropriate 
drainage strategy which ensures co-ordination between phases of development and, where 
possible, safeguard land within the allocation for flood storage. Measures such as rainwater 
recycling, green roofs, water butts and permeable driveway surfaces should be considered to 
mitigate the impact of potential flood risk both within and beyond the site boundaries. As a green 
and blue infrastructure network will provide more sustainable options discharge surface water, only 
foul flows should connect with the public sewer. 

Christ Church in Walshaw is a Grade II* Listed Building sitting adjacent to the allocation. Any 
development will, therefore, be required to respect the setting of the church and capitalise on 
opportunities to draw on the contribution that the church makes to the character of the area. The 
completion of a Heritage Impact Assessment will be required. 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 817



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 3 – Treatment of existing UDP Policies 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

EC1  EMPLOYMENT LAND PROVISION 
GM-P1 (Supporting Long-Term Economic 

Growth) 

  

EC1/1 – Land for Business (B1), General 

Industrial (B2) and Warehousing Uses 

(B8) 

Saved- refers to sites  

  
EC1/2 – Land Suitable for Business (B1) 

and Office Use 
Saved- refers to sites  

  
EC1/3 – Land Suitable for Business (B1), 

Office and Hotel/Conference Facility Uses 
Saved- refers to sites  

EC2  
EXISTING INDUSTRIAL AREAS AND 

PREMISES 

GMP2 (Employment Sites and Premises) 

and GM-P4 (Industry and Warehouse 

Development).  

  EC2/1 – Employment Generating Areas Saved- refers to sites  

  

EC2/2 – Employment Land and Premises 

Outside the Employment Generating 

Areas 

Saved- refers to sites  

EC3  
IMPROVEMENT OF OLDER 

INDUSTRIAL AREAS AND PREMISES 
GMP2 (Employment Sites and Premises) 

  
EC3/1 – Measures to Improve Industrial 

Areas 
GM-P2 (Employment Sites and Premises) 

EC4   SMALL AND GROWING BUSINESSES Saved 

  EC4/1 – Small Businesses Saved 

EC5  OFFICES GM-P3 (Office Development) 

  
EC5/1 – Office Development in Bury 

Town Centre 
Saved- refers to sites  

  
EC5/2 – Other Centres and Preferred 

Office Locations 
Saved- refers to sites  

Document Pack Page 819



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  EC5/3 – Other Office Locations Saved 

EC6  
NEW BUSINESS, INDUSTRIAL AND 

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT 
Saved 

  
EC6/1 – Assessing New Business, 

Industrial and Commercial Development 
Saved 

  EC6/2 – Hazardous Installations Saved 

H1   HOUSING LAND PROVISION 
GM- H1 (Scale,Distribution and Phasing 

of New Housing Development) 

  H1/1 – Housing Land Allocations Saved refers to sites  

  H1/2 – Further Housing Development Saved 

  
H1/3 – Provision for Gypsies and 

Travellers 
Saved 

H2 
HOUSING ENVIRONMENT AND 

DESIGN 

GM-H3 (Type, Size and Design of New 

Housing) 

  
H2/1 – The Form of New Residential 

Development 
Saved 

  
H2/2 – The Layout of New Residential 

Development 
Saved 

  H2/3 – Extensions and Alterations saved 

  H2/4 – Conversions Saved 

  
H2/5 – Conversions of Residential 

Property to Hotels and Guest Houses 
Saved 

  
H2/6 – Garden and Backland 

Development 
Saved 

Document Pack Page 820



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

H3 
INCOMPATIBLE USES IN 

RESIDENTIAL AREAS 
Saved 

  H3/1 – Assessing Non-Conforming Uses Saved 

  H3/2 – Existing Incompatible Uses Saved 

H4   HOUSING NEED 
GM-H3 (Type, Size and Design of New 

Housing) 

  H4/1 – Affordable Housing Saved 

  H4/2 – Special Needs Housing Saved 

H5 HOUSING IMPROVEMENT Saved 

EN1   ENVIRONMENT GM- E1 (Sustainable Places) 

  EN1/1 – Visual Amenity 
GM- E1 (Sustainable Places Clause 1, 2 

and 11) 

  EN1/2 – Townscape and Built Design Saved 

  EN1/3 – Landscaping Provision GM- E1 (Sustainable Places Clause 16) 

  EN1/4 – Street Furniture Saved 

  EN1/5 – Crime Prevention Saved 

  EN1/6 – Public Art Saved 

  EN1/7 – Throughroutes and Gateways Saved 

  EN1/8 – Shop Fronts Saved 

Document Pack Page 821



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  EN1/9 – Advertisements Saved 

  EN1/10 – Telecommunications Saved 

  EN1/11 – Public Utility Infrastructure GM- E1 (Sustainable Places Clause 9) 

EN2   
CONSERVATION AND LISTED 

BUILDINGS 
GM - E2 (Heritage) 

  EN2/1 – Character of Conservation Areas Saved 

  EN2/2 – Conservation Area Control Saved 

  EN2/3 – Listed Buildings Saved 

  EN2/4 – Historic Parks Saved 

EN3   ARCHAEOLOGY Saved 

  
EN3/1 – Impact of Development on 

Archaeological Sites 
Saved 

  
EN3/2 – Development Affecting 

Archaeological Sites 
Saved 

  EN3/3 – Ancient Monuments Saved refers to sites  

EN4  ENERGY CONSERVATION 
GM-S2(Carbon and Energy) GM-S3 (Heat 

and Engergy Networks) 

  EN4/1 – Renewable Energy 
GM-S2(Carbon and Energy) GM-S3 (Heat 

and Engergy Networks) 

  EN4/2 – Energy Efficiency 
GM-S2(Carbon and Energy) GM-S3 (Heat 

and Engergy Networks) 

Document Pack Page 822



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

EN5  FLOOD PROTECTION AND DEFENCE 
GM-S5 (Flood Risk and the Water 

Environment)-   

  
EN5/1 – New Development and Flood 

Risk 

GM-S5 (Flood Risk and the Water 

Environment) 

EN6 
CONSERVATION OF THE NATURAL 

ENVIRONMENT 

GM - G9 (A Net Enhancement of 

Biodiversity and Geodiversity) 

  
EN6/1 – Sites of Nature Conservation 

Interest (SSSIs, NNRs and Grade A SBIs) 
Saved refers to sites  

  
EN6/2 – Sites of Nature Conservation 

Interest (LNRs and Grade B and C SBIs) 
Saved refers to sites  

  EN6/3 – Features of Ecological Value Saved 

  EN6/4 – Wildlife Links and Corridors Saved 

  EN6/5 – Sites of Geological Interest 
GM - G9 (A Net Enhancement of 

Biodiversity and Geodiversity) 

EN7 POLLUTION CONTROL GM-E1 (Sustainable Places) 

  EN7/1 – Atmospheric Pollution GM-S6 (Clean Air) 

  EN7/2 – Noise Pollution Saved 

  EN7/3 – Water Pollution Saved 

  EN7/4 – Groundwater Protection Saved 

  EN7/5 – Waste Water Management Saved 

EN8 WOODLAND AND TREES GM -G7 (Trees and Woodland) 

Document Pack Page 823



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  EN8/1 – Tree Preservation Orders Saved 

  EN8/2 – Woodland and Tree Planting Saved 

  EN8/3 – Red Rose Forest Saved 

EN9 LANDSCAPE GM -G1 (Valuing Important Landscapes) 

  EN9/1 – Special Landscape Area GM -G1 (Valuing Important Landscapes) 

EN10 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT Saved 

  EN10/1 – Derelict Land Saved 

  
EN10/2 – Riverside and Canalside 

Improvement in Urban Areas 
Saved 

OL1 GREEN BELT 
GM-G10 (The Greater Manchester 

Greenbelt) 

  OL1/1 – Designation of Green Belt 
GM-G10 (The Greater Manchester 

Greenbelt) 

  
OL1/2 – New Development in the Green 

Belt 
Saved 

  
OL1/3 – Infilling in Existing Villages in 

the Green Belt 
Saved 

  
OL1/4 – Conversion and Re-use of 

Buildings in the Green Belt 
Saved 

  
OL1/5 – Mineral Extraction and Other 

Development in the Green Belt 
Saved 

  
OL1/6 – Reuse/Redevelopment of Clifton 

House, Prestwich 
Saved 

OL2 OTHER PROTECTED OPEN LAND Saved 

Document Pack Page 824



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  
OL2/1 – Development on Other Protected 

Open Land 
Saved 

OL3 URBAN OPEN SPACE GM -G6 (Urban Green Space) 

  OL3/1 – Protection of Urban Open Space GM -G6 (Urban Green Space) 

OL4 AGRICULTURE Saved 

  OL4/1 – Agricultural Land Quality Saved 

  OL4/2 – Protection of Farm Holdings Saved 

  
OL4/3 – Development Impact on Farming 

Areas 
Saved 

  OL4/4 – Agricultural Diversification Saved 

  OL4/5 – Agricultural Development Saved 

  OL4/6 – Agricultural Dwellings Saved 

  OL4/7 – Development Involving Horses Saved 

OL5 RIVER VALLEYS GM -G3 (River Valleys and Waterways) 

  OL5/1 – Designation of River Valleys Saved 

  OL5/2 – Development in River Valleys Saved 

  
OL5/3 – Riverside and Canalside 

Development in Urban Areas 
Saved 

OL6 MULTI-FUNCTIONAL COUNTRYSIDE Saved 

Document Pack Page 825



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  
OL6/1 – New Uses and Development of 

the Countryside 
Saved 

OL7 SPECIAL OPEN LAND AREAS Saved 

  
OL7/1 – East Lancashire Paper Mill Water 

Catchment Area 
 Already deleted 

  OL7/2 – West Pennine Moors Saved 

RT1 
EXISTING PROVISION FOR 

RECREATION IN THE URBAN AREA 
Saved 

  
RT1/1 – Protection of Recreation 

Provision in the Urban Area 
Saved 

  
RT1/2 – Improvement of Recreation 

Facilities 
Saved 

RT2 
NEW PROVISION FOR RECREATION 

IN THE URBAN AREA 
GM- E7 (Sport and Recreation) 

  
RT2/1 – Provision of New Recreation 

Sites 
Saved 

  
RT2/2 – Recreation Provision in New 

Housing Development 
Saved 

  RT2/3 – Education Recreation Facilities GM- E7 (Sport and Recreation Clause 7) 

  RT2/4 – Dual-Use of Education Facilities GM- E7 (Sport and Recreation Clause 7) 

RT3 RECREATION IN THE COUNTRYSIDE 

GM-G3 (River Valleys and Waterways), 

GM-G2 (Green Infrastructure Network), 

GM-G5 (Uplands) 

  
RT3/1 – Protection of Existing Recreation 

Provision in the Countryside 
Saved 

  
RT3/2 – Additional Provision for 

Recreation in the Countryside 
Saved 

Document Pack Page 826



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  RT3/3 – Access to the Countryside Saved 

  RT3/4 – Recreation Routes Saved 

  RT3/5 – Noisy Sports Saved 

RT4 TOURISM Saved 

  RT4/1 – Tourism Development Saved 

  RT4/2 - Safeguarding Tourism Assets Saved 

  RT4/3 – Visitor Accommodation Saved 

  RT4/4 – Tourism Support Facilities Saved 

  
RT4/5 – Special Tourism and Leisure 

Provision 
Saved 

  RT4/6 – East Lancashire Railway Saved 

  
RT4/7 – The Manchester, Bolton and 

Bury Canal 
Saved 

S1 EXISTING SHOPPING CENTRES Saved 

  S1/1 – Shopping in Bury Town Centre Saved 

  S1/2 – Shopping in Other Town Centres Saved 

  S1/3 – Shopping in District Centres Saved 

  S1/4 – Local Shopping Centres Saved 

Document Pack Page 827



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  
S1/5 – Neighbourhood Centres and Local 

Shops 
Saved 

  
S1/6 – Additions to the Shopping 

Hierarchy 
Saved 

S2 
CONTROL OF NEW RETAIL AND NON-

RETAIL DEVELOPMENT 
Saved 

  
S2/1 – All New Retail Proposals: 

Assessment Criteria 
Saved 

  
S2/2 – Prime Shopping Areas and 

Frontages 
Saved 

  
S2/3 – Secondary Shopping Areas and 

Frontages 
Saved 

  
S2/4 – Control of Non-Retail Uses in All 

Other Areas 
Saved 

  
S2/5 – New Local Shopping Provision 

Outside Recognised Shopping Centres 
Saved 

  S2/6 – Food and Drink Saved 

  S2/7 – Amusement Centres and Arcades Saved 

S3 
NEW RETAIL DEVELOPMENT AND 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS 
Saved 

  

S3/1 – New Retail Development 

Opportunities Within or Adjoining Town 

Centres 

Saved 

  
S3/2 – New Retail Development 

Opportunities Within District Centres 
Saved 

  
S3/3 – Improvement and Enhancement 

(All Centres) 
Saved 

  S3/4 – Markets Saved 

S4 

NEW RETAIL DEVELOPMENT 

OUTSIDE TOWN AND DISTRICT 

CENTRES 

Saved 

Document Pack Page 828



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  
S4/1 – Retail Development Outside Town 

and District Centres 
Saved 

  
S4/2 – Assessing Out-of-Centre Retail 

Development 
Saved 

  
S4/3 – Nurseries, Farm Shops and 

Garden Centres 
Saved 

  
S4/4 – Car Showrooms, Car Sales Areas 

and Petrol Filling Stations 
Saved 

S5 
LARGE OUT-OF-TOWN SHOPPING 

CENTRES 
Saved 

HT1 
A BALANCED TRANSPORTATION 

STRATEGY 

GM- N1 (Our Integrated Network) GM- 

E1 (Sustainable Places), GM-N4- Streets 

for All 

HT2 HIGHWAY NETWORK Saved 

  HT2/1 – The Strategic Route Network Saved 

  
HT2/2 – Improvements to the Strategic 

Route Network 
Saved 

  HT2/3 – Improvements to Other Roads Saved 

  
HT2/4 – Car Parking and New 

Development 
Saved 

  HT2/5 – Public Car Parks Saved 

  HT2/6 – Replacement Car Parking 
GM-N7 (Transport requirements of new 

developments) 

  HT2/7 – Lorry Parking Saved 

  HT2/8 – Taxi and Private Hire Business Saved 

Document Pack Page 829



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  HT2/9 – Highways Agency Road Schemes Saved 

  
HT2/10 – Development Affecting Trunk 

Roads 

GM-N7 (Transport requirements of new 

developments) 

HT3 PUBLIC TRANSPORT 
GM- N1 (Our Integrated Network) and 

GM-N3(Our Public Transport) 

  
HT3/1 – Schemes to Assist Bus 

Movement 
Saved 

  HT3/2 – Bus Services Saved 

  HT3/3 – Design of Roads for Bus Routes Saved 

  HT3/4 – Schemes to Assist Metrolink Saved 

HT4 NEW DEVELOPMENT 
GM-N7 (Transport requirements of new 

developments) 

HT5 
ACCESSIBILITY FOR THOSE WITH 

SPECIAL NEEDS 
Saved 

  
HT5/1 – Access for Those with Special 

Needs 
Saved 

HT6 PEDESTRIANS AND CYCLISTS 

GM- N1 (Our Integrated Network), GM- 

N4 (Streets for All), GM-N5 (Walking and 

Cycling) 

  
HT6/1 – Pedestrian and Cyclist 

Movement 
Saved 

  HT6/2 – Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict 
GM- N4 (Streets for All), GM-N5 

(Walking and Cycling) 

  HT6/3 – Cycle Routes Saved 

HT7 FREIGHT GM-N6 (Freight and Logistics) 

Document Pack Page 830



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  HT7/1 – Freight Facilities Saved 

CF1 
PROPOSALS FOR NEW AND 

IMPROVED COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

GM -E1 (Sustainable Places) GM -E3 

(Cultrual Facilities) 

  
CF1/1 – Location of New Community 

Facilities 
Saved 

CF2 EDUCATION LAND AND BUILDINGS 
GM- E5 (Education, Skills and 

Knowledge) 

  CF2/1 – Bury College Saved 

CF3 SOCIAL SERVICES Saved 

  
CF3/1 – Residential Care Homes and 

Nursing Facilities 
Saved 

CF4 HEALTHCARE FACILITIES GM- E6 (Health) 

  CF4/1 – Fairfield General Hospital Saved 

CF5  CHILDCARE FACILITIES 
Policy GM- E5 (Education, Skills and 

Knowledge) 

  
CF5/1 – Childcare Facilities in New 

Developments 
Saved 

MW1 
PROTECTION OF MINERAL 

RESOURCES 
GM-S7 (Resource Effeciency)  

  MW1/1 – Areas of Search Saved 

  
MW1/2 – Mineral Working Within Areas of 

Search 
Saved 

  MW1/3 – Sterilisation of Mineral Deposits Saved 

Document Pack Page 831



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  MW1/4 – The Need for Aggregates Saved 

MW2 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

FOR MINERAL WORKINGS 
GM-S7 (Resource Effeciency)  

  
MW2/1 – Assessing Mineral Extraction 

Proposals 
Saved 

  
MW2/2 – Planning Applications for 

Mineral Workings 
Saved 

  
MW2/3 – Development Control 

Conditions (Minerals) 
Saved 

  
MW2/4 – Longstanding Planning 

Permissions 
Saved 

  
MW2/5 – Derelict or Degraded Land 

(minerals) 
Saved 

  
MW2/6 – Alternatives to Newly Won 

Minerals 
Saved 

  
MW2/7 – Transport Routes for Minerals 

and Minerals Waste 
Saved 

  MW2/8 – Materials for Restoration Saved 

  
MW2/9 – Standards of Restoration 

(Minerals) 
Saved 

MW3 WASTE DISPOSAL FACILITIES GM-S7 (Resource Effeciency) 

  
MW3/1 – Derelict or Degraded Land 

(Waste) 
GM-S7 (Resource Effeciency) 

  
MW3/2 – Waste Recycling and Bulk 

Reduction 
GM-S7 (Resource Effeciency) 

Document Pack Page 832



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

MW4 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

FOR WASTE DISPOSAL SITES 
Saved 

  
MW4/1 – Assessing Waste Disposal 

Proposals 
Saved 

  
MW4/2 – Development Control 

Conditions (Waste) 
Saved 

  MW4/3 – Household Waste Disposal Saved 

  
MW4/4 – Transport Routes for Waste 

Disposal Sites 
Saved 

  MW4/5 – Land Contamination Saved 

  
MW4/6 – Standards of Restoration 

(Waste) 
Saved 

TC1 TOWN CENTRES Saved 

  TC1/1 – Open Space in Town Centres Saved 

  
TC1/2 – Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict in 

Town Centres 
Saved 

TC2 
TOWN CENTRE ENHANCEMENT AND 

DEVELOPMENT 
Saved 

  TC2/1 – Upper Floors Saved 

  TC2/2 – Mixed Use Development Saved 

  TC2/3 – Vacant And Cleared Sites Saved 

TC3 BURY TOWN CENTRE Saved 

  BURY TOWN CENTRE Saved 

Document Pack Page 833



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  
Area BY1 – Tentersfield/Millet 

Street/Tenterden Street 
Saved 

  Area BY2 – Bridge Road/Buckley Wells Saved 

  Area BY3 – Bolton Street/Market Street Saved 

  
Area BY4 – Manchester Road/Knowsley 

Street 
Saved 

  Area BY5 – The Rock/Peel Way Saved 

  Area BY6 – Central Shopping Area Saved 

  Area BY7 – Townside/Market Street Saved 

  Area BY8 – The Rock/Moorgate Saved 

  Area BY9 – George Street Saved 

  
Area BY10 – Rochdale Road/Lord 

Street/York Street 
Saved 

  
Area BY11- Heywood Street/Spring 

Street 
Saved 

  RAMSBOTTOM TOWN CENTRE Saved 

  
Area RM1 – Market Place/Carr 

Street/Ramsbottom Lane 
Saved 

  Area RM2 – St Paul’s/Crow Lane Saved 

  Area RM3 – Bolton Street/Bridge Street Saved 

  Area RM4 – Square Street Saved 

Document Pack Page 834



 

Bury UDP Policy GMSF Replacement Policy/Policies 

  
Area RM5 – Railway Street/Bridge 

Street/Peel Brow 
Saved 

  RADCLIFFE TOWN CENTRE Saved 

  
Area RD1 – Blackburn Street/Dale 

Street/Church Street West 
Saved 

  
Area RD2 – Green Street/New Church 

Street 
Saved 

  Area RD3 – South of Pilkington Way Saved 

  Area RD4 – Stand Lane/Milltown Street Saved 

  
Area RD5 – St Thomas’s/Bridgefield 

Street 
Saved 

  
Area RD6 – Spring Lane/Church Street 

West/Radcliffe Metrolink Station 
Saved 

  PRESTWICH TOWN CENTRE Saved 

  
Area PR1 – The Longfield Centre/Bury 

New Road 
Saved 

  Area PR2 – Warwick Street/Derby Street Saved 

  Area PR3 – Rectory Lane Saved 

  
Area PR4 – Church Lane/Bury New 

Road/Clark’s Hill 
Saved 

 

 

Document Pack Page 835



This page is intentionally left blank



 - 1 - 

Equality Analysis Form      
 
The following questions will document the effect of your service or proposed policy, 
procedure, working practice, strategy or decision (hereafter referred to as ‘policy’) 

on equality, and demonstrate that you have paid due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty.  

1. RESPONSIBILITY  

 

Department  Business Growth and Infrastructure 

Service Strategic Planning and Economic Development 

Proposed policy Publication Greater Manchester Spatial Frameowrk 

Date 14th October 2020 

Officer responsible 
for the ‘policy’ and 

for completing the 
equality analysis 

Name David Wiggins 

Post Title Unit Manager: Development Planning 

Contact Number 0161 253 5282 

Signature D. Wiggins 
Date 29th September 2020 

2. AIMS  

 

What is the purpose 

of the 
policy/service and 

what is it intended 
to achieve? 

 

The Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF) is 

Greater Manchester's Plan for homes, jobs, and the 
environment. It has been put together by the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority, which comprises the 
Mayor of Greater Manchester and the leaders of Greater 

Manchester's ten local councils. 
It’s a plan setting out where we will build the new homes 
we need, where our businesses will locate to sustain and 

create jobs for our people, what infrastructure is needed to 
support the development and to protect and enhance our 

towns, cities and landscapes. It covers a timeframe up to 
2037. 
Whilst one of the key purposes of the GMSF is to make 

provision for the homes and jobs needed across Greater 
Manchester in a co-ordinated and managed way, it is also 

about establishing a framework for reducing inequalities, 
improving the lives of our residents and transforming 
Greater Manchester into the world-leading city-region we 

know it can be. 

Who are the main 

stakeholders? 
 

The main stakeholders which are involved in the GMSF are 

local residents, developers, land owners, businesses, 
planning and development consultants, statutory 

consultees, infrastructure providers, interest groups and 
representative bodies. 
 

 

Document Pack Page 837



 - 2 - 

3. ESTABLISHING RELEVANCE TO EQUALITY 

 

3a. Using the drop down lists below, please advise whether the 
policy/service has either a positive or negative effect on any groups of 
people with protected equality characteristics.  

If you answer yes to any question, please also explain why and how that 
group of people will be affected.  

 

Protected 

equality 
characteristic 

Positive  

effect 
(Yes/No) 

Negative  

effect 
(Yes/No) 

Explanation 

Race No 
 
 

No The Publication GMSF has been subject 
to an Integrated Appraisal and part of 
this has involved and Equality Impact 

Assessment which has considered in its 
scope, the likely effects on 

discriminatory practices; the potential 
to alter the opportunities of certain 
groups of people; and/or effect on 

relationships between different groups 
of people, including race. 

Disability Yes 
 

 

No The Publication GMSF includes policies 
that seek to ensure that all 

neighbourhoods are designed to enable 
residents to live healthier, happier and 
more fulfilling lives, with the barriers 

to doing so minimised as far as 
possible. This must include recognising 

and responding to the difficulties that 
people may face due to age, disability, 
illness or financial circumstances. 

The GMSF has also been subject to an 
Integrated Appraisal and part of this 

has involved and Equality Impact 
Assessment which has considered in its 

scope, the likely effects on 
discriminatory practices; the potential 
to alter the opportunities of certain 

groups of people; and/or effect on 
relationships between different groups 

of people, including disability. 

Gender No 

 
 

No  

Gender 
reassignment 
 

No 
 

No The GMSF has been subject to an 
Integrated Appraisal and part of this 
has involved and Equality Impact 

Assessment which has considered in its 
scope, the likely effects on 

discriminatory practices; the potential 
to alter the opportunities of certain 

Document Pack Page 838



 - 3 - 

groups of people; and/or effect on 
relationships between different groups 

of people, including gender 
reassignment. 

Age 
 

 

Yes No A number of the development 
allocations state that they will provide 

housing for elderly people. 
 
The GMSF has also been subject to an 

Integrated Appraisal and part of this 
has involved and Equality Impact 

Assessment which has considered in its 
scope, the likely effects on 
discriminatory practices; the potential 

to alter the opportunities of certain 
groups of people; and/or effect on 

relationships between different groups 
of people, including age. 

Sexual 
orientation 
 

No No The GMSF has been subject to an 
Integrated Appraisal and part of this 
has involved and Equality Impact 

Assessment which has considered in its 
scope, the likely effects on 

discriminatory practices; the potential 
to alter the opportunities of certain 
groups of people; and/or effect on 

relationships between different groups 
of people, including sexual orientation. 

 Religion or belief 
 

 

No No The GMSF has been subject to an 
Integrated Appraisal and part of this 

has involved and Equality Impact 
Assessment which has considered in its 
scope, the likely effects on 

discriminatory practices; the potential 
to alter the opportunities of certain 

groups of people; and/or effect on 
relationships between different groups 

of people, including religion or belief. 

Caring 
responsibilities 

 

No No  

Pregnancy or 

maternity 
 

No No The GMSF has been subject to an 

Integrated Appraisal and part of this 
has involved and Equality Impact 

Assessment which has considered in its 
scope, the likely effects on 
discriminatory practices; the potential 

to alter the opportunities of certain 
groups of people; and/or effect on 

relationships between different groups 
of people, including pregnancy or 

maternity. 

Document Pack Page 839



 - 4 - 

Marriage or civil 
partnership 

 

No No The GMSF has been subject to an 
Integrated Appraisal and part of this 

has involved and Equality Impact 
Assessment which has considered in its 

scope, the likely effects on 
discriminatory practices; the potential 
to alter the opportunities of certain 

groups of people; and/or effect on 
relationships between different groups 

of people, including marriage or civil 
partnership. 

 

Document Pack Page 840



 - 5 - 

3b. Using the drop down lists below, please advise whether or not our 
policy/service has relevance to the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

If you answer yes to any question, please explain why. 
 

General Public Sector 
Equality Duties 

Relevance 
(Yes/No) 

Reason for the relevance 

Need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and 

victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the 

Equality Act 2010 
 

No       

Need to advance equality 
of opportunity between 
people who share a 

protected characteristic 
and those who do not 

(eg. by removing or 
minimising disadvantages 
or meeting needs) 

 

Yes The GMSF will include policies that are 
specifically designed to make provision 
for special needs housing, including 

housing for the elderly as well as 
ensuring that all neighbourhoods are 

designed to enable residents to live 
healthier, happier and more fulfilling 
lives, with the barriers to doing so 

minimised as far as possible. This 
must include recognising and 

responding to the difficulties that 
people may face due to age, disability, 
illness or financial circumstances. 

Need to foster good 
relations between people 

who share a protected 
characteristic and those 

who do not (eg. by 
tackling prejudice or 
promoting 

understanding) 
 

No       

 

 

If you answered ‘YES’ to any of 

the questions in 3a and 3b 

 
Go straight to Question 4 

 

If you answered ‘NO’ to all of the 
questions in 3a and 3b 

 

Go to Question 3c and do not 
answer questions 4-6 

Document Pack Page 841



 - 6 - 

 

Document Pack Page 842



 - 7 - 

3c. If you have answered ‘No’ to all the questions in 3a and 3b please 
explain why you feel that your policy/service has no relevance to equality. 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

4. EQUALITY INFORMATION AND ENGAGEMENT 
 

4a. For a service plan, please list what equality information you currently have 
available (including a list of all EAs carried out on existing 
policies/procedures/strategies),  

OR for a new/changed policy or practice please list what equality information you 
considered and engagement you have carried out in relation to it. 

 
Please provide a link if the information is published on the web and advise when it 
was last updated? 

 
(NB. Equality information can be both qualitative and quantitative. It includes 

knowledge of service users, satisfaction rates, compliments and complaints, the 
results of surveys or other engagement activities and should be broken down by 
equality characteristics where relevant.) 

 

Details of the equality 

information or engagement 

Internet link if published  Date last 

updated 

Following consultation on two 

previous drafts in 2016 and 2019, 
the GMSF is now progressing to the 

formal Publication stage.  
 
If all 10 Executive Committees 

agree (including Bury Cabinet), the 
Publication GMSF 2020 will then be 

brought forward for eight-weeks of 
public consultation. 

  

 
4b. Are there any information gaps, and if so how do you plan to tackle them? 
 

 
No 

 
 

 

Document Pack Page 843



 - 8 - 

5. CONCLUSIONS OF THE EQUALITY ANALYSIS 

 

What will the likely 
overall effect of your 

policy/service plan be 
on equality? 
 

Positive 

If you identified any 
negative effects (see 

questions 3a) or 
discrimination what 

measures have you put 
in place to remove or 
mitigate them? 

 

N/A 

Have you identified 

any further ways that 
you can advance 

equality of opportunity 
and/or foster good 
relations? If so, please 

give details. 
  

No 

What steps do you 
intend to take now in 

respect of the 
implementation of 
your policy/service 

plan? 
 

Following consultation, the Publication version of the 
GMSF will be formally submitted to the Government 

alongside all supporting evidence. The Government will 
then appoint an Independent Planning Inspector (or a 
panel of Inspectors) to undertake a public examination 

of the GMSF. 
Importantly, all representations made at the Publication 

stage will also be submitted to the Government and 
these will be considered by the Inspector(s) as part of 
the Examination of the plan. 

6. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

 

If you intend to proceed with your policy/service plan, please detail what 
monitoring arrangements (if appropriate) you will put in place to monitor 

the ongoing effects. Please also state when the policy/service plan will be 
reviewed. 
 

The GMSF will be continually monitored in order to determine the effectiveness of its 
policies. 

 
 

COPIES OF THIS EQUALITY ANALYSIS FORM SHOULD BE ATTACHED TO ANY 
REPORTS/SERVICE PLANS AND ALSO SENT TO YOUR DEPARTMENTAL 

EQUALITY REPRESENTATIVE FOR RECORDING. 

 
 

Document Pack Page 844



 

 

  
 

Meeting:  Cabinet 
 

Council 
 

Meeting date:  11 November 2020 
 

25 November 2020 
 

Title of report:  Local Government Boundary Commission for England’s Review 
of Bury Council 

 

Report by:  Councillor Eamonn O’Brien 

Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Growth 

Councillor Tahir Rafiq, Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Resources and HR 
 

Decision Type: Council Decision 

Ward(s) to which 

report relates 

All Wards 

 

Executive Summary:   

Classification 
 
Open 

Item No. 

Document Pack Page 845 Agenda Item 7



 

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England has identified Bury as 

requiring a review of Council Size (number of councillors) and warding arrangements 

as it is almost twenty years since the last review was carried out. 

The review will be carried out in a number of stages, initially looking at Council Size 

and then distribution of Wards, including consideration of any ward name changes. 

The Council has established a Member Working Group chaired by the Leader of the 

Council and consisting of the leaders of all political parties in the Borough.  The work 

of the group is supported by officers from Legal and Democratic Services, Planning 

and Communications sections. 

The working group has supported the proposed contents of the Council Size 

Submission. 

 

Recommendation(s)  

That: Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council that: 

1.  The Council’s response, as part of the preliminary period reviewing the 
number of councillors, to the Local Government Boundary Commission for 

England as set out in Appendix 1 be agreed; 

2.  Authority be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive to submit the 
response to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England, making 
any minor amendments as required for submission. 

 

Key considerations  

1.  Background  

1.1 In 2019, the Council was contacted by the Local Government Boundary 

Commission for England (LGBCE) about undertaking a review of the number of 

councillors in Borough and the distribution of ward boundaries.  Progress with 

this work has been delayed by the impact of the global pandemic. 

1.2 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England is an independent 

body established by Parliament in April 2010.  It is not part of government and 

are accountable to Parliament through the Speaker’s Committee. 

1.3 The LGBCE has a responsibility, set out in law, to review every local authority 
‘from time to time’.  Bury Council was selected as it has not had a review since 

2003.  By the time the recommendations of the current review are implicated, 
the current boundaries will have been set for nearly 20 years. 

 

1.4 The key aim of the review is to ensure the future delivery of electoral equality, 
with each councillor broadly representing the same number of voters.  The 

Document Pack Page 846



 

LGBCE ideally requires no ward to show a variance from the average number 
of voters of no more than 5%, although recognises this there can be factors, 
just as geography or local characteristic which make this not possible.  

However, where wards show variance of more than 10%, serious concerns are 
raised as to the equity of political representation. 

 
1.5 At the present time, two wards have been identified as having a variance over 

10% from the Borough average, as shown in the table below: 

 

Ward Name No. Cllrs Electorate 2019 Variance 2019 (%) 

Besses 3 8494 -2.3% 

Church 3 8591 0.4% 

East 3 8908 0.3% 

Elton 3 8898 2.0% 

Holyrood 3 8913 2.1% 

Moorside 3 9191 5.2% 

North Manor 3 8286 -4.1% 

Pilkington Park 3 7811 -10.9% 

Radcliffe East 3 9394 5.6% 

Radcliffe North 3 8869 3.1% 

Radcliffe West 3 8756 0.1% 

Ramsbottom 3 9333 7.7% 

Redvales 3 9579 7.4% 

Sedgley 3 9238 5.1% 

St Mary's 3 8512 -3.9% 

Tottington 3 8184 -4.9% 

Unsworth 3 7496 -13.1% 

*Data based on December 2018 electoral registers. 

1.6 This situation is predicted to increase by 2026, with more wards 

demonstrating inequality in representation as new housing developments are 

completed and demographic changes occur within households, reinforcing the 

need for ward patterns to be revised as part of the later stages of the review: 

Document Pack Page 847



 

 

 

1.7 The initial stage of the review will consider the appropriate future size of the 

council and, therefore, there is potential for an increase or decrease in the 
number of councillors in the Borough. 

 
 
2. Stage 1 - Analysis of the Current Size 

 
2.1 The first stage of the review will consider the relevance of the current Council 

size and whether this should be increased, decreased or remain the same. 
 

2.2 The proposed size of the Council will consider the Governance arrangements, 
the Scrutiny function, and the representative role of Councillors in local 
communities. 

 
2.3 Bury currently has 51 councillors, representing 17 wards: 

 

Number of Councillors Number of Electors Councillor:Elector Ratio 

51 148,453 2,911 

 

Electorate
Absolute 

Deviation

% Deviation from 

average

Besses 8,422          -300 -3.4

Church 8,479          -243 -2.8

East 8,943          221 2.5

Elton 8,805          83 1.0

Holyrood 8,806          84 1.0

Moorside 9,073          351 4.0

North Manor 8,631          -91 -1.0

Pilkington Park 7,713          -1,009 -11.6

Radcliffe East 9,612          890 10.2

Radcliffe North 8,814          92 1.1

Radcliffe West 8,666          -56 -0.6

Ramsbottom 9,360          638 7.3

Redvales 9,481          759 8.7

Sedgley 9,312          591 6.8

St Marys 8,646          -76 -0.9

Tottington 8,118          -604 -6.9

Unsworth 7,390          -1,332 -15.3

Total 148,269       

Average 8,722          

PD - Ward Code

Projected Electorate - Mid Year 2026

Document Pack Page 848



 

2.4 When making decisions about the size of the council, the LGBCE will make 
comparisons with the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy) nearest neighbour group. 

 
2.5 As shown in the bar chart below, Bury (shown in black) has one of the 

smallest number of councillors in its CIPFA group. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.6 While this could indicate that Bury has a shortfall in the number of councillors, 

particularly when comparisons are made with other Greater Manchester 

authorities who have considerably more councillors and yet have equal 

responsibilities and commitments to support the work of the combined 

authority.  (E.g. Bolton at 60, Wigan at 75, and Tameside at 57). 

2.7 However, the number of electors represented by each councillor should also be 

considered, as this indicates the potential workload and time commitment 

required from each councillor.  The table below shows this information against 

the same comparator group.  This shows a slightly different picture with some 

councils with more councillors than Bury having higher commitments per 

councillor in terms of the number of electors they each represent on average.  

Overall, in terms of elector representation per councillor, Bury does not appear 

to show as underrepresentation as the bar chart looking at councillor numbers 

alone appears to show. 

 

 

 

 

[Grab your 

reader’s 

attention 

with a great 

quote from 

the 

document or 

use this 

space to 

emphasize a 

key point. To 

place this 

text box 

anywhere on 

the page, just 

drag it.] 

Document Pack Page 849



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.  Stage Two – Warding Patterns 

3.1 The second stage of the review will look at how wards are distributed within 
the Borough.  While these have often followed historic townships or areas, 
these alone are insufficient to justify the continuation of existing ward 

boundaries, as these can change over time.  However, it is recognised that 
community interests and identities need to be considered when drawing new 

boundary lines and, at this stage, the LGBCE will undertake significant 
consultation with such groups.  Similarly, topographically features such as 
watercourses, railway lines or arterial roads which provide barriers between or 

definition to wards will also be considered.   

3.2 Warding patterns must not be considered as part of any rationale for the size 

of the Council.  These will only be reviewed after the future Council size has 
been agreed. 

 

 
 

4.  Conclusion of the Review 
 

4.1 The results of the review will result in ward boundaries being redrawn which 
match the distribution of the population and the geography of communities 
across the Borough. 

 
4.2 The implementation of the results of the review will result in ‘all out’ local 

elections. 
 

4.3 Future reports and analysis will be brought to Cabinet and Council at each 

stage of the review, when this work is undertaken and completed. 
 

 

5.  Conclusions and Other Alternatives Considered 

5.1 For the reasons highlighted, the Council recommends that Bury should retain 
the existing number of 51 councillors.  It is believed this level is required to 
provide a sufficiently diverse range of members for effective governance of the 

borough. 

[Grab your 

reader’s 

attention 

with a great 

quote from 

the 

document or 

use this 

space to 

emphasize a 

key point. To 

place this 

text box 

anywhere on 

the page, just 

drag it.] 

Document Pack Page 850



 

5.2 A greater number of members would increase resilience and representation 
and contribute to more manageable workloads.  However, it has been 
concluded that an increase is difficult to justify at a time when budgets and 

services are under severe financial and demand pressures. 

 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council that: 

1.  The Council’s response, as part of the preliminary period reviewing the 
number of councillors, to the Local Government Boundary Commission for 

England as set out in Appendix 1 be agreed; 

2.  Authority be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive to submit the 
response to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England, making 

any minor amendments as required for submission. 

 

 

 

____________________________________________________________ 

Community impact  

The completion of the review will ensure more effective councillor representation for 

the electorate of the Borough. 

The new Council size and distribution will support the Bury 2030 Strategy by 

empowering local communities and individuals, and giving clearer responsibility and 

accountability to Councillors. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is 

set out as follows:  

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to -  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act;  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

Document Pack Page 851



 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 

positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and 

demonstrate that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of 

policies and in the delivery of services.  

Equality Analysis Please provide a written explanation of the outcome(s) of 

either conducting an initial or full EA. 

The first stage of the review will consider the size of the Council.  By ensuring a 

more equitable distribution of electors across councillors, there will be greater 

opportunity to fulfil the Council’s Equality Duty.  For example, areas which might 

have increased in population through immigration in recent years, could have 

been under-represented under the current distribution, whereas the review allows 

a more balanced distribution. 

Consultation in the second stage of the review, will also be under-taken with all 

local and community groups, providing an opportunity for all communities to have 

a voice in the future format of the Council. 

 

Assessment of Risk:  

The following risks apply to the decision:  

  

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Opportunity to provide greater elector 

representation. 
 
 

Confusion amongst the electorate if their 
wards are redrawn. 

 
 
Risk in that by remaining at the same 

number of councillors, they will struggle to 
meet the increased expectations of them 

locally and regionally. 
 

Undertaking the review after a period 

of almost twenty years justifies the 
review. 
 

Communications with the electorate, 
particularly at election periods, will 

minimise this. 
 
Current austerity regime and pressure 

on local authority budgets does not 
justify increase in the number of 

councillors in the Borough. 

  

Document Pack Page 852



 

____________________________________________________________ 

Consultation: 

A working group, chaired by the Leader of the Council and consisting of all 

Opposition Group Leaders, has been involved in the completion of the Council Size 

Submission and consulted on the proposals. 

The LGBCE will undertake extensive consultation as part of Stage 2 of the review. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

As set out in the report. 

____________________________________________________________ 

Financial Implications: 

There are no costs arising from the proposals. 

 

____________________________________________________________   

Report Author and Contact Details 

Marcus Connor – Corporate Policy Manager 

____________________________________________________________ 

Background papers: 

Local Government Boundary Commission for England, Bury Electoral Review, 

Member Briefing 

Local Government Boundary Commission for England, Council Size Submission, Bury 

Council (enclosed) 

 
Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 
report.  

  

Term  Meaning  

CIPFA 

 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy 
 

LGBCE  Local Government Boundary Commission 

for England 
 

 

 

Document Pack Page 853



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

  

Local Government Boundary Commission for England 

Council Size Submission 
Bury Council 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 855



 
  

Page | 1  
 

Contents 
How to Make a Submission .................................................................................................................................................................. 2 

About You ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only) ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

Local Authority Profile .......................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Council Size ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Other Issues ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 27 

 
 
 
 

  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 856



 
  

Page | 2  
 

How to Make a Submission 
1. It is recommended that submissions on council size follow the format provided below. Submissions should focus on the future needs of the 

council and not simply describe the current arrangements. Submissions should also demonstrate that alternative council sizes have been 
considered in drawing up the proposal.  
 

2. The template allows respondents to enter comments directly under each heading.  It is not recommended that responses are should unduly 
long; as a guide, it is anticipated that a 15 to 20-page document using this template should suffice. Individual section length may vary 
depending on the issues to be explained. Where internal documents are referred to URLs should be provided, rather than the document itself. 
It is also recommended that a table is included that highlights the key paragraphs for the Commission’s attention.  
 

About You 
3. The respondent should use this space to provide the Commission with a little detail about who is making the submission, whether it is the full 

Council, Officers on behalf of the Council, a political party or group, or an individual.  
 

The Council Size Submission is being submitted on behalf of Bury Metropolitan Borough Council. 

 
 

Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only) 
4. Please explain the authority’s reasons for requesting this electoral review; it is useful for the Commission to have context. NB/ If the 

Commission has identified the authority for review under one if its published criteria, then you are not required to answer this question. 
 

Not applicable. 
 

Local Authority Profile 
5. Please provide a short description of the authority and its setting. This should set the scene for the Commission and give it a greater 

understanding of any current issues. The description may cover all, or some of the following:  
• Brief outline of area - are there any notable geographic constraint for example that may affect the review?  
• Rural or urban - what are the characteristics of the authority?   
• Demographic pressures - such as distinctive age profiles, migrant or transitional populations, is there any large growth anticipated? 
• Are there any other constraints, challenges, issues or changes ahead? 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 857



 
  

Page | 3  
 

Background 

Bury is an ambitious and largely prosperous post-industrial mill-town, located to the north of the Greater Manchester conurbation.  It comprises 

six diverse townships, each with their own unique identity, - Bury, Ramsbottom, Tottington, Radcliffe, Whitefield and Prestwich – with a total 

population of 190,108 (ONS 2018 estimate).  The population has shown a steady growth over the last 20 years, rising by 7.3% since the 1981 

census and in more recent years 5.2% since 2001 and 2.5% since 2011.  The majority of this increase has been in the over 45s and under 19s.  

The greatest proportion of the Borough’s current population is White (89%), with Asian (7%) forming the second largest community particularly 

focussed in the Bury East area.  It should also be noted that to the south of the Borough is the largest Jewish community in the country outside of 

London; although this community is co-located in the neighbouring boroughs of Manchester and Salford, the majority is within Bury. 

The Borough is proud of its great heritage and culture, being awarded the honour of being Greater Manchester’s first Town of Culture in 2020, 

with sole status being extended into 2021 due to impact of the Covid 19 pandemic, and remaining the conurbation’s only town centre to have 

achieved Purple Flag status. 

This identity is reflected in the pride local communities have in the town and the strengths of the internal and external partnerships that exist with 

communities and the public, private and voluntary sectors.  This has been particularly demonstrated in the response to the national Covid 19 

emergency of 2020, which has seen over 800 community volunteers step up to provide support to the most vulnerable people in our 

communities.  It is intended that this co-operation will be continued in a post-Covid world with the Voluntary Community and Faith Alliance 

(VCFA) taking the lead at coordinating these efforts, currently acting as the focal point for 300 locally-, regionally-, and nationally-based 

organisations operating in the Borough.   

The role of the community will also be a key part of Bury’s 2030 Strategy, launched in 2020.  This document has been developed in 2019 with 

over 1,000 responses received from the community and through a workshop held in early 2020 attended by around 100 local community and 

organisational leaders.  Community Hubs are a legacy from the positive and cohesive work established through the Council’s response to the 

pandemic.  Bury’s councillors will play an enhanced role in working with their local communities to support the work of the Community Hubs and 

delivery of this strategy over the next ten years.  As ‘Community Connectors’, councillors will work to identify and resolve the needs of individuals 

and local groups within the network of resources available to them and as part of the wider democratic framework of accountability of the Council 

as a whole. 

Geographically, the Borough is a mix of urban and rural areas set within 24,511 acres, representing just under 8% of the conurbation.  It is 

recognised for its recently modernised town centre and the strength of its retail offer (with the town centre being the third largest shopping area in 

Greater Manchester - after Manchester City Centre and the Trafford Centre – in terms of spend), and does not intend to rest on its laurels with 

early plans to carry out a new town centre masterplan, with the area of Bury Market and that between the old and new Rock areas being key 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 858



 
  

Page | 4  
 

locations for development.  Similar initiatives are also focused on the townships, in particular, the Radcliffe Regeneration Strategy to develop its 

shopping centre and market and surrounding areas, and comparable work in Prestwich and Ramsbottom shopping centres.  The Borough also 

has a reputation for great schools, beautiful areas of green space, a high quality, varied housing offer, and excellent transport links, all of which 

make it a highly sort after destination for individuals and families to live and for business to locate.   

The excellent transport links (with the M66 forming a north-south link and connecting with the M60 at Simister Island to the south of the 

Borough), quality bus network and numerous Metrolink stations (with Bury Town Centre being one of the network’s key terminal nodes), make 

the Borough an excellent location for commuters working in the conurbation’s core or further afield, and for businesses wishing to attract high 

quality employees and customers, while also meeting distribution targets.  

 

As previously noted, Bury places tourism and culture highly amongst its local priorities for supporting the local economy.  In previous years, the 

town has built on its assets both in its town centre located Cultural Quarter but also amongst its townships.  Attracting around 5.4 million visitors 

annually with an annual spend of approximately £300 million, the range of attractions such as the East Lancashire Railway, Transport Museum, 

Fusiliers Museum, Art Gallery, Irwell Sculpture Trail, and the Met.  In 2020, the town looked set to build on this prestige and prosperity, being 

awarded the Town Of Culture status, following the success of the Victoria Wood exhibition and unveiling of her statue in Library Gardens in 2019, 

and the HAPPY festival.  However, the lockdown restrictions of the pandemic severely curtailed these celebrations and Bury’s tenure as Town of 

Culture has subsequently been extended for a further year.  The Cabinet Member for Cultural Economy is committed to supporting this project 

and making it a success in the future. 

 

The Borough’s population is generally well qualified, according to NOMIS January to December 2019 data: 

 Social Group 1-3 (managers, directors and senior officials professional occupations, technical – 49.1% (higher than the North West - 

41.1% and Great Britain - 48%) 

 Social Group 4-5 (administrative & secretarial, skilled trades) – 22.5% (higher than the North West 20.5% and Great Britain – 19.7%) 

 Social Group 6-7 (caring, leisure, sales and customer services) – 15.4% (slightly lower than the North West – 17.7% and Great Britain – 

16.1%) 

 Social Group 8-9 (plant and machine operatives, elementary occupations) – 13.0% (considerably lower than the North West – 17.7% and 

Great Britain – 16.3%) 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 859



 
  

Page | 5  
 

For the same period, 44,500 members of the Borough’s population held NVQA, representing 39%, compared to 36.1% for the North West and 

40.3% for Great Britain, also demonstrating the relatively high level of qualifications they hold. 

However, the Borough’s population are concentrated in a number of industries some of which (highlighted), due to the consequences of 

lockdown and other Covid 19 restrictions, may show the local economy to be vulnerable to long-term changes in behaviour and lifestyle: 

 Wholesale and retail – 14,000 (19.7%) compared to 16.9% in the North West and 15.2% in Great Britain 

 Human Health and Social Care – 11,000 (15.5%) compared to 13.4% in the North West and 13.2% in Great Britain 

 Manufacturing – 7,000 (9.9%) compared to 9.6% in the North West and 8.1% in Great Britain 

 Education – 7,000 (9.9%) compared to 5.5% in the North West and 4.8% in Great Britain 

 Transport and Storage – 5,000 (7.0%) compared to 16.9% in the North West and 15.2% in Great Britain 

 Professional, Scientific, Technical – 5,000 (7.0%) compared to 8.3% in the North West and 8.7% in Great Britain 

 Admin and Support Services – 5,000 (7.0%) compared to 9.0% in the North West and 9.1% in Great Britain 

 Accommodation and Food Service – 4,500 (6.3%) compared to 7.1% in the North West and 7.6% in Great Britain 

 

While generally prosperous, there are Local Super Output Areas of the Borough in the most deprived parts of the country, therefore, there are 

socio-economic problems which need to be addressed (as shown on the map below): 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 860



 
  

Page | 6  
 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 861



 
  

Page | 7  
 

 

These levels of deprivation are reflected in the statistics of the Local Authority Health Profile 2018, with the picture being varied when compared 

to the averages in England.  The local life expectancy for both males and females is lower than the England average, with the difference being 

most acute when England is compared to the locally most deprived areas.  Locally the difference between the most and least deprived areas is 

11.3 years for males and 8.5 years for females. 

 
 

Council Size 
6. The Commission believes that councillors have three broad aspects to their role.  These are categorised as: Strategic Leadership, 

Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulation and Partnerships), and Community Leadership. Submissions should address each of these in turn and 
provide supporting evidence. Prompts in the boxes below should help shape responses. 

 
Strategic Leadership 
7. Respondents should provide the Commission with details as to how elected members will provide strategic leadership for the authority. 

Responses should also indicate how many members will be required for this role and why this is justified.  
 

Topic  

Governance 
Model 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What governance model will your authority operate? e.g. Committee System, Executive or other? 
 The Cabinet model, for example, usually requires 6 to 10 members. How many members will you 

require? 
 If the authority runs a Committee system, we want to understand why the number and size of the 

committees you have represents is most appropriate for the authority. 

Analysis 

Bury Council operates a Strong Leader Cabinet model of governance.  This was introduced in 2011/12 and 
there are no plans to change this.  The Council comprises 51 Councillors, with three Councillors 
representing each of the Borough’s 17 wards.  The current composition is: 

 Labour 28 

 Conservative – 16 

 Liberal Democrat – 4 

 Radcliffe First – 2 

 Independent - 1 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 862



 
  

Page | 8  
 

Expectations of all councillors are summarised at <<insert link to constitution>> 
 
The Leader of the Council is elected for a four year team or until the expiry of his / her term of office as a 
councillor. 
 
The Council’s constitution (<< insert link>>) provides for the Leader to appoint at least 2 and a maximum of 
10 Executive Members to sit on Cabinet with him/her.  Following the appointment of the new Leader in May 
2020, there are currently 9 Cabinet Members with portfolios (including the Leader) supported by 10 
deputies. 
 
There were 9 meetings (2 cancelled) and 11 meetings (1 cancelled) in 2018/19 and 2019/20 respectively, 
with meetings lasting on average 30 minutes.  During 2020/21, there have been 4 meetings up to 
September 2020, lasting on average 2 hours.   
 
Cabinet made 52, 47 and 37 decisions respectively on each of the years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21 (to 
September).  Appendix 4 shows all items discussed at Cabinet since January 2019. 

During the Covid Pandemic and in light of the local lockdown restrictions the Council established an 
Emergency Powers Group.  The group was established to facilitate the taking of emergency decisions, and 
met on 9 occasions.  Members of the Group included the four Group Leaders, the Scrutiny Chairs and the 
Deputy Leader and First Deputy.  Up until September 2020, this group had made 18 decisions. 

As a result of the pandemic daily meetings of Informal Cabinet were also established, the purpose of these 
meetings was to brief elected Members on issues appertaining to the pandemic. 

With the exception of the Leader, all Cabinet members typically have full or part time employment or study 
in addition to their Cabinet duties.  As a result, virtually all meetings take place in the evening. 
As can be seen from the increase in the length of time of Cabinet meetings and number of decisions made 
in the current year, the Council has increased the levels of involvement of Cabinet members in leading on 
the future direction of the Council.  The extraordinary circumstances brought about by the Covid-19 
pandemic has allowed the Council to explore the use of new technology to engage with members and also 
to involved them more effectively with decision making.  It is intended that this increased level of 
involvement will continue in the future, which will, in turn, increase the time commitment expected from 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 863



 
  

Page | 9  
 

portfolio holders and their deputies. 
 
We firmly believe that the current number of 51 councillors provides adequate scope for the ruling party to 
select a sufficiently skilled Cabinet, and supporting deputies, with the range of expertise required to fulfil the 
duties of a portfolio holder.  Even with increased demands of members from new ways of working in 2020 
and greater expectations from councillors, services have continued to be delivered, therefore we believe 
that this model will still be effective in the future (Appendix 7 shows details of attendance at meetings).  
We believe that any reduction in the number of councillors would severely limit the ruling party’s ability to 
function as effectively as possible which would impact its increasing responsibilities and strategic direction, 
as outlined above.  We believe that there could be scope to justify an increase in council size, however, we 
firmly believe that this would be inappropriate in the current austerity climate and unnecessary for the 
Council to continue to operate as it currently is in the future. 
 

Portfolios 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 How many portfolios will there be?  
 What will the role of a portfolio holder be?  
 Will this be a full-time position?  
 Will decisions be delegated to portfolio holders? Or will the executive/mayor take decisions? 

Analysis 

The Cabinet is currently made up of the Leader and 8 portfolio holders, with portfolios and responsibilities 
split between the 9 members as follows: 
 

 Leader; Finance and Growth 

 Deputy Leader; Children, Young People and Skills 

 First Deputy; Health and Wellbeing 

 Environment and Climate Change 

 Communities and Emergency Planning 

 Transport and Infrastructure 

 Cultural Economy 

 Corporate Affairs and HR 

 Housing Services 
 
 
On average, Cabinet members are invited to attend 43 meetings (including those in Greater Manchester / 
AGMA) per year, compared to an average of 29 meetings across all councillor (Appendix 3).  Also, see 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 864



 
  

Page | 10  
 

appointments 2020/21 <<insert link>>. 
 
Cabinet members are supported by 10 Deputy Cabinet Members, giving greater resilience and future 
continuity to each portfolio, with the relevant deputies taking the lead in particular areas: 

 Finance and Growth (and Ramsbottom Town Plan) 
 Children Services (and Radcliffe Regeneration)  
 Communities and Emergency Planning 
 Health and Wellbeing – two deputies with one having Lead on Public Health 
 Environment and Climate Change – two deputies 
 Housing Services 
 Transport and Infrastructure 
 Corporate Affairs and HR 

 
Cabinet Members do not sit on Scrutiny Committees.  Bury currently has two internal scrutiny committees, 
‘Overview and Scrutiny Committee’ and ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee’. 
 
As previously stated, the workload for current cabinet members is challenging given that almost all are in 
full or part time employment of education.  However, we believe that there are currently sufficient 
councillors for any ruling local administration to select a skilled Cabinet to cover all the responsibilities and 
provide strong strategic direction to the Council.  Also as previously stated, we believe that any reduction in 
overall councillor numbers would significantly impact on this ability.  We accept that there is a potential to 
make a case for increasing councillor numbers, but we do not believe this is appropriate at the present 
time.  The Council can operate effectively with the current number of councillors, as can be evidenced by 
the fact that all Cabinet and deputy posts are filled.  It should also be noted that during 2020, the level of 
Cabinet member involvement has increased, however, the current members have managed this changing 
workload.  Therefore, it is believed that this number will be effective for the future delivery of strategic 
leadership in the future. 
 

Delegated 
Responsibilities 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What responsibilities will be delegated to officers or committees? 
 How many councillors will be involved in taking major decisions? 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 865



 
  

Page | 11  
 

Analysis 

Portfolio holders are appointed as the lead and spokesperson on all matters within their portfolio.   
Full details and expectations of each portfolio holder are shown in the Council Constitution  <<insert link>>.  
The Leader has not delegated any decision making to portfolio holders individually, however, they are each 
responsible for presenting reports within the remit of their portfolio and ensuring that they are considered by 
the Leader and Cabinet collectively.  Decisions have been delegated to the Leader and Cabinet as a whole 
and in the current administration, executive decisions are only made in the forum of a formal Leader and 
Cabinet meeting.  
 
The Leader has not exercised his executive decision making power alone, instead sharing this 
responsibility with all portfolio holders in meetings. There are no plans to amend this practice in future.  
 
Appendix 4 provides details of the busy timetable for, and significant nature of, the decisions made by the 
Leader and Cabinet.  In particular, the matters considered as part of special measures adopted during the 
pandemic, show the increased role of these decision makers. 
 
Cabinet Members also answer public and member questions.  All Council meetings have the first half hour 
set aside for questions from members of the public in attendance on matters relating to the reports being 
presented.  Portfolio holders are expected to attend these meetings, with officer support, to present reports 
within their remit and answer any questions from the public or councillors in the meeting.  Therefore, 
Portfolio holders are expected to spend whatever time is necessary to be briefed by officers, become 
familiar with the detail of the proposals and prepare for the meeting. 
 
Similarly, in meetings of the full Council, portfolio holders are required to answer any questions on matters 
within their portfolio.  Theses could arise as part of the question and answer period from councillors, on 
items relating to motions of the Council, or from members of the public as part of the open question time at 
the meetings.  Appendix 5 shows the number of public and member questions asked of portfolio holders at 
Council meetings. 
 
Cabinet portfolio holders are also required to attend meetings of Overview and Scrutiny bodies to give 
account of their actions and the decisions of the Leader and Cabinet in relation to their portfolio 
responsibilities if required to do so. 
 
The Council’s Scheme of Delegation contains a comprehensive list of those decisions which are reserved 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 866



 
  

Page | 12  
 

for decision by Leader and Cabinet.  It includes all major strategic executive decisions and those where 
member involvement is perceived to be essential.  The Scheme of Delegation can be found in the attached 
link to the Council’s Constitution <<insert link>> 
 
Being a Cabinet Member represents a significant time commitment.  The Leader and Cabinet meet formally 
to make decisions approximately 12 times a year, with meetings now lasting approximately 2 hours 
depending on the issues to be discussed.  All Cabinet meetings (as is the case with virtually all Council 
meetings) are held in the evenings as all except the Leader are in full or part time employment and / or 
education, having to fit their significant responsibilities around their daily lives.  Some of the Cabinet 
members have had to either reduce their working hours or work on a compressed hour model to allow them 
sufficient time to devote to their Cabinet responsibilities. 
 
Cabinet members also attend regular briefings with Executive Directors and senior/lead staff to be updated 
on, discuss and agree direction on issues relating to their portfolio.  Their frequency and duration will 
depend on the size of the portfolio and the current issues relating to it, however, they will at least take place 
on a monthly basis, lasting approximately 2 hours. 
 
They represent the Council at political meetings of local government associations, both national and 
regional, in particular as part of the Council’s work in the Association of Greater Manchester Authorities 
(AGMA).  The Council’s involvement with AGMA, has considerably increased the workload of portfolio 
holders (and other members as delegated Council representatives).  It is vital that the Council’s voice is 
heard and championed on the regional stage.  Being the smallest of the ten metropolitan borough councils 
in AGMA, it is important that our needs are not overlooked.  It is creditable that despite its size, it has still 
been able to provide representation at an AGMA level in the same way as other, much larger, authorities. 
 
Cabinet members are also required to meet other stakeholders in relation to their portfolio responsibilities 
on a regular basis.  They carry out these duties in addition to the representative role of a local councillor, 
and, as a result, can place increased pressure and workload of their other ward colleagues. 
 
Attached at Appendix 6 is the diary template completed by 12 councillors for the week of Sunday 23rd 
February to Saturday 29th February 2020.   
 
Central to this model of political governance is the statutory role of overview and scrutiny.  The Council is 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 867



 
  

Page | 13  
 

committed to strong and challenging overview and scrutiny.  This is dealt with in detail at Section 8. 
 
Annually, there are typically 7 meetings of Full Council, taking place every 2 months, with extraordinary 
meetings convened when business dictates.  It is Chaired by the Mayor (who has casting voting) and 
attended by the Leader and all 50 ward councillors who are expected to attend.  Full Council has 
responsibility for taking such decisions as those affecting the constitution, the budget and policy framework 
as well as appointing the overview and scrutiny and other committees.   
 
Council Meetings  
 
At all Council meetings there is a standing item for the hearing of Notices of Motion, presented by 
Councillors.  There is also up to 30 minutes at each meeting devoted to Public Questions in addition to 
those raised by councillors prior to the meeting (See Appendix 5).  This helps to build accountability and 
responsibility for portfolio holders.  The minutes and records of attendance show that most Councillors 
regularly participate in Council meetings by asking questions, making amendments or announcements, and 
presenting petitions. 
 
In addition to the executive and scrutiny roles performed by councillors, they are also heavily involved in 
decision making in other ways.  The Council has established a number of formal committees, sub 
committees, as well as advisory, statutory, consultative and other bodies.  Details of these bodies and the 
number of meetings appear in the list of Annual Appointments 2020/21 <<insert link>>.   
 
 
 
 
 

Accountability 
8. Give the Commission details as to how the authority and its decision makers and partners will be held to account. The Commission is 

interested in both the internal and external dimensions of this role. 
 

Topic  

Internal Scrutiny 
The scrutiny function of authorities has changed considerably. Some use theme or task-and-finish groups, for 
example, and others have a committee system. Scrutiny arrangements may also be affected by the officer 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 868



 
  

Page | 14  
 

support available. 

Key lines of explanation 

 How will decision makers be held to account?  
 How many committees will be required? And what will their functions be?  
 How many task and finish groups will there be? And what will their functions be? What time commitment 

will be involved for members? And how often will meetings take place? 
 How many members will be required to fulfil these positions? 
 Explain why you have increased, decreased, or not changed the number of scrutiny committees in the 

authority. 
 Explain the reasoning behind the number of members per committee in terms of adding value. 

Analysis 

The Council appoints an Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Health Scrutiny Committee to discharge the 
functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 or Regulations under Section 32 of the 
Local Government Act 2000.  Both scrutiny committees have been established since June 2012.  The 
committees comprise of 12 elected members (although in total 26 of the 42 councillors not on Cabinet are 
involved in these meetings in some way), are politically balanced and meet in public, with the first half hour of 
all meetings being available as public question time.  Overview and Scrutiny Committee can also appoint 
Overview Project Groups to undertake reviews.  Details of Bury’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees are as 
set out below. 
 
Cabinet members are excluded from membership of either scrutiny committee, and deputy cabinet members 
can only be appointed to the committees where they do not have any involvement of influence.  Persons who 
are not members of the authority may attend these committees, there are up to five co-opted members in a 
voting capacity in respect of education functions on Overview and Scrutiny, to represent three faiths, (Church 
of England, Catholic, Jewish) and primary and secondary parent governors – although only one post (Catholic) 
currently has nomination and normally these members only stay for education / schools reports. 

Scrutiny committees are seen as an essential tool to promote accountability in the local authority’s decision-
making processes.   

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a key role in helping to develop policies for the Council, scrutinising 
organisations external to the Council and holding the Leader / Cabinet Members to account. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 869



 
  

Page | 15  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee can: 

 Initiate public inquiries into matters of local concern.  These can lead to reports and recommendations 
which advise the Leader / Cabinet Members and the Council as a whole on its policies, budget and 
service delivery. 

 Monitor the decisions of the Leader/Cabinet members.  A decision that has been made by the Leader / 
Cabinet Member and not yet implemented can be 'called in'.  This enables the Committee to consider 
whether the decision is appropriate.  The Scrutiny Committee may recommend that the Leader / 
Cabinet Member reconsider the decision in light of findings and comments made. 

 Be consulted by the Leader / Cabinet Member or the Council on forthcoming decisions and the 
development of policy. 

The impact of the Covid pandemic has limited the number of meetings held in 2020/21, with only 3 meetings to 
date, compared to 6 and 9 in 2018/19 and 2019/20 respectively.  Meetings have typically lasted for 1 hour 40 
minutes on average in the last two years, although this has increased to 2 hours 35 minutes in 2020/21. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has established one sub-committee, the Children’s Safeguarding Sub- 
Committee, consisting of a political balance of six members of the committee and meeting on average three 
times a year, and most recently has undertaken a review of school achievement in the Borough. 

 

 

Health Scrutiny 

The Health and Social Care Act 2001 made Local Authorities, with health and social care responsibility, 
responsible for reviewing and scrutinising health services in their area.   

Health Scrutiny Committee focuses on adult social care specific areas and conducting policy development and 
pre-decision scrutiny (each committee meets 8 times a year and will have 12 members), and acting as 
statutory consultee in relation to proposals for substantial changes in health provision. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 870



 
  

Page | 16  
 

There is strong emphasis on joint working with the NHS service provision.  As a result, there are also Joint 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees established to scrutinise the work of the Pennine Acute NHS Trust 
and the Pennine Care NHS Trust, working with other boroughs in Greater Manchester: 

 Pennine Care NHS Trust Joint Health Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust Joint Health Scrutiny committee 
 

 Association of Greater Manchester Authorities Joint Health Scrutiny Panel  

These cross-local authority boundary Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees were established by Bury, 
Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Stockport and Tameside councils to consider issues affecting the health of 
local people (the overview role) and to call the NHS into account on behalf of the local communities (the 
scrutiny role). 

During 2018/19 and 2019/20, the committee has had six meetings per year scheduled (although one was 
withdrawn in 2019/20.  To date in 2020/21, there have been 3 meetings of the committee.  The average length 
of time per meeting has ranged from 1 hour 40 minutes in 2018/19, to 2 hours in each of 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

This comprehensive system sees scrutiny members engaged in scrutinising the full range of Council business 
and ensures that policy and service development in Bury has strong member input.  It also allows members 
the opportunity, as community leaders, to make sure the local community’s needs are reflected in the 
decisions made by the Council and its partners. 
 
The time commitment involved in being a scrutiny member is significant.  In addition to the large volume of 
meetings that take place each year, a lot of activity takes place outside of formal meetings, including 
consultation with residents and service users, visits and service observations.   
 
Openness, transparency and public scrutiny are very important to Bury and a key element of the corporate 
strategy.  The only change made to the overview and scrutiny arrangements in recent years has been the 
previously mentioned additional establishment of a standing Child Safeguarding Sub- Committee.  This began 
life as a task and finish group, but it soon transpired that ongoing child safeguarding matters meant that there 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 871



 
  

Page | 17  
 

was ongoing scrutiny work needed in this area.  
 
Since the tragic cases of child trafficking and abuse in Rochdale, the work of this Sub Committee is all the 
more important.  It is proposed to extend the terms of reference of this sub-committee to include adult 
safeguarding. 
 
The Council’s constitution provides for a membership of between 3-6 on Task and Finish Groups.  Given the  
scope of the work of the select committees, and their future focus, this number is deemed to be sufficient to 
secure a breadth of knowledge and interest in assisting in the development of policy, but not so large as to be 
unwieldy. 
 
The Council is currently conducting a Governance  Review of the Constitution with the aim of making the 
Borough even more  democratic, open and transparent and, in line with these principles, it anticipated that 
Bury will continue to operate a  comprehensive scrutiny structure.  In particular, though there are currently no 
task and finish groups in place, it is likely that the Governance Review of the Constitution and the appoint net 
of a dedicated scrutiny officer will explore a greater emphasis on the involvement of scrutiny members in the 
early development of policy than hitherto through the use of such groups.  This will require significant Member 
input in terms of meeting attendance and associated duties (site visits, service observations, consultation). 
 
 
Although there has been one ‘call in’, neither Council scrutiny committee has made any recommendations to 
Cabinet in recent years. 
 
Scrutiny meetings are well attended.  Although we expect scrutiny challenge to continue to play a significant 
role in the governance of the Council in the future, we believe that these demands can be met through the 
current 51 councillors.  Therefore, we do not believe a reduction in number is viable if scrutiny is to be effective 
in the future, however, we do not believe there an increase in warranted, particularly in the current climate of 
austerity. 
 

Statutory Function 
This includes planning, licencing and any other regulatory responsibilities. Consider under each of the 
headings the extent to which decisions will be delegated to officers. How many members will be required to 
fulfil the statutory requirements of the council? 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 872



 
  

Page | 18  
 

Planning 
 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What proportion of planning applications will be determined by members? 
 Has this changed in the last few years? And are further changes anticipated? 
 Will there be area planning committees? Or a single council-wide committee? 
 Will executive members serve on the planning committees? 
 What will be the time commitment to the planning committee for members? 

Analysis 

The Council has one main Planning Committee comprising 13 members with 12 planning committee meetings 
in a regular year.  Generally, there is a good level of attendance at what can be a very intense and 
complicated meeting, with 9.3 and 9.5 members attending on average over 2018/19 and 2019/20 respectively. 
 
A Planning Control committee meeting lasts on average 3 hours and there will be preparation time to read the 
committee reports and review the planning application documents (average 1 day per meeting).  

Only a minority of planning applications are determined by members, with 5%, 5% and 4% being considered in 
2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 respectively.  Most decisions will be determined by delegated decisions.  This 
reinforces for the position in terms of the most recent changes to the operation of the committee.  New 
Legislation, General Permitted Development Order 2015 (GPDO) gave people more scope to build bigger 
extensions under permitted development thus resulting in fewer people needing to apply for planning 
permission.  Also, this supported the need to encourage planning control committees to determine more 
important place making planning applications rather than small scale development proposals in line with 
Planning Advisory and Government Planning guidance.   

Some examples of place making applications considered are: 
 

 63633 - Bevis Green Works, Mill Road, Bury, BL9 6RE – 8/10/19 - PCC 
https://councildecisions.bury.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2430&Ver=4 

 

 62969 - East Lancs Paper Mill, Church Street East, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 9PG – 18/12/18 - PCC 
https://councildecisions.bury.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2251&Ver=4 

 

 Radcliffe Metrolink Car Park, Spring Lane, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 2ST – 65354 -  
https://councildecisions.bury.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2644&Ver=4 

There are no plans to change this approach in the near future. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 873

https://councildecisions.bury.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2430&Ver=4
https://councildecisions.bury.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2251&Ver=4
https://councildecisions.bury.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2644&Ver=4


 
  

Page | 19  
 

The Planning Advisory service state that usually, a Cabinet Member would not be appointed to the Planning 
Committee.  No Cabinet members have been appointed to the Planning Committee in Bury for the year 2020-
2021. 

Meetings have been well attended over the last two years, demonstrating the commitment of councillors to 
these duties.  With a more place-making approach, as mentioned above, the use of members’ time to support 
these meetings will be more effective.  This should reduce additional commitments for site visits prior to 
meetings, as so ensure meetings continue to be well attended.  We believe that this commitment will continue 
in the future, being effectively met through the existing number of 51 councillors. 

 

Licensing 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 How many licencing panels will the council have in the average year? 
 And what will be the time commitment for members? 
 Will there be standing licencing panels, or will they be ad-hoc? 
 Will there be core members and regular attendees, or will different members serve on them? 

Analysis 

There is one Licensing and Safety Committee.  This deals with all aspects of licensing in line with the 
Licensing Act 2003.  There are 13 members on the Committee, with average attendance of 8.6 and 8.5 
members over each of the last two years.  If there is an application for expedited review of a licence then a 
remote hearing will be held with three members; usually the Chair, Vice Chair and one other member from the 
Committee. 
 
The Council programmes meetings of the Licensing and Safety Committee approximately every four weeks.  
Last year, [13] were held.  The meetings will generally consider issues such as award or withdrawal of 
premises licences or applications for / withdrawal or suspension of hackney carriage / private hire licences. 
 
Member preparation time may take a day for each meeting.  Special meetings, called expedited hearings are 
meetings conducted by email in special circumstances when the police require a temporary closure of a 
premises due to serious criminal activity. 
 
Demands on members’ time for this meeting has increased this year, rising from just over an average of one 
hour per meeting in 2018/19 and 2019/20 to two hours in 2020/21.  This demonstrates the increased 
expectations and involvement expected from members.  While it could be stated that this justifies an increase 
in the number of members, we believe that attendance rates show these demands are sustainable with the 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 874



 
  

Page | 20  
 

current number of members.  However, we firmly believe that a decrease in the number of members could 
seriously impact on the Council’s ability to perform effectively in this area. 
 

Other 
Regulatory 

Bodies 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What will they be, and how many members will they require? 
 Explain the number and membership of your Regulatory Committees with respect to greater delegation to 

officers. 

Analysis 

Standards Committee 
 
The Council has appointed a Standards Committee consisting of 9 elected members to promote the highest 
ethical standards among members and to consider allegations of breach of the member code of conduct.  The 
meeting is chaired by the Mayor.  There are 4 meetings per year of the main committee, with the issues 
considered in the current year including, the Code of Conduct for Members, Constitution Review, the highly 
relevant holding of virtual meetings and the Member Development Strategy.  
 
Sub committees can be called consisting of 3 members to deal with complaints or allegations of breach of the 
member code of conduct. 
 
 
Audit Committee 
The Council has appointed a Committee of 9 non-executive-council members, with attendance over the last 
two years of 6.25 and 7.5 members.  The Committee meets 4 times a year and receives finance updates on 
the state of the Council and is part of the annual budget setting process. 
 
It has engaged CIPFA to carry out a fundamental review of the work of the Committee and its remit alongside 
a review of the internal audit service.  This Review will offer guidance on best practice and may make 
recommendations to full Council about its future role and composition.  The Council is committed to rigorous 
internal regulation and it is not anticipated that the membership of the Audit Committee in future will be 
diminished, particularly as the Council grapples with significant budget reductions and increasing demand.  
The Council strongly supports the introduction of independent member input into the role of this regulatory 
body in future. 
 

External Partnerships 
Service delivery has changed for councils over time, and many authorities now have a range of delivery 
partners to work with and hold to account.  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 875



 
  

Page | 21  
 

Key lines of explanation 

 Will executive members serve on decision-making partnerships, sub-regional, regional or national bodies? 
 How many councillors will be involved in this activity? And what is their expected workload? What 

proportion of this work is undertaken by portfolio holders? 
 What other external bodies will members be involved in? And what is the anticipated workload? 

Analysis 

Partnerships and Outside Bodies 
 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Partnership – One Commissioning Organisation  
 
Service delivery has changed for councils over time, and many authorities now have a range of delivery 
partners to work with and hold to account. 
 
The Council has established an innovative partnership with the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group in Bury. In 
July 2019 the Council agreed to the setting up of the Strategic Commissioning Board as a joint committee of 
the Council to operate from 1 October 2019.The Report makes it clear that this joint committee will not replace 
either of the existing statutory bodies, instead it will be a Joint Committee of the two statutory organisations 
established under Regulation 10(2) of the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements 
Regulations 2000.  
 
The Board was to be given wide ranging responsibility for all matters relating to health, social care and the 
Council’s “health related” functions ( set out in full below), which can be delegated to it (subject to reserved 
matters).  As the Report recognised, Council was not able to complete the delegations to the SCB as the 
Council’s health related functions are executive functions and Cabinet would need to formally agree this before 
the delegated powers could be used.  
 
On 4 September 2019 the Cabinet agreed to delegate its executive functions for health, social care and health 
related functions as set out below with effect from 1 October 2019. 
 
It was also envisaged that there will be alignment of wider Council, CCG and public services by inclusion so far 
as legally possible within the role of  the Board, so that members of the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body and Councillors can contribute to and make decisions to benefit the population of Bury.  In 
respect of this and the aligned funds, the Board will be an advisory group making recommendations for 
decision to the Cabinet or CCG Governing Body. 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 876



 
  

Page | 22  
 

Provision was also to be made to ensure the duties and responsibilities of the statutory roles of Director of 
Children’s Services, Director of Adult Social Care Services, Director of Public Health, Section 151 officer and 
Monitoring Officer are reflected in the decision making arrangements.  This has not yet been confirmed  
 
The necessary amendments to be made to the council constitution will be confirmed as part of the Constitution 
Review going to November 2020 Council.  Updated Bury Council Constitution  
 
In conclusion, it is confirmed that the SCB is a properly constituted joint committee with delegated powers to 
make decisions in relation to the Council’s health related functions subject to the reserved matters ( in a 
separate schedule ) but which generally have to be carried out by a specified body or officer.  
 
 
In October 2019, the SCB endorsed a paper that set out the governance and supporting administration 
arrangements that have been developed to enable the Strategic Commissioning Board to operate efficiently 
and effectively in discharging the duties delegated to it from the Council Cabinet and CCG 
 
It reflected the ambition of the Locality Plan to desire to form a ‘One Commissioning Organisation’ which would 
have a remit to: 

 Bring together health and social care commissioning functions of the CCG and Council into one 
structure; 

 Create pooled and aligned budget arrangements for health and social care; 

 Develop a single health and social care commissioning strategy; 

 Create a shared approach to maximizing social value; 

 Strategically commission for outcomes against a wide ranging and dynamic local evidence base; and 

 Recognise the role of the new Local Care Organisation as a single provider accountable for delivering 
all age services at a neighbourhood level. 

 
Significant progress has been made in many aspects of the ambition of the one commissioning organisation 
listed, and further strengthen by the appointment of the joint post of Executive Director for Strategic 
Commissioning. 
 
Persona 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 877



 
  

Page | 23  
 

Persona was created 1 October 2015 and is a local authority trading company which supports adults with 
social care in Bury.  Their aim is to enable adults to thrive not just survive, despite the challenges they may 
face due to age, disability or vulnerability.   

At the time of the formation of Persona, the Council nominated a non-executive member to their board.  .  The 
Council is currently seeking to identify an appropriate nominee to the Persona Board, as this position involves 
more than them simply being the Council representative but will require them to have a particular skill set to 
understand the work carried out by Persona, their financial structures, and be able to commit a considerable 
portion of their time 

 

Six Town Housing  
 
In 2005, the Council established a wholly owned company; Six Town Housing to manage Council owned 
housing stock of approximately 7,577 core social rent properties and 363 leasehold properties; along with 137 
other properties (103 owned directly by Six Town Housing and 34 on behalf of Mosscare St Vincent’s Housing 
Group (MSV)).  It currently nominates four Councillor Directors to its Board and receives its report and agrees 
its Annual Report to Tenants and Business Plan on an annual basis. 
 
The Council has also established Radcliffe Regeneration Board, with a view to the regeneration of Radcliffe, 
an area in desperate need of regeneration.  
 
In addition, the Leader and/or the Council makes appointments of Councillors to approximately 50 partnership  
organisation and external bodies such as, Age Concern, Voluntary  Service Bury, SLAM, Local Government 
Association Committees and Greater Manchester Councils working groups,  There is a total of 78 
appointments in this category.  A full list of these appointments can be found in the Annual Appointments for 
2020/21 <<insert link>>. 
 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 878



 
  

Page | 24  
 

Community Involvement 
9. The Commission understands that there is no single approach to community leadership and that members represent, and provide leadership 

to, their communities in different ways. The Commission wants to know how members are required to provide effective community leadership 
and what support the council offers them in this role. For example, does the authority have a defined role and performance system for its 
elected members? And what support networks are available within the council to help members in their duties? 
 

Topic Description 

Community 
Leadership 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 In general terms how do councillors carry out their representational role with electors?  
 Does the council have area committees and what are their powers?  
 How do councillors seek to engage with their constituents? Do they hold surgeries, send newsletters, hold 

public meetings or maintain blogs?  
 Are there any mechanisms in place that help councillors interact with young people, those not on the 

electoral register, and/or other minority groups and their representative bodies?  
 Are councillors expected to attend community meetings, such as parish or resident’s association meetings? 

If so, what is their level of involvement and what roles do they play? 
 Explain your approach to the Area Governance structure. Is your Area Governance a decision-making forum 

or an advisory board? What is their relationship with locally elected members and Community bodies such 
as Town and Parish Councils? Looking forward how could they be improved to enhance decision-making?   

Analysis 

All councillors take an active role in the communities they represent.  As shown from the diary monitoring, 
members attend meetings with individuals and groups in their wards as required.  The restrictions associated 
with the Covid 19 pandemic have led to councillors having to be innovative to work in different ways.  Surgeries 
have normally been held by councillors to allow their constituents to contact them with any queries they might 
have.  However, these have had to be suspended, with members offering a range of other ways for 
communication being offered, such as telephone or email.  The Council’s website has been updated for each 
member to clarify alternative arrangements offered by each councillor. 
 
Members also have a £1,000 discretionary budget to support community initiatives in their wards.  The 
mechanisms for the distribution of this funding is at the discretion of each councillor. 
 
All councillors are school governors, allowing them to be aware of and influence issues affecting young people 
in the Borough, and also acting as role models.   
 
The Council also operates a Youth Cabinet which is attended by a number of councillors.  To empower the 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 879



 
  

Page | 25  
 

younger members, chairing duties are shared between a councillor and member of the Youth Cabinet.  The 
group meets six times a year, with meetings lasting for two hours, and has received reports from its members 
on a range of issues, including the appointment of new senior members of staff involved with education and the 
launch of the Town of Culture status, and debating issues ranging from reintroduction of the death penalty to 
Christmas Day during Covid restrictions.  The success of the Youth Cabinet at involving younger people in 
politics has been demonstrated in recent years by one current councillor and at least one former councillor 
having amongst its members. 
 
Finally, members also have a duty and commitment to young people, both in their responsibilities as Corporate 
Parent and supporting the Children’s Trust Board. 
 
As has been previously noted, the positive impact of the Covid 19 pandemic has been the local community 
response and the Council’s establishment of Community Hubs to provide support to, in particular, the most 
vulnerable members of the community and especially those people required to ‘shield’. 
 
This work will be developed with the local Voluntary Community and Faith Alliance (VCFA) but local Councillors 
will be expected to take an increasingly hands-on approach to liaising with and supporting the communities that 
they represent.  Their new role of ‘Community Connectors’ will require a greater time and resource commitment 
as they act as enablers to their constituents. 
 
Although it is expected that the role of councillors supporting their local communities, including as Community 
Connectors, will increase in the future, we believe that the current number of 51 councillors will be sufficient to 
ensure this is delivered effectively.  Members will be fully briefed and developed into their new roles, including 
through a new and improved member development programme 
 

Casework 
Key lines of 
explanation 

 How do councillors deal with their casework? Do they pass it on to council officers? Or do they take a more 
in-depth approach to resolving issues?  

 What support do members receive?  
 How has technology influenced the way in which councillors work? And interact with their electorate? 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 880



 
  

Page | 26  
 

Analysis 

Councillors will take the lead to champion their casework.  The diaries attached <<insert link / Appendix>> show 
their estimated time commitment over the course of one week.  Councillors will typically liaise with Executive 
Directors for response.   
 
Recently, the Council trialled a Council Casework system to allow problems to be reported using an App.  
However, a combination of teething problems with the system and limited take up, has led to this work being 
undertaken through the Council’s Contact Centre.  This has been seen to be a more effective way of resolving 
problems, as queries can be more efficiently and immediately be sent to the correct point for response, rather 
than the Casework System potentially introducing an additional layer of bureaucracy. 
 
While many councillors have embraced new initiatives and used new technology, some have preferred the 
personal contacts and officer networks that they have developed over a number of years.  While this can result 
in faster resolution to their queries, this can often not be the most appropriate or most efficient use of resources. 
 

 

  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 881



 
  

Page | 27  
 

 

Other Issues 
10. Respondent may use this space to bring any other issues of relevance to the attention of the Commission.  

 
We believe that the time commitments of councillors is detailed in the sections above.  However, we would also stress the commitment expected 
of a cross section of members to the Council’s AGMA (Association of Greater Manchester Authorities).  Bury is the smallest of the ten councils in 
AGMA, and so has fewer members available to support the range of AGMA and associated meetings.  In particular, the Leader of the Council 
devotes a considerable amount of time to this work.  This time commitment can vary according to the issues being discussed, however, notably 
in recent weeks, the joint AGMA response to Tier 3 discussions has taken up a considerable amount of time. 
 
 
Summary 
11. In following this template respondents should have been able to provide the Commission with a robust and well-evidenced case for their 

proposed council size; one which gives a clear explanation as to the number of councillors required to represent the authority in the future. 
Use this space to summarise the proposals and indicate any other options considered. Explain why these alternatives were not appropriate in 
terms of their ability to deliver effective Strategic Leadership, Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulation and Partnerships), and Community 
Leadership.  
 

As part of our work to review the Council size, we have considered a reduction in the number of councillors.  However, we 

have compared our size both with CIPFA nearest neighbours and other authorities in the Greater Manchester region and feel 

that we are already a small council and any reduction in the number of councillors would severally impact on our councillors’ 

ability to work with and support their individual constituents and community groups in their wards.  This will be increasingly 

relevant as councillors take on their role as Community Connectors to support our Bury 2030 strategy. 

Similarly, the role of elected members in both strategically leading (via Cabinet and deputies) and challenging (via scrutiny) 

future direction of the Council has increased this year.  We intend to maintain and further develop this level of involvement 

and related time commitment in the future. 

We have also compared the average number of constituents to councillor in the CIPFA nearest neighbour group and across 

Greater Manchester mentioned above.  We believe that these ratios are currently very similar across all authorities, however, 

with Bury’s ratio predicted to increase in the future with expected population group in the Borough workloads per councillor 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 882



 
  

Page | 28  
 

are set to further increase as Bury is a highly popular residential area, both through smaller-scale development opportunities, 

but also in our response to increase development as part of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

While this could indicate that Bury has a shortfall in the number of councillors, particularly when comparisons are made with 

other Greater Manchester authorities who have considerably more councillors and yet have equal responsibilities and 

commitments to support the work of the combined authority.  (E.g. Bolton at 60, Wigan at 75, and Tameside at 57). 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 883



 
  

Page | 29  
 

However, the number of electors represented by each councillor should also be considered, as this indicates the potential 

workload and time commitment required from each councillor.  The table below shows this information against the same 

comparator group.  This shows a slightly different picture with some councils with more councillors than Bury having higher 

commitments per councillor in terms of the number of electors they each represent on average.  Overall, in terms of elector 

representation per councillor, Bury does not appear to show as under-representation as the bar chart looking at councillor 

numbers alone appears to show. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Almost all of Bury’s councillors are in full or part time employment or education, therefore, if any reduction in numbers 

occurred, this would place excessive and unsustainable pressure on remaining councillors and potentially result in a loss of 

skills basis and expertise. 

Due to the current, relatively low number of councillors in the Borough, we have considered the appropriateness of increasing 

the number.  We believe that due to increasing workloads, we would have a strong case to increase the number of councillors.  

However, due to the current austerity regime and financial pressures placed on the country as a whole and local councils in 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 884



 
  

Page | 30  
 

particular as a result of the global pandemic, we believe that any such request would be inappropriate and insensitive at the 

present time. 

Therefore, we propose that the number of councillors in Bury remains unchanged at 51. 

We recognise that the LGBCE can determine whether there are one, two or three councillors per ward.  We request that the 

current situation of 3 councillors per ward remains the same.   

By remaining at three councillors per ward, this allows workloads to be evenly distributed amongst the councillors elected per 

ward, maximising the individual skills, interests and particular expertise of different councillors.  As stated previously, the 

majority of Bury’s councillors work or study, full or part time, and can often have commitments to young families.  By 

distributing the workload of a particular ward to make it more manageable, allows parties to attract the most skilled and able 

candidates.  Having three councillors per ward also allows for better local support networks to newer candidates.  Also, in the 

event of any sickness (something particularly relevant at the present time) or maternity / paternity absence, the other 

councillors will be able to pick up workloads on a temporary basis, thereby ensuring that no constituents are denied 

representation for even a short period of time. 

There are currently 9 councillors with cabinet responsibilities, along with 10 deputies, representing over a third of the current 

number of elected members in the Borough.  By allowing these councillors to devote time to supporting the strategic direction 

of the Council, remaining councillors in a ward are able to pick up any additional workloads from their constituents. 

Finally, we request that we remain at three councillor wards in the best interests of democracy.  Bury is peculiar in that while 

many wards are represented by three councillors from the same political party, there are also a number that vary in political 

composition on a frequent basis potentially either as a response to national government of the time, local issues or individual 

popularity of a candidate.  Electors may not feel as inclined to make these individual choices or statements if they had only 

one candidate to choose from. 

We know that you will take our submission into account prior to making your final decisions.  We also look forward to working 

with you in the New Year, as part of the next stages of this review. 

 
 
  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 885



 
  

Page | 31  
 

Appendix 1 – Bury Metropolitan Borough Council – Population and Electorate Forecast 2020-26 - Methodology Outline Statement 
 

Step 1 – Calculate the Average Electorate Registration Rate for the Borough (2017 to 2020) 

 

Note: the 100.3% registration rate will need explaining – the ONS population estimates count students at their term time 

address but students can register and are eligible to vote at their term time and home address. Registration rates also 

influenced by the December 2019 Parliamentary elections which were contentious (the Brexit election) and Bury contained two 

marginal seats (push by parties to get their support registered) – anecdotal. 

Step 2 – Calculate the Projected Total Electorate for the Borough as at 2026 

 

 

2017 (Jan) 2018 (Jan) 2019 (Jan) 2020 (Jan)

Registered Electors 140,800           141,703           142,469           148,659           

2017 (Mid Yr) 2018 (Mid Yr) 2019 (Mid Yr) 2020 (Mid Yr)

Voting Age Population 146,012           146,966           147,659           148,254           

2017 2018 2019 2020

Registration Rates (%) 96.4                  96.4                  96.5                  100.3                

Average Registration Rate

Last 4 Years (to Jan 2020) 97.4                  

2026

Projected Voting Age Population (ONS 2018 based) 152,227              

Projected Electorate (based on 97.4% Registration Rate) 148,269              

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 886



 
  

Page | 32  
 

Step 3 – On a Site by Site Basis - Calculate the Number of New Dwellings By Polling District To Be Built by 2026 

 

** Sample Extract of the site by site data 

Note: The BCE guidance emphasises that only sites with a high degree of certainty should be included in the forecasts. As 

such only Category 1 (sites under construction) and Category 2 (sites with Planning Permission) were included. A size 

threshold of 30 units is suggested in the guidance but sites of 10 or more units were included due to the high number of 

completions on small windfall sites across the Borough. The SHLAA provides further details on deliverability / trajectories 

etc. 

Step 4 –Calculate the Average Number of Electors per Dwelling by Polling District (4Yr Average) 

 

Site Ref Location
Polling 

District

Units 

Contributed 

2020 to 2026

HL/2353/00 Land to the west of Manchester Road, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 0BZ AA 35

HL/2833/00 258 Whal ley Road and Adjacent Land, Shuttleworth, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 0EFAA 1

HL/2949/00 Land adjacent to Fletcher Bank garage (oppos i te Peel  Brow) Whal ley Road, Shuttleworth, Bury, BL0 0DDAA 2

HL/2578/00 Land west of Woodhi l l  Farm, Bank Lane, Ramsbottom AA 15

HL/2070/00 Cobden Mi l l , Square Street, Ramsbottom AC 13

HL/2681/00 Land off Dorothy Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 9QJ AD 1

HL/2694/00 Bank Top Farm, Moorbottom Road, Holcombe, Bury, BL8 4NP AF 1

HL/2340/00 Redisher Works , Holcombe Old Road, Holcombe Brook, RamsbottomAF 22

HL/2647/00 Masons  Arms, 241 Walmers ley Old Road, Bury, BL9 6RU BA 3

HL/1981/00 Works  oppos i te 101 Mather Road, Bury BA 24

HL/2303/00 Tetrosyl  Si te, Bevis  Green Works , Walmers ley Old Road, Bury BA 190

HL/2995/00 Land off Kay Street, Summerseat, Bury BB 16

HL/2603/00 27 Pot Green, Ramsbottom BC 1

HL/2764/00 Rear of 1 Ivy Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 9RW BD 1

HL/2768/00 Bleaklow Mi l l , Bolton Road, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4LL BF 24

HL/2924/00 Bleaklow Hal l , Bolton Road, Hawkshaw, Tottington, BL8 4JF BF 3

HL/2841/00 Victoria  Mi l l , High Street, Walshaw, Bury, BL8 3FS CB 13

HL/2632/00 Old Bartles  Farmhouse, Watl ing Street, Affets ide,  Bury, BL8 3QS CF 1

HL/2200/00 Former Andrew Texti les  Ltd s i te, Premier Mi l l , Walshaw Road, Bury, BL8 1NGDC 36

HL/2144/00 Bridgefield Drive, Bury FB 1

HL/2807/00 Garage s i te off Hewart Drive, Bury, BL9 7NF FB 3

HL/2951/00 Land adjacent to 27 Shaw Street, Bury, BL9 7QD FC 1

HL/2972/00 399 Rochdale Road, Bury, BL9 7DB FD 2

HL/2374/01 Acorn Bus iness  Centre, Founta in Street North, Bury, BL9 7AN FE 19

HL/2963/00 17-19 Parsons  Lane, Bury, BL9 0LY FF 8

HL/2992/00 21 Si lver Street, Bury, BL9 0EN FF 19

HL/3023/00 Derby Chambers , 2-8 The Rock, Bury, BL9 0NT FF 14

HL/3044/00 14-16 St Marys  Place, Bury, BL9 0DZ FF 2

HL/2132/00 Former PJ Power Si te, Mi l lett Street, Bury FF 36

HL/3015/00 Victoria  Bui ldings , 9-13 Si lver Street, Bury, BL9 0EU FF 12

HL/2947/00 Land adjacent to 85 Newbold Street, Bury, BL8 2RR GE 1

HL/1708/01 The Manor House, Fletcher Fold, Bury HB 1

HL/2581/00 201 Manchester Road, Bury HE 4

HL/2973/00 Heaton House, Brierley Street, Bury, BL9 9HN HE 6

HL/2881/00 The Oddfel lows  House, 94 Manchester Road, Bury, BL9 0TH HE 6

HL/2831/00 Brook House, 122 Hol l ins  Lane, Bury, BL9 8AH JA 3

HL/2004/00 11 Bury Road, Radcl i ffe KB 8

HL/2287/01 Land adjacent to 19A New Road, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 1LS KB 11

HL/2654/00 Land adjacent St.Mary's  Socia l  Club, Pine Street, Radcl i ffe, M26 2WQKB 15

HL/2146/00 East Lancs  Paper Mi l l  Si te, Rectory Lane, Radcl i ffe KB 125

HL/2756/00 21/23 Deansgate/ 3-7 Seymour Street, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 2SHKC 2

HL/2675/00 Former Radcl i ffe Times  Bui lding, 44 Church Street West, Radcl i ffe KC 10

HL/2252/00 Royal  Bri ti sh Legion Club, off  Water Street, Radcl i ffe KD 19

HL/2453/00 Land Adj Siddal l  Street, Radcl i ffe KD 5

HL/2164/01 Land adjacent to Hardman Fold Farm, Hardman Street, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 4GYKE 1

HL/2305/00 Land at Spen Moor, Bury and Bolton Road, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 4JYKF 45

HL/2539/00 Spens ide, Bury and Bolton Road, Radcl i ffe, M26 4LA KF 3

HL/2683/00 Former Red Bridge Inn, 2 Bury Old Road, Ainsworth, Radcl i ffe, BL2 5PJLA 20

HL/2740/00 299A  Ainsworth Road, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 4EZ LC 1

HL/2916/00 Land adjacent to 5 Stanley Road, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 4HG LC 1

HL/2740/01 299a Ainsworth Road, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 4HF LC 1

HL/2178/00 Land adjacent to 41 Station Close, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 4GWLC 14

HL/2950/00 The Old School , 1 Walker Street, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 1FH MA 12

HL/2672/00 Land adjacent to Outwood Gate Farm, Ringley Road West, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 1DLMB 5

HL/2948/00 Land at Edward Street, Radcl i ffe, Manchester, M26 1UD MB 3

HL/2481/00 Land Adjacent to 7 Westlands , Whitefield ND 4

HL/2966/00 Land at Copper Lane, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7TP NE 1

HL/2944/00 El izabethan Publ ic House, Ribble Drive, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8WJOC 15

HL/2985/00 85 Bury Old Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7AY OE 11

HL/2750/00 Brook Farm, Simister Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2SB PB 5

HL/2703/00 Land at rear of 62 Peveri l  Close, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 6NR PC 2

HL/2937/00 391A Bury Old Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1PS PD 1

HL/2917/00 Garage Colony at Li lac Grove, Prestwich, M25 3DT PE 1

HL/2930/00 Land adjoining 31 Poppythorn Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 3BXPE 1

HL/2945/00 Prestwich Gol f Club, Land Oppos i te 7 Heathlands  Drive, Prestwich, M25 9XTQA 17

HL/2394/00 Si te of former Cussons  Sons  & Co Ltd, Kersa l  Va le Road, Prestwich, M7 0GLQA 109

HL/2797/00 51 Rainsough Brow, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9XW QA 15

HL/1997/00 Adj 2 Barnhi l l  Drive, Prestwich QB 1

HL/2183/00 Former Park Hotel  - Off Lowther Road, Prestwich, M25 9GP QC 19

HL/2298/00 17 Sheepfoot Lane, Prestwich RA 1

HL/2942/00 Land at western end of Watkins  Drive, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0DSRA 1

HL/2961/00 48 Parksway, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0JB RC 1

HL/2652/00 Mountheath Industria l  Es tate, George Street, Prestwich RD 124

1,170               

Electorate Dwellings
Elect:Dwell 

Ratio
Electorate Dwellings

Elect:Dwell 

Ratio
Electorate Dwellings

Elect:Dwell 

Ratio
Electorate Dwellings

Elect:Dwell 

Ratio
Electorate Dwellings

Elect:Dwell 

Ratio

OA 1,072            574               1.87              1,068            574               1.86 1,069            574               1.86 1,091            575               1.90 1,075            574               1.87

OB 1,236            883               1.40              1,271            884               1.44 1,293            891               1.45 1,373            891               1.54 1,293            887               1.46

OC 3,279            1,979            1.66              3,402            1,980            1.72 3,432            1,980            1.73 3,521            1,980            1.78 3,409            1,980            1.72

OD 1,551            970               1.60              1,547            970               1.59 1,561            970               1.61 1,631            970               1.68 1,573            970               1.62

OE 841               580               1.45              830               578               1.44 832               578               1.44 893               578               1.54 849               579               1.47

GA 1,973            1,273            1.55              1,984            1,270            1.56 2,002            1,271            1.58 2,046            1,273            1.61 2,001            1,272            1.57

GB 2,001            1,084            1.85              2,012            1,084            1.86 2,023            1,084            1.87 2,071            1,084            1.91 2,027            1,084            1.87

GC 1,483            801               1.85              1,482            801               1.85 1,487            801               1.86 1,527            801               1.91 1,495            801               1.87

GD 1,497            756               1.98              1,490            756               1.97 1,481            756               1.96 1,503            756               1.99 1,493            756               1.97

GE 1,430            794               1.80              1,410            794               1.78 1,424            795               1.79 1,460            795               1.84 1,431            795               1.80

Jan-17

PD

Jan-18 Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan 2017 to Jan 2020 (Average)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 887



 
  

Page | 33  
 

** Sample Extract 

Step 5 –Calculate the Number of New Electors from New Build Development by Polling District 

 

** Sample Extract of the site by site data 

Step 6 –Calculate the Unconstrained Electorate Forecast for each Polling District (Projected Electorate + New 

Build Electorate) 

  

Site Ref Location
Polling 

District

Av. Electors 

per Dwelling

Units 

Contributed 

2020 to 2026

Electorate 

Contributed 

2020 to 2026

HL/2353/00 Land to the west of Manchester Road, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 0BZ AA 1.74 35 61

HL/2833/00 258 Whal ley Road and Adjacent Land, Shuttleworth, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 0EFAA 1.74 1 2

HL/2949/00 Land adjacent to Fletcher Bank garage (oppos ite Peel  Brow) Whal ley Road, Shuttleworth, Bury, BL0 0DDAA 1.74 2 3

HL/2578/00 Land west of Woodhi l l  Farm, Bank Lane, Ramsbottom AA 1.74 15 26

HL/2070/00 Cobden Mi l l , Square Street, Ramsbottom AC 1.52 13 20

HL/2681/00 Land off Dorothy Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 9QJ AD 1.71 1 2

HL/2694/00 Bank Top Farm, Moorbottom Road, Holcombe, Bury, BL8 4NP AF 1.89 1 2

HL/2340/00 Redisher Works , Holcombe Old Road, Holcombe Brook, RamsbottomAF 1.89 22 42

HL/2647/00 Masons  Arms, 241 Walmers ley Old Road, Bury, BL9 6RU BA 1.78 3 5

HL/1981/00 Works  oppos ite 101 Mather Road, Bury BA 1.78 24 43

HL/2303/00 Tetrosyl  Si te, Bevis  Green Works , Walmers ley Old Road, Bury BA 1.78 190 338

HL/2995/00 Land off Kay Street, Summerseat, Bury BB 1.72 16 28

PD Ward
Jan 2020 

Electorate

New Build 

Electorate 

2020 to 2026

Existing 

Electorate 

Plus New 

Build

OA Besses Ward 1,091             0 1,091             

OB Besses Ward 1,373             0 1,373             

OC Besses Ward 3,521             26 3,547             

OD Besses Ward 1,631             0 1,631             

OE Besses Ward 893                16 909                

GA Church Ward 2,046             0 2,046             

GB Church Ward 2,071             0 2,071             

GC Church Ward 1,527             0 1,527             

GD Church Ward 1,503             0 1,503             

GE Church Ward 1,460             2 1,462             

FA East Ward 1,813             0 1,813             

FB East Ward 762                7 769                

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 888



 
  

Page | 34  
 

** Sample Extract 

Step 7 –Calculate the Constraining Factor To Apply to the Unconstrained Forecasts 

 

Step 8 – Calculate the Constrained Electorate Forecast (Projected Unconstrained Electorate x Constraining 

Factor) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

150,541                

148,269                

0.985                   

UNCONSTRAINED ELECTORATE (2026)

ONS BASED CONSTRAINED ELECTORATE FORECAST (2026)

CONSTRAINING FACTOR APPLIED TO PD UNCONSTRAINED ELECTORATE

PD Ward
Jan 2020 

Electorate

New Build 

Electorate 2020 to 

2026

Unconstrained 

Electorate (Existing 

Electorate Plus New 

Build)

Electorate 

Constrained to ONS 

2026 Projection

OA Besses Ward 1,091                   0 1,091                   1,075                         

OB Besses Ward 1,373                   0 1,373                   1,352                         

OC Besses Ward 3,521                   26 3,547                   3,493                         

OD Besses Ward 1,631                   0 1,631                   1,606                         

OE Besses Ward 893                      16 909                      895                            

GA Church Ward 2,046                   0 2,046                   2,015                         

GB Church Ward 2,071                   0 2,071                   2,040                         

GC Church Ward 1,527                   0 1,527                   1,504                         

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 889



 
  

Page | 35  
 

Step 9 – Calculate Electoral Forecasts and Variance for each Ward (to 2026)   

 

 

 

Electorate
Absolute 

Deviation

% Deviation from 

average

Besses 8,422          -300 -3.4

Church 8,479          -243 -2.8

East 8,943          221 2.5

Elton 8,805          83 1.0

Holyrood 8,806          84 1.0

Moorside 9,073          351 4.0

North Manor 8,631          -91 -1.0

Pilkington Park 7,713          -1,009 -11.6

Radcliffe East 9,612          890 10.2

Radcliffe North 8,814          92 1.1

Radcliffe West 8,666          -56 -0.6

Ramsbottom 9,360          638 7.3

Redvales 9,481          759 8.7

Sedgley 9,312          591 6.8

St Marys 8,646          -76 -0.9

Tottington 8,118          -604 -6.9

Unsworth 7,390          -1,332 -15.3

Total 148,269       

Average 8,722          

PD - Ward Code

Projected Electorate - Mid Year 2026

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 890



 
  

Page | 36  
 

Appendix 2 – Bury Metropolitan Borough Council – Projections of Residential Developments 
 
To Follow 
 
 
  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 891



 
  

Page | 37  
 

 

Appendix 3 – Councillor Meeting Commitments 

 
Please see separate Excel spreadsheet. 

 
 
 
  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 892



 
  

Page | 38  
 

 

Appendix 4 – Bury Metropolitan Borough Council – Cabinet Timetable and Agendas 
 

30 January 2019 

 Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer Challenge Review report 

 Corporate Performance Update Quarter 2 2018/19 
 Agreement of Bury Council NJC Pay Spine 2019 

 
 

20 February 2019 
 

 Corporate Financial Monitoring Report April 2018 to December 2018 
 Draft Housing Revenue Account 2019/20 

 Revenue Budget 2019/20 
 Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators 2019/20 

 
 

12 March 2019 

 
 Bury Council Policy for Highway Safety Inspection. 

 Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan – Business Case (OBC)  
 Mutually Binding Agreement 2019/20 

 Strategic Investment (Manchester Airport) Closed item 
 

 
17 April 2019 

 
 Approval of revised Housing Management Agreement between the Council and Six Town Housing plus related matters 

 
 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 893



 
  

Page | 39  
 

25 June 2019 

 
 Revenue and HRA Outturn 2018/19 

 Capital Outturn 2018/19 
 Treasury Management Annual Report 2018/19 

 Council’s use of Glyphosate Herbicide 
 

 
24 July 2019 

 Corporate Financial Monitoring Report – April 2019 to June 2019 
 Bury Town Centre Business Improvement District Proposal (BID) 

 Outline business case – Persona Care & Support 
 Greater Manchester (GM) Full Fibre Roll Out 

 Revised Supplementary Planning Document – Alterations and Extensions to Residential Properties 
 Annual Residents Parking Review 

 Acquisition of 458 Bury New Road, Prestwich - Part a 

 Acquisition of 458 Bury New Road, Prestwich - Part b Closed item 

 

4 September 2019 

 Establish a Corporate HR Service for the Council 

 Strategic Commissioning Function (Governance of the Integrated Health & Social care Commissioning System 

 Replacement of Concrete and Steel Lighting Columns, including LED Lantern Replacement 

 ANNUAL APPOINTMENTS UPDATE 2019-20 

 Fire Station Disposal Closed item 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 894



 
  

Page | 40  
 

23 September 2019 

 Urgent Business-Bury FC Update Report 

 April Cabinet Report – Update 

 

16 October 2019 

 Prestwich Way Forward Options 

 Approval of a Management Arrangement between the Council and the Jewel Foundation 
 Annual Appointments Update 2019-20 

 

13 November 2019 

 Corporate Financial Monitoring Report – April 2019 to August 2019 
 Children’s Centres – Management Arrangements 

 Radcliffe – Secondary School Provision 

 

11 December 2019 

 Treasury Management Strategy – Mid Year Review 2019/20 
 Waste Levy Allocation 

 SPD6 Consultation Report 

 Physical Activity Strategy 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 895



 
  

Page | 41  
 

13 January 2020 

 Corporate Restructure Proposals 

 Radcliffe Strategic Regeneration Framework 

 Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan – Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside – Update  

 Town of Culture 2020 
 Appointment of Mayor 2020/21 

 

26 February 2020 

 Radcliffe – Secondary School Provision 
 Lease of land off Spring Lane, Radcliffe 

 Full Fibre Update 

 Month 9 Corporate Financial Monitoring Report 

 Treasury Management Report 

 Housing Revenue Account 
 Joint Revenue & Capital Programme 

 
 

11 March 2020 
 

 Bury Integrated Commissioning Fund 
 ICT Capital Strategy 

 Radcliffe Regeneration Update 
 

13 May 2020 
 

 Markets Task Force Report 
 East Lancashire Paper Mill ( ELPM) 

 LCO Contract Extension 

 Budget Update 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 896



 
  

Page | 42  
 

10 June 2020 

 
 Radcliffe Strategic Regeneration Framework 

 Corporate Capacity Proposals 
 Proposals for Springs Tenants Management Organisation 

 Covid 19 update 
 Resetting the Education  Service in Bury / additional support 

 First Phase Housing sites Closed item 
 I-Trent Contract Closed Item 

 
 

29 July 2020 
 

 Covid-19 Response and Recovery Update 
 The Council’s Financial Position – 2019/20 Outturn 

 The Council’s Financial Position 2020/21 as at 30 June 2020 

 Approach to Developing the medium term financial strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26 
 Reserves Strategy 

 Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan – Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside – Update 
 Highway Investment Strategy - Tranche 2  

 Greater Manchester Highways Alliance Procurement Framework  
 Civil Financial Penalty Policy 

 Vehicle Replacement Strategy (Part A) 
 Next phase modelling of the housing development programme (Part A) 

 Local Outbreak Plan Resource Proposal 
 Vehicle Replacement Strategy (Part B) Closed Item 

 Next phase modelling of the housing development programme (Part B Report) Closed Item 
 Gypsy and Traveller Compensation arrangements Closed Item 

 
 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 897



 
  

Page | 43  
 

2 September 2020 

 
 Treasury Management End of Year monitoring Position 2019/20 

 Covid-19 Update 
 Dedicated Schools Grant Recovery Plan 

 Corporate Core Restructure 
 Final Senior Management Capacity Proposals 

 Clean Air Plan Consultation 
 Car parking Charges 

 Vehicle Replacement Strategy 
 Bury Town Centre Masterplan 

 Radcliffe Strategic Regeneration Framework 
 Radcliffe Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF) Closed Item 

 Procurement and tender of new gym equipment (£500k) across all three Leisure Centres Closed Item 
 Contract for the supply of Gas to Council Premises Closed Item 

 Park View Primary School – New Build Extension / Internal Remodelling and Demolition of Two Horsa Hut  

Buildings Closed Item 
 

 
14 October 2020 

 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Development of the 2021/22 Budget 

 Covid 19 update 
 Bury Strategy 2030 

 Adoption of Revised Statement of Community Involvement 
 Public Consultation on the Draft Housing Strategy 

 Agile Working Model Pilot in Bury Town Centre sites 
 Terms of Reference for the Radcliffe Regeneration Delivery Board 

 
 

   

 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 898



 
  

Page | 44  
 

Appendix 5 – Bury Metropolitan Borough Council – Number of Council Questions since April 2019 
 
 

Date of Meeting Members of Public 
Present 

Public Questions 
Submitted in Advance 
of Meeting with 
Supplementary 
Question Allowed 

Public Questions 
Asked at Meeting, 
with no 
Supplementary 
Questions Allowed 

Councillor Questions 
Submitted Prior to 
Meeting  
 
(Responded to at the 
Meeting) 
 

Councillor Questions 
Asked at the Meeting 

10 April 2019 35 3 4 23 (13) 9 

15 May 2019 
(Annual Council and 
Mayor Making) 

12 / 160 - - - - 

10 July 2019 46 - 7 33 (18) 8 

11 September 2019 70 2 8 33 (9) - 

27 November 2019 Cancelled - - - - 

22 January 2020 30 11 - 30 (5) - 

26 February 2020 25 7 - - - 

18 March 2020 None due to Covid 
restrictions 

- - - - 

20 May 2020 None due to Covid 
restrictions 

- - - - 

8 July 2020 None due to Covid 
restrictions 

- - 26 (9) 6 

9 September 2020 None due to Covid 
restrictions 

- - - - 

21 October 2020 
(Special Meeting) 

Cancelled - - - - 

 
 
  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 899



 
  

Page | 45  
 

 

Appendix 6 – Bury Metropolitan Borough Council – Template from Councillor Diary Monitoring 
 

Week in the Life of a Bury Councillor 

(Sunday 23 February – Saturday 29 February 2020) 

 

Councillor     _____________________________________________________ 

Councillor for _________________________________________________Ward 

Bury Councillor for____________________years___________________months 

 

Overview of all my Councillor roles: 
(e.g. please state membership of which Council committees / working groups; school governor of which school; Council 

representative on which meetings internal / external to the Borough) 
 

   

   

 

 

 
 

 

  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 900



 
  

Page | 46  
 

Daily Councillor-related duties: 

EXAMPLE - DATE 

 
 

Morning 

 
9am – 10am to deal with casework 

11am -12 noon canvassing 
or 

One hour meeting with other ward councillors 
or 

DAY JOB 
 

Afternoon 

 

 

e.g. 2pm -4pm attended GM meeting in Rochdale 
 

One hour meeting with xxx officer to discuss xxx 
 

One hour meeting with local residents to discuss xxx 
 

One hour chair’s pre-meeting prior to scrutiny meeting 
or 

DAY JOB 
 

Evening 

 

e.g. 7pm – 9pm Political group meeting 
 

One hour surgery 
 

or  
 

DAY JOB 
 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 901



 
  

Page | 47  
 

 

Date 

Morning 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Afternoon 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Evening 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 902



 
  

Page | 48  
 

 

Appendix 7 – Bury Metropolitan Borough Council – Councillor Attendance at Meetings 
 

 

Meeting No of 

Members 

Attendance 

2018/2019 

Attendance 

2019/2020 

Council 
 

51 44 41 

Cabinet 
 

7 6 6 

Planning Control 

Committee 

13 9.3 9.5 

Licensing & 

Safety Panel 

13 8.6 8.5 

Audit Committee 
 

9 6.25 7.5 

Overview & 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

12 9.6 9.6 

Health Scrutiny 
Committee 

12 7.5 9 

Health & 
Wellbeing Board 

4 2.6 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 903



T
his page is intentionally left blank



C
ou

nc
ill
or

C
ou

nc
il

C
ab

in
et

PC
C

LS
P

O
 &

 S

H
 O

 &
 S

Au
di
t

St
an

da
rd

s

H
 &

 W
B
B

St
ra

t 
C
om

m
 

M
 D

ev

YC TJ
C
C

C
JC

C

C
or

p 
Pa

r

D
em

 A
rr
an

JH
O
S
C

LH
P

EL
R

H
R
A

G
M
/A

G
M
A

A 7 12 6 4 5 8 42

B 7 11 4 4 5 31

C 7 7 5 11 30

D 7 4 5 16

E 7 4 4 5 20

F 7 11 7 4 5 11 45

G 7 12 6 4 29

H 7 7

I 7 5 5 17

J 7 7 4 11 29

K 7 11 8 4 4 4 38

L 7 8 6 4 2 27

M 7 8 15

N 7 11 7 4 29

O 7 11 8 4 4 5 5 2 46

P 7 11 8 4 5 5 10 50

Q 7 11 4 5 27

R 7 8 15

S 7 12 6 3 28

T 7 4 11

U 7 11 11 5 4 1 39

V 7 8 15

W 7 11 7 4 29

X 7 11 4 22

Y 7 7

Z 7 11 4 22

AA 7 11 5 23

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 905



BB 7
11 7 8 5 38

CC 7
12 6 6 5 5 4 2 15 62

D

D
7

4 5 5 2 2 25

EE 7
7 5 4 2 25

FF 7 12 6 5 2 11 43

G

G
7

12 4 6 4 5 11 49

HH 7
11 11 5 5 5 44

II 7 4 11

JJ 7 12 6 6 12 43

KK 7
12 6 25

LL 7 11 18

M

M
7

7 1 4 19

NN 7
11 4 4 26

O

O
7

7 5 19

PP 7
12 6 6 5 4 5 2 6 53

Q

Q
7

11 8 4 2 32

RR 7
11 4 22

SS 7
11 7 4 5 34

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 906



TT 7
7 8 4 4 19 49

UU 7
11 18

VV 7
11 7 25

W

W
7

4 4 4 6 25

XX 7
11 4 22

YY 7
11 4 22

1458

28.5

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 907



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 - 1 - 

Equality Analysis Form      
 
The following questions will document the effect of your service or proposed policy, 
procedure, working practice, strategy or decision (hereafter referred to as ‘policy’) 

on equality, and demonstrate that you have paid due regard to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty.  

1. RESPONSIBILITY  

 

Department  Corporate Core  

Service Elections and Land Charges 

Proposed policy Boundary Review Council Size Submission 

Date 11 November 2020 / 25 November 2020 

Officer responsible 
for the ‘policy’ and 

for completing the 
equality analysis 

Name Marcus Connor 

Post Title Corporate Policy Manager 

Contact Number 0161 253 6252 

Signature  

Date 16 October 2020 

2. AIMS  

 

What is the purpose 
of the 

policy/service and 
what is it intended 
to achieve? 

 

 
To review the future size of Bury Council.  

 
This will ensure greater equality of representation for the 
electorate in the Borough. 

 
Will help to ensure that councillors are better able to meet 

the internal and external demands for their time. 
 
 

Who are the main 
stakeholders? 

 

 
Bury Councillors. 

Future candidates at Bury Council local elections. 
Current and future electorate. 

Community and voluntary organisations operating in the 
Borough. 
Members of Parliament (although this review does not 

impact on their electoral boundaries). 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Document Pack Page 909



 - 2 - 

3. ESTABLISHING RELEVANCE TO EQUALITY 

 

3a. Using the drop down lists below, please advise whether the 
policy/service has either a positive or negative effect on any groups of 
people with protected equality characteristics.  

If you answer yes to any question, please also explain why and how that 
group of people will be affected.  

 

Protected 

equality 
characteristic 

Positive  

effect 
(Yes/No) 

Negative  

effect 
(Yes/No) 

Explanation 

Race Yes 
 
 

No Will ensure equal representation across 
the Borough especially addressing 
wards with high number of electors per 

councillor, e.g. areas with high growth 
due to immigration. 

Disability No 
 

 

No       

Gender No 

 
 

No       

Gender 
reassignment 
 

No 
 

No       

Age 
 

 

No No       

Sexual 

orientation 
 

No No       

Religion or belief 
 

 

No No       

Caring 

responsibilities 
 

No No       

Pregnancy or 
maternity 
 

No No       

Marriage or civil 
partnership 

 

No No       

 

Document Pack Page 910



 - 3 - 

3b. Using the drop down lists below, please advise whether or not our 
policy/service has relevance to the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

If you answer yes to any question, please explain why. 
 

General Public Sector 
Equality Duties 

Relevance 
(Yes/No) 

Reason for the relevance 

Need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and 

victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the 

Equality Act 2010 
 

Yes Will ensure equality of representation 
across all areas of the Borough. 

Need to advance equality 
of opportunity between 
people who share a 

protected characteristic 
and those who do not 

(e.g. by removing or 
minimising disadvantages 
or meeting needs) 

 

No       

Need to foster good 

relations between people 
who share a protected 

characteristic and those 
who do not (e.g. by 
tackling prejudice or 

promoting 
understanding) 

 

No       

 

 

 

If you answered ‘YES’ to any of 
the questions in 3a and 3b 

 
Go straight to Question 4 

 

If you answered ‘NO’ to all of the 

questions in 3a and 3b 

 

Go to Question 3c and do not 
answer questions 4-6 

Document Pack Page 911



 - 4 - 

3c. If you have answered ‘No’ to all the questions in 3a and 3b please 
explain why you feel that your policy/service has no relevance to equality. 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

4. EQUALITY INFORMATION AND ENGAGEMENT 
 

4a. For a service plan, please list what equality information you currently have 
available (including a list of all EAs carried out on existing 
policies/procedures/strategies),  

OR for a new/changed policy or practice please list what equality information you 
considered and engagement you have carried out in relation to it. 

 
Please provide a link if the information is published on the web and advise when it 
was last updated? 

 
(NB. Equality information can be both qualitative and quantitative. It includes 

knowledge of service users, satisfaction rates, compliments and complaints, the 
results of surveys or other engagement activities and should be broken down by 
equality characteristics where relevant.) 

 

Details of the equality 

information or engagement 

Internet link if published  Date last 

updated 

Outcome of the review will reduce 

variance from Borough average in 
wards. 

 

  

Consultation on ward patterns will 

be carried out in Stage 2 of the 
review. 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
4b. Are there any information gaps, and if so how do you plan to tackle them? 

 

 

None identified at this stage. 
 

 
 

Document Pack Page 912



 - 5 - 

5. CONCLUSIONS OF THE EQUALITY ANALYSIS 

 

What will the likely 
overall effect of your 

policy/service plan be 
on equality? 
 

Increased equality of representation across the 
Borough.  Electors will have more equitable chance to 

speak to / make their views known to their councillor.  
Voice of each elector will be more equally represented 
by their respective local councillor. 

 

If you identified any 

negative effects (see 
questions 3a) or 

discrimination what 
measures have you put 
in place to remove or 

mitigate them? 
 

Not applicable. 

Have you identified 
any further ways that 

you can advance 
equality of opportunity 
and/or foster good 

relations? If so, please 
give details. 

  

Will contact all community organisations as part of 
Stage 2 of the Review to look at warding patterns. 

What steps do you 

intend to take now in 
respect of the 
implementation of 

your policy/service 
plan? 

 

None at present time as these cannot be taken until full 

completion of the review in November 2021. 

6. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

 
If you intend to proceed with your policy/service plan, please detail what 
monitoring arrangements (if appropriate) you will put in place to monitor 

the ongoing effects. Please also state when the policy/service plan will be 
reviewed. 

 

Monitor future distribution of electors by ward in the future. 

 
 
 

 
 

COPIES OF THIS EQUALITY ANALYSIS FORM SHOULD BE ATTACHED TO ANY 
REPORTS/SERVICE PLANS AND ALSO SENT TO YOUR DEPARTMENTAL 

EQUALITY REPRESENTATIVE FOR RECORDING. 

 
 

Document Pack Page 913



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 

Meeting:  The Cabinet 

Meeting date:  11th November 2020 

Title of report:  Fletcher Fold Progression to Planning and Tender 

Report by:  Councillor O’Brien, Leader of the Council 

Decision Type: Key Decision  

Ward(s) to which 
report relates: 

All 

  

Executive Summary:   
The purpose of this report is to update cabinet on the progression of a First Phase 

scheme Fletcher Fold. 

Recommendation(s)  

That: The Cabinet is asked to: 

1) Agree that this previously approved site, progress as a scheme for 26 Houses, 
submit for Planning Permission and progress to tender via the J V North 

framework, then come back to cabinet for a final approval prior to 
commitment to any construction contracts. 

 

2) Agree to progress grant funding application to the new program of Homes 
England grant funding. 

 

Key considerations 

 
1.0 Background  

 

1.1 Fletcher Fold is a site of the former Millwood School in the ward of Redvales - 
see location and red edge plan below. The School was demolished in December 

2018. 
 

1.2 On March 26th 2020 the decision to progress this scheme (as part of the First 

Phase report) was made by the Leader as an urgent matter under Rule 18 of 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules, within the Council’s Constitution. 

On June 29th Cabinet agreed for delegation of the housing procurement 

Classification 

Open 
 

Item No. 

Document Pack Page 915 Agenda Item 8



 

decision and site selection to the Section 151 officer, in consultation with the 
Leader. Subsequently they approved the switch to utilise the JV North 
framework for consultants/contractors as Wilmott Dixon Partnership route was 

not proving value for money as advised by out independent cost consultant. In 
August the architect Hassall Lloyd Partnership were appointed from JV North to 

draw up the scheme. An independent cost consultant Simon Fenton 
partnerships had been appointed earlier in the year. They worked together to 
progress the scheme to this current gateway approval. 

 
1.3 This scheme is the first of the First Phase pipeline to progress, as part of a 

bigger program that has been approved in principle by Cabinet on 29th July 
2020. This scheme is now ready to progress to the next stage of detailed work, 
submission for planning and procuring a contractor. A further final report will 

come back to cabinet for a final approval, prior to any commitments to 
contractors are made and start on site achieved. 
 

1.4 Site Location: 

                             

 
 
1.5 A full market assessment has been completed by Ben Clay Associates and John 

Thompson RICS, this indicated the current mix of tenure types including 
affordable rent, rent to buy and shared ownership. The report also 
recommended the unit types of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses as suitable and 

sustainable for this location. 
 

1.6 A series of technical surveys have also been completed and have fed into the 
detailed cost estimate that has been prepared by our independent cost 
consultant Simon Fenton, these included topographical, utilities, arboriculture 

and stage one investigation.  It is worthy of note that the arboriculture report 

Document Pack Page 916



 

identified Grade A trees that are listed, this is a special layer of protection for 
the trees and led to a necessary redesign of the site, that was still able to 
maintain the density. 

 
1.7 The redesigned scheme has been re costed and re appraised on financial 

software using assumptions agreed by the Section 151 officer in June 2020. 
This scheme is now ready to progress the next detailed stage of work for 
planning and tender processes. 

 
2.0 The Scheme Proposal  

 
2.1 The Site at Fletcher Fold has been drawn up for a total of 26 new houses and 

the market assessment identified the split of tenure types as follows: 

 

Tenure  Type Number Totals 

Affordable Rent (at LHA) 2 bed 4 Person House 8  

3 bed 5 Person House 4  

12 Houses 

Rent to Buy 2 bed 4 Person House 4  

3 bed 5 Person House 2  

6  Houses 

Shared Ownership 3 bed 5 Person  House 7  

4 bed 7 Person House 1  

8 Houses 

Total Overall Number of Units                                                            26  
Houses 

 
 

2.2 A definition of each tenure and the role of Bury council and STH are below: 
 

Product  What it is  STH  Bury  

Shared 

Ownership  

Customer can part buy a 

property in “tranches”, they 
get a mortgage for each 
tranche, first tranche sales 

can be anywhere between 
25% - 75% of the property 

and the customer pays rent 
on the remaining element. 
Once living in the property 

they can stair-case up (buy 
more shares, up to a full 

100% ownership) 

Collect the rent 

element, manage 
the leaseholder 
agreement, 

manage service 
charges 

Apply for grant 

funding, build and 
sell the properties 
raise the building 

insurance, 
manage further 

sales through stair 
-casing (buying 
more shares in the 

property, up to a 
full 100% 

ownership) 

Rent to 

Buy 

Customer rents a property at 

below market value then 
have option to buy after year 
five. 

Collect the rent, 

manage the 
tenancy, and 
manage services 

and service 
charges. 

Apply for grant 

funding, build and 
sell the properties 

Affordable Affordable Rent Collect the rent Apply for grant 

Document Pack Page 917



 

Rent 80 % of market rent 
 

 

element, manage 
the tenancy and 

services charges 

funding, build the 
properties 

 

2.3 All the new homes will be built to a high standard and will meet the full space 
standards as set out in the National Design Standards, they will fully comply 
with Homes England design specifications.  In addition they will be designed to 

achieve a higher than average eco standard, they will all be electric.  As a 
minimum we will seek a 20% reduction in carbon emissions (based on the 

Dwelling Emission or Building Emission Rates) in Part L of the 2013 Building 
regulations (current at the time of writing this report) through the use of on 
site or nearby renewable and/or low carbon technologies.  For example we will 

consider the practicalities of using air source heat pumps, photovoltaics etc.  A 
full list of eco measures will be included in the final design submitted to 

planning and will come back to Cabinet for a final approval prior to contract 
signing. 
 

2.4 The scheme will bring in extra council tax of c£47,000 per annum. 
 

2.5 There are a number of further investigations to take place and detailed design 
drawings worked up ready for a submission for planning in late November 
2020.   

 
  

3.0 Next Steps 
 

3.1 The next phase of the work will see a full planning submission and requisite 

consultations and the procurement of a contractor, which will ultimately 
confirm a fixed price for the build that will come back to cabinet for a final 

approval prior to signing any commitment to contract to build. 
 
3.2 A tender exercise will be run via the JV North framework to procure a 

contractor for this scheme. 
 

3.3 A marketing and sales strategy will be developed for this scheme and support 
services procured where appropriate. 

 
3.4 After planning has been received and tender evaluated, the scheme will be 

reappraised, a full RICS valuation obtained, risk plan revised and full report 

submitted to cabinet for final approval before contracts are signed to start on 
site in April 2021. 

 
4.0 Conclusion & Recommendations 

 

4.1 This scheme is ready to progress to the next phase of detailed work including 
submission for planning and procurement of a contractor, ready to come back 

to Cabinet for a final approval prior to signing build contracts and start on site 
in spring 2021. 

 

4.2 When the Homes England funding bid round guidance is clarified, a submission 
for grant funding will be prepared and submitted. 

Document Pack Page 918



 

 
4.3 A final report will be brought back to Cabinet in spring 2021 prior to the 

signing of any contracts to build this scheme. 

 
____________________________________________________________ 

Community impact  

 

Equality Impact and considerations: 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is 

set out as follows:  

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to -  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act;  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 

positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and 

demonstrate that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of 

policies and in the delivery of services.  

___________________________________________________________ 
Assessment of Risk:  

The following risks apply to the decision:  
  

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

  

  

Consultation: 

 
Legal Implications: 

This report requests approval of the progression of the identified scheme, through 
planning and tendering. The Council is already signed up to the JV Framework and 
this is an appropriate use of it. Legal input will be required during the stated 

processes and later stages of the process. It should be noted that Section 106 
monies are referred to but these can only be used for affordable housing. 

 

Document Pack Page 919



 

____________________________________________________________
_ 
Financial Implications: 

 
The proposals include estimated costs and funding methodologies which will be 

finalised prior to the final decision being made by Cabinet.  In the meantime, costs 
associated with the next phase will be met from existing funding within the 2020/21 
capital programme. 

 
____________________________________________________________ 

  
Report Author and Contact Details: 
 

Vicky Carroll  
v.carroll@bury.gov.uk 

07834 382705 
____________________________________________________________ 
 

Background papers:  
 

  
Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 

report.  
  

Term  Meaning  

Net Present Value The NPV is the difference between the 
present value of all cash expenditure and 
income, a positive indicates projected 

earnings over the period of the financial 
modelling.      

Internal Rate of return The internal rate of return is the return on 

the investment over the period of 
modelling. 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 920

mailto:v.carroll@bury.gov.uk


 

 

  
 
 

Meeting:  The Cabinet 

Meeting date:  11 November 2020 

Title of report:  Covid-19 Response and Recovery Update 
 

Report by:  

 

Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Growth;  
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing; and 
Cabinet Member for Communities and Emergency Planning. 

 

Decision Type: Cabinet Non- Key Decision 

Ward(s) to which 

report relates 

All  

 
Executive Summary:   

 
This report builds on previous reports to Cabinet; the latest being on 14 October 

2020 and provides an overview of the current epidemiology of Covid-19 in Bury, an 
update on the implications of the current lockdown and local action being taken.  
The report also proposes a new six-month plan to guide the next phase of the 

Borough’s action to supress the pandemic, maintain health and care services and 
respond to the wider impacts on Bury people and businesses.   

 
This report is circulated as a late item to cabinet.  Key developments nationally have 

occurred within recent days and it is important that members are given the latest 

information on this fast moving emergency.   

 

Recommendations  
 

Cabinet is recommended to:- 

 
1. Note the update and Bury’s response to the Covid-19 emergency.  

 

2. Note the proposed outline plan set out in this report for the next six months of 
Bury living with Covid, with a further report being submitted to the next 

Cabinet for approval.  
 

 

Classification 

 
Open 

Item No. 

Document Pack Page 921 Agenda Item 9



 

1. Current restrictions  
 

1.1 On Thursday, 5 November 2020 the Government introduced new national 

restrictions to replace the Local Covid Alert Level measures. The new 
measures apply nationally for up to four weeks up to and including 

Wednesday, 2 December. Government anticipate that at the end of that period 
there will be a return to a regional approach, based on the latest data. These 
measures are underpinned by law enforceable by the Police and other 

authorities.  
 

1.2 The new measures seek to reduce the growth rate of the virus, which will: 
 

 Prevent the NHS from being overwhelmed. 

 Ensure schools, colleges and universities can stay open. 
 Ensure that as many people as possible can continue to work. 

  
1.3 A summary of the restrictions is described below. Full details can be found at  

www.gov.uk  

 
 

Stay at home 
 

1.4 You must not leave or be outside of your home except for specific purposes 
including leaving home for work or education purposes, or to provide voluntary 
or charitable services, where you cannot do this from home. Essential 

activities are permitted which include buying food or medicine, collecting items 
ordered through click-and-collect, obtaining or depositing money or accessing 

critical public services.  
 

1.5 In general, you must not meet people socially but you can exercise in a public 

outdoor space with people you live with or with one other person, or you can 
exercise with your support bubble. There are certain circumstances in which 

you are allowed to meet others from outside your household or support 
bubble, but this should not be for socialising.  
 

1.6 Overnight stays and holidays away will not be allowed in the UK or abroad, 
including staying in a second home or caravan, or staying with anyone you do 

not live with or are in a support bubble with.  
 
Businesses and venues 

 
1.7 The Government has ordered certain businesses and venues to close or 

restrict how they provide goods and services for example by offering a click-
and-collect option. Examples include non-essential retail such as clothing and 
homeware stores, market stalls selling non-essential goods, hospitality venues 

such as cafes, restaurants, pubs, bars and social clubs, leisure centres, gyms, 
entertainment venues such as theatres, museums and galleries.  

 
 

  

Document Pack Page 922

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/new-national-restrictions-from-5-november#national-restrictions-from-5-november
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/new-national-restrictions-from-5-november#national-restrictions-from-5-november


 

 
Education 
 

1.8 Schools, colleges, and universities all remain open to prioritise the wellbeing 
and long-term futures of young people.  

 
Weddings, civil partnerships, and funerals 
 

1.9 Funerals can be attended by a maximum of 30 people. Linked funeral 
ceremonial events such as stone settings and ash scatterings can also 

continue with up to 15 people in attendance.  Social distancing should be 
maintained between people who do not live together or share a support 
bubble. Weddings and civil partnership ceremonies will not be permitted to 

take place except where one of those getting married is seriously ill and not 
expected to recover. These weddings are limited to 6 people. 

 
Protecting people more at risk from coronavirus 
 

1.10 There is specific advice for people over 60, people defined as clinically 
vulnerable or clinically extremely vulnerable. This includes being especially 

careful to follow the rules and minimising contact with others. The 
Government is advising those who are defined on medical grounds as clinically 

extremely vulnerable to work from home and not to go to work.  
 
Visiting relatives in care homes 

 
1.11 Receiving visitors is an important part of care home life. Maintaining some 

opportunities for visiting to take place is critical for supporting the health and 
wellbeing of residents and their relationships with friends and family. Specific 
guidance on care home visits has been published. Providers are best placed to 

decide how to deliver visits in their own setting in a way that meets the needs 
of their residents individually and collectively. 

 
2. Local epidemiology  

 

2.1 Although numbers of new cases have continued to increase in Bury, there is 
potentially now evidence of a slowing in the rate of increase.  

 
2.2 During the week from Friday 30 October to Thursday 05 November 2020 there 

were 1113 confirmed cases of Covid-19 in people living in Bury (a rate of 

585.5 cases per 100,000 people per week).  
 

2.3 Covid-19 hospital activity continues to increase. Both Fairfield Hospital and 

North Manchester General Hospital now have more Covid-19 positive 
inpatients than at the peak of the first wave in April.  

 
2.4 Bury Registrars recorded 21 Covid-19 deaths in Bury in the week to 05 

November (an average of 3 per day). 

 
  

Document Pack Page 923



 

 
3. The Bury response  

 

3.1 The ten point plan of immediate priorities agreed at July Cabinet, which 
framed Bury’s second phase of response to the pandemic, has resulted in 

positive activity being completed across all original priority areas, and regular 
updates have been provided to Members.  
 

3.2 A new single Covid-19 plan for the next six months is now required to respond 
to the second wave of Covid-19 cases, the prospects of ongoing restrictions 

and to prepare for the emerging opportunities of mass testing and a 
vaccination programme. The new plan will be part of the overall Corporate 
Plan for the Council and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). Full details of 

the plan will be submitted to Cabinet for approval on 24 November, as part of 
the overall Corporate Plan.  

 
3.3 The plan will be based on the following four objectives: 

 

1. To suppress Covid infection rates and death rates. This includes 
explaining, and where necessary, enforcing the lockdown and any future 

restrictions, working with national partners to improve the test, trace and 
isolate system including mass testing and to prepare for the roll out of a 

vaccination programme.  
2. To support the Bury health and care system to continue to meet demand 

- social care, primary care, community health and mental health as well 

as hospitals. 
3. To support Bury people and businesses to mitigate the harms caused by 

Covid-19 restrictions, including mental ill-health, businesses closed or 
curtailed, jobs lost, financial hardship, school days lost and risks to 
vulnerable children and families.  

4. To build strong relationships with Bury people and all 
public, voluntary and private sector partners to support each other 

through the challenge of Covid-19. This includes supporting the most 
clinically vulnerable to self-isolate.  

 

3.4 All four of the objectives will involve targeting support for the most vulnerable 
cohorts, ages groups and neighbourhoods. Finally, the Council and 

Bury CCG will continue to maintain essential services to the public.  
 

 

4. Suppressing Infection Rate 
 

4.1 The announcement on 9th November that interim test results of a vaccine 
developed by Pfizer / BioTech suggest that it is 90% effective at protecting 
people against Covid is a hugely welcome development. However, there is a 

long way to go before this or other vaccines can be part of a long-term 
solution.  

  

Document Pack Page 924



 

 
4.2  In the meantime officers in the One Commissioning Organisation are 

supporting work to ensure delivery of the vaccination programme.  All Covid-

19 vaccines will be procured nationally and distributed on a population basis to 
regions. The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership have 

prepared plans which are being considered by the NHS at a North West 
level. A Bury Covid-19 Vaccination Task Group has been established to plan 
for and coordinate local delivery and ensure good uptake. 

 
4.3  The prospect of a vaccination programme does not lessen the urgency of 

reducing and containing the virus here and now in Bury. The most important 
action for everyone to take is to follow the basic rules in order to help to 
reduce transmission of the virus and protect the vulnerable. This means 

protecting each other by washing hands, wearing face coverings and 
maintaining safe distancing. It also means adhering to the lockdown 

restrictions as set out in section 1 of this report and any continuing lockdown 
or other restrictions that will be introduced from 2 December.   

 

4.4  The Council and its partners have taken extensive actions to engage Bury 
people and businesses to communicate and explain the current and previous 

restrictions and to encourage compliance. Where necessary Council officers 
will continue to work closely with Greater Manchester Police colleagues to take 

appropriate enforcement action. Relevant officers have now been authorised 
to enforce the new Covid-19 regulations covering the new lockdown.   

 

4.5 A proposal has been submitted for Government funding for Covid-
19 Marshalls. The Covid-19 Marshals role will not be to enforce, but to further 

engage, explain and encourage compliance with the legislation.  
 
4.6 The current levels of infection in the Bury community mean that testing, 

tracing the contacts of those who test positive and ensuring that people are 
self-isolating will have limited impact on transmission. However the test, track 

and isolate system still has a vital role to play and will become ever more 
important as the levels of infection come back down to manageable levels  

  

4.7  There is good access locally to testing throughout the borough for the public. 

Discussions remain underway regarding the last Local Testing Site in 

Ramsbottom to determine the best location with the minimal disruption for 

local businesses and the public. Other sites set up include:- 

 Radcliffe (Old Bath Car Park). 

 Whitefield Library. 

 Metro Christian Centre (Redvales). 

 Longfield centre Car Park (Prestwich). 

 Residents can also request Home Testing Kits through the post. 

4.8 Testing for all key workers is available at Waterfold and there is sufficient 

capacity available. Additionally, support is available for staff testing 

programmes in the secondary health care sector. 

Document Pack Page 925



 

4.9 A pilot of mass testing is being rolled out in Liverpool using new technology 
that provides test results within around 30 minutes. Regular testing is now 
available to everyone in Liverpool, including children and people who do not 

have symptoms. Other local areas, including Bury, will soon have access to the 
lateral flow test devices proving capacity for weekly tests of approximately 

10% of the population. We are working collaboratively across Greater 
Manchester to develop our local approach to utilisation of this new testing 
technology.  This may not necessarily be based on the same model as 

Liverpool. Further information on this initiative will be provided to Members as 
it develops.   

 
 
5. Health and care 

 
5.1 The health and care system in Bury and across Greater Manchester continues 

to be under significant pressure.  The number of Covid-19 positive patients in 
Fairfield General over the last couple of weeks has routinely far exceeded 
(over 40%) more than at the peak of wave 1.  In addition, the hospital has 

endeavoured to ensure the continuation of some elective care – in patients, 
cancer services, day cases and diagnostics, that in wave 1 had been 

suspended.  Unfortunately, the Northern Care Alliance were forced to postpone 
elective care on Friday, in common with all other parts of Greater Manchester. 

 
5.2 There are continuing pressures elsewhere in the health and care system such 

as social care, community health services and particularly in primary care.  

Like the hospital, much of this is a function of the demand, but there are also 
challenges of workforce availability due to self-isolation and infection. 

 
5.3 Work is underway in re-prioritising in primary care, community nursing and 

social care in order to maintain services for patients and residents and support 

the overall position of the system.   
 

5.4 Significant steps have been taken to support the hospital position particularly, 
including the increased community covid positive bed capacity at Gorsey 
Clough, Killelea and Spurr House.  Northern Care Alliance are also reviewing as 

part of their business continuity planning the activity currently at Bealeys.  
Work is also continuing on exploring the utilisation of the Nightingale hospital 

in Manchester for Bury residents.   
 
5.5 In the last week the command structure for the system has consolidated. A 

daily whole-system bronze command call each morning, a daily silver tactical 
call, and the establishment of a gold command meeting comprising clinical and 

political leadership and managerial leadership from the Council/CCG, hospital 
and Local Care Organisation.   

 

5.6 Given that the impact on the health and care system lags 10 days or 2 weeks 
behind, any change in the reported incidence of Covid-19, it is expected that 

the challenging position will continue for some time in the health and care 
system. 
 

  

Document Pack Page 926



 

6. Mitigating the impacts 
 

6.1 Supporting business  

 
6.1.1. Dissemination of key business-related messages are channelled through Bury 

Means Business weekly E-Bulletin and social media platforms, Twitter, 
Facebook and Instagram.  Regular engagement with businesses is via the Bury 
Business Leadership Group.  

 
6.1.2. A dedicated Bury Means Businesses single point of contact model for business 

queries is place through Investin@bury.gov.uk and this supports signposting 
to funded and quality business support including:- 
 

• GM Growth Hub 
• GM Here for Business 

• Skill Support for the Workforce 
• Enterprising You 
• GM Chamber of Commerce 

• Webinars, training and networking 
 

6.1.3. The Government announced financial support for those businesses required to 
close for the 4-week period from 5 November until 2 December due to the 

national lockdown. 
 

6.1.4. The main parts of the economic support package announced at the weekend 

were:  
 

 The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme – also known as the furlough 

scheme – has been extended until December, with employees receiving 
80 per cent of the current salary for hours not worked, up to a 

maximum of £2,500. Employers will be asked to cover National 
Insurance and pension contributions. The Job Support Scheme has been 
postponed until the furlough scheme ends. 

 Business premises forced to close by the lockdown, are to receive 
grants worth up to £3,000 per month, depending on their rateable 

value, under the Local Restrictions Support Grant. There is also a Grant 
Scheme for businesses that are still open but severely impacted by local 
restrictions.  

 It has also been announced that the availability of mortgage holidays 
will be continued. 

 
6.1.5. It was also announced that local authorities will be getting £1.1bn, distributed 

on the basis of £20 per head, to make one-off payments to enable them to 

support businesses more broadly. The funding has been allocated to Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority and will be distributed to districts in line with 

the national formula.  Local Authorities are required to develop discretionary 
schemes on how the funding can be accessed.  Work is currently underway 
with the Greater Manchester Combined Authority to design a scheme with 

common principles.   
  

Document Pack Page 927



 

 
6.1.6. It is the Council’s intention to design in quick-time a strategic proposal which 

can deliver resources to businesses most impacted by the re-imposition of a 

national lockdown.  The Council’s local discretionary fund will work alongside 
national funds, which have been designed to support those businesses forced 

to close because of the lockdown.  The Council’s strategy will be to continue 
supporting businesses heavily impacted by the renewed restrictions, this will 
include locally vital economic infrastructure such as Bury Market. 

 
6.1.7. Across Greater Manchester a  programme of business grant support is being 

developed which can be put in place at the end of the national lockdown, 
drawing the lessons from the discretionary schemes which districts put in 
place during the national lockdown earlier in the year. 

 
6.2 Schools and Children 

  
6.2.1 Whilst the Education Service has put in place a robust and resilient programme 

of Covid 19 support, we must recognise that Bury has a higher than national 

average number of vulnerable children. It has higher than national average 
levels of infection-related absence: both staff and pupils. The cumulative 

impact of these on children's learning must unavoidably pose a serious and 
significant risk to learning, to educational outcomes, and to life chances for our 

children and young people. There is a compelling inevitability to the growth in 
educational inequality for the children of Bury if we do not recognise and 
address the challenge. 

 
6.2.2 It is no surprise therefore that each stage of learning in Bury:  Primary, 

Secondary, and Further Education with Higher Education, has formally 
represented their continuing concerns to the Secretary of State for Education.  
The Council is working with other GM Councils and representatives of schools 

and further education colleges to engage government in discussions about 

assessment processes for 2021. 

 

6.2.3 Free school meals have been shown to improve health and help tackle health 

inequalities. As part of a package to support families during the pandemic, the 

Council provided free school meals to almost 8,000 children over the half term 

holiday in October. The £15 vouchers continued the previous half-term and 

holiday support. 

 
6.3 Mental health 

 

6.3.1 Mental health services have played a crucial part in the system response to 

the second wave of Covid-19, most recently for example implementing their 

urgent care scheme and the 136 suite, which offers a place of safety, where 

individuals can be assessed by mental health professionals in a safe and 

appropriate setting.  

  

Document Pack Page 928



 

 

6.3.2 More broadly, work is being undertaken to clarify and strengthen the range of 

interventions for residents and indeed staff to support mental health and 

wellbeing, as well assessing potential future demand and the capacity 

required. 

 

7. Supporting communities 
 

7.1 A comprehensive and sustained communications and engagement campaign 
has and continues to underpin our local action. The campaign uses multiple 

channels including social media, website press, radio, household leaflet 
distribution and outdoor marketing to ensure the people of Bury and key 
stakeholders are kept up to date on the latest position and are aware of the 

key messages. Councillors, staff and other stakeholders receive the weekly 
information update for their information and onward circulation through their 

distribution lists. This compliments the regular data circulation.  
 
7.2 We are reviewing our approach to communications to make sure that it 

supports our ambition to build confidence and trust that we can safely restart 
and continue our economic and social lives. Communicating Bury’s plan for the 

next six months will be a priority to help achieve this. We will also be 
gathering insight from residents to inform our comms and engagement activity 
to more effectively inspire and change behaviours. Through GM we will carry 

out monthly surveys to find out about Bury residents’ attitudes and 
behaviours. 

 
7.3 Shielding is not being reintroduced in the same form as the first lockdown, but 

as explained in section 1.10, those defined on medical grounds due to health 

reasons as clinically extremely vulnerable are advised to work from home and 
not to go to work, not to go to the shops or to pharmacies. The Government 

has recently written to all clinically extremely vulnerable residents with this 
advice and the Community Hubs will play a vital role in supporting 
communities and vulnerable residents.  

 
7.4 To ensure that Bury residents are aware of the local offer of support, a local 

version of the letter is being sent out this week to circa 10k clinically 
extremely vulnerable residents encouraging them to register on the national 

shielding site to get access to supermarket slots. The letter also sets out 
details of the local offer including support with befriending, shopping, 
collecting medicines, GP practice information and how to get advice on money, 

debt and welfare benefits.  
 

7.5 Calls from the community to the Covid-19 helpline in the Council’s contact 
centre have risen and are currently manageable, but we expect a rise in 
demand once the Bury Council letter lands later this week.  More people are 

expressing support requests via the national online system including requests 
for befriending, Adult Social Care assessments and requests for food parcels 

due to food poverty. 
 

Document Pack Page 929



 

7.6 Working with Bury Voluntary, Community and Faith Alliance (VCFA), the 
Council is seeking to increase the number of volunteers that can support the 
humanitarian response. There has been a good response to the call out and 

some of the volunteers we used last time who have been furloughed again 
have also responded positively.   

 
8. Business continuity 

 

8.1 Business continuity arrangements are being invoked so that the Council can 
mobilise its staffing resources. Key changes include stepping back from some 

of our business support processes, re-prioritising activity in the contact centre, 
and closure of the Museum, Tourist Information Centre, Leisure and Wellness 
services.   

 
8.2 National restrictions also mean the Registrars service will be prohibited from 

administering marriage and civil partnership ceremonies; available staff will be 
re-directed to death registration.   
 

8.3 Only the food stalls will be permitted to remain open in the market; the Market 
Office will remain open to support Traders.  

 
8.4 Services which were closed in the first lockdown, but which will remain open 

this time as a key part of the emergency response are: 
 

 Adult education. 

 Staying Well service. 
 Services related to school support such as transport. 

 
8.5 Services which were closed in the first lockdown but which will remain open at 

this time in the context of ongoing and in some cases increasingly demanding 

business as usual requirements are:- 
 

 Grounds maintenance. 
 Waste recycling centres.  
 Health and safety teams. 

 Elections and land charges services.  
 Emergency response functions. 

 
8.6 There has been an increase in wellbeing and support for staff. Managers have 

been asked to hold regular keep in touch session with their teams, staff are 

being encouraged to have breaks between meetings, taking lunch breaks and 
mental health support is available. A regular briefing with the Chief Executive 

commences next week.  
 
 

9. Conclusion  
 

9.1 The further developments in relation to Covid will continue to be reported to 
Members as the situation develops.  
 

__________________________________________________________________ 

Document Pack Page 930



 

Community impact/links with Community Strategy 
The plan for living with Covid for the next six months an intrinsic part of the new 
corporate plan, which outlines the Council and CCG’s contribution to the Bury 2030 

Strategy.  
___________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and considerations: 
Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is 
set out as follows:  

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to -  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under this Act;  

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  
 

The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can 

positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and 
demonstrate that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of 

policies and in the delivery of services.  
 

Equality Analysis An Equality Impact Assessment of the Covid-19 Local 
Outbreak Plan has been undertaken. 

___________________________________________________________ 
Assessment of Risk:  
The following risks apply to the decision:  

  

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Covid-19 exposes and worsens inequalities 
and people in Bury have lived with the 
restrictions for longer than other areas, 

thus seeing a greater impact on deprivation 
than other areas.  

 
 

 

The requirement to focus on deprived 
neighbourhoods and vulnerable cohorts 
including age groups, ethnicity and 

faith will be key over the next six 
months and longer term.  

 

Harms caused by Covid-19 restrictions: 
mental health, business closed or curtailed, 

jobs lost, financial hardship, school days 
lost. 

 

New six month plan and longer term 
Bury Strategy actions. 

The Town Centre Recovery Boards 
 

Targeted support to Bury businesses. 
 

  
____________________________________________________________ 
Consultation:  

None.  
____________________________________________________________ 
  

Document Pack Page 931



 

Legal Implications: 
The Council is a Category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies Act and as such 
is at the core of the response to meet the Covid-19 emergency. The Council is 

subject to a full set of civil protection duties including putting in place emergency 
plans, business continuity and public information arrangements, all in cooperation 

with other local responders.  
The Council also has duties and powers in relation to public service provision and 
enforcement. The changes in legislation and guidance must be constantly monitored 

and the Council must not only comply with the law and have regard to guidance 
issued by the government, it must work with other agencies to ensure compliance.  

At the present time a balance must be struck between those duties and powers and 
the need to comply with legislative restrictions connected with Covid-19 and its 
health and safety obligations. The report identifies those ongoing and changing 

obligations and the plans and actions being taken to address them. 
____________________________________________________________ 

Financial Implications: 
The Government has made available some additional funding to support Local 
Authorities with the impact of Covid.  This includes funding to support business 

affected by the pandemic.  Schemes for businesses are being designed in line with 
government criteria and to ensure that they are affordable within the funding made 

available.  The impact of Covid has significantly affected the Council’s financial 
position and continues to be monitored on a monthly basis.  The emerging gap and 

increased demand is being reflected in the Council’s medium term financial strategy. 
 
____________________________________________________________   

Report Author and Contact Details: 
 

Geoff Little, Chief Executive and Bury CCG Accountable Officer 
Email: G.little@bury.gov.uk  
 

Lesley Jones, Director of Public Health 
Email: l.jones@bury.gov.uk  

____________________________________________________________ 
Background papers: 
Previous Cabinet reports on Covid. 

 
Glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this report.  

  

Term  Meaning  

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

GM Greater Manchester 

GMCA Greater Manchester Combined Authority  

OCO One Commissioning Organisation 

SME Small Medium Enterprise (SME) business 
 

 

Document Pack Page 932

mailto:G.little@bury.gov.uk
mailto:l.jones@bury.gov.uk


1 
 

MINUTES OF THE VIRTUAL MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY  
HELD ON FRIDAY 25 SEPTEMBER 2020 VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 
 

PRESENT: 
 
Greater Manchester Mayor  Andy Burnham (In the Chair) 
Greater Manchester Deputy Mayor Baroness Bev Hughes 
Bolton      Councillor David Greenhalgh  
Bury     Councillor Eamonn O’Brien 
Manchester    Councillor Richard Leese 
Oldham    Councillor Sean Fielding 
Rochdale     Councillor Allen Brett 
Salford     City Mayor Paul Dennett 
Stockport     Councillor Elise Wilson 
Tameside    Councillor Brenda Warrington  
Trafford    Councillor Andrew Western 
Wigan     Councillor David Molyneux 

 
IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Rochdale    Councillor Janet Emsley 
Wigan     Councillor Jenny Bullen 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
GMCA - Chief Executive  Eamonn Boylan 
GMCA - Deputy Chief Executive Andrew Lightfoot 
GMCA – Monitoring Officer  Liz Treacy 
GMCA – GMCA Treasurer  Steve Wilson 
Bolton     Tony Oakman 
Bury      Geoff Little 
Manchester    James Binks 
Oldham    Helen Lockwood 
Rochdale    Steve Rumbelow 
Salford     Ben Dolan 
Stockport    Pam Smith 
Tameside     Steven Pleasant 
Trafford    Sara Todd 
Wigan     Alison McKenzie-Folan 
Office of the GM Mayor  Kevin Lee 
TfGM     Steve Warrener 
GMCA     Simon Nokes 
GMCA     Julie Connor 
GMCA     Sylvia Welsh 
GMCA     Nicola Ward 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 933 Agenda Item 10



2 

 

GMCA 147/20  APOLOGIES 
 
Resolved /- 
 
That apologies be received and noted from Jim Taylor and Joanne Roney. 
 
 
GMCA 148/20  CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
There were no Chair’s announcements or urgent business. 
 
 
GMCA 149/20  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
There were no declarations of interests received. 
 
 
GMCA 150/20  MINUTES OF THE GMCA MEETING HELD 2 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the GMCA held 2 September 2020 be approved as a correct 
record. 
 
 
GMCA 151/20  MINUTES OF THE GMCA OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

HELD IN SEPTEMBER 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Issues and Reform Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held 8 September 2020 be noted. 
 

2. That the minutes of the meeting of the Economy, Business, Skills and Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held 11 September 2020 be noted. 

 
3. That the minutes of the meeting of the Housing, Planning and Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee held 12 September 2020 be noted. 
 
 
GMCA 152/20  MINUTES OF THE GMCA AUDIT COMMITTEE – 8 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 

1. That the minutes of the GMCA Audit Committee held 8 September 2020 be noted. 
 
2. That the appointment of Cllr Cox (Bolton) to replace Cllr Allen (Bolton) to the GMCA Audit 

Document Pack Page 934



3 

 

Committee be approved. 
 
 
GMCA 153/20 MINUTES OF THE GM LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP – 8 SEPTEMBER 

2020  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the minutes of the GM Local Enterprise Partnership held 8 September 2020 be noted. 
 
 
GMCA 154/20  FINANCE UPDATE 
 
Councillor David Molyneux, Portfolio Lead for Resources and Investment introduced a report which 
provided an update on the financial implications of Covid 19 for GM Districts, the GMCA and TfGM. 
 
Steve Wilson, GMCA Treasurer provided further detail on the review of the GMCA core budgets and 
savings identified.  Conversations with the Department of Transport regarding longer term funding 
for Metrolink continued given the current arrangement expired on the 23 October 2020. 
 
The GM Mayor added that the Government announcement had confirmed that the annual budget 
would not take place this year, which may have an impact on the Comprehensive Spending Review, 
which was a concern for Local Government across the board. 
 
Members welcomed the return of funds, with Officers confirming that work was already underway 
with Treasurers from across the GM Local Authorities to ensure these transfers could happen as 
soon as possible. 
 

A) COVID FINANCES UPDATE  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
2. That the estimated financial impacts of COVID 19 on GM districts, GMCA and TFGM budgets 

be noted. 
 
3. That the analysis of the position be noted for : 

o GM Waste Disposal Budgets 
o TFGM and Metrolink 
o Other GMCA budgets 
o Retained Business Rates pilot 

 
4. That the return of a further £5m of GMCA reserves to the nine GM waste districts be 

approved. 
 
5. That the return of £1m of GMCA funding from GMCA core budgets to or for the use of the ten 

districts be approved. 
 

Document Pack Page 935



4 

 

B) GMCA REVENUE UPDATE 2020/21  
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That it be noted that the Mayoral General revenue outturn position for 2020/21 shows a 

breakeven position. 
 

2. That it be noted that the Mayoral General – GM Fire & Rescue revenue outturn position for 
2020/21 shows an underspend position of £2.946 million. 

 
3. That the GMCA General Budget revenue outturn position for 2020/21 be noted, which shows a 

breakeven position. 
 

4. That it be noted that the GMCA transport revenue outturn position for 2020/21 was in line 
with budget. 

 
5. That the Waste outturn position for 2020/21 be noted and that the proposal to transfer 

estimated at £2.142m from reserves be noted. 
 

6. That it be noted that the TfGM revenue position for 2020/21 was in line with budget after 
efficiency savings and transfers from reserves of £4.870 million. 

 
7. That is be noted that appropriate adjustments to the 2020/21 budget will be included in the 

Quarter 2 revenue update. 
 

C) GMCA CAPITAL UPDATE 2020/21  
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That the current 2020/21 forecast underspend of £21.319m compared to the 2020/21 capital 

budget be noted. 
 

2. That the addition to the 2020/21 Capital Programme of £1.9 million of costs, funded from the 
capital grant of £1.9 million that forms part of the £3.2 million of Emergency Active Travel 
(Tranche 1) funding, be approved.  

 
D) GMCA TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2019/20 

 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
GMCA 155/20  CULTURAL RECOVERY IN GREATER MANCHESTER 
 
Councillor David Greenhalgh, Portfolio Lead for Culture, took Members through the report which 
outlined activity to date to support culture in GM, the national response to Cultural Recovery and 
presented a draft GM Cultural Recovery Plan for consideration.  He praised the resilience that had 
been evident from the sector, however expressed significant concerns for the cultural industry in 

Document Pack Page 936



5 

 

the event that the guidelines and level of support was to remain the same for the remainder of this 
financial year. 
 
The GM Mayor echoed these concerns and reported that the recent announcements from 
Government in relation to the future of the Job Retention Scheme sadly may not provide the 
support required for some businesses within the cultural sector. 
 
Members of the GMCA recognised the importance of the cultural offer, and the value that it brings 
to Greater Manchester.  Furthermore, that it’s longevity would be vital for the recovery and growth 
of GM over the next few years.  However, there were concerns that Government’s current 
regulations were significantly harming the sector and potentially causing permanent damage to its 
future.  Members added that many cultural venues were beginning to open within the current 
guidelines, and these needed to be actively promoted in order to build back audiences and retain 
these spaces that have a clear impact on positive wellbeing.  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the activity to date in Greater Manchester and across the UK to support the cultural 

sector be noted. 
 

2. That the draft GMCA Culture Recovery Plan, as set out at Appendix B of the report, be agreed. 
 

3. That it be agreed that Bury would have a further opportunity to be GM’s Town of Culture in 
2021. 

 
 
GMCA 156/20  HOMELESSNESS COVID-19 UPDATE 
 
The GM Mayor introduced a report which provided an update on the ongoing homelessness 
response to Covid-19.  He recognised the phenomenal response across Greater Manchester, with a 
rapid mobilisation of effort across Local Authorities, the voluntary and community sector which had 
seen over 2000 people supported over the last 6 months.  Notwithstanding that, more people had 
presented as homeless throughout this time, with the latest counts had identified 111 people, a 
third of which were newly homeless.  In response to this, GM was expanding its temporary 
accommodation estate, introducing new mobile support services and looking for further measures 
to support people as we head into the winter months.  There had also been an increase in begging 
activity across GM, with a more proactive and supportive approach introduced. 
 
Recent funding from Government to provide 575 temporary accommodation places was welcomed, 
however this did not provide the 700 places that were initially requested, and to achieve Greater 
Manchester’s wider ambition of 500 homes for the homeless by March 2021.  It was clear that 
further support was needed from Government.  On a more positive note, there would be 130 
people to benefit through the ‘Housing First’ scheme over the next six months.  The GM Mayor 
expressed concern regarding the continued impact on homelessness as economic pressures were 
building and the risk of redundancy across some sectors was increasing. 
 
Members of the GMCA praised the system as a whole for how it had supported the homeless and 
rough sleepers over the past few months, and echoed concerns regarding the challenge ahead and 
the need for more resources to expand the temporary accommodation offer.  Specifically, it was felt 

Document Pack Page 937



6 

 

that the benefit cap was disproportionately affecting the most vulnerable, and that those with no 
recourse to public funds were being further marginalised. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the pressures on homelessness services and ongoing response activities be noted, and 

that the planned next steps be supported.  
 

2. That a further detailed report on specific measures be submitted to the GMCA in November. 
 
3. That it be noted that the GMCA would commit to collect, analyse and report on data to 

understand the impact of this work as an inequalities priority.  
 
 
GMCA 157/20  GM ENVIRONMENT FUND UPDATE 
 
Councillor Andrew Western, Portfolio Lead for the Green City Region, took Members through a 
report which provided detail on the progress made against the GM 5 Year Environmental Plan, and 
sought approval for the next steps.  He reported that the recent virtual Green Summit had been a 
successful event, which had demonstrated significant progress on all areas of this agenda, and 
showcased a wide range of interventions that had elevated GM’s ambition to be a green city region 
and a prominent space. 
 
Work would be progressed to ensure that speakers at future Green Summit events included a wider 
spectrum of representation of backgrounds in order to demonstrate GM’s commitment to diversity 
and ensure that all communities were represented. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the progress made in developing the Greater Manchester Environment Fund since the 

publication of the Greater Manchester 5 Year Environment Plan be noted.  
 

2. That the initiation of the Fund be approved and that authority delegated to the Chief Executive 
Officer, GMCA & TfGM, GMCA Monitoring Officer and GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with 
the Portfolio Lead for Green City region, to finalise the form and make-up of the Fund and 
GMCA’s role within it.  

 
3. That the Greater Manchester Environment Fund Briefing Note for publication (annex 1 to the 

report) be agreed.  
 

4. That it be noted that the purpose of the fund was to stimulate investment to deliver positive 
environmental impact across Greater Manchester, the scale of impact will depend on the 
success of the fund managers in attracting suitable funds.  Projects ultimately delivered by the 
fund will, inter alia, take into account equality and diversity considerations; the charitable 
nature of the fund will serve to underpin this aim.  

 
5. That it be noted that the progress of the fund will be monitored by the Fund Board and be 

reported quarterly to GMCA and other partners.  
 

Document Pack Page 938



7 

 

6. That it be noted that the diversity of speakers will be progressed further for next year’s event. 
 
 
GMCA 158/20 FUNDING BID – GREEN HOMES GRANT: LOCAL AUTHORITY DELIVERY 
 
Councillor Andrew Western, Portfolio Lead for the Green City Region, introduced a report which 
outlined proposals for a combined Greater Manchester bid of £4.7m Government funding from the 
‘Green Homes Grant: Local Authority Delivery’ Phase 1 Fund.  This scheme would be specifically 
targeted at low income households and would actively contribute to lowering carbon emissions and 
improving energy efficiency in a significant number of homes across GM. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 

1. That it be noted that a bid of £4.7m was submitted by GMCA to the Green Homes Grant: 
Local Authority Delivery fund early September 2020. 

 
2. That it be agreed that GMCA should be the accountable body for the bid on behalf of GM 

Local Authorities. 
 
3. That, in the event of a successful bid, authority be delegated to Chief Executive Officer, 

GMCA & TfGM and GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with the Lead Portfolio Lead for Green 
City Region, to: 

 sign an MOU/contract agreement with BEIS to receive grant funding of circa £4.7m for 
domestic energy efficiency retrofit programme; and  

 spend the awarded grant funds with EON and GM Registered Providers via an OJEU 
compliant framework and supply chains 

 
4. That it be noted that, if delivered as envisioned, the programme will save in the order of 

36,000 tonnes carbon emissions over 20 years.  The focus of the programme will be for those 
citizens on low income, living in energy inefficient homes. The programme would therefore 
support the alleviation of fuel poverty in over 500 properties in Greater Manchester, with 
outcomes measured and monitored on a monthly basis. 

 
 
GMCA 159/20  GREATER MANCHESTER VCSE ACCORD – INVESTMENT IN VCSE SECTOR 

LEADERSHIP AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Councillor Allen Brett, Portfolio Lead for Community, Cooperatives and Inclusion, introduced a 
report which presented an investment proposal for adoption from April 2021.   
 
RESOLVED/- 
 

1. That the work undertaken to review GMCA investment with VCSE organisations in the light of 
the evolving GM policy context be noted.  

 
2. That the investment proposal contained at section 3 of the report be approved, and approval  

be delegated to the GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with the Portfolio Lead and Portfolio 
Lead Chief Executive for  Community, Co-operatives and Inclusion Portfolio Leader, to award 
grant agreements, subject to final agreement of GMCA budgets for 2021/22 onwards. 

Document Pack Page 939



8 

 

 
 
 
GMCA 160/20  ESTABLISHING A GM RACE EQUALITY PANEL 
 
Councillor Brenda Warrington, Portfolio Lead for Age-Friendly Greater Manchester & Equalities, 
presented a report that provided an update on the recent listening exercise across Greater 
Manchester and asked the GMCA to consider a proposal to establish a GM Race Equality Panel.  She 
reminded Members that the issue of inequalities had been evident prior to Covid, however the 
pandemic had further demonstrated how certain equality groups were being disadvantaged.  
Following a series of engagement sessions in 2019, it was agreed that there should be two further 
equality panels established, one to focus on race equality and the other to focus on faith based 
equality issues.  Over July/August 2020 there had been a further set of listening exercises 
undertaken including over 300 representatives and had identified specific areas of focus for each of 
the panels. 
 
The Mayor thanked all those involved in developing the proposals for the Panel and added that this 
was a key part of Greater Manchester’s response to the Black Lives Matter movement. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 

1. That the work to date, including responses received to the recent listening exercise, be 
noted. 

 
2. That the establishment of the Race Equality Panel, including the allocation of a budget of 

£50,000 per annum for a VCSE Race Equality Partner to support the work of the Panel, 
commencing in the current financial year, be approved. 

 
 
GMCA 161/20  GREATER MANCHESTER INTERNATIONAL STRATEGY REFRESH 
 
Councillor Elise Wilson, Portfolio Lead for Economy & Business, took Members through a report 
which summarised the background and context of the one year refreshed Greater Manchester 
International Strategy.  The strategy had been developed in collaboration with the Local Enterprise 
Partnership and key stakeholders including the Greater Manchester Local Authorities, and was 
recently reviewed by the Growth Board.  Although an initial three year refreshed document was 
planned, it was felt that in the current climate that a 12 month strategy was more appropriate 
which could sit alongside the Living with Covid Plan, that focussed on innovation, economic 
prosperity and supporting GM to build back better. 
 
The GM Mayor added that this was an important piece of work, and crucial to Greater Manchester’s 
recovery from Coronavirus, and that the city region’s international presence was recognised 
amongst ministers and would continue to be a major opportunity going forward. 
 
Members encouraged officers of the GMCA to discover ways to build on the relationships with 
other areas of the world through the cultural links that were already evident.  Furthermore, that the 
importance of developing GM’s logistical infrastructure such as the waterways and rail network 
would be imperative to the success of future trade relationships and economic growth. 
 

Document Pack Page 940



9 

 

RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the refreshed Greater Manchester International Strategy be approved. 
 

2. That the development of relationships with countries with which GM has a strong cultural 
links, such as Bangladesh, be progressed. 
 

3. That the importance of the development GM’s unique infrastructure assets to support 
logistics and address congestion, be recognised as integral to GM ambition to build back 
better and aligned to the green economy. 

 
 
GMCA 162/20  MONTHLY ECONOMIC RECOVERY UPDATE 
 
Councillor Elise Wilson, Portfolio Lead for Economy & Business, introduced the monthly economic 
update, which included the latest version of the Greater Manchester Economic Resilience 
Dashboard.  In the current climate it would be even more important to regularly monitor this data 
to ensure that the GMCA was aware of forthcoming challenges, including the significant increase in 
people claiming benefits since March to 140,000 residents across GM and the potential for further 
claimants as a result of the conclusion the Job Retention Scheme.  The recent announcements from 
the Chancellor were broadly welcomed, however concerns remained for those who were already 
unemployed, and those who were self-employed and specifically in the hospitality, cultural and 
aviation sectors. 
 
It would be imperative for GM to remain ambitious and continue to lead the way in supporting 
residents whilst making a case to Government for the relevant resources and powers to support its 
residents, especially in the uncertainty of any Comprehensive Spending Review announcement. 
 
Members of the GMCA added that public confidence would be key to re-building the economy, and 
that sharing information about new investments into the sub region would help to give a clear 
message that investors had confidence in the potential future economic growth of GM. 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the latest update of the Greater Manchester Economic Resilience Dashboard be noted. 
 

2. That it be noted that GM remained confident and ambitious, with the continuation of 
lobbying for support and interventions for residents. 

 
 
GMCA 163/20  THE MAYORS CYCLING AND WALKING CHALLENGE FUND 
 
The GM Mayor introduced a report detailing the funding requirements in order to ensure continued 
delivery of the Mayor’s Challenge Fund programme for walking and cycling.  
 
RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the agreed MCF delivery priorities across GM and the prioritised first phase for the 
programme, as set out in Appendix 1 of the report, be noted. 

Document Pack Page 941



10 

 

 
2. That £6.9 million MCF funding for the Stockport Bramhall Park to A6 Major Scheme be 

approved, in order to secure Full Approval and enable the signing of a Delivery Agreement. 
 
3. That the release of up to £2.6 million of development cost funding for the two MCF schemes, 

as set out in the report, be approved. 
 
 
GMCA 164/20  LOCAL GROWTH DEAL (1,2 AND 3) – SIX MONTHLY PROGRESS UPDATE AND 

EXPENDITURE APPROVALS 
 
The GM Mayor took Members through a report which provided an overview of progress on the 
delivery of the Local Growth Deal Programme, tranches 1, 2 and 3. 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the good progress made in relation to the Growth Deal Transport Major Schemes 
programme be noted. 
 

2. That the good progress made in relation to the Growth Deal Transport Minor Works and 
Additional Priorities programmes be noted. 
 

3. That the good progress made in relation to the Non Transport Skills Capital and Economic 
Development & Regeneration (ED &R) programmes be noted. 
 

4. That the payment of grants of £1.819 million to Bolton in relation to the delivery of the SBNI 
Bolton Delivery Package 5 Phase 3 scheme be approved. 
 

5. That the expenditure approvals for phased delivery of the remaining SBNI 2020/21 works 
not exceeding £6.036 million be approved, subject to agreed Growth Deal governance. 
 

6. That the expenditure approval for delivery of the first phase of the Oldham Town Centre 
Regeneration 2020/21 works, not exceeding £1.355 million be approved, subject to agreed 
Growth Deal governance. 

 
 
GMCA 165/20  TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT BETWEEN GMCA, GM HOUSING PROVIDERS AND 

GM HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PARTNERSHIP 
 
Salford City Mayor Paul Dennett, Portfolio Lead for Housing, Homelessness and Infrastructure, 
presented the draft tripartite agreement which provided further significance to the important 
relationship that the GMCA and GMHSCP (GM Health and Social Care Partnership) have with 
housing providers as key active partners in delivering GM priorities in the heart of a number of 
communities.  From the 25 housing providers across GM, there had been 8000 new homes built 
over the last five years and the refreshed Greater Manchester Strategy and Housing Strategy further 
recognised the key role that housing plays in people’s health and wellbeing. 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 

Document Pack Page 942



11 

 

1. That the draft Tripartite Agreement between GMCA, GM Housing Providers and the GM 
Health and Social Care Partnership be approved. 
 

2. That it be noted that an official launch and signing event will be arranged over the 
forthcoming weeks. 

 
 
GMCA 166/20  GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND – INVESTMENT APPROVAL 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Salford City Mayor Paul Dennett, Portfolio Lead for Housing, Homelessness and Infrastructure, took 
Members through a number of applications to the GM Housing Investment Loans Fund seeking the 
GMCA’s approval. 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the GM Housing Investment Loans Fund loans as detailed below, be approved: 
 

BORROWER  SCHEME  DISTRICT  LOAN 

Bricks & Soul 
Trading Ltd 

Various  GM wide £0.750m 

Newco SPV (an 
MCR Property 
Group Company)  

Wharf Road, Altrincham Trafford £6.397m  

Jubilee Way 
Estates Ltd 

Bury Magistrates Court Bury £3.948m  

 
2. That authority be delegated to the GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with the GMCA 

Monitoring Officer, to prepare and effect the necessary legal agreements. 
 
GMCA 167/20  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public should be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on the grounds that this involved 
the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1, 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
 
GMCA 168/20 GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND – INVESTMENT APPROVAL 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Note: This item was considered in support of the Part A – GM Housing Investment Loans Fund – 
Investment Approval Recommendations (minutes reference GMCA 166/20) 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 

Document Pack Page 943



12 

 

That the report be noted. 
 

1.  
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 944



Document is Restricted

Document Pack Page 945 Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 GM Transport 2040 Vision
	GM Transport Strategy 2040 refresh-final draft
	Delivery Plan 2020-2025_V2.1_Issued_191020
	Bolton GMTS 2040 Implementation Plan  - 15.10.20.pdf (p.1-17)
	Bury GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.18-40)
	Manchester GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.41-59)
	Oldham GMTS 2040 Implementation Plan  - 15.10.20.pdf (p.60-87)
	Rochdale GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.88-108)
	Salford GMTS LIP 15.10.20.pdf (p.109-137)
	Stockport GMTS 2040 Implementation Plan - 15.10.20.pdf (p.138-162)
	Tameside GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.163-182)
	Trafford GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.183-205)
	Wigan GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20.pdf (p.206-228)

	Bury GMTS2040 Implementation Plan 15.10.20

	6 GMSF
	Appendix 1 - Relevant Documents
	Appendix 2a - GM1.1 Heywood Pilsworth Topic Paper October 2020
	Appendix 2b - GM1.2 Simister Bowlee Topic Paper October 2020
	Appendix 2c - GM 7 Elton Reservoir Topic Paper October 2020
	Appendix 2d - GM 8 Seedfield Topic Paper October 2020
	Appendix 2e - GM 9 Walshaw Topic Paper October 2020
	Appendix 3 - Treatment of UDP Policies
	Appendix 4 - Equality Analysis Form - Oct 2020

	7 Boundary Commission Review
	Council Size Submission Template - Bury final
	Appendix 3 Meeting attendance anonymised final
	EA Boundary Review Council Size Report November 2020 final

	8 Fletcher Fold Progression to Planning and Tender - Part A Report
	9 Covid-19 Response and Recovery Update  - Urgent Business
	10 For Information ***Minutes Of Association Of Greater Manchester Authorities / Greater Manchester Combined Authority
	12 Fletcher Fold Progression to Planning and Tender - Part B Report



